
 
 

Santa Cruz County  
Regional Transportation Commission 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Thursday, May 04, 2023 
9:00 a.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Accessibility: See last page for details. 
En Español: Para servicios de traducción al español, diríjase a la última página. 

Agendas Online: https://sccrtc.org/meetings/commission/agendas/  
 
 COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP  

Caltrans (ex-officio)     Scott Eades 
City of Capitola      Alexander Pedersen 
City of Santa Cruz     Sandy Brown 
City of Scotts Valley     Randy Johnson 
City of Watsonville     Eduardo Montesino 
County of Santa Cruz     Felipe Hernandez 
County of Santa Cruz     Justin Cummings 
County of Santa Cruz     Zach Friend 
County of Santa Cruz     Manu Koenig 
County of Santa Cruz     Bruce McPherson 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District  Kristen Brown 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District  Vanessa Quiroz-Carter 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District  Mike Rotkin 

 
 

The majority of the Commission constitutes a quorum for the transaction of 
business. 

 
1. Roll call 

In-Person Meeting 
Capitola City Council Chambers 

420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 

 
Remote Participation (see page 6 for more information) 

RTC Zoom 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85406910971 

Dial-in: +1 564-217-2000  
Webinar ID: 854 0691 0971 

 

https://sccrtc.org/meetings/commission/agendas/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85406910971


RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 2 
 

  
2. Consider AB2449 requests 

3. Additions or deletions to consent or regular agendas 

4. Oral communications  

Any member of the public may address the Commission on any item within 
the jurisdiction of the Commission that is not already on the agenda. The 
Commission will listen to all communication, but in compliance with State law, 
it may not take action on items that are not on the agenda. 

 
Speakers are requested to state their name clearly so that it can be accurately 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
All items appearing on the consent agenda are considered to be minor or non-
controversial and will be acted upon in one motion if no member of the RTC 
or public wishes an item be removed and discussed on the regular agenda. 
Members of the Commission may raise questions, seek clarification or add 
directions to consent agenda items without removing the item from the 
consent agenda as long as no other Commissioner objects to the change.  
 
MINUTES 
5. Accept draft minutes of the March 16, 2023 Interagency Technical 

Advisory Committee meeting 

6. Approve draft minutes of the April 06, 2023 Regional Transportation 
Commission meeting 

7. Accept draft minutes of the April 10, 2023 Bicycle Advisory Committee 
meeting 

8. Accept draft minutes of the April 11, 2023 Elderly & Disabled 
Transportation Advisory Committee meeting 

POLICY ITEMS 

No consent items 
 

PROJECTS and PLANNING ITEMS 

9. Adopt a resolution programming Santa Cruz County’s population-formula 
shares of state Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) funds to 
Santa Cruz METRO for the YouthCruz program (Resolution) 

  



RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 3 
 

10. Approve authorizing the Executive Director to enter into a cost sharing 
agreement with the Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments 
(AMBAG) for the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan Environmental 
Impact Report (Resolution) 

BUDGET AND EXPENDITURES ITEMS 

11. Accept status report on Transportation Development Act (TDA) revenues  

12.  Accept status report on Measure D revenues  

13. Approve FY23/24 TDA claims for Volunteer Center, Community Bridges, 
and METRO (Resolutions) 

14. Approve FY23/24 TDA claims for the Community Traffic Safety Coalition, 
the Ride ‘n Stride Program, and the Bike to Work Program 
(Resolutions)  

15. Approve amendments to the Fiscal Year (FY) 2022-23 RTC Budget & 
Work Program and Measure D Budget and 5-Year Program 
(Resolution) 

ADMINISTRATION ITEMS 

16. Accept FY2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC 

17. Accept FY2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC Measure D Fund 

18. Approve appointment to the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory 
Committee (E&DTAC) 

INFORMATION/OTHER ITEMS 
19. Accept monthly meeting schedule 
 
20. Accept correspondence log 

 
21. Accept letters from RTC committees and staff to other agencies - none 

 
22. Accept information items  

a. Public meeting requirements under the Brown Act and AB 2449 

REGULAR AGENDA 
 

23. Commissioner Reports – oral reports 
  



RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 4 
 

 
24. Director’s Report – oral report  
 (Guy Preston, Executive Director) 

25. Caltrans Report  

a. Santa Cruz County highway project updates  
b. State Highway Operation and Protection Program (SHOPP) Update 

for District 5 
 
26. Receive presentation from City of Capitola 

(Jessica Kahn, Public Works Director) 
 
27. PUBLIC HEARING 10:00 A.M. 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit 

Needs List 
 (Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner) 
  
a. Staff Report 
b. Final Draft 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs 
c. Public Comment on Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs list  

(posted as a handout on the RTC website on 5-3-2023) 
 
28. Federal Lands Access Program Grant Award and Funding Agreements to 

Construct the North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) from Wilder Ranch to 
Davenport and Coastal Rail Trail-Cotoni Coast Dairies Overpass 
Connection 
(Grace Blakeslee, Senior Transportation Planner) 
 
a. Staff Report 
b. Resolution and exhibits 

 
29. Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 (Pacific Avenue to 17th Avenue) 

Environmental Review  
(Grace Blakeslee, Senior Transportation Planner) 
 
a. Staff Report 
b. Project Fact Sheet 
c. Coastal Rail Trail Segment 8 and 9 FEIR Executive Summary 
d. Resolution Accepting the FEIR 

 
30. Review of items to be discussed in closed session 

  



RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 5 
 

CLOSED SESSION 
 

31. Conference with Real Property Negotiators (Pursuant to Government 
Code Section 54956.8) 

 
Property: 7994 Soquel Drive (APN 039-232-02), 7996 Soquel Drive 
(APN 039-232-01), Aptos, CA 95003 
 
Agency Negotiators: Guy Preston, Luis Mendez, and Sarah Christensen 
 
Negotiating Parties: SCCRTC and The Oak, LLC Dennis and Julie Ann 
Jacobsen 
 
Under Negotiations: Price and terms for acquisition of property 
 

32. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation (Pursuant to 
Government Code 54956.9(d)(1)) 
 
Name of case: Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
v. Terrie Kajihara, et. al. (Case No. 21CV00211) 

 
 

 OPEN SESSION 

33.  Report on items discussed in closed session 

34.  Next meetings 

The next RTC meeting is scheduled for June 01, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. at the 
Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors Chambers located at 701 Ocean 
Street, Room 525, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
 
The next Transportation Policy Workshop meeting has been cancelled. 

HOW TO REACH US 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250  Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
phone: (831) 460-3200 / email: info@sccrtc.org 
 
LIVE BROADCASTS  
Meetings of the RTC are broadcast live by Community Television of Santa Cruz. 
More information about channels and schedule can be found online 
(www.communitytv.org) or by calling (831) 425-8848. 
  

http://www.communitytv.org/


RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 6 
 

 
AGENDA PACKETS 
Complete agenda packets and all documents relating to items on the open 
session are posted online at https://sccrtc.org at least 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. Sign up for E-News updates at sccrtc.org/about/esubscriptions/ 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Items on the agenda: Written comments received by 9:00 a.m. on Wednesday 
before the meeting will be posted to the RTC website by 2:00 p.m. that same 
afternoon to allow time for Commissioner review. The opportunity to make 
oral comments is offered prior to the discussion period of each item. 
Items not on the agenda: Written comments on topics within the RTC’s 
jurisdiction, but not on the agenda, that are received during the monthly 
correspondence period will be posted to a public document. The 
correspondence period cut-off is 12:00 p.m. on the second Monday prior to 
the RTC meeting. A link to that document is provided in the Correspondence 
Log of that month’s meeting. The opportunity to make oral comments to the 
Commission on such topics is offered during Oral Communications. 

REMOTE PARTICIPATION 
The public may participate in the meetings of the Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC) in person or remotely via the provided Zoom link. If 
technical difficulties result in the loss of communication for remote 
participants, the RTC will work to restore the communication; however, the 
meeting will continue while efforts are being made to restore communication 
to the remote participants. 
 
PARTICIPACIÓN REMOTAMENTE 
El público puede participar en las justas de la Commission Regional de 
Transporte (RTC) en persona o remotamente a través del enlace Zoom 
proporcionado. Si problemas técnicos resultan en la perdida de comunicación 
con quienes participan remotamente, la RTC hará lo posible por restaurar la 
comunicación. Pero, la junta continuara mientras se hace lo posible por 
restaurar la comunicación con quienes participan remotamente. 
 
ACCESSIBILILTY 
The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission does not 
discriminate on the basis of disability and no person shall, by reason of a 
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. This 
meeting location is an accessible facility. If you wish to attend this meeting 
and require special assistance in order to participate, please contact RTC staff 
at 460-3200 (CRS 800/735-2929) at least three working days in advance of 
this meeting to make arrangements. People with disabilities may request a 
copy of the agenda in an alternative format. As a courtesy to those persons 
affected, please attend the meeting smoke and scent-free. 
 

https://sccrtc.org/
https://sccrtc.org/about/esubscriptions/


RTC Agenda         May 04, 2023 7 
 

SERVICIOS DE TRADUCCIÓN/ TRANSLATION SERVICES  
Si gusta estar presente o participar en esta junta de la Comisión Regional de 
Transporte del Condado de Santa Cruz y necesita información o servicios de 
traducción al español por favor llame por lo menos con tres días laborables de 
anticipo al (831) 460-3200 para hacer los arreglos necesarios. (Spanish 
language translation is available on an as needed basis. Please call (831) 460-
3200 at least three days in advance to make advance arrangements. 
   
TITLE VI NOTICE TO BENEFICIARIES  
The RTC operates its programs and services without regard to race, color and 
national origin in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act. Any person 
believing to have been aggrieved by the RTC under Title VI may file a 
complaint by contacting the RTC at (831) 460-3200 or 1101 Pacific Avenue, 
Suite 250, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 or online at www.sccrtc.org. A complaint 
may also be filed directly with the Federal Transit Administration to the Office 
of Civil Rights, Attention: Title VI Program Coordinator, East Building, 5th 
Floor-TCR, 1200 New Jersey Ave., SE, Washington, DC 20590. 
 
AVISO A BENEFICIARIOS SOBRE EL TITULO VI  
La RTC conduce sus programas y otorga sus servicios sin considerar raza, 
color u origen nacional de acuerdo al Titulo VI del Acta Sobre los Derechos 
Civiles. Cualquier persona que cree haber sido ofendida por la RTC bajo el 
Titulo VI puede entregar queja con la RTC comunicándose al (831) 460-3200 
o 1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 o en línea al 
www.sccrtc.org. También se puede quejar directamente con la Administración 
Federal de Transporte en la Oficina de Derechos Civiles, Atención: Coordinador 
del Programa Titulo VI, East Building, 5th Floor-TCR, 1200 New Jersey 
Avenue, SE, Washington, DC 20590. 
 

https://sccrtc.org/
https://sccrtc.org/


Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Interagency Technical Advisory Committee (ITAC) 

MINUTES 
Thursday, March 16, 2023, 1:30 p.m. 

In Person: RTC Conference Room  
1101 Pacific Ave, Ste 250, Santa Cruz, CA 

Remote: Zoom 

ITAC Members Present: 
Capitola Public Works & Community Development Proxy Kailash Mozumder 

(AB2449) 
Santa Cruz Public Works and Planning Proxy Josh Spangrud 
Scotts Valley Public Works and Planning Proxy Phillip Linarte  
County of Santa Cruz Public Works and Planning Proxy 
Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments 

Casey Carlson  
Heather Adamson 

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District and 1 Proxy 

Paul Guirguis 
John Urgo 

Committee Members/Alternates that Attended Remotely: non-voting/ 
did not count towards quorum or meet AB2449 requirements  
Chris Duymich, AMBAG (alternate) 
Malinda Gallaher, Caltrans District 5 Local Assistance (alternate) 
Georgina Arias, University of California at Santa Cruz (UCSC) 

Excused Absences:  
City of Watsonville: Murray Fontes and Justin Meek 
Ecology Action-Transportation: Piet Canin 

RTC Staff Present - In Person: Sarah Christensen, Rachel Moriconi, Amy 
Naranjo, Guy Preston 

RTC Staff Participating Remotely: Grace Blakeslee, Tommy Travers, 
Tracy New 

Others Present:  
Todd Marco, Nisene Rio Gateway 
Brian Peoples, Trail Now 
Faina Segal, Friends of the Rail & Trail 
Miranda Taylor, AMBAG 
Nadene Thorne, Greenway Committee 

1. Call to Order: Chair Kailash Mozumder called the meeting to order at 1:33
p.m.

5-1



2. Introductions: Introductions were made.

3. Consider AB2449 request(s) to participate in the meeting remotely –

The committee unanimously approved a motion (Adamson/Spangrud) for
the following AB2449 requests from committee members to participate
remotely:
• Kailash Mozumder for just cause: A contagious illness that prevents a

member from attending in person. He confirmed that no one over the
age of 18 was present at his location.

4. Oral Communications: None

5. Additions, deletions, or changes to consent and regular agendas:
Handouts for Item 10 (presentation) and Item 11 (public comments) were
posted on the ITAC meeting webpage.

CONSENT AGENDA 

Committee members unanimously approved a motion (Spangrud/Urgo) 
approving the consent agenda (8-0).  

6. Approved Minutes of the February 16, 2023, ITAC meeting

7. Received list of Regional Transportation Improvement Program
(RTIP) Amendments approved by RTC March 2, 2023

REGULAR AGENDA 

8. Status of transportation projects, programs, studies, and planning
documents

ITAC members and RTC staff provided updates on projects, programs,
studies, planning efforts, and storm damage.

County of Santa Cruz – Casey Carlson reported that the Soquel Drive
buffered bike lanes and rehab project is out to bid. The County has over 150
storm damage sites from recent winter storms. The County is also planning
to construct the San Andreas Road Resurfacing, Holohan/152 intersection
and Green Valley Road multi-use path reconstruction projects this summer.

City of Santa Cruz – Josh Spangrud reported on storm damage to West Cliff
Drive and one-way traffic. The city received one bid for the Ocean Street
paving project (Plymouth St. to Water St.). The city will also be repaving
Laurel Street soon and installing flashing beacons at crosswalks in the city

5-2



with a Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) grant. The Murray 
Street Bridge project right-of-way is completed and the city may go to bid 
this spring, pending approval of a National Marine Fisheries permit.  

Scotts Valley – Phillip Linarte reported the city had storm damage/landslides 
on Green Hills and Bean Creek Roads and is working on near- and long-term 
repairs. The city is also working on high visibility crosswalk and Lockwood 
Lane projects. Repaving Bean Creek Road is scheduled to go to bid soon.  

METRO – John Urgo reported there have been some service disruptions due 
to storms, that the River Street bus yard flooded during the January storms, 
and METRO continued to help with evacuations during the March storms. 
METRO launched the Youth Cruz fee-free rides for K-12 students program. 
METRO is holding a public workshop online on the “Reimagining METRO” 
plan and evaluating cost-neutral and two additional revenue scenarios for 
modifying METRO service. METRO is studying options to speed up service 
along bus routes 71, 69W, and 69X between Watsonville and Santa Cruz.  

Caltrans – Paul Guirguis shared storm damage updates, noting that Highway 
1 at the Pajaro River was the biggest closure. He also reported on the 
Highway 9/Holiday slide, with reopening on hold due to continued slide 
activity. He reported that planning grant applications were due to Caltrans 
March 9, with awards anticipated to be announced by the end of August 
2023. Caltrans only received requests for about half of the funds designated 
for adaptation plans and there will likely be a second call for projects.  

Malinda Gallaher reported that Caltrans awarded HSIP Cycle 11 funds to one 
project in the City of Santa Cruz. She noted workshops are being held on 
the Clean California program and encouraged agencies to contact her with 
any questions. Rachel Moriconi noted that Caltrans has a statewide cleanup 
planned in April, but no local jurisdictions in Santa Cruz County were 
participating; Paul Guirguis agreed to follow up on what outreach was done. 
[After the meeting Paul reported that District staff primarily contacted 
organizations that organize volunteer clean-up and will be doing additional 
outreach for next year’s event.) Malinda also reminded agencies to submit 
required paperwork to avoid losing funds for projects that are subject to a 
June 30 “reversion date”.  

Capitola – Kailash Mozumder reported city staff have been meeting with 
FEMA to determine what storm damage is eligible for funds. The city 
anticipates starting construction on the Capitola Road-30th Ave to 41st Ave 
intersection paving project late summer. The city is seeking input from the 
Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) on the 
design for the Kennedy Road sidewalk project.  

UCSC – Georgina Arias reported that UCSC had some significant power 

5-3



outages and downed trees because of winter storms. She reported that 
UCSC hopes to launch the new bikeshare program Memorial Day weekend. 

SCCRTC - Sarah Christensen reported that vegetation clearing started for 
the Highway 1 Soquel-41st Auxiliary Lanes/Bus-on-Shoulder/Chanticleer Ave 
bike/ped project construction. The Highway 1 Bay/Porter-State Park project 
is out to bid. The EIR for the Highway 1 Freedom-State Park plus Segment 
12 Trail project is expected to be released soon. She also reported that 
there were two washouts on the rail line due to January storms. 

9. AMBAG 2023 Public Participation Plan Development Process

Miranda Taylor, AMBAG, presented information on the purpose, schedule,
and preliminary updates to the Public Participation Plan (PPP), which serves
as the federally mandated plan for AMBAG’s Metropolitan Transportation
Plan (MTP) and Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP)
and is also used as the RTC’s PPP for the Regional Transportation Plan
(RTP). The draft plan is scheduled to be released in June. AMBAG has sent a
survey to over 1500 people soliciting input on methods to involve the public
in transportation planning and projects.

Committee members provided information on public engagement efforts at
their agencies, including community engagement managers, consultants,
and social media managers working with project managers to share project
information with the public.

10. AMBAG 2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)/Sustainable
Communities Strategy (SCS) Draft Work Program and Schedule

Heather Adamson, AMBAG, provided an overview of the work program and
schedule for the next Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)/Sustainable
Communities Strategy (SCS) update, highlighting key points during
development that local project sponsors will need to provide financial
estimates and project updates via SCCRTC. The draft plan is scheduled to be
released late fall 2025, with final adoption by June 2026. In response to
questions from Paul Guirguis, Heather Adamson noted that the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) document includes an environmental
justice analysis and Rachel Moriconi indicated that the RTC’s forthcoming
Equity Action Plan will be used to analyze and prioritize projects.

11. Coastal Rail Trail Segment 12 (State Park Drive to Rio del Mar
Boulevard) design

Sarah Christensen, Sr. Engineer for RTC, presented and solicited input from
the committee on the draft design for the Coastal Rail Trail Segment 12.
She confirmed that drainage is being considered in the project design.

5-4



Public comments: Todd Marco stated that cyclists will likely use the rail trail 
to also access parks in Aptos and provided comments about access and 
interface with Aptos Village and Soquel Drive and leveraging Aptos Street. 
Brian Peoples stated he was frustrated by flooding at Pajaro River, shared 
photos, and expressed concern that the train tracks are located through 
wetlands and at risk. 

12. Funding Program Opportunities and Updates

Committee members and staff discussed several funding programs identified
in the agenda, including:

Affordable Housing and Sustainable Communities Program (AHSC): Heather
Adamson requested that agencies applying submit proposals several days in
advance to AMBAG for its required review. The City of Santa Cruz is applying
for funds the downtown library/housing project.

Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP): Only the City of Santa Cruz
applied for funds in Cycle 11, with the County indicating it plans to apply in
the future once its Safe Streets for All Plan (being prepared in partnership
with Scotts Valley and Watsonville) is completed.

REAP: Heather Adamson noted that $2.5 million is available this cycle.

Caltrans updated State Highway Management Plan considers asset-based
priorities and is integrating climate adaptation and resiliency.

MEGA/Rural: Sarah Christensen reported that the RTC plans to partner with
the County and Santa Cruz METRO on a second application for the
Watsonville-Santa Cruz corridor.

Several agencies noted that they have limited staff available to prepare
grant applications.

13. Next meeting. The next meeting of the ITAC is scheduled for 1:30 p.m. on
April 20, 2023.

Chair Mozumder adjourned the meeting at 3:30 p.m.

Minutes prepared by Rachel Moriconi

\\RTCSERV2\Shared\ITAC\2023\Mar\ITAC-minutes-Mar2023.docx 

5-5



Santa Cruz County  
Regional Transportation Commission 

Draft MINUTES 

Thursday, April 6, 2023 
9:00 a.m. 

1. Roll call.

The meeting was called to order at 9:01 a.m.

Members present:
Sandy Brown Mike Rotkin 
Kristen Brown  Eduardo Montesino 
Alexander Pedersen Felipe Hernandez 
Randy Johnson  Andy Schiffrin (Alt) 
Manu Koenig  Robert Quinn (Alt) 
Bruce McPherson Scott Eades (Caltrans Ex-Officio) 

Staff present: 
Guy Preston  Yesenia Parra 
Luis Mendez Sarah Christensen  
Shannon Munz Krista Corwin 
Rachel Moriconi Brianna Goodman 
Amy Naranjo Riley Gerbrandt 
Brian Zamora Cindy Convisser 
Amanda Marino Steven Mattas (RTC Counsel) 
Tracy New 

2. Considered AB2449 request(s) – none

In-Person Meeting 
County Board of Supervisors Chambers 

701 Ocean St. Room 525 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

Remote Participation 
RTC Zoom 

 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85406910971 
Dial-in: +1 564-217-2000 

Webinar ID: 854 0691 0971 

6-1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87944666793


  
 

3. Additions or deletions to consent and regular agenda 
 
A handout for item 11 and replacement pages for item 25 were posted to the 
website. A presentation for item 4 was posted to the website. Items 26 and 
27 were pulled from the agenda.  
 
4. Resolution of Appreciation for Storm Damage Response 
 
RTC Commissioners and staff presented resolutions of appreciation to:   

• Santa Cruz County Public Works 
• Watsonville Public Works 
• Capitola Public Works 
• Scotts Valley Public Works  
• City of Santa Cruz Public Works 
• Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
• Caltrans 

 
for their round-the-clock response to storm damage incidents throughout 
Santa Cruz County. Commissioners also thanked RTC staff for their work on 
storm damage incidents along the rail line. 
 
Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin motioned and Commissioner Rotkin 
seconded the motion to approve the resolution. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
Received public comment from: 
Carey Pico 
 
5. Oral communications 
 
Received public comment from: 
Jim Helmer 
Carey Pico 
Johanna Lighthill 
Barry Scott 
Lani Faulkner, Equity Transit 
Brian Peoples, Trail Now 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Upon request from a Commissioner, item 13 was pulled from the consent 
agenda for discussion and became item 20a. 
 
Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin motioned and Commissioner Rotkin 
seconded the motion to approve the consent agenda with the exception of 
item 13. The motion passed unanimously with Commissioners Pedersen, 

6-2



  
 

Rotkin, S. Brown, K. Brown, Johnson, Koenig, McPherson, Hernandez, 
Montesino, and Commissioner Alternates Quinn and Schiffrin voting “aye.” 
 
MINUTES 
6. Accepted draft minutes of the February 13, 2023 Bicycle Advisory 

Committee meeting 

7. Accepted draft minutes of the February 14, 2023 Elderly & Disabled 
Transportation Advisory Committee meeting 

8. Approved draft minutes of the March 02, 2023 Regional Transportation 
Commission meeting 

9. Approved draft minutes of the March 09, 2023 Budget & 
Administration/Personnel Committee meeting 

POLICY ITEMS 

 No consent items 

PROJECTS AND PLANNING ITEMS 

10. Approved authorizing the executive director to amend a contract with 
Clean Team Associates for janitorial services on the Santa Cruz Branch 
Rail Line (Resolution 31-23) 

11. Approved authorizing the executive director to award a contract to 
Granite Rock Company to repair handrails and walkways on bridges 
along the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Corridor (Resolution 32-23) 

BUDGET AND EXPENDITURES ITEMS 

12. Accepted status report on Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
revenues 

13.  Accepted status report on Measure D revenues  

14.  Approved payment to US Bank for disputed charges 

ADMINISTRATION ITEMS 
15. Approved authorizing the Executive Director to execute a pipeline 

license agreement with the Santa Cruz County Sanitation District 
(Resolution 33-23) 

INFORMATION/OTHER ITEMS 
16. Accepted monthly meeting schedule 
 
17. Accepted correspondence log 

 
18. Accepted letters from RTC committees and staff to other agencies –none 

 

6-3



  
 

 
19. Accepted information items  

a. Public meeting requirements under the Brown Act and AB 2449 

 

REGULAR AGENDA 

20a. Accept status report on Measure D revenues 

Commissioners discussed the Measure D-2016 distribution formula for 
recipient jurisdictions. In response to a question from a commissioner, 
Executive Director Guy Preston and Deputy Director Luis Mendez clarified 
how population, road-miles, and point-of-sale data are factored into the 
formula. 
 
Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin motioned and Commissioner Montesino 
seconded the motion to accept the revenue report in item 13. The motion 
carried unanimously with Commissioners Pedersen, Johnson, S. Brown, K. 
Brown, Rotkin, Koenig, McPherson, Hernandez, Montesino, and 
Commissioner Alternates Quinn and Schiffrin voting “aye.” 
 
20. Commissioner Reports  
 
Commissioner McPherson commended Santa Cruz METRO and GO Santa 
Cruz County for launching the One Ride at a Time program, which promotes 
the environmental benefits of transit and raises funds for the National 
Monterey Bay Sanctuary Foundation and the Bay of Life Fund.  
 
Commissioner McPherson also reported on the expansion of Central Coast 
Community Energy (3CE) to include unincorporated San Luis Obispo County. 
3CE a coalition of 35 agencies working together to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions in Central California.  
 
Commissioner Kristen Brown announced the launch of Youth Cruz Free 
ridership program offered by Santa Cruz METRO. The pilot program offers 
free fares for students in grades K-12 and runs from March 1, 2023 through 
February 29, 2024. 
 
Chair Koenig reported on his and Executive Director Preston’s attendance at 
Central Coast Coalition Day on March 15 in Sacramento. The Chair and 
Executive Director and other partners advocated for transportation projects 
that will benefit the entire Central Coast region, particularly the RTC’s grant 
applications for the Transit Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) and the 
Active Transportation Program (ATP) and for increased funding for both 
programs. 

6-4



  
 

 
Received public comment from: 
Brian Peoples, Trail Now 
 
21. Director’s Report 

  
Executive Director Preston delivered an update on two emergency contracts 
approved in consultation with Chair Koenig to repair two partial washouts 
along the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line (SCBRL) near Manresa State Beach 
and north of New Brighton State Beach campground, and emergency debris 
removal from 23 locations between Harkins Slough in Watsonville to the 
western end of Prospect Avenue in Capitola. The contracts were executed 
with the low-bidder Industrial Railroad Company in the amount of $328,522 
and $194,868, respectively. By Resolution, RSTPX funds will be loaned to 
pay invoices until reimbursements can be issued from the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the California Governor’s Office 
of Emergency Services (CalOES). 
 
Executive Director Preston also delivered an update on the availability of 
meeting locations that can accommodate remote participation by members 
of the public. He asked Commissioners for feedback. Commissioners noted 
that having remote capabilities was important at this time and that meetings 
could resume in Watsonville once equipment was updated. 
 
Received public comment from: 
Brian Peoples, Trail Now  
Matt Ferrell  
 
22. Caltrans Report  
 
District 5 Director Scott Eades provided updates on state route closures, re-
openings, and emergency repair contracts. Director Eades also delivered an 
update on the Scotts Creek Coastal Resiliency Project and the kick-off of the 
Coastal Hazards Study project initiated by Caltrans, RTC and the Resource 
Conservation District and funded by California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife. The overview of key projects sheet that is included in the monthly 
RTC agenda packet was recently updated with contact information for 
specific projects and instructions to submit customer service requests. 
 
In response to a question from a Commissioner, Director Eades discussed 
which portions of the Scotts Creek project are currently funded through the 
State Highway Operation and Protection Program (SHOPP) and the schedule 
of various phases of the project. Director Eades and Director Preston 
provided insights on the distribution of the phases between consultants and 
in-house staff. 
  

6-5



Received public comment from: 
Jim Helmer 

23. GO Santa Cruz County Program Update

Transportation Planners Amanda Marino and Amy Naranjo delivered a 
presentation and responded to Commissioner questions regarding: potential 
partnership with upcoming e-bikeshare program; how income eligibility is 
determined; education & age requirements; how the rebates are 
administered; planned outreach to Watsonville residents; what more is 
needed for a countywide e-bike voucher pilot; and month-by-month data 
reflected in the RideAmigos platform. 

Received public comment from: 
Matt Miller, Ecology Action 
Matt Ferrell 
Lani Faulkner, Equity Transit 
Piet Canin, Ecology Action 
Paula Bradley 

Commissioners discussed: voucher program could provide valuable data to 
the air resources board; discounts for bikeshare offered by UC Santa Cruz; 
need for a park & ride lot in Watsonville to reduce car trips; opportunity for 
program expansion when former West Marine building becomes a 
governmental center; outreach to the parking district of the City of 
Watsonville; transportation demand management (TDM) programming 
bolsters multi-modal approach; and outreach to county General Services 
Division (GSD) to discuss future park-and-ride at the new Watsonville 
facility. 

Commissioner Rotkin moved to approve the staff recommendation to: 

1. Receive annual program update for Cruz511 and GO Santa Cruz County 
and provide input on a pilot program to incentivize the use and purchase 
of electric bicycles; and

2. Authorize the Executive Director to extend the contract with Miller-
Maxfield, Inc. for GO Santa Cruz County TDM marketing services, and 
increase the amount by $30,000 to a maximum of $60,000 Resolution 
34-23; and

3. Authorize the Executive Director to extend the contract with Ecology 
Action for GO Santa Cruz County TDM employer outreach services and 
increase the amount by $40,000 to a maximum of $69,385 Resolution 
34-23. 

4. Approve a fiscal year (FY) 2022-23 budget amendment as shown in 
Exhibit A of Attachment 5.

6-6



Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin seconded the motion and proposed a 
friendly amendment directing staff to return in two months with program 
funding options for both an e-bike voucher and a bikeshare program and 
return with a discussion of outreach planned for Watsonville. The maker of 
the motion accepted the friendly amendment.  

The motion carried unanimously with Commissioners Pedersen, Johnson, S. 
Brown, K. Brown, Rotkin, Koenig, McPherson, Hernandez, Montesino, and 
Commissioner Alternates Quinn and Schiffrin voting “aye.” 

24. Fiscal Year (FY) 2023-2024 Proposed Budget

Director of Budget and Finance Tracy New delivered the staff report. 

Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin motioned, and Commissioner Montesino 
seconded the motion to approve the staff recommendation to: 

1. Adopt Resolution 35-23 approving the proposed FY2023-24 RTC and
Measure D budgets as shown on Exhibit A

2. Accept the Transportation Development Act (TDA) revenue forecast for
FY 2023-24 provided by the County Auditor

3. Accept the Measure D revenue forecast for FY 2023-24 provided by
HDL Services

4. Accept the 30-year revenue projection which incorporates the HDL
forecast for FY 2023-24; and

5. Accept the 5-year revenue estimates for the Measure D recipients
which incorporate the HDL forecast for FY 2023-24 and calculation of
the revenue distribution for local jurisdictions with updated data.

The motion carried unanimously with Commissioners Pedersen, S. Brown, K. 
Brown, Johnson, Rotkin, Koenig, McPherson, Hernandez, Montesino, and 
Commissioner Alternates Quinn and Schiffrin voting “aye.” 

25. Santa Cruz County Climate Adaptation Vulnerability Assessment and
Priorities Report (CAVA)

Transportation Planner Brianna Goodman delivered a presentation. In 
response to a question from a Commissioner, Executive Director Guy Preston 
provided information about the conversations that will need to be had 
between the RTC and the Coastal Commission with respect to the design of 
various segments of the rail trail. Planner Goodman responded to 
Commissioner questions to provide more detail on the framework of the 

6-7



  
 

project; how average daily trips and other variables are factored into the 
analysis of priorities. 
 
Commissioners discussed: immediate sharing of local information versus 
analyses by third-party consultants; contract includes stakeholder outreach 
meetings; elected officials and local agencies can provide valuable 
stakeholder input. 
 
Commissioner Alternate Schiffrin motioned and Commissioner Rotkin 
seconded the motion to approve the staff recommendation to:  
 

1. Adopt Resolution 36-23 authorizing the Executive Director to 
negotiate and enter into an agreement with Williams Sale Partnership 
(WSP) USA Inc. for professional consulting services totaling up to 
$300,000 to perform the Santa Cruz County Climate Adaptation 
Vulnerability Assessment and Priorities report. 

 
Motion passed unanimously with Commissioners Pedersen, S. Brown, K. 
Brown, Johnson, Rotkin, Koenig, McPherson, Hernandez, Montesino, and 
Commissioner Alternates Quinn and Schiffrin voting “aye.” 
 
Items 26 and 27 were pulled from the agenda. 
 
28. Next meetings 

The next RTC meeting is scheduled for Thursday, May 04, 2023 at 9:00 a.m., 
at the Capitola City Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Ave., Capitola, 
CA, 95010. 

 
The next Transportation Policy Workshop meeting has been cancelled. 
 

The meeting adjourned at 11:45 a.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Yesenia Parra, Administrative Services Officer 

Attendees 
Brian Peoples 
Carey Pico 
Barry Scott 
(831)-***833 
Equity Transit 
Johanna Lighthill 

6-8



  
 

Bhupendra Patel 
BobFif 
Grandeyc 
Jacob Wysocki 
Paula Bradley 
Piet Canin, Ecology Action 
Matt Ferrell 
Jim Helmer 
Alissa Guther 
Matt Miller 

 
 

 

6-9



1 

Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission’s 

BICYCLE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

MEETING 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Monday, April 10, 2023 

6:00 pm to 8:30 pm 

1. Call to Order: Chair Amelia Conlen called the meeting to order at 6:05 pm.

2. Introductions 
Members Present, in Person:
Scott Roseman, District 1
Sally Arnold, District 3
Anna Kammer, District 4
Grace Voss, City of Santa Cruz (Alt.)
Richard Masoner, City of Scotts Valley
Gina Cole, City of Watsonville
Amelia Conlen, Ecology Action, Chair
Matt Miller, Ecology Action (Alt.)
Leo Jed, CTSC
Arnold Shir, CTSC (Alt.)

Staff:
Tommy Travers, Transportation Planner
Stephanie Britt, Transportation Planning
Technician

Guests:
Kailash Mozumder, City of Capitola
Juan Castillo, Ecology Action
Peter Newton, Jane Stillinger, members of the
public

Members Remote, Voting under Just 
Cause or Emergency: 
Brad Kava, District 2 
Theresia Rogerson, District 5 (Alt.) 
Paula Bradley, City of Capitola 

Members Remote, Not Voting: 
Rick Hyman, District 5 

Unexcused Absences: 

Excused Absences:    
Corrina McFarlane, District 1 (Alt.) 
John Hunt, District 2 (Alt.) 
Peter Scott, District 3 (Alt.) 
Liz Hernandez, District 4 (Alt.) 
Matt Farrell, City of Santa Cruz 
Drew Rodgers, City of Watsonville (Alt.) 

Vacancies: 
City Capitola – Alternate 
City of Scotts Valley - Alternate 

In-Person Meeting 
SCCRTC Office: 1101 Pacific Ave, Suite 250, Santa Cruz, CA 

Remote Participation  
Remote participation for a) members of the public, b) nonvoting alternates, or c) voting 

Committee members unable to attend in person due to an emergency or for cause per AB 2449 
(see p. 3 below for more information): 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87121903768?pwd=WjNaYmtJdno4bjkvdCtGYllIdTJYQT09  
Online meeting ID: 832 4937 7389  

Password: 005056  
Dial-in: +1 669 900 9128 or +1 669 444 9171 

7-1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87121903768?pwd=WjNaYmtJdno4bjkvdCtGYllIdTJYQT09


 2 

3. Staff announcements –  
• Mike Moore (City of Capitola, alt.) resigned from the committee. The 

Committee expressed appreciation for his many years of dedicated service. 
This results in a vacancy for the City of Capitola. 

• Reminder: There is a Committee meeting scheduled for May 8th. 
• Parking requirements – recent state law reduced parking requirements for 

transit-oriented developments, which may inadvertently affect bicycle parking 
requirements. Local jurisdictions are starting to address this impact. 

• Caltrans released a progress report for the State Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 
 

4. Oral communications –  
• Grace Voss announced that the Strawberry Fields Forever Annual Fundraising 

ride for road bikes will be on May 21st and the Santa Cruz Mountains Challenge 
will be on July 29th. All profits will go to Resilient Central Coast for conserving 
energy. 

 
5. Additions or deletions to consent and regular agendas – A handout was uploaded to 

the RTC website for Item 12. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A motion (Roseman/Voss) was made to approve the consent agenda and the motion 
passed unanimously with members Roseman, Kava, Arnold, Kammer, Rogerson, 
Bradley, Voss, Masoner, Cole, Conlen, and Jed voting in favor. 

 
6. Approved draft minutes from the February 13, 2023, Bicycle Advisory Committee 

meeting. 
 
7. Received summary of hazard reports 
 
8. Approved correspondence from Committee to City of Santa Cruz supporting its 

application for grant funds to update its Active Transportation Plan 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 
 

9. Received SLV Schools Complex Circulation Access Study update. County of Santa 
Cruz and SLV School district asked whether the Committee would like to form an ad 
hoc subcommittee to add input to the design. A motion (Roseman/Cole) was made 
to create the ad hoc subcommittee consisting of Theresia Rogerson and delay its 
start until the first request to do work. The motion passed unanimously with 
members Roseman, Arnold, Kammer, Rogerson, Bradley, Voss, Masoner, Cole, 
Conlen, and Jed voting in favor and with Brad Kava temporarily absent. 

 
10. Provided input for the City of Capitola projects on Kennedy Drive and Capitola Road  
 presented by Kailash Mozumder. 
 
 Kennedy Drive Sidewalk Project 

• The proposed project would add a sidewalk on one side of the road and a bike 
lane going up the hill. 

• Add a curb ramp for ADA accessibility and move the ladder crosswalk to the 
other side of Park Avenue. 

• Committee members commented: 

7-2



 3 

• Mark 10.5-foot lanes on both sides to get a slightly wider bike lane. 
• Narrower bike lanes can serve as traffic calming.  
• Ensure the sharrows are in the center of the lane and not off to the side. 
• Consider bike lane improvements on more of Kennedy as well.  
• Widen curb-adjacent bike lane or improve gutter seam for the bike lane. 
• Mark all four crosswalks 
• Low-cost curb extensions with bollards could help decrease the distance 

for the crosswalks. 
• Streets are for public access, not private parking. 

• Jane Stillinger commented that northbound drivers run that stop sign so there 
is a need to slow down traffic before the crosswalk. 

Roadway Restoration Project on Capitola Road 
• The current pavement condition index is 30-40 so it needs restoration. Signage 

and striping will be added to help cyclists merge over near 30th Avenue and to 
improve bike lane visibility. The current lane widths will be replicated except 
near 30th Avenue. Construction will begin in late Summer or early Fall. 

• Committee members discussed adding left turn facilities to the 41st Avenue 
intersection for cyclists (bike boxes and/or queue boxes) 

11. Provided input and recommended approval for the TDA Allocation request for Bike to 
Work/School Program presented by Matt Miller and Juan Castillo. 

• Walk & Roll to school day - rebranding to be inclusive of other students 
such as users of wheelchairs or scooters. 

• Participation numbers were shared 
• 2023 Date: May 11th. 

• 3rd year of Safe Route Group Rides 
• Encourages group rides for people to try out a safe route since that 

holds back people from riding. 
• Looking into a route in Scotts Valley also. 

• Bike Challenge 
• Online based bicycle challenge worked to create behavior change 

with friendly competition. 
• In 2023 there will be a Spanish interface, and there will be 

engagement campaigns in Spring and Winter to create individual 
goals and encourage people to feel accountable and participate. 

• The benefits and difficulties of having an in-person bike to work day with 
tables at multiple locations next year were discussed. Ecology Action 
noted that their ability to change behavior is more effective throughout 
the year than just one big event. However, they’re aware that the magic 
of Bike to Work Day is special. The investment is significant but could 
potentially happen with additional funding. 

• Committee members suggested group rides for different events like bike 
to Earth Day, or bike with families. Additionally, to attract different types 
of riders, the Committee members suggested having a series of “bike 
week” events like in past years, and encouraged everyone to support and 
volunteer with the schools. 

• A motion (Arnold/Masoner) was made to support the staff 
recommendation for the TDA allocation.  The motion passed unanimously 
with members Roseman, Kava, Arnold, Kammer, Rogerson, Bradley, 
Voss, Masoner, Cole, Conlen, and Jed voting in favor. 

 

7-3



 4 

12. Provided input and recommended approval for the TDA Allocation for Ride N Stride 
and Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) presented by Theresia Rogerson. 

• County-wide coalition to prevent traffic-related injuries and fatalities. Goal of 
zero traffic fatalities. Two-year work plan to assist the City of Watsonville 
with their vision zero action plan and promote vision zero in other parts of 
the County. Four of the jurisdictions in Santa Cruz County have adopted 
vision zero policies, while discussions with the City of Capitola continue. Ride 
n’ Stride is an elementary school safety education program and is offered in 
Spanish. 

• Proposal by County Health Services Agency to combine all their Ride n’ Stride 
and CTSC programs under one umbrella for funding. 

• Committee members expressed appreciation for the programs, while seeking 
to understand how success is measured. It was clarified that the Watsonville 
Vision Zero Task Force, which is partially supported by the CTSC, continues 
to gather and analyze crash data and target specific areas. 

• A motion (Kammer/Roseman) was made to support the staff 
recommendation for TDA allocation and budgeting both programs’ funding 
together into one.  The motion passed unanimously with members Roseman, 
Kava, Arnold, Kammer, Hyman, Bradley, Voss, Masoner, Cole, Conlen, and 
Jed voting in favor and Rogerson abstaining. 

 
13. Deferred the construction safety for roadwork and encroachments affecting bikeways 

to May meeting. 
 

14. Committee members provided updates related to Committee Functions 
• Anna Kammer: The City of Watsonville is updating its 2005 general plan. The 

plan will provide opportunities for improved bike and pedestrian networks. 
There will be many outreach events and committees. 

• Arnold Shir: County Health Services Agency filled the vacant position that 
helps implement the traffic safety programs. 

• Gina Cole: City of Watsonville will host “bike party.” The first will be on April 
28th and always be the last Friday of the month. 

 
15. Adjourn – 8:27pm 

 
NEXT MEETING: The next Bicycle Committee meeting is scheduled for May 8th, 2023, 
from 6:00pm to 8:30pm in hybrid format. 
 
Minutes respectfully prepared and submitted by: 
Stephanie Britt, Transportation Planning Technician 

7-4



E&D TAC Minutes 1 April 11, 2023 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s 
Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee 

(Also serves as the Social Service Transportation Advisory Council) 

DRAFT MINUTES 

1:30pm - 3:30pm 

Tuesday, April 11, 2023 

1. Roll call

The meeting was called to order at 1:40 p.m. 

Members present: 
Tara Ireland, Social Service Provider-Persons of Limited Means 
Lisa Berkowitz, CTSA (Community Bridges) 
Jesus Bojorquez, CTSA (Lift Line) 
Michael Pisano, Potential Transit User (60+) 
Caroline Lamb, Potential Transit User (Disabled) 
Janet Edwards, 1st District 
Veronica Elsea, Chair 3rd District 

Unexcused absences: 
Alex Weske, Social Service Provider – Disabled 
Paul Elerick, 2nd District 
Ed Hutton, 5th District 
Clay Kempf, Social Service Provider – Seniors  
Daniel Zaragoza, SCMTD (Metro) 

RTC staff present: 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner 

Others present: 
Christina Witt, Department of Rehabilitation 
Wondimu Mengistu, Santa Cruz METRO 
Miranda Taylor, AMBAG 
Kailash Mozumder, City of Capitola 
Jonathan Weidman, UCSC 
Kyle Klein, B Cycles 
Marianne Ahern, Member of the public  

8-1



E&D TAC Minutes 2 April 11, 2023 

2. Introductions

3. Consider AB2449 request(s) to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances (a physical or family medical emergency that
prevents a member from attending in person) - None

4. Oral communications

Marianne Ahern, Member of the public, presented intersections in Capitola that 
are hazardous to individuals with disabilities. She identified intersections where 
pedestrians were struck by motorists in the past 6 months. The intersections 
include Clares St. & Capitola Rd, Capitola Rd & 41st Avenue, Soquel Dr & Carriker 
Lane, and Captiola Rd & 7th Avenue. Ms. Ahern emphasized the need for safe 
pedestrian crossings that are ADA accessible at hospitals and shopping centers. 
Specifically, at Capitola Rd & Clares St. individuals using a wheelchair are unable 
to reach the pedestrian push button to cross the street.  

5. Additions or deletions to consent and regular agendas

A motion (Edwards, Pisano) was made to movie Item 18. Regional E-Bike 
Share Program before Item 11 due to time conflicts of presenters. The 
motion passed with members Tara Ireland, Lisa Berkowitz, Jesus 
Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, and Veronica 
Elsea voting in favor. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

6. Approve Minutes from February 14, 2023

A motion (Pisano/Berkowitz) was made to approve the minutes from
February 14, 2023. The motion passed with members Tara Ireland, Lisa
Berkowitz, Jesus Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet
Edwards, and Veronica Elsea voting in favor.

7. Approve TDA allocation requests for Ride N Stride and Community Traffic
Safety Coalition Programs

8. Receive RTC Meeting Highlights

9. Receive Information Items

A motion (Berkowitz/Lamb) was made to approve the consent agenda.
The motion passed with members Tara Ireland, Lisa Berkowitz, Jesus
Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, and Veronica

8-2



E&D TAC Minutes 3 April 11, 2023 

 

 

 

Elsea voting in favor. 
REGULAR AGENDA 

 
18. (Moved before Item 10) Regional E-Bike Share Program 
 
  Jonathan Weidman, UCSC Staff and Kyle Klein, B Cycles Staff presented 

an overview of the City of Santa Cruz in partnership with the Cities of 
Capitola and Watsonville, the County of Santa Cruz, UCSC, and Cabrillo 
College Regional Electric Bike Share Program. The Vendor BCycle and its 
parent company, Trek, will fully own and operate the Bike Share system. 
Bike Share is expected to launch in June 2023 throughout the City of 
Santa Cruz and UCSC campus. The regional system is scheduled to 
expand to Capitola, Watsonville, Cabrillo College and the unincorporated 
County in early 2024. 

 
 E&D TAC members asked questions regarding where the docking stations 

will be located, how parking will be enforced, and monitored.  
 
 No motion taken. 
 
 
10. Receive Program Updates 

a. Volunteer Center  

Tara Ireland provided information on the Volunteer Center’s Fall 
Prevention Program. More information can be found at 
https://scvolunteercenter.org/programs/empowered-aging/falls-
prevention-program/ The Volunteer Center also gained 8 new 
volunteers for their Transportation Program. 

 
b. Community Bridges 

 
Jesus Bojorquez announced that Community Bridges Lift Line will be 
extending the free rides to COVID-19 vaccinations and pharmacies. 

 
c. Santa Cruz METRO 

 
No update.  

 
d. SCCRTC – Covid Public Meeting Rules and AB 2449 

 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, informed the committee 
that the RTC directed staff to develop a scope of work for a Regional 
e-bike and/or non-motorized bike voucher program, as well as a e-
bike share incentive for the Go Santa Cruz County Program. Ms. 
Marino invited the committee members to participate in a 

8-3

https://scvolunteercenter.org/programs/empowered-aging/falls-prevention-program/
https://scvolunteercenter.org/programs/empowered-aging/falls-prevention-program/


E&D TAC Minutes 4 April 11, 2023 

 

 

 

stakeholder group to review and provide input on the program. 
 

e. Pedestrian Ad-Hoc Subcommittee  
i. Pedestrian Hazard Report 

 
Chair Veronica Elsea stated that the subcommittee is continuing to 
meet and discussing ways to improve response times in the 
pedestrian hazard report processes working with local jurisdictions. 
The subcommittee is continuing to monitor the public meetings and 
projects of local jurisdictions throughout Santa Cruz County. Ms. 
Elsea identified projects that they are monitoring, and the next 
subcommittee meeting will be on May 26th at 2:00 pm. Ms. Elsea 
also provided information on how to report pot-holes or hazardous 
road conditions. For Santa Cruz public works you can call 831-420-
5160, visit the app “My Santa Cruz County”, or 
www.cityofsantacruz.com/howdoI/report. In Watsonville you may 
call customer service 831-768-3133, and in Scotts Valley you may 
call the Maintenance Division 831-438-8689.  

 
 

11. Draft 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List 
  

Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, explained that annually the E&D 
TAC prepares the Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List to identify 
unmet transportation needs of seniors and people with disabilities and/or 
limited means to provide a useful tool to access and prioritize needs in the 
region. The E&D TAC considered the Preliminary Draft 2022 Unmet 
Paratransit and Transit Needs List at their February 14, 2023 meeting. 
Revisions from the Preliminary Draft to the Draft are shown using 
underline and strikeout and reflect recommendations made by the E&D 
TAC, input from members of the public, partner agencies, and RTC staff. 
Committee members and members of the public are encouraged to 
provide comments using the online form or by emailing 
amarino@sccrtc.org. Committee members provided edits to the list that 
will be included in the final draft. 
 
A motion (Pisano/Lamb) was made to approve the Final Draft 2023 Unmet 
Transit and Paratransit Needs List with amendments and recommend 
approval of the list to the RTC for their consideration on May 4, 2023 with 
amendments as needed following the public hearing. The motion passed 
with members Tara Ireland, Lisa Berkowitz, Jesus Bojorquez, Michael 
Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, and Veronica Elsea voting in favor. 

 
12. FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act and State Transit Assistance                                                   
Funds for the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
 

8-4

http://www.cityofsantacruz.com/howdoI/report
mailto:amarino@sccrtc.org


E&D TAC Minutes 5 April 11, 2023 

 

 

 

 Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, delivered the staff 
recommendation for the TDA/STA claim for Santa Cruz METRO. Wondimu 
Mengistu, Santa Cruz METRO staff, provided an overview of the Metro 
TDA/STA claim. 

 
 A motion (Bojorquez, Edwards) was made to recommend that the 
Regional Transportation Commission approve METRO’s TDA/STA claim. 
The motion passed with members Tara Ireland, Lisa Berkowitz, Jesus 
Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, and Veronica 
Elsea voting in favor.  

 
13. FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act and State Transit Assistance 

Funds for Community Bridges Lift Line Paratransit Program 
 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, communicated the staff 
recommendation for the TDA/STA claim for Community Bridges Lift Line. 
Jesus Bojorquez, Community Bridges Staff, provided an overview of the 
Community Bridges Lift Line TDA/STA claim and answered committee 
member’s questions and provided additional information. 
 
A motion (Ireland/Lamb) was made to recommend that the Regional 
Transportation Commission approve Community Bridges Lift Line’s 
TDA/STA claim. The motion passed with members Patty Talbott, Tara 
Ireland, Jesus Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, 
and Veronica Elsea voting in favor. Lisa Berkowitz abstained from the 
vote. 
 

 
14. FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act Funds for Volunteer Center 

 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, presented the staff 
recommendation for the TDA claim for the Volunteer Center. Tara Ireland, 
Volunteer Center staff, provided an overview of the Volunteer Center TDA 
claim. 

 
 A motion (Berkowitz, Bojorquez) was made to recommend that the 
Regional Transportation Commission approve The Volunteer Center’s 
TDA/STA claim. The motion passed with members Patty Talbott, Tara 
Ireland, Jesus Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Lisa Berkowitz, 
Janet Edwards, and Veronica Elsea voting in favor. 

 
15. 2023 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 

 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner, delivered the staff 
recommendation for the 2023 LCTOP program to fund the Santa Cruz 
METRO Youth Ride Free pilot program. Wondimu Mengistu, Santa Cruz 

8-5



E&D TAC Minutes 6 April 11, 2023 

 

 

 

METRO staff, provided an overview of the pilot program.  
 
The E&DTAC recommends METRO and RTC also consider providing free 
transit rides to seniors, veterans, jurors, and on election days in the 
future. 

 
 A motion (Edwards, Lamb) was made to recommend that the Regional 
Transportation Commission approve the RTC program 100% of the 
region’s FY22/23 LCTOP funds to METRO’s new Youth Ride Free pilot 
program. The motion passed with members Lisa Berkowitz, Jesus 
Bojorquez, Michael Pisano, Caroline Lamb, Janet Edwards, and Veronica 
Elsea voting in favor. Tara Ireland opposed the vote.   

 
16. San Lorenzo Valley (SLV) Schools Complex Circulation and Access Study 

 
Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner provided information on The San 
Lorenzo Valley Schools Access Study (Study) serving as the next step 
toward implementing the SLV Schools Access Project identified in the 
Highway 9/SLV Complete Streets Corridor Plan. Staff invited committee 
members to serve on an ad-hoc subcommittee in order to provide further 
input to the project team. 
 
No motion taken. 
 

17. City of Capitola projects on Kennedy Drive and on Capitola Road 
 

Kailash Mozumder, City of Capitola Staff presented The Kennedy Drive 
Sidewalk Project adding a new sidewalk, new uphill bike lane, 
crosswalk striping, and ADA curb ramp. Mr. Mozumder additionally 
presented The Capitola Road Pavement Project that will restore 
deteriorated pavement from the 41st Avenue intersection west to 30th 
Avenue. The committee reviewed and provided input regarding pedestrian 
accessibility.  

 
           19.  AMBAG 2023 Public Participation Plan Development Process           
 

Miranda Taylor, AMBAG Staff, provided an overview of the 2023 Public 
Participation Plan (PPP) development process. The Public Participation Plan 
is a comprehensive document that guides regional planning agencies and 
local jurisdictions in the public participation process for the tri-county 
Monterey Bay region that either receive federal funds or are subject to a 
federally required action. Committee members provided feedback and 
asked questions regarding timeline and agencies involved in the 
development of the 2023 Public Participation Plan. 
 

8-6



E&D TAC Minutes 7 April 11, 2023 

 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 3:35 pm. 
 
The next E&D TAC meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, June 13, 2023 at 1:30 
located at the SCCRTC office at 1101 Pacific Ave, Suite 250, Santa Cruz, CA 
95060 
 
Respectfully submitted, Amanda Marino, Staff 

8-7



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission (RTC)  

FROM: Rachel Moriconi, Transportation Planner 

RE: 2023 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff, the Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D 
TAC), and Interagency Technical Advisory Committee (ITAC) recommend 
that the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC): 

1. Program Santa Cruz County’s population-formula shares (99313) of
FY22/23 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP)
(approximately $650,000) to Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District’s
(METRO) Youth Ride Free pilot program (YouthCruz); and

Staff recommends that the RTC also: 

1. Adopt a resolution (Attachment 1) to reflect this programming; and

2. Authorize the Executive Director or their designee to sign, submit and
execute documents, including applications, certifications and
assurances, and reports, as may be required or necessary for
distribution of the LCTOP funds to programmed projects.

BACKGROUND 

In 2014, the California Legislature established the Low Carbon Transit 
Operations Program (LCTOP) to provide operating and capital assistance for 
transit agencies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve mobility, 
with an emphasis on serving disadvantaged communities. Funded by 
Greenhouse Gas Reduction Funds (GGRF) generated from the sale of carbon 
credits in the state’s Cap and Trade program, the State Controller’s Office 
(SCO) apportions revenue to transit operators and regional transportation 
planning agencies (including RTC) using State Transit Assistance (STA) 
population and revenue distribution formulas. As the regional entity 
designated under Public Utilities Code (PUC) 99313, the RTC can act as a 
lead agency on eligible projects or act as a “contributing sponsor” and pass 
funds onto public transit operators to support an eligible project.  

9-1



Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Page 2 

Eligible projects for LCTOP include: 
1. Expenditures that directly enhance or expand transit service by 

supporting new or expanded bus or rail services, new or expanded 
water-borne transit, or expanded inter-modal transit facilities, and 
may include equipment acquisition, fueling, and maintenance, and 
other costs to operate those services or facilities. 

2. Operational expenditures that increase transit mode share. 
3. Expenditures related to the purchase of zero-emission buses, including 

electric buses, and the installation of the necessary equipment and 
infrastructure to operate and support these zero-emission buses. 

4. Free fare programs. Senate Bill (SB) 942-Newman (2022) allows 
transit agencies to receive funding for approved free or reduced fare 
projects for up to three years after the initial allocation.   

 
In addition to using funds on eligible projects, recipients of LCTOP funds 
must demonstrate that each expenditure of program monies does not 
supplant another source of funds; at least 50 percent of funds must either 
be utilized within and benefit state-defined priority populations, unless the 
project is new or expanded service that connects with services to 
disadvantaged or low-income communities, transit fare subsidies, or to 
purchase zero-emission buses and supporting infrastructure; and agencies 
are required to conduct meaningful outreach and engagement to low income 
and disadvantaged communities (“Priority Populations”) to ensure that funds 
are used to address important community needs. 
 
If an agency is not prepared to initiate a project in the current fiscal year, 
they may roll funds over into a subsequent fiscal year, accruing LCTOP funds 
for a more substantial project. All funds must be applied to the project 
within four years. Approved projects must also be completed and funds 
expended within the subsequent four years. 
 
DISCUSSION   
 
The State Controller’s Office (SCO) estimates that approximately $192 
million will be available for the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 
(LCTOP) statewide in FY22/23. The SCO estimates that RTC’s population-
based formula share (per PUC 99313) will be $654,314 and METRO’s 
estimated revenue-based formula share (per PUC 99314) is $589,049 
($1.24 million total for Santa Cruz County projects). Annual shares vary 
based on projected and actual Cap-and-Trade auction proceeds, as well as 
population and revenue estimates in other counties and transit districts and 
will be adjusted based on actual revenues. Projects approved by the RTC 
and METRO are subject to Caltrans concurrence.  
 

9-2



Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Page 3 

METRO has requested and staff, the Elderly and Disabled 
Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC), and Interagency 
Technical Advisory Committee (ITAC) recommend that the RTC 
program 100% of the region’s FY22/23 LCTOP funds to METRO’s 
new Youth Ride Free pilot program. 
 
METRO staff has requested to use LCTOP funds to implement the countywide 
Youth Ride Free Program (YouthCruz) to allow youth in grades K-12 to ride 
local METRO buses for free for two years. This supports METRO’s goal of 
increasing transit ridership, expand access to opportunities and resources for 
youth, and support equity goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, 
many of whom come from low-income households. The program is also 
expected to help develop lifelong transit riders and shift trips currently taken 
in private automobiles to buses (increase transit mode share). Attachment 2 
provides additional information about this project. METRO is covering the 
cost of the initial pilot which started this spring using other METRO funds. 
The METRO board is scheduled to consider this use of FY22/23 LCTOP funds 
at its April 28, 2023 meeting and RTC action would be contingent on METRO 
approval.  
 
Compliance with LCTOP Guidelines 
This project is consistent with LCTOP guidelines, serves state-defined low 
income and disadvantaged priority populations, and supports California and 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) greenhouse gas reduction goals. 
Providing youth bus passes to low-income households is also identified as a 
strategy in the RTC’s Unmet Needs List to provide “Transportation services 
for low-income families with children, including transportation for people 
transitioning from welfare to work.” 
 
LCTOP guidelines require agencies to seek input from community-based 
organizations, especially those serving low-income individuals, on priorities 
for LCTOP funds. In addition to outreach conducted by METRO and RTC, staff 
recommends that the RTC continue to identify priority public transit, 
paratransit, and/or community transportation services which could 
significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions and/or shift trips from 
automobile to transit and reduce vehicle miles traveled as part of the 2023 
Unmet Needs list (see separate agenda item). At its April meeting, the 
E&DTAC recommended that METRO and RTC also consider providing free 
transit rides to seniors, veterans, jurors, and on election days in the future. 
At the April ITAC meeting, one member suggested METRO and RTC consider 
using future funds to add transponders in buses in order to implement bus 
prioritization at intersections along Soquel Drive. 
 
Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission 

9-3



Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Page 4 

(RTC) adopt a resolution (Attachment 1) approving METRO’s 
programming request (Attachment 2) and authorizing staff to sign 
and execute any LCTOP documents, as may be necessary for Santa 
Cruz METRO and Lift Line to receive LCTOP funds.  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS 
 
The RTC is responsible for identifying projects to receive the region’s 
population-based formula shares of Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 
(LCTOP) funds. LCTOP funds programmed to METRO are paid by the State 
Controller’s Office (SCO) directly to METRO and do not flow through the RTC 
budget.  
 
SUMMARY   
 
The California Legislature established a Low Carbon Transit Operations 
Program (LCTOP) to distribute revenue from the sale of carbon emission 
credits (Cap-and-Trade funds) for transit operations and capital projects that 
reduce greenhouse gases. Funds are distributed by formula to regional 
agencies and transit agencies. Staff, the Elderly and Disabled Transportation 
Advisory Committee (E&D TAC), and the Interagency Technical Advisory 
Committee (ITAC) recommend that the RTC program FY22/23 funds to 
Santa Cruz METRO for its new Youth Free Ride pilot program.  
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution 
2. Application from Santa Cruz METRO  

 
\\rtcserv2\internal\rtip\capntrade\lctop\2023\lctop-2023-sr.docx 

9-4



RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission on 
the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner  
duly seconded by Commissioner Alternate  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PROJECTS TO RECEIVE 
FY22/23 LOW CARBON TRANSIT OPERATIONS PROGRAM (LCTOP) FUNDS 

AND AUTHORIZION FOR THE EXECUTION OF CERTIFICATIONS AND 
ASSURANCES AND AUTHORIZED AGENT FORMS 

FOR THE FOLLOWING PROJECT: 
METRO YOUTH FREE FARE PILOT PROGRAM (ESTIMATED $654,314) 

WHEREAS, the State of California enacted the Transit, Affordable 
Housing and Sustainable Communities Program (SB 862) in 2014 to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions from the transportation sector; and 

WHEREAS, SB 862 established the Low Carbon Transit Operating 
Program (LCTOP) to receive revenue from the sale of emission allowances in 
California’s Cap-and-Trade program and distribute these funds to Regional 
Transportation Planning Agencies (RTPAs) and transit operators eligible to 
receive State Transit Assistance funds pursuant to Sections 99313 and 
99314 of the Public Utility Code (PUC) for transit projects which reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions; and 

WHEREAS, the State Controller’s Office estimates $654,314 in LCTOP 
will be available to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) pursuant 
to PUC 99313 and $589,049 available to Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit 
District (METRO) pursuant to PUC 99314, for a total of $1,243,363 for 
projects in Santa Cruz County in Fiscal Year 2022/23 (FY22/23); and 

WHEREAS, the RTC and Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
(METRO) are eligible project sponsors and may receive state funding from 
the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) for transit projects in 
Santa Cruz County; and 

WHEREAS, the statutes related to state-funded transit projects require 
a local or regional implementing agency to abide by various regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 862 (2014) named the Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans) as the administrative agency for the LCTOP and 
Caltrans has developed guidelines for the purpose of administering and 
distributing LCTOP funds to eligible project sponsors (local agencies); and 

Attachment 1

9-5



WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) 
requests that the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
designate its FY22/23 allocation of PUC 99313 LCTOP funds to the project 
listed below; and 

WHEREAS, the RTC wishes to delegate authorization to execute these 
documents and any amendments thereto to the RTC Executive Director and 
Santa Cruz METRO, as applicable; and 

WHEREAS, METRO wishes to implement this project and has 
committed to use LCTOP funds in accordance with applicable statutes, 
regulations and guidelines for the program; and 

WHEREAS, the project proposed for FY22/23 LCTOP funds serves 
disadvantaged communities, and is consistent with the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Plan and Unmet Transit Needs list; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION THAT: 

1. The submittal of the following project nomination and allocation
request to the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) for
Fiscal Year (FY) 2022/23 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program
(LCTOP) funds are hereby authorized:

a. Project Name: Santa Cruz METRO’s Youth Ride Free Pilot
Program (YouthCruz)

b. Amount of 99313 LCTOP Funds: 100% of FY22/23 allocations,
estimated $654,314

c. Description: Countywide youth free fare program to allow youth
in grades K-12 to ride local METRO buses for free for two years.

d. Benefit to Priority Populations: Located within the boundaries of
SB535-defined Disadvantaged Community census tracts. Expands
access to opportunities and resources for youth and support
equity goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, many of
whom come from low-income households.

e. Amount to benefit Priority Populations: $407,778

2. The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC)
shall act as a “contributing sponsor”.

3. LCTOP funding amounts shall be adjusted based on actual FY22/23
revenues.

9-6



4. The Executive Director or his/her designee is authorized to sign and
execute on behalf of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission any actions, agreements, and amendments necessary to
distribute funds to implementing agencies, including all required
documents of the LCTOP program and any Amendments thereto with
the State of California.

5. Fund recipients agree to comply with all conditions and requirements
set forth in the Certification and Assurances and the Authorized Agent
documents and applicable statutes, regulations and guidelines for all
LCTOP funded transit projects.

AYES: COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

ATTEST: 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

Guy Preston, Secretary 

Distribution: Caltrans; SCMTD; RTC Programming 

\\rtcserv2\internal\rtip\capntrade\lctop\2023\lctop-2023-reso.docx 

9-7



The Youth Ride Free pilot program 
Page 1 

Project Nomination to SCCRTC for FY2022/23 
Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 

Approximately $654,314 available from RTC’s discretionary share (Sec 99313) 

Please fill out a separate application for each project and return to SCCRTC 
via email to amarino@sccrtc.org by 1:00 p.m. on Monday April 3, 2023.

Note: If your project is recommended for funding, you will need to subsequently complete the Caltrans 
LCTOP Allocation Request Form and other Caltrans required documents. 

1. Project Name: Youth Ride Free Pilot Program

Implementing Agency: Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO)

Contact Person: Wondimu Mengistu Email:Wmengistu@scmtd.com

2. LCTOP RTC-shares (PUC 99313) Requested: 100% - estimated $654,314

3. Project Description - Provide a comprehensive project description. For
operations projects, include: number of trips, span, frequency of improvements,
number of days of operation and marketing components (if applicable). For
capital projects, describe project specifications and identify components
proposed to be funded by LCTOP.
METRO seeks to implement two year countywide Youth Ride Free Program to 
allow youth in grades K-12 to ride local METRO service fare free anywhere and 
anytime METRO operates (Highway 17 excluded). The Proposed Project is 
estimated to increase youth ridership by 100% of pre-pandemic levels. The 
intent of this program is to support METRO’s goal of increasing transit ridership 
to seven million trips within the next five years, expand access to opportunities 
and resources for youth, and support equity goals by eliminating the fare burden 
for youth, many of whom come from low-income households. Youth under the 
age of 18 currently comprise 9.7% of METRO boardings (2019 On-Board 
Survey) yet are 19% of Santa Cruz County residents, suggesting room for 
growth in this demographic. 

4. Eligibility - Verify that the project will meet at least one of the following
eligibility requirements (check which one applies to the project)

Expenditures directly enhance or expand transit service by supporting new 
or expanded bus or rail services or expanded intermodal transit facilities, 
and may include equipment acquisition, fueling, and maintenance, and other 
costs to operate those services or facilities. 

x Operational expenditures that increase transit mode share. 
Expenditures related to the purchase of zero-emission buses, including 
electric buses, and the installation of the necessary equipment and 
infrastructure to operate and support zero-emission buses.   

Attachment 2

9-8

mailto:amarino@sccrtc.org
mailto:Wmengistu@scmtd.com


The Youth Ride Free pilot program  
Page 2 

5. Project planning – Describe the planning process, including the process that 
your agency used to identify community needs and identify this project 
specifically as a priority for disadvantaged communities. Include any public 
outreach efforts, engagement events, workshops and other efforts to solicit 
community input. 
A key goal for the Youth Ride Free Program is to help develop lifelong transit 
riders, while meeting METRO’s overall goal of increasing transit ridership. 
Additionally, due to repeated requests from local organizations, it was 
determined that METRO implement two year countywide Youth Ride Free 
Program. The Santa Cruz County Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs process, 
the MPO long-range Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities 
Strategy, the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Plan and METRO's 
Short Range Transit Plan documents encouraging mode shift in the short term 
and building lifelong transit riders as a high priority. Public outreach is a key 
requirement documented in every transportation plan. Feedback received from 
public outreach and engagement revealed an overwhelming support as the 
surrounding community would benefit directly and indirectly from this project. 
For those who use transit because of economic necessity, fare free programs 
also serve equity goals. 
 
 

6. Greenhouse Gas Reductions – Describe how this project will reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions: 
The Project will also result in a total GHG emission reduction of 886.96 MTCO2e. 
The Project will contribute to a sustainable transportation system that reduces 
VMT and congestion, improves the transit and active transportation network, 
and serves communities that are transportation disadvantaged. Given that 
public transit is the most efficient and equitable way for large numbers of people 
to access opportunities and resources, removing barriers to its use is critical to 
reducing car dependence and achieving climate goals.  
 
 
Ridership Increase – Estimated annual ridership increase 
resulting from proposed LCTOP-funded service.  578,164   

Vehicle Miles Reduced: What is the average automobile trip 
length (miles) that will be eliminated as a result of the 
ridership increase above? (average trip length/rider) 

2,172,145   

Project useful life (months and/or years) 24 
months  

 

 
7. Which, if any, disadvantaged communities fall within your transit service 

areas? (Attach a map of their service area from the EPA website 
https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-40. The Lead Agency 
must provide a map whether or not their service area includes a 
disadvantaged community.) 
The county low-income youth have needs similar to those in DACs. For those 
who use transit because of economic necessity, fare free programs also serve 

9-9



The Youth Ride Free pilot program  
Page 3 

equity goals. CARB identified common needs of disadvantaged communities 
based upon input from community advocates in spring 2014. Staff has worked 
with members of the community on many occasions including the public hearing 
held on January 27, 2023. Expanding access to opportunities and resources for 
youth, and support equity goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, many 
of whom come from low-income households. 
 
 

8. Priority Population Benefits - Describe how this project benefits LCTOP-
defined priority populations (low-income, disadvantaged, or other priority 
populations – see Attachment A for additional instructions)  
 
1. Expand access to opportunities and resources for youth, and support equity 

goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, many of whom come from 
low-income households.  

2. Improved Public Health: The project will improve air quality and reduce GHGs 
by removing SOV off the road reducing pollution.  

3. Promotes Active Transportation: The project will encourage the use of public 
transportation, where people without cars are able to get from point A to 
point B. Our buses are also equipped with bicycle racks that fit two bikes, so 
bicyclists are able to put their bikes on our buses if their riding distance is too 
far for them to bike.  

4. Promotes Integration w/other modes as we have bus stops. 
 
 
Is the project located within the boundaries of a SB535-
defined Disadvantaged Community census tract?  Yes  

Is the project located within the boundaries of a low-income 
community census tract?  Yes  

Is the project located outside of a disadvantaged 
community, but within 1/2 mile of a disadvantaged 
community and within a low-income census tract?  

Yes   

Amount of proposed FY 22-23 LCTOP funds benefitting 
Disadvantaged Communities   $407,778  

 
9. What outreach or engagement was done with disadvantaged 

communities for this project?  
Public outreach is a key requirement documented in every transportation plan. 
Feedback received from public outreach and engagement revealed an 
overwhelming support as the surrounding community would benefit directly and 
indirectly from this project. Staff has worked with members of the community 
on many occasions including the public hearing held on January 27, 2023. Staff 
will conduct outreach to all school districts within Santa Cruz County to request 
assistance in notifying the public of the program. Additional outreach will be 
conducted including email notifications to METRO stakeholder groups and 
through METRO’s social media channels.   
 

9-10

https://webmaps.arb.ca.gov/PriorityPopulations/
https://webmaps.arb.ca.gov/PriorityPopulations/


The Youth Ride Free pilot program  
Page 4 

10. If project involves the demolition or rehabilitation of existing units occupied by 
lower-income households or businesses in disadvantaged communities, how 
was this project designed to avoid substantial burden on any low-
income, disadvantaged, and vulnerable populations?  
N/A 
 

11. Co-Benefits - Check all additional Benefits/Outcomes 
 Improved Safety  Coordination with College Institution  
x Improved Public Health x Coordination with K-12 schools 
 Reduced Operating/Maintenance Costs  Promotes Active Transportation 
 Increase System Reliability x Promotes Integration w/ other modes 
 Other: Expand access to opportunities and resources for youth, and support 

equity goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, many of whom come from 
low-income households 

 
12. Plan Consistency: Describe how the project is consistent with local and/or 

regional plans?  (Short Range Transit Plan, Regional Transportation Plan, Long 
Range Transit Plan, etc.) 
The proposed Project is consistent with the Santa Cruz County Unmet Transit 
and Paratransit Needs process, the MPO long-range Metropolitan Transportation 
Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy, the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Plan and METRO's Short Range Transit Plan by encouraging mode 
shift in the short term and building lifelong transit riders as a high priority. 
 

13. Board Approval: Is the project supported by your agency’s Governing Board? 
(Attach approval resolution, meeting minutes, or the date approval is expected 
by May 1, 2023.)   
Date approval is expected by April 28, 2023. 

 
14. Project Schedule:  

Anticipated Start Date 12/1/2023  Right-of-way (ROW)  N/A 
Anticipated End Date  4/3/2026  Vehicle/Equipment 

Purchase  
N/A 

Environmental review 
(PA/ED) 

N/A  Construction (CON)  N/A 

Design (PS&E) N/A  Operations/Other N/A 
 

15. Project Cost/Funding Information:  

9-11



The Youth Ride Free pilot program  
Page 5 

a. Funding sources and amounts. (Double click on table to activate cells.) 
Funding Information                     

LCTOP Allocation Year Prior FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 FY 25-26   Total 
PUC 99313 Amount:   $654,314         $654,314 
PUC 99314 Amount:   $589,049         $589,049 
Total LCTOP Funds: $0 $1,243,363 $0 $0 $0   $1,243,363 
Other GGRF:             $0 
Other Funds:             $0 
Total Project Cost: $0 $1,243,363 $0 $0 $0   $1,243,363 
 

b. Describe how project cost estimates were developed:  
The project cost was developed by calculating the number of free rides that 
can be provided. In the first year, METRO estimates $491,664 at the average 
cost per ride $2 per rider, doubling youth ridership to 245,832 from 163,709 
of pre-pandemic levels. Staff also estimates allocating 7% ($87,035) of funds 
for marketing and outreach component of the project. In the second year, 
cost estimate is $664,664, proving about 332,332 free rides. These cost 
estimates are based on FY19 youth farebox data $245,833. These estimates 
are very conservative as 19% of Santa Cruz County residents – 51,327 
persons – are under 18 years of age, suggesting room for growth in this 
demographic. In recent years, a number of transit agencies in California have 
implemented both pilot and permanent free fare for youth programs and 
reported ridership exceeding 125% of pre-pandemic levels and continuing to 
trend upward. 
 

c. Project Readiness - Is the project fully funded and “ready to go?” 
$1,243,363 is needed to completely fund this project. With LCTOP funds, the 
project will be fully funded and ready to go. 
 

d. Will LCTOP supplant other funding sources? (yes/no – note LCTOP funds 
cannot be used to supplant other funds) 
No. METRO will not be supplanting funds for use of this project. 
 

16. Cost-Effectiveness and Increased Mode Share of the Project: Describe 
how the project meets industry standards for effectiveness and how the project 
will increase transit ridership.  Is the project economical?  Does it save operating 
costs or increase them?   
The Proposed Project is estimated to increase youth ridership by 100% of pre-
pandemic levels. The benefits associated with supporting increased ridership, 
lowering the economic burden of taking transit for low-income youth, and 
building future transit riders outweigh the costs. Additionally, this project has 
typically targeted youth in an effort to encourage mode shift in the short term 
and build lifelong transit riders. This supports METRO’s goal of increasing transit 
ridership to seven million trips within the next five years, expand access to 
opportunities and resources for youth, and support equity goals. 

9-12



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission  

FROM: Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner 

RE: 2050 Regional Transportation Plan Environmental Impact Report 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) approve the 
attached resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the Executive Director to enter into 
a cost sharing agreement (Exhibit A to Attachment 1) with the Association of 
Monterey Bay Area Governments (AMBAG) in the amount of $75,000 for the 
production of the environmental impact report for the 2050 Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy (MTP/SCS) and the 2050 
Regional Transportation Plans (RTP) for the counties of Santa Cruz, San Benito and 
Monterey. 

BACKGROUND 

As the regional transportation planning agency (RTPA) for Santa Cruz County, the 
Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) is responsible for developing, 
implementing, and regularly updating the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) for 
Santa Cruz County. The RTP is a state-mandated plan that identifies transportation 
needs in Santa Cruz County over the next twenty-plus years. It estimates the 
amount of funding that will be available over this timeframe and identifies a 
financially constrained priority list of projects. This planning effort is a critical 
component to project implementation as it provides a forum for setting the 
direction of transportation in our county over the next 20 plus years, it positions our 
community to receive federal, state, or local funding for projects, and helps 
facilitate collaboration on projects.  

The RTPs adopted by RTPAs in Santa Cruz, Monterey, and San Benito Counties are 
incorporated into the Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities 
Strategy (MTP/SCS), which is prepared by the Association of Monterey Bay Area 
Governments (AMBAG). For many years, the RTC has produced the RTP for Santa 
Cru County in collaboration and coordination with AMBAG, the Transportation 
Agency for Monterey County (TAMC) and San Benito Council of Governments 
(SbCOG). The RTC has also partnered with those agencies for the production of the 
required environmental document. 

DISCUSSION 

10-1



2050 RTP and EIR Page 2 

The next Santa Cruz County RTP and AMBAG MTP/SCS are scheduled for adoption 
in June 2026. These documents will provide transportation plans through 2050 and 
will be referred to as the 2050 RTP and 2050 MTP/SCS. The RTP and AMBAG 
MTP/SCS are being updated after four years based on state law requirements to 
update the RTP every four or five years and SB 375 requirements to sync the 
adoption of the regional housing element (RHNA) that occurs every 8 years with the 
adoption of the MTP. 

Regional coordination between AMBAG, RTC, TAMC and SbCOG is required for 
development of the 2050 MTP/SCS and RTPs. The Santa Cruz County RTP must be 
consistent with and plan for a transportation system that supports the California 
Senate Bill 375-mandated Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS), which is 
included in the MTP produced by AMBAG. To ensure that Santa Cruz County’s 
transportation needs are adequately represented, and to promote consistency, RTC 
staff meets regularly with AMBAG, TAMC, and SbCOG regarding the RTPs and 
MTP/SCS development. 

2050 RTP and MTP/SCS EIR 
An Environmental Impact Report (EIR) pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) will be prepared for the 2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan – 
Sustainable Communities Strategy, which will also serve as the EIR for the county-
level RTPs. As a programmatic document, the 2050 MTP-SCS/RTPs EIR presents a 
region-wide assessment of potential impacts on the physical environment and 
identifies strategies to avoid or mitigate significant environmental effects. This 
document is intended to inform the public decision-makers, responsible or 
interested agencies and the public of the potential environmental effects of the 
2050 MTP/SCS and RTPs. The 2050 MTP-SCS EIR does not provide a detailed 
analysis of individual projects. Projects will undergo a separate environmental 
review process, conducted by their agency sponsors once they receive funding and 
are ready to proceed. One environmental document for all the MTP and RTPs within 
the AMBAG region was completed for the 2045 MTP/SCS and the 2045 RTPs. There 
are significant cost savings in completing a combined environmental review 
document.  

As the lead agency under CEQA for the 2050 MTP/SCS and RTPs EIR, AMBAG has 
the primary responsibility for approving the “project”. The RTC, as a responsible 
agency under CEQA, will review and provide comments on the Draft EIR focusing on 
areas which will require decisions to be carried out by or approved by the RTC in 
the future. The RTC will consider adoption of the EIR findings in concert with 
adoption of the 2050 RTP after the EIR is certified by AMBAG.  

10-2



2050 RTP and EIR Page 3 

RTC staff recommends that the RTC approve the attached resolution 
(Attachment 1) authorizing the Executive Director to enter into a 
cost sharing agreement with the Association of Monterey Bay Area 
Governments (AMBAG) in the amount of $75,000 for development of the 
Environmental Impact Report for the 2050 MTP/SCS and RTPs. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The estimated cost for production of the EIR for the 2050 MTP/SCS and 2050 RTPs 
is estimated to be $325,000. The cost would be shared as follows: AMBAG - 
$125,000; TAMC - $75,000; RTC - $75,000; SbCOG - $50,000. RTC’s share of the 
cost would be paid in two equal installments of $37,500. The first installment would 
be paid by December 1, 2024 of fiscal year (FY) 2024-25 and the second 
installment would be paid by December 1, 2025 of FY 2025-26. Therefore, this 
agreement would not have any fiscal impacts in the current or the upcoming fiscal 
years. Staff will include these installments in the RTC budgets for fiscal years 2024-
25 and 2025-26. The RTC can use a variety of regular on-going planning funds for 
this cost including its normal allocation of Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
funds for planning activities and state Rural Planning Assistance (RPA) and State 
Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Planning, Programming and 
Monitoring (PPM) funds.  

SUMMARY 

The RTC is responsible for developing the RTP for Santa Cruz County. The Santa 
Cruz County RTP along with the Monterey County and San Benito County RTPs are 
incorporated into the MTP/SCS produced by AMBAG. Therefore, these documents 
are produced with collaboration and coordination among the various agencies 
producing the plans. In addition, AMBAG, TAMC, RTC and SbCOG partner in the 
production of the required EIR for the documents in order to share costs resulting in 
savings for all agencies. Therefore, staff recommends that the RTC authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into a cost sharing agreement with AMBAG for the 
production of the EIR for the 2050 MTP/SCS and 2050 RTPs. 

Attachments: 

1. Resolution to Enter into Cost-Sharing Agreement with AMBAG for 2050
MTP/SCS/RTPs EIR

10-3

file://RTCSERV2/Shared/RTP/2050%20RTP%20(2026)/AMBAG/SCCRTC-AMBAG_2050%20MTP-SCS-RTP%20EIR%20Cost%20Sharing%20Agreement.docx
file://RTCSERV2/Shared/RTP/2050%20RTP%20(2026)/AMBAG/SCCRTC-AMBAG_2050%20MTP-SCS-RTP%20EIR%20Cost%20Sharing%20Agreement.docx


RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner 
duly seconded by Commissioner 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO ENTER INTO A 
COST SHARING AGREEMENT WITH THE ASSOCIATION OF MONTEREY BAY 

AREA GOVERNMENTS FOR THE PRODUCTION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACT REPORT FOR THE REGION’S LONG-TERM PLANNING DOCUMENTS 

WHEREAS, as the Rural Transportation Planning Agency for Santa Cruz 
County, the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) produces the state 
required Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) for Santa Cruz County which, 
along with the RTPs for Monterey and San Benito Counties, is incorporated into 
the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)/Sustainable Communities Strategy 
(SCS) produce by the Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments 
(AMBAG); 

WHEREAS, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that 
an environmental impact report (EIR) be produced for the MTP/SCS and RTP’s; 

WHEREAS, for many years AMBAG, RTC, the Transportation Agency for 
Monterey County (TAMC), and the Santa Benito Council of Governments 
(SbCOG) have been partnering in the production of one EIR to cover all of 
these planning documents in order to reduce costs; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION: 

1. The Executive Director is authorized to enter into the attached cost sharing
agreement (Exhibit A) with AMBAG in the amount of $75,000 for the
production of the EIR for the 2050 MTP/SCS and 2050 RTPs for the counties
of Santa Cruz, Monterey and San Benito.

AYES:      COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

______________________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

Attachment 1

10-4



ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

Attachments: Exhibit A – Cost Sharing Agreement with AMBAG for the 
production of the EIR for the 2050 MTP/SCS and 2050 RTPs 

Distribution: RTC Fiscal 

10-5



AMBAG - SCCRTC  
Cost Sharing Agreement for the Preparation of the 
2050 MTP/SCS/RTP Environmental Impact Report 

THIS AGREEMENT is both a project cost reimbursement and collaborative project 
agreement between the Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments hereinafter referred 
to as "AMBAG," and the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, hereinafter 
referred to as "SCCRTC." 

WHEREAS, AMBAG and SCCRTC have a long-standing relationship and mutual 
responsibility for transportation planning in Santa Cruz County; and 

WHEREAS, AMBAG and SCCRTC are each responsible for the development of, at a 
minimum, a 20-year long-range transportation plan outlining anticipated projects and policy 
direction for their respective areas of responsibility; and 

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP), including the Sustainable 
Communities Strategy (SCS), and SCCRTC’s Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) are each 
considered a project under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined that an environmental review of the 2050 MTP/SCS and 
RTP will need to be prepared; and 

WHEREAS, SCCRTC agrees to designate AMBAG as the Lead Agency pursuant to CEQA for 
the preparation of the collective environmental review; and 

WHEREAS, AMBAG and SCCRTC agree that joint development of the environmental review 
is desirable and each agrees to participate in the selection of a consultant to conduct 
environmental review on their 20 plus-year long-range transportation plans and enlist CEQA 
services from that consultant; and 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to enter into an Agreement calling for the mutual 
development of one environmental review covering SCCRTC’s 2050 Regional Transportation 
Plan in addition to AMBAG's Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities 
Strategy (such collective environmental review referred to hereinafter as "Project"); and 

WHEREAS, AMBAG shall also enter into separate cost sharing agreements with the Regional 
Transportation Planning Agencies for Monterey and San Benito Counties allowing for their 2050 
Regional Transportation Plans to also be covered by the same environmental review as 
SCCRTC’s RTP and AMBAG's 2050 MTPISCS. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein 
contained, the parties hereto agree to the following: 

Exhibit A

10-6



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

2 

1. Scope of Work

AMBAG shall secure separate cost sharing agreements with the Regional Transportation 
Planning Agencies for Monterey and San Benito Counties that stipulates the same scope, term, 
payment procedures, and EIR revision clauses as this agreement to cover those agencies' 
proportionate share of the Project to be completed under this agreement. AMBAG shall submit 
executed copies of those agreements to SCCRTC prior to the issuance of a Notice to Proceed on 
environmental analysis for the Project and prior to the issuance of any invoice by AMBAG to 
SCCRTC under this agreement. 

SCCRTC shall furnish its proportionate share of personnel, materials, services and facilities 
necessary for collaboration on the Project and will work collectively with AMBAG and the 
Regional Transportation Planning Agencies for Monterey and San Benito Counties on developing 
a Request for Proposals for an environmental review consultant, including the Project's Scope 
of Work. 

AMBAG shall produce a scope of work collectively with all of the participating agencies for the 
combined MTP/SCS/RTP EIR that meets all of the appropriate state requirements and needs of 
all of the participating agencies and shall conduct a procurement process collectively with all of 
the participating agencies meeting state and federal procurement requirements to secure an 
environmental consultant for the combined MTP/SCS/RTP EIR. 

AMBAG shall enter into an agreement with an EIR consultant selected mutually by all the 
participating agencies and require the consultant to produce the combined MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
that meets State requirements for such a document and SCCRTC’s and other RTPA’s needs and 
requirements. 

2. Term

This Agreement is effective July 1, 2023 and shall end on August 31, 2026, or 30 days after the 
Lead Agency files the Project's Notice of Determination, whichever occurs last. The period of 
performance may be extended by six months upon written agreement of all the parties. 

3. Project Cost and Payments

The Project costs for consultant services shall not exceed the amount of $325,000 except as 
provided below. AMBAG and SCCRTC agree to pay the Project costs shown below, as follows: 

Agency Cost 
AMBAG $125,000 
SCCRTC $  75,000 
Other RTPAs $125,000 
Total Project Cost $325,000 

10-7



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

 

3 
 

 
AMBAG will provide overall Project management and will receive Project consultant invoices and 
pay the invoices upon satisfactory completion of consultant work as determined by AMBAG's 
Executive Director in the Executive Director's sole discretion. SCCRTC agrees to the following 
payment schedule: 

 
December 1, 2024     $37,500 
December 1, 2025     $37,500 

 
The intent of this payment schedule is to provide for the timely payment of consultant invoices 
by AMBAG through partial prepayment, without imposing significant burden on SCCRTC through 
total prepayment. At the end of the Project, if the Project consultant invoices less than the 
aforementioned Project cost, AMBAG shall return to SCCRTC its share of the remaining non-
invoiced amount. 

 
All costs incurred under this Agreement shall be based on actual costs and are subject to 
audit. Substantiating documents (e.g., travel receipts, invoices, etc.) shall be retained by 
AMBAG and AMBAG shall keep an accurate accounting of all costs incurred in the performance 
of the Project for this Agreement, including providing summary reporting information to SCCRTC. 
No additional amounts shall be required of SCCRTC unless proposed increased costs are first 
approved by SCCRTC in writing. 

 
4.  MTP/SCS/RTP EIR Manager 

 
AMBAG designates Ms. Heather Adamson as the 2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR Manager who shall 
be responsible for the professional conduct of the Project covered by this Agreement and 
liaison between the Project consultant and SCCRTC. AMBAG shall promptly notify SCCRTC of 
any change in 2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR Manager. 

 
5.  SCCRTC Representative 

 
SCCRTC designates Ms. Grace Blakeslee as the SCCRTC Representative responsible for the 
participation in, response to, review and oversight of the products of the Project, and for 
amendments to this Agreement. SCCRTC shall promptly inform AMBAG of any change to its 
Representative. 

 
6.  Scope of Work Revisions 

 
Any significant changes in the performance of this Agreement as outlined in the Project Scope 
of Work incorporated herein shall be in writing and require mutual authorization by the 2050 
MTP/SCS/RTP AMBAG’s EIR Manager and the SCCRTC Representative. 

 
7.  Administrative Representative 

 

10-8



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

4 

AMBAG designates Ms. Maura Twomey as the Administrative Representative who shall be 
responsible for the contractual and administrative aspects of the Agreement. Questions and 
correspondence of an administrative nature shall be directed to the Administrative 
Representative at AMBAG, 24580 Silver Cloud Court, Monterey, CA 93940. 

8. Allowability of Costs

There shall not be any deviation from the project budget without prior written approval by 
AMBAG and SCCRTC. The allowability of costs shall be determined in accordance with the 
OMB Circular 2 CFR Chapter I and II, Part 200 et al. as of December 2013. All requests for budget 
amendments approval shall be in writing and mutually agreed to by AMBAG and SCCRTC boards. 
AMBAG shall carefully monitor costs and performance of the consultant, take such steps as 
necessary to ensure that the Project be completed on time and on budget, and shall alert 
SCCRTC on an expedited basis of any questions or concerns in the costs or timely completion 
of the Project. 

9. Termination

Either of the parties may terminate this Agreement at any time with or without cause, through 
a written Notice of Termination. Such Notice by one party will result in the termination of this 
Agreement among both parties. Such Notice will provide not less than forty-five (45) calendar 
days for AMBAG to refund to SCCRTC any remaining funds held for completion of this Agreement 
which are no longer required to pay consultant work for work performed prior to the date of 
receipt of the Notice of Termination. SCCRTC shall reimburse AMBAG for any expenses incurred 
by AMBAG in furtherance of this agreement prior to receiving the Notice of Termination. 

10. Indemnification

Each party shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other party and their respective 
officers, employees, and agents from and against any and all liability, loss, costs, expense, 
including reasonable attorney's fees, or claims, demands or, suits for injury or damages, in law 
or in equity, of every kind and nature whatsoever, arising out of or resulting from the 
performance of this Agreement, but only in proportion to and to the extent caused by or 
resulting from the negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of the indemnifying party or 
its officers, employees, agents, or volunteers. 

11. Disputes

In the event of a dispute arising out of the performance of this Agreement, the party alleging 
a dispute shall send a written Notice of Dispute to the other party. Within five working days 
of receipt of such notice, the notified party shall respond and agree to a meeting for the 
purpose of discussing the dispute, the facts giving rise to the dispute, and a resolution of the 
dispute, if possible. If resolution of the dispute cannot be reached, the affected party may 

10-9



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

 

5 
 

file appropriate litigation within six months thereafter. 
 

12.  Project Records 
 

Financial records, supporting documents and other records pertinent to this Agreement shall 
be retained by AMBAG for a period of three (3) years from the date of submission of the final 
expenditure report, except those records pertaining to audit, appeals, litigation or settlement 
of claims arising out of performance of this Agreement shall be retained until such audits, 
appeals, litigation or claims have been disposed of. 

 
AMBAG, as lead agency shall require Environmental/Project Consultant to make available all 
project records, including but not limited to original data and primary data yielding materials, 
secondarily derived tables and figures, and statistical tabulations and other summaries, pertinent 
to this Agreement, to AMBAG and SCCRTC at their respective principal places of business for a 
period of four (4) years from the termination date of this Agreement. 
 
13.   Nondiscrimination 

 
To the extent provided by law and any applicable agency regulations, this Agreement and 
any program assisted thereby are subject to the policies against discrimination: 

 
 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Title VI Assurance executed by California 

under 23 U.S.C. 324 and 29 U.S.C. 794; and 
 The provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Pub. L. 101-336, 104 Stat 

327, as amended) and the U.S. DOT implementing regulations (49 CFR 27, 37, and 38); and 
 The implementing regulations issued pursuant thereto by the California Department of 

Transportation, the Federal Highway Administration and the Federal Transit 
Administration; and 

 Any assurance of compliance which AMBAG and SCCRTC have filed in accordance 
with any applicable agency regulations. 

 
14.  Severability 

 
If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person, place, or 
circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
or void, the remainder of this Agreement and such provisions as applied to other persons, 
places, and circumstances shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
15.  General Provisions and Certifications 

 
AMBAG and SCCRTC certify that it is in compliance with all applicable federal and state laws 
and regulations. 

 

10-10



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

 

6 
 

16.  Entire Agreement 
 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between AMBAG and 
SCCRTC and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous agreement or understandings if any. 
Any changes or modifications shall be accomplished by a written amendment to this Agreement 
executed by the duly authorized representative of each party. 

 
17.  Interpretation  
 
Notwithstanding the fact that one or more provisions of this Agreement may have been drafted 
by one or more parties to this Agreement, such provisions shall be interpreted as though they 
were a product of a joint drafting effort and no provisions shall be interpreted against a party on 
the grounds that said party was solely or primarily responsible for drafting the language to be 
interpreted." 
 
18.  Choice of Law and Venue 

 
This Agreement shall be interpreted and applied according to the laws of California and shall 
be deemed to have been entered into in California as of the effective date set forth in 
Paragraph 2 above. Any action to enforce the terms of this Agreement or for breach thereof shall 
be brought and tried in the County of Monterey. 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the month, day and 
year specified below. 

   

 

         Date:  ___________________ 
Maura F. Twomey  
Executive Director 
Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 
 
           Date: ____________________ 
Don Freeman, AMBAG Legal Counsel 
 

10-11



AMBAG – SCCRTC 
Cost Agreement for the Development of the 

2050 MTP/SCS/RTP EIR 
April 2023 

7 

Date:  ___________________ 
Guy Preston 
Executive Director 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

Date: ___________________ 
Steven T. Mattas, SCCRTC Legal Counsel 

10-12



CUMULATIVE
FY21 - 22 FY22 - 23 FY22 - 23 DIFFERENCE % OF
 ACTUAL ESTIMATE  ACTUAL AS % OF ACTUAL TO

MONTH REVENUE REVENUE REVENUE DIFFERENCE PROJECTION PROJECTION

JULY 1,180,089 1,221,370    1,159,164 -62,206 -5.09% 94.91%

AUGUST 947,834 980,991       954,929 -26,062 -2.66% 95.99%

SEPTEMBER 1,008,451 1,043,728    1,013,414 -30,314 -2.90% 96.35%

OCTOBER 1,242,981 1,286,462    1,084,000 -202,462 -15.74% 92.92%

NOVEMBER 835,454 864,680       1,113,301 248,621 28.75% 98.66%

DECEMBER 1,015,997 1,051,538    948,121 -103,417 -9.83% 97.27%

JANUARY 990,616 1,025,270    880,692 -144,578 -14.10% 95.71%

FEBRUARY 1,080,393 1,118,187    1,179,127 60,940 5.45% 96.98%

MARCH 863,751 893,967       868,052 -25,915 -2.90% 96.99%

APRIL 894,620 925,915       828,604 -97,311 -10.51% 96.32%

MAY 1,067,922 1,105,280    

JUNE 960,550 994,152       

TOTAL 12,088,658 12,511,540 10,029,403 -382,705 -3.06% 80%

Note:

I:\FISCAL\TDA\MonthlyReceipts\FY2023\10 April 2023\[FY2023 April 2023 TDA Receipts.xlsx]FY2023

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
TDA REVENUE REPORT

FY 2022/2023

11-1



FY2023 FY2022
ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

KEY/OBJECT RATE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
GROSS 729000/40186 2,595,872.85   2,349,895.40   2,241,845.65   2,421,640.38   2,640,688.55   2,186,840.67   2,129,361.28   2,805,510.17   1,961,216.67   1,894,288.55   23,227,160.17   23,227,160.17   23,060,279.38   
BOE FEES - (65,160.00) - - (65,160.00)       - - (65,160.00)       - - (195,480.00)       (195,480.00)       (161,130.00)       

NET 2,595,872.85   2,284,735.40   2,241,845.65   2,421,640.38   2,575,528.55   2,186,840.67   2,129,361.28   2,740,350.17   1,961,216.67   1,894,288.55   23,031,680.17   23,031,680.17   22,899,149.38   0.58%

ADMINISTRATION & IMPLEMENTATION - 729100/75381

ADMINISTRATION - SALARIES & BENEFITS 1% 25,958.73        22,847.35        22,418.46        24,216.40        25,755.29        21,868.41        21,293.61        27,403.50        19,612.17        18,942.89        230,316.80        230,316.80         228,991.49         
O/H ADMIN 33,362.16        29,363.42        28,812.20        31,122.92        33,100.69        28,105.28        27,366.55        35,218.98        25,205.56        24,345.40        296,003.15        296,003.15         253,290.56         
SALARIES & O/H  IMPLEME& OVERSIGHT 13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        13,056.25        130,562.50        130,562.50         80,798.50           
SERVICES & SUPPLIES 4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           4,041.67           40,416.67           40,416.67           51,166.67           

Subtotal 76,418.80        69,308.69        68,328.57        72,437.24        75,953.90        67,071.60        65,758.08        79,720.40        61,915.64        60,386.20        697,299.12        697,299.12         614,247.22         

TO DISTRIBUTE TO INVESTMENT CATEGORIES 2,519,454.05   2,215,426.71   2,173,517.08   2,349,203.14   2,499,574.65   2,119,769.07   2,063,603.20   2,660,629.77   1,899,301.03   1,833,902.35   22,334,381.05   22,334,381.05   22,284,902.16   

1. NEIGHBORHOOD - 729200/75382 30% 755,836.21      664,628.01      652,055.12      704,760.94      749,872.40      635,930.72      619,080.96      798,188.93      569,790.31      550,170.71      6,700,314.31     6,700,314.31     6,685,470.65     

      SLV SR9 Fixed $ 27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        27,777.78        277,777.78        277,777.78         277,777.78         
      HWY 17 Wildlife Fixed $ 13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        13,888.89        138,888.89        138,888.89         138,888.89         

41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        41,666.67        416,666.67        416,666.67         416,666.67         

      City of Capitola - V100207 4.8540% 34,665.83        30,238.58        29,628.29        32,186.63        34,376.34        28,845.61        28,027.72        36,721.63        25,635.15        24,682.81        305,008.59        305,008.59         318,941.59         
      City of Santa Cruz - V110467 22.3548% 159,650.96      139,261.57      136,450.93      148,233.20      158,317.76      132,846.36      129,079.63      169,118.81      118,060.82      113,674.91      1,404,694.95     1,404,694.95     1,413,171.68     
      City of Scotts Valley - V102713 4.8017% 34,292.60        29,913.02        29,309.30        31,840.10        34,006.23        28,535.05        27,725.96        36,326.27        25,359.15        24,417.07        301,724.75        301,724.75         304,826.72         
      City of Watonville - V1728 15.6656% 111,879.26      97,590.91        95,621.29        103,877.99      110,944.99      93,095.30        90,455.67        118,514.09      82,733.97        79,660.44        984,373.91        984,373.91         965,887.77         
      County of Santa Cruz 52.3238% 373,680.90      325,957.27      319,378.65      346,956.36      370,560.40      310,941.75      302,125.30      395,841.46      276,334.55      266,068.82      3,287,845.45     3,287,845.45     3,265,976.22     

100% 714,169.55 622,961.35 610,388.46 663,094.27 708,205.73 594,264.05 577,414.29 756,522.26 528,123.64 508,504.04 6,283,647.65 6,283,647.65 6,268,803.98

2. HWY Corridors - 729300/75383 25% 629,863.51      553,856.68      543,379.27      587,300.78      624,893.66      529,942.27      515,900.80      665,157.44      474,825.26      458,475.59      5,583,595.26     5,583,595.26     5,571,225.54     

3. TRANSIT/PARATRANSIT - 729400/75384 20% 503,890.81      443,085.34      434,703.42      469,840.63      499,914.93      423,953.81      412,720.64      532,125.95      379,860.21      366,780.47      4,466,876.21     4,466,876.21     4,456,980.43     
Santa Cruz Metro (SCMTD) 16% 80% 403,112.65      354,468.27      347,762.73      375,872.50      399,931.94      339,163.05      330,176.51      425,700.76      303,888.16      293,424.38      3,573,500.97     3,573,500.97     3,565,584.35     
Community Bridges - V127587 - 4% 20% 100,778.16      88,617.07        86,940.68        93,968.13        99,982.99        84,790.76        82,544.13        106,425.19      75,972.04        73,356.09        893,375.24        893,375.24         891,396.09         

4. ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION - 729500/75385 17% 428,307.19      376,622.54      369,497.90      399,364.53      424,927.69      360,360.74      350,812.54      452,307.06      322,881.18      311,763.40      3,796,844.78     3,796,844.78     3,788,433.37     

5. RAIL CORRIDOR - 729600/75386 8% 201,556.32      177,234.14      173,881.37      187,936.25      199,965.97      169,581.53      165,088.26      212,850.38      151,944.08      146,712.19      1,786,750.48     1,786,750.48     1,782,792.17     

DISTRIBUTED TO INVESTMENT CATEGORIES 100% 2,519,454.05   2,215,426.71   2,173,517.08   2,349,203.14   2,499,574.65   2,119,769.07   2,063,603.20   2,660,629.77   1,899,301.03   1,833,902.35   22,334,381.05   22,334,381.05   22,284,902.16   

TOTAL ADMIN & IMPLEM AND INVESTMENT CATEGORIES 2,595,872.85   2,284,735.40   2,241,845.65   2,421,640.38   2,575,528.55   2,186,840.67   2,129,361.28   2,740,350.17   1,961,216.67   1,894,288.55   23,031,680.17   23,031,680.17   22,899,149.38   

SCCRTC
TRANSPORTATION TAX REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION FUND (TTRTF) - MEASURE D

SUMMARY OF REVENUE ALLOCATION BY MONTH
FY2023 ENDING JUNE 30, 2023

 FY2022 to 
FY2023

Increase 
(+)/Decrease (-

12-1



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission/Transportation Policy Workshop 

FROM: Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner 

RE: Fiscal Year 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) Claims for 
Volunteer Center, Community Bridges and Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee and staff recommend 
that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC): 

1. Adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 1) approving the fiscal year (FY)
2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) Article 8 funds ($875,569)
and State Transit Assistance funds ($267,177) claim (Attachment 2) from
Community Bridges to provide transportation for seniors and people with
disabilities, contingent on approval from the City of Santa Cruz to act as the
claimant;

2. Adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 3) approving the FY 2023-24 TDA
Article 8 funds claim (Attachment 4) in the amount of $104,234 from the
Volunteer Center to administer the Volunteer Center Transportation Program,
contingent on approval from the City of Santa Cruz to acts as the claimant;
and,

3. Adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 5) approving the Transportation
Development Act (TDA) Article 4 funds ($8,912,046) and State Transit
Assistance funds ($5,776,922) claim (Attachment 6) from the Santa Cruz
Metropolitan Transit District to provide operating assistance for fixed route
public transit and Americans with Disabilities Act complementary paratransit
operations.

BACKGROUND 

The Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) allocates Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) funds from the region’s ¼ cent share of the state’s 7.25 
cent sales tax according to state law and established formulas in the Commission’s 
Rules and Regulations. At the RTC’s April meeting, the FY 2023-24 budget was 
approved including Transportation Development Act (TDA) apportionments for 
Community Bridges, the Volunteer Center, and the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit 
District, consistent with RTC Rules and Regulations. The City of Santa Cruz, as a 
local jurisdiction, has agreed to act as the claimant for both Community Bridges and 
the Volunteer Center, as it has historically. The City of Santa Cruz is scheduled to 
take action approving a resolution to act as claimant at the June 2023 City of Santa 

13-1



Cruz City Council meeting. 

State Transit Assistance (STA) funds are generated from the sales tax on diesel 
fuel. The RTC FY 2023-24 approved budget includes RTC’s population-based 
formula funds (PUC Section 99313) in the amount of $3.18 million and Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District’s (METRO) estimated revenue-based formula share 
(PUC Section 99314) in the amount of $2.86 million. Both the RTC (PUC Section 
99313) and METRO (PUC Section 99314) STA funds pass through the RTC budget. 
The RTC may allocate PUC Section 99313 funds to any eligible transit or community 
transportation operator and may allocate Section 99314 funds only to Santa Cruz 
METRO. RTC FY 2023-24 STA apportionments approved in the RTC budget to 
METRO and Community Bridges/Lift Line are consistent with state law. 

In 2017, with Senate Bill 1 increased state funds allocated to the State Transit 
Assistance (STA) program, the RTC adopted a policy to gradually make 25% of 
RTC-shares of STA funds (99313) available to any eligible transit or community 
transportation operator. Consistent with state goals and guidelines, the RTC should 
consider program and service benefits when determining use of the funds. In 2019, 
the RTC decided to postpone making funds available to any eligible operator until 
FY22/23. However, given impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on METRO and Lift 
Line, in 2022 the RTC approved METRO’s and Lift Line’s request to make 8.4% of 
STA funds available to Lift Line in FY23/24 and FY 24/25 and allocate the balance to 
METRO. 

DISCUSSION 

At its April 11, 2023 meeting, the RTC’s Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory 
Committee (E&D TAC) reviewed the Community Bridges, Volunteer Center and 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District FY 2023-24 TDA and STA claims, budgets, 
and operating plans. 

Community Bridges 

Lift Line, a program of Community Bridges, provides specialized transportation free 
of charge to low-income seniors and disabled individuals of Santa Cruz County, 
many of whom are unable to use traditional public transit or complementary 
paratransit. Lift Line’s transportation programs include, but are not limited to, 
specialized transportation to meal sites, medical appointments, Elderday, and 
essential services. In FY 2023-2024, TDA funds ($875,569) and STA funds 
($267,177) are projected to provide 28,461 out of a total of 52,002 rides provided 
by Community Bridges in the form of Medical Rides (6,979 rides), Taxi Scrip (2,279 
rides), Meals on Wheels (4,465 rides), Elderday (12,800 rides), and STA funded 
Same Day and Out of County Rides (1,938 rides) (Attachment 2).  

Lift Line proposes to use the apportioned FY 2023-24 STA funds to continue the 
existing level of same day and out of county medical transportation services 
through FY 2023-24. This is identified as a high priority in the RTC Unmet Transit 
and Paratransit Needs List to prolong the duration and increase the total number 

13-2



and availability of same day and out of county rides provided by Lift Line. 
 
The E&D TAC and staff recommend that the Regional Transportation 
Commission adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 1) approving the 
FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) Article 8 funds 
($875,569) and State Transit Assistance (STA) funds ($267,177) claim 
(Attachment 2) from Community Bridges to provide transportation for 
seniors and people with disabilities, contingent on approval from the City 
of Santa Cruz to act as the claimant. 
 
 
Volunteer Center 
 
The Volunteer Center Transportation Program provides transportation for seniors 
free of charge to medical appointments, grocery shopping and other necessary 
activities. In FY 2023-24, the Volunteer Center’s Transportation Program is 
requesting TDA funds in the amount of $104,234 (Attachment 4). The Volunteer 
Center has a goal to use TDA funds to serve approximately 200-250 older adults 
and individuals with disabilities, and projects to provide approximately 4,000 one-
way trips to eligible clients in The Volunteer Center Transportation Program. This 
program helps to meet critical needs of low-income seniors age 60+ and older 
adults that are health compromised who may require support of a volunteer to 
assist them with grocery shopping, transportation to medical appointments, and 
shopping trips. The program has the added benefit of providing friendly 
conversation to combat isolation and loneliness. These services are provided at no 
cost to the participants and offers door to door service reaching areas of Santa Cruz 
County that other transportation services may not be able to. 
 
The E&D TAC and staff recommend that the Regional Transportation 
Commission adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 3) approving the 
FY 2023-24 TDA Article 8 funds claim (Attachment 4) in the amount of 
$104,234, contingent on approval from the City of Santa Cruz to acts as the 
claimant. 
 
 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
 
The Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Metro) operates and maintains the 
countywide bus system. Metro has proposed to use FY 2023-24 TDA funding 
($8,912,046) and State Transit Assistance (STA) funding ($5,776,922) for fixed-
route public transit and ADA complementary paratransit operations in Santa Cruz 
County (Attachment 6). Fixed-route public transit operations require a maximum 
fleet of 76 buses serving 25 routes throughout Santa Cruz County, including the 
Highway 17 Express AMTRAK feeder service between Santa Cruz and San Jose 
(Diridon Station). ParaCruz, METRO’s complementary paratransit service, operates 
32 accessible vans in demand-response service for persons who, due to disability, 
cannot access the fixed-route system. Metro estimates it will provide 3,412,625 
fixed-route and ParaCruz passenger trips in FY 2023-24 based upon a FY19 actual 

13-3



pre-COVID-19 pandemic ridership reduction by 35% in fixed-route and 2% increase 
in ParaCruz passenger trips. Metro estimates it will provide 74,967 ParaCruz trips, 
16% higher than the 62,608 actual trips provided in FY22. 
 
The E&D TAC and staff recommend that the Regional Transportation 
Commission adopt the attached resolution (Attachment 5) approving the 
Transportation Development Act (TDA) Article 4 funds ($8,912,046) and 
State Transit Assistance (STA) funds ($5,776,922) claim (Attachment 6) 
from the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There are adequate, and approved, Transportation Development Act (TDA) and 
State Transit Assistance (STA) apportionments for Community Bridges, the 
Volunteer Center, and the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District in the RTC’s 
approved FY 2023-24 budget. The amounts shown above that are claimed by the 
different entities are consistent with amounts approved by the RTC in its adopted 
FY 2023-24 budget. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Annually Community Bridges, the Volunteer Center and Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District submit claims for the expenditure of Transportation Development 
Act funds. Because Community Bridges and the Volunteer Center are not public 
agencies, the City of Santa Cruz acts as the claimant on behalf of Community 
Bridges and the Volunteer Center to provide specialized transportation services for 
seniors and people with disabilities per state mandates. Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District and Community Bridges also submit claims for the expenditure of 
State Transit Assistance funds. The annual FY 2023-24 TDA and STA claims are 
consistent with state requirements and the RTC’s rules and regulations and were 
reviewed by the RTC’s E&D TAC. The E&D TAC and staff recommend approval of the 
TDA and STA claims submitted. 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution approving FY 2023-24 TDA and STA Funds claim from Community 
Bridges Lift Line 

2. Community Bridges Lift Line TDA and STA Claim and operations budget pages 
3. Resolution approving FY 2023-24 TDA Funds claim from the Volunteer Center 
4. Volunteer Center TDA Claim and operating budget pages 
5. Resolution approving FY 2023-24 TDA and STA funds claim from Santa Cruz 

Metropolitan Transit District 
6. Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District TDA and STA Claim and operating 

budget pages 
 
 
 
 

I:\E&DTAC\TDA\RTC REPORTS\SR_ALL-TDA23-24.DOCX 

13-4



Attachment 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of  
duly seconded by  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-24 TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT 
ACT (TDA) ARTICLE 8 CLAIM AND STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE CLAIM 

FROM COMMUNITY BRIDGES LIFT LINE FOR PARATRANSIT SERVICES 

WHEREAS the Transportation Development Act (TDA) of 1971 provides that cities may 
file an Article 8 claim for monies from the Local Transportation Fund for specialized 
transportation services; and 

WHEREAS the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) has identified a process for TDA 
claims in their Rules and Regulations; and 

WHEREAS the Regional Transportation Commission, in adopting its FY 2023-24 budget, has 
apportioned $875,569 in TDA and $267,177 in RTC’s population-based State Transit 
Assistance (STA) formula funds (PUC Section 99313) to be used by Community Bridges for 
providing specialized transportation; and 

WHEREAS the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee, at its April 11, 
2023 meeting, recommended that the Regional Transportation Commission approve this 
claim;  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION: 

1. The FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) and State Transit Assistance
(STA) claim by Community Bridges Lift Line fulfills the requirements specified in the
Transportation Development Act and the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission’s (RTC) Rules and Regulations and the RTC finds that:

a. The claim includes a proposed budget for the 2023-24 fiscal year;

b. The claim includes a statement of projected or estimated revenues and
expenditures for the prior fiscal year;

c. The claim will fund specialized transportation services and respond to
transportation needs not otherwise being met within the community; and

d. The proposed expenditure of the funds is consistent with the most current
Regional Transportation Plan and Unmet Transit Needs list.

2. The City of Santa Cruz will act as a claimant on behalf of Community Bridges Lift Line,
for TDA Article 8 and STA claims for specialized transportation programs and the FY
2023-24 claim is hereby approved in the amount of $875,569 in TDA funds and
$267,177 in STA funds for fiscal year 2023-24 consisting of estimated quarterly
payments as follows:

13-5



I:\E&DTAC\TDA\RTC Reports\Resolutions\23-24\CB_RES_TDA_23-24.docx 

 TDA STA  
1st Quarter $288,937.00 $66,794.25  
2nd Quarter $195,544.00      $66,794.25  
3rd Quarter $195,544.00 $66,794.25  
4th Quarter $195,544.00 $66,794.25  
Total $875,569.00 $267,177.00  

 
3. Should the RTC amend its FY 2023-24 budget to modify TDA revenue apportionments 

to Community Bridges, the Executive Director is authorized to modify the payment 
amounts consistent with the RTC’s approved FY 2023-24 budget. 

 
4. The Executive Director is authorized to modify the payment amounts based on actual 

STA funds approved by the State and received by the RTC from the State such that 
Community Bridges receives 8.4% of the PUC Section 99313 STA funds received by 
the RTC for FY 2023-24. 

 
AYES:      COMMISSIONERS  
 
NOES:  COMMISSIONERS 
 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 
 
ABSENT:  COMMISSIONERS  
 
 

 
____________________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
 Guy Preston, Secretary 
 
 
Distribution: Community Bridges  
  RTC Fiscal 
   

13-6



March 29, 2023  

Mr. Guy Preston, Executive Director  
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission  
1523 Pacific Avenue  
Santa Cruz, CA 95060-3911  

RE:  CTSA/City of Santa Cruz Claim for FY 2023/2024 TDA/STA Revenues 

Dear Mr. Preston: 

The City of Santa Cruz has been asked to act as claimant for the 2023/2024 fiscal year Transportation Development Act 
(TDA) and State Transit Assistance (STA) funds allocated to the consolidated Transportation Services Agency (CTSA). 
Please accept this letter that Community Bridges’ Lift Line attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its accompanying 
documentation. 

The City of Santa Cruz will be asked to request $875,569 in TDA funds for the CTSA as well as $267,177 in STA funding. The 
proposed payment schedule shown in Exhibit D includes an initial payment to cover annually remitted expenses, including 
a substantial insurance premium due in July. The three remaining quarters are adjusted to reflect the balance. 

These funds will allow Community Bridges' Lift Line to continue to operate a variety of vital specialized transportation 
programs serving low income seniors and disabled individuals who are unable to utilize traditional public transit. TDA 
funds will be used for the Taxi Scrip programs operating in South and North County, non-emergency medical 
transportation, and transportation to Meals on Wheels Senior Dining Centers and Elderday Adult Day Health Center. The 
STA funds will be used for the Same Day and Out of County program, helping connect seniors, veterans and medically 
complex children and individuals to need medical services. 

Enclosed are documents comprising our claim for TDA and STA funds: 

1. 2023/2024 TDA/STA Claim Form, Written Report of Activities, and CHP Inspection Report 
2. 2023/2024 Operating & Capital Budget (Exhibit A, pages 1-2) 
3. CTSA Five Year Capital Improvement Plan (Exhibit B) 
4. Operating Plan (Exhibit C-1, pages 1-2 & C-2, page 1) 
5. Schedule of Payments Requested (Exhibit D) 
6. Statement of Role and Responsibility (Exhibit E) 
7. CTSA Reporting Period & Performance Measures (Exhibit F) 
8. Operating Statistics & 3-year budget to actual (Exhibit G-1 & G-2)
9. Community Bridges Board Resolution 2023-03-01 

Attachment 2

13-7



 

 

 
On behalf of Lift Line clients and Community Bridges, I thank the Commission and staff for your continued support of 
these programs. 
 
Thank you, 

Raymon Cancino, CEO 
 
Cc: J. Bojorquez, Lift Line Program Director 
 D. Underhill, CFO 
 S. McGibben, CAO 
 U. Angon-Granados, Grants Analyst 
 A. Marino, Transportation Planner, RTC 
 R. Moriconi, Senior Transportation Planner, RTC 
 
 

13-8



Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
CLAIM FORM 

Submit a separate form for each project. 

This form has been developed in an effort to standardize information required from TDA recipients, 
based on TDA Statute, RTC Rules and Regulations, and/or RTC board requests.  

If you have any questions about this claim form or would like an electronic copy of the form, 
 please contact the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission at 460-3200. 

Project Information        

1. Project Title: Lift Line / CTSA Specialized Paratransit Service for Santa Cruz County

2. Implementing Agency: Community Bridges

3. Sponsoring Agency (if different) – must be a TDA Eligible Claimant: The City of Santa Cruz

4. Funding requested this claim:  TDA– Local Transportation Funds (LTF) $875,569
STA (transit/paratransit only) $267,177 

5. Fiscal Year (FY) for which funds are claimed: FY_2023/2024_______

6. General purpose for which the claim is made, identified by the article and section of the Act which authorizes such
claims:

 Article 8 Bicycle and/or Pedestrian Facility 
 Article 4 Public Transportation 
 Article 8 Specialized Transportation via city sponsor 
 Article 3 & 8 TDA Admin or Planning 

7. Contact Person/Project Manager
Name: Jesus Bojorquez
Telephone Number: 831-688-8840 x241   E-mail: jesusb@cbridges.org

Secondary Contact (in event primary not available): Raymon Cancino 
Telephone Number: 831-688-8840 x201   E-mail: raymonc@cbridges.org

8. Project/Program Description/Scope (use additional pages, if needed, to provide details such as work elements/tasks): Please
see Exhibit C-1 and C-2 attached.

9. Project Location/Limits (attach a map and/or photos if available/applicable, include street names):
The TDA and STA funding for CTSA is to coordinate and provide social services and transportation services with existing fixed-routes
of public and private transportation providers for low-income elderly and disabled Santa Cruz County residents, in accordance with the
requirements of the Social Services Transportation Improvement Act.

10. Justification for the project. (Why is this project needed? Primary goal/purpose of the project; problem to be addressed;
project benefits; importance to the community)

Community Bridges has been the designated Consolidated Transportation Services Agency (CTSA) since 1982. CTSAs are
authorized under California Government Code Sections 15975 and 15950-15952, which were enacted pursuant to the Social
Service Transportation Improvement Act. The purpose of the CTSA is to improve transportation required by social service
recipients by promoting the consolidation and coordinating of social service transportation beyond the ADA ¾ of a mile Federally
mandated minimum requirement. As the Consolidated Transportation Service Agency, Lift Line coordinates transportation
services with other transportation providers and human service agencies in order to provide the most efficient transportation
possible. These agencies include Human Services Department of the County of Santa Cruz, County Office of Education, Veterans 
Service Offices in Santa Cruz and Palo Alto, and other hospitals and medical facilities.

13-9



TDA Claim 
 

Lift Line also works closely with several other non-profit organizations and other counties to continue to identify unmet needs 
and define effective responses to meet those needs. The ultimate goal of these efforts is to mobilize disabled, low-income and 
senior residents of Santa Cruz County. Lift Line also maintains a vital lifeline for eligible participants to access healthcare providers 
throughout the region, including destinations in Monterey County and the San Francisco Bay Area. This is consistent with the 
Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments (AMBAG) Coordinated Public Transit Plan. 

The benefits to having CTSA coordination is to improve and identify the need for specialized transportation equipment, if the 
equipment is funded through Caltrans 5310 and isn’t reaching its proposed requirements, as the CTSA, the equipment can be 
coordinated for use through other identified paratransit services. 

Pursuant to the CTSA designation for Santa Cruz County, Community Bridges operates the Lift Line transportation program, which 
works in identifying unmet transportation needs, coordinates and provides social service transportation services to low-income 
seniors, disabled residents, underserved populations and other persons in Santa Cruz County. Lift Line directly addresses the issues 
identified through the unmet needs process by providing rides to medical appointments (including dialysis), alternative care, 
mental health, drug rehabilitation centers, dental appointments, pharmacies, and various therapy appointments. Our services allow 
full county access to those seniors and people with disabilities needing specialized transportation, 7 days a week for a limited 
amount of hours who wouldn’t otherwise have other alternatives or options. 

 
11. Project Productivity Goals for this fiscal year:  

a. Measures of performance, success or completion to be used to evaluate project/program (ex. increase use of 
facility/service, decrease collisions, etc.): 
 

The majority of our scheduling is automated with Mobile Data Computers and Automatic Vehicle Locaters (AVL) that integrate 
with Trapeze, making changes if needed and track rides as they occur. As rides are completed, the MDTs tag completed rides with 
real pickup and drop-off times and highlights these times in blue, making it easier for our dispatchers to monitor all rides. Likewise, 
uncompleted or unassigned rides (such as will-call returns) are highlighted in red to inform the dispatcher of the priority of 
pending trips. The addition of the AVLs in the fleet allows Lift Line to monitor and track vehicles at any moment. These systems 
allow Lift Line to provide accurate monthly encounter data to satisfy data requirements. 

We will continue to provide our quarterly TDA/STA reports, with the RTC reporting requirements, which are generated directly 
from the actual rides performed and documented through these systems. Lift Line’s dispatch and scheduling system still has some 
manual components, to be used in the case of a power loss or technical difficulties. Since we cannot determine in advance when 
a power or technical problem should arise, we give all drivers a paper manifest to work from daily so as to not lose any 
information. Daily, drivers fill out paperwork to let us know if they have any incidents, accidents or mechanical failures. In order 
to track turndowns and referrals, schedulers and dispatchers keep a dispatch log. Also any turndown is offered an option of being 
placed on a waiting list in case there becomes an opening with a driver’s schedule. 

Performance Measures to be included in Quarterly Reports 
The quarterly reports are to include the following: 

1. Unduplicated passengers per month 
2. Total passenger trips (units of service) per month 
3. Incidents per month 
4. Accidents per month 
5. Mechanical failures* (including lift failure) per month 
6. No-shows per month 
7. Turndowns or referrals per month 
8. Cancels per month 
9. Donations per month 
10. Total operating cost per passenger 
11. Total operating cost per vehicle service hour 
12. Total passengers per vehicle service hour 
13. Total passengers per vehicle service mile 
14. Van mileage per program 

*Mechanical failure means any problem which results in a delay of one hour or longer, or cancellation of service. 
 

 13-10



TDA Claim 

b. Number of people to be served/anticipated number of users of project/program (ex. number of new or maintained
bike miles; number of people served/rides provided):

Lift Line is projecting to provide service to nearly 890 Santa Cruz County residents who will use specialized wheel-
chair accessible vans. We are projecting to provide and coordinate 52,002 rides in the 23/24 fiscal year. Please see 
Exhibit C-1 and C-2 Operating Plan for details. 

Lift Line will continue to provide responsive, non-emergency health and medical paratransit services for low- income seniors and 
disabled residents of Santa Cruz County. Trips are provided to health and medical destinations such as hospitals, medical centers 
and clinics, doctors’ offices, dental offices, pharmacies, dialysis centers, human services, and various mental health and physical 
therapy appointments. In partnership with Central Coast Alliance for Health, rides to medical destinations will be provided for 
qualified members. Lift Line continues to work with Satellite Dialysis in Santa Cruz County to provide flexible services for its 
clients who are unable to use transit or METRO ParaCruz services. 

12. Consistency and relationship with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) - Is program/project listed in the RTP and/or
consistent with a specific RTP Goal/Policy?

The Lift Line programs are consistent with 2040 RTP goals 1 and 3 and advance: 

• Target #3c of the 2014 RTP: Reduce travel times and increase travel options for people who are
transportation disadvantaged due to income, age, race, disability or limited English proficiency by
increasing the percentage that are within a 30-minute walk, bike or transit trip to key destinations (Lift
Line included as transit in this instance) and Target #3d: Ensure transportation services (and impacts) are
equitably distributed to all segments of the population.

The Lift Line program also support the following RTP policies: 

• Improve multimodal access to and within key destinations.
• Ensure network connectivity by closing gaps in the bicycle, pedestrian and transit networks.
• Support projects that provide access to emergency services.
• Improve coordination between agencies in a manner improves efficiencies, and reduces duplication.
• Demonstrate that planned investments will reduce disparities in safety and access for transportation

disadvantaged populations.

13. Impact(s) of project on other modes of travel, if any (ex. parking to be removed):

Lift Line is a complementary service to the ADA-mandated METRO ParaCruz service. In addition, Lift Line provides a flexible
specialized transportation service for ongoing identified unmet immediate service needs. Due to the diverse nature of our services,
Lift Line is able to group riders in various service categories, which ultimately reduces the number of vehicles needed to perform
rides and in turn cuts down on traffic and emissions. Lift Line continues to optimize our service by scheduling rides in the most
efficient manner by coordinating with service providers and ultimately reducing the duplication of rides by grouping ride types
for long distance, cross county rides. Furthermore, Lift Line provides residents with specialized transportation needs who do not
qualify for ParaCruz rides because they live outside the service area (more than ¾ mile from fixed transit route), don’t have family
or friends to assist them, and/or they may need same day service. For people who are low income or who face health/physical
challenges, these services are crucial.

Lift Line was also awarded Section 5310 grant for operating funds in 2020-2022 to support same day and out of county medical
transportation service, as identified in the AMBAG unmet needs plan. This new service was implemented in 2013 and we have
been awarded 5310 funds to continue the project through January 2025. STA funding will fill in the gap and allow us to continue
the same day and out of county service at the current levels without any reductions in FY23/24 or a potential gap in service. By
augmenting 5310 funding with STA funds, we will continue the same day and out of county program and provide an additional
2,808 rides for FY23/24. This transition also allows for seamless transportation and, depending on future STA funding
opportunities, will ensure this vital program continues beyond 5310 funding cycles.

14. Estimated Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (attach project budget). Specialized
Transportation Claims require 10% local match or other performance standard. Local match can take the form of fares,
donations, agency charges, grants, revenue sharing and other non-restricted sources. In kind services many NOT apply
toward the local match. In lieu of a 10% match performance standard, the Volunteer Center performance standard is to
provide 4,000 rides per year. 13-11



TDA Claim 

What is the total project cost? $3,161,325 (of which $875,569 are TDA funds and $267,177 are STA funds) 

Is project fully funded? Yes 

What will TDA (and STA, if applicable) funds be used on (ex. operations, administration, brochures, engineering, 
construction)? 

This is clearly identified in our Operating Plan Exhibit C-2. Please see TDA Operating Plan, Exhibit C-2. 

15. Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA-LTF fund distribution (see RTC Rules and Regulations for details and
requirements. Note if funds are distributed in advance of use, agencies will be required to subsequently provide
documentation of actual expenditures.):
a. Bike/Ped: Cities/County:  Up to 90% upon initiation of work OR  100% upon project completion 

HSA/BTW:  Quarterly disbursement OR  Semi-annual disbursement 

b. CTSA:  Quarterly disbursement, with up to 35% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being one-third 
of the remaining claim amount;  

OR  Quarterly disbursement 

c. Volunteer Center:  Full approved claim amount in the first quarter 

d. SCMTD:  Quarterly disbursement 

16. TDA Eligibility: YES?/NO? 
A. Has the project/program been approved by the claimant's governing body? Form of approval

________________________________ (eg resolution, work program, budget, other document)
If "NO," provide the approximate date approval is anticipated._______________

Yes 

B. Has this project previously received TDA funding? If yes, date RTC approved:______________ Yes 
C. For capital projects, have provisions been made by the claimant to maintain the project or facility,

or has the claimant arranged for such maintenance by another agency?  (If an agency other than
the Claimant is to maintain the facility provide its name: ________________________________ )

N/A 

D. Has the project already been reviewed by the RTC Bicycle Committee and/or Elderly/Disabled
Transportation Advisory Committee? (If "NO," project will be reviewed prior to RTC approval).

No 

E. For "bikeways," does the project meet Caltrans minimum safety design criteria pursuant to
Chapter 1000 of the California Highway Design Manual? (Available on the internet via:
http://www.dot.ca.gov).

N/A 

F. For Article 4 transit claims: Does operator meet Article 4 eligibility requirements?
i. Farebox recovery ratio? and/or,
ii. 50 percent expenditure rule as an older operator, defined as service starting prior to 1974?

N/A 

13-12



TDA Claim 

Bike/Ped (Article 8) Only 
17. Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (complete “24a” or “24b”)

a. Capital Projects (Bicycle projects: Bicycle Advisory Committee or RTC must approve the final project design
plans prior to construction; see RTC Rules & Regulations)

Planning Environ-
mental 

Design/ 
Engineering ROW Construction Other

* Contingency Total 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Yr) 
Completion 
Date /
Total 
Cost/Phase 
$TDA 
Requested 
(this claim) 
Prior TDA: 

Source 3: 

Source 4: 

Unsecured/ 
additional 
need** 

*Please describe what is included in “Other”:

b. Non-Capital Projects – Cost/Schedule: List any tasks and amount per task for which TDA will be used. Can be
substituted with alternate budget format.

Work Element/ 
Activity/Task 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Year) 

Total Cost per 
Element 

$ TDA 
requested $ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4: 

Administration
/Overhead 
Activity 1: 

Activity 2: 

Activity 3: 

Activity 4: 

Ex. 
Consultants 
Ex. Materials 

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF 
18. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity
 Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or increase

ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.

Lift Line routes are continually assessed and re-structured to increase productivity, we group rides when possible so that vehicles
and staff time are serving at capacity. This keeps the cost of operating down and helps keep the cost per service unit as low as
possible. Failing to re-structure and maximized productivity would lead to increased cost per service unit. In the case of taxi
subcontractors, we have paid special attention to maximizing the benefit of working with these outside partners only when we
have reached our internal existing capacity and there is a cost benefit to calling in a taxi ride. We continue to work with physicians
and participants to improve efficiency through group rides. Our experienced drivers, schedulers, and dispatch staff, with the use of 

13-13



TDA Claim 

computerized scheduling equipment, continue to serve as valuable assets toward achieving these goals. 
Community Bridges’ Lift Line continues to work on reducing our worker’s compensation costs and exposures in order to 
reduce our premiums. Lift Line also maintained optimum fleet size for the services provided, and we continually seek to 
update our vehicles and equipment through grants. 

The County Health Services Department’s programs, such as In Home Health Services, as well as local medical facilities 
and the Senior Network Services, are assisting their clients in filling out the TDA Medical Transportation Application as well 
as faxing the application with required supporting documents to our office, on a regular basis. We also work with the Central 
Coast Alliance to coordinate medical rides for Medi-Cal eligible participants. 

Lift Line has participated in several outreach forums in the community that are addressing the transportation needs of the local 
senior and disabled population, including veterans, as well as conducted presentations to local service organizations and 
senior living facilities. Lift Line participates annually in local business and health fairs to increase community awareness about 
local transportation service. 

Lift Line continues these outreach efforts which was made possible with Measure D funds. We continue to build our outreach 
program and get information out about our service and help enroll new clients into our program. In the last year, Lift Line 
has enrolled 62 new clients to our ridership program. This is an 8% total increase to qualifying ridership. 

 Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:

Lift Line will continue to assess the cost and demand for our services on a regular basis, and structure our routes and 
staffing accordingly. Lift Line staff will continue to participate in outreach efforts to identify emerging needs in the 
community, and we will coordinate with service providers to meet the transportation needs of low income elderly and 
disabled residents, including our area veterans. Our outreach program will continue working to build our client base 
and educate clients about all of our services. 

To increase productivity, our driver trainer will work to get drivers trained and Commercial Class C certified in a 
quick and efficient manner. The driver trainer can work as a backup driver when needed, which will help fill in the 
gaps as well as help put drivers on the road sooner. 

The driver trainer is working on a new training module. Part of this plan is to increase efficiencies and identify 
areas for improvement. The plan will also educate drivers more on our clients' needs and awareness of how to 
better serve our clients. 

Lift Line as a program of Community Bridges is participating in a 10 program agency wide data migration program that 
will allow the agency as a whole to identify all program services that an applicant well qualify for. For example, if a client 
is applying for Elderday or Meals on Wheels serveries we will be able to identify if that applicant also qualifies for 
Lift Line services. As a result, they will be referred to Lift Line without additional paperwork or application process. 

19. What is different from last year’s program/claim?

Community Bridges/Lift Line is requesting TDA and STA funds to assist with the same types of rides as last year. We are 
requesting funding for: Medical TDA Rides, Meals on Wheels, Elderday, and the Taxi Scrip programs. Lift Line is 
allocating similar funding percentage amounts to the same four programs as it did in pre-COVID levels. During COVID, 
there were modification to the funding levels of congregate meal sites and Elderday, due to partial closures. 

Using additional STA funds to match with 5310 funding to prolong the deration and increase the total number and availability 
of same day and out of county transportation program, adding an additional 2,808 rides. 

20. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:
 SCMD – April each year 
 Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC Jan 2024, Apr 2024, Jul 2024 and year-end report 23/24 in Nov 

2024 (Months/Year) 
 HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee ____________ (Month, year); RTC _____________(Month, year) 

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services 
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service. 
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer 
service. 13-14



TDA Claim 

SCMTD, CTSA and Volunteer Center Only 
21. a. Are these transportation services responding to transportation needs not otherwise being met within the community

or jurisdiction of the claimant?

Yes. We provide transportation that is otherwise not available to our target population.

Lift Line paratransit services are offered to low income seniors and people with disabilities that cannot drive or are not eligible
to use METRO ParaCruz services (do not have the financial resources, have origins/destinations outside the service area, or
need same-day service.)

Residents using our out-of-county medical ride service for critical care treatment are often those who have no other resources,
particularly due to financial restraints. The veterans we are currently providing paratransit services for are funded through
the FTA Section 5310 Grants Program. This grant has been awarded through June 2025, and we are very proud to be able to
maintain this service for as long as possible, as demand for service for this specific population has continued to grow. Even
though the 5317 funds for this service came to an end, Lift Line/CTSA continues to seek other funding sources to support
this service, which was an unmet need in the coordinated plan. STA funding will allow us to match 5310 funds and prolong
this program and provide additional transportation for the same day and out of county program.

b. Does the project meet an unmet transit need from the most recently approved RTC Unmet Paratransit and Transit
Needs List? Describe.

Lift Line serves the high priority unmet needs of providing transportation services to areas with high concentrations of 
seniors, disabled and low income individuals. It also serves the high priority unmet need of providing free or low cost 
paratransit option. 

CTSA and Volunteer Center (Article 8) Only 
22. Where appropriate, are these specialized transportation services coordinated with other transportation services,

including METRO service? Describe.

Lift Line, as the CTSA, acts as the safety net transportation service for low-income seniors and disabled individuals unable to
secure mobility through other programs. We coordinate and refer people regularly to other services more suited to their
specialized transportation requirements, such as: METRO bus or METRO ParaCruz; local taxi services through the taxi scrip
program; the Volunteer Center; Veterans Services and Lift Line’s in house “Out of County” medical ride service.

We work with Watsonville, Capitola, and Santa Cruz Satellite Dialysis to provide flexible service for the clients. We help
identify an individual’s specific need for specialized transportation service and coordinate not only services in our County,
but also for rides to neighboring counties of San Benito, Monterey and Santa Clara. In addition, Lift Line assists those who
call from other parts of California, as well as from out of the state, looking for other public and specialized transportation.

Lift Line’s staff will continue to participate with local and statewide transportation groups to develop coordinated processes
and keep current on transportation systems for seniors and disabled residents.

23. Provide performance information, as pertinent, which demonstrate service efficiency and effectiveness, such as:
verification of the operating cost per passenger, operating cost per vehicle service hour, passengers per vehicle service
hour, passengers per vehicle service mile, and vehicle service hours per employee for last fiscal year (definitions
available in Section 99247 of TDA Guidelines). (99246d, per Performance Audits)

a. Volunteer Center, only:  provide a minimum 4,000 rides per year 

All TDA reports, quarterly and annual are sent directly to the RTPA within the scheduled time schedules. These reports are 
included in the above listed performance measures. 

13-15



TDA Claim 

24. Discuss the needs and types of the passengers being served, the employment of part-time drivers and the contracting
with common carriers of persons operating under a franchise or license to provide services during peak hours, as
defined in subdivision (a) of Section 99260.2. (99246d, per 2010 Performance Audit)

There are times during the day when it is more cost effective or necessary to use taxi to provide some of the TDA Medical
rides, especially when they are short rides and/or when scheduling rides outside of the normal service times or areas. Although 
Lift Line has two on-call drivers to assist with para-transit services as needed, there are times when additional support is
needed.

SCMTD, CTSA, Volunteer Center & RTC Only 
25. List the recommendations provided in the last TDA Triennial Performance Audit and your progress toward meeting

them.

Two Verbal recommendations have been provided: 

1. To provide on-time performance reporting. In response to this, we are now tracking and generating monthly
on- time performance reports for all drivers.

2. To report Measure D rides on the quarterly and annual reports. We began measuring these rides separately starting
in FY 22-23..

SCMTD Only 
26. TDA Article 4 Eligibility Compliance – Provide documentation for 50% expenditure limitation (PUC Section 99268.1).

50 percent expenditure limitation (use if LTF remains below 50 percent of its operating costs): 
• Overall operating cost for fiscal year: $
• TDA-LTF claim: $
• Source of information (e.g. audited financial statements, budget, etc):

Funds Urbanized Service Rural/Non-Urban Service 
(could use FTA 5311 application) 

Fare Revenue: $ $ 
Local Support Revenues: $ $ 
Operation costs: $ $ 
Ratio Fare Rev ÷ Op Cost: (minimum 
required=15% per PUC Sec.6645) 

_____% _____% 

Cost per ride being subsidized for 
different services/funds 

$ $ 

Note: Exemptions for calculating operating costs – spell out in your operating budget summary. 
 Service extensions are exempt until two years after the end of the fiscal year during which they were established (PUC Sec.

99268.8). This exemption applies only if the new service was not provided nor was funded by LTF/STA during any of the prior
three fiscal years.

 The additional operating costs to a transit operator of providing comparable complementary paratransit services, pursuant to the
Americans with Disabilities Act, that exceed operator’s prior year costs as adjusted by the CPI are excluded from operating cost.

 As set forth in Section 99268.2, ratio must be at least equal to one-fifth if serving an urbanized area or one-tenth if serving a non-
urbanized area. If a ratio of the sum of fare revenues and local support to operating cost greater than one-fifth if serving an
urbanized area, or one-tenth if serving a non-urbanized area, during the 1978 -79 fiscal year shall, at least, maintain that ratio in
order to be eligible for additional funds pursuant to this section.

 Additional exclusions in calculating urban/rural farebox recovery: operating costs above the consumer price index for fuel,
alternative fuel programs, power, insurance premiums and payments in settlement of claims, and state and federal mandates.

27. Did the SCMTD operating budget increase over 15% from the prior fiscal year?
If the answer is yes, please provide a statement identifying and substantiating the reason or need for the increase in the
transit operating budget in excess of 15% above the preceding year, and identify substantial increases or decreases in
the scope of operations or capital provisions for major new service - (transit claimants only, if applicable).

13-16



TDA Claim 

28. Operating statistics (compare current fiscal year to date to last three full fiscal years; *TDA required performance
indicators), submit items from the following list.

Please see exhibit G-1 and exhibit G-2.

• Annual passengers
 Rides/passenger trips provided by type (student, senior, adult, pass holders, etc, or however stat’s kept)

and amount of TDA $ used for each type of ride
• Annual service hours
• Passengers per vehicle service hour*
• Annual service miles
• # of fixed-route miles
• Service Area – square miles
• Service Area Population
• Passengers per vehicle service mile*
• Average passengers per weekday
• Total operating costs in budget
• Operating cost per vehicle service hour*
• Total operating cost per passenger*
• Average Farebox Revenue per passenger (describe what is included)
• # of FTE employees (all employees, not just drivers)
• Vehicle Service hours/Employee*
• # of routes
• Average route length
• Average travel times/rider
• # of bus stops
• # of vehicles in operation
• # of monthly bus passes in circulation
• Max vehicles in service at any time:
• Hours of service:
• Approximate # of unduplicated passengers
• Cost per unit of service plus text about long range plans to make/keep this low
• Funds and percentage spent on administration/overhead/grantee allocation/etc
• Actual financials compared with budget
• Actual number of rides provided compared with goal and text about whether goal was met and why/why not

Definitions: 
a) "Operating cost" means all costs in the operating expense object classes exclusive of the costs in the depreciation and

amortization expense object class of the uniform system of accounts and records adopted by the Controller pursuant to Section
99243. “Operating cost” excludes all subsidies for commuter rail services operated on railroad lines under the jurisdiction of the
Federal Railroad Administration, all direct costs for providing charter services, all vehicles lease costs, and principal and
interest payments on capital projects funded with certificates of participation.

b) "Operating cost per passenger,” means the operating cost divided by the total passengers.
c) "Operating cost per vehicle service hour,” means the operating cost divided by the vehicle service hours.
d) "Passengers per vehicle service hour" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service hours.
e) "Passengers per vehicle service mile" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service miles.
f) "Total passengers" means the number of boarding passengers, whether revenue producing or not, carried by the public

transportation system.
g) "Transit vehicle" means a vehicle, including, but not limited to, one operated on rails or tracks, which is used for public

transportation services funded, in whole or in part, under this chapter.

13-17



TDA Claim 

h) "Vehicle service hours" means the total number of hours that each transit vehicle is in revenue service, including layover time.
i) "Vehicle service miles" means the total number of miles that each transit vehicle is in revenue service.
j) "Vehicle service hours per employee" means the vehicle service hours divided by the number of employees employed in

connection with the public transportation system, based on the assumption that 2,000 person-hours of work in one year constitute
one employee.  The count of employees shall also include those individuals employed by the operator, which provide services to
the agency of the operator responsible for the operation of the public transportation system even though not employed in that
agency.

13-18



TDA Claim 

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims): 

All Claims 
 A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its

accompanying documentation.
 Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims 
 Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center) 
 A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year
 Description of capital projects, including time frame over which project will be funded and implemented
 Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities – can be within project description
 TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims 
 A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.
 Other Certifications
 Written report of current and upcoming activities. (per RTC Rules and Regulations)

Local Agency Certification: 

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and 
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html).  I certify that the information provided 
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be 
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.   

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as 
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or 
disbursement upon project completion. 

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the 
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664 
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the 
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This       requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work or 
HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC. 

Signature ___ __________ Title:__CEO Date:_____________ 

\\Rtcserv2\shared\GRANTS\TDA\TDAClaimFormMaster.doc 

3/30/23

13-19



13-20



TDA Claim 

10. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES (STAFF ONLY) (STA Claimants Only)
Claimant certifies that it is not precluded, by any contract, from employing part-time drivers or 
contracting with common carriers of persons operating under a franchise or license. 

11. INCREASE IN OPERATOR'S COST PER HOUR (STA Claimants Only)
Claimant filing a claim for operating assistance from STA funds must include a supplemental 
schedule which identifies either: A - 1) the most recent audited cost per revenue vehicle hour (year 
1) and the cost per revenue hour for the year prior to the most recent audit year (year 2) and 2) the
Consumer Price Index for the year prior to the most recent audit year (year 2); or B - 1) the most
recent audited cost per revenue vehicle hour (year 1) and the cost per revenue hour for the three
years prior to the most recent audit year and 2) the Consumer Price Index for the three years prior
to the most recent audit year. The supplemental schedule information will be used to determine
eligibility pursuant to PUC 99314.6.

Community Bridges 
(Legal Name of Applicant/Claimant) 

(Authorizing Signature of CEO/CFO) 

(Name and Title) 
Raymon Cancino CEO

13-21



COMMUNITY BRIDGES - LIFT LINE / CTSA EXHIBIT A, Page 1 of 2
TDA 2023-2024 BUDGET

TDA/STA Non-TDA CTSA TDA/STA Non-TDA CTSA
2023-24 2023-24 2023-24 2022-23 2022-23 2022-23

ACCOUNT TITLE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET
PERSONNEL:
Salaries & Wages 540,642 574,799 1,115,440 520,930 430,205 951,135
Fringe Benefits: Unemployment 5,406 5,748 11,154 7,814 1,490 9,304

Workers Comp 26,004 27,647 53,650 24,051 20,461 44,512
Health Insurance 59,776 63,553 123,329 35,359 75,139 110,498
FICA 34,548 36,731 71,280 39,851 28,060 67,911
401K Plan 9,099 9,674 18,773 12,505 10,638 23,143

TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS: 675,476 718,151 1,393,627 640,511 565,992 1,206,503
SERVICES & SUPPLIES:
OPERATING:
Vehicle Operations-Fuel 55,032 58,508 113,540 65,091 55,373 120,464
Vehicle Licenses 5,444 5,787 11,231 5,835 4,964 10,799
Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 20,916 22,238 43,154 22,421 19,074 41,495
Vehicle Insurance 43,313 46,050 89,363 43,980 37,414 81,394
Communications-Radio 32,331 34,374 66,706 34,658 29,483 64,141
TOTAL VEH. OPERATING COSTS: 157,036 166,958 323,994 171,984 146,308 318,293
OTHER OPERATING & ADMINISTRATION COSTS:
Professional Services 0 46,231 46,231 2,524 41,929 44,453
Janitorial Services & Supplies 3,519 3,742 7,261 3,773 3,209 6,982
Legal services  & Audit 0 6,935 6,935 0 11,849 11,849
Publicity/Media 0 20,311 20,311 0 18,155 18,155
Special Events 0 405 405 0 1,189 1,189
Staff travel 638 678 1,317 0 1,266 1,266
Minor Equipment 4,915 5,225 10,140 5,268 4,482 9,750
Equip Maintenance/Repair 1,688 1,795 3,483 1,810 1,539 3,349
Office Supplies 1,359 1,445 2,804 1,457 1,239 2,696
Program Supples 8,236 8,756 16,991 8,828 7,510 16,338
Vehicle Maintenance Supplies 808 859 1,667 866 737 1,603
Computer Supplies/Related 2,869 3,051 5,920 3,076 2,616 5,692
Postage 1,575 1,675 3,250 1,689 1,436 3,125
Utilities 8,317 8,843 17,160 8,916 7,584 16,500
Space Maintenance 3,856 4,100 7,956 4,134 3,516 7,650
Telephone 1,741 1,851 3,593 1,866 1,588 3,454
Misc Fees 3,161 3,360 6,521 3,388 2,882 6,270
Staff Training 2,176 2,314 4,490 1,901 1,617 3,518
Insurance-General Liability & Fidelity 5,332 5,668 11,000 4,243 3,610 7,853
Memberships/Subscriptions 3,783 4,022 7,806 4,055 3,450 7,505
Printing & Copying 343 364 707 367 313 680
Advertising (Recruitment) 2,433 2,587 5,020 2,608 2,219 4,827
Interest Expense 0 65,259 65,259 0 82,710 82,710
Subsidized Taxi - Elderday Rides 0 4,124 4,124 0 3,966 3,966
Subsidized Taxi - MOW Rides 0 0 0 0 0 0
Subsidized Taxi -  LL Rides 43,622 46,378 90,000 72,667 81,288 153,955
Subsidized Taxi - Scrip 20,000 0 20,000 29,721 0 29,721
Nonsubsidized Taxi-Measure D Svcs 0 59,280 59,280 0 57,000 57,000
Trxfer to/from Equip Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0
Deprec-Groupwise Upgrade 27,853 0 27,853 55,706 0 55,706
Major Equipment - Non 5310 0 50,000 50,000 75,000 197,783 272,783
300 Property Fixed Asset 0 600,000 600,000 0 514,246 514,246
Leasehold Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0
Debt Repayment 0 20,000 20,000 0 13,901 13,901
Agency Overhead 162,009 154,307 316,316 166,426 138,372 304,798
TOTAL ADMINISTRATION COSTS: 310,234 1,133,565 1,443,799 460,288 1,213,202 1,673,490
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,142,746 2,018,675 3,161,420 1,272,783 1,925,503 3,198,286
TOTAL REVENUES 1,142,746 2,018,674 3,161,420 1,272,783 1,925,503 3,198,286
NET GAIN (LOSS) 0 (0) (0) 0 (0) (0)

13-22



COMMUNITY BRIDGES - LIFT LINE / CTSA EXHIBIT A, Page 2 of 2
TDA 2023-2024 BUDGET

TDA/STA Non-TDA CTSA TDA Non-TDA CTSA
2023-24 2023-24 2023-24 2022-23 2022-23 2022-23

ACCOUNT TITLE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET
REVENUE:
TDA 875,569 875,569 998,848 0 998,848
STA 267,177 267,177 273,935 0 273,935
City of Capitola 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000
County of Santa Cruz 0 0 4,375 4,375
County of SC-Measure D Sales Tax 1,076,000 1,076,000 1,045,000 1,045,000
CARB 30,000 30,000 202,648 202,648
LCTOP 50,000 50,000 7,360 7,360
Transfer From Measure D Reserve 308,682 308,682 195,415 195,415
Area Agency on Aging-Title IIIB 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
FTA Section 5310-Expanded 120,000 120,000 93,926 93,926
Monterey Peninsula Foundation 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000
Kaiser Grant 0 0 0 0
Outside Contracts-Other 24,000 24,000 14,675 14,675
Scrip - Client Payments 6,000 6,000 5,747 5,747
MOW Intra-Program Charges 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500
Elderday Intra-Program Charges 258,393 258,393 210,600 210,600
Donations 15,000 15,000 15,100 15,100
Program Income-Other 0 0 0 0
Vehicle Maintenance Intra-Program Charges 12,099 12,099 12,157 12,157
Vehicle Sales 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
TOTAL REVENUES 1,142,746 2,018,674       3,161,420 1,272,783 1,925,503 3,198,286

CTSA CTSA CTSA
FINAL BUDGET BUDGET

OPERATING FUND SOURCES FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24
TDA 859,367 998,848 875,569
STA 100,000 273,935 267,177
City of Capitola 0 33,000 33,000
County of Santa Cruz 15,000 4,375 0
County of SC-Measure D Sales Tax 981,927 1,045,000 1,076,000
Transfer From Measure D Reserve 0 195,415 308,682
CARB 202,648 202,648 30,000
LCTOP 7,360 7,360 50,000
FTA Section 5310-Trad 0 0 0
Area Agency on Aging-Title IIIB 45,043 20,000 20,000
FTA Section 5310-Expanded 136,674 93,926 120,000
Monterey Peninsula Foundation 40,000 40,000 40,000
Kaiser Grant 30,000 0 0
Outside Contracts-Other 22,776 14,675 24,000
Scrip - Client Payments 6,667 5,747 6,000
Scrip - Health Project Center 0 0 0
MOW Intra-Program Charges 22,500 22,500 22,500
Elderday Intra-Program Charges 118,250 210,600 258,393
Donations 8,700 15,100 15,000
PPP Loan Forgiveness 0 0 0
Vehicle Maintenance Intra-Program Charges 12,157 12,157 12,099
Vehicle Sales 3,000 3,000 3,000
TOTAL REVENUES 2,612,069 3,198,286 3,161,420

13-23



T:\GRANT MGMT\L FT LINE\23-24\Grants & Contracts\TDA STA Claim\TDA 23-24 Capital Plan Exhibit B

EXHIBIT B

CAPITAL REVENUE
Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2025-2026 2026-2027

Fund Balance $107,072 $107,339 $47,608 $47,727 $47,846

FTA Section 5310 $0 $0 $0 $210,000 $0

Addition to Fund $24,013 $0 $0 $0 $0

Fund Interest $268 $268 $119 $119 $120

Total $131,352 $107,608 $47,727 $257,846 $47,966

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2025-2026 2026-2027
Equipment Purchase $24,013 $60,000 $0 $210,000 $0

Major Maintenance $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total $24,013 $60,000 $0 $210,000 $0

Year-End Balance $107,339 $47,608 $47,727 $47,846 $47,966

Notes:

1 As capital grants are indefinite, and as capital equipment arrival dates vary, projected
figures may require adjustment.

2 In FY 2023-2024 Lift Line is paying  $24,013 from TDA for a final payment of for Ecolane 
 transit scheduling software. The purchase of the solutions including the implimentation of the 
software and hardware and training is a capitalized purchase over a 3 FY time-frame. 

3 In FY 2024-2025 Lift Line will be utilizing TDA equipment reserves for purchasing vehicle 
maintenace equipment at the Lift Line facility.

4 Lift Line is going to apply $210,000 equipment funding  for vehicle and computer purchase
in FY 2025-2026.

FISCAL YEARS: 23/24 THROUGH 26/27
CTSA FIVE YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 23/24

13-24



EXHIBIT C-1 
Lift Line / CTSA 

FY23/24 OPERATING PLAN 

The Lift Line program provides demand-responsive, specialized non-emergency health and 
medical transportation for low-income seniors and disabled residents of Santa Cruz County. 
Riders are not charged a fare for the service. Service is generally provided from 8:00 AM to 4:00 
PM, seven days a week (with the exception of published holidays), while Lift Line also 
coordinates additional services on behalf of its clients outside these hours. 

Service is focused on individuals that live outside the METRO ParaCruz service area, those who are 
unable to afford the METRO ParaCruz fare, those that do not meet the ADA complementary 
paratransit eligibility requirements, those needing same day service, and those that need a higher 
level of service than can be provided by METRO ParaCruz. Lift Line operates a fleet of 19 
wheelchair accessible vans. Transportation is provided to destinations such as doctors’ offices, 
pharmacies, Elderday Adult Day Health Care, Senior Dining Centers, out of county medical 
destinations, dialysis sites, and various medical therapy appointments. Clients are generally asked 
to book their medical rides between 8:30am and 3:30pm. 

Lift Line is seeking to continue TDA Medical Rides service and ensure this service reaches 
those with the most need. Lift Line projecting 6,979 TDA Medical Rides for FY 23/24.  
The TDA Medical Rides program serves as a safety net service for medical rides outside the ADA- 
mandated METRO paratransit service areas. Eligible individuals may schedule rides to medical 
destinations as late as one day in advance, with no fares collected. Currently all of the residents that 
receive medical rides are low income and below the federal 200% poverty level. Lift Line staff 
continue to update participant applications to reflect the new Federal Government poverty level 
guidelines to ensure income and disability eligibility is maintained by participants. 

Lift Line also coordinates with the local taxi companies to offer the Taxi Scrip (TS) program. 
Lift Line is projecting 2,279 Taxi Scrip rides in FY 23/24. 
The Taxi Scrip program serves as a safety net service for medical rides and non-medical rides needed 
outside the ADA-mandated METRO paratransit service areas. Individuals may purchase subsidized 
taxi scrip so that they can directly schedule taxi rides. Taxi companies own and operate vehicles that 
are fully accessible for mobility devices such as wheelchairs. Currently all residents that receive 
Taxi Scrip at a discount are low income and below the federal 200% poverty level. Currently clients 
can purchase three $10.00 books, for a total of $30.00 worth of scrip, for $8.00 which would give 
them approximately one (1) or two (2) rides per book. There is currently a limit to purchase six 
books per person per quarter. 

Lift Line is projecting 8,251 Meals on Wheels rides for FY 23/24, 3,786 of which will be 
funded with TDA funds. 
We are on track to meet our projected goal for the current fiscal year. Lift Line will continue to 
coordinate with the Meals on Wheels program to help them meet any increase attendance demands 
at all of the senior dining centers. Lift Line continues to meet with the Meals on Wheels Program 
Director and site managers to review unmet transportation service needs.       

13-25



Exhibit C – 1 
Lift Line / CTSA 22/23 Operating Plan 

Lift Line is projecting 25,785 Elderday rides in FY 23/24, of which 12,985 are funded by TDA. 
The Elderday program provides outpatient adult day health care to seniors and community residents 
who need constant care, and/or are diagnosed with dementia or Alzheimer’s disease. Almost all of 
these participants use wheelchairs or walkers, and require vans with lifts. Generally, these clients 
are very frail and need personal, door-to-door assistance. Elderday rides are reflective of the level 
of client service that Lift Line drivers provide to patients with critical needs. 

Lift Line is seeking to continue STA Same Day and Out of County service and ensure this 
service reaches those with the most need. Lift Line projecting 1,938 STA Same Day and Out 
of County Rides for FY 23/24. 
The STA Same Day and Out of County Rides program serves as a safety net service same dy and 
out of County rides. Eligible individuals may schedule same day rides, with no fares collected. 
Currently all of the residents that receive medical rides are low income and below the federal 200% 
poverty level. Lift Line staff continue to update participant applications to reflect the new Federal 
Government poverty level guidelines to ensure income and disability eligibility is maintained by 
participants. 

Lift Line staff will continue to work with the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
 Commission’s Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) in 
identifying and addressing unmet needs. Lift Line continues to work with the E&D TAC in 
meeting the Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs as well as the recommendations of the Paratransit 
Coordination Task Force. For those who don’t qualify for METRO ParaCruz or MediCal assistance, 
we will continue to help them complete the required paperwork to make it easier for them to use the 
current TDA programs that meet their specific needs. In our role as the Consolidated Transportation 
Service Agency, Lift Line will continue working with other transportation providers to ensure 
maximum efficiency and coordination of rides for all residents. 

Lift Line will continue to focus its resources on transportation needs that are not being met by 
other paratransit services, such as ADA-mandated METRO ParaCruz. Through TDA funding, 
Lift Line will continue to serve those not eligible for METRO ParaCruz service, specifically low- 
income individuals who cannot afford the $8.00 to $12.00 round-trip METRO ParaCruz fare, those 
who don’t meet the strict ADA qualifications, and those with origins/destinations outside of the 
METRO ParaCruz service area. Because Lift Line provides safety net services to those ineligible or 
unable to use other services, its goal is to provide flexible programs, scheduling, and dispatching 
that can respond to the changing needs of all participants. 

Community Bridges maintains comprehensive auto and general liability coverage, including the 
City of Santa Cruz and SCCRTC as additional insured parties. A copy of each insurance certificate 
shall be filed with the City and with SCCRTC 

Page 2 of 2 

13-26



Page 1 of 1

T:\GRANT MGMT\LIFT LINE\23-24\Grants & Contracts\TDA STA Claim\TDA 23-24 LL Opers Exhibit C-2

OPERATION PLAN SERVICE OF UNITS
EXHIBIT C-2
2023/2024

TABLE 1 - TDA/STA PROPOSED SERVICE UNITS

TAXI MEDICAL MEALS ON STA TOTAL TOTAL
SCRIP TDA WHEELS ELDERDAY FUNDING UNITS

FUNDS ALLOCATED $42,950 $413,846 $136,218 $254,703 $267,177 $1,114,893

OPERATING COST
$11.54 $38.64 $20.10 $13.36 $90.66

A. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT
i.e., Mgmt Personnel: Director, Fleet Mgr, Admin $4.57 $8.07 $8.70 $3.78 $27.20

       Asst, Info Mgr,  Rent, Liability Insur., Phone,
      Supplies, etc.
B. ADMINISTRATION

14.57% of total cost per unit. $2.74 $12.60 $1.70 $2.76 $20.04

TOTAL COST PER SERVICE UNIT $18.85 $59.30 $30.51 $19.90 $137.90

22/23 PROJECTED TDA/STA UNITS OF SERVICE 2,279 6,979 4,465 12,800 1,938 28,461

EQUIPMENT PURCHASE MATCH $27,853

TOTAL TDA/STA CLAIM REQUEST $1,142,746

NON-TDA SUPPORTED

TABLE 2 - OTHER CTSA SERVICE UNITS
Meals on Elderday Measure D 5310 Total Total
Wheels Services Paratransit Medical Units

Funds Allocated $115,500 $258,393 $682,119 $120,000 $1,176,012

Revenue per Service Unit $30.51 $19.90 $115.61 $137.90

23/24 Projected Units of Service 3,786 12,985 5,900 870 23,542

Other Income $60,004
Total Operating Income $1,236,016
Measure D Facility/Equip/Project Funds $702,563
CARB - Capital Equipment $30,000
LCTOP $50,000
TDA/ STA Claim $1,142,746
Grand Total $3,161,325

ROLLUP OF ALL RIDES

TABLE 3 - ALL SERVICE UNITS TOTALED ( Total tables 1 and  2, units of service, to equal table 3 totals)

Taxi TDA/5310 Meals on Elderday Measure D Total
Scrip Medical Wheels Services Paratransit STA Units

23/24 Total Ride Projections 2,279 7,849 8,251 25,785 5,900 1,938 52,002

13-27



Exhibit D 

Schedule of Payment 

FY: 2023-2024 TDA and STA 

Claim Lift Line CTSA 

TDA 
July 15, 2023 $288,937.00 

October 15, 2023 $195,544.00 
January 15, 2024 $195.544.00 

April 15, 2024 $195,544.00 
Total    $875,569.00 

STA 
 1st Quarter $66,794.25 
 2nd Quarter $66,794.25 
3rd Quarter    $66,794.25 
4th Quarter    $66,794.25 
Total $267,177.00 

Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA fund distribution: Quarterly disbursement, 
with up to 33% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being one-third 
of the remaining claim amount.   

13-28



EXHIBIT E Lift Line / CTSA 
23/24 Statement of Role and Responsibility 

Community Bridges has been the designated Consolidated Transportation Services Agency 
(CTSA) since 1982. CTSAs are authorized under California Government Code Sections 15975 and 
15950-15952 which were enacted pursuant to the Social Service Transportation Improvement Act. 
The purpose of the CTSA is to improve transportation required by social service recipients by 
promoting the consolidation and coordinating of social service transportation. As the Consolidated 
Transportation Service Agency, Community Bridges Lift Line will continue to coordinate and 
consolidate transportation services with other transportation and human service agencies in order 
to provide the most efficient transportation possible. Lift Line will continue to work with Santa 
Cruz County School Districts, Human Services Department of the County of Santa Cruz, County 
Office of Education, Veterans Service Offices in Santa Cruz and Palo Alto, Hospice of Santa Cruz 
County, as well as hospitals and other medical facilities. Community Bridges Lift Line will also 
continue working closely with the RTPA and to help with the unmet needs identified in the Tri- 
County AMBAG Coordinated Plan. Community Bridges Lift Line will also continue working with 
local non-profit organizations and other human service and medical facilities in neighboring 
counties to continue to define and create an effective mobility management center to help mobilize 
resident with various disabilities, low income and senior populations to travel easily throughout 
our County as well as to travel seamlessly throughout our tri-county Monterey Bay region and the 
San Francisco Bay Area. 

As the CTSA, Community Bridges Lift Line will continue coordination to improve and identify the 
need for specialized transportation equipment. If the equipment funded through Caltrans 5310 isn’t 
reaching its proposed requirements through their contract, the equipment can be recaptured and its 
use coordinated through other identified paratransit service needs. We will continue to offer 
training to ensure that not only Lift Line staff operates in a safe and sensitive manner, but will 
continue to offer expertise and training for other transportation providers in the County. 

Pursuant to the CTSA designation for Santa Cruz County, Community Bridges operates the Lift 
Line transportation program, which will continue to take a lead, and work closely with the RTPA, 
to continue to help identify unmet transportation needs, coordinate and provide social service 
transportation services to low-income seniors, disabled residents, underserved populations and 
other identified individuals in Santa Cruz County. Lift Line will continue to directly address the 
issues identified through the unmet needs process by providing rides to medical appointments 
(including dialysis), alternative care, mental health and various medical transportation needs. 

13-29



Exhibit F 
Reporting Period and 

Performance Measures FY: 
2023-2024 TDA Claim 

Community 
Bridges' Lift Line 

CTSA 

Reporting Period Due 
1. Fiscal Year: 2022/23 11/15/23 
2. 1st Quarter, 7/1/23 through 9/30/23 01/15/24 
3. 2nd Quarter, 10/1/23 through 12/31/23 04/15/24 
4. 3rd Quarter, 1/1/24 through 3/31/24 07/15/24 
5. 4th Quarter, 4/1/24 through 6/30/24 11/15/24 
6. Annual Evaluation, Fiscal Year 2023/2024 11/15/24 

Performance Measures to be included in Quarterly Reports 
The quarterly reports are to include the following: 

1. Unduplicated passengers per month 
2. Total passenger trips (units of service) per month 
3. Incidents per month 
4. Accidents per month 
5. Mechanical failures* (including lift failure) per month 
6. No-shows per month 
7. Turndowns or referrals per month 
8. Cancels per month 
9. Donations per month 
10. Total operating cost per passenger 
11. Total operating cost per vehicle service hour 
12. Total passengers per vehicle service hour 
13. Total passengers per vehicle service mile 
14. Van mileage per program 

*Mechanical failure means any problem which results in a delay of one hour or longer, or
cancelation

13-30



Exhibit G-1
Operating Statistics

FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22

Annual passengers 50,352 40,132 20,970 32,683
Rides/passenger trips provided by type:

Medical 10,716 9,019 11,965 9,843
Amount Spent for Medical $288,796 $454,016 $404,058 $751,710
Meals on Wheels 9,472 6,969 6,141 6,416
Amount spent for Meals on Wheels $106,655 $99,169 $99,239 $148,210
Taxi Script 2,486 1,870 1,740 2108
Amount spent for Taxi Script $29,260 $27,171 $31,877 $82,613
Elderday 27,678 22,274 1,124 6,850
Amount Spent for Elderday $396,072 $328,542 $22,165 $177,278

Annual service hours 14,524 15,011 8,494 14,316
Passengers per vehicle service hour* 3.47 3.13 2.45 2 28
Annual service miles 279,974 255,014 159,119 173806
# of fixed-route miles N/A N/A N/A N/A
Service Area – square miles (note: all of Santa Cruz County) 607 607 607 607
Service Area Population 273,170 273,170 273,170 273170
Passengers per vehicle service mile* 0.17 0.15 0.12 0.13
Average passengers per weekday 968 772 403 629
Total operating costs in budget $703,185 $834,857 $733,057 $906,921
Operating cost per vehicle service hour* $48.42 $55.62 $86.30 $63 35
Total operating cost per passenger* $13.97 $20.80 $34.96 $27.75
Average Farebox Revenue per passenger (describe what is included) N/A N/A N/A N/A
# of FTE employees (all employees, not just drivers) 24 23 19 19
Vehicle Service hours/Employee* 605 653 447 753
# of routes N/A N/A N/A N/A
Average route length 5.56 6.35 7.59 5 32
Average travel times/rider 0.62 0.85 0.88 0 89
# of bus stops N/A N/A N/A N/A
# of vehicles in operation 19 22 22 22
# of monthly bus passes in circulation N/A N/A N/A N/A
Max vehicles in service at any time: 13 12 8 9
Hours of service: 8-4 PM 8-4 PM 8-4 PM 8-4 PM
Approximate # of unduplicated passengers 2,083 2,097 2,057 2,443
Cost per unit of service plus text about long range plans to make/keep this low $13.97 $20.80 $34.96 $27.75
Funds and percentage spent on administration/overhead/grantee allocation/etc 34.518% 29 827% 34.087% 31.191%

$242,726 $249,012 $249,879 $282,878
Actual financials compared with budget ( see Exhibit G-2)
Actual number of rides provided compared with goal 119% of goal 95% of goal 48% of goal 113% of goal

For the Fiscal Year 2019-2020, Lift Line Provided 40,132 one-way rides to Santa Cruz residents, including medical transportation, Meals on Wheels congregated 
dining sites, Elderday adult day care transportation, and taxi script vouchers. Lift Line was at 95% of the goal. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and local government
regulation, many doctors cancel rider’s medical appointments and attendance reduced at congregated sites, including Meals on Wheels dining sites and Elderday 
adult daycare. For 2020-2021, Lift Line provided a 20,970 one-way ride to Santa Cruz county residents. Due to COVID-19 regulations, Lift Line was at 48 % of the 
goal during FY20-21. State regulations forced the temporary closure to Meals on Wheels dining sites and Elderday adult daycare; this service was operated remotely
to comply with the CDC recommendations. Lift Line reduced capacity on vehicles to 4 passengers on a bus and single riders on a minivan to comply with 6 feet 
of separation guidance. For 2021-2022, Lift Line provided 32,683. Lift Line is achieved 113% of the annual goal. Lift Line is
currently on track to making the yearly goal for FY 22-23.

13-31



Exhibit G-2

COMMUNITY BRIDGES - LIFT LINE / CTSA
TDA/STA 2019-20, 2020-21, 2021-22 BUDGET TO ACTUAL  

TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA
2019-20 2019-20 2020-21 2020-21 2021-22 2021-22

ACCOUNT TITLE BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL
PERSONNEL:
Salaries & Wages 381,183 352,340 316,215 302,994 362,433 406,646
Fringe BenUnemployment 2,859 3,264 4,743 3,609 5,211 3,251

Workers Comp 22,248 11,249 12,551 6,124 14,579 13,741
Health Insurance 69,692 47,004 34,618 42,411 41,469 38,532
FICA 29,160 37,275 24,190 22,997 27,726 31,558
401K Plan 1,525 1,717 3,697 4,503 6,335 10,056

TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS: 506,667 452,850 396,015 382,637 457,753 503,784
SERVICES & SUPPLIES:
OPERATING:
Vehicle Operations-Fuel 40,980 44,385 31,886 28,439 35,336 49,535
Vehicle Licenses 1,549 2,640 3,834 4,059 3,834 2,260
Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 14,157 20,143 13,015 8,874 14,603 11,800
Vehicle Insurance 28,906 57,974 31,025 48,485 39,014 49,961
Communications-Radio 6,110 7,855 24,290 10,685 25,291 6,703
TOTAL VEH. OPERATING COSTS: 91,702 132,996 104,049 100,541 118,078 120,259
OTHER OPERATING & ADMINISTRATION COSTS:
Professional Services 16,369 25,951 2,524 31,167 0 11,189
Janitorial Services/Supplies 818 4,848 2,565 1,748 2,565 557
Publicity/Media 0 0 0 0 0 0
Staff travel 1,700 0 914
Minor Equipment 2,851 1,086 5,240 1,696 2,599 220
Equip Maintenance/Repair-Trapeze 2,825 7,544 5,518 8,557 6,761 589
Office Supplies 1,380 996 1,313 584 735 690
Program Supples 964 3,228 3,433 4,365 3,181 1,023
Vehicle Maintenance Supplies 93 55 39 32 44 0
Computer Supplies/Related 887 361 566 625 221 23
Postage 466 1,414 292 301 1,099 465
Space Rental 18,525 9,648 4,970 0 21,998 0
Utilities 10,932 18,802 3,342 12,101 2,890 11,334
Space Maintenance 1,117 2,001 1,553 2,341 1,312 2,747
Telephone 2,037 2,764 2,027 2,151 4,191 1,765
Misc Fees 2,912 2,881 1,034 4,317 2,025 315
Staff Training 984 566 1,250 0 3,009 3,655
Insurance-General Liability & Fidelity 1,783 1,850 690 2,910 3,007 2,910
Memberships/Subscriptions 788 538 199 1,315 309 2,275
Printing & Copying 1,401 1,541 65 141 71 1,937
Advertising (Recruitment) 559 44 0 107 0 1,145
Subsidized Taxi 18,515 41,576 46,335 68,898 42,615 108,251
Trxfer to/from Equip Reserve 36,089 42,950 0 0 0 0
Major Equipment - Non-5310 0 27,855 37,261 24,011 43,542 48,022
Agency Overhead 117,612 121,316 99,125 106,524 114,828 131,789
TOTAL ADMINISTRATION COSTS: 227077 319,817 219,342 273,890 257,916 330,900
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 839,997 905,662 719,405 757,068 833,747 954,943
TOTAL REVENUES 839,997 905,662 719,405 757,068 833,747 954,943
NET GAIN (LOSS) 0 0 0 0 0 0

COMMUNITY BRIDGES - LIFT LINE / CTSA
TDA/STA 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 BUDGET TO ACTUAL  

TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA TDA/STA
2019-20 2019-20 2020-21 2020-21 2021-22 2021-22

ACCOUNT TITLE BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL
REVENUE:
TDA 739,997 800,055 619,405 651,864 733,747 844,219
STA 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
TAXI SCRIPT 5,607 5,204 10,724
TOTAL REVENUES 839,997 905,662 719,405 757,068 833,747 954,943

13-32



Agency Board Resolution 
RESOLUTION # 2023-03-01 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING COMMUNITY BRIDGES/LIFT LINE TO MAKE A 
CLAIM FOR FY23/24 TDA/STA FUNDS FROM THE REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION THROUGH THE CITY OF SANTA CRUZ 

WHEREAS, the Transportation Development Act (TOA) of 1971 provides that the 
applicant may file an Article 8 claim for monies from the Local Transportation Fund; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) has identified a 
process for TOA claims in their Rules and Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Community Bridges desires to apply for said financial assistance 
to permit operation of paratransit service in Santa Cruz County; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Bridges has, to the maximum extent feasible, 
coordinated with other transportation providers and users in the region 
(including social service agencies). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the Community 
Bridges does hereby authorize Raymon Cancino, CEO, to file and execute 
applications on behalf of Community Bridges with the Department to aid in the 
financing of capital projects pursuant to TOA claim, as amended. 

That Raymon Cancino, CEO; Seth McGibben, CAO; Doug Underhill, CFO 
is authorized to execute and file all certification of assurances, contracts or 
agreements or any other document required by the Department. 

That Raymon Cancino, CEO; Seth McGibben, CAO; Doug Underhill, CFO is 
authorized to provide additional information as the RTC may require in connection 
with the application for the TOA claim. 

That Raymon Cancino, CEO; Seth McGibben, CAO; Doug Underhill, CFO 
is authorized to submit and approve request for reimbursement of funds from 
the RTC for the TOA claim. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by Community Bridges Board of Directors of the 
Santa Cruz County, State of California. Passed by unanimous consent by the Board 
of Directors on 3/15/2023. 

___________________________________ ______   ___ 
Jack Jacobson, Chair Sara Siegel, Secretary 

13-33



Attachment 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of  
duly seconded by  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-24 TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT 
ACT (TDA) ARTICLE 8 CLAIM FROM THE VOLUNTEER CENTER FOR SPECIALIZED 

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 

WHEREAS the Transportation Development Act (TDA) of 1971 provides that an 
applicant may file an Article 8 claim for monies from the Local Transportation Fund; 

WHEREAS the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) has identified a process for 
TDA claims in their Rules and Regulations; 

WHEREAS the Regional Transportation Commission, in adopting its FY 2023-24 TDA 
budget, has apportioned $104,234 to be used by the Volunteer Center for administering the 
volunteer transportation program; 

WHEREAS the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee, at its April 11, 
2023 meeting, recommended that the Regional Transportation Commission approve this 
claim;  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION: 

1. The FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) claim by the Volunteer Center
fulfills the requirements specified in the Transportation Development Act and the
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s (RTC) Rules and
Regulations and the RTC finds that:

a. The claim includes a proposed budget for the 2023-24 fiscal year;

b. The claim includes a statement of projected or estimated revenues and
expenditures for the prior fiscal year;

c. The claim will fund specialized transportation services and respond to
transportation needs not otherwise being met within the community; and

d. The proposed expenditure of the funds is consistent with the most current
Regional Transportation Plan and Unmet Transit Needs list.

2. The City of Santa Cruz will act as a claimant on behalf of the Volunteer Center, for
TDA Article 8 claims for specialized transportation programs and the FY 2023-24 claim
is hereby approved in the amount of $104,234 for fiscal year 2023-24 consisting of
one payment in July of 2023.

3. Should the RTC amend its FY 2023-24 budget to modify TDA revenue apportionments
to the Volunteer Center, the Executive Director is authorized to modify the payment
amounts consistent with the RTC’s approved FY 2023-24 budget.

13-34



AYES:      COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS 

____________________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

Distribution: Community Bridges 
RTC Fiscal 

13-35



Attachment 4

13-36



13-37



13-38



13-39



13-40



TDA Claim

Work Element/
Activity/Task

SCHEDULE
(Month/Year)

Total Cost per
Element

$ TDA
requested

$ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4:

Administration
/Overhead
Activity 1:

Activity 2:

Activity 3:

Activity 4:

Ex.
Consultants
Ex. Materials

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF
18. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity

▪ Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or
increase ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.
Since last fiscal year we have increased our ridership/program usage. We have noticed an increase in referrals from
medical social workers and other non-profit partners who are seeking our transportation program for their clients.
We attribute this to our strengthening partnerships with various agencies and the medical community.

Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:

When making specific calls to volunteers to try to find ride matches that have not been fulfilled, we use our
program's embedded Google Maps feature to identify those individuals who are closest to the participant. This
increases the likelihood of finding volunteers to take the request and also reduces greenhouse gas emissions.

19. What is different from last year’s program/claim?

1.We added language to our 3rd service priority "destinations that contribute to the overall health and well-being of the
individual (for example: fall prevention classes)."

2. We also added language to our target population: "Older adults age 60+ and persons with disabilities who do not
drive, may not be able to take METRO or LiftLine and who do not have the support of family or friends to drive them.
In addition, those individuals who may be in need of a free transportation service."

3. Due to the decreased need of volunteers to shop for participants and the decrease in the life threatening severity of
COVID 19 cases, we have almost completely transitioned away from our Grocery Shopper Program. There are only a
handful of participants with fragile health conditions that still receive volunteer grocery support.

20. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:
☐ SCMD – April each year
X Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC October 2023, January 2024, April 2024, July 2024
☐ HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee ____________ (Month, year); RTC _____________(Month, year)

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service.
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer
service.

13-41



TDA Claim

SCMTD, CTSA and Volunteer Center Only
21. a. Are these transportation services responding to transportation needs not otherwise being met within the community

or jurisdiction of the claimant? Yes

b. Does the project meet an unmet transit need from the most recently approved RTC Unmet Paratransit and Transit
Needs List? Describe.

Yes. The Volunteer Center Transportation Program meets many of the unmet transit needs from the RTC Unmet Needs
List. Below are the ways in which our program supports these needs.
H1 Transportation services to areas with high concentrations of seniors, disabled and low income individuals. We
utilize volunteer drivers to serve low income and senior housing areas outside of the transit service area in south
county. Additionally, we offer carpool options to our program participants and can offer rides to those with some
mobility devices such as canes, walkers and crutches.
H1 Specialized transportation for areas outside the ADA-mandated paratransit service area for medical, non-medical
trips. We provide volunteer drivers to provide transportation services from areas not served by transit or ADA
paratransit service.
H2 Free or low-cost paratransit options. The Volunteer Transportation program is free to its users.
M1 Affordable transportation for dialysis and other medical appointments, including ‘same day’ specialized
transportation services for medical trips, on a continuous basis. Volunteer drivers in our program offer rides to medical
appointments including dialysis on a continuous basis and have occasionally offered “same day” rides. We continue to
attempt to increase our capacity to offer specialized transportation services.
H2 Volunteer drivers in Santa Cruz County particularly in south-county and San Lorenzo Valley.
We currently offer rides to new and existing participants in these areas and seek to expand outreach efforts to recruit
drivers and also promote services.

CTSA and Volunteer Center (Article 8) Only
22. Where appropriate, are these specialized transportation services coordinated with other transportation services,

including METRO service? Describe.

Yes. Our staff and volunteers regularly refer individuals to transit options listed in the Specialized Transportation
Guide and make suggestions of transportation services that may be able to assist them

23. Provide performance information, as pertinent, which demonstrate service efficiency and effectiveness, such as:
verification of the operating cost per passenger, operating cost per vehicle service hour, passengers per vehicle service
hour, passengers per vehicle service mile, and vehicle service hours per employee for last fiscal year (definitions
available in Section 99247 of TDA Guidelines). (99246d, per Performance Audits)

a. Volunteer Center, only: X provide a minimum 4,000 rides per year

24. Discuss the needs and types of the passengers being served, the employment of part-time drivers and the contracting
with common carriers of persons operating under a franchise or license to provide services during peak hours, as
defined in subdivision (a) of Section 99260.2. (99246d, per 2010 Performance Audit)

The majority of our program participants are 60 years of age or older. We do serve a few older adults who are not
quite 60 but have a disability that may make it difficult to use other transportation options. Many participants are frail and
some of these individuals use walkers or canes. Some participants are homebound and need a high level of support that
may include the physical support of a volunteer to walk with them through the store or to an appointment. That volunteer

13-42



TDA Claim

may even help to put their groceries away or upon request sit with them in their doctor’s appointments.

SCMTD, CTSA, Volunteer Center & RTC Only
25. List the recommendations provided in the last TDA Triennial Performance Audit and your progress toward meeting

them.

Recommendation Provided:
The Transportation Program resumes normal operations that the Volunteer Center can provide and integrate those program
goals with those of the Grocery Shopper Program in its annual TDA claim.

▪ Describe the work your agency has undertaken to implement each performance audit recommendation and the
steps it will take to fully implement the recommendation.

We have fully integrated the Grocery Shopper Program into the Transportation Program.

▪ For any recommendations that have not been implemented, explain why the recommendation has not been
implemented and describe the work your agency will undertake to implement each performance audit
recommendation.

▪ Describe any problems encountered in implementing individual recommendations.

No problems were identified.

SCMTD Only
26. TDA Article 4 Eligibility Compliance – Provide documentation for 50% expenditure limitation (PUC Section

99268.1).
_X_ 50 percent expenditure limitation

(use if LTF is below 50 percent of operating costs; if LTF is greater that 50% of operating costs, provide
farebox recovery ratio)

● Overall operating cost for fiscal year: $_________
● TDA-LTF claim: $
● TDA percent of operating cost: %
● Source of information: (e.g. audited financial statements, budget, etc)

27. Did the SCMTD operating budget increase over 15% from the prior fiscal year?
If the answer is yes, please provide a statement identifying and substantiating the reason or need for the increase in
the transit operating budget in excess of 15% above the preceding year, and identify substantial increases or decreases
in the scope of operations or capital provisions for major new service - (transit claimants only, if applicable).

28. Operating statistics/Performance Measures (attach list of operating statistics that compare current fiscal year to date
to last three full fiscal year.; *TDA required performance indicators)

● Annual passengers
▪ Rides/passenger trips provided by type (student, senior, adult, pass holders, etc, or however stat’s kept) and

amount of TDA $ used for each type of ride
● Annual service hours
● Passengers per vehicle service hour*
● Annual service miles
● # of fixed-route miles
● Service Area – square miles
● Service Area Population

13-43



TDA Claim

● Passengers per vehicle service mile*
● Average passengers per weekday
● Total operating costs

▪ Paratransit operating costs
▪ Fixed route transit operating costs

● Operating cost per vehicle service hour*
● Total operating cost per ride*
● Average Farebox Revenue per passenger (describe what is included)
● Farebox Recovery Ratio (%): Total Fare Revenue + Local support revenues ÷ total operating costs
● # of FTE employees (all employees, not just drivers)
● Vehicle Service hours/Employee*
● # of routes
● Average route length
● Average travel times/rider
● # of bus stops
● # of vehicles in operation
● # of monthly bus passes in circulation
● Max vehicles in service at any time:
● Hours of service:
● Approximate # of unduplicated passengers
● Cost per unit of service plus text about long range plans to make/keep this low
● Funds and percentage spent on administration/overhead/grantee allocation/etc
● Actual financials compared with budget
● Actual number of rides provided compared with goal and text about whether goal was met and why/why not
● Other statistics or performance metrics used

Definitions:
a) "Operating cost" means all costs in the operating expense object classes exclusive of the costs in the depreciation and

amortization expense object class of the uniform system of accounts and records adopted by the Controller pursuant to Section
99243. “Operating cost” excludes all subsidies for commuter rail services operated on railroad lines under the jurisdiction of the
Federal Railroad Administration, all direct costs for providing charter services, all vehicles lease costs, and principal and interest
payments on capital projects funded with certificates of participation.

b) "Operating cost per passenger,” means the operating cost divided by the total passengers.
c) "Operating cost per vehicle service hour,” means the operating cost divided by the vehicle service hours.
d) "Passengers per vehicle service hour" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service hours.
e) "Passengers per vehicle service mile" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service miles.
f) "Total passengers" means the number of boarding passengers, whether revenue producing or not, carried by the public

transportation system.
g) "Transit vehicle" means a vehicle, including, but not limited to, one operated on rails or tracks, which is used for public

transportation services funded, in whole or in part, under this chapter.
h) "Vehicle service hours" means the total number of hours that each transit vehicle is in revenue service, including layover time.
i) "Vehicle service miles" means the total number of miles that each transit vehicle is in revenue service.
j) "Vehicle service hours per employee" means the vehicle service hours divided by the number of employees employed in

connection with the public transportation system, based on the assumption that 2,000 person-hours of work in one year constitute
one employee. The count of employees shall also include those individuals employed by the operator, which provide services to
the agency of the operator responsible for the operation of the public transportation system even though not employed in that
agency.

13-44



TDA Claim

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims):

All Claims
X A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its
accompanying documentation.
X Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims

Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center)
❑ A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year
❑ Description of capital projects, including timeframe over which project will be funded and implemented
❑ Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities (can be within project/program description)
❑ TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims
❑ A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.
❑ Other Certifications

Local Agency Certification:

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html). I certify that the information provided
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or
disbursement upon project completion.

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work
or HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC.

Signature ____ Title:__________________________________Date:_____________

\\RTCSERV2\Shared\GRANTS\TDA\TDA Claim Forms\FinalTDAClaimFormMaster 23-24.docx

Executive Director 3/27/23

13-45



13-46



13-47



Exhibit A 
VOLUNTEER CENTER OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

1740 17th Avenue Santa Cruz, CA 95062 427-5070 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF WORK 
VOLUNTEER CENTER'S TRANSPORTATION 

PROGRAM Fiscal Year 2023-24 

A. TARGET POPULATION
Older adults age 60+ and persons with disabilities who do not drive, may not be able to take METRO or 
LiftLine and who do not have the support of family or friends to drive them. In addition, those individuals 
who may be in need of a free transportation service.

B. SERVICE GOALS

Our goal is to provide 4,000 one-way trips to eligible clients. Participants will be limited to a maximum of
two rides per week. Our priority for filling requests is as follows: 
1st Priority 
2nd Priority 
3rd Priority 

   Medical requests for target population. 
   Shopping requests for target population. 
   Other essential destinations that 

contribute to the overall health and well-
being of the individual (for example: fall 
prevention classes) 

These trips will be targeted for geographic distribution as follows: 
Rides % of Rides  #Clients 

Santa Cruz/Mid-County/Aptos/Capitola 2000 50% 100 
San Lorenzo/Scotts Valley     1000 25%           50 
Watsonville/ Freedom 1000 25% 50 

In considering geographic distribution of services, our goal is to provide extra support in those 
areas which are outside the boundaries of Liftline services, or which receive limited Liftline 
service and have limited public transit services. 

C. PROGRAM ACTIVITIES

1. The Volunteer Center will maintain volunteers Monday- Friday 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.

2. When possible, the Volunteer Center will refer those callers whose requests cannot be
accommodated through our program to other programs such as Liftline and Metro.

3. The Volunteer Center will continue its intensive campaign to recruit new drivers

4. Volunteer Center staff will attend meetings of the E+ DTAC of the RTC.

13-48



. 

D. QUARTERLY REPORTS

Volunteer Center of Santa Cruz Transportation Program TDA 
Funding Quarterly Reports and Final Activities Report are due to the 
Transportation Commission and the City of Santa Cruz according to 
this schedule: 

Quarterly Activities  Report 1: October 25, 2023
Quarterly Activities Report 2: February 8, 2023
Quarterly Activities Report 3: April 26, 2024
Quarterly Activities Report 4: July 26, 2024

The reports will contain the following information for each center and total: 

1. Number of rides/deliveries provided
2. Trip destinations
3. Mileage claimed
4. Estimated total mileage
5. Average length of trip
6. Number of unduplicated passengers
7. Number of requests for service
8. Number of turndowns
9. Reason for turndowns
10. Number of active volunteers
11. Geographic distribution of clients

E. INSURANCE

Comprehensive auto and general liability insurance over and above that 
held by the driver will be maintained by the Volunteer Center in the 
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

F. CLAIMS

One claim will be submitted for advance 

payment for the year: Annual 

Advance - July, 2023 104,234 

13-49



13-50



Attachment 5 

RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of  
duly seconded by  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-24 TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT 
ACT (TDA) ARTICLE 4 CLAIM AND STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE CLAIM 

FROM THE SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the Transportation Development Act of 1971, Article 4, Section 99260(a) 
of the Public Utilities Code provides that transit operators may file a claim for monies from 
a county's local transportation fund with the transportation planning agency for that county; 

WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) is a transit operator 
in accordance with Article 1, Section 99210 of the Public Utilities Code, and the Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) is the regional transportation planning 
agency for Santa Cruz County, in accordance with Article 1, Section 99214 of the Public 
Utilities Code;  

WHEREAS, the RTC apportioned $8,912,046 in Transportation Development Act 
(TDA) funds to Santa Cruz METRO in its fiscal year 2023-24 budget;  

WHEREAS, the RTC apportioned $2,913,501 in RTC’s estimated population-based 
State Transit Assistance (STA) formula funds (PUC Section 99313), and $2,863,421 in 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District’s (METRO) estimated STA revenue-based formula 
share (PUC Section 99314), for a total of $5,776,922 in STA funds apportioned to Santa 
Cruz METRO in its fiscal year 2023-24 budget;  

WHEREAS, METRO submitted a claim for Transportation Development Act funds and 
State Transit Assistance Funds in accordance with TDA statutes and the RTC Rules and 
Regulations; and, 

WHEREAS the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee, at its April 11, 
2023 meeting, recommended that the Regional Transportation Commission approve this 
claim;  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION: 

1. The FY 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) claim by Santa Cruz
Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) fulfills the requirements specified in the
Transportation Development Act and the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission’s (RTC) Rules and Regulations and the RTC finds that:

a. The proposed expenditures are in conformity with the Regional Transportation
Plan.

13-51



I:\E&DTAC\TDA\RTC Reports\Resolutions\23-24\Metro_RES_TDA_23-24.docx 

b. The level of passenger fares and charges is sufficient to enable the METRO to
meet the farebox recovery ratio requirements of Public Utilities Code sections
99268.2b as an older operator or the 50% expenditure limitation (PUC Section
99268.1).

c. METRO is making full use of federal funds available under the Urban Mass
Transportation Act of 1964.

d. The sum of METRO’s allocations from the State Transit Assistance (STA) and the
TDA funds does not exceed the amount that METRO is eligible to receive during
the fiscal year.

e. The claim funds may be used to offset reductions in federal operating assistance
and the unanticipated increase in the cost of fuel, to enhance existing public
transportation services, and to meet high priority regional, countywide, or area
wide public transportation needs.

f. METRO made a reasonable effort to implement the productivity improvements
recommended pursuant to Public Utilities Code section 99244 as specified in
sections 18 and 19 of the TDA claim form.

g. METRO obtained certification by the Department of the California Highway Patrol
verifying that METRO is in compliance with section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code,
as required in Public Utilities Code section 99251. The certification shall have
been completed within the last 13 months.

2. The claim submitted by the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District for Transportation
Development Act Article 4 funds in the amount of $8,912,046 and State Transit
Assistance funds in the amount of $5,776,922 for fiscal year 2023-24 is hereby
approved, to be paid in estimated quarterly payments, as specified below:

TDA STA 
1st Quarter $2,228,011.50 $1,444,230.50 
2nd Quarter $2,228,011.50    $1,444,230.50 
3rd Quarter $2,228,011.50 $1,444,230.50 
4th Quarter $2,228,011.50 $1,444,230.50 
Total $8,912,046 $5,776,922 

3. Should the RTC amend its FY 2023-24 budget to modify TDA revenue apportionments
to METRO, the Executive Director is authorized to modify the payment amounts
consistent with the RTC’s approved FY 2023-24 budget.

4. The Executive Director is authorized to modify the payment amounts based on actual
STA funds approved by the State and received by the RTC from the State such that
SC METRO receives 100% of PUC Section 99314 STA funds and 91.6% of PUC Section
99313 STA funds received by the RTC for FY 2023-24.

AYES:      COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS 

13-52



I:\E&DTAC\TDA\RTC Reports\Resolutions\23-24\Metro_RES_TDA_23-24.docx 

____________________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

Distribution: METRO 
RTC Fiscal 

13-53



   Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 

110 Vernon Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (831) 426-6080, FAX (831) 426-6117 
Santa Cruz METRO OnLine at http://www.scmtd.com 

March 31, 2023 

Guy Preston, Executive Director 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
1523 Pacific Avenue 
Santa Cruz, CA  95060 

Dear Mr. Preston: 

The Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District’s (METRO’s) FY24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
Claim Form is enclosed. METRO is the single fixed-route and ADA-mandated complementary paratransit 
provider in Santa Cruz County and is responsible for all operations, maintenance and administration, including 
civil rights compliance, in accordance with federal, state and local requirements. METRO will allocate all of the 
FY24 TDA–Local Transportation Fund (TDA–LTF) revenue to the operating budget and its FY24 TDA–State 
Transit Assistance (TDA–STA) revenue to the operating and capital budgets. The respective TDA–LTF and 
TDA–STA allocations are shown in the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District FY24& FY25 Preliminary 
Operating Budget and the FY24 Preliminary Capital Budget attached to the Claim form. 

METRO requests a total of $14,688,968 in TDA-LTF and TDA-STA funds allocated in the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission’s FY24 Work Program and Budget as summarized below: 

If TDA funding levels vary from the budgeted amount during FY24, the SCCRTC will revise the TDA 
allocations to METRO in accordance with an amended FY24 SCCRTC Work Program and will pay METRO 
the revised amount of TDA funds without further action from METRO. 

The FY24 TDA Claim has been prepared with the most recently available budget and system performance data 
in accordance with the SCCRTC’s guidance and Caltrans TDA Statutes.  Please call me if you need additional 
information. 

Sincerely, 

Michael Tree, 
CEO/General Manager 

cc: Maura F. Twomey, AMBAG 

 TDA – LTF FY24 Transit Operations $8,912,046 
TDA – STA FY24 $267,177 less of Sec 99313 Operations and Capital $2,913,501 
TDA – STA FY24 99314 Operations and Capital $2,863,421 

Total $14,688,968 

Attachment 6

13-54



SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT

f:\grants\s\sccrtc\tda claim\fy24 tda claim\fy24 tda disbursement_gd.doc 

DATE: March 31, 2023 

TO: Executive Director, SCCRTC 

FROM: CEO/General Manager, Santa Cruz METRO 

SUBJECT: FY24 TDA FUNDS DISBURSEMENT REQUIREMENT 

The Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) requests disbursement of METRO’s FY24 
TDA claim for $8,912,046 in TDA-LTF funds, and $5,776,922 in TDA-STA funds as follows: 

1. TDA-LTF FUNDING FOR FY24

2. TDA-STA FUNDING FOR FY24 (Sec. $267,177 less of 99313 and 100% 99314 STA)

FY24 TDA funds will be used for fixed-route and paratransit operating, capital and administrative 
costs as shown on the FY24 TDA Claim Form and in the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
FY24 & FY25 Preliminary Operating Budget and the FY24 Preliminary Capital Budget, which the 
Board approved on 3/24/23.  

Disbursement Schedule Operating Funds Total Disbursement 

First Quarter  $2,228,011.50  $2,228,011.50 
Second Quarter $2,228,011.50  $2,228,011.50 
Third Quarter $2,228,011.50 $2,228,011.50 
Fourth Quarter  $2,228,011.50  $2,228,011.50 

Total $8,912,046  $8,912,046 

Disbursement Schedule Operating Funds Total Disbursement 

First Quarter           $1,444,230.50  $1,444,230.50 
Second Quarter           $1,444,230.50  $1,444,230.50 
Third Quarter           $1,444,230.50  $1,444,230.50 
Fourth Quarter           $1,444,230.50  $1,444,230.50 

         Total  $5,776,922  $5,776,922 

13-55



     METRO FY24 TDA Claim 3/31/23 
Transportation Development Act (TDA) 

CLAIM FORM 
Submit a separate form for each project. 

This form has been developed in an effort to standardize information required from TDA recipients, 
based on TDA Statute, RTC Rules and Regulations, and/or RTC board requests.  

If you have any questions about this claim form or would like an electronic copy of the form, 
 please contact the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission at 460-3200. 

Project Information 

1. Project Title: FY24 Santa Cruz METRO Operating and Capital Assistance

2. Implementing Agency: Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO)

3. Sponsoring Agency (if different) – must be a TDA Eligible Claimant: Yes

4. Funding requested this claim:

5. Fiscal Year (FY) for which funds are claimed: FY24

6. General purpose for which the claim is made, identified by the article and section of the Act which authorizes such
claims:

 Article 8 Bicycle and/or Pedestrian Facility 
 Article 4 Public Transportation 
 Article 8 Specialized Transportation via city sponsor 
 Article 3 & 8 TDA Admin or Planning 

7. Contact Person/Project Manager
1. Name: Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager

Telephone Number: (831) 420-2501. Email: Mtree@scmtd.com
2. Secondary Contact (in event primary not available):  Wondimu Mengistu, Capital Planning and Grants

Program Manager. Telephone Number: (831) 420-2580. Email: Wmengistu@scmtd.com
8. Project/Program Description/Scope (use additional pages, if needed, to provide details such as work

elements/tasks):

This project provides $14,688,968 for fixed-route public transit and Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA)
complementary paratransit operations in Santa Cruz County. Fixed-route public transit operations require a
maximum fleet of 76 buses serving 25 routes throughout Santa Cruz County, including the Highway 17 Express
AMTRAK feeder service between Santa Cruz and San Jose (Diridon Station). ParaCruz, METRO’s complementary
paratransit service, operates 32 accessible vans in demand-response service for persons who, due to disability,
cannot access the fixed-route system.

9. Project Location/Limits (attach a map and/or photos if available/applicable, include street names):

TDA-LTF $8,912,046 
TDA-STA 99313 $2,913,501 
TDA-STA 99314 $2,863,421 

13-56

mailto:Mtree@scmtd.com


Lo
ca

l S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

R
ts

. 3
-4

U
C

S
C

 &
 W

es
ts

id
e 

R
ts

. 1
0-

22
S

co
tt

s 
V

al
le

y 
/ S

LV
 

R
ts

. 3
5/

35
A

M
id

-C
ou

nt
y 

R
t.

 5
5 

Li
ve

 O
ak

 
R

ts
. 6

6-
68

Lo
ca

l W
at

so
nv

ill
e

72
-7

9
M

S
T

C
ab

ril
lo

 / 
So

ut
h 

C
ou

nt
y 

R
ts

. 6
9-

71
,9

1X
R

ou
te

s
N

or
th

 C
oa

st
 

R
ts

. 4
0-

42
S

ys
te

m
 

M
ap

H
w

y
17

R
ou

te
Lo

ca
to

r
S

ys
te

m
M

ap

M
S

T
Lo

ca
l S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
R

ts
. 3

-4
U

C
S

C
 &

 W
es

ts
id

e 
R

ts
. 1

0-
22

S
co

tt
s 

V
al

le
y 

/ S
LV

 
R

ts
. 3

5/
35

A
M

id
-C

ou
nt

y 
R

t.
 5

5 
Li

ve
 O

ak
 

R
ts

. 6
6-

68
Lo

ca
l W

at
so

nv
ill

e
72

-7
9

C
ab

ril
lo

 / 
So

ut
h 

C
ou

nt
y 

R
ts

. 6
9-

71
,9

1X
R

ou
te

s
N

or
th

 C
oa

st
 

R
ts

. 4
0-

42
 

S
ys

te
m

 
M

ap
H

w
y

17
R

ou
te

Lo
ca

to
r

S
ys

te
m

M
ap

scmtd.com32 HEADWAYS - Bus Rider's Guide    Spring 2021     March  4 - June  9, 2021 scmtd.com 33HEADWAYS - Bus Rider's Guide    Spring 2021     March  4 - June  9, 2021

Santa Cruz County 
System Map

Highway 17 Express
Route: 17
See Pages: 75-78

Local Watsonville
Routes: 72-79
See Pages: 67-69

San Lorenzo Valley
Route: 35/35A
See Pages: 48-52

North Coast
Route: 42
See Pages: 53-54

Local Santa Cruz
Routes: 3-9,88
See Pages: __, __, __

Local Santa Cruz
Routes: 3-9,88
See Pages: __, __, __

Mid County
Route: 55
See Page: 55

Cabrillo / South County
Routes: 69-71, 91X
See Pages: 58-66, 70-71F

0 1 2 3 4 5 Miles

¥17

¥17

¥9
¥1

¥1¥1

Live Oak
Routes: 66-68
See Pages: 56-57

To Downtown
San Jose

Santa Cruz

Capitola

Watsonville

Scotts Valley

U35 U17

U17

¥17

¥9

San Lorenzo Valley
Route Detail Inset

¥9

UCSC & Westside
Routes: 10-20
See Pages: 35-36, 42-47

Pacific
      Ocean

Mt. Hermon Rd.

Sc
ot

ts
Va

lle
y 

Dr
.

Quail
Hollow Rd.

Za
ya

nt
e

Rd
.

Graham Hill Rd. Lo
ck

w
oo

d 
Ln

.

G
lenw

ood

Dr.

GlenArbor Rd.

Love Creek Rd.

Za
ya

nt
e

Rd
.

Lom
pico Rd.

Cavallaro
Center

Felton

Local Santa Cruz
Route    : 4
See Page: 34

Felton

Ben
Lomond

Ben
Lomond

Aptos
Soquel

Davenport

Brookdale

Boulder
Creek

Bonny
Doon

Freedom

Freedom Blvd.
Soquel Av.

Mt. HermonRd.

Em
pire Grade Rd.

¥236

¥9

¥9

¥9

¥17

¥17

¥17

a

a

a

G
re

en
 V

al
le

y 
Rd

.

a
Transit
Center

Live
Oak

UCSC

Cabrillo
College

Cavallaro
Center

Watsonville
Center

Metro
Center

Capitola
Mall

Bo
nn

y 
Do

on
 R

d. U42

U42

U42

U42

U35

U35

U35

U17

U17

U35

U35

See Santa Cruz/Capitola
Route Detail on Previous Page

See Watsonville
Route Detail on Next Page

U35A

U35A

U35A

a

Capitola

Santa
Cruz

Watsonville

Scotts
Valley

Scotts
Valley

U42

U35A

a

See Pages:14-15See Pages:16-23

See Pages:24-28

See Pages:29-30

See Page: 36

See Pages:37-38

See Pages:39-47, 51-52

See Pages:10-14

See Pages:48-

Santa Cruz County 
System Map

13-57



TDA Claim 

2 | P a g e

10. Justification for the project. (Why is this project needed? Primary goal/purpose of the project; problem to be
addressed; project benefits; importance to the community).

This project provides financial support for fixed-route public transit and paratransit service in Santa Cruz County
and critical capital improvement funds to replace buses that are beyond their useful lifespan. The COVID-19
pandemic has significantly increased METRO’s transit operating costs while farebox revenue has continued to
decrease longer than anticipated. As METRO works to maintain and restore these essential services, these funds
are critical to ensuring that public transportation can continue to be a lifeline for our essential workers and help
our communities rebuild their economies in the wake of the pandemic. Without this funding, METRO may be
required to drastically curtail service and delay critical capital projects, impacting the freedom of mobility for
individuals with disabilities; public transportation for health care workers, first responders, and other safety
personnel; and Medicaid recipients who receive medical transportation for kidney dialysis, cancer treatments, and
other critical care. Increasing public transit ridership is a goal of the 2040 RTP, and TDA/STA financial
assistance is required to sustain current levels of transit service, which will support ridership growth in subsequent
years.

METRO’s 5-year strategic plan includes a doubling of its annual ridership within five years to 7 million, and
developing 175 housing units at METRO transit centers across the county. The Plan has also set an ambitious goal
of purchasing only zero emission buses (ZEB) moving forward, converting the entire 96 bus METRO fleet by
2037. Phase I of this plan involved the procurement and deployment of four battery electric buses (BEB) on the
Watsonville Circulator Route, which was completed in FY22. Phase II will convert 100% of METRO’s fleet
serving Watsonville to ZEB by 2027. Phase III will involve the full transition of METRO’s fleet to ZEB by the
end of 2037. This would put the agency ahead of the California Air Resources Board (CARB) mandate that all
transit agencies in California operate 100% ZEB by 2040. However, doubling annual ridership and transitioning
to ZEB fleet will require significant capital investment in acquisitions ZEBs and construction of Zero-Emissions
Operating and Maintenance Facility to accommodate ZEB buses in the future.

11. Project Productivity Goals for this fiscal year:
1. Measures of performance, success or completion to be used to evaluate project/program (ex. increase use of

facility/service, decrease collisions, etc.):
i. Total Annual passenger trips

ii. Operating Cost/Hour

2. Number of people to be served/anticipated number of users of project/program (ex. number of new or maintained
bike miles; number of people served/rides provided):

For FY24, METRO projects 3,412,625 fixed-route and ParaCruz passenger trips based upon a FY19 actual pre-
COVID-19 pandemic ridership reduction by 35% in fixed-route and 2% increase in ParaCruz passenger trips.
The FY24 ParaCruz ridership estimate is 74,967 trips, 16% higher than the 62,608 actual trips carried in FY22.
The FY24 ParaCruz ridership estimate is based upon current trends to adjust the previous year’s actual
ridership.

12. Consistency and relationship with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) - Is program/project listed in the RTP
and/or consistent with a specific RTP Goal/Policy?

1. Yes, METRO’s FY24 TDA/STA project conforms to these goals and targets in the 2040 RTP, Transportation
Goals, Policies and Targets:

13-58



TDA Claim 

3 | P a g e

i. Goal 1: Improve people’s ability to meet most of their daily needs without having to drive.
Improve access and proximity to employment centers (Attachment 3, p. 1) 

1. Targets:
a. 1A. Increase the percentage of people that can travel to key destinations within a

30-minute walk, bike or transit trip by 47 percent by 2040 (Attachment 3, p. 1).
b. 1B. Reduce per capita fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions by 5

percent by 2035 and 6 percent by 2040. (Attachment 3, p. 1).
c. 1E. Increase the number of active transportation trips by 20% of all trips by 2040.

(Attachment 3, p. 2).
ii. Goal 3:  Deliver access and safety improvements cost effectively, within available revenues

equitably and responsive to the needs of all users of the transportation system, and 
beneficially for the natural environment. 

1. Targets:
a. 3C. Reduce travel times and increase travel options for people who are

transportation disadvantaged due to income, age, race, disability or of limited
English proficiency by increasing the percentage that are within a 30-minute
walk, bike or transit trip to key destinations by 47% by 2040.

13. Impact(s) of project on other modes of travel, if any (ex. parking to be removed):

• Reduce congestion on local streets and roads by providing alternatives to the private automobile.
• Improves the transit and active transportation network.
• Increase range of travel for bicycles by accommodating bikes on buses.
• Provide feeder service to intercity bus, rail and airline network at San Jose.

14. Estimated Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (attach project budget).
Specialized Transportation Claims require 10% local match or other performance standard. Local match can take
the form of fares, donations, agency charges, grants, revenue sharing and other non-restricted sources. In kind
services many NOT apply toward the local match. In lieu of a 10% match performance standard, the Volunteer
Center performance standard is to provide 4,000 rides per year.

METRO will contribute $14,688,968 in farebox revenue together with sufficient advertising, local sales tax, and
rental and interest income to meet the 50% match for operating funds.

What is the total project cost? 

$65,454,337 for FY24 operations and $3,000,000 for capital improvements as published in the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District FY24 and FY25 Preliminary Line Item Operating Budgets and FY24 Capital 
Budget for review and TDA/STA claims purposes, Attachment A. Revenue sources for capital improvements 
(replacement buses) are $811,918 in SGR capital; $2,188,082 FY24 Measure D transferred from operating 
budget. 

1. Is project fully funded? Yes

What will TDA (and STA, if applicable) funds be used on (ex. operations, administration, brochures, engineering, 
construction)? 

13-59



TDA Claim 

4 | P a g e

• Public transit operations; administration

15. Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA-LTF fund distribution (see RTC Rules and Regulations for details and
requirements. Note if funds are distributed in advance of use, agencies will be required to subsequently provide
documentation of actual expenditures.):

a. Bike/Ped: Cities/County:  Up to 90% upon initiation of work OR  100% upon project completion 
HSA/BTW:  Quarterly disbursement OR  Semi-annual disbursement 

b. CTSA:  Quarterly disbursement, with up to 35% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being 
one-third of the remaining claim amount;  

OR  Quarterly disbursement 

c. Volunteer Center:  Full approved claim amount in the first quarter 

d. SCMTD:  Quarterly disbursement 

16. TDA Eligibility: YES?/NO? 
A. Has the project/program been approved by the claimant's governing body? Form of approval At

its 3/24/23 meeting, METRO’s Board adopted the FY24 & FY25 Preliminary Operating Budget
for the purpose of submitting the TDA claim in the amounts requested with this claim. (e.g.
resolution, work program, budget, other document)
If "NO," provide the approximate date approval is anticipated._______________

Yes 

B. Has this project previously received TDA funding? If yes, date RTC approved:______________ No 

C. For capital projects, have provisions been made by the claimant to maintain the project or
facility, or has the claimant arranged for such maintenance by another agency?  (If an agency
other than the Claimant is to maintain the facility provide its name:
____________________________)

Yes 

D. Has the project already been reviewed by the RTC Bicycle Committee and/or Elderly/Disabled
Transportation Advisory Committee? (If "NO," project will be reviewed prior to RTC approval).

N/A 

E. For "bikeways," does the project meet Caltrans minimum safety design criteria pursuant to
Chapter 1000 of the California Highway Design Manual? (Available on the internet via:
http://www.dot.ca.gov).

N/A 

F. For Article 4 transit claims: Does operator meet Article 4 eligibility requirements?
i. Farebox recovery ratio? and/or,
ii. 50 percent expenditure rule as an older operator, defined as service starting prior to 1974?

Yes 

Bike/Ped (Article 8) Only 
17. Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (complete “24a” or “24b”)

1. Capital Projects (Bicycle projects: Bicycle Advisory Committee or RTC must approve the final project
design plans prior to construction; see RTC Rules & Regulations)

Planning Environ-
mental 

Design/ 
Engineering ROW Construction Other

* Contingency Total 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Yr) 
Completion 
Date __/__ 
Total 
Cost/Phase 

13-60



TDA Claim 

5 | P a g e

$TDA 
Requested 
(this claim) 
Prior TDA: 

Source 3: 

Source 4: 

Unsecured/ 
additional 
need** 

*Please describe what is included in “Other”:

2. Non-Capital Projects – Cost/Schedule: List any tasks and amount per task for which TDA will be used. Can
be substituted with alternate budget format.

Work Element/ 
Activity/Task 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Year) 

Total Cost per 
Element 

$ TDA 
requested $ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4: 

Administration
/Overhead 
Activity 1: 

Activity 2: 

Activity 3: 

Activity 4: 

Ex. 
Consultants 
Ex. Materials 

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF 

18. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity
 Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or

increase ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.

• Launched last fall of 2021, METRO’s Zero-Emission Watsonville Circulator Operating Project connects
the downtown Watsonville Transit Center with retail and medical destinations, operating as a loop along
Main Street, Green Valley Road, Freedom Centre, Freedom Boulevard and Lincoln Street. This project
also includes a free fare pilot program offered to all riders for one year. The new route provides more
frequent service to desirable commercial and professional destinations in Watsonville. The Circulator
Route is envisioned to become a critical link for our community.

• METRO continued its partnership with the City of Santa Cruz Go Pass program, providing free rides to
all 4,000+ downtown Santa Cruz employees, paid for by the City. The project aims to increase METRO
ridership while reducing the demand for parking in downtown Santa Cruz.

• In an effort to further protect its customers, METRO encourages riders to use METRO’s contactless fare
payment tools, which in addition to Cash and METRO Pass smart cards, now includes new mobile
ticketing app, METRO Splash Pass, available for download on Google Play and the Apple App Store.

13-61



TDA Claim 

6 | P a g e

This cash-free, contactless, and COVID-19 safe, mobile ticketing solution allows METRO riders to 
purchase fares and display tickets on their smartphone devices anytime, anywhere. Riders have the option 
of purchasing Local and Highway 17 Express tickets including full or discounted options using a debit or 
credit card or via digital payment services such as Apple Pay. Mobile fare payment can help reduce the 
cost of cash collection, speed up the boarding process, and improve convenience and access to fare 
products. 

• METRO is continuously fine-tuning the time of its route and considering route modification to improve
efficiency.

 Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:

• METRO launched it’s first-ever Youth Ride Free pilot program and will be available throughout Santa
Cruz County. The Youth Ride Free pilot program eliminates fares in order to increase access and
encourage ridership for youth in grades K-12. The program will enable youth to ride on all METRO
routes (excluding Highway 17) anywhere, anytime. According to a survey conducted by METRO in
2019, just 9.7% of METRO riders are under the age of 18, despite making up 19% of the population of
Santa Cruz County.

• METRO is currently working with a consultant to develop a Five Year Bus Network Reimagining Plan
scheduled for implementation between 2023 and 2028. Key project outcomes will include: 1) an
evaluation of METRO’s current fixed route system;  2)  Completion  of  at  least  two  alternative
scenarios  illustrating  different policy directions that the METRO bus network might take, focusing on
the tradeoffs between ridership and coverage goals; 3) final network scenarios matching three possible
financial projections, one with current resources and two with additional financial resources; and 4) a
process of interaction with stakeholders, city councils, the METRO Board, and the public that provides
opportunities to provide substantive and impactful input to the plan. METRO completed its last
comprehensive service analysis in 2016 on the heels of a fiscal crisis that led to service cuts. The current
planning effort will focus on service expansion, with a goal of doubling ridership in five years. The first
phase of the planning effort will focus on ensuring METRO is making the best use of current resources
while subsequent phases will envision a future transit network should additional resources become
available.

• On March 25, 2022, the METRO Board of Directors (Board) adopted a resolution which approves
METRO’s ZEB Rollout Plan. Starting in 2023-2024, all new fixed route vehicle purchases will be ZEB.
METRO will continue to procure FCEB’s in subsequent years, eventually achieving a 100% ZEB fleet by
2037. The procurement schedule assumes that if more funds become available, METRO will attempt to
accelerate its ZEB procurement timeline.

• In the next decade, METRO plans to develop 175 affordable housing units at METRO transit centers and
facilities, including Pacific Station, the Watsonville Transit Center and the Soquel Park and Ride.
Providing access to affordable housing near transit corridors is therefore critical to supporting future
ridership. Access to high quality transit also makes housing more affordable by reducing the need to build
expensive parking, while the ability to live a car-free or car-light lifestyle reduces the costs of
transportation for residents.

• METRO also working to improve the customer experience through improving access to real time
information. Staff is currently implementing a Computer-Aided Dispatch/Automatic Vehicle Location
(CAD/AVL) system on its fleet, which will allow real time vehicle location tracking and help the agency

13-62



TDA Claim 

7 | P a g e

better track bus speed and reliability. Besides providing better data with which to plan and schedule, the 
system will provide customers with real time bus location and next bus arrival predictions, allowing 
customers to track vehicles in real time.   

• METRO is also installing new Automated Passenger Counters (APCs) on its fleet in FY23. APCs will
provide the Planning Department with a rich dataset for route and service planning, including boarding
and alighting information at the level of individual bus stops for all trips. It will also provide real time
crowding information to customers so that they can make more informed decisions when trip planning.

• Continue pursuit of discretionary grants in state and federal programs.

19. What is different from last year’s program/claim?

1. While normal pre-COVID-19 annual ridership is typically around 5 million passenger trips per year, the
impacts of the pandemic on ridership resulted in METRO delivering 2,837,891 trips in FY22 (year ended
June 30, 2022). METRO restored service to pre-COVID levels on all routes with the exception of
weekday Highway 17 and 91X service, and some school term trips. Overall ridership ended the year at
55% of pre-COVID levels.

2. Per TDA Fiscal Years 2019-2021 Triennial Performance Audit recommendation, METRO intends to
upgrade its aging website infrastructure to provide better interface with social media platforms and
enhance accessibility. Furthermore, METRO has been in the process of implementing components of its
intelligent transportation systems platform, which includes CAD-AVL, APCs, voice annunciators, and
mobile ticketing apps. The deployment of these technologies requires that staff be kept abreast on how to
analyze and integrate the performance data from these new systems. Therefore, per TDA FY2019-2021
Triennial Performance Audit recommendation, METRO will ensure continued data analytics training for
staff as these technologies are implemented.

20. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:
 SCMD – April each year 
 Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC __________ (Months/Year) 
 HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee ____________ (Month, year); RTC _____ (Month, year) 

SCMTD, CTSA and Volunteer Center Only 

21. a. Are these transportation services responding to transportation needs not otherwise being met within the
community or jurisdiction of the claimant?

1. Yes. METRO services are responding to transportation needs not otherwise being met within the
community or jurisdiction of the claimant. METRO transit routes cover the most populous disadvantaged
areas of the county. These routes serve low-income people, people with disabilities, seniors, youth and
minorities can often be disproportionately limited by the transportation choices available to them. Data
from METRO's 2019 Onboard Transit Ridership Survey (OTRS) indicate that a majority of these riders are
transit dependent, with 65% earning less than $24,000 (44% have an annual household income of below
$15,000), and nearly 60% report riding METRO five or more days per week (OTRS, 2019).

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services 
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service. 
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer 
service. 

13-63



TDA Claim 

8 | P a g e

2. ParaCruz is METRO’s complementary paratransit service for seniors or the disabled who are unable to use
the fixed route transit service. METRO has high ridership for a small transit operator.

3. METRO also enhances regional connectivity through its Highway 17 Express service connecting Santa
Cruz with jobs in the high-tech industry in Silicon Valley; commuter and intercity passenger rail (ACE,
Caltrain and Amtrak); and San Jose State University.

b. Does the project meet an unmet transit need from the most recently approved RTC Unmet Paratransit and Transit
Needs List? Describe.

1. H1 – Free and low-cost transportation options, including fixed-route transit services.
a. Support programs that provide transportation services, including, but not limited to bus

services, for a reduced or no fee
i. METRO will continue its Zero-Emission Watsonville Circulator Project for two more

years until 2024. The project deployed two of METRO’s battery-electric buses on a
new circulator route in downtown Watsonville in the fall of 2021. This project also
includes a free fare pilot program offered to all riders for one year.

ii. METRO launched it’s first-ever Youth Ride Free pilot program and will be available
throughout Santa Cruz County. The Youth Ride Free pilot program eliminates fares in
order to increase access and encourage ridership for youth in grades K-12. The program 
will enable youth to ride on all METRO routes (excluding Highway 17) anywhere,
anytime.

2. H1 – Bus replacement: Replace buses beyond useful life as needed including buses, including buses
providing rural service.

a. Support funding for transit capital improvements.
i. METRO is purchasing Zero emission buses which would significantly reduce the

number of buses beyond their useful life. New buses help METRO deliver safe,
reliable and efficient transit services.

3. H3 - New equipment to assist with real-time operations, security, scheduling and planning.
a. In the process of installing AVL system to provide better monitoring of on-time performance

and more accurate data reporting.
b. In the process of installing APC system to make mandatory reporting more efficient and

improve data for service planning.
c. In the process of installing electronic fare payment for more convenient payment options and

to speed up boarding.

CTSA and Volunteer Center (Article 8) Only 
22. Where appropriate, are these specialized transportation services coordinated with other transportation services,

including METRO service? Describe.

23. Provide performance information, as pertinent, which demonstrate service efficiency and effectiveness, such as:
verification of the operating cost per passenger, operating cost per vehicle service hour, passengers per vehicle
service hour, passengers per vehicle service mile, and vehicle service hours per employee for last fiscal year
(definitions available in Section 99247 of TDA Guidelines). (99246d, per Performance Audits)

1. Volunteer Center, only:  provide a minimum 4,000 rides per year 

24. Discuss the needs and types of the passengers being served, the employment of part-time drivers and the
contracting with common carriers of persons operating under a franchise or license to provide services during peak
hours, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 99260.2. (99246d, per 2010 Performance Audit)

13-64



TDA Claim 

9 | P a g e

SCMTD, CTSA, Volunteer Center & RTC Only 
25. List the recommendations provided in the last TDA Triennial Performance Audit and your progress toward

meeting them.
 Describe the work your agency has undertaken to implement each performance audit recommendation and the

steps it will take to fully implement the recommendation.
• TDA Triennial Performance Audit (FY19-FY21) report includes a recommendation that the RTC and

METRO should clarify the performance eligibility criteria for TDA-Local Transportation Funds.
 METRO is defined in the TDA as an older operator, having started service prior to July 1,

1974. Older operators may qualify for TDA under the 50% expenditure limitation (PUC
Section 99268.1) or the farebox recovery ratio (PUC Section 99268.2).  Pursuant to the TDA,
METRO meets the 50% expenditure limitation required by PUC §99268 and does not use the
alternative revenue ratio to determine eligibility for TDA funds. This clarity will provide
consistency in reporting of performance measures for LTF eligibility.

• This recommendation had been implemented with the submittal of the ensuing TDA
claims; however, it was suggested that subsequent TDA claim guidelines clarify the
proper criteria. Therefore, METRO and RTC have discussed and agreed to use only
the 50 percent expenditure limitation rather than farebox recovery on the TDA claims
form to be consistent with METRO’s audited financial statements for the FY 2024
TDA Claims.

• Per the Audit recommendation, METRO plans to upgrades its website infrastructure to provide better
interface with social media platforms and enhance accessibility. In addition, these upgrades will help
integrate CAD-AVL and mobile ticketing as well as the Cruz On-Demand pilot necessitate
improvements to the website.

• METRO has placed a priority on replacing aging equipment and upgrading its communication
infrastructure. METRO has been in the process of implementing CAD-AVL, APCs, voice
annunciators, and mobile ticketing apps. The deployment of these technologies requires that staff be
kept abreast on how to analyze and integrate the performance data from these new systems. Per the
Audit recommendation, once these projects are completed, METRO will ensure continued data
analytics training for staff as these technologies are implemented.

 For any recommendations that have not been implemented, explain why the recommendation has not been
implemented and describe the work your agency will undertake to implement each performance audit
recommendation.

• All recommendations are being implemented.
 Describe any problems encountered in implementing individual recommendations.

• None

SCMTD Only 
26. TDA Article 4 Eligibility Compliance – Provide documentation for 50% expenditure limitation (PUC Section

99268.1).
50 percent expenditure limitation (use if LTF remains below 50 percent of its operating costs): 
• Overall operating cost for fiscal year: $_________
• TDA-LTF claim: $______
• Source of information (e.g. audited financial statements, budget, etc):

      The calculation below in Table shows the compliance. 

13-65



TDA Claim 

10 | P a g e

Note: Exemptions for calculating operating costs – spell out in your operating budget summary. 
 Service extensions are exempt until two years after the end of the fiscal year during which they were established (PUC Sec.

99268.8). This exemption applies only if the new service was not provided nor was funded by LTF/STA during any of the prior
three fiscal years.

 The additional operating costs to a transit operator of providing comparable complementary paratransit services, pursuant to the
Americans with Disabilities Act, that exceed operator’s prior year costs as adjusted by the CPI are excluded from operating cost.

 As set forth in Section 99268.2, ratio must be at least equal to one-fifth if serving an urbanized area or one-tenth if serving a non-
urbanized area. If a ratio of the sum of fare revenues and local support to operating cost greater than one-fifth if serving an
urbanized area, or one-tenth if serving a non-urbanized area, during the 1978 -79 fiscal year shall, at least, maintain that ratio in
order to be eligible for additional funds pursuant to this section.

 Additional exclusions in calculating urban/rural farebox recovery: operating costs above the consumer price index for fuel,
alternative fuel programs, power, insurance premiums and payments in settlement of claims, and state and federal mandates.

27. Did the SCMTD operating budget increase over 15% from the prior fiscal year?
If the answer is yes, please provide a statement identifying and substantiating the reason or need for the increase in the
transit operating budget in excess of 15% above the preceding year, and identify substantial increases or decreases in
the scope of operations or capital provisions for major new service - (transit claimants only, if applicable).

NO, the FY24 preliminary operating budget shows an increase of 14% over the final FY23 budget. 

28. Operating statistics (compare current fiscal year to date to last three full fiscal years; *TDA required performance
indicators), submit items from the following list.

• Annual passengers
 Rides/passenger trips provided by type (student, senior, adult, pass holders, etc, or however stat’s kept)

and amount of TDA $ used for each type of ride.

• For FY24, TDA funds will contribute an estimated $4.06 per fixed-route passenger trip and $16.26
per ParaCruz passenger trip.

Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District
50 Percent Expenditure Limitation Calculation - FY24
Source: FY24 Preliminary BUDGET presented to Budget Committee  3/10/23

1 Total Operating Cost 65,454,337.00$  
2 Total Depreciation 5,421,450.00$    
3 Total Capital Outlay 29,332,684.00$  
4 Total Lines 1,2,& 3 100,208,471.00$  

5a Less: Federal Ops Grants Rec'd 11,085,015.00$  
5b Less: Federal Capital Grants Rec'd 2,898,295.00$    

6 Less: LTF Capital Intensive -$  
7 Less: STAF Received 8,872,195.00$    
8 Total Lines 5,6 & 7 22,855,505.00$    
9 Total Line 4 Less Line 8 77,352,966.00$    

10 50% of Line 9 38,676,483.00$  

11 -$  
12 Add LTF Capital Intensive -$  
13 Total Permissible LTF Expenditure 38,676,483.00$    
14 Total LTF Applied to Operations 9,254,915.00$      

Conclusion: METRO has met the 50% Expenditure Limitation eligibility requirement for TDA-LTF.

Add Amount of LTF Claimed in Excess of Line 10 for Match to 
Federal Operating Grant

13-66



TDA Claim 

11 | P a g e

• Annual service hours
• Passengers per vehicle service hour*
• Annual service miles
• # of fixed-route miles
• Service Area – square miles
• Service Area Population
• Passengers per vehicle service mile*
• Average passengers per weekday
• Total operating costs in budget
• Operating cost per vehicle service hour*
• Total operating cost per passenger*
• Average Farebox Revenue per passenger (describe what is included)
• # of FTE employees (all employees, not just drivers)
• Vehicle Service hours/Employee*
• # of routes
• Average route length
• Average travel times/rider
• # of bus stops
• # of vehicles in operation
• # of monthly bus passes in circulation
• Max vehicles in service at any time:
• Hours of service:
• Approximate # of unduplicated passengers
• Cost per unit of service plus text about long range plans to make/keep this low
• Funds and percentage spent on administration/overhead/grantee allocation/etc
• Actual financials compared with budget
• Actual number of rides provided compared with goal and text about whether goal was met and why/why not

Definitions: 
a) "Operating cost" means all costs in the operating expense object classes exclusive of the costs in the depreciation and

amortization expense object class of the uniform system of accounts and records adopted by the Controller pursuant to Section
99243. “Operating cost” excludes all subsidies for commuter rail services operated on railroad lines under the jurisdiction of the
Federal Railroad Administration, all direct costs for providing charter services, all vehicles lease costs, and principal and
interest payments on capital projects funded with certificates of participation.

b) "Operating cost per passenger,” means the operating cost divided by the total passengers.
c) "Operating cost per vehicle service hour,” means the operating cost divided by the vehicle service hours.
d) "Passengers per vehicle service hour" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service hours.
e) "Passengers per vehicle service mile" means the total passengers divided by the vehicle service miles.
f) "Total passengers" means the number of boarding passengers, whether revenue producing or not, carried by the public

transportation system.
g) "Transit vehicle" means a vehicle, including, but not limited to, one operated on rails or tracks, which is used for public

transportation services funded, in whole or in part, under this chapter.
h) "Vehicle service hours" means the total number of hours that each transit vehicle is in revenue service, including layover time.
i) "Vehicle service miles" means the total number of miles that each transit vehicle is in revenue service.
j) "Vehicle service hours per employee" means the vehicle service hours divided by the number of employees employed in

connection with the public transportation system, based on the assumption that 2,000 person-hours of work in one year constitute
one employee.  The count of employees shall also include those individuals employed by the operator, which provide services to
the agency of the operator responsible for the operation of the public transportation system even though not employed in that
agency.

13-67



TDA Claim 

12 | P a g e

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims): 

All Claims 
 A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its

accompanying documentation.
 Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims 
 Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center) 
 A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year
 Description of capital projects, including time frame over which project will be funded and implemented
 Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities – can be within project description
 TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims 
 A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.
 Other Certifications
 Written report of current and upcoming activities. (per RTC Rules and Regulations)

Local Agency Certification: 

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and 
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html).  I certify that the information provided 
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be 
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.   

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as 
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or 
disbursement upon project completion. 

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the 
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664 
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the 
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This       requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work or 
HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC. 

Signature _____________________________ Title:  CEO/General Manager Date: 3/31/2023 

\\Rtcserv2\shared\GRANTS\TDA\TDAClaimFormMaster.doc 

13-68

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html


TDA Claim 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

TDA Standard Assurances Checklist (for Transit and Specialized Transportation Services) 

Claimant: Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District Fiscal Year:   ___24_______ 
 
 

Assurance Initial 
1.  STATE CONTROLLER REPORT 

Claimant certifies that it has submitted a State Controller’s report in conformance with the 
uniform system of accounts and reports, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller, pursuant to 
PUC 99243, for the prior year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this report will be 
completed for the current fiscal year (project year minus one). This requirement does not apply 
to new transit operators. 

MT 

2.  USE OF FEDERAL FUNDS (Claimants Receiving Federal Funds) 
Claimant filing a claim for TDA funds for capital intensive projects pursuant to PUC 
99268.7 certifies that it has made every effort to obtain federal funding for any project which 
is funded pursuant to PUC 99268.7. 

MT 

3. REVENUE RATIOS FOR COMMUNITY TRANSIT AND CONTRACTED TRANSIT 
SERVICES (CTSA & Volunteer Center Only) 

Claimant filing a claim pursuant to PUC 99275.5c and 99405c further certifies that, for the project 
year, it reasonably anticipates achieving the performance criteria, local match requirements, or 
fare recovery ratios adopted by the transportation planning agency or county transportation 
commission. 

NA 

4. REVENUE RATIOS FOR OPERATORS SERVING URBANIZED AND NONURBANIZED 
AREAS (METRO Only) 

Claimant filing a claim pursuant to PUC 99270.1 certifies that it will maintain for the project 
year at least the alternative farebox recovery ratio as determined by the adopted (RTPA name) 
“fare ratio optional rule.” 

MT 

5. EXTENSION OF SERVICES (METRO Only) 
Claimant that received an allocation of LTF funds for an extension of service pursuant to PUC 
99268.8 certifies that it will file a report of these services pursuant to CCR 6633.8b within 90 days 
after the close of the fiscal year in which that allocation was granted. 

MT 

6. RETIREMENT SYSTEM (METRO Only) 
Claimant filing claim pursuant to PUC Section 99260 certifies that (check one): 

MT 

a) The current cost of its retirement system is fully funded with respect to the officers and 
employees of its public transportation system (PUC Section 99271a); or 

 

b) The operator is implementing a plan approved by the transportation planning agency which 
will fully fund the retirement system for such officers and employees within 40 years 
(PUC Section 99271a); or 

 

c) The operator has a private pension plan which sets aside and invests on a current basis 
funds sufficient to provide for the payment of future pension benefits and which is fully 
compliant with the requirements stated in PUC Sections 99272 and 99273. 

 

7. REDUCED FARES FOR ELDERLY AND HANDICAPPED (METRO Only) 
A claimant filing a claim pursuant to PUC 99260 which offers reduced fares to senior citizens 
and disabled persons certifies that it is in compliance with PUC 99155. 

MT 

8. DRIVERS PULL NOTICE PARTICIPATION (METRO & CTSA Only) 
A claimant filing a claim for public transit assistance must include a certification completed within 
the prior 13 months by the California Highway Patrol indicating the operator has participated in a 
"pull notice system" to examine driver's records. 

MT 

13-69



TDA Claim 

14 | P a g e

9. STAFFING ON VEHICLES (METRO & CTSA Only)
Claimant certifies that it is in compliance with PUC Section 99264 that it does not routinely staff, 
with two or more persons, a vehicle for public transportation purposes designed to be operated by 
one person. 

MT 

10. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES (STAFF ONLY) (STA Claimants Only)
Claimant certifies that it is not precluded, by any contract, from employing part-time drivers or 
contracting with common carriers of persons operating under a franchise or license. 

MT 

11. INCREASE IN OPERATOR'S COST PER HOUR (STA Claimants Only)
Claimant filing a claim for operating assistance from STA funds must include a supplemental 
schedule which identifies either: A - 1) the most recent audited cost per revenue vehicle hour (year 
1) and the cost per revenue hour for the year prior to the most recent audit year (year 2) and 2) the
Consumer Price Index for the year prior to the most recent audit year (year 2); or B - 1) the most
recent audited cost per revenue vehicle hour (year 1) and the cost per revenue hour for the three
years prior to the most recent audit year and 2) the Consumer Price Index for the three years prior
to the most recent audit year. The supplemental schedule information will be used to determine
eligibility pursuant to PUC 99314.6.

MT 

Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
(Legal Name of Applicant/Claimant) 

(Authorizing Signature of CEO/CFO) 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 
(Name and Title) 

13-70



FY19-FY22 Transit Fact Sheet

12/8/2022

Operating Expenses FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Local Fixed-Route Expenses: MB DO 35,922,580$            37,627,114$            33,832,063$            41,288,210$            

Highway 17: CB DO 4,537,039$  4,710,171$  6,216,842$  3,503,299$  

Paratransit: DR DO 5,150,526$  5,375,211$  5,013,165$  5,316,792$  

NTD Reconciling Items - Funds Applied 3,742,814$  3,979,793$  4,180,328$  4,487,708$  

Capital Leases (243,912)$  (251,432)$  (259,182)$  (267,172)$  

TOTAL Operating Expenses* 49,109,047$         51,440,857$         48,983,216$         54,328,837$         

Operating Revenue FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Fixed-Route Fares 2,546,823$  1,853,675$  856,879$  1,488,924$  

Fares-Contracts 5,330,373$  4,059,315$  3,190,854$  5,303,427$  
Highway 17 Fares 1,549,496$  1,068,136$  204,022$  701,132$  

Highway 17 Payments 526,430$  534,911$  532,339$  543,718$  
ParaCruz Fares 285,841$  217,664$  114,807$  210,547$  

Sales Tax 25,965,464$            24,964,186$            28,707,450$            32,229,965$            
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 6,969,093$  25,752,598$            16,404,147$            20,653,492$            

Transit Development Act (TDA) 7,288,209$  7,930,060$  7,096,904$  8,592,943$  
State Transit Assistance (STA) 4,253,929$  4,346,687$  3,425,215$  4,437,224$  

Misc. Revenue 987,624$  1,868,760$  977,018$  1,334,243$  
Transfers From/(To) Reserves (6,594,233)$            (21,155,136)$           (12,526,419)$           (21,166,778)$           

TOTAL Operating Revenue 49,109,047$         51,440,857$         48,983,216$         54,328,837$         
Santa Cruz METRO Operating Statistics

System Information FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Directional Route Miles 381.96 387.12 387.26 386.2

Number of Bus Stops 824 825 813 812
Number of Routes 24 24 24 24
Total Active Fleet 101 94 94 93

Maximum Bus In-Svc 74 75 54 67
Total METRO Employees 303 312 291 279

Revenue Hour Per Employee 684 571 516 643
Revenue Mile Per Employee 9,467 7,910 7,322 9,266

Local Fixed-Route Performance FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Ridership 4,760,464 3,344,208 861,059 2,659,929

Revenue Hours 184,077 160,107 138,134 166,287

Revenue Miles 2,262,484 1,966,903 1,801,241 2,210,921

Passengers Per Hour 25.86 20.89 6.23 16.00
Passengers Per Mile 2.10 1.70 0.48 1.20

Passengers Per Capita 17.36 12.20 3.14 9.82
Revenue Hours Per Capita 0.67 0.58 0.50 0.61 
Revenue Miles Per Capita 8.25 7.17 6.57 8.16 
Total Cost Per Passenger $7.55 $11.25 $39.29 $15.52

Revenue Per Passenger $1.65 $1.77 $4.70 $2.55
Farebox Recovery 21.93% 15.71% 11.96% 16.45%

Highway 17 Performance FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Ridership 285,508 200,249 46,081 115,354

Revenue Hours 23,271 18,029 12,086 13,222

Revenue Miles 606,029 500,933 329,477 374,314

Passengers Per Hour 12.27 11.11 3.81 8.72
Passengers Per Mile 0.47 0.40 0.14 0.31

Passengers Per Capita 1.04 0.73 0.17 0.42
Revenue Hours Per Capita 0.08 0.07 0.04 0.05 
Revenue Miles Per Capita 2.21 1.83 1.20 1.37 
Total Cost Per Passenger $15.89 $23.52 $134.91 $30.37

Revenue Per Passenger $7.27 $8.01 $15.98 $10.79
Farebox Recovery 45.8% 34.0% 11.8% 35.5%

Fixed-Route Total Performance FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Ridership 5,045,972 3,544,457 907,140 2,775,283

Revenue Hours 207,348 178,136 150,220 179,509
Revenue Miles 2,868,513 2,467,836 2,130,718 2,585,235

Passengers Per Hour 24.34 19.90 6.04 15.46
Passengers Per Mile 1.76 1.44 0.43 1.07

Passengers Per Capita 19.45 13.66 3.48 10.54

Revenue Hours Per Capita 0.84 0.72 0.59 0.70 
Revenue Miles Per Capita 10.46 9.00 7.77 9.43
Total Cost Per Passenger  $ 8.02  $ 11.94  $ 44.15  $ 16.14 

Revenue Per Passenger  $ 1.97  $ 2.12  $ 5.27  $ 2.90 
Farebox Recovery 24.6% 17.8% 11.9% 17.9%

Subsidy Per Passenger  $ 6.05  $ 9.82  $ 38.87  $ 13.24 
Cost Per Revenue Hour  $ 195.13  $ 237.67  $ 266.60  $ 249.52 
Cost Per Revenue Mile  $ 14.10  $ 17.16  $ 18.80  $ 17.33 

ParaCruz Performance FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
Ridership 73,497 61,631 38,974 62,608

Revenue Hours 44,804 35,181 23,092 32,306

Revenue Miles 464,816 356,875 234,764 367,221

Passengers Per Hour 1.64 1.75 1.69 1.94

Passengers Per Mile 0.16 0.17 0.17 0.17
Passengers Per Capita 0.27 0.22 0.14 0.23

Revenue Hours Per Capita 0.16 0.13 0.08 0.12 
Revenue Miles Per Capita 1.70 1.30 0.86 1.34
Total Cost Per Passenger  $ 70.08  $ 87.22  $ 128.63  $ 84.92 

Revenue Per Passenger  $ 3.89  $ 3.53  $ 2.95  $ 3.36 
Farebox Recovery 5.55% 4.05% 2.29% 3.96%

Subsidy Per Passenger  $ 66.19  $
         

          83.68  $ 125.68  $ 81.56 
Cost Per Revenue Hour  $ 114.96  $

         
         152.79  $ 217.10  $ 164.58 

Cost Per Revenue Mile  $ 11.08  $ 15.06  $ 21.35  $ 14.48 

Santa Cruz METRO Operating Financials: Updated 11-18-2022 (Including NTD 2022 - Revision 1) 

13-71



FY19-FY22 Transit Fact Sheet

12/8/2022

* Expenses do not include year-end Depreciation, W/C Incurred & IBNR, GASB 75 OPEB adjustments, or GASB 68 Pension adjustments

13-72



3/
3/

20
23

FY
24

- F
Y2

5_
O

pE
X_

Bu
dg

et
_V

9.
1

Su
m

m
ar

y 
R

ep
or

t

Ju
ne

-2
2

M
ar

ch
-2

3
M

ar
ch

-2
3

B
U

D
G

ET
B

U
D

G
ET

PL
AN

R
EV

EN
U

E:
 

FY
23

FY
24

$ 
VA

R
%

 V
AR

 
FY

25
$ 

VA
R

%
 V

AR
 

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
R

ev
en

ue
Pa

ss
en

ge
r F

ar
es

2,
43

7,
38

8
$ 

   
  

3,
00

4,
27

6
$ 

   
  

56
6,

88
8

$ 
   

   
  

23
.3

%
3,

10
7,

85
3

$ 
   

  
10

3,
57

7
$ 

   
   

  
3.

4%
Sp

ec
ia

l T
ra

ns
it 

Fa
re

s
5,

95
2,

85
1

   
   

  
6,

09
4,

77
2

   
   

  
14

1,
92

1
   

   
   

  
2.

4%
6,

22
0,

50
1

   
   

  
12

5,
72

9
   

   
   

  
2.

1%
To

ta
l O

pe
ra

tin
g 

R
ev

en
ue

8,
39

0,
23

9
$ 

   
  

9,
09

9,
04

8
$ 

   
  

70
8,

80
9

$ 
   

   
  

8.
4%

9,
32

8,
35

4
$ 

   
  

22
9,

30
6

$ 
   

   
  

2.
5%

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ex

pe
ns

e
La

bo
r -

 R
eg

ul
ar

20
,4

14
,5

37
$ 

   
20

,1
75

,5
91

$ 
   

(2
38

,9
46

)
$ 

   
   

 
(1

.2
%

)
20

,4
52

,1
51

$ 
   

27
6,

56
0

$ 
   

   
  

1.
4%

La
bo

r -
 O

T
1,

32
4,

59
7

   
   

  
1,

17
0,

92
2

   
   

  
(1

53
,6

75
)

   
   

   
 

(1
1.

6%
)

1,
19

6,
22

6
   

   
  

25
,3

04
   

   
   

   
 

2.
2%

Fr
in

ge
21

,1
71

,8
61

   
   

21
,7

70
,0

77
   

   
59

8,
21

6
   

   
   

  
2.

8%
22

,8
64

,9
65

   
   

1,
09

4,
88

8
   

   
  

5.
0%

N
on

-P
er

so
nn

el
12

,1
08

,4
51

   
   

18
,1

65
,0

82
   

   
6,

05
6,

63
1

   
   

  
50

.0
%

17
,5

47
,7

13
   

   
(6

17
,3

69
)

   
   

   
 

(3
.4

%
)

To
ta

l O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ex

pe
ns

e
55

,0
19

,4
46

$ 
   

61
,2

81
,6

72
$ 

   
6,

26
2,

22
6

$ 
   

  
11

.4
%

62
,0

61
,0

55
$ 

   
77

9,
38

3
$ 

   
   

  
1.

3%
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Su
rp

lu
s/

(D
ef

ic
it)

(4
6,

62
9,

20
7)

$ 
  

(5
2,

18
2,

62
4)

$ 
  

(5
,5

53
,4

17
)

$ 
   

 
11

.9
%

(5
2,

73
2,

70
1)

$ 
  

(5
50

,0
77

)
$ 

   
   

 
1.

1%
Fa

re
bo

x 
R

ec
ov

er
y

15
.2

%
14

.8
%

15
.0

%

N
on

-O
pe

ra
tin

g 
R

ev
en

ue
/(E

xp
en

se
)

Sa
le

s 
Ta

x/
in

cl
ud

in
g 

M
ea

su
re

 D
30

,7
74

,8
84

$ 
   

31
,8

08
,1

85
$ 

   
1,

03
3,

30
1

$ 
   

  
3.

4%
32

,1
26

,2
67

$ 
   

31
8,

08
2

$ 
   

   
  

1.
0%

Fe
de

ra
l/S

ta
te

 G
ra

nt
s

14
,4

95
,6

88
   

   
20

,2
62

,9
87

   
   

5,
76

7,
29

9
   

   
  

39
.8

%
26

,1
79

,4
02

   
   

5,
91

6,
41

5
   

   
  

29
.2

%
C

O
VI

D
 R

el
ie

f G
ra

nt
s

15
,4

76
,5

95
   

   
9,

77
7,

42
0

   
   

  
(5

,6
99

,1
75

)
   

   
 

(3
6.

8%
)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(9
,7

77
,4

20
)

   
   

 
(1

00
.0

%
)

C
O

VI
D

 R
el

at
ed

 C
os

ts
(2

97
,7

12
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

29
7,

71
2

   
   

   
  

(1
00

.0
%

)
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
Pe

ns
io

n 
U

AL
/B

on
d 

Pa
ym

en
t*

(5
,6

42
,7

81
)

   
   

 
(4

,1
72

,6
65

)
   

   
 

1,
47

0,
11

6
   

   
  

(2
6.

1%
)

(4
,1

77
,2

03
)

   
   

 
(4

,5
38

)
   

   
   

   
  

0.
1%

Al
l O

th
er

 R
ev

en
ue

67
5,

83
3

   
   

   
  

1,
34

3,
12

9
   

   
  

66
7,

29
6

   
   

   
  

98
.7

%
1,

32
6,

59
8

   
   

  
(1

6,
53

1)
   

   
   

   
(1

.2
%

)
To

ta
l N

on
-O

pe
ra

tin
g 

R
ev

en
ue

/(E
xp

en
se

)
55

,4
82

,5
07

$ 
   

59
,0

19
,0

56
$ 

   
3,

53
6,

54
9

$ 
   

  
6.

4%
55

,4
55

,0
64

$ 
   

(3
,5

63
,9

92
)

$ 
   

 
(6

.0
%

)
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Su
rp

lu
s/

(D
ef

ic
it)

 b
ef

or
e 

Tr
an

sf
er

s
8,

85
3,

30
0

$ 
   

  
6,

83
6,

43
2

$ 
   

  
(2

,0
16

,8
68

)
$ 

   
 

(2
2.

8%
)

2,
72

2,
36

3
$ 

   
  

(4
,1

14
,0

69
)

$ 
   

 
(6

0.
2%

)

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
an

d 
O

th
er

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
to

 C
ap

ita
l/O

pe
ra

tin
g 

& 
C

ap
ita

l R
es

er
ve

 F
un

d 
(8

,8
53

,3
00

)
$ 

   
 

(9
,9

35
,5

77
)

$ 
   

 
(1

,0
82

,2
77

)
$ 

   
 

12
.2

%
(8

,9
81

,2
69

)
$ 

   
 

95
4,

30
8

$ 
   

   
  

(9
.6

%
)

(T
o)

/F
ro

m
 C

O
VI

D
 R

ec
ov

er
y 

Fu
nd

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
09

9,
14

5
   

   
  

3,
09

9,
14

5
   

   
  

10
0.

0%
6,

25
8,

90
6

   
   

  
3,

15
9,

76
1

   
   

  
10

2.
0%

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Su

rp
lu

s/
(D

ef
ic

it)
 a

fte
r T

ra
ns

fe
rs

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
As

 o
f  

Ju
ly

 1
, 2

02
3

PR
EL

IM
IN

A
R

Y

In
cr

ea
se

/(D
ec

re
as

e)
In

cr
ea

se
/(D

ec
re

as
e)

Attachment A

11.5A.113-73



3/
14

/2
02

3
FY

24
- F

Y2
5_

O
pE

X_
Bu

dg
et

_V
9.

1
R

ev
en

ue

Ju
ne

-2
2

M
ar

ch
-2

3
M

ar
ch

-2
3

B
U

D
G

ET
B

U
D

G
ET

PL
AN

R
EV

EN
U

E 
SO

U
R

C
E

FY
23

FY
24

$ 
VA

R
%

 V
AR

 
FY

25
$ 

VA
R

%
 V

AR
 

Pa
ss

en
ge

r F
ar

es
Fi

xe
d 

R
ou

te
 F

ar
es

1,
62

1,
49

9
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
1,

79
7,

04
6

$ 
   

   
 

17
5,

54
7

$ 
   

   
   

 
10

.8
%

1,
85

0,
95

7
$ 

   
   

   
 

53
,9

11
$ 

   
   

   
 

3.
0%

Pa
ra

tra
ns

it 
Fa

re
s

19
4,

18
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
20

9,
71

9
   

   
   

   
 

15
,5

35
   

   
   

   
   

8.
0%

22
0,

20
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
,4

86
   

   
   

   
 

5.
0%

H
ig

hw
ay

 1
7 

Fa
re

s
59

3,
99

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
3,

51
1

   
   

   
   

 
37

9,
51

2
   

   
   

   
 

63
.9

%
1,

01
2,

45
1

   
   

   
   

 
38

,9
40

   
   

   
   

 
4.

0%
Pa

rk
 &

 R
id

e 
R

ev
en

ue
27

,7
06

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
24

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
(3

,7
06

)
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

3.
4%

)
24

,2
40

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

1.
0%

Sp
ec

ia
l T

ra
ns

it 
Fa

re
s

U
C

SC
4,

78
0,

07
2

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
87

5,
67

4
   

   
   

 
95

,6
02

   
   

   
   

   
2.

0%
4,

97
3,

18
7

   
   

   
   

 
97

,5
13

   
   

   
   

 
2.

0%
C

ab
ril

lo
58

3,
38

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

59
5,

05
6

   
   

   
   

 
11

,6
68

   
   

   
   

   
2.

0%
60

6,
95

7
   

   
   

   
   

 
11

,9
01

   
   

   
   

 
2.

0%
C

ity
 o

f S
C

34
,0

70
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

58
,9

80
   

   
   

   
   

24
,9

10
   

   
   

   
   

73
.1

%
64

,8
78

   
   

   
   

   
   

5,
89

8
   

   
   

   
   

10
.0

%
Sh

af
fe

r
4,

54
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
27

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

,2
74

)
   

   
   

   
   

 
(2

8.
0%

)
2,

45
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(8

19
)

   
   

   
   

   
  

(2
5.

0%
)

H
ig

hw
ay

 1
7 

Pa
ym

en
ts

VT
A

37
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
38

2,
50

0
   

   
   

   
 

7,
50

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
2.

0%
39

0,
15

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
7,

65
0

   
   

   
   

   
2.

0%
Sa

n 
Jo

se
 S

ta
te

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

0.
0%

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
2.

0%
Am

tra
k

17
5,

77
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
17

9,
28

7
   

   
   

   
 

3,
51

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
2.

0%
18

2,
87

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

58
6

   
   

   
   

   
2.

0%
Sa

le
s 

Ta
x/

in
cl

ud
in

g 
M

ea
su

re
 D

19
79

 G
ro

ss
 S

al
es

 T
ax

 (1
/2

 c
en

t)
26

,6
13

,6
30

   
   

   
   

  
27

,5
39

,5
54

   
   

  
92

5,
92

4
   

   
   

   
 

3.
5%

27
,8

14
,9

50
   

   
   

  
27

5,
39

6
   

   
   

  
1.

0%
20

16
 N

et
 S

al
es

 T
ax

 (M
ea

su
re

 D
)

4,
16

1,
25

4
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

26
8,

63
1

   
   

   
 

10
7,

37
7

   
   

   
   

 
2.

6%
4,

31
1,

31
7

   
   

   
   

 
42

,6
86

   
   

   
   

 
1.

0%
Fe

de
ra

l/S
ta

te
 G

ra
nt

s
Tr

an
sp

 D
ev

 A
ct

 (T
D

A 
- L

TF
) F

un
ds

9,
21

8,
04

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
9,

25
4,

91
5

   
   

   
 

36
,8

72
   

   
   

   
   

0.
4%

9,
53

2,
56

2
   

   
   

   
 

27
7,

64
7

   
   

   
  

3.
0%

FT
A 

Se
c 

53
07

 - 
O

p 
As

si
st

an
ce

*
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

03
8,

54
4

   
   

   
 

1,
03

8,
54

4
   

   
   

 
10

0.
0%

6,
03

0,
23

2
   

   
   

   
 

4,
99

1,
68

8
   

   
  

48
0.

6%
FT

A 
Se

c 
53

11
 - 

R
ur

al
 O

p 
As

st
*

26
3,

28
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
26

9,
05

1
   

   
   

   
 

5,
76

6
   

   
   

   
   

  
2.

2%
27

4,
94

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

89
2

   
   

   
   

   
2.

2%
FT

A 
Se

c 
53

07
 - 

AR
PA

15
,4

76
,5

95
   

   
   

   
  

9,
77

7,
42

0
   

   
   

 
(5

,6
99

,1
75

)
   

   
   

(3
6.

8%
)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(9

,7
77

,4
20

)
   

   
 

(1
00

.0
%

)
M

ed
ic

ar
e 

Su
bs

id
y

55
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
40

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
50

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(2
7.

3%
)

40
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
0%

AM
BA

G
 (F

TA
 5

30
4)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

0.
0%

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
LC

TO
P 

G
ra

nt
53

7,
78

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

53
6,

78
6

   
   

   
   

 
(9

99
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(0

.2
%

)
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(5
36

,7
86

)
   

   
   

 
(1

00
.0

%
)

TD
A 

- S
TA

 - 
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

(In
cl

ud
es

 S
B1

)
4,

47
6,

02
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
87

2,
19

5
   

   
   

 
4,

39
6,

17
0

   
   

   
 

98
.2

%
4,

58
2,

43
8

   
   

   
   

 
(4

,2
89

,7
57

)
   

   
 

(4
8.

4%
)

ST
IC

 - 
O

p 
As

si
st

an
ce

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
0.

0%
5,

61
3,

27
9

   
   

   
   

 
5,

61
3,

27
9

   
   

  
10

0.
0%

Fu
el

 T
ax

 C
re

di
t 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

29
1,

09
6

   
   

   
   

 
29

1,
09

6
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

0%
14

5,
54

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

45
,5

48
)

   
   

   
 

(5
0.

0%
)

In
cr

ea
se

/(D
ec

re
as

e)
In

cr
ea

se
/(D

ec
re

as
e)

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T

FY
24

 &
 F

Y2
5 

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 B
U

D
G

ET

R
EV

EN
U

E 
SO

U
R

C
ES

Attachment A

11.5A.213-74



3/
14

/2
02

3
FY

24
- F

Y2
5_

O
pE

X_
Bu

dg
et

_V
9.

1
R

ev
en

ue

Ju
ne

-2
2

M
ar

ch
-2

3
M

ar
ch

-2
3

B
U

D
G

ET
B

U
D

G
ET

PL
AN

R
EV

EN
U

E 
SO

U
R

C
E

FY
23

FY
24

$ 
VA

R
%

 V
AR

 
FY

25
$ 

VA
R

%
 V

AR
 

In
cr

ea
se

/(D
ec

re
as

e)
In

cr
ea

se
/(D

ec
re

as
e)

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T

FY
24

 &
 F

Y2
5 

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 B
U

D
G

ET

R
EV

EN
U

E 
SO

U
R

C
ES

Al
l O

th
er

 R
ev

en
ue

C
om

m
is

si
on

s
1,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

50
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(5

00
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(5

0.
0%

)
50

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
Ad

ve
rti

si
ng

 In
co

m
e 

19
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
17

2,
32

0
   

   
   

   
 

(2
2,

68
0)

   
   

   
   

  
(1

1.
6%

)
17

2,
32

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
R

en
t I

nc
om

e 
- S

C
 P

ac
ifi

c 
St

at
io

n
60

,1
87

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
41

,7
98

   
   

   
   

   
(1

8,
38

9)
   

   
   

   
  

(3
0.

6%
)

43
,0

52
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

25
4

   
   

   
   

   
3.

0%
R

en
t I

nc
om

e 
- S

co
tts

 V
al

le
y

29
,8

62
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

32
,9

59
   

   
   

   
   

3,
09

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

.4
%

29
,7

61
   

   
   

   
   

   
(3

,1
98

)
   

   
   

   
  

(9
.7

%
)

R
en

t I
nc

om
e 

- W
at

so
nv

ille
 T

C
42

,5
36

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
30

,5
60

   
   

   
   

   
(1

1,
97

6)
   

   
   

   
  

(2
8.

2%
)

31
,4

77
   

   
   

   
   

   
91

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
3.

0%
In

te
re

st
 In

co
m

e
25

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

75
5,

56
8

   
   

   
   

 
50

5,
56

8
   

   
   

   
 

20
2.

2%
73

2,
90

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
(2

2,
66

7)
   

   
   

   
(3

.0
%

)
O

th
er

 N
on

-T
ra

ns
p 

R
ev

en
ue

 - 
LC

FS
 C

re
di

ts
15

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
15

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
10

0.
0%

15
,1

50
   

   
   

   
   

   
15

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
1.

0%
O

th
er

 N
on

-T
ra

ns
p 

R
ev

en
ue

 - 
C

N
G

 S
al

es
62

,9
53

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
20

3,
42

4
   

   
   

   
 

14
0,

47
1

   
   

   
   

 
22

3.
1%

20
9,

52
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
10

3
   

   
   

   
   

3.
0%

O
th

er
 N

on
-T

ra
ns

p 
R

ev
en

ue
 - 

Al
l O

th
er

34
,2

95
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

91
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

56
,7

05
   

   
   

   
   

16
5.

3%
91

,9
10

   
   

   
   

   
   

91
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

1.
0%

TO
TA

L 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 R

EV
EN

U
E

69
,8

13
,2

39
$ 

   
   

 
72

,2
90

,7
69

$ 
  

2,
47

7,
53

0
$ 

   
 

3.
5%

68
,9

60
,6

21
$ 

   
  

(3
,3

30
,1

48
)

$ 
 

-4
.6

%

TR
AN

SF
ER

S 
TO

 C
AP

IT
AL

/O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 &
 C

AP
IT

AL
 R

ES
ER

VE
 F

U
N

D
(8

,8
53

,3
00

)
$ 

   
   

  
(9

,9
35

,5
77

)
$ 

   
(1

,0
82

,2
77

)
$ 

   
12

.2
%

(8
,9

81
,2

69
)

$ 
   

   
95

4,
30

8
$ 

   
  

(9
.6

%
)

TR
AN

SF
ER

S 
(T

O
) /

 F
R

O
M

 C
O

VI
D

-1
9 

R
EC

O
VE

R
Y 

FU
N

D
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
09

9,
14

5
$ 

   
 

3,
09

9,
14

5
$ 

   
 

10
0.

0%
6,

25
8,

90
6

$ 
   

   
 

3,
15

9,
76

1
$ 

  
10

2.
0%

TO
TA

L 
R

EV
EN

U
E 

SO
U

R
C

ES
60

,9
59

,9
39

$ 
   

   
 

65
,4

54
,3

37
$ 

  
4,

49
4,

39
8

$ 
   

 
7.

4%
66

,2
38

,2
58

$ 
   

  
78

3,
92

1
$ 

   
  

1.
2%

* 
FT

A
 fu

nd
in

g 
is

 u
se

d 
so

le
ly

 to
 fu

nd
 la

bo
r e

xp
en

se

TO
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

SE
S 

60
,9

59
,9

39
   

   
   

   
  

65
,4

54
,3

37
   

   
  

4,
49

4,
39

8
   

   
   

 
7.

4%
66

,2
38

,2
58

   
   

   
  

78
3,

92
1

   
   

   
  

1.
2%

TR
AN

SF
ER

S 
TO

 C
AP

IT
AL

 (B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
)

2,
35

3,
30

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

34
9,

57
9

   
   

   
 

(3
,7

21
)

   
   

   
   

   
 

(0
.2

%
)

2,
33

0,
38

1
   

   
   

   
 

(1
9,

19
8)

   
   

   
   

(0
.8

%
)

TR
AN

SF
ER

S 
TO

 O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 &
 C

AP
IT

AL
 R

ES
ER

VE
 F

U
N

D
S 

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 &
 C

AP
IT

AL
 R

ES
ER

VE
 F

U
N

D
S 

4,
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

29
4,

90
2

   
   

   
 

79
4,

90
2

   
   

   
   

 
17

.7
%

4,
50

5,
34

0
   

   
   

   
 

(7
89

,5
62

)
   

   
   

 
(1

4.
9%

)

U
AL

 &
 O

PE
B

2,
00

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

00
0,

00
0

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

0.
0%

2,
00

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
0%

FU
EL

 T
AX

 C
R

ED
IT

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
29

1,
09

6
   

   
   

   
 

29
1,

09
6

   
   

   
   

 
14

5,
54

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

45
,5

48
)

   
   

   
 

SU
R

PL
U

S/
(D

EF
IC

IT
)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(3
,0

99
,1

45
)

   
   

   
(3

,0
99

,1
45

)
   

   
   

(6
,2

58
,9

06
)

   
   

   
   

(3
,1

59
,7

61
)

   
   

 
R

ev
en

ue
 - 

(E
xp

en
se

s 
+ 

Tr
an

sf
er

 to
 C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t +

 F
ue

l T
ax

 C
re

di
t)

Attachment A

11.5A.313-75



3/
3/

20
23

FY
24

- F
Y2

5_
O

pE
X_

Bu
dg

et
_V

9.
1

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
& 

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ba

l 

Ju
ne

-2
2

M
ar

ch
-2

3
M

ar
ch

-2
3

B
U

D
G

ET
B

U
D

G
ET

PL
AN

TR
AN

SF
ER

S
FY

23
FY

24
$ 

VA
R

%
 V

AR
 

FY
25

$ 
VA

R
%

 V
AR

 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
to

 C
ap

ita
l B

ud
ge

t 
20

16
 N

et
 S

al
es

 T
ax

 M
ea

su
re

 D
* 

(2
,3

53
,3

00
)

$ 
   

 
(2

,3
49

,5
79

)
$ 

   
 

3,
72

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

(0
.2

%
)

(2
,3

30
,3

81
)

$ 
   

 
19

,1
98

$ 
   

   
   

 
(0

.8
%

)
TD

A 
- S

TA
 - 

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
, I

nc
lu

de
s 

SB
1

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
0%

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
0%

To
ta

l
(2

,3
53

,3
00

)
$ 

   
 

(2
,3

49
,5

79
)

$ 
   

 
3,

72
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
(0

.2
%

)
(2

,3
30

,3
81

)
$ 

   
 

19
,1

98
$ 

   
   

   
 

(0
.8

%
)

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
to

/(f
ro

m
) O

pe
ra

tin
g 

&
 C

ap
ita

l R
es

er
ve

 F
un

d 
Fu

el
 T

ax
 C

re
di

t**
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
(2

91
,0

96
)

$ 
   

   
 

(2
91

,0
96

)
$ 

   
   

 
10

0.
0%

(1
45

,5
48

)
$ 

   
   

 
14

5,
54

8
$ 

   
   

  
(5

0.
0%

)
C

al
PE

R
S 

U
AL

 &
 O

PE
B

(2
,0

00
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(2

,0
00

,0
00

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
0%

(2
,0

00
,0

00
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
R

es
er

ve
s 

R
ep

le
ni

sh
m

en
t

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
,2

94
,9

02
)

   
   

 
(1

,2
94

,9
02

)
   

   
 

10
0.

0%
(5

05
,3

40
)

   
   

   
 

78
9,

56
2

   
   

   
  

(6
1.

0%
)

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
& 

C
ap

ita
l R

es
er

ve
 F

un
d

(4
,5

00
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(4

,0
00

,0
00

)
   

   
 

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

(1
1.

1%
)

(4
,0

00
,0

00
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
To

ta
l 

(6
,5

00
,0

00
)

$ 
   

 
(7

,5
85

,9
98

)
$ 

   
 

(1
,0

85
,9

98
)

$ 
   

 
16

.7
%

(6
,6

50
,8

88
)

$ 
   

 
93

5,
11

0
$ 

   
   

  
(1

2.
3%

)

TO
TA

L 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
/C

AP
IT

AL
 T

R
AN

SF
ER

S 
(8

,8
53

,3
00

)
$ 

   
 

(9
,9

35
,5

77
)

$ 
   

 
(1

,0
82

,2
77

)
$ 

   
 

12
.2

%
(8

,9
81

,2
69

)
$ 

   
 

95
4,

30
8

$ 
   

   
  

(9
.6

%
)

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 &

 F
Y2

5 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
ET

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
&

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
B

al
an

ce
In

cr
ea

se
/(D

ec
re

as
e)

In
cr

ea
se

/(D
ec

re
as

e)

Attachment A

11.5A.413-76



3/
3/

20
23

FY
24

- F
Y2

5_
O

pE
X_

Bu
dg

et
_V

9.
1

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
& 

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ba

l 

Ju
ne

-2
2

M
ar

ch
-2

3
M

ar
ch

-2
3

B
U

D
G

ET
B

U
D

G
ET

PL
AN

TR
AN

SF
ER

S
FY

23
FY

24
$ 

VA
R

%
 V

AR
 

FY
25

$ 
VA

R
%

 V
AR

 

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 &

 F
Y2

5 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
ET

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
&

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
B

al
an

ce
In

cr
ea

se
/(D

ec
re

as
e)

In
cr

ea
se

/(D
ec

re
as

e)

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
(T

o)
 / 

Fr
om

 C
ov

id
-1

9 
R

ec
ov

er
y 

Fu
nd

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
(T

o)
 / 

Fr
om

 C
ov

id
-1

9 
R

ec
ov

er
y 

Fu
nd

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
09

9,
14

5
$ 

   
  

3,
09

9,
14

5
$ 

   
  

10
0.

0%
6,

25
8,

90
6

$ 
   

  
3,

15
9,

76
1

$ 
   

  
10

2.
0%

To
ta

l 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

09
9,

14
5

$ 
   

  
3,

09
9,

14
5

$ 
   

  
10

0.
0%

6,
25

8,
90

6
$ 

   
  

3,
15

9,
76

1
$ 

   
  

10
2.

0%

TO
TA

L 
R

EV
EN

U
E 

69
,8

13
,2

39
$ 

   
72

,2
90

,7
69

$ 
   

2,
47

7,
53

0
$ 

   
  

3.
5%

68
,9

60
,6

21
$ 

   
(3

,3
30

,1
48

)
$ 

   
 

(4
.6

%
)

TO
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

SE
S 

60
,9

59
,9

39
$ 

   
65

,4
54

,3
37

$ 
   

4,
49

4,
39

8
$ 

   
  

7.
4%

66
,2

38
,2

58
$ 

   
78

3,
92

1
$ 

   
   

  
1.

2%

TO
TA

L 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
/C

AP
IT

AL
 T

R
AN

SF
ER

S
(8

,8
53

,3
00

)
$ 

   
 

(9
,9

35
,5

77
)

$ 
   

 
(1

,0
82

,2
77

)
$ 

   
 

12
.2

%
(8

,9
81

,2
69

)
$ 

   
 

95
4,

30
8

$ 
   

   
  

(9
.6

%
)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
VI

D
 T

R
AN

SF
ER

S
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

09
9,

14
5

$ 
   

  
3,

09
9,

14
5

$ 
   

  
10

0.
0%

6,
25

8,
90

6
$ 

   
  

3,
15

9,
76

1
$ 

   
  

10
2.

0%

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 B
AL

AN
C

E
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 

**
S

ub
je

ct
 to

 a
nn

ua
l r

en
ew

al
 o

f t
he

 ta
x 

ex
te

nd
er

s

*B
eg

in
ni

ng
 in

 F
Y

19
, 2

01
6 

N
et

 S
al

es
 T

ax
 M

ea
su

re
 D

 is
 tr

an
sf

er
re

d 
to

 th
e 

C
ap

ita
l B

ud
ge

t a
s 

pe
r 5

-Y
ea

r P
ro

gr
am

 o
f P

ro
je

ct
s,

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
to

 R
TC

. T
he

 5
-

Y
ea

r P
ro

gr
am

 o
f P

ro
je

ct
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
up

da
te

d 
ye

ar
ly

, a
fte

r t
he

 b
ud

ge
t i

s 
ad

op
te

d 
in

 J
un

e,
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 re
fle

ct
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
M

E
TR

O
's

 la
te

st
 M

ea
su

re
 D

 
gr

ow
th

 p
ro

je
ct

io
ns

, p
re

se
nt

ed
 a

bo
ve

.

Attachment A

11.5A.513-77



3/
3/

20
23

1
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

-A
N

TI
C

IP
AT

ED
 S

PE
N

D
IN

G
 

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
R

el
at

ed
 P

ro
je

ct
s

1
19

-0
00

1
N

ew
 M

ET
R

O
 O

w
ne

d 
Pa

ra
cr

uz
 F

ac
ili

ty
-F

Y2
0 

LP
P 

(G
ra

nt
 

M
at

ch
 fo

r 5
33

9(
b)

)
1,

02
8,

79
7

$ 
   

  
1,

02
8,

79
7

$ 
   

   
 

2
19

-0
00

2
Pa

ci
fic

 S
ta

tio
n/

M
et

ro
 C

en
te

r R
ed

ev
el

op
m

en
t w

/ C
ity

 o
f S

C
 

1,
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

3
24

-0
00

1
Sc

ot
ts

 V
al

le
y 

Tr
an

si
t C

en
te

r R
oo

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 S

ol
ar

 P
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
4

23
-0

01
0

R
ap

id
 B

us
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 - 
So

qu
el

 D
riv

e 
& 

M
ai

n 
St

re
et

 C
or

r
 

2,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

3,
00

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
5

24
-0

00
9

W
at

so
nv

ill
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t (

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
& 

Bu
ild

in
gs

) 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

6
23

-0
00

5b
N

ew
 H

yd
ro

ge
n 

Fu
el

in
g 

St
at

io
n 

+ 
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
8,

95
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
8,

95
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

12
,1

78
,7

97
$ 

   
16

,0
78

,7
97

$ 
   

  

IT
 P

ro
je

ct
s

7
19

-0
00

4
ER

P 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 &
 S

ys
te

m
2,

11
5,

94
0

$ 
   

  
2,

11
5,

94
0

$ 
   

   
 

8
24

-0
00

2
W

eb
 S

ite
 U

pg
ra

de
 

25
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

25
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

36
5,

94
0

$ 
   

  
2,

36
5,

94
0

$ 
   

   
 

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
U

pg
ra

de
s 

&
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

9
19

-0
00

6
M

ai
nt

 Y
ar

d-
Se

cu
rit

y 
H

ar
de

ni
ng

/E
xp

an
de

d 
Pa

rk
in

g
32

7,
49

3
$ 

   
   

  
32

7,
49

3
$ 

   
   

   
 

10
19

-0
00

6b
D

em
ol

iti
on

 o
f t

w
o 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 &

 re
pa

ir 
of

 s
in

kh
ol

e 
65

,7
47

$ 
   

   
   

 
65

,7
47

$ 
   

   
   

   
11

19
-0

02
0

Ad
m

in
 B

ld
g.

 E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

& 
R

en
ov

at
io

ns
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
12

19
-0

01
8a

Aw
ni

ng
 @

 F
ue

lin
g 

St
at

io
n 

- C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ph

as
e 

(F
TA

 5
33

9a
 F

 
23

5,
32

8
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

23
5,

32
8

$ 
   

   
   

 
13

23
-0

00
5c

H
FC

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 F
ac

ili
ty

 U
pg

ra
de

s
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

1,
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
14

24
-0

00
3

Tr
ai

le
r m

ou
nt

ed
 h

ot
 w

at
er

 h
ig

h 
pr

es
su

re
 w

as
he

r s
ys

te
m

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
45

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
45

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
15

24
-0

01
0

12
 B

us
 S

he
lte

rs
 ($

25
K/

sh
el

te
r)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
30

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

  
30

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

Su
bt

ot
al

23
5,

32
8

$ 
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

25
8,

24
0

$ 
   

  
2,

49
3,

56
8

$ 
   

   
 

R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
, R

ep
la

ce
m

en
ts

 &
 C

am
pa

ig
ns

16
19

-0
02

7
FY

18
 S

TI
P 

- A
VL

/IT
S 

(S
TI

P,
 M

ea
su

re
 D

)
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
55

8,
61

5
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
83

5,
39

1
$ 

   
   

   
 

17
20

-0
00

1
7 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ar

ac
ru

z 
Va

ns
 (F

Y1
9 

LP
P,

 M
ea

su
re

 D
)

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
90

8,
26

2
$ 

   
   

  
1,

21
0,

26
2

$ 
   

   
 

18
19

-0
03

2
3 

N
ew

 F
ly

er
 R

ep
l. 

C
ap

ita
l L

ea
se

 - 
Ye

ar
 4

 o
f 6

 P
rin

 O
nl

y 
- 

(M
ea

su
re

 D
) I

nt
er

es
t f

un
de

d 
in

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 $
32

K
11

7,
18

5
$ 

   
   

  
11

7,
18

5
$ 

   
   

   
 

19
22

-0
00

5
Au

to
m

at
ic

 P
as

se
ng

er
 C

ou
nt

er
s 

(A
PC

s)
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
12

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

  
12

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

   
 

20
23

-0
00

1
 8

 H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
2 

FT
A 

53
07

 +
 V

W
 G

ra
nt

)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

21
23

-0
00

1a
2 

H
FC

B:
 $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
2 

FT
A 

53
07

 +
 H

VI
P 

us
ed

 a
s 

a 
lo

ca
l m

at
ch

: $
48

0K
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

22
24

-0
00

4
10

 C
N

G
 A

R
TI

C
S 

(B
R

F:
 M

ea
su

re
 D

 )
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 

23
23

-0
00

7
2 

H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
0,

21
,2

2 
LP

P+
10

0%
 M

at
ch

 
M

ea
su

re
 D

+ 
H

VI
P:

 $
48

0K
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
23

-0
00

8

3 
H

FC
Bs

: $
1.

35
M

/B
us

 (F
TA

 F
Y2

2 
53

39
a 

- S
ta

te
 R

ur
al

 
D

is
cr

et
io

na
ry

+ 
M

ea
su

re
 D

+ 
H

VI
P:

 $
72

0K
+ 

M
BA

R
D

: 
$4

00
K)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

25
24

-0
01

2
4 

H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

ed
er

al
 G

ra
nt

: 
R

TC
/C

al
tra

ns
/M

ET
R

O
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Su

bt
ot

al
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

08
4,

06
2

$ 
   

  
12

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

  
2,

78
5,

81
5

$ 
   

   
 

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

Attachment B

11.5B.113-78



3/
3/

20
23

2
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

-A
N

TI
C

IP
AT

ED
 S

PE
N

D
IN

G
 

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
, R

ep
la

ce
m

en
ts

 &
 C

am
pa

ig
ns

-F
le

et
 E

le
ct

rif
ic

at
io

n 
Pr

oj
ec

ts

26
19

-0
03

7

4 
ZE

Bs
 &

 4
 C

ha
rg

er
s 

- H
ig

hw
ay

 1
7 

(F
TA

 5
33

9c
 F

Y1
6,

 
M

ea
su

re
 D

, H
VI

P:
 $

48
0K

; P
G

&E
 R

eb
at

es
: $

9K
/B

us
 &

 
$2

5K
/C

ha
rg

er
)

2,
65

7,
96

7
$ 

   
  

13
6,

00
0

$ 
   

   
92

8,
80

9
$ 

   
   

  
3,

72
2,

77
6

$ 
   

   
 

27
23

-0
00

3
1 

ZE
B 

& 
C

ha
rg

er
 (F

Y2
0 

LC
TO

P+
In

te
re

st
+H

VI
P:

 $
13

8K
+ 

PG
&E

 R
eb

at
es

: $
9K

/B
us

 &
 $

25
K/

C
ha

rg
er

 )
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
34

,0
00

$ 
   

   
  

99
6,

29
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
2,

65
7,

96
7

$ 
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
92

8,
80

9
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
71

9,
07

2
$ 

   
   

 

N
on

-R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
 &

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

ts

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Fl
ee

t &
 M

ai
nt

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

28
21

-0
00

4
G

ol
f C

lu
b 

Pa
rt 

W
as

he
rs

 (F
TA

 5
33

9a
 F

Y2
0 

+ 
R

es
er

ve
s)

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 

O
ffi

ce
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

M
is

c. 29
23

-0
00

4
M

is
c 

C
ap

ita
l C

on
tin

ge
nc

y-
$8

00
K 

- 1
1/

15
/1

9 
BO

D
+$

10
0K

 
5/

21
/2

02
1+

$1
M

 0
3/

25
/2

02
2

41
2,

49
2

$ 
   

   
  

41
2,

49
2

$ 
   

   
   

 
30

23
-0

00
4e

Sa
fe

ty
 - 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

D
is

pl
ay

 S
ys

te
m

 &
 M

on
ito

rs
: 1

4 
at

 m
ul

tip
le

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
31

24
-0

00
5

Se
cu

rit
y 

U
pg

ra
de

 (s
er

ve
rs

 +
 c

am
er

as
 a

ll 
si

te
s)

  
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

  
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

32
24

-0
00

6
Bu

s 
C

am
er

as
 

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
33

24
-0

00
7

M
ic

ro
so

ft 
W

in
do

w
s 

up
gr

ad
e 

lic
en

si
ng

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
34

24
-0

00
8

O
ffi

ce
 F

ur
ni

tu
re

 - 
Fi

na
nc

e 
(2

 w
or

ks
ta

tio
ns

)
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
35

24
-0

01
1

M
ar

ke
tin

g 
Tr

ai
le

r &
 W

ra
p 

fo
r T

ra
ile

r 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
Su

bt
ot

al
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
78

4,
49

2
$ 

   
   

  
78

4,
49

2
$ 

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
2,

89
8,

29
5

$ 
   

  
2,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
30

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

51
2,

87
1

$ 
   

  
17

,8
10

,4
45

$ 
   

29
,3

32
,6

84
$ 

   
  

Attachment B

11.5B.213-79



3/
3/

20
23

3
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

-A
N

TI
C

IP
AT

ED
 S

PE
N

D
IN

G
 

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

C
AP

IT
AL

 P
R

O
G

R
AM

 F
U

N
D

IN
G

 

Fe
de

ra
l S

ou
rc

es
 o

f F
un

ds
:

Fe
de

ra
l G

ra
nt

s 
(F

TA
)

2,
89

8,
29

5
$ 

   
  

2,
89

8,
29

5
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Su
rfa

ce
 T

ra
ns

po
rta

tio
n 

Bl
oc

k 
G

ra
nt

 (S
TB

G
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
St

at
e 

/O
th

er
  S

ou
rc

es
 o

f F
un

ds
:

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

PT
M

IS
EA

 (1
B)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

St
at

e 
Tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 (S

TI
P)

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Lo
w

 C
ar

bo
n 

Tr
an

si
t O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 P
ro

gr
am

 (L
C

TO
P)

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Lo
ca

l P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 P
ro

gr
am

 (L
PP

)
30

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

St
at

e 
Tr

an
si

t A
ss

is
ta

nc
e 

(S
TA

)-P
rio

r Y
ea

rs
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

fro
m

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 (S
TA

-S
B1

)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
ST

A-
SG

R
 (S

B1
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

fro
m

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 (M
ea

su
re

 D
)

4,
51

2,
87

1
$ 

   
  

4,
51

2,
87

1
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

C
TC

 S
B1

 S
C

C
P 

2,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

2,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

VW
 G

R
AN

T 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

PG
&E

 R
EB

AT
ES

 &
 M

BA
R

D
 

17
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
17

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Lo

ca
l S

ou
rc

es
 o

f F
un

ds
:

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
an

d 
C

ap
ita

l R
es

er
ve

 F
un

d
17

,8
10

,4
45

$ 
   

17
,8

10
,4

45
$ 

   
  

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
 B

Y 
FU

N
D

IN
G

 S
O

U
R

C
E

2,
89

8,
29

5
$ 

   
  

2,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

17
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
51

2,
87

1
$ 

   
  

17
,8

10
,4

45
$ 

   
29

,3
32

,6
84

$ 
   

  

R
es

tri
ct

ed
 F

un
ds

2,
89

8,
29

5
$ 

   
  

2,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

17
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
51

2,
87

1
$ 

   
  

11
,5

22
,2

38
$ 

   
  

U
nr

es
tri

ct
ed

 F
un

ds
17

,8
10

,4
45

$ 
   

17
,8

10
,4

45
$ 

   
  

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
2,

89
8,

29
5

$ 
   

  
2,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
30

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

51
2,

87
1

$ 
   

  
17

,8
10

,4
45

$ 
   

29
,3

32
,6

84
$ 

   
  

* 
N

O
TE

: T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
lis

te
d 

he
re

 re
pr

es
en

t t
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 a
ga

in
st

 a
w

ar
de

d 
gr

an
ts

 a
nd

 p
ro

je
ct

s,
 a

nd
 th

er
ef

or
e 

w
ill

 n
ot

 e
qu

al
 th

e 
$3

M
 a

llo
ca

te
d 

to
 th

e 
Bu

s 
R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t F

un
d 

in
 a

ny
 g

iv
en

 y
ea

r. 

Attachment B

11.5B.313-80



3/
3/

20
23

4
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
R

el
at

ed
 P

ro
je

ct
s

1
19

-0
00

1
N

ew
 M

ET
R

O
 O

w
ne

d 
Pa

ra
cr

uz
 F

ac
ili

ty
-F

Y2
0 

LP
P 

(G
ra

nt
 

M
at

ch
 fo

r 5
33

9(
b)

)
2,

03
8,

37
8

$ 
   

  
2,

03
8,

37
8

$ 
   

   
 

2
19

-0
00

2
Pa

ci
fic

 S
ta

tio
n/

M
et

ro
 C

en
te

r R
ed

ev
el

op
m

en
t w

/ C
ity

 o
f S

C
 

3,
99

1,
33

2
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

99
1,

33
2

$ 
   

   
 

3
24

-0
00

1
Sc

ot
ts

 V
al

le
y 

Tr
an

si
t C

en
te

r R
oo

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 S

ol
ar

 P
an

el
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
4

23
-0

01
0

R
ap

id
 B

us
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 - 
So

qu
el

 D
riv

e 
& 

M
ai

n 
St

re
et

 C
or

rid
or

 
9,

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
2,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
12

,0
00

,0
00

$ 
   

  
5

24
-0

00
9

W
at

so
nv

ill
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t (

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
& 

Bu
ild

in
gs

) 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

6
23

-0
00

5b
N

ew
 H

yd
ro

ge
n 

Fu
el

in
g 

St
at

io
n 

+ 
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
8,

95
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
8,

95
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9,

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
99

1,
33

2
$ 

   
  

14
,9

88
,3

78
$ 

   
28

,5
79

,7
10

$ 
   

  

IT
 P

ro
je

ct
s

7
19

-0
00

4
ER

P 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 &
 S

ys
te

m
2,

61
5,

94
0

$ 
   

  
2,

61
5,

94
0

$ 
   

   
 

8
24

-0
00

2
W

eb
 S

ite
 U

pg
ra

de
 

25
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

25
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

86
5,

94
0

$ 
   

  
2,

86
5,

94
0

$ 
   

   
 

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
U

pg
ra

de
s 

&
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

9
19

-0
00

6
M

ai
nt

 Y
ar

d-
Se

cu
rit

y 
H

ar
de

ni
ng

/E
xp

an
de

d 
Pa

rk
in

g
32

7,
49

3
$ 

   
   

  
32

7,
49

3
$ 

   
   

   
 

10
19

-0
00

6b
D

em
ol

iti
on

 o
f t

w
o 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 &

 re
pa

ir 
of

 s
in

kh
ol

e 
65

,7
47

$ 
   

   
   

 
65

,7
47

$ 
   

   
   

   
11

19
-0

02
0

Ad
m

in
 B

ld
g.

 E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

& 
R

en
ov

at
io

ns
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
12

19
-0

01
8a

Aw
ni

ng
 @

 F
ue

lin
g 

St
at

io
n 

- C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ph

as
e 

(F
TA

 5
33

9a
 F

Y2
 

23
5,

32
8

$ 
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
23

5,
32

8
$ 

   
   

   
 

13
23

-0
00

5c
H

FC
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 F

ac
ili

ty
 U

pg
ra

de
s

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
1,

50
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

14
24

-0
00

3
Tr

ai
le

r m
ou

nt
ed

 h
ot

 w
at

er
 h

ig
h 

pr
es

su
re

 w
as

he
r s

ys
te

m
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

45
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
 

45
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

15
24

-0
01

0
12

 B
us

 S
he

lte
rs

 ($
25

K/
sh

el
te

r)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

30
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

30
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
23

5,
32

8
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
25

8,
24

0
$ 

   
  

2,
49

3,
56

8
$ 

   
   

 

R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
, R

ep
la

ce
m

en
ts

 &
 C

am
pa

ig
ns

16
19

-0
02

7
FY

18
 S

TI
P 

- A
VL

/IT
S 

(S
TI

P,
 M

ea
su

re
 D

)
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
55

8,
61

5
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
83

5,
39

1
$ 

   
   

   
 

17
20

-0
00

1
7 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ar

ac
ru

z 
Va

ns
 (F

Y1
9 

LP
P,

 M
ea

su
re

 D
)

30
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
90

8,
26

2
$ 

   
   

  
1,

21
0,

26
2

$ 
   

   
 

18
19

-0
03

2
3 

N
ew

 F
ly

er
 R

ep
l. 

C
ap

ita
l L

ea
se

 - 
Ye

ar
 4

 o
f 6

 P
rin

 O
nl

y 
- 

(M
ea

su
re

 D
) I

nt
er

es
t f

un
de

d 
in

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 $
32

K
11

7,
18

5
$ 

   
   

  
11

7,
18

5
$ 

   
   

   
 

19
22

-0
00

5
Au

to
m

at
ic

 P
as

se
ng

er
 C

ou
nt

er
s 

(A
PC

s)
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
12

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

  
12

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

   
 

20
23

-0
00

1
 8

 H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
2 

FT
A 

53
07

 +
 V

W
 G

ra
nt

)
7,

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

,8
00

,0
00

$ 
   

  

21
23

-0
00

1a
2 

H
FC

B:
 $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
2 

FT
A 

53
07

 +
 H

VI
P 

us
ed

 a
s 

a 
lo

ca
l m

at
ch

: $
48

0K
)

2,
22

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
22

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
22

24
-0

00
4

10
 C

N
G

 A
R

TI
C

S 
(B

R
F:

 M
ea

su
re

 D
 )

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

23
23

-0
00

7
2 

H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

Y2
0,

21
,2

2 
LP

P+
10

0%
 M

at
ch

 
M

ea
su

re
 D

+ 
H

VI
P:

 $
48

0K
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

90
3,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
31

7,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
22

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 

24
23

-0
00

8

3 
H

FC
Bs

: $
1.

35
M

/B
us

 (F
TA

 F
Y2

2 
53

39
a 

- S
ta

te
 R

ur
al

 
D

is
cr

et
io

na
ry

+ 
M

ea
su

re
 D

+ 
H

VI
P:

 $
72

0K
+ 

M
BA

R
D

: 
$4

00
K)

1,
68

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

40
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
25

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
33

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 

25
24

-0
01

2
4 

H
FC

Bs
: $

1.
35

M
/B

us
 (F

ed
er

al
 G

ra
nt

: 
R

TC
/C

al
tra

ns
/M

ET
R

O
)

4,
80

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

5,
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
16

,3
00

,0
00

$ 
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
20

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
3,

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
40

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

65
1,

06
2

$ 
   

  
72

2,
97

7
$ 

   
   

  
26

,7
55

,8
15

$ 
   

  

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

Attachment B

11.5B.413-81



3/
3/

20
23

5
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
, R

ep
la

ce
m

en
ts

 &
 C

am
pa

ig
ns

-F
le

et
 E

le
ct

rif
ic

at
io

n 
Pr

oj
ec

ts

26
19

-0
03

7

4 
ZE

Bs
 &

 4
 C

ha
rg

er
s 

- H
ig

hw
ay

 1
7 

(F
TA

 5
33

9c
 F

Y1
6,

 
M

ea
su

re
 D

, H
VI

P:
 $

48
0K

; P
G

&E
 R

eb
at

es
: $

9K
/B

us
 &

 
$2

5K
/C

ha
rg

er
)

2,
65

7,
96

7
$ 

   
  

13
6,

00
0

$ 
   

   
92

8,
80

9
$ 

   
   

  
3,

72
2,

77
6

$ 
   

   
 

27
23

-0
00

3
1 

ZE
B 

& 
C

ha
rg

er
 (F

Y2
0 

LC
TO

P+
In

te
re

st
+H

VI
P:

 $
13

8K
+ 

PG
&E

 R
eb

at
es

: $
9K

/B
us

 &
 $

25
K/

C
ha

rg
er

 )
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
34

,0
00

$ 
   

   
  

99
6,

29
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
2,

65
7,

96
7

$ 
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
92

8,
80

9
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
71

9,
07

2
$ 

   
   

 

N
on

-R
ev

en
ue

 V
eh

ic
le

 P
ur

ch
as

es
 &

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

ts

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Fl
ee

t &
 M

ai
nt

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

28
21

-0
00

4
G

ol
f C

lu
b 

Pa
rt 

W
as

he
rs

 (F
TA

 5
33

9a
 F

Y2
0 

+ 
R

es
er

ve
s)

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
Su

bt
ot

al
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 

O
ffi

ce
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Su
bt

ot
al

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

M
is

c. 29
23

-0
00

4
M

is
c 

C
ap

ita
l C

on
tin

ge
nc

y-
$8

00
K 

- 1
1/

15
/1

9 
BO

D
+$

10
0K

 
5/

21
/2

02
1+

$1
M

 0
3/

25
/2

02
2

41
2,

49
2

$ 
   

   
  

41
2,

49
2

$ 
   

   
   

 
30

23
-0

00
4e

Sa
fe

ty
 - 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

D
is

pl
ay

 S
ys

te
m

 &
 M

on
ito

rs
: 1

4 
at

 m
ul

tip
le

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
31

24
-0

00
5

Se
cu

rit
y 

U
pg

ra
de

 (s
er

ve
rs

 +
 c

am
er

as
 a

ll 
si

te
s)

  
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

  
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

32
24

-0
00

6
Bu

s 
C

am
er

as
 

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
33

24
-0

00
7

M
ic

ro
so

ft 
W

in
do

w
s 

up
gr

ad
e 

lic
en

si
ng

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
34

24
-0

00
8

O
ffi

ce
 F

ur
ni

tu
re

 - 
Fi

na
nc

e 
(2

 w
or

ks
ta

tio
ns

)
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
35

24
-0

01
1

M
ar

ke
tin

g 
Tr

ai
le

r &
 W

ra
p 

fo
r T

ra
ile

r 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
21

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
Su

bt
ot

al
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
78

4,
49

2
$ 

   
   

  
78

4,
49

2
$ 

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
19

,1
98

,2
95

$ 
   

9,
60

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

1,
20

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
3,

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
57

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9,

57
1,

20
3

$ 
   

  
21

,7
20

,0
26

$ 
   

66
,3

03
,5

97
$ 

   
  

Attachment B

11.5B.513-82



3/
3/

20
23

6
FY

24
  C

ap
ita

l B
ud

ge
t P

or
tfo

lio
 - 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

03
-2

4-
20

23

SA
N

TA
 C

R
U

Z 
M

ET
R

O
PO

LI
TA

N
 T

R
AN

SI
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T
FY

24
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

C
AP

IT
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
/P

O
R

TF
O

LI
O

AS
 O

F 
M

AR
C

H
 2

4,
 2

02
3

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

  

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

R
ES

TR
IC

TE
D

PR
O

JE
C

T/
AC

TI
VI

TY
FE

D
ER

AL
 

FU
N

D
S

C
TC

 S
B

1 
SC

C
P 

G
R

AN
T

ST
IP

LC
TO

P
LP

P
VW

 G
R

AN
T

PG
&

E 
R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 
M

B
AR

D
 

ST
A-

SG
R

   
 

(S
B

 1
) 

M
EA

SU
RE

 D
 

(X
FR

 F
RO

M
 

O
PE

R 
BU

DG
ET

)

O
PE

RA
TI

NG
 &

 
CA

PI
TA

L 
RE

SE
RV

E 
FU

ND
TO

TA
L

B
U

S 
R

EP
LA

C
EM

EN
T 

FU
N

D
$3

M
 P

ER
 Y

EA
R

 (M
EA

SU
R

E 
D

 +
 

SB
1 

ST
A&

SG
R

)

C
AP

IT
AL

 P
R

O
G

R
AM

 F
U

N
D

IN
G

 

Fe
de

ra
l S

ou
rc

es
 o

f F
un

ds
:

Fe
de

ra
l G

ra
nt

s 
(F

TA
)

19
,1

98
,2

95
$ 

   
19

,1
98

,2
95

$ 
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Su
rfa

ce
 T

ra
ns

po
rta

tio
n 

Bl
oc

k 
G

ra
nt

 (S
TB

G
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
St

at
e 

/O
th

er
  S

ou
rc

es
 o

f F
un

ds
:

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

PT
M

IS
EA

 (1
B)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

St
at

e 
Tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 (S

TI
P)

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Lo
w

 C
ar

bo
n 

Tr
an

si
t O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 P
ro

gr
am

 (L
C

TO
P)

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Lo
ca

l P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 P
ro

gr
am

 (L
PP

)
1,

20
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

1,
20

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

St
at

e 
Tr

an
si

t A
ss

is
ta

nc
e 

(S
TA

)-P
rio

r Y
ea

rs
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

fro
m

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 (S
TA

-S
B1

)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
ST

A-
SG

R
 (S

B1
)

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

fro
m

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 (M
ea

su
re

 D
)

9,
57

1,
20

3
$ 

   
  

9,
57

1,
20

3
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

C
TC

 S
B1

 S
C

C
P 

9,
60

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

9,
60

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

VW
 G

R
AN

T 
3,

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
3,

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
PG

&E
 R

EB
AT

ES
 &

 M
BA

R
D

 
57

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

57
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Lo
ca

l S
ou

rc
es

 o
f F

un
ds

:
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

an
d 

C
ap

ita
l R

es
er

ve
 F

un
d

21
,7

20
,0

26
$ 

   
21

,7
20

,0
26

$ 
   

  

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
 B

Y 
FU

N
D

IN
G

 S
O

U
R

C
E

19
,1

98
,2

95
$ 

   
9,

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
1,

20
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

3,
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

57
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

9,
57

1,
20

3
$ 

   
  

21
,7

20
,0

26
$ 

   
66

,3
03

,5
97

$ 
   

  

R
es

tri
ct

ed
 F

un
ds

19
,1

98
,2

95
$ 

   
9,

60
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
27

6,
77

6
$ 

   
   

  
96

2,
29

6
$ 

   
   

  
1,

20
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
 

3,
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
  

57
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

9,
57

1,
20

3
$ 

   
  

44
,5

83
,5

70
$ 

   
  

U
nr

es
tri

ct
ed

 F
un

ds
21

,7
20

,0
26

$ 
   

21
,7

20
,0

26
$ 

   
  

TO
TA

L 
C

AP
IT

AL
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
19

,1
98

,2
95

$ 
   

9,
60

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

27
6,

77
6

$ 
   

   
  

96
2,

29
6

$ 
   

   
  

1,
20

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

 
3,

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

  
57

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9,

57
1,

20
3

$ 
   

  
21

,7
20

,0
26

$ 
   

66
,3

03
,5

97
$ 

   
  

* 
N

O
TE

: T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
lis

te
d 

he
re

 re
pr

es
en

t t
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 a
ga

in
st

 a
w

ar
de

d 
gr

an
ts

 a
nd

 p
ro

je
ct

s,
 a

nd
 th

er
ef

or
e 

w
ill

 n
ot

 e
qu

al
 th

e 
$3

M
 a

llo
ca

te
d 

to
 th

e 
Bu

s 
R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t F

un
d 

in
 a

ny
 g

iv
en

 y
ea

r. 

Attachment B

11.5B.613-83



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission 

FROM: Tommy Travers, Transportation Planner 

RE: Fiscal Year 2023-24 Transportation Development Act (TDA) Article 8 
Claims for the Community Traffic Safety Coalition, the Ride ‘n Stride 
Program, and the Bike to Work Program 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission: 

1. Review the attached proposed FY 2023-24 work plans and budgets for the
County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency’s Community Traffic Safety
Coalition (CTSC) and Ride ‘n Stride Programs, and for Ecology Action’s Bike to
Work (BTW) Program; and

2. Adopt the attached resolutions (Attachments 1 & 2) approving the claims for FY
2023-24 TDA Article 8 funds for the CTSC, Ride ‘n Stride, and BTW programs.

BACKGROUND 

Beginning in FY 1998-99, the RTC provided $50,000 in Transportation Development 
Act (TDA) Article 8 funding to the CTSC, a community-based coalition operated by 
the County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency (HSA) which brings together 
various agencies and advocates to address road safety in Santa Cruz County. In FY 
2001-02, the RTC added $50,000 to fund the HSA’s Ride ‘n Stride Program, an 
elementary school-based bicycle and pedestrian education program closely 
associated with the CTSC. In 2022, the RTC increased its budget for the two 
programs to $156,000 annually. 

The RTC has played a supporting role in Bike to Work (BTW) for its entire 30-year 
history. Bike to Work’s goals of increasing levels of cycling in Santa Cruz County are 
consistent with the RTC’s Regional Transportation Plan. The project provides bicycle 
transportation promotion and education throughout the County on an ongoing 
basis. BTW has grown steadily in participation and organization over the years and 
in 2003, the RTC committed to providing on-going funding at a level of $40,000 per 
year. In 2022, the RTC increased its budget for the program to $72,000 annually. 

In April 2023, the Regional Transportation Commission approved its FY 2023-24 
budget which included the same annual TDA Article 8 funds for the three programs 
as was first budgeted in 2022. Through the TDA claim process, the RTC has the 
opportunity to review project budgets and work plans and to provide input or set 
conditions or requirements on funding. 

14-1



Ride ‘n Stride, CTSC, and Bike to Work TDA Claims  Page 2 

S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Consent\TDA - H.S.A. and Bike to Work\TDA Claims HSA and Bike to Work  - SR.docx 

DISCUSSION 

Ride ‘n Stride and CTSC 
The Health Services Agency (HSA) submitted TDA funding requests for the 
Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) and the Ride ‘n Stride Program for 
Bicycle Advisory Committee (BAC) and Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory 
Committee (E&DTAC) review and RTC consideration. The committees reviewed the 
claims at their respective April 2023 meetings and recommended approval. Because 
the RTC provides a substantial portion of the operational funding for each program, 
the annual budgets and work programs for these projects are forwarded to the RTC 
for information, input, and approval.  

The County HSA submitted the attached TDA funding request (Exhibit A of 
Attachment 1) as well as the TDA claim forms and work plans for Commission 
review and consideration for the Ride ‘n Stride program (Exhibits C and D of 
Attachment 1) and the CTSC (Exhibits F and G of Attachment 1). Included is the 
CTSC’s Vision Zero work plan for all county jurisdictions. Exhibits B and E of 
Attachment 1 provide Progress Reports containing a description of services 
provided by HSA during the July – December 2021 and January – June 2022 
periods. Exhibit H of Attachment 1 provides the budgets for both programs. The 
total FY 2023-24 funding request for the two programs totals $156,000. The 
requested amount for the CTSC is $78,000 and will provide partial funding for 
support of implementing the local jurisdictions’ new or updated vision zero action 
plans, as well as other CTSC activities. The Ride ‘n Stride bicycle and pedestrian 
education program includes staff costs for bicycle and pedestrian safety 
presentations to elementary school students. The FY 2023-24 funding request for 
this program is also $78,000. The requested amounts for the CTSC and Ride ‘n 
Stride have been approved as part of the RTC’s FY 2023-24 budget. County Health 
Services Agency staff has proposed in their funding request letter that for the 
future the RTC combine their two TDA-funded programs into one Vision Zero 
umbrella. This recommendation was supported by the two advisory committees and 
RTC staff will develop the RTC’s draft FY 2024-25 accordingly. County Health 
Services Agency staff will be at the meeting to address any questions. 

Bike to Work 
Ecology Action submitted TDA funding request for the Bike to Work Program for 
BAC review and RTC consideration. The BAC reviewed the claim at its April 2023 
meeting and recommended approval. Because the RTC provides a substantial 
portion of the operational funding for the program, the annual budget and work 
program for the program is forwarded to the RTC for information, input, and 
approval.  

Ecology Action submitted a funding request, FY 2023-24 TDA claim, work plan, and 
budget for its Bike to Work program (Exhibits A through E of Attachment 2) for RTC 
review and consideration. Ecology Action is requesting $72,000 in FY 2023-24 TDA 
funds to support the Bike to Work/School efforts. The request is consistent with the 
commitment that the RTC made in 2022 to provide $72,000 annually for this 

14-2



Ride ‘n Stride, CTSC, and Bike to Work TDA Claims  Page 3 

S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Consent\TDA - H.S.A. and Bike to Work\TDA Claims HSA and Bike to Work  - SR.docx 

program. In the next fiscal year Ecology Action will continue to hold many in-person 
Bike to Work/School events in October and May, continue its countywide interactive 
Bike Challenge program, and continue its outreach, education, and newsletters.  
Exhibits A, E, C, and D of Attachment 2 provide the FY 2023-24 request, claim 
form, scope of work and budget detailing the services Bike to Work proposes to 
provide during the coming fiscal year. Exhibit B of Attachment 2 provides a 2022 
Program Summary containing a description of services provided by BTW during the 
previous calendar year. Ecology Action staff will be at the meeting to respond to 
any questions or comments regarding the Bike to Work program. 

The BAC reviewed the Bike to Work program’s work plan and budget at its April 
2023 meeting. Both the BAC and the E&DTAC reviewed the HSA’s work plans and 
budgets at their April 2023 meetings. The BAC and staff recommend adoption 
of the attached resolution (Attachment 1) approving the TDA claim for the 
Bike to Work program at the amount requested; the BAC, E&DTAC, and 
staff recommend adoption of the attached resolution (Attachment 2) 
approving the TDA claims for the Ride ‘n Stride and CTSC programs at the 
amounts requested. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The RTC FY 2023-24 budget includes TDA Article 8 funding for the Ride ‘n Stride 
program, the CTSC, and the BTW program in the amounts of $78,000, $78,000, 
and $72,000 respectively, which is consistent with the submitted claims.  
Therefore, there are no additional fiscal impacts. 

SUMMARY 

The Bicycle Advisory Committee (BAC) and staff recommend that the RTC review 
and approve a TDA Article 8 funding request for Ecology Action’s Bike to Work 
program in the amount of $72,000. The BAC, Elderly & Disabled Transportation 
Advisory Committee, and staff recommend that the RTC review and approve a TDA 
Article 8 funding request for the County Health Services Agency’s Ride ‘n Stride 
program and the CTSC in a total amount of $156,000. Attached are FY 2023-24 
claims, budgets, work programs, and allocation requests from Ecology Action and 
the Health Services Agency for review and consideration.  

Attachment: 
1. Resolution approving TDA Article 8 funding for the Ride ‘n Stride program

and the CTSC
2. Resolution approving TDA Article 8 funding for the Bike to Work program

14-3



Attachment 1 

RESOLUTION NO.    

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner  
duly seconded by Commissioner  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT (TDA) ARTICLE 8 
FUNDING FOR THE COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 

AND THE RIDE ‘N STRIDE BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN SCHOOL EDUCATION PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, the County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency’s (HSA) Community 
Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) and the Ride ‘n Stride Bicycle and Pedestrian School 
Education programs provide bicycle and pedestrian safety education and outreach, and 
policy coordination;  

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission approved a combined 
$156,000 in its FY 2023/24 budget for the CTSC and the Ride ‘n Stride program; and 

WHEREAS, the Bicycle Advisory Committee and the Elderly and Disabled 
Transportation Advisory Committee reviewed the requests and proposed scopes of work 
at their respective April 2023 meetings and recommended approval;  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION: 

1. The Regional Transportation Commission hereby approves a total of $156,000 in FY
2022/23 Transportation Development Act Article 8 funds for the CTSC and the Ride
‘n Stride programs together.

AYES: COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

___________________________ 
ATTEST:          Manu Koenig, Chair 

___________________________
      Guy Preston, Secretary 

Exhibit A: Request Letter from Corrine Hyland, Health Services Manager  
Exhibit B: Ride ‘n Stride Progress Report for work performed in FY 2022 

14-4



Exhibit C: Ride ‘n Stride Claim Form 
Exhibit D: Ride ‘n Stride Work Plan 
Exhibit E: CTSC Progress Report for work performed in FY 2022 
Exhibit F: CTSC Claim Form 
Exhibit G: CTSC and Vision Zero Work Plan 
Exhibit H: Ride ‘n Stride and CTSC FY 2023/24 Budgets 

Distribution: RTC Fiscal 
RTC Planner  
County Health Services Agency 

14-5



COMMUNITY 
TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 

March 29, 2023 

Guy Preston, Executive Director 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
1523 Pacific Avenue 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060-3911 

Regarding: FY 2023-2024 TDA Request for the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) and Ride n’ 
Stride programs 

Dear Mr. Preston: 

The Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency (HSA) provides Safe & Active Transportation programming 
through its CTSC and Ride n’ Stride programs. HSA is requesting $78,000 in TDA funding to support staffing 
and project implementation for CTSC and the Vision Zero Work Plan and $78,000 to support the Ride n’ 
Stride school education program. HSA will provide at least $102,000 in match for each program through other 
grant funding, HSA program management, fiscal and administrative support, and/or community in-kind 
contributions, for a total CTSC/Ride n’ Stride budget of $360,000 for FY 2023-24. 

CTSC’s mission is to prevent traffic-related injuries and fatalities for all road users, with a focus on people 
bicycling and walking. The CTSC developed a two-year work plan for FYs 2022-2024 that continues to 
support the current Vision Zero jurisdictions of Watsonville, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley and the County. CTSC 
staff work with coalition members to advocate for Vision Zero policies with an aim to eliminate all traffic related 
fatalities and serious injuries. 

The Ride n’ Stride program provides bilingual bicycle and pedestrian safety education to at least 2,000 
elementary school students a year. CTSC and Ride n’ Stride program staff also work with school districts and 
agency partners to conduct outreach efforts and provide safety education and equipment, such as bicycle 
helmets, to low-income residents. Our goal in the coming year is to combine all our programs under Vision 
Zero with one TDA claim and budget. 

Enclosed you will find the Transportation Development Act (TDA) Local Transportation Funds Claim forms, 
work plans and budgets for each program. I attest to the accuracy of this claim and all its accompanying 
documentation. Every effort has been made to ensure that the CTSC and Ride n’ Stride work plans reflect the 
needs and concerns of the community. Thank you for your consideration and continued support of our vision 
for safe, accessible, and equitable transportation for all. 

Sincerely, 

Corinne Hyland, MPH 
Senior Health Services Manager 
County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency 
(831) 454-7558 corinne.hyland@santacruzcounty.us

c/o Community Health Education, Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency 
1070 Emeline Avenue, P.O. Box 962, Santa Cruz, CA 95061, 831/454-4141 

Exhibit A

14-6

mailto:corinne.hyland@santacruzcounty.us


BIANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT 

TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS 

FIRST BIANNUAL PERIOD 
July 1 – December 31, 2021 

Project Title: Ride n’ Stride Bicycle and Pedestrian Education Program 
Agency: Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency 
Project Contact: Theresia Rogerson 831-454-4312 

theresia.rogerson@santacruzcounty.us 

Progress on FY 2021/22 Objectives and Activities during this biannual period:  

1. Conduct bicycle and pedestrian safety education sessions for at least 2,000
elementary school and pre-school students in Santa Cruz County school districts,
including distribution of supplemental resources, such as activity packets/books.

During this first biannual period, Ride n’ Stride staff began teaching some in-person, 
while still also offering virtual format, bicycle and pedestrian safety presentations for 
preschool and K-5 grade elementary school students during summer school and the Fall 
semester. Staff also delivered the Walk Smart program jointly with Ecology Action 
targeting second grade students in the Fall semester. The walking field trip component 
of Walk Smart has been on hold due to the restrictions on group gatherings in place from 
the Delta and then the new Omicron variant COVID case surges.  

In this six-month period, students received a Ride n’ Stride presentation combining both 
bicycle and pedestrian safety at five elementary schools throughout the county reaching 
592 students at H.A. Hyde, Amesti, Mintie White, Starlight, and Bay View schools. Ride 
n’ Stride staff also assisted in delivering a Walk Smart pedestrian safety presentation at 
one elementary school reaching 22 students at Linscott school. A total of 6 elementary 
schools and 614 students were reached this biannual period. All Ride n’ Stride program 
participants received reflective blinky lights to use when walking or biking. 

2. Conduct at least 4 traffic safety presentations to parents and caregivers through
schools, community agencies and neighborhood groups to promote safe
bicycling and walking.

Ride n’ Stride staff were able to take advantage of community group events in the Fall as 
the COVID Delta surge subsided, conducting one pedestrian safety presentation at a 
Watsonville Nature Center Walk on September 5th serving 12 community members and 
staff, as well as one bike safety presentation at a Watsonville Nature Center River Bike 
Ride on September 26th serving 22 community members. A total of 2 traffic safety 
presentations were conducted reaching 34 community members, including parents and 
caregivers, this biannual period. 

Exhibit B(1)

14-7



3. Participate in at least 4 school or community events to provide traffic safety
information and promote safe bicycling and walking.

Ride n’ Stride staff participated in four community events providing bicycle and 
pedestrian safety education and outreach this biannual period: the Rail Trail Segment 18 
Ribbon Cutting event in Watsonville on July 17th reaching 50 community members, the 
El Mercado flea market at Ramsay Park in Watsonville on August 10th reaching 15 
community members, the County Fair at the Fairgrounds in Watsonville on September 
15th reaching 13 community members, and the Pajaro Valley Health Trust health fair at 
the Watsonville Plaza on October 1st reaching 180 individuals. The Ride n’ Stride team 
participated in a total of 4 community events reaching 258 community members 
throughout this biannual period. 

4. Work with the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) and community
partners to coordinate distribution and proper fitting of at least 200 bike helmets
to students and other community members.

Ride n’ Stride staff assisted in distributing a total of 80 helmets in Watsonville at the 
Mayor’s Bike Ride on August 22nd, the Digital Nest youth program on September 2nd, 
and the Nature Center River Ride on September 26th. On October 28th, 54 helmets were 
fit and distributed to students at Bay View Elementary in Santa Cruz, 12 helmets on 
November 9th to high school students at an event facilitated by Watsonville Wetlands 
and the Community Bike Collective, and 40 helmets to low-income community members 
at the City of Santa Cruz Street Smarts Bike Light and Helmet Distribution event on 
November 16th in Beach Flats. A total of 186 helmets were distributed this biannual 
period. 

5. Further develop, revise or procure multi-grade level bilingual curriculum in both
online and virtual formats, student and teacher resources, and/or child-to-adult
interventions for classroom presentations.

Ride n’ Stride team members participated in a group created within County Public Health 
called Schools Virtual & In-Person Implementation Collaboration where members could 
share health education best practices, collaborate on program promotion in the schools, 
develop guidelines around COVID safe practices, and demonstrate presentation delivery 
and resources in a collaborative group setting. 

6. Participate in the fall and spring Bike/Walk to School/Work events, bike rodeos,
walking field trips, and other bike/pedestrian safety activities, as staff time
permits.

On October 21st, Ride n’ Stride staff participated in National Bike/Walk to School Day at 
Amesti Elementary and MacQuiddy Elementary schools in Watsonville, assisting with 
the Ecology Action hosted event by setting up tables and supplies at the schools, 
assisting students with crossing streets, checking students in at the school entrance, and 
distributing healthy snacks. 

7. Participate in traffic safety meetings, such as CTSC, South County
Bike/Pedestrian Work Group, Vision Zero, and planning grant meetings as
staffing capacity and other program priorities allow.

Ride n’ Stride staff attended Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) meetings in 
August, October, and December. CTSC meeting agenda items included developing and 
planning the Fiscal Year 2022-2024 Vision Zero Work Plan and providing an opportunity 

14-8



for community members to share news, voice their concerns on traffic safety issues, and 
discuss recent traffic crashes. 
Ride n’ Stride staff also attended Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF) meetings 
in July, September, and November covering progress on Vision Zero Action Plan priority 
projects, proposals for various funding sources, community bicycle and pedestrian safety 
award applications, member and guest announcements, and local event planning to 
honor those impacted by road violence. 

8. Develop online teacher program evaluations, continue conducting pre/post-
testing of students online or in-person and continue reporting bike and pedestrian
observational survey results among children and youth.

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, the Ride n’ Stride program has 
focused on education to as many schools as possible with many presentations being 
delivered virtually. Methods of evaluation administered virtually have been explored but 
not yet implemented fully. This will be an area to develop further in the next biannual 
period. Ride n’ Stride staff did assist with Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) pre-grant bicycle 
helmet usage surveys at 4 locations throughout the county, including two weekend and 
two commuter observations, which will be compared to the post-grant survey data 
collected in September 2022.  

Plans for work to be done next TDA biannual period: 
The primary Ride n’ Stride staff person went out on an extended leave beginning in the 
end of December 2021 and hiring an extra help staff to fill in for their duties is being 
considered. Once staffing is more stable, the program will focus more time on 
development of promotion and evaluation components. Ride n’ Stride staff will continue 
to work directly with the school districts and individual school staff to bring bicycle and 
pedestrian safety education to students while adjusting to guidelines to keep safety and 
health the top priority. 

Please find the May 11, 2022 invoice and supporting documentation for TDA funds for 
the biannual period July - December 2021 attached. 

14-9



BIANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT 

TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS 

SECOND BIANNUAL PERIOD 
January 1 – June 30, 2022 

Project Title: Ride n’ Stride Bicycle and Pedestrian Education Program 
Agency: Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency 
Project Contact: Theresia Rogerson 831-454-4312 

theresia.rogerson@santacruzcounty.us 

Progress on FY 2021/22 Objectives and Activities during this biannual period: 

1. Conduct bicycle and pedestrian safety education sessions for at least 2,000
elementary school and pre-school students in Santa Cruz County school districts,
including distribution of supplemental resources, such as activity packets/books.

In the six-month period from January through June 2022, Ride n’ Stride (RnS) staff 
continued teaching some in-person, while still also offering virtual format, bicycle and 
pedestrian safety presentations for preschool and K-5th grade elementary school 
students. Staff also delivered the Walk Smart program jointly with Ecology Action 
targeting second grade students. During this second biannual period, students received 
a Ride n’ Stride presentation combining both bicycle and pedestrian safety at two 
elementary schools reaching 94 students at Linscott and Gault schools. RnS staff also 
assisted in delivering a Walk Smart pedestrian safety presentation at one elementary 
school reaching 42 students at Live Oak school. A total of 3 elementary schools and 136 
students were reached this biannual period. For FY 21-22, a total of 9 schools were 
served reaching 750 students with 30 classroom presentations. This is less than half the 
number of students the program reaches in a school year due to staffing shortage 
mentioned below. 

2. Conduct at least 4 traffic safety presentations to parents and caregivers through
schools, community agencies and neighborhood groups to promote safe
bicycling and walking.

RnS staff conducted two virtual educational sessions this biannual period. One was for 
the Migrant Education Parent Action Committee on February 1st reaching 55 parents and 
caregivers using a Power Point presentation in Spanish to discuss bicycle safety and 
best practices when riding a bike. The other was a pedestrian safety presentation with 
Encompass Community Service’s Head Start Program. Staff developed a bilingual 
pedestrian safety presentation for the group to provide guidance on best safety practices 
for pedestrians and presented virtually to the Head Start families on April 27th reaching 
10 parents and caregivers. A total of 4 traffic safety presentations were conducted this 
year reaching 99 parents and caregivers. 

Exhibit B(2)

14-10



3. Participate in at least 4 school or community events to provide traffic safety
information and promote safe bicycling and walking.

RnS staff participated in the Nueva Vista Community Resource Center’s series of 
Summer Fun Bike Rides (two rides), including a bicycle safety presentation as well as a 
demonstration on the correct way to wear a helmet, reaching 11 participants on June 
16th and 11 participants on June 30th.Throughout the program year, the RnS team 
participated in a total of 6 community events reaching 280 community members. 

4. Work with the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) and community
partners to coordinate distribution and proper fitting of at least 200 bike helmets
to students and other community members.

On March 11th, RnS staff participated in the Save Souls Skate Bowls event at the 
Watsonville Youth Center, properly fitting and distributing helmets to 13 youth who 
received free custom skateboards. On April 13th, RnS staff prepared and distributed 15 
helmets to a trained volunteer with the Harm Reduction coalition for unhoused 
populations throughout Santa Cruz County and distributed and properly fit 11 helmets for 
the first Nueva Vista Community Summer Fun ride and 9 helmets for the second ride. 
Over this biannual period, RnS staff also distributed a total of 88 helmets to the Bike 
Church Helmet Fit Site in Santa Cruz and 25 helmets to Ecology Action for university 
students as part of their bike program at UCSC. A total of 161 helmets were distributed 
this biannual period for a total of 347 over the program year. 

5. Further develop, revise or procure multi-grade level bilingual curriculum in both
online and virtual formats, student and teacher resources, and/or child-to-adult
interventions for classroom presentations.

Through the Schools Virtual & In-Person Implementation Collaboration group within 
Public Health and collaborative discussions with Ecology Action program staff, RnS staff 
began developing ideas about refining the curriculum used, creating a guideline for 
presenters, and transitioning the evaluations to an online format. Once staffing is stable, 
work will begin on these ideas. 

6. Participate in the fall and spring Bike/Walk to School/Work events, bike rodeos,
walking field trips, and other bike/pedestrian safety activities, as staff time
permits.

RnS staff developed social media posts to share on the Community Traffic Safety 
Coalition Facebook page for National Bicycle Safety Month throughout May. A total of 11 
posts were developed and to date, the posts have reached 2,197 individuals, including 2 
comments, 9 shares, 43 link clicks, and 22 likes and reactions. On May 19th RnS staff 
participated in Bike/Walk to School Day events at Live Oak and Del Mar Elementary 
Schools. Staff were able to reach 121 children at Live Oak and 60 children at Del Mar. 
On May 20th RnS staff assisted at a Bike/Walk to School Day event with Gault 
Elementary School reaching 71 children.  

7. Participate in traffic safety meetings, such as CTSC, South County
Bike/Pedestrian Work Group, Vision Zero, and planning grant meetings as
staffing capacity and other program priorities allow.

14-11



RnS staff attended Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) meetings in February, 
April, and June. CTSC meeting agenda items included final review of the CTSC 2022-
2024 Vision Zero Work Plan and providing an opportunity for community members to 
share news, voice their concerns on traffic safety issues, including roundabouts and bike 
share, and discuss recent traffic crashes. Ride n’ Stride staff also attended Watsonville 
Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF) meetings in January, March, and May 
covering progress on Vision Zero Action Plan priority projects, creating a draft Action 
Plan addendum, discussions about bicycle licensing and bikes on sidewalks, and 
member and guest announcements. 

8. Develop online teacher program evaluations, continue conducting pre/post-
testing of students online or in-person and continue reporting bike and pedestrian
observational survey results among children and youth.

The RnS program has continued to focus on education and outreach to reach as many 
schools and community members as possible throughout this reporting period. Methods 
of evaluation administered virtually have not yet been implemented but will be developed 
further in the next biannual period. RnS staff did not participate in data collection this 
biannual period. With extra help staff, there has been an opportunity to review methods 
of teaching, curriculum, and evaluation methods. 

Plans for work to be done next TDA biannual period: 
The primary RnS staff person continued an extended leave so the program was short 
staffed throughout this biannual period. An extra help staff was brought on board part 
time to fill in for some duties until the permanent staff returns. Once staffing is more 
stable, the program will focus more time on the development of promotion and 
evaluation components as mentioned above, as well as conducting more classroom 
presentations. 

Please find the July 20, 2022 invoice and supporting documentation for TDA funds for the 
biannual period January - June 2022 attached. 

14-12



Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
CLAIM FORM 

Submit a separate form for each project. 

This form has been developed in an effort to standardize information required from TDA recipients, 
based on TDA Statute, RTC Rules and Regulations, and/or RTC board requests.  

If you have any questions about this claim form or would like an electronic copy of the form, 
 please contact the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission at 460-3200. 

Project Information 

1. Project Title: Ride n’ Stride (Bike & Pedestrian Safety school-based education program of CTSC)

2. Implementing Agency: County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency

3. Sponsoring Agency (if different) – must be a TDA Eligible Claimant: Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission

4. Funding requested this claim:  TDA– Local Transportation Funds (LTF) $____$78,000.00 __________
STA (transit/paratransit only) $_______________ 

5. Fiscal Year (FY) for which funds are claimed: FY 2023/2024

6. General purpose for which the claim is made, identified by the article and section of the Act which authorizes such
claims:
X   Article 8 Bicycle and/or Pedestrian Facility

 Article 4 Public Transportation 
 Article 8 Specialized Transportation via city sponsor 
 Article 3 & 8 TDA Admin or Planning 

7. Contact Person/Project Manager
Name: ________Theresia Rogerson________________________
Telephone Number: ____831-454-4312______  E-mail: __theresia.rogerson@santacruzcounty.us___

Secondary Contact (in event primary not available):__Andrea Solano______________________________ 
Telephone Number: ____831-454-4304______  E-mail: __andrea.solano@santacruzcounty.us________

8. Project/Program Description/Scope (use additional pages, if needed, to provide details such as work elements/tasks):
See attached Ride n’ Stride Education Work Plan for FY 2023-24

9. Project Location/Limits (attach a map and/or photos if available/applicable, include street names): All projects are
countywide and education presentations are available to every preschool and elementary school classroom.

10. Justification for the project. (Why is this project needed? Primary goal/purpose of the project; problem to be addressed;
project benefits; importance to the community) The Ride n’ Stride program provides school-based education and
encouragement with the goal of increased bike and pedestrian safety practices among youth. Ride n’ Stride increases
student confidence in using active modes of transportation in the community. Program staff are bilingual, enabling the
program to be effective in reaching the county’s diverse population of students and parents with key messages promoting 
the benefits of riding and walking. Program evaluations measures consistently show an increase in bike safety
knowledge among students and high satisfaction levels among teachers.

11. Project Productivity Goals for this fiscal year:
a. Measures of performance, success or completion to be used to evaluate project/program (ex. increase use of

facility/service, decrease collisions, etc.): To measure program success, Ride n’ Stride staff administer teacher
evaluations and pre/post-tests for students to measure gains in knowledge.

Exhibit C

14-13



TDA Claim 

b. Number of people to be served/anticipated number of users of project/program (ex. number of new or maintained
bike miles; number of people served/rides provided): The program aims to reach 2,000 elementary school
students through classroom presentations and approximately 500 more students and/or school community
members through additional outreach, safety equipment distribution, and education programming.

12. Consistency and relationship with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) - Is program/project listed in the RTP and/or
consistent with a specific RTP Goal/Policy? Programmed into the 2040 RTP under project #CO50.

13. Impact(s) of project on other modes of travel, if any (ex. parking to be removed): Through traffic safety education,
biking and walking encouragement, and provision of bicycle helmets, more students and parents will gain confidence
and motivation to use active forms of transportation, thereby reducing the numbers of vehicle mode trips to and from
school sites, as well as for other local trips.

14. Estimated Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (attach project budget). Specialized
Transportation Claims require 10% local match or other performance standard. Local match can take the form of fares,
donations, agency charges, grants, revenue sharing and other non-restricted sources. In kind services many NOT apply
toward the local match. In lieu of a 10% match performance standard, the Volunteer Center performance standard is
to provide 4,000 rides per year.

What is the total project cost? $180,000.00

Is project fully funded? No, funding is sought each year to match TDA funding.

What will TDA (and STA, if applicable) funds be used on (ex. operations, administration, brochures, engineering,
construction)? TDA funds are used for personnel, travel and materials needed to implement the program. Please see
attached Ride n’ Stride Safety Program Budget for FY 2023-24.

15. Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA-LTF fund distribution (see RTC Rules and Regulations for details and
requirements. Note if funds are distributed in advance of use, agencies will be required to subsequently provide
documentation of actual expenditures.):
a. Bike/Ped: Cities/County:  Up to 90% upon initiation of work OR  100% upon project completion 

HSA/BTW:  Quarterly disbursement OR X Semi-annual disbursement 

b. CTSA:  Quarterly disbursement, with up to 35% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being one-
third of the remaining claim amount;  

OR  Quarterly disbursement 

c. Volunteer Center:  Full approved claim amount in the first quarter 

d. SCMTD:  Quarterly disbursement 

16. TDA Eligibility: YES?/NO? 
A. Has the project/program been approved by the claimant's governing body? Form of approval

________Budget__________________ (eg resolution, work program, budget, other document)
If "NO," provide the approximate date approval is anticipated._______________

Yes 

B. Has this project previously received TDA funding? If yes, date RTC approved:__Annually______ Yes 
C. For capital projects, have provisions been made by the claimant to maintain the project or facility,

or has the claimant arranged for such maintenance by another agency?  (If an agency other than
the Claimant is to maintain the facility provide its name: ________________________________ )

N/A 

D. Has the project already been reviewed by the RTC Bicycle Committee and/or Elderly/Disabled
Transportation Advisory Committee? (If "NO," project will be reviewed prior to RTC approval).

No 

14-14



TDA Claim 

E. For "bikeways," does the project meet Caltrans minimum safety design criteria pursuant to
Chapter 1000 of the California Highway Design Manual? (Available on the internet via:
http://www.dot.ca.gov).

N/A 

F. For Article 4 transit claims: Does operator meet Article 4 eligibility requirements?
i. Farebox recovery ratio? and/or,
ii. 50 percent expenditure rule as an older operator, defined as service starting prior to 1974?

N/A 

Bike/Ped (Article 8) Only 
17. Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (complete “24a” or “24b”)

a. Capital Projects (Bicycle projects: Bicycle Advisory Committee or RTC must approve the final project
design plans prior to construction; see RTC Rules & Regulations)

Planning Environ-
mental 

Design/ 
Engineering ROW Construction Other

* Contingency Total 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Yr) 
Completion 
Date __/__ 
Total 
Cost/Phase 
$TDA 
Requested 
(this claim) 
Prior TDA: 

Source 3: 

Source 4: 

Unsecured/ 
additional 
need** 

*Please describe what is included in “Other”:

b. Non-Capital Projects – Cost/Schedule: List any tasks and amount per task for which TDA will be used. Can
be substituted with alternate budget format.

Please see attached Ride n’ Stride Safety Program Budget for FY 2023-24. 

Work Element/ 
Activity/Task 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Year) 

Total Cost per 
Element 

$ TDA 
requested $ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4: 

Administration
/Overhead 
Activity 1: 

Activity 2: 

Activity 3: 

Activity 4: 

Ex. 
Consultants 
Ex. Materials 

14-15



TDA Claim 

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF 
18. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity
 Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or

increase ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.

 Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:

Ride n’ Stride staff continued to collaborate with Ecology Action this past year on promotion, scheduling, and delivery 
of bicycle and pedestrian education in the schools. Ride n’ Stride continued to utilize existing or low-cost educational 
materials and program supplies, and program staff secured other sources of traffic safety funding for distribution of 
bicycle helmets, educational materials, and reflective items to participants.  In addition, the program utilizes in-kind 
donations of teacher and volunteer time to support the program. All program staff contributed to streamlining our 
process to promote the program and respond to community requests and inquiries. With continued virtual and in-person 
delivery options, presentations are now catered to teacher and student needs with less travel and staff time accrued 
overall. Ride n’ Stride experienced reductions in personnel costs again this past year due to continued staff disaster 
response deployments as well as staff vacancies and leaves of absence. The unused TDA funding rollover has been used 
to improve program curriculum, educational materials, and project delivery efficiencies. HSA has been successful in 
using TDA allocations from RTC to leverage additional funding and will focus this next year on training new staff being 
hired to ensure continued success and benefits to the community through Ride n’ Stride programming. 

19. What is different from last year’s program/claim?

This next year Ride n’ Stride staff plan to focus on utilizing updated grade level curriculum and program evaluation in both 
virtual and in-person formats for bicycle and pedestrian school education. Ride n’ Stride will also strengthen relationships 
with partner agencies and Helmet Fit Sites to expand our reach in community education and safety equipment distribution. 
Program staff will continue to be involved in local transportation planning and other traffic safety efforts, such as Vision 
Zero, providing a public health perspective at meetings and events. These efforts, combined with Ride n’ Stride objectives, 
will encourage active transportation while increasing safety for all road users.  

20. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:
 SCMD – April each year 
 Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC _____________ (Months/Year) 

X   HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee  (Annually in April/May); RTC (Biannually in January and July) 

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services 
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service. 
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer 
service. 

14-16



TDA Claim 

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims): 

All Claims 
 A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its

accompanying documentation.
 Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims 
 Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center) 
 A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year
 Description of capital projects, including timeframe over which project will be funded and implemented
 Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities (can be within project/program description)
 TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims 
 A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.
 Other Certifications

Local Agency Certification: 

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and 
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html).  I certify that the information provided 
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be 
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.   

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as 
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or 
disbursement upon project completion. 

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the 
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664 
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the 
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This       requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work or 
HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC. 

Signature _____________________________ Title:__________________________________Date:_____________ 

\\RTCSERV2\Shared\GRANTS\TDA\TDA Claim Forms\FinalTDAClaimFormMaster 23-24.docx 

Senior Health Services Manager 4/4/23

14-17

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html


Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) 
Ride n’ Stride Education Work Plan 

FY 2023-2024 

The Ride n’ Stride program aims to increase safe bicycling and walking knowledge and behavior 
among elementary school students throughout Santa Cruz County. Classroom bicycle and 
pedestrian safety presentations were adapted for virtual delivery during pandemic restrictions 
and both virtual and in-person formats are now available. The curriculum used covers basic 
bicycle and pedestrian transportation safety to young students in preschools and K-6th grades.  

Interactive education sessions include additional micromobility devices, such as scooters and 
skateboards, are designed to be age appropriate, and are offered in English and/or Spanish. To 
compliment classroom programming for Ride n’ Stride, previously developed activity packets 
are offered to teachers and align with California Common Core standards to reinforce traffic 
safety messages. The packets are geared for 2nd/3rd grade for pedestrian safety education and 
5th grade classrooms for bicycle safety education.  

Ride n’ Stride encourages students to be role models for safe riding and walking among their 
friends, families, and classmates. In addition to engaging the students and teachers, Ride n’ 
Stride staff also conduct outreach to parents/caregivers and the broader school communities. 
The outreach and education components are listed below and work towards a vision of safe and 
active transportation for all our youngest community members. 

FY 2023-24 Work Plan Objectives and Activities: 
 Conduct bicycle and pedestrian safety education sessions for at least 2,000 elementary

school and pre-school students in Santa Cruz County school districts, including
distribution of supplemental resources, such as activity packets.

 Conduct at least 4 traffic safety presentations to parents and caregivers through schools,
community agencies, and neighborhood groups to promote safe bicycling and walking.

 Participate in at least 3 school or community events to provide traffic safety information
and promote safe bicycling and walking.

 Work with the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC), Helmet Fit Sites, and
community partners to coordinate distribution and proper fitting of at least 200 bike
helmets to students and other community members.

 Further develop elementary school bilingual curriculum based on grade level, in both
virtual and in-person formats, including student and teacher resources and child-to-adult
interventions.

 Participate in the fall and spring Bike/Walk to School events, bike rodeos, walking field
trips, and other bike/pedestrian safety activities, as staff time permits.

 Participate in traffic safety meetings, such as the CTSC and Watsonville Vision Zero
Task Force, as staffing capacity and other program priorities allow.

 Further develop program evaluations for teachers and pre/post-tests for students, in both
virtual and in-person formats, and continue to report bike and pedestrian observational
survey results among children and youth when conducted.

Exhibit D

14-18



BIANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT 
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS 

FY 21-22 First BIANNUAL PERIOD 
July 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 

Project Title:  Community Traffic Safety Coalition 
Agency:  Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency 

Project Contact:  Theresia Rogerson 831-454-4312 theresia.rogerson@santacruzcounty.us 

Vision Zero Work Plan Activities Progress 

1) City of Watsonville

Continue assisting in Vision Zero Action Plan implementation. 
• CTSC staff joined a sub-committee of the Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF) to

develop application materials for the League of American Bicyclists’ (LAB) Bicycle
Friendly Community Award. The sub-committee met on a bi-weekly basis between July
2021 and September 2021 to complete the application, with submission in September
2021.

• In December 2021, the LAB renewed Watsonville’s bronze level status and provided the
WVZTF members with the City of Watsonville’s Bicycle Friendly Community Report Card,
which were distributed to the community for review.

• During the November 2021 WVZTF meeting, the group discussed applying for a Walk
Friendly Community Award in 2022 for a potential submission in June 2022.

• The CTSC staff continue to assist with meeting minutes for the bi-monthly WVZTF
meetings, assisting with recording and finalizing minutes for the meetings.

• Alongside Bike Santa Cruz County, the CTSC staff planned and implemented the City of
Watsonville’s first World Day of Remembrance for Road Traffic Victims event in
November 2021. CTSC and Bike Santa Cruz County staff, as well as members of the
WVZTF led a walk from the Plaza with the first half in silence to honor those who were
killed or seriously injured due to traffic violence.

2) City of Santa Cruz

Assist in community engagement, data collection, and developing a Santa Cruz Vision Zero Task 
Force and Action Plan. 

• CTSC staff met regularly with the City of Santa Cruz staff to discuss movement on
developing a Vision Zero Task Force and a Vision Zero Action Plan during this biannual
period.

Exhibit E(1)

14-19



• CTSC staff plans to meet with the new City of Santa Cruz City Manager in 2022 to move
forward with Vision Zero progress.

3) County of Santa Cruz, Capitola, Scotts Valley, UCSC

Advocate for Vision Zero policy adoption and implementation in each jurisdiction. 

County of Santa Cruz 
• CTSC staff have been in communication with County Public Works staff about proposing

a Vision Zero policy in the unincorporated area of the county.
• CTSC staff have also met with a member of the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors

to discuss advocating for adoption of a Vision Zero program in the unincorporated area
of the County.

City of Capitola 
• A City of Capitola representative has been attending the CTSC and WVZTF meetings and

CSTC staff began conversations regarding promoting Vision Zero policy in Capitola.

City of Scotts Valley 
• In September 2021, CTSC staff reached out to community members of Scotts Valley who

expressed concerns about traffic safety in their neighborhood and invited them to attend
coalition meetings.

• CTSC staff set up a virtual follow-up meeting in November 2021 with Scotts Valley
community members to hear about their experiences trying to improve traffic safety and
to inform them about Vision Zero.

• In December 2021, CTSC staff set up an informal walk audit with members of the Blue
Bonnet neighborhood in Scotts Valley. Staff from the Scotts Valley Public Works
Department attended the walk to discuss traffic safety projects in the area.

4) Countywide

Develop and maintain countywide Vision Zero collaboration and implementation through 
Education, Engineering, Enforcement, Encouragement, Evaluation and Engagement with all 
efforts incorporating Equity. 

• CTSC staff researched traffic safety messaging from the California Office of Traffic Safety
and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration to share with community
members via the CTSC Facebook page during this biannual period.

• CTSC staff continue to track traffic-related fatalities and severe injuries and discuss
these incidents as part of each CTSC/WVZTF meeting.

• Local law enforcement agencies are regularly invited to report traffic-related fatalities
and injuries to the two groups.

14-20



• CTSC staff use Facebook to post messages that acknowledge losses to families of traffic
violence victims.

• CTSC staff communicate about local crashes with the relevant jurisdictions to gather
further information if available.

• Starting in October 2021, the CTSC staff and coalition members began to develop the
CTSC FY 2022-2024 Vision Zero Work Plan. This was a collaborative effort to update and
re-imagine the work plan for the upcoming fiscal year period.

• CTSC staff and coalition members focused on incorporating a Safe Systems approach to
the work plan to align with the national Vision Zero Network and the Federal Highway
Administration that can be viewed at
https://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/zerodeaths/docs/FHWA_SafeSystem_Brochure_V9_508_20
0717.pdf

CTSC Media Coverage 

Ecology Action – July 15, 2021 
Good Things Come to Those Who Wait, and State Transportation Funding is Coming to Santa 
Cruz County 
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/good-things-come-to-those-who-wait-and-state-
transportation-funding-is-coming-to-santa-cruz-
county?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+T
ransportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email  

The Pajaronian – July 19, 2021 
Watsonville celebrates completion of Rail Trail portion 
https://pajaronian.com/watsonville-celebrates-completion-of-rail-trail-segment/ 

Ecology Action – July 26, 2021 
County of Santa Cruz Active Transportation Plan Moves Forward with Temporary Installations 
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/county-of-santa-cruz-active-transportation-plan-
moves-forward-with-temporary-
installations?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Acti
ve+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email  

Families for Safe Streets – November 21, 2021 
World Day of Remembrance Walk: listed on the Families for Safe Streets websites 
https://worlddayofremembrancefss.org/#calendar 

Santa Cruz Sentinel – December 3, 2021 
Guest Commentary: A Mother’s Plea About Saving Lives on Our Streets 
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/12/03/guest-commentary-a-mothers-plea-about-
saving-lives-on-our-streets/ 

14-21

https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/good-things-come-to-those-who-wait-and-state-transportation-funding-is-coming-to-santa-cruz-county?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/good-things-come-to-those-who-wait-and-state-transportation-funding-is-coming-to-santa-cruz-county?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/good-things-come-to-those-who-wait-and-state-transportation-funding-is-coming-to-santa-cruz-county?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/good-things-come-to-those-who-wait-and-state-transportation-funding-is-coming-to-santa-cruz-county?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://pajaronian.com/watsonville-celebrates-completion-of-rail-trail-segment/
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/county-of-santa-cruz-active-transportation-plan-moves-forward-with-temporary-installations?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/county-of-santa-cruz-active-transportation-plan-moves-forward-with-temporary-installations?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/county-of-santa-cruz-active-transportation-plan-moves-forward-with-temporary-installations?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://ecoact.org/active-transportation/county-of-santa-cruz-active-transportation-plan-moves-forward-with-temporary-installations?utm_source=ActiveCampaign&utm_medium=email&utm_content=July+2021+Active+Transportation+Newsletter&utm_campaign=July++21+Transportation+Email
https://worlddayofremembrancefss.org/#calendar
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/12/03/guest-commentary-a-mothers-plea-about-saving-lives-on-our-streets/
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/12/03/guest-commentary-a-mothers-plea-about-saving-lives-on-our-streets/


CTSC Letters of Support 
1) October 7, 2021 – Letter to the City of Santa Cruz City Council to express concerns about

the underground garage entrance/exit onto the new 831 Water St. Housing
Development

2) October 8, 2021 – Letter to the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission
in support for a Santa Cruz County Climate Adaptation Vulnerability Assessment and
Transportation Priorities Report for Caltrans Sustainable Communities Grant

3) October 25, 2021 – Letter to the City of Watsonville Public Works & Utilities Department
in support for the Watsonville Active Transportation Plan grant proposal.

4) December 9, 2021 – Letter to the California Coastal Commission in support of approval
for the California Coastal Commission Federal Consistency Determination for the North
Coast Rail Trail between Wilder Ranch and Davenport

Ongoing CTSC Programs 

Bicycle Traffic School (BTS) – BTS two-hour classes are now offered quarterly and are taught by 
CTSC staff’s League Cycling Instructor (LCI), which is a certification from the League of American 
Bicyclists (LAB). These classes are now taught virtually while COVID-19 mitigation limits in-
person group gatherings. CTSC staff provides information about this diversion program to local 
law enforcement agencies regularly. In addition, the class is offered free to the public for those 
who want to feel safer and more confident riding on busy local streets. 

Traffic Calming Programs - In an effort to slow traffic on residential streets, CTSC offers both a 
Trash Can Sticker and PACE Car stickers for community members to use when speeding is an 
issue in their neighborhood. The Trash Can Sticker is a sticker developed by CTSC that says 
‘Please Drive Slowly’ to be placed on curbside waste collection bins. This traffic calming 
program is currently operating in the City of Santa Cruz only. The Santa Cruz County Cycling 
Club (SCCCC) awarded funding for initial development and production of the stickers. Other 
waste management agencies in the county will be approached in the future to offer the 
program in other jurisdictions. The PACE Car program also aims to reduce speeds in 
neighborhoods and has been ongoing for many years. Pace car community members sign a 
pledge to drive within the speed limit, stop for pedestrians, drive courteously, and display a 
Pace Car Sticker on their vehicles.  Pace car drivers act as “mobile speed bumps,” slowing any 
speeding drivers behind them. The more Pace car drivers in a neighborhood, the more 
effectively the program works to slow traffic.  

Anyone who is interested in requesting a Trash Can or Pace Car sticker may go to the 
Order/Comment Form of the CTSC website at www.sctrafficsafety.org 

CTSC Website, Facebook Page and YouTube Channel – CTSC maintains an active social media 
presence through its website, Facebook page, and YouTube channel. The Facebook page at 
www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety is used to share timely traffic safety related news and 
events, promote safe traffic behaviors, and air targeted PSAs. The YouTube channel at 
www.youtube.com/sctrafficsafety includes video playlists for bike safety, distracted driving, and 
child passenger safety resources. 

14-22

http://www.sctrafficsafety.org/
http://www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety
http://www.youtube.com/sctrafficsafety


Please find the May 11, 2022 invoice and supporting documentation for TDA funds for the 
biannual period July - December 2021 attached. 

14-23



BIANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT 
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS 

FY 21-22 First BIANNUAL PERIOD 
Jan 1, 2022 – June 30, 2022 

Project Title:  Community Traffic Safety Coalition 
Agency:  Santa Cruz County Health Services Agency 

Project Contact: Arnold Shir 831-454-5277 arnold.shir@santacruzcounty.us 

Vision Zero Work Plan Activities Progress 

1) City of Watsonville

Continue assisting in Vision Zero Action Plan implementation. 
• CTSC staff continued to assist with meeting minutes for the bi-monthly Watsonville

Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF) meetings. The team assisted with recording and
finalizing minutes for the January 2022, March 2022, and May 2022 meetings.

• CTSC staff reviewed the WVZTF’s 2022 Vision Zero Action Plan priority projects and
provided feedback. This included review and incorporation of the recommendations
made by the League of American Bicyclist’s from the City of Watsonville’s recent Bronze-
level Bike Friendly Community award process.

• CTSC staff presented the CTSC 2022-2024 Vision Zero Work Plan to the task force for
review of the Watsonville-specific section. Comments from members were incorporated
into the draft work plan.

• In March 2022, CTSC staff and WVZTF leadership joined a Vision Zero Peer Exchange for
small and mid-sized cities in Northern California. Staff members brought back lessons
learned and tips to the task force after attending the Peer Exchange sessions.

• CTSC staff shared new funding opportunities that could help fund Vision Zero activities
with the WVZTF throughout this reporting period. Specific opportunities included the
new Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) grant opportunity through the Federal
Highway Administration.

• CTSC staff helped create the Walk Friendly Community Application sub-committee that
met from January to May 2022 to review application materials. The sub-committee
determined that the WVZTF would be best suited to apply for the December 2022
deadline based on current availability of sub-committee members.

• CTSC staff worked with City of Watsonville staff members to begin planning for the
World Day of Remembrance for Road Traffic Victims walk in November 2022.

Exhibit E(2)

14-24



2) City of Santa Cruz

Assist in community engagement, data collection, and developing a Santa Cruz Vision Zero Task 
Force and Action Plan. 

• In February 2022, CTSC staff met with community advocates from the City of Santa Cruz
to prepare for a meeting with the new City Manager of Santa Cruz, including preparing an
agenda for the meeting and materials to be shared with the City Manager.

• In March 2022, CTSC staff and community members met with the City Manager, Matt
Huffaker, to gain an understanding of where he prioritizes Vision Zero and to identify a city
staff liaison in his office to develop a Vision Zero Task Force.

• CTSC staff shared media articles with City of Santa Cruz staff identifying safety
improvements desired by the community, including the Santa Cruz Good Times article
listed below.

• Throughout this reporting period, CTSC staff shared new funding opportunities that could
help fund Vision Zero activities within the City of Santa Cruz, including the new federal
SS4A grant program.

• CTSC staff attended the City of Santa Cruz Police Department’s Charting the Future:
Community Safety and SCPD Priorities event to understand the new Police Chief’s
priorities.

• In June 2022, CTSC staff and community members met with newly inducted Police Chief
Bernie Escalante to discuss his priorities as the new chief, to gauge his understanding of
Vision Zero, and to understand where Vision Zero fell on his priority list. The group
requested that the Police Department be a part of the Santa Cruz Vision Zero Task Force
as it is developed.

• CTSC staff and community members also held a meeting in June 2022 with the new Fire
Chief Robert Oatey to discuss the same items as with the Police Chief above and ask that
the fire department become a part of the Vision Zero Task Force once developed as well.

3) County of Santa Cruz, Capitola, Scotts Valley, UCSC

Advocate for Vision Zero policy adoption and implementation in each jurisdiction. 

County of Santa Cruz 
• CTSC staff communicated with County Public Works staff about proposing adoption of a

Vision Zero policy in the unincorporated area of the county.
• CTSC staff participated in a Vision Zero small and medium sized cities peer exchange for

Northern California cities hosted by the Federal Highway Administration. CTSC staff
shared the various challenges and successes that were experienced in Santa Cruz County,
and learned from the other jurisdictions who attended the call. CTSC staff exchanged
contact information with each of the attendees to continue supporting each other in
improving traffic safety.

14-25



• In May 2022, CTSC staff met with the Director of the County of Santa Cruz’s Community
Development and Infrastructure (CDI) Department and their Senior Civil Engineer to
propose a Vision Zero resolution to the Board of Supervisors as well as share information
on new funding opportunities, including the new federal SS4A grant program.

• CTSC staff held two follow-up meetings in June 2022 with County CDI Department staff
to begin required work to submit a federal SS4A grant application.

City of Capitola 
• CTSC staff reached out to City of Capitola Public Works Department staff to involve them

in planning meetings for the SS4A grant opportunity as a joint applicant with the County
of Santa Cruz.

City of Scotts Valley 
• CTSC staff contacted City of Scotts Valley Public Works staff to inquire about the process

of applying for a stop sign within a neighborhood and were referred to the Traffic Safety
Advisory Committee for further information.

• In February 2022, CTSC staff contacted Scotts Valley Traffic Sergeant Scott Garner to
inquire about the City of Scotts Valley’s Traffic Safety Advisory Committee. This call was
held to gain further information on how to improve traffic safety with a community
group concerned about traffic safety in their neighborhood.

• In April 2022, CTSC staff were contacted by a community member that attended the walk
audit conducted in December 2021. They worked with the Traffic Sergeant and the
Director of Public Works to conduct a formal MUTCD study that determined a 4-way stop
sign was warranted Bluebonnet Road and Bean Creek Road. The project is expected to
start in Fall 2022 or early 2023.

4) Countywide

Develop and maintain countywide Vision Zero collaboration and implementation through 
Education, Engineering, Enforcement, Encouragement, Evaluation and Engagement with all 
efforts incorporating Equity. 

Education 
• CTSC staff researched various traffic safety resources from reputable sources such as

the California Office of Traffic Safety and the National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration to share with community members via the CTSC Facebook page
throughout this reporting period.

• CTSC staff shared the City of Santa Cruz’s Street Smarts videos as they became available
via the CTSC Facebook page.

14-26



Engineering 
• CTSC staff actively participated in the planning process to develop the County’s first

Active Transportation Plan for the unincorporated areas of the county.

Enforcement 
• Local law enforcement agencies have been regularly invited to CTSC and WVZTF

meetings to report traffic-related fatalities and injuries to the two groups.

Encouragement 
• In June 2022, CTSC staff attended the Seacliff Improvement Association’s Meet and

Greet to present information to the community about the CTSC activities, how to
become involved in Vision Zero, and heard about traffic safety concerns within the area.

Evaluation 
• CTSC staff continue to track local traffic-related fatalities and severe injuries and discuss

these incidents as part of each CTSC/WVZTF meeting.
• CTSC staff use Facebook to post messages that acknowledge losses to families of traffic

violence victims.
• CTSC staff forward information on local crashes to the relevant law enforcement agency

to get any follow-up information on the crash and victims when available.

Engagement 
• CTSC staff incorporated feedback from an interactive process with the coalition

members at their December 2021 meeting into a draft CTSC FY 2022-2024 Vision Zero
Work Plan. Members reviewed the draft during the February 2022 meeting. Comments
and discussion from this session were noted and edits were incorporated as necessary.
Specific projects and ideas that arose from the conversation were noted and
documented for discussion at future meetings.

• The CTSC FY 2022-2024 Vision Zero Work Plan was submitted to the Regional
Transportation Commission’s Bicycle Advisory Committee in April 2022.

CTSC Media Coverage 

Santa Cruz Sentinel – 1/5/2022 
Watsonville task force analyzes bike safety report card 
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-
report-
card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1C
S5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medi
um=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fw
atsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-
morning-report&utm_content=curated 

14-27

https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated
https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2022/01/04/watsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card/?utm_email=34F125F2845E045FA4AC3454A3&g2i_eui=euGqF1OXol8T%2bsB6CSFNFxs1CS5RVbimgHzhlu4Trp8%3d&g2i_source=newsletter&active=no&utm_source=listrak&utm_medium=email&utm_term=https%3a%2f%2fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2f2022%2f01%2f04%2fwatsonville-task-force-analyzes-bike-safety-report-card%2f&utm_campaign=norcal-santa-cruz-morning-report&utm_content=curated


This article by the Santa Cruz Sentinel covered the Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force meeting 
that reviewed feedback from the League of American Bicyclists’ Bicycle Friendly Community 
Award. The article looked at areas of success and improvements for the City of Watsonville in 
regard to bicycle safety.  

Santa Cruz Good Times – 4/6/22 
Fatal Cayuga Street Crash Reignites Push for Traffic Reform 
https://www.goodtimes.sc/fatal-cayuga-street-crash-reignites-push-for-traffic-reform/ 

This article shared in the Santa Cruz Good Times looked at the push for street safety 
improvements by community members in response to a fatal crash in the City of Santa Cruz. 
The article reviewed historical efforts to make street safety improvements in the local area and 
the game plan moving forward.  

Montevalle Mirror (Montevalle local newsletter) – May 2022 
Update on Intersection of Bluebonnet Road and Bean Creek Road (page 3) 
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1EjPsZ0PLQ-WuofGyJ7Gb3aRUClD3uBBf/view?usp=sharing 

The article provided an update on the intersection of Bluebonnet Road and Bean Creek Road in 
the City of Scotts Valley. CTSC staff conducted a walk audit with community members in this 
neighborhood and connected them to Scotts Valley Public Works staff. They worked with the 
staff and Traffic Sergeant to conduct an MUTCD review that led to a planned 4-way stop. 

CTSC Letters of Support 
1) January 24, 2022 – Letter to Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission to

support the Rail Trail Volunteer Maintenance program, Clean California Local Grant
Program application.

2) May 11, 2022 – Letter to the State of California’s Department of Transportation to
support the Active Transportation Program Cycle 6 grant application for the Safe Routes
for Watsonville School Families and Community non-infrastructure application.

3) May 11, 2022 – Letter to the State of California’s Department of Transportation to
support the Active Transportation Program Cycle 6 grant application for the Santa Cruz
Rail Trail Segment 8 and 9 Construction project.

4) May 17, 2022 – Letter to the State of California’s Department of Transportation to
support the Active Transportation Program Cycle 6 grant application for the Safe Routes
to Downtown Watsonville project.

5) June 8, 2022 – Two letters were submitted to the National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration with public comments on the New Car Assessment Program. The letters
addressed improvements that could be made to further improve safety of all road users,
rather than just those within the vehicles. The first letter utilized a general template
from the Families for Safe Streets Coalition and the second letter included a more
tailored County of Santa Cruz perspective.

14-28

https://www.goodtimes.sc/fatal-cayuga-street-crash-reignites-push-for-traffic-reform/
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1EjPsZ0PLQ-WuofGyJ7Gb3aRUClD3uBBf/view?usp=sharing


Webinars Attended 

February 4th, 2022 – What’s Next for Zero Traffic Deaths Campaign?  

Hosted by the National Safety Council to discuss the National Roadway Safety Strategy 

March 17th, 2022 – Road to Zero Annual Meeting 

Hosted by the Road to Zero Coalition to review 2021 accomplishments and share plans to 
combat traffic fatalities moving forward into 2022.  

May 2nd, 2022 – Getting Ready for the Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) Program 

Hosted by the Road to Zero Coalition to review 2021 accomplishments and share plans to 
combat traffic fatalities moving forward into 2022.  

Ongoing CTSC Programs 

Bicycle Traffic School (BTS) – BTS two-hour classes are now offered quarterly and are taught by 
CTSC staff’s League Cycling Instructor (LCI), which is a certification from the League of American 
Bicyclists (LAB). These classes are now taught virtually while COVID-19 mitigation limits in-
person group gatherings. CTSC staff provides information about this diversion program to local 
law enforcement agencies regularly. In addition, the class is offered free to the public for those 
who want to feel safer and more confident riding on busy local streets. 

Traffic Calming Programs - In an effort to slow traffic on residential streets, CTSC offers both a 
Trash Can Sticker and PACE Car stickers for community members to use when speeding is an 
issue in their neighborhood. The Trash Can Sticker says ‘Please Drive Slowly’ and was developed 
by CTSC members to be placed on curbside waste collection bins. This traffic calming program is 
currently operating in the City of Santa Cruz only. The PACE Car program also aims to reduce 
speeding in neighborhoods and has been ongoing for many years. Pace car community 
members sign a pledge to drive within the speed limit, stop for pedestrians, drive courteously, 
and display a Pace Car Sticker on their vehicles.  Pace car drivers act as “mobile speed bumps,” 
slowing any speeding drivers behind them. The more Pace car drivers in a neighborhood, the 
more effectively the program works to slow traffic. Anyone interested in requesting these 
stickers may go to the Order/Comment Form of the CTSC website at www.sctrafficsafety.org 

CTSC Website, Facebook Page and YouTube Channel – CTSC maintains an active social media 
presence through its website, Facebook page, and YouTube channel. The Facebook page at 
www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety is used to share timely traffic safety related news and 
events, promote safe traffic behaviors, and air targeted PSAs. The YouTube channel at 
www.youtube.com/sctrafficsafety includes video playlists for bike safety, distracted driving, and 
child passenger safety resources. 

Please find the July 20, 2022 invoice and supporting documentation for TDA funds for the period 
January – June 2022 attached. 

14-29

http://www.sctrafficsafety.org/
http://www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety
http://www.youtube.com/sctrafficsafety


Transportation Development Act (TDA) 

CLAIM FORM 
Submit a separate form for each project. 

This form has been developed in an effort to standardize information required from TDA recipients, 

based on TDA Statute, RTC Rules and Regulations, and/or RTC board requests.  

If you have any questions about this claim form or would like an electronic copy of the form, 

 please contact the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission at 460-3200. 

Project Information 

1. Project Title: Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC)

2. Implementing Agency: County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency

3. Sponsoring Agency (if different) – must be a TDA Eligible Claimant: Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission

4. Funding requested this claim:  TDA– Local Transportation Funds (LTF) $__$78,000.00_____
STA (transit/paratransit only) $_______________ 

5. Fiscal Year (FY) for which funds are claimed: FY_2023/2024_____

6. General purpose for which the claim is made, identified by the article and section of the Act which authorizes such
claims:
X   Article 8 Bicycle and/or Pedestrian Facility

 Article 4 Public Transportation 
 Article 8 Specialized Transportation via city sponsor 
 Article 3 & 8 TDA Admin or Planning 

7. Contact Person/Project Manager
Name: ___Arnold Shir___________
Telephone Number: _831-454-5477________ E-mail: _arnold.shir@santacruzcounty.us__________

Secondary Contact (in event primary not available):___Theresia Rogerson________________________ 
Telephone Number: _831-454-4312_______  E-mail:_theresia.rogerson@santacruzcounty.us__________

8. Project/Program Description/Scope (use additional pages, if needed, to provide details such as work elements/tasks):
Please see attached CTSC Vision Zero Work Plan for FY 2022-2024.

9. Project Location/Limits (attach a map and/or photos if available/applicable, include street names): The Vision Zero
work plan has a countywide focus engaging all jurisdictions. As needs and opportunities arise in the work plan period,
specific jurisdictions or populations may be targeted for traffic safety activities.

10. Justification for the project. (Why is this project needed? Primary goal/purpose of the project; problem to be addressed;
project benefits; importance to the community) Our Santa Cruz County community experiences higher rates of bicycle
and pedestrian involved fatal and injury collisions than other comparison cities across the state and the pandemic
exacerbated this (Please see attached CTSC Vision Zero Work Plan for FY 2022-2024 for data and rankings). To
address this, the CTSC adopted Vision Zero in 2016 as a new approach to our traffic safety work. Vision Zero is a
world-wide traffic safety program that aims to eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries while increasing
safe, healthy, and equitable mobility for all. This program aligns with the mission of the CTSC, which is to prevent
traffic-related injuries and fatalities for all road users, with a focus on people biking and walking. The CTSC therefore
provides a forum for various agencies and individuals to share information, address issues, collaborate on solutions, and
act as a resource for its members and the community. The CTSC envisions safe, accessible and equitable transportation
for all.

Exhibit F

14-30



TDA Claim 

11. Project Productivity Goals for this fiscal year:
a. Measures of performance, success or completion to be used to evaluate project/program (ex. increase use of

facility/service, decrease collisions, etc.): Please see attached CTSC Vision Zero Work Plan for FY 2022-2024.

b. Number of people to be served/anticipated number of users of project/program (ex. number of new or maintained
bike miles; number of people served/rides provided): The target audience for Vision Zero policy adoption in the
CTSC work plan is community stakeholders and decision makers in each jurisdiction while also engaging a broad
spectrum of community members throughout the county in identifying issues and developing solutions. Through
a variety of program activities, such as outreach and education, several thousand people are reached directly each
year.

12. Consistency and relationship with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) - Is program/project listed in the RTP and/or
consistent with a specific RTP Goal/Policy? Programmed into the 2040 RTP under project #CO50.

13. Impact(s) of project on other modes of travel, if any (ex. parking to be removed): The CTSC works to promote safe and
active transportation by conducting community-based activities such as participating in Bike/Walk to School/Work
Days and Open Streets events, distributing bike helmets to low-income youth and adults, and utilizing both traditional
and social media messaging to reach all age groups. The aim of the attached two-year Vision Zero work plan is to
develop policies and projects that use a Safe System approach.

14. Estimated Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (attach project budget). Specialized

Transportation Claims require 10% local match or other performance standard. Local match can take the form of fares,

donations, agency charges, grants, revenue sharing and other non-restricted sources. In kind services many NOT apply

toward the local match. In lieu of a 10% match performance standard, the Volunteer Center performance standard is

to provide 4,000 rides per year.

What is the total project cost? $180,000.00

Is project fully funded? No, funding is sought each year to match TDA funding.

What will TDA (and STA, if applicable) funds be used on (ex. operations, administration, brochures, engineering,

construction)? TDA funds are used for personnel, travel and materials needed to implement the program. Please see
attached Community Traffic Safety Coalition Budget for FY 2023-24.

15. Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA-LTF fund distribution (see RTC Rules and Regulations for details and

requirements. Note if funds are distributed in advance of use, agencies will be required to subsequently provide

documentation of actual expenditures.):
a. Bike/Ped: Cities/County:  Up to 90% upon initiation of work OR  100% upon project completion 

HSA/BTW:  Quarterly disbursement OR X Semi-annual disbursement 

b. CTSA:  Quarterly disbursement, with up to 35% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being one-
third of the remaining claim amount;  

OR  Quarterly disbursement 

c. Volunteer Center:  Full approved claim amount in the first quarter 

d. SCMTD:  Quarterly disbursement 

16. TDA Eligibility: YES?/NO? 

A. Has the project/program been approved by the claimant's governing body? Form of approval

___________Budget___________ (eg resolution, work program, budget, other document)

Yes 

14-31



TDA Claim 
 

If "NO," provide the approximate date approval is anticipated._______________ 

B. Has this project previously received TDA funding? If yes, date RTC approved:___Annually_____ Yes 

C. For capital projects, have provisions been made by the claimant to maintain the project or facility, 

or has the claimant arranged for such maintenance by another agency?  (If an agency other than 

the Claimant is to maintain the facility provide its name: ________________________________ ) 

N/A 

D. Has the project already been reviewed by the RTC Bicycle Committee and/or Elderly/Disabled 

Transportation Advisory Committee? (If "NO," project will be reviewed prior to RTC approval). 

No 

E. For "bikeways," does the project meet Caltrans minimum safety design criteria pursuant to 

Chapter 1000 of the California Highway Design Manual? (Available on the internet via: 

http://www.dot.ca.gov). 

N/A 

F.  For Article 4 transit claims: Does operator meet Article 4 eligibility requirements?  

i. Farebox recovery ratio? and/or,  

ii. 50 percent expenditure rule as an older operator, defined as service starting prior to 1974? 

N/A 

 

Bike/Ped (Article 8) Only 

17. Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (complete “24a” or “24b”) 

 

a. Capital Projects (Bicycle projects: Bicycle Advisory Committee or RTC must approve the final project 

design plans prior to construction; see RTC Rules & Regulations) 
 

Planning 
Environ-

mental 

Design/ 

Engineering 
ROW Construction 

Other

* 
Contingency Total 

SCHEDULE 

(Month/Yr) 

Completion 

Date __/__ 

        

Total 

Cost/Phase 

        

$TDA  

Requested 

(this claim) 

        

Prior TDA:         

Source 3:         

Source 4:         

Unsecured/ 

additional 

need** 

        

      *Please describe what is included in “Other”: 

 

 

b. Non-Capital Projects – Cost/Schedule: List any tasks and amount per task for which TDA will be used. Can 

be substituted with alternate budget format. 

 
Please see attached Community Traffic Safety Coalition Budget for FY 2023-24. 

 
Work Element/ 

Activity/Task 

SCHEDULE 

(Month/Year) 

Total Cost per 

Element 

$ TDA 

requested 
$ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4: 

Administration

/Overhead 

      

Activity 1:       

14-32



TDA Claim 

Activity 2: 

Activity 3: 

Activity 4: 

Ex. 

Consultants 

Ex. Materials 

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF 

18. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity

▪ Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or

increase ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.

▪ Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity

improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program

usage/ridership:

CTSC staff will continue participating in the Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF) as the City staff have taken on 
more support of the group. This has allowed CTSC staff to shift more attention to our second Vision Zero city, Santa Cruz, 
as well as to begin working with new Vision Zero jurisdictions, Scotts Valley and the County, that adopted Vision Zero 
resolutions in 2022. All CTSC Vision Zero activities use a combination of funding sources, partnerships, and volunteer 
contributions, which has increased participation in both Coalition and Task Force meetings. HSA has been successful in 
receiving state Office of Traffic Safety funding for bicycle, pedestrian and child passenger safety this past year and was 
recently awarded state Active Transportation Program Cycle 6 funding for non-infrastructure work in Watsonville schools. 
As with Ride n’ Stride, CTSC experienced reductions in personnel costs again this past year due to continued staff disaster 
response deployments as well as staff vacancies and leaves of absence. TDA funding rollover from previous pandemic years 
is being used this fiscal year for temporary staff until permanent staff can be hired. The rollover is also being used to 
reestablish program partnerships, restock educational materials, and improve efficiencies in program delivery. HSA has 
successfully used TDA allocations from RTC to leverage additional funding and will focus this next year on training new 
staff being hired to ensure continued success and benefits to the community through CTSC Vision Zero programming. 

19. What is different from last year’s program/claim?

CTSC staff continue to transition away from supporting Vision Zero jurisdictions as they become more self-sufficient. 
While CTSC staff will continue to participate in the Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force (WVZTF), more time will be 
focused on assisting the City of Santa Cruz in creating their own task force for Vision Zero with public health as a key 
stakeholder and in developing a Vision Zero Action Plan. With Vision Zero policies now in place in Scotts Valley and the 
County, CTSC staff will support these jurisdictions and encourage the remaining jurisdictions to adopt Vision Zero. The 
CTSC will continue to provide leadership for Vision Zero data collection & analysis, action plan development, and project 
implementation with staff and leadership in each jurisdiction. TDA funded resources will focus on these goals as well as 
educating the community about Vision Zero concepts and convening stakeholders around policies, strategies, and utilizing 
a Safe System approach.  

20. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:

 SCMD – April each year 
 Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC _____________ (Months/Year) 

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services 
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service. 
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer 
service. 

14-33



TDA Claim 

X   HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee (Annually in April/May); RTC (Biannually in January and Jul) 

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims): 

All Claims 

❑ A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its

accompanying documentation.

❑ Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims 

❑ Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center) 

❑ A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year

❑ Description of capital projects, including timeframe over which project will be funded and implemented

❑ Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities (can be within project/program description)

❑ TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims 

❑ A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.

❑ Other Certifications

Local Agency Certification: 

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and 
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html).  I certify that the information provided 
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be 
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.   

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as 
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or 
disbursement upon project completion. 

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the 
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664 
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the 
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This       requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work or 

HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC. 

Signature _____________________________ Title:__________________________________Date:_____________ Senior Health Services Manager 4/4/23

14-34

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html


COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

1 

CTSC Work Plan: Vision Zero 

Fiscal Years 2022-2024 
CTSC Vision and Mission 
The mission of the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC) of the Santa Cruz County Health 
Services Agency is to prevent traffic-related injuries and fatalities for all road users, with a focus on 
people bicycling and walking. The CTSC envisions safe, accessible, and equitable transportation for 
all.  

Vision Zero Needs Statement  
Vision Zero is a world-wide traffic safety program that aims to eliminate all traffic fatalities and 
severe injuries while increasing safe, healthy, and equitable mobility for all. The mission, goals, and 
activities of the CTSC align with this aim. In June of 2022, CTSC will complete their sixth year of 
Vision Zero work and this plan will continue that work into 2024.  

In 2019, OTS ranked Santa Cruz County as the 3rd worst for bicyclists killed and injured compared to 
58 California counties. The City of Santa Cruz (in the north part of the county) was ranked 1st for the 
number of bicyclist injuries/fatalities compared to 105 similar sized cities. The City of Watsonville (in 
the south part of the county) was ranked 1st for pedestrian injuries/fatalities compared to 105 other 
similar sized cities. 

According to UC Berkeley SafeTREC's Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS), the number of 
people killed or seriously injured in Santa Cruz County in the 3-year period from 2018 to 2020 has 
increased to 154.7 people on average as compared to 135.3 people on average from 2015 to 2017. 
According to more recent media accounts, in the six-month period between October 2021 and 
March 2022, CTSC staff documented a total of 22 crashes involving serious injuries or fatalities in 
the county. Of the 13 crashes involving fatalities, three of those killed were pedestrians and one 
was a bicyclist.  

The serious traffic safety problem in our county led us to Vision Zero. From our data analysis and 
community engagement, we know that traffic violence has taken a disproportionate toll on Santa 
Cruz County bicyclists and pedestrians. To begin ensuring safety in our transportation system, our 
two most populous cities, Watsonville and Santa Cruz, passed Vision Zero policies in 2018 and 2019, 
respectively, to eliminate traffic related fatalities and severe injuries by 2030 for all road users.  

Exhibit G

14-35

https://tims.berkeley.edu/summary.php


COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

2 

Safe System Core Principles  
In order to achieve Vision Zero, many countries have moved away from using the traditional E’s 
(Education, Engineering, Enforcement, Encouragement, Evaluation, and Equity) and instead have 
adopted a Safe System approach to road safety, including the U.S. Department of Transportation. 
The Safe System approach works by building and reinforcing multiple layers of protection to both 
prevent crashes from happening in the first place and minimize the harm caused to those involved 
when crashes do occur. 

Source: https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/winter-2022/01 

In this sense, it is a comprehensive and systematic approach to road safety that is human-centered 
and incorporates the following principles:  

1. Death and Serious Injuries are Unacceptable. A Safe System approach prioritizes the
elimination of crashes that result in death and serious injuries.

2. Humans Make Mistakes. People will inevitably make mistakes and decisions that can lead
or contribute to crashes, but the transportation system can be designed and operated to
accommodate certain types and levels of human mistakes and avoid death and serious
injuries when a crash occurs.

14-36

https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/winter-2022/01


COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

3 

3. Humans Are Vulnerable. Human bodies have physical limits for tolerating crash forces
before death or serious injury occurs; therefore, it is critical to design and operate a
transportation system that is human-centric and accommodates physical human
vulnerabilities.

4. Responsibility is Shared. All stakeholders – including government at all levels, industry, non-
profit/advocacy, researchers, and the general public – are vital to preventing fatalities and
serious injuries on our roadways.

5. Safety is Proactive. Proactive tools should be used to identify and address safety issues in
the transportation system, rather than waiting for crashes to occur and reacting afterwards.

6. Redundancy is Crucial. Reducing risks requires that all parts of the transportation system be
strengthened, so that if one part fails, the other parts still protect people.

Source: https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/winter-2022/01 

A statistic often used when discussing traffic safety is that “more than 90% of traffic crashes are due 
to human error.” This view was dominant in the five E’s approach, used by the Safe Routes to 
School movement, and places a majority of the blame on the individual, whether that be the 
pedestrian, cyclist, or driver. By using a more effective and equitable Safe System approach, Vision 
Zero objectives can be aligned with the five elements displayed in the wheel above: Safer People, 
Safer Roads, Safer Vehicles, Safer Speeds, and Post-Crash Care. 

Data has shown that underserved communities and communities of color oftentimes experience 
the highest rates of fatal and injury crashes. A study done by the CTSC in 2017 found that more than 
half of our county’s fatal and life changing injury crashes occur on only 6% of our streets with more 
than half of these dangerous streets located in low-income neighborhoods 
www.sctrafficsafety.org/visionzero . Even as the Coalition moves towards utilizing a Safe System 
approach, equity will continue to remain an emphasis for all the work conducted.  

Vision Zero Work Plan Objectives and Activities for Fiscal Years 2022-2024 
Primary Objectives:  

1. Continue to assist the City of Watsonville in Vision Zero Action Plan implementation.
2. Assist the City of Santa Cruz in developing a Vision Zero Task Force and Action Plan.
3. Promote Vision Zero adoption and implementation in all other jurisdictions.
4. Develop and maintain countywide Vision Zero collaboration and support.

1) Continue to assist City of Watsonville in Vision Zero Action Plan implementation through
activities, such as:

14-37

https://www.transportation.gov/NRSS/CalltoAction
https://www.transportation.gov/NRSS/CalltoAction
https://www.transportation.gov/NRSS/CalltoAction
https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/winter-2022/01
http://www.sctrafficsafety.org/visionzero


COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

4 

• Provide support and assistance to the City of Watsonville and other south county
organizations in managing the Watsonville Vision Zero Task Force.

• Advocate for continued community engagement and equity prioritization.
• Provide technical assistance in tracking and measuring progress, as well as evaluating

programs.
• Encourage accountability and transparency throughout plan implementation.
• Help in identifying funding sources for implementation and sustainability of projects.

2) Assist the City of Santa Cruz in developing a Vision Zero Task Force and Action Plan through
activities, such as:

• Advocate for community engagement and equity prioritization in Vision Zero initiatives.
• Provide a public health perspective into strategies and policy objectives.
• Assist in development of measurable and attainable goals for Vision Zero action items.
• Encourage accountability and transparency at all stages of Vision Zero plan

implementation.

3) Promote Vision Zero adoption and implementation in all other jurisdictions through
activities, such as:

• Invite communication between local jurisdictions and other Vision Zero communities.
• Convene city/county staff to discuss Vision Zero policy adoption and implementation.
• Create traffic violence data summaries for jurisdictions considering Vision Zero.
• Support implementation of Vision Zero Action Plans once adopted.

4) Develop and maintain countywide Vision Zero collaboration and support through activities,
such as:

Proposed activities here are aligned with the five Safe System elements: Safer People, Safer Roads, 
Safer Vehicles, Safer Speeds, and Post-Crash Care 

14-38



COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

5 

Safer People: 
• Host events for elected officials and relevant government staff members to experience

traveling through the county using active modes of transportation.
• Reframe the narrative around road safety to reflect the shared responsibility among

various stakeholders, instead of a focus on individual behaviors.
• Participate in the regional Street Smarts campaign to bring awareness and education of

road safety issues to the public.
• Provide educational materials about shared- and micro-mobility programs and options

to the community.
• Collaborate with County Substance Use Disorders Services (SUDS) on DUI/impaired

driving prevention.
• Develop educational materials on Safe Systems and informational handouts about

Vision Zero to share with the media that helps guide their communications on crashes.
• Continue child passenger safety education for parents and caregivers on properly

securing young passengers in their vehicles.

Safer Roads: 
• Use all relevant safety data to supplement crash data when evaluating problem areas

and traffic situations.
• Include community members and community feedback when designing traffic safety

systems.
• Incorporate systems-level changes that allow for consideration of project impacts on

those using active transportation.
• Provide opportunities for community members and advocates to provide input to

decision makers during planning stages of infrastructure projects.
• Advocate for planning and engineering efforts that incorporate a Safe Systems

approach, such as reduce speeds by narrowing travel lanes.
• Develop questions for candidates running for office regarding safe and active

transportation.
• Promote protected or separated bicycle and pedestrian facilities when feasible.
• Conduct a crash data analysis focused on arterials for each jurisdiction.
• Encourage funding and land use planning that increases opportunities for more

active and sustainable forms of transportation.

Safer Vehicles: 
• Provide input on local, state, or federal policies and designs that make vehicles safer,

such as collision avoidance systems and connected vehicle technology.

14-39



COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

6 

• Keep informed about the latest car seat and vehicle restraint system safety technology
and recall information.

• Advocate for appropriate safety measures, such as installing lateral protective devices
(LPDs), also known as side guards, for local jurisdictions and private fleets with large
commercial vehicles.

Safer Speeds: 
• Implement creative projects to slow down traffic and reduce the potential for crashes to

cause serious injuries and fatalities.
• Engage with local government to address traffic speed issues that community members

experience.
• Support projects that slow vehicle speeds and protect cyclists and pedestrians.
• Work with jurisdictions to acquire funding to implement temporary projects that slow

vehicle speeds.
• Find research reports on effective measures to slow down drivers to share with local

jurisdictions.

Post-Crash Care: 
• Post online acknowledgement and response to lives lost and those severely injured.
• Maintain a current database of serious injury and fatality crashes reported by the media

and community members.
• Involve multiple stakeholders, such as media and road safety advocates, to review

factors leading to a crash.
• Identify the built environment factors that played into crashes and understand that the

designers of those systems hold responsibility as well.
• Work with media contacts to review collision factors, such as road design, when

reporting on crashes.
• Work with law enforcement agencies to share local crash data and report on traffic

citation trends.
• Change the narrative around responsibility for crashes to look past individual behaviors

and to focus on the road system holistically.
• Assist jurisdictions in developing a plan to respond to fatal and severe injury crashes.
• Participate in the World Day of Remembrance for Road Traffic Victims or other annual

memorial events.
• Develop resources to support families who have been impacted by traffic violence.

14-40



COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 
of SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

www.sctrafficsafety.org        www.facebook.com/sctrafficsafety        CTSC@santacruzcounty.us        (831) 454-7551 

7 

CTSC Roles and Responsibilities  
The coalition staff are employed by the County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency (HSA) and are 
responsible for assisting the coalition in managing its operations, including coalition meetings, 
member communication, and community engagement, as well as work plan development, 
implementation, and evaluation. The coalition members and partner agencies actively participate in 
meetings and play an advisory role in fiscal management and strategic planning. Members and 
partner agencies take on specific work plan tasks as appropriate. Two coalition leaders (Co-Chairs) 
are elected by coalition members for two-year terms and are responsible for facilitating coalition 
meetings, providing expertise and guidance to coalition staff, and signing coalition letters.  

CTSC will provide support, technical assistance, and resources to jurisdictions and the community to 
implement Vision Zero, as well as develop and maintain collaborative relationships for other grant 
funded traffic safety programs that support Vision Zero. The Coalition and staff are also committed 
to providing traffic safety programming that the community has relied on for many years, such as 
the Ride n’ Stride education program, the Bicycle Traffic School diversion program, Bicycle Helmet 
Fit and Distribution Sites, participation in Bike/Walk to School and other community outreach 
events, Pace Car and Trash Can Sticker traffic calming programs, maintenance of the CTSC website 
at www.sctrafficsafety.org and Facebook page, and traffic related injury and fatality surveillance. 

14-41



Line Item TDA Budget HSA Match Total Project 
Costs

Personnel (Salary +  Benefits)
Bilingual Health Program Specialists, 1 .0 FTE 74,500 58,500 133,000

Program Manager/Support Staff 43,500 43,500
Subtotal Personnel 74,500 102,000 176,500

Travel/Mileage 500 500

Direct Costs
Education Materials & Supplies 3,000 3,000

Totals $78,000 $102,000 $180,000

Ride n' Stride Bicycle and Pedestrian Education Program 
TDA/RnS Budget, FY 2023-24

Exhibit H(1)

14-42



Line Item TDA Budget HSA Match  
Total Project 

Costs

Personnel (Salary + Benefits)
Health Educator , 1 .0 FTE 74,500 56,500 131,000

Program Manager/Support Staff 45,500 45,500
Subtotal Personnel 74,500 102,000 176,500

Travel/Mileage 500 500

Direct Costs
Project Implementation 3,000 3,000

Totals $78,000 $102,000 $180,000

Community Traffic Safety Coalition
TDA/CTSC Budget, FY 2023-24

Exhibit H(2)

14-43



Attachment 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner  
duly seconded by Commissioner  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT (TDA) ARTICLE 8 
FUNDING FOR THE BIKE TO WORK PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, Bike to Work/School events provide important information, education, 
and incentives for encouraging and rewarding bicycle transportation;  

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission allocated $72,000 in its FY 
2023/24 budget for the Bike to Work Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Bicycle Advisory Committee reviewed the request and proposed 
scope of work at its April 10, 2023 meeting and recommended approval;  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION: 

1. The Regional Transportation Commission hereby approves $72,000 in FY 2023/24
Transportation Development Act Article 8 funds for the Bike to Work Program.

AYES: COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

___________________________ 
ATTEST:          Manu Koenig, Chair 

___________________________
      Guy Preston, Secretary 

Exhibit A: Letter from Piet Canin, Strategic Development Director, Ecology Action 
Exhibit B: Bike to Work/Bike Campaign Program 2022 Program Summary 
Exhibit C: Bike to Work Scope of Work 
Exhibit D: Bike to Work FY 2023/24 Budget 
Exhibit E: Bike to Work TDA Claim Form  

14-44



Distribution: RTC Fiscal 
RTC Planner  
Ecology Action’s Bike to Work Program 

14-45



March 21, 2023 

Guy Preston 
Executive Director 
SCCRTC 
1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

Dear Director Preston, 

Ecology Action (EA) is requesting $72,000 in Transportation Development Act (TDA) funds for FY 2023-
2024 to support the Santa Cruz County Bike to Work (BTW) and Walk and Roll to School (WRTS) 
program which includes Fall/Spring campaigns Bike Month and Biketober. The BTW program is one of 
the largest sustainable transportation campaigns in Santa Cruz County, providing critical opportunities 
to increase bike transportation, catalyze community scale behavior change, and provide bike 
encouragement to K-12 students and adults.  

This foundational work allows Ecology Action to support the many current and soon-to-be bike 
improvements throughout the county including current sections of the Rail Trail in Santa Cruz and 
Watsonville, the re-start and expansion of a county wide ebike share service, local, regional and state 
ebike rebate programs, and various local jurisdictions’ bike infrastructure projects. Plus, future 
improvements such as two bike and pedestrian bridges over highway one, Soquel Corridor bike 
improvements, and completion of more sections of the Rail Trail. 

Ecology Action has been delivering popular, inclusive encouragement bike programs for 36 years 
helping to foster the evolution of bike transportation in our coastal and mountain communities. We 
are well positioned to cultivate the accelerated adoption of bike transportation with improved access 
to ebikes and bike sharing programs that are equitably support underserved members of the county. In 
2022, we transitioned to Walk and Roll to School Day to be more inclusive of all physical abilities as 
well as more modes of transportation. In early 2022, we launched a new active transportation brand, 
Modo, to continue our mission of equitably providing community climate solutions and building a more 
inclusive, multi culturally appropriate brand as we expand and deepen our work of bringing active 
transportation for all in Santa Cruz County and beyond. 

We will continue to use online platforms to strengthen our behavior change message, provide the 
social infrastructure for individuals and large employers alike to participate in a common challenge, 
and continue to respond to the barriers community members face to riding more often like safe 
routes. This year we’ll be adding additional mini campaigns outside of our concentrated Bike Month 
and Biketober campaigns to support more riding more months of the year. We also will be rolling out a 
Spanish language challenge site and communications this year. We will continue our safe route group 
rides throughout the county as part Bike Month and Biketober as well as during other parts of the year  

Exhibit A

14-46



to offer more consistent opportunities for people to try low stress bike routes today, while we wait for 
more and better bike infrastructure to roll out in the months and years ahead. 

These rides, combined with ongoing encouragement and incentivization to get out and 
ride more often for all trips creates a well-rounded approach to building confidence, skills, and 
inspiration to use biking for everyday transportation. We’ve seen young kids just starting out to seniors 
looking for safe ways to get around, and many people in between. This social engagement and 
normalization make biking an attractive form of transportation. 

The Bike to Work program continues to leverage RTC funding with some $80,000 in cash and in-kind 
product support. We also partner with local businesses, public agencies, and community organizations 
and groups to amplify and support our work.  

Ecology Action is sincerely grateful to the RTC for your continued support and consideration of 
this $72,000 allocation request for FY 23/24 to support our community bike programs. 

Sincerely, 

Piet Canin 
Strategic Development 
Director Ecology Action 

14-47



Ecology Action’s Bike to Work/Bike Campaign Program 2022 

Program Summary 
Our 2022 program – like everything else in our lives – continued to be impacted by COVID but to a 
diminishing degree. Ecology Action has continued to provide both digital and in person activities to provide 
flexible programming options for participation. Our community bike programs continue to recruit new 
commuters, encourages students to choose active forms of transportation, and engages more businesses 
every year. 

Alongside physical infrastructure improvements like the rail trail and enhanced on street bike facilities that 
local jurisdictions are putting in place, Ecology Action’s programming actively provides the social 
infrastructure to get more locals biking and biking more often for transportation. Our Bike Month events, 
bike challenge, group rides, and Walk and Roll to School Day help provide active transportation resources 
and opportunities to build habits and become regular bike riders.  

2022 Accomplishments    
Bike Challenge (May Bike Month + Biketober) 

• 1,819 participants (those who logged one ride or more)
• 178 participating workplaces
• 127 new to biking
• 97,989 total bike trips
• 34,146 transport trips
• 1,289,014 miles biked
• 35% transportation trips
• 111,145 CO2 saved (lbs)

Bike Month + Biketober Activities (other than Bike Challenge) 
• 17 activities
• 18 Group Commute Ride participants
• 2,499 Spring Bike and Walk to School participants
• 2,850 Fall Walk and Roll to School participants

Ecology Action worked with partner public agencies, local community-based organizations, and 
businesses/employers to host in person events like Walk & Roll to School Days for grade schools throughout the 
county, and a new variation of the Safe Route Group Rides piloted in 2021 during the middle of the work week 
called Group Commute. 

As of March 2023, the Santa Cruz Love to Ride platform has 4,579 people registered, including 598 new riders, 
and 281 employers. Since the start of the program these participants have recorded over 337,428 bike trips, 
covering almost 4.3 million miles. This community continues to grow and provide a reliable and durable platform 
for expanding cycling in Santa Cruz County. We leverage several Love to Ride platform features to foster and 
support safe and regular cycling for everyday trips and build community in the process.   

Exhibit B

14-48



Bike To Work Program 
Scope of Work FY 23-24 

Ecology Action’s (EA) Bike To Work (BTW) Program turns 37 in the Spring of 2024, a testament to 
the incredible growth from a small neighborhood affair to a large-scale community tradition that 
continues to evolve and meet the moment. From helping build on the COVID bike boom, to 
incorporating more ebike activities and content as popularity surges, to facilitating group rides on 
routes that offer low stress and safer connectivity today while enhanced bike infrastructure like 
the rail trails and protected bike lanes are built tomorrow. The BTW program is one of the largest 
sustainable transportation campaigns in Santa Cruz County, providing critical opportunities to 
increase bike transportation, catalyze community scale behavior change, and provide bike 
encouragement from K-12 students to adults. 

Ecology Action is keenly tuned and uniquely positioned to help sustain the bike boom and help 
move folks on their journey from beginner riders to everyday transportation cyclists. Ecology 
Action will continue to leverage and incorporate the local and regional ebike rebates; the 
upcoming state ebike rebates, and the upcoming countywide ebike share service to engage a 
wider cross section and number of residents. The ebike rebate programs which include equity 
focused low-income rebates will make ebike ownership possible for a greater number of users. 
These programs are a game changer as more folks are looking for alternatives to driving gasoline 
cars, want to act on climate change, and participate in a transition to a low carbon, sustainable, 
and equitable future. And the ebike share service will make ebikes accessible without the 
challenges that bike ownership can present like maintenance, storage, and the threat of theft. 

Our FY 23/24 programs endeavor to continue advancing active transportation across Santa Cruz 
County with a range of encouragement, education, and support activities with both online and in-
person components.  

We use a mix of online platforms and in person activities to enhance our behavior change 
message and resources to meet the ever-changing needs of our community. Engagement with the 
online Love to Ride platform, which powers the Santa Cruz County Bike Challenge, illustrates the 
positive impact and functionality of virtual channels. The COVID-19 crisis accelerated the need to 
deliver more online bike transportation messaging and virtual behavior change programs. Ecology 
Action’s main Bike to Work program components are: 

1) Fall Walk/Roll to School Day (in person).
2) Spring Walk/Roll to School Day (in person).
3) Fall and Spring Bike Challenge via Love to Ride (October & May).
4) Spring Bike Month, which features fun, inclusive, positive, and educational bicycle activities
ranging from rides to workshops, ebike demo events, and collaborations with local
organizations.

Exhibit C

14-49



5) Safe Routes Community Rides throughout the year, with a goal of one per quarter in various
locations around the county, primarily in the urbanized areas of Santa Cruz, Live Oak, Capitola,
Aptos, and Watsonville. Scotts Valley may be considered if adequately safe routes can be
identified.
6) Ongoing support targeting bike commuters via online communications including original
blog content, electronic newsletters, and social media
7) In addition to tips and content to support new and intermediate riders, we’ll also include
regular updates on bike infrastructure projects that will have a positive impact on local
commuters (i.e. Rail Trail, Chanticleer Bike/Ped bridge, new striping/bike lane additions etc.)

Fall Biketober October 2023  
Work Schedule/Tasks: 
EA will coordinate the Fall Bike Transportation Campaign for work, school and health activity 
which features incentives, resources, encouragement, peer and EA support and engagement to 
bike to work, school, errands, health and wellness. The following are tasks to be completed: 

• Implement a Fall Biketober featuring a variety of in person and on the bike activities
including Safe Route Community Rides.

• Implement the Bike Month Challenge using the Love to Ride Platform
• Implement Fall Walk & Roll to School Day at K-12th grade schools throughout the County.
• Conduct outreach to novice bike commuters through targeted employer and employee

outreach, online social marketing and media outreach
• Conduct comprehensive promotional campaign including print ads, online ads, electronic

newsletters, website, social media, and hardcopy flyer distribution.
• Coordinate Walk & Roll to School efforts with bike safety presentations conducted by EA’s

Bike Safe Youth Bike Safety program and the Community Traffic Safety Coalition (CTSC)
• Coordinate helmet distribution with CTSC at school sites as CTSC team has bandwidth/inventory
• Conduct outreach to school teachers, administrators and parents to continue to expand

student participation
• Recruit, train, and coordinate volunteers for 35-40 school sites across the county
• Continue to innovate programming to engage new audiences and test new programs and

initiatives to inspire bike ridership

Performance Goals for Fall Biketober, 2023 
• Increase participation levels by 5% for fall activities, Walk and Roll to School, and bike

challenge. Using more tools to increase ongoing bike transportation including a mix of in person
and digital encouragement, storytelling, and incentives

• Increase the number of beginning cyclists participating by 2%

14-50



• Place hundreds of campaign posters at local businesses and locations around the community
• Develop and send targeted emails to over 6,000 participants with bike commuting news,

incentives, and resource information
• Create bilingual Bike Month assets
• Produce content including blog posts and social media posts on a variety of topics (i.e. ABC

quick check, how to properly fit a helmet, winter bike maintenance, etc.)

Spring Bike Month May 2024 
Work Schedule/Tasks: 
EA staff will coordinate the 37th annual Santa Cruz County Spring Bike Month, which will include Bike 
Month, Bike Month Challenge and Spring Bike Transportation Campaign for work, school and health 
activities that includes that includes Walk and Roll to School. The main objective will be to continue to 
promote bicycling for transportation for trips that replace single occupancy vehicle trips.  
The following are tasks to be completed:  

• Implement a Spring Bike Month featuring a variety of in person and on the bike activities
including Safe Route Community Rides.

• Implement the Spring Month Challenge using the Love to Ride Platform
• Implement Spring Walk & Roll to School Day at K-12th grade schools throughout the County.
• Work with large employers to offer incentives and encourage participation.
• Continue bike challenge with local employers. Recruit teams of employees that will help

keep each other motivated to bike commute. Teams will record their bike trips on our 
challenge website – Love to Ride, and will earn participation awards or points for riding and 
encouraging others to ride. One of the top seven local employers will win an employer prize. 

• Promote bike commuting resources and safety tips through social and web platforms
• Maintain regular online presence via Ecology Action’s social media channels including Facebook,

Instagram, and LinkedIn and our campaign landing pages.
• Conduct comprehensive promotional campaign including print ads, online ads, digital

newsletters, website, social media and hardcopy flyer distribution. Campaign will focus on
storytelling, relevant and timely content, social diffusion and positive peer pressure,
incentives, and fun – all designed to invite and sustain more participation, ridership, and a
local bike culture.

• Create artwork and other campaign assets
• Coordinate with bike safety presentations conducted by EA’s Bike Safe Youth Bike & Walk Safety

Education Team
• Coordinate helmet distribution with CTSC at school sites as CTSC team has bandwidth/inventory

14-51



• Promote Bike Month, bringing in partnerships with additional agencies and businesses to
promote Bike Month activities and bike resources throughout the year.

• Recruit, train, and coordinate volunteers for 35-40 school sites across the county
• Continue efforts in South County to improve outreach to underrepresented populations.

  Performance Goals for the Spring Bike Month, 2024 
• Increase participation by 5% from the previous spring Bike Month activities including Walk and Roll

to School Day, Bike Month Challenge on Love to Ride, and Bike Month activities/events.
• Continue to grow Bike Month Challenge with at least 5 new businesses.
• Innovate outreach/promotion to businesses, public agencies, & local organizations by identifying

organization champions via Love to Ride, individuals who register and champion the challenges
internally at their workplace.

• Target increasing the number of beginning cyclists participating in Bike Month activities including,
Bike Month Challenge, and other Bike Month activities/events through marketing segmentation
and tailored messaging.

• Place hundreds of campaign posters at local businesses and locations around the community.
• Develop and send targeted emails to over 6,000 participants with bike commuting news,

incentives, and resource information.
• Create bilingual Bike Month campaign assets
• Produce content including blog posts and social media posts on a variety of topics (i.e. ABC quick

check, how to properly fit a helmet, winter bike maintenance, etc.)

14-52



EA's Bike to Work/School 23/24 Budget - 
$72,000 TDA Funds

SCCRTC Match*

Personnel
Senior Program Specialist (.3 FTE) 32,000.00$  
Program Specialist (.5 FTE) 20,000.00$  15,000.00$  
Youth Coordinator (.25 FTE) 20,000.00$  15,000.00$  

Material

Other Direct Costs:
Online Challenge Platform 44,000.00$  
Incentives 15,000.00$  
Advertising + Promotion 11,000.00$  
Food + Beverage 10,000.00$  
Misc material/supplies/mileage 5,000.00$  

Total 72,000.00$  115,000.00$  

TOTAL PROJECT BUDGET 187,000.00$  
* Local business and public agencies donations annually contribute approximately $85,000 in cash

and in kind products. 

Exhibit D

14-53



Transportation Development Act (TDA) 
CLAIM FORM 

Submit a separate form for each project. 

This form has been developed in an effort to standardize information required from TDA recipients, 
based on TDA Statute, RTC Rules and Regulations, and/or RTC board requests.  

If you have any questions about this claim form or would like an electronic copy of the form, 
 please contact the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission at 460-3200. 

Project Information 

1. Project Title: Bike to Work/School program

2. Implementing Agency: Ecology Action

3. Sponsoring Agency (if different) – must be a TDA Eligible Claimant: SCCRTC

4. Funding requested this claim:  TDA– Local Transportation Funds (LTF) $_ $72,000____________
STA (transit/paratransit only) $_______________ 

5. Fiscal Year (FY) for which funds are claimed: FY_23/24_____

6. General purpose for which the claim is made, identified by the article and section of the Act which authorizes such
claims:

 Article 8 Bicycle and/or Pedestrian Facility 
 Article 4 Public Transportation 
 Article 8 Specialized Transportation via city sponsor 
 Article 3 & 8 TDA Admin or Planning 

7. Contact Person/Project Manager
Name: _Piet Canin__
Telephone Number: _831-515-1327 _____  E-mail: pcanin@ecoact.org_________

Secondary Contact (in event primary not available):__Matt Miller__________ 
Telephone Number: 916-849-6220  E-mail: matt.miller@ecoact.org 

8. Project/Program Description/Scope (use additional pages, if needed, to provide details such as work elements/tasks):
Our FY 23/24 programs looks to sustain the bike boom with a range of encouragement, education and support initiatives
focused on equity both online and in-person (following public health guidelines).

We continue using a mix of online platforms and in person activities to enhance our behavior change message and resources
to meet the ever-changing needs of our community. Engagement with the online Love to Ride platform that powers the new
Santa Cruz County Bike Challenge illustrates the positive impact and functionality of virtual channels. The COVID 19 crisis
accelerates the need to deliver more online bike transportation messaging and virtual behavior change programs. Given
these factors Ecology Action proposes these main components to our Bike to Work program:
1) Fall Bike Transportation Campaign for work, & school (in person Walk & Roll to School).
2) Spring Bike Transportation Campaign for work, & school (in person Walk & Roll to School).
3) Fall and Spring Bike Challenge via Love to Ride (September & May).
4) Fall and Spring Bike Month, which features fun, inclusive, positive, and educational bicycle activities
4) Ongoing support targeting novice or infrequent bike commuters via online communications including original digital,
electronic newsletters, social media and website/blog updates
5) In addition to tips and content to support new and intermediate riders, we’ll also include regular updates on bike
infrastructure projects that will have a positive impact on local commuters (i.e. Rail Trail, Chanticleer Bike/Ped bridge, etc)

Exhibit E

14-54



TDA Claim 

9. Project Location/Limits (attach a map and/or photos if available/applicable, include street names):
The project includes the entire Santa Cruz County area including all the incorporated cities.

Justification for the project. (Why is this project needed? Primary goal/purpose of the project; problem to be addressed; 
project benefits; importance to the community).  
Ecology Action’s BTW/S program provides incentives and tools for local commuters to bicycle for transportation 
therefore reducing their single-occupancy vehicle trips. BTW/S provides a variety of resources and services to support 
commuters in switching to bicycle transportation and to bike commute more often. One of the primary objectives of 
BTW/S is to normalize bicycling as a mode of transportation and provide residents with a variety of opportunities 
throughout the year to experience how bicycling is possible for many different types of trips they would otherwise take 
by car. BTW/S includes a multi-pronged promotional and outreach approach that reaches community members 
throughout Santa Cruz County. The benefits associated with BTW/S including reduction of traffic congestion, reduction 
of air, water, and noise pollution, reduction of greenhouse gasses, as well as the promotion of a healthy means of active 
transportation that helps combat obesity. BTW/S therefore provides a means for addressing some of the more pressing 
issues that Santa Cruz County is facing including worsening traffic congestion, growing childhood obesity rates, and 
climate change. BTW/S is an effective approach to building a more sustainable community.     

Biking also offers a low cost means for shorter trips, therefore buffering everyone from rising gas prices, and with local, 
regional and soon to come state ebike rebates, ebikes are more affordable. And ebikes extend the travel range of riders 
with less effort therefore making cycling more attractive to a greater number of locals.  

10. Project Productivity Goals for this fiscal year:
a. Measures of performance, success or completion to be used to evaluate project/program (ex. increase use of

facility/service, decrease collisions, etc.):
To measure the success of the Bike to Work/School program, Ecology Action (EA) tracks the following data using 
participant surveys: the number of program participants, the participant’s bike commute mileage, the number of 
beginning and infrequent bike commuters, the number of first time participants, and the number of participants who 
usually drive alone to work. EA also tracks the number of K-12 school students who bike, walk, roll (non car trips) to 
school. Our Bike Month Challenge uses bike trip and mileage tracking apps to quantify bike commuter/transportation 
trips. We also survey program participants. EA also measures success by the amount of publicity generated through 
social media, news articles, radio talk shows, TV newscasts, the number of newsprint ads, and the number of radio and 
TV PSA’s aired. Success is also measured by the number of website visits, emails delivered and the growing number 
of people that sign-up for our electronic newsletter. The number of community, business and school events staffed with 
informational booths is also tracked.  

b. Number of people to be served/anticipated number of users of project/program (ex. number of new or maintained
bike miles; number of people served/rides provided):

We anticipate 7,000-10,000 people will participate directly in the program. 

11. Consistency and relationship with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) - Is program/project listed in the RTP and/or
consistent with a specific RTP Goal/Policy? Project RTC #26

12. Impact(s) of project on other modes of travel, if any (ex. parking to be removed):
The Bike to Work/School program helps reduce single-occupancy vehicle trips and parking demand while increasing
the number of bus/bike combined trips. There also is an increase in people walking to work, especially those walking,
skateboarding, scooting, (non-car trips)  to school for our newly named Walk & Roll to School Day.

13. Estimated Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (attach project budget). Specialized

14-55



TDA Claim 

Transportation Claims require 10% local match or other performance standard. Local match can take the form of fares, 
donations, agency charges, grants, revenue sharing and other non-restricted sources. In kind services many NOT apply 
toward the local match. In lieu of a 10% match performance standard, the Volunteer Center performance standard is 
to provide 4,000 rides per year. 

What is the total project cost? $187,000. 

Is project fully funded? No.  

What will TDA (and STA, if applicable) funds be used on (ex. operations, administration, brochures, engineering, 
construction)? Staff to operate the numerous activities that direct engage grade school students, college students, 
families, adults and seniors.  

14. Preferred Method and Schedule for TDA-LTF fund distribution (see RTC Rules and Regulations for details and
requirements. Note if funds are distributed in advance of use, agencies will be required to subsequently provide
documentation of actual expenditures.):
a. Bike/Ped: Cities/County:  Up to 90% upon initiation of work OR  100% upon project completion

HSA/BTW:  Quarterly disbursement OR  Semi-annual disbursement 

b. CTSA:  Quarterly disbursement, with up to 35% in first quarter, and the remaining quarterly payments being one-
third of the remaining claim amount; 

OR  Quarterly disbursement 

c. Volunteer Center:  Full approved claim amount in the first quarter

d. SCMTD:  Quarterly disbursement

15. TDA Eligibility: YES?/NO? 
A. Has the project/program been approved by the claimant's governing body? Form of approval

work program and budget (eg resolution, work program, budget, other document)
If "NO," provide the approximate date approval is anticipated._______________ 

YES 

B. Has this project previously received TDA funding? If yes, date RTC approved:_ If yes, date RTC
approved: May, 2022

YES 

C. For capital projects, have provisions been made by the claimant to maintain the project or facility,
or has the claimant arranged for such maintenance by another agency?  (If an agency other than
the Claimant is to maintain the facility provide its name: ________________________________ )

D. Has the project already been reviewed by the RTC Bicycle Committee and/or Elderly/Disabled
Transportation Advisory Committee? (If "NO," project will be reviewed prior to RTC approval).

To be 
reviewed by 
the RTC 
Committees 
at their April 
2023 
meetings. 

E. For "bikeways," does the project meet Caltrans minimum safety design criteria pursuant to
Chapter 1000 of the California Highway Design Manual? (Available on the internet via:
http://www.dot.ca.gov).

F. For Article 4 transit claims: Does operator meet Article 4 eligibility requirements?
i. Farebox recovery ratio? and/or,
ii. 50 percent expenditure rule as an older operator, defined as service starting prior to 1974?

Bike/Ped (Article 8) Only 
14-56



TDA Claim 

16. Project Cost/Budget, including other funding sources, and Schedule: (complete “24a” or “24b”)

a. Capital Projects (Bicycle projects: Bicycle Advisory Committee or RTC must approve the final project
design plans prior to construction; see RTC Rules & Regulations)

Planning Environ-
mental 

Design/ 
Engineering ROW Construction Other

* Contingency Total 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Yr) 
Completion 
Date __/__ 
Total 
Cost/Phase 
$TDA 
Requested 
(this claim) 
Prior TDA: 

Source 3: 

Source 4: 

Unsecured/ 
additional 
need** 

*Please describe what is included in “Other”:

b. Non-Capital Projects – Cost/Schedule: List any tasks and amount per task for which TDA will be used. Can
be substituted with alternate budget format. See attached budget.

Work Element/ 
Activity/Task 

SCHEDULE 
(Month/Year) 

Total Cost per 
Element 

$ TDA 
requested $ Source 2: $ Source 3: $ Source 4: 

Administration
/Overhead 
Activity 1: 

Activity 2: 

Activity 3: 

Activity 4: 

Ex. 
Consultants 
Ex. Materials 

SCMTD, CTSA, Bike to Work, HSA, Volunteer Center Only – PLEASE KEEP ANSWERS BRIEF 
17. Improving Program Efficiency/Productivity

§ Describe any areas where special efforts have been made in the last fiscal year to reduce operating cost and/or
increase ridership/program usage. Note any important trends.
To increase program visibility, engagement and impact, we developed a new branding for all of our active
transportation programs – under the heading of Modo. Modo allows us to better communicate and connect with a
wide audience throughout Santa Cruz County including grade school students in Watsonville, university students
at UCSC, seniors in Live Oak and residents of all ages, backgrounds, abilities and mobility needs throughout the
county. This branding eliminates industry inside jargon to make our widespread programs more accessible.

We developed more interactive and attention grabbing content and formats in Zoom webinars formats while also

14-57



TDA Claim 

conducting in person workshops. 

EA works to reduce operating costs by investing in our volunteer program. EA continues to develop and foster our 
volunteer base through consistent volunteer retention with engagement events, regular communications, and 
recruitment of new volunteers. In addition, EA continues to solicit a wide array of product donations, both financial 
and in-kind. Local businesses, public agencies, and individuals provide a high level of skilled volunteer labor to 
assure the smooth running of the program. EA has built on its over 30 years of success to generate non-TDA cash 
donations from local businesses, individuals and public agencies. Last year the program raised over $50,000 in cash 
donations and $20,000 in in-kind services and product donations to match the TDA funds. These cash donations 
are from non-transportation funding sources. EA also actively seeks other funding sources such as federal and state 
Active Transportation, local foundations, and applicable funders. 

§ Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:
As Santa Cruz County continues the transitions to much fewer Covid restrictions we are working to sustain the bike
boom that saw a wide variety of people biking for a multitude of purposes during the pandemic. Biking tilted upwards
as it is a covid-safe form of transportation, exercise, escape from the monotony of SIP, a heathy family activity and way
to de-stress.

For the upcoming fiscal year, EA will engage more people by hosting in person activities while growing a robust
and active online community through the Love to Ride platform. We are all starved for positive, safe and fun
personal interaction, and fortunately biking offers this connection. EA will provide inviting and inclusive venues
for these type of gatherings that build community which in turn fosters sustained bike transportation.

EA will leverage the re-introduction and expansion of ebikeshare to reach more residents by highlight an ebike
scheme that eliminates the purchase cost, secure storage and maintenance expense barriers of owning a quality
ebike. We will work with BCycle and the local host jurisdiction to educate county residents on the basics of
ebikeshare and its benefits.

EA will continue to foster ridership with year-round communication on our social media platforms and electronic
newsletters as well as collaborative work and/or events with community partners, agencies, and organizations.

§ Goals for next fiscal year (ex. identify opportunities to maximize economies of scale, planned productivity
improvements). Describe any areas where special efforts will be made to improve efficiency and increase program
usage/ridership:

18. What is different from last year’s program/claim?
We will be moving to more in person programing for FY 23/24 as public health regulations permit.

19. Schedule of regular progress reports including an evaluation at the end of the year:
 SCMD – April each year 
 Specialized Transportation: Quarterly1 to E/D TAC, RTC _____________ (Months/Year) 
 HSA/BTW: Bicycle Committee April, 2024 (Month, year); RTC May, 2024 (Month, year) 

1 If feasible, the quarterly TDA reports submitted by Community Bridges for Lift Line as the Consolidated Transportation Services 
Agency (CTSA) should include on-time performance of the service. 
Vehicle on-time arrival to pick up a passenger at the scheduled time is an important measure of operational effectiveness and customer 
service. 

14-58



TDA Claim 

Documentation to Include with Your Claim (all TDA Claims): 

All Claims 
q A letter of transmittal addressed to the SCCRTC Executive Director that attests to the accuracy of the claim and all its

accompanying documentation.
q Statement from the TDA Eligible Claimant indicating its role and responsibilities.

Article 8 Bicycle/Pedestrian Claims 
q Evidence of environmental review for capital projects

All Transit and Specialized Transportation Claims (SCMTD, CTSA, and Volunteer Center) 
q A copy of the operating and capital budgets for the coming fiscal year
q Description of capital projects, including timeframe over which project will be funded and implemented
q Operating Plan for current and upcoming activities (can be within project/program description)
q TDA Standard Assurances Checklist

Article 4 Transit Claims 
q A certification from the California Highway Patrol (completed within the last 13 months) indicating that the operator is in

compliance with Section 1808.1 of the Vehicle Code.
q Other Certifications

Local Agency Certification: 

This TDA Claim has been prepared in accordance with the SCCRTC’s Budget, SCCRTC’s Rules and Regulations, and 
Caltrans TDA Guidebook (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/MassTrans/State-TDA.html).  I certify that the information provided 
in this form is accurate and correct. I understand that if the required information has not been provided this form may be 
returned and the funding allocation may be delayed.   

PROOF OF EXPENDITURES: Claimant acknowledges it is required to submit all expenditure backup as well as 
evidence of other funding used for project to RTC, to RTC’s satisfaction, before receiving periodic disbursement or 
disbursement upon project completion. 

CERTIFIED FISCAL AUDIT: Claimant certifies that it has submitted a satisfactory, independent fiscal audit, with the 
required certification statement, to SCCRTC and to the State Controller’s Office, pursuant to PUC 99245 and CCR 6664 
for the prior fiscal year (project year minus two). Claimant assures that this audit requirement will be completed for the 
current fiscal year (project year minus one). This       requirement does not apply to new transit operators nor Bike to Work or 
HSA claims submitted through the SCCRTC. 

Signature _____ _ Title: Development Director Date: March 29, 2023 

\\RTCSERV2\Shared\GRANTS\TDA\TDA Claim Forms\FinalTDAClaimFormMaster 23-24.docx 

14-59



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 

FROM: Tracy New, Director of Finance and Budget 

RE: Amendments to the Fiscal Year (FY) 2022-23 RTC Budget & Work 
Program and Measure D Budget and 5-Year Program 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
approve the attached resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the following: 

1. Amendment of the RTC FY2022-23 budget and work program and
Measure D FY 2022-23 budget as shown on Exhibit A to Attachment 1.

2. Amendment to the Measure D 5-Year Program of Projects to reflect
these budget updates.

BACKGROUND 

Due work trends for FY 2022-23, it is currently necessary to consider 
amendments to the RTC’s Fiscal Year (FY) 2022-23 RTC budget and work 
program and Measure D budget.  

DISCUSSION 

The initial budget that is approved by the RTC each year includes estimates 
for the work that is anticipated to be done in the coming fiscal year. Usually, 
adjustments need to be made due to work trends, revenue updates, and 
other factors. Therefore, adjustments are included in the budget 
amendment as a result of more work than was estimated for various 
projects.  

Therefore, staff recommends that the RTC approve the: 
1. FY2022-23 RTC budget and work program and Measure D

budget as shown on Exhibit A of Attachment 1; and

15-1



2. Amend the Measure D 5-Year Program of Projects for Active
Transportation category to reflect these updates.

FISCAL IMPACT 

The FY2022-23 RTC proposed budget and work program amendment (Exhibit 
A to Attachment 1) includes the following: 

• Active Transportation $132,500 increase in staffing, legal and
professional services

• Highway $174,000 increase in staffing, $174,000 decrease in
professional services and contingency. No increase to overall project
costs

The FY2022-23 Measure D proposed budget amendment (Exhibit A to 
Attachment 1) includes the following: 

• Active Transportation $132,500 increase in staffing, legal and
professional services

The proposed amendment to Measure D 5-Year Program Active Transportation 
and Highway categories includes the following: 

• Active Transportation category additional programming of $132,500 in
FY 2022-23 for segments 8-9 $92,500 and segments 10-11 $40,000
project costs

• Highway $174,000 increase in staffing, $174,000 decrease in
professional services and contingency. No net change in programming.

SUMMARY 

Due to work trends, it is necessary to consider amendments to the FY2022-
23 RTC budget and work programs, Measure D budget and Measure D 5-
Year Plans for Active Transportation category.  

Staff recommends that the RTC approve the proposed amended FY2022-
23 RTC budget and work program, Measure D budget, and Measure D 5-
Year Program of Projects. 

15-2



Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution amending the FY 2022-23 RTC Budget and Work Program and 
Measure D Budget, and Measure D 5-Year Program Active Transportation 
and Highway categories.  
• Exhibit A: SCCRTC FY 2022-23 Budget and Work Program and Measure 

D Budget, as amended. 
 

S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Consent\FY23 Budget Amendment\SR FY22-23 Budget and Work Program Amendment.docx 

 

15-3



\\RTCSERV2\Shared\RTC\TC2023\05\Consent Agenda\FY23 Budget Amendment\Attachment 1 Resolution.pdf 

ATTACHMENT 1 
RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission on 
the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner Alternate 
duly seconded by Commissioner  

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE FY 2022-23 BUDGET AND WORK PROGRAM 
FOR THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION AND MEADURE D 

BUDGET
WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 

(RTC) adopts and periodically amends a budget and work program for each 
fiscal year to guide its expenses and work; 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION: 

1. The FY 2022-23 Budget and Work Program for the Santa Cruz County
Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) and Measure D Budget
and 5-Year Program of Projects are hereby amended as shown in
Exhibit A.

AYES:      COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

_____________________________
Manu Koenig, Chair 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

Attachments: 

Distribution: 

Exhibit A - SCCRTC FY 2022-23 Budget and Work Program as 
amended 

RTC Fiscal 

15-4



 41st to Soquel  
 Bay Porter-
State Park 

 State Park to 
Freedom 

Total
 41st to 
Soquel 

 Bay Porter-
State Park 

 State Park to 
Freedom 

Total Difference Note

1 Revenues Object
2 Measure D 40186 969,775  1,592,958  4,897,040  7,459,773  969,775  1,592,958  4,897,040  7,459,773   - 
3 SB1 SCCP 41st/Soquel 40465 200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000  -  
4 Local Partnership Program 40465 -  -  -  
5 RSTPX 40761 25,000  25,000  25,000  25,000  -  
6 STIP 40770 800,000  300,000  1,100,000  800,000  300,000  1,100,000  -  
7 Total Revenues 1,169,775  2,392,958  5,222,040  8,784,773  1,169,775  2,392,958  5,222,040  8,784,773  -  
8 Expenditures
9 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 43,760  54,700  87,520  185,979  55,575  63,452  143,095  262,121  76,142  
10 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 56,240  70,300  112,480  239,021  71,425  81,548  183,905  336,879  97,858  

11
Total Salaries, benefits, & overhead 100,000  125,000  200,000  425,000  127,000  145,000  327,000  599,000  174,000  

12 Design support during construction 62381 200,000  -  -  200,000  200,000  -  -  200,000  -  
13 PA/ED Consultants 62381 -  -  1,304,802  1,304,802  -  -  1,304,802  1,304,802  -  
14 PS&E Consultant 62340 - 397,958 3,161,538  3,559,496  - 397,958 3,161,538  3,559,496  -  
15 Legal Fees 62359 1,000  10,000 50,000  61,000  1,000  10,000 50,000  61,000  -  
16 Project Management Consultant 62381 50,000  110,000 80,000  240,000  23,000  90,000 53,000  166,000  (74,000)  
17 Pub Info, materials, & meetings 62381 20,000  10,000 20,000  50,000  20,000  10,000 20,000  50,000  -  
18 Right of Way Capital and Support 62856 196,000  800,000 305,700  1,301,700  196,000  800,000 305,700  1,301,700  -  
19 Construction Captial 62856 582,775  840,000 - 1,422,775 582,775  840,000 - 1,422,775 -  
20 Contingency 62856 20,000  100,000 100,000  220,000 20,000  100,000 - 120,000 (100,000)  
21 Total Services & Supplies 1,069,775  2,267,958  5,022,040  8,359,773  1,042,775  2,247,958  4,895,040  8,185,773  (174,000)  
22
23 Total Expenditures 1,169,775  2,392,958  5,222,040  8,784,773  1,169,775  2,392,958  5,222,040  8,784,773  -  
24
25 To/(From) Reserves: -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Bay/porter to State Park - Shift $20k from professional 
services to staff time.  

Freedom-State Park - Shift $100k contingency and $27k 
professional services to staff time 

41st Ave  to Soquel - Shift $27k from professional 
services to staff time.     

Highway 1 Corridor FY2022/23
Approved
4/6/2023

FY2022/23
Proposed
5/4/2023

EXHIBIT A

15-5



 General 
Network and 
Maintenance  North Coast 

 City of Santa 
Cruz 

 City of 
Watsonville 

 City of 
Capitola 

 County of 
Santa cruz 

Total
 General 

Network and 
Maintenance  North Coast 

 City of Santa 
Cruz 

 City of 
Watsonville 

 City of 
Capitola 

 County of 
Santa cruz 

Total Difference Note

1 Revenues Object
2 Measure D 40186 1,741,600  505,013  2,645,000   21,200   1,000  6,303,528  11,217,341  1,741,600  505,013  2,737,500   21,200   1,000  6,343,528  11,349,841    132,500 
3 RSTPX 425,000  425,000  425,000  425,000  -   
4 Land Trust -  -  -   
5 Total Revenues 1,741,600  930,013  2,645,000   21,200   1,000  6,303,528  11,642,341  1,741,600  930,013  2,737,500   21,200   1,000  6,343,528  11,774,841  132,500  
6 Expenditures
7 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 271,311  65,640  28,444   4,376  438   24,068   394,276  271,311  65,640  48,136   4,376  438   41,572   431,472  37,196  
8 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 348,689  84,360  36,556   5,624  562   30,932   506,724  348,689  84,360  61,864   5,624  562   53,428   554,528  47,804  

9
Total Salaries, benefits, & overhead 620,000  150,000  65,000   10,000   1,000  55,000   901,000  620,000  150,000  110,000   10,000   1,000  95,000   986,000  85,000  

10 Maintenance 61845 776,600  -  20,000  11,200   807,800  776,600  -  20,000 11,200   807,800  -   
11 Legal Fees 62359 40,000  40,000   40,000  40,000   -      
12 Professional Services 62381 345,000  639,346  40,000   45,000   1,069,346  345,000  639,346  87,500   45,000   1,116,846  47,500  Add $47,500 to Seg 8-9
13 Grant Match 62856 -  -  -   
14 Property Acquisitions 62856 100,667  3,329,000  3,429,667  100,667  3,329,000   3,429,667  -   
15 Contingency 62856 -  -  -   
16 County of Santa Cruz 75303 2,874,528  2,874,528  2,874,528  2,874,528  -   
17 City of Santa Cruz 75204 2,520,000   2,520,000  2,520,000  2,520,000  -   
18 City of Watsonville 75206 -  -   -  -   
19 Total Services & Supplies 1,121,600  780,013  2,580,000   11,200   - 6,248,528 10,741,341  1,121,600  780,013  2,627,500   11,200   - 6,248,528 10,788,841  47,500  
20
21 Total Expenditures 1,741,600  930,013  2,645,000   21,200   1,000  6,303,528 11,642,341  1,741,600  930,013  2,737,500  21,200   1,000   6,343,528 11,774,841  132,500  
22
23 To/(From) Reserves: -   -   -   -   -  -  -  -   -   -  -   -  -  -  -   

Add $45k for Seg 8-9 

Add $40k for Seg 10-11

4/6/2023 5/4/2023

MBSST Coastal Rail Trail FY2022/23 FY2022/23
Approved Proposed

15-6



Budget Summary by Purpose, Program or Project (with allocated labor and overhead)
Fiscal Year FY2022/23

Proposed As of May 4, 2023

Object
Revenues 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023

1 TDA Revenue 40172 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - -          966,155      966,155      -  - - -  858,287      858,287      (0)    1,824,442  1,824,442  (0)   
2 Measure D 40186 200,000                  200,000      -  50,000      50,000        -  183,124    183,124      -  3,075,000   3,075,000   - 7,459,773   7,459,773   - 11,217,341    11,349,841    132,500   4,066,802   4,066,802   -  1,162,449   1,162,449   -  825,544      825,544      -  28,240,032    28,372,532    132,500  
3 Local Assistance (MTC) 40384 - - -  50,000      50,000        -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  50,000          50,000          -          
4 Interest 40430 4,000                     4,000          -  1,000        1,000          -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  5,000   5,000   -          
5 Leases, Licenses & Other Rev 40440 - - -  - - -  -           - -  83,772        83,772        - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  83,772          83,772          -          
6 SB 1 40465 - - -  - - -  145,683    145,683      -  - - - 200,000      200,000      - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  345,683        345,683        -          
7 DMV Fees 40754 - - -  257,750    257,750      -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  257,750        257,750        -          
8 RSTP Exchange/STBG 40761 68,663                   68,663        -  - - -  -           - -  - - - 25,000        25,000        - 425,000        425,000        -          88,016        88,016        -  105,000      105,000      -  - - -  711,679        711,679        -          
9 STIP 40770 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - 1,100,000   1,100,000   - - - - 123,000      123,000      -  - - -  - - -  1,223,000  1,223,000  -          
10 Rural Planning Assistance (RPA) 40786 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - 357,181      357,181      -  - - -  - - -  357,181        357,181        -          
11 Sustainable Communities - RMRA 40786 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - 583,039      583,039      -  - - -  - - -  583,039        583,039        -          
12 Caltrans FSP 40884 - - -  - - -  168,888    168,888      -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  168,888        168,888        -          
13 State-Other 40894 - - -  - - -  -           - -  285,000      285,000      - - - - - - -          55,725        55,725        -  - - -  - - -  340,725        340,725        -          
14 Sustainable Communities - FTA 5304 40962 - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - 338,000 338,000 - - - -  - - - 338,000 338,000 - 
15 FEMA 41093 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  -  -  - 
16 Contr from Other Agencies 41150 - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 90,000 90,000 -  - - -  90,000 90,000 - 
17 Contr from Other Funds 42367 50,000                   50,000        -  - - -  -           - -  110,000      110,000      - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  160,000        160,000        -          
18 Other revenue 42384 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  -  -  - 
19 Total Revenues 322,663                  322,663      -  358,750    358,750      -  497,695    497,695      -  3,553,772   3,553,772   - 8,784,773   8,784,773   - 11,642,341    11,774,841    132,500   6,577,918   6,577,918   -  1,357,449   1,357,449   -  1,683,831   1,683,830   (0)    34,779,192    34,911,691    132,500  
20
21 Salaries, Benefits & Overhead
22 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 93,499 93,499        -  58,638      58,638        -  37,852      37,852        -  450,726      450,726      - 229,739      262,121      32,382        394,276        431,472        37,196     558,666      558,666      -  21,770        21,770        -  449,196      449,196      -  2,294,363  2,363,941  69,578   
23 Allocated Overhead 62354 120,164 120,164      -  75,362      75,362        -  48,648      48,648        -  579,274      579,274      - 295,261      336,879      41,618        506,724        554,528        47,804     717,997      717,997      -  27,979        27,979        -  567,847      567,847      -  2,939,256  3,028,677  89,422   
24 Total Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 213,663 213,663      -  134,000    134,000      -  86,500      86,500        -  1,030,000   1,030,000   - 525,000      599,000      74,000        901,000        986,000        85,000     1,276,663   1,276,663   -  49,749        49,749        -  1,017,044   1,017,044   -  5,233,618  5,392,618  159,000  
25
26 Services & Supplies
27 Telephone & Mobile Device 61221 500 500 -  10,200      10,200        -  2,000        2,000          -  480 480 - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  10,000        10,000        -  23,180          23,180          -          
28 Office Equipment 61312 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  5,000          5,000          -  5,000   5,000   -          
29 Liability Insurance 61535 - - -  5,250        5,250          -  4,200        4,200          -  30,023        30,023        - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  80,061        80,061        -  119,534        119,534        -          
30 Office Equip Repair/Maint 61725 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  7,500          7,500          -  7,500   7,500   -          
31 Other Equip Repair/Maint 61730 - - -  30,000      30,000        -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  30,000          30,000          -          
32 Repairs & Maintenance 61845 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - 807,800        807,800        -          - - -  - - -  14,900        14,900        -  822,700        822,700        -          
33 Membership 62020 600 600 -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  25,000        25,000        -  25,600          25,600          -          
34 Duplicating 62214 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  3,000          3,000          -  3,000   3,000   -          
35 Computer Software 62219 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  86,200        86,200        -  86,200          86,200          -          
36 Postage 62221 1,000 1,000          -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  3,000          3,000          -  4,000   4,000   -          
37 Subscriptions 62222 - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - -  - - 
38 General Supplies & Expenses 62223 2,000 2,000          -  2,000        2,000          -  4,000        4,000          -  500 500 - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  17,000        17,000        -  25,500          25,500          -          
39 Accounting & Audit 62301 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  41,500        41,500        -  41,500          41,500          -          
40 County Mainframe/Intranet 62325 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  6,000          6,000          -  6,000   6,000   -          
41 Commissioners' Stipend 62327 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  10,000        10,000        -  10,000          10,000          -          
42 Design and Eng Consult 62340 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - 5,064,298   5,064,298   - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  5,064,298  5,064,298  -          
43 Legal Fees 62359 - - -  1,000        1,000          -  1,000        1,000          -  30,000        30,000        - 61,000        61,000        - 40,000          40,000          -          - - -  2,000          2,000          -  50,000        50,000        -  185,000        185,000        -          
44 Professional & Special Serv 62381 158,000 158,000      -  3,000        3,000          -  - - -  1,894,520   1,894,520   - 290,000      216,000      (74,000)       1,069,346     1,116,846     47,500     854,714      854,714      -  279,700      279,700      -  279,840      279,840      -  4,829,120  4,802,620  (26,500)  
45 Temporary Contract Serv 62395 - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - -  - - 
46 Office Rent 62610 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  135,184      135,184      -  135,184        135,184        -          
47 Adv & Promo Materials 62801 50,000 50,000        -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  8,500          8,500          -  58,500          58,500          -          
48 Contingency/Special Exp 62856 20,000 20,000        -  150,000    150,000      -  5,000        5,000          -  120,000      120,000      - 2,844,475   2,844,475   - 3,429,667     3,429,667     -          491,800      491,800      -  1,026,000   1,026,000   -  30,000        30,000        -  8,116,942  8,116,942  -          
49 Subscriptions 62890 2,000 2,000          -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  2,000   2,000   -          
50 Towing 62893 - - -  - - -  357,726    357,726      -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  357,726        357,726        -          
51 Transp/Travel/Educ 62914 2,000 2,000          -  2,000        2,000          -  1,000        1,000          -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  70,000        70,000        -  75,000          75,000          -          
52 Vehicle Maint, Rentals & Serv 62920 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  4,000          4,000          -  4,000   4,000   -          
53 Utilities 63070 - - -  1,200        1,200          -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  1,000          1,000          -  2,200   2,200   -          
54 Funds to City of Capitola 75203 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  -  -  - 
55 Funds to City of Santa Cruz 75204 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - 2,520,000     2,520,000     -          - - -  - - -  - - -  2,520,000  2,520,000  -          
56 Funds to City of Watsonville 75206 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  -  -  - 
57 Contribution to Other Agency 75230 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - 4,081,000   4,081,000   -  - - -  - - -  4,081,000  4,081,000  -          
58 Transfer to Other Funds 75233 - - -  50,000      50,000        -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          110,000      110,000      -  - - -  - - -  160,000        160,000        -          
66 CHP Operations 75280 - - -  150,600    150,600      -  - - -  - - - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  150,600        150,600        -          
67 Funds to SC County 75303 - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - 2,874,528 2,874,528 - - - -  - - - - - -  2,874,528 2,874,528 - 
68 Construction 86110 - - -  - - -  -           - -  850,000      850,000      - - - - - - -          - - -  - - -  - - -  850,000        850,000        -          
69 Buildings and Improvements 86110 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  - - -  -  -  - 
70 Mobile Equipment 86209 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  75,000        75,000        -  75,000          75,000          -          
71 Office Equipment 86210 - - -  - - -  -           - -  - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - -  40,000        40,000        -  40,000          40,000          -          
72 Total Services & Supplies 236,100 236,100      -  405,250    405,250      -  374,926    374,926      -  2,925,523   2,925,523   - 8,259,773   8,185,773   (74,000)       10,741,341    10,788,841    47,500     5,537,514   5,537,514   -  1,307,700   1,307,700   -  1,002,685   1,002,685   -  30,790,812    30,764,312    (26,500)  
73 -  -  -  - - - -  -  -  - 
74 Total Expenditures: 449,763                  449,763      -  539,250    539,250      -  461,426    461,426      -  3,955,523   3,955,523   - 8,784,773   8,784,773   - 11,642,341    11,774,841    132,500   6,814,177   6,814,177   -  1,357,449   1,357,449   -  2,019,729   2,019,729   -  36,024,431    36,156,931    132,500  
75
76 Excess of Revenues over Expenditures: (127,100)     -  (180,500)     -  36,269        -  (401,751)     - - - - -          (236,259)     -  - -  (335,899)     (0)    (1,245,240)    (0)   
77 *Beginning Fund Balance (estimate): 371,853      446,004      178,146      441,215      160,502      30,000          674,814      32,013        929,963      1,666,790  
78 Ending Fund Balance (estimate): 244,753      265,504      214,415      39,464        160,502      30,000          438,555      32,013        594,065      1,094,633  
79
80 * Does not include operating reserve and cash flow reserve targets, see fund balances and reserve table

EXHIBIT A FY2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT

Total DIFFDIFFMBSST DIFFPlanning DIFFHwy 9-SLV DIFFAdminDIFF DIFFRail DIFFHwyCruz 511 DIFF DIFFSAFE FSP

15-7



FY2022/23 FY2022/23
Highway Corridor Approved Proposed

Object 4/6/23 5/4/23
1 Revenues
2 Measure D 40186 6,683,912  6,683,912  -  
3 Interest 40430 50,000 50,000 -  
4 Operating Transfers In 40462
5 Total Revenues 6,733,912  6,733,912  -  
6
7 Program and Project Expendtures
8 Planning- Regional Conservation Investment Strategy
9 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 1,059  1,059  -  

10 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 1,362  1,362  -  
11  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 2,421  2,421  -  

12 Freeway Service Patrol (FSP)
13 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 7,220  7,220  -  
14 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 9,280  9,280  -  

15  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 16,500 16,500 -  
16 Supplies 62223 4,000  4,000  -  
17 Legal Fees 62359 1,000  1,000  -  
18 Contingency/Special Exp 62856 5,000  5,000  -  
19 Towing 62893 155,624 155,624 -  
20 Transportation/Travel/Education 62914 1,000  1,000  -  
21 Subtotal Services & Supplies 166,624 166,624 -  
22 SAFE
23 CHP 75280 50,000 50,000 -  
24 Subtotal Services & Supplies 50,000 50,000 -  

25 Cruz 511 -  
26 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 48,573 48,573 -  
27 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 62,427 62,427 -  
28  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 111,000 111,000 -  

29 Subscriptions - Data Collecting 62222 2,000  2,000  -  
30 Website Maintenance and Tech Supp 62381 8,000  8,000  
31 Commute Manager 62381 29,000 29,000 
32 Transportation Demand Management 62381 50,000 50,000 -  
33 Subtotal Services & Supplies 89,000 89,000 -  

34 41st to Soquel Aux Lanes & Bike/Ped Xing:
35 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 43,760 55,575 11,815  
36 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 56,240 71,425 15,185  
37  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 100,000 127,000 27,000  From prof services

NoteDifference
Measure D 

15-8



FY2022/23 FY2022/23
Approved Proposed

Object 4/6/23 5/4/23
38 Legal Fees 62359 1,000            1,000            -               
39 Project Management Consultant 62381 50,000          23,000          (27,000)        To labor and overhead
40 Pub Info, materials, & meetings 62381 20,000          20,000          -               
41 Right of Way Capital and Support 62856 196,000        196,000        -               
42 Construction & Contingency 62856 602,775        602,775        -               
43 Subtotal Services & Supplies 869,775        842,775        (27,000)        

44 State Park Dr to Bay Porter Aux Lanes and Mar Vista Overcrossing: -               
45 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 54,700          63,452          8,752            
46 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 70,300          81,548          11,248          
47  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 125,000        145,000        20,000          From  prof services
48 Legal Fees 62359 10,000          10,000          -               
49 PS&E Consultant 62381 397,958        397,958        -               
50 Project Management Consultant 62381 110,000        90,000          (20,000)        To labor and overhead
51 Pub Info, materials, & meetings 62381 10,000          10,000          -               
54 Contingency & Supplies 62856 100,000        100,000        -               
55 Construction Capital 62856 840,000        840,000        -               
56 Subtotal Services & Supplies 1,467,958      1,447,958      (20,000)        
57 Freedom to State Park Dr Aux Lanes: -               
58 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 87,520          143,095        55,575          
59 Allocated Overhead (indirect costs) 62354 112,480        183,905        71,425          
60  Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 200,000        327,000        127,000        From contingency and prof services
61 Legal Fees 62359 50,000          50,000          -               
62 PA/ED Consultant 62381 979,802        979,802        -               
63 PS&E Consultant 62381 3,161,538      3,161,538      -               
65 Project Management Consultant 62381 80,000          53,000          (27,000)        To labor and overhead
66 Pub Info, materials, & meetings 62381 20,000          20,000          -               
67 ROW SUPPORT 62381 305,700        305,700        -               
68 Contingency & Supplies 62856 100,000        -                (100,000)       To labor and overhead
69 62856 -                -               
70 Subtotal Services & Supplies 4,697,040      4,570,040      (127,000)       
71
72 Interprogram loan to Highway 17 95046 3,023,420      3,023,420      -               
73
74 Total Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 554,921        728,921        174,000        
75 Subtotal Services & Supplies 7,340,397      7,166,397      (174,000)       
76 -               
77 Total Expenditures 10,918,738    10,918,738    -               
78
79 To/(From) Reserves: (4,184,826)    (4,184,826)    -               

Measure D Highway Corridor - Continued

Difference

15-9



FY2022/23 FY2022/23
Active Transportation Approved Proposed Note

Object 4/6/23 5/4/23
1 Revenues
2 Measure D 40186 4,545,060    4,545,060    -             
3 Interest 40430 10,000         10,000         -             
4 Total Revenues 4,555,060    4,555,060    -             
5 Expenditures
6 MBSST Corridor and RCIS 
7 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 395,399       432,595       37,196        Add $45k for Seg 8-9 
8 Allocated Overhead (indirect) 62354 508,166       555,970       47,804        
9 Total Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 903,565       988,565       85,000        
10 Services and Supplies:
11 Corridor encroach & maint 61845 776,600       776,600       -             
12 Legal Fees 62359 -              -              -             
12 General Tech Assist 62381 20,000         20,000         -             
13 Electric Rail Transit & Trail 62381 350,000       350,000       -             
14 Boundary Survey & Encroachments 62381 325,000       325,000       -             
15 Subtotal Services & Supplies 1,471,600    1,471,600    -             
16 MBSST North Coast Segment 5: 
18 Davenport Crosswalk 62381 -              -              -             
21 Tech Asst (envl, surv, EHS, etc.) 62381 254,346       254,346       -             
20 Acquisitions 62856 100,667       100,667       -             
22 Subtotal Services & Supplies 355,013       355,013       -             

23 MBSST City of Santa Cruz Segments 7, 8 & 9:
24 Ongoing Maintenance 61845 20,000         20,000         -             
25 Tech Asst (envl, surv, EHS, etc.) 62381 410,000       457,500       47,500        Add $47,500 for Seg 8-9
26 Seg 7 Phase 2 to SC City 75204 2,150,000    2,150,000    -             
27 Seg 8 SL River trestle to SC City 75204 -              -              -             
28 Subtotal Services & Supplies 2,580,000    2,627,500    47,500        
29 MBSST County of Santa Cruz Segments 10, 11 &12
30 Prelim Eng & enviro clearance 62381 -             
31 Professional & Special Services 62381 45,000         45,000         -             
32 Seg 12 ROW 62856 3,329,000    3,329,000    
33 Env Review and Design to SCC 75303 2,874,528    2,874,528    -             
34 Subtotal Services & Supplies 6,248,528    6,248,528    -             
35 MBSST City of Watsonville Segement 18:
36 Legal Fees 62359 -             
37 Tech Asst (envl, surv, EHS, etc.) 62381 -              -              -             
38 Ongoing Maintenance 61845 11,200         11,200         -             
39 Seg 18 Constr - to City of Wats 75206 -              -              -             
40 Subtotal Services & Supplies 11,200         11,200         -             
41 MBSST City of Capitola City Hall to Monterey Ave:
43 Tech Asst (envl, surv, EHS, etc.) 62381 -              -              -             
44 Subtotal Services & Supplies -              -              -             
45
46 Total Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 903,565       988,565       85,000        
47 Subtotal Services & Supplies 10,666,341  10,713,841  47,500        
48 -             
49 Total Expenditures 11,569,906  11,702,406  132,500      
50
51 To/(From) Reserve Funds (7,014,846)   (7,147,346)   (132,500)     

Difference
Measure D 

Add $40k for Seg 10-11

15-10



Measure D Regional Funding Program and Project Budget Summary 
Administration and Implementation by RTC - Proposed Budget            
Fiscal Year FY2022/23

Proposed for May 4, 2023

Object
1 Revenues 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023 4/6/2023 5/4/2023
2 Measure D 40186 825,544                   825,544    -  333,333       333,333        -  166,667       166,667         -  6,683,912      6,683,912      -            4,545,060      4,545,060      -        2,138,852    2,138,852    -  14,693,367    14,693,367     -            
3 Interest 40430 5,000                      5,000        -  5,000          5,000            -  2,000          2,000            -  50,000           50,000           -            10,000           10,000           -        -              -              -  72,000           72,000            -            
4 Other Revenue 42386 -                          -            -  -              -               -  3,023,420    3,023,420      -  -                -                -            -                -                -        1,503,318    1,503,318    -  4,526,738      4,526,738       -            
5 Total Revenues 830,544                   830,544    -  338,333       338,333        -  3,192,087    3,192,087      -  6,733,912      6,733,912      -            4,555,060      4,555,060      -        3,642,170    3,642,170    -  14,765,367    14,765,367     -            
6
7 Salaries, Benefits & Overhead
8 Allocated Labor Costs 51070 344,173                   344,173    -  21,770        21,770          -  4,376          4,376            -  246,632         323,965         77,333       395,399         432,595         37,196   402,948       402,948       -  1,415,297      1,529,826       114,529     
9 Allocated Overhead 62354 432,871                   432,871    -  27,979        27,979          -  5,624          5,624            -  308,289         404,956         96,667       508,166         555,970         47,804   517,868       517,868       -  1,800,798      1,945,269       144,471     

10 Total Salaries, Benefits & Overhead 777,044                   777,044    -  49,749        49,749          -  10,000        10,000          -  554,921         728,921         174,000     903,565         988,565         85,000   920,816       920,816       -  3,216,095      3,475,095       259,000     
11
12 Services & Supplies -              
13 Repairs & Maintenance 61845 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            807,800         807,800         -        -              -              -  807,800         807,800          -            
14 Subscriptions 62222 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  2,000            2,000            -            -                -                -        -              -              -  2,000            2,000              -            
15 General Supplies & Expenses 62223 5,000                      5,000        -  -              -               -  -              -                -  4,000            4,000            -            -                -                -        -              -              -  9,000            9,000              -            
16 Accounting & Audit 62301 1,000                      1,000        -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            -                -                -        -              -              -  1,000            1,000              -            
17 Legal Fees 62359 -                          -            -  2,000          2,000            -  -              -                -  62,000           62,000           -            -                -                -        25,000        25,000        -  89,000           89,000            -            
18 Professional & Special Services 62381 40,000                    40,000      -  84,700        84,700          -  -              -                -  5,221,998      5,147,998      (74,000)     994,346         994,346         -        1,790,000    1,790,000    -  8,131,044      8,057,044       (74,000)     
19 Adv & Promo Materials 62801 2,500                      2,500        -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            -                -                -        -              -              -  2,500            2,500              -            
20 Contingency/Special Exp 62856 -                          -            -  125,000       125,000        -  -              -                -  1,843,775      1,743,775      (100,000)    100,667         100,667         -        120,000       120,000       -  2,189,442      2,089,442       (100,000)    
21 Towing 62893 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  155,624         155,624         -            -                -                -        -              -              -  155,624         155,624          -            
22 Transportation/Travel/Education 62914 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  1,000            1,000            -            -                -                -        -              -              -  1,000            1,000              -            
23 Funds to City of Santa Cruz 75204 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            2,560,000      2,607,500      47,500   -              -              -  2,560,000      2,607,500       47,500       
24 Funds to City of Watsonville 75206 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            -                -                -        -              -              -  -                -                 -            
25 Contribution to Other Agency 75230 -                          -            -  901,000       901,000        -  4,051,000    4,051,000      -  -                -                -            -                -                -        -              -              -  4,952,000      4,952,000       -            
26 CHP Operations 75280 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  50,000           50,000           -            -                -                -        -              -              -  50,000           50,000            -            
27 Funds to SC County 75303 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            2,874,528      2,874,528      -        -              -              -  2,874,528      2,874,528       -            
28 Construction 86110 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  -                -                -            -                -                -        445,000       445,000       -  445,000         445,000          -            
29 Intra-Fund Transfer/Program Loan 95046 -                          -            -  -              -               -  -              -                -  3,023,420      3,023,420      -            -                -                -        -              -              -  3,023,420      3,023,420       -            
30 Total Services & Supplies 48,500                    48,500      -  1,112,700    1,112,700     -  4,051,000    4,051,000      -  10,363,817    10,189,817    (174,000)    7,337,341      7,384,841      47,500   2,380,000    2,380,000    -  25,293,358    25,166,858     (126,500)    
31
32 Total Expenditures: 825,544                   825,544    -  1,162,449    1,162,449     -  4,061,000    4,061,000      -  10,918,738    10,918,738    -            8,240,906      8,373,406      132,500 3,300,816    3,300,816    -  28,509,453    28,641,953     132,500     
33
34 Excess of Revenues over Expenditures: 5,000        (824,116)       (868,913)       (4,184,826)    (3,818,346)    341,354       (9,349,848)      
35 Beginning Fund Balance (estimate): 510,450    1,452,260     904,668         20,462,269    10,633,354    3,508,651    37,471,652     
36 Ending Fund Balance (estimate): 515,450    628,144        35,754          16,277,443    6,815,008      3,850,005    28,121,804     
37
38

DIFFTotalAdmin & Impl DIFF DIFFHwy 9 DIFFHwy 17 Wildlife Crossing DIFFHighway Corridor DIFFActive Transp DIFFRail Corridor

15-11



AGENDA:  May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission 

FROM: Tracy New, Director of Finance and Budget 

RE: FY2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
accept the attached SCCRTC FY2021-22 audited financial statements.  

BACKGROUND 

The Commission is required by state law to undergo an annual financial audit. 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, performed the FY2021-22 fiscal audit for the 
Commission; the same firm performed the audits of Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) funds of the, City of Watsonville, and City of Santa 
Cruz for their bike and pedestrian projects and pass-through claims on behalf 
of Community Bridges and the Volunteer Center. The County of Santa Cruz 
and the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District were audited by Brown 
Armstrong, CPAs. The audit is not required for the claimants who did not 
receive and/or spend TDA funds during the reporting period – City of Capitola 
and City of Scotts Valley.  

DISCUSSION 

The Commission received a clean opinion from the Auditor and no major 
concerns were raised which would require changes to the SCCRTC internal 
controls and accounting practices. The audit reports of the County of Santa 
Cruz and SCMTD are also unqualified. The reports are public documents and 
are available at the Commission’s office and on the website. (www.sccrtc.org). 
Federal expenditures met the $750,000 threshold; therefore, a Single Audit 
for FY2021-22 is required and staff will bring to the Commission when the 
audit is complete.  

The significant highlights for FY2021-22 include: 

1. Measure D transaction and use tax revenues received during FY2021-
22 total $27,372,939, representing an increase of 4% over FY2020-21
receipts of $24,675,262.

16-1

http://www.sccrtc.org/


Page 2 

2. TDA revenues were 3.4% higher at $11,096,338 compared to FY2020-
21 at $10,733,415. This represents a change in the year-over-year
growth rate from 10.2% in FY2020-2021 (compared to FY2019-2020)
to 3.4% in FY2021-22 (compared to FY2020-2021) for a total of
$362,923 more in revenues (page 17).

3. The RTC’s Unrestricted Net Position $52,803 (Pages 13 and 20), due to
continuing rise of unfunded pension and Other Post-Employment
Benefits (OPEB) – insurance benefits (Pages 53-54). The Fund
Statements, which are not on full accrual basis, show RTC in strong
financial condition with a combined fund balance of $5,175,289.

The RTC pension plan is discussed in more detail in Note 9 starting on
page 47 while the OPEB discussion is covered in Note 11 beginning on
page 51.  Each year, the RTC contributes more than the annual required
contribution (ARC) to reduce the pension liability. In May 2022, the RTC
established section 115 trusts to pre-fund the pension and OPEB
liabilities. In July 2022, the RTC made contributions to these trust funds
to offset the liabilities and will be reflected in the FY2022-23 valuations
and audit.

4. The Fiduciary Funds continue to carry a high cash balance due to
unclaimed TDA and RSTPX allocations (Pages 16 and 32). The total
unclaimed TDA and RSTPX allocations are $13,233,948. The cash
balances are $6,697,169 and $11,316,730 respectively in FY2021-22
and FY2020-21. The difference between the unclaimed allocations and
cash balances is the $3,587,805 loan to RTC for 2017 Storm Damage
expenditures billed to FEMA and FY2022 revenues in FY2023 and
included as receivables. These funds can only be used for intended
purposes and cannot be spent for other RTC needs.

5. The following projects, which are discussed in detail starting on Page
3, commenced or continued in FY2021-22:

a. Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network (and Coastal Rail
Trail)

b. Regional Transportation Plan
c. Highway 1 Projects

• 41st Avenue to Soquel Drive
• State Park to Bay/Porter
• Freedom to State Park

d. Rail Studies and Use of the Corridor

16-2



Page 3 

e. SR9 San Lorenzo Valley Complete Streets Corridor
Transportation Plan

f. Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing

The Management Discussion & Analysis Section of the SCCRTC audit report 
contains extensive financial highlights with comparison to the prior fiscal year. 

SUMMARY 

The FY2021-22 Commission’s audit has been completed and is ready for 
review. Staff recommends that the Commission accept the audit report.  

Attachment: 
FY2021-22 SCCRTC Fiscal Audit Report –Full document available at: 
https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FY2022-RTC-Audit-Report.pdf 

S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Consent\FY2022 RTC Fiscal Audit\FY2022AuditStaffReport.docx 

16-3

https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FY2022-RTC-Audit-Report.pdf


SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

AUDIT REPORT 
June 30, 2022 

16-4



16-5



 

 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                                                                                                                  
 
 
Financial Section 
  
Independent Auditors' Report  ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ........................................................................................................................................... 3 
 
Basic Financial Statements: 
 
 Government-wide Financial Statements:  
     Statement of Net Position  ................................................................................................................................................ 20 
     Statement of Activities  ..................................................................................................................................................... 21 
   
 Fund Financial Statements: 
  
    Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds  ............................................................................................................................. 22 
  Reconciliation of the Governmental  
       Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position  ........................................................................................... 25 
     Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes In Fund Balances - 
      Governmental Funds   .............................................................................................................................................. 26 
     Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,  
  and Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities  ................................................................................ 31 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position– Fiduciary Funds .................................................................................................... 32 
 Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position............................................................................................................... 34 
  Notes to Basic Financial Statements  ................................................................................................................................ 36 
 
Required Supplementary Information Section 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 
  Administration and Planning Fund ............................................................................................................................................. 55 
  Rail/Trail Authority Fund ........................................................................................................................................................... 56 
  Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies Fund ..................................................................................................................... 57 
  Freeway Service Patrol Fund ...................................................................................................................................................... 58 
  Highway 1 Program Fund ........................................................................................................................................................... 59 
  Highway 1 Auxiliary Lanes Fund ............................................................................................................................................... 60 
  Cruz 511 Fund ............................................................................................................................................................................ 61 
  Active Transportation MBSST Fund .......................................................................................................................................... 62 
Schedule of Changes in the OPEB Liability and Related Ratios .................................................................................................... 63 
Schedule of OPEB Contributions .................................................................................................................................................... 64 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability .............................................................................................................. 65 
Schedule of Pension Contributions ................................................................................................................................................. 66 
 
Supplementary Information Section 
 
Independent Auditors' Report on Transportation Development Act Compliance ........................................................................... 67 
  
Independent Auditors' Report on Measure D Compliance .............................................................................................................. 69 
 
Schedules of Allocations and Expenditures: 
 Local Transportation Fund ....................................................................................................................................................... 71 
 State Transit Assistance Fund .................................................................................................................................................. 72 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-6



 

 

 
 
 
 

16-7



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-8



16-9



 

 

Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP
Certified Public Accountants  

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (the Commission) as of and for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Commission’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the 
governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the fiscal year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission adopted new accounting guidance, GASB No. 87 Leases. Our opinions are not modified with respect to 
this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is 
a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

 

1 
2400 Professional Parkway, Suite 205  Santa Maria, CA 93455   Tel 805.925.2579 Fax 805.925.2147   mlhcpas.com 

 
BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 16-10



 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt 
about the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis on 
pages 3 through 19, the budgetary information on pages 55 through 62, the schedule of changes in the OPEB liability and related 
ratios on page 63, the schedule of OPEB contributions on page 64, the schedule of proportionate share of net pension liability on page 
65, and the schedule of pension contributions on page 66, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, of the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Commission’s 
basic financial statements. The schedules of allocations and expenditures are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. 

The schedules of allocations and expenditures are the responsibility of management and was derived from and is related directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the supplementary information section is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relating to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 10, 2023, on our consideration of the 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

 

Santa Maria, California 
April 10, 2023 
 

2 
16-11



 

3 
 

Management Discussion and Analysis 
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2022 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

  
The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) was 
established in 1972 under the provisions of the California Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) of 1971. In 1989, the RTC was established as the 
Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies under California Streets and 
Highways Code Sections 2550-2559. This allowed the RTC to provide highway 
call boxes, freeway service patrols and other motorist aid services to Santa 
Cruz County with funds collected from a $1 vehicle registration fee on all cars 
registered in the County. In 2001, Section 67941 was added to the 
Government Code giving the RTC the power of eminent domain and the power 
to preserve, acquire, construct, improve, and oversee multimodal 
transportation projects and services on rail rights-of-way within Santa Cruz 
County. The RTC purchased the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line in 2012 and 
contracts with an operator to provide freight and recreational rail service.  The 
RTC is also the designated administrator and taxing authority for the Measure 
D ½-cent transactions and use tax, which was approved by over two-thirds of 
Santa Cruz County voters in November 2016. 
 
The RTC is governed by a Board of Directors composed of 12 members and 
one ex-officio member. The Board sets policies related to transportation 
planning, funding, projects, and programs throughout the county; delivers 
regional projects; and, for FY2021/22, oversaw 22 full and part-time 
employees representing 21 full-time equivalent positions. 
 

2. MAJOR PROGRAMS   
 

The RTC sets priorities and secures funding for capital improvements to 
transportation infrastructure including highways, local roads, public 
transportation, rail, bicycle and pedestrian facilities; pursues and allocates 
funds for all elements of transportation; adopts policies to improve the 
regional transportation system; plans future projects and programs; and 
provides services to encourage the use of active and sustainable 
transportation modes, improve the safety and operation of the transportation 
system, and reduce vehicle emissions. 

The RTC is the state-designated Regional Transportation Planning Agency 
(RTPA) for Santa Cruz County. As the RTPA for Santa Cruz County, the RTC is 
responsible for distributing Transportation Development Act (TDA) funds 
raised through a 1/4-cent state sales tax, as well as selecting projects and 

16-12



 

4 
 

programs to receive the county’s formula shares of State Transit Assistance 
(STA), Senate Bill 1 (SB1) Transit State of Good Repair (SGR), State 
Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), Surface Transportation Block 
Grant Program/Regional Surface Transportation Program Exchange 
(STBG/RSTPX), Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) and SB1 
Local Partnership Program (LPP) funds. In 2021, the RTC was also responsible 
for selecting projects to receive formula shares of funds made available from 
the federal Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act 
of 2021 (CRRSAA). As the RTPA, the RTC is also responsible for developing 
both the state-mandated Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and Regional 
Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP). The RTC is required to meet 
numerous other state and federal requirements, to develop a variety of 
transportation system plans and to help ensure a more efficient, effective, and 
resilient transportation system for the Santa Cruz County community. 

The RTP is the long-range transportation planning document which identifies 
the region’s goals, needs and potential funding sources over a 20+ year 
period.  The RTP is updated every 4-5 years.  The draft 2045 RTP and 
environmental analysis was released for public review in FY2021/22 and the 
Final 2045 RTP was adopted by the RTC in June 2022. The RTP includes 
sustainability targets and an evaluation of the transportation plan’s ability to 
meet the targets. Project and funding information in the RTP is consistent with 
the California Transportation Commission’s (CTC) 2017 RTP Guidelines for 
RTPAs and the SB 375-mandated Sustainable Communities Strategy prepared 
by the region’s MPO, the Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments 
(AMBAG).  

As certain state and federal funding becomes available, the RTC selects 
specific transportation projects to receive those funds and lists those selected 
projects in the Regional Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP), which 
covers a 5-year period. The RTC adopted the 2022 RTIP in December 2021, 
programming over $11 million in state and federal funds to 15 projects and 
programs following a public hearing. RSTPX funds and funds programmed to 
projects being implemented by the RTC are also included in the RTC’s annual 
budgets in the year in which expenditures are expected. 

The RTC contributed and/or secured state and federal funds for local agencies 
for the following projects which were under construction or were implemented 
in FY2021/22:  

 Hwy 1/9 Intersection Modifications, Santa Cruz  
 Aptos Village Plan Improvements including Aptos Creek Road Traffic 

Signal, Soquel Drive Sidewalks and Bike Lanes  
 Empire Grade Resurfacing 

16-13



 

5 
 

 Hwy 17 to Soquel Corridor Resurfacing 
 Pioneer-Varni Road Resurfacing 
 Zayante Corridor Resurfacing 
 Hwy 1 Auxiliary Lanes & Bus on Shoulders and bicycle/pedestrian 

bridges: design, environmental review, and right-of-way pre-
construction 

 Pacific Ave Sidewalk near Wharf, Santa Cruz 
 Bluebonnet Sidewalk Improvements, Scotts Valley 
 Scotts Valley Area Routes Chip Seal, unincorporated county area  
 Freedom Boulevard Reconstruction, Watsonville 
 BikeSmart & WalkSmart, Ecology Action 
 Bike Challenge+, Ecology Action 
 Project PASEO, Smart Streets and Open Streets, Bike Santa Cruz 

County 
 

Highway 1 Projects  
 
In FY2021/22, the RTC continued sponsorship and delivery of regionally 
significant projects on Highway 1 using Measure D, federal and state funds. 
The RTC in partnership with Caltrans is implementing a program of multimodal 
projects to reduce congestion, improve safety, improve transit travel time and 
reliability of Santa Cruz METRO routes, and construct bicycle and pedestrian 
overcrossings to improve access and connectivity for active transportation 
users. Improvements include auxiliary lanes (Aux), a bus-on-shoulder facility 
(BOS), bridge replacements, and the construction of new bicycle and 
pedestrian overcrossings. There are currently three Highway 1 projects being 
developed to construct five sets of auxiliary lanes and a bus-on shoulder 
facility that stretches 7.5 miles and includes 4 new bicycle and pedestrian 
overcrossing and bike/ped improvements to local roadway overcrossings. RTC 
received a  grant for cycle 2 of the Solutions to Congested Corridors Program 
(SCCP) and Local Partnership Program (LPP), to fully fund the first two 
projects:  auxiliary lanes and bus on shoulder improvements between the 
Soquel Drive and State Park Drive interchanges, which includes bicycle and 
pedestrian overcrossings at Chanticleer Avenue and Mar Vista Drive, in 
combination with improvements to Soquel Drive along the Watsonville-Santa 
Cruz Corridor that are being implemented by the County of Santa Cruz.  
 
Highway 1 – 41st to Soquel Auxiliary Lanes & BOS Project 
This project includes one set of auxiliary lanes on Highway 1 between the 41st 
Avenue and Soquel Dr/Ave interchanges with bus-on-shoulder improvements 
and a new bicycle and pedestrian overcrossing at Chanticleer Avenue.  
Caltrans advertised the construction contract in FY2021/22 and started 
construction in early 2023. 
 

16-14



 

6 
 

Highway 1 – State Park to Bay/Porter Auxiliary Lanes & BOS Project 
This project includes two sets of auxiliary lanes on Highway 1 between State 
Park Drive and Rio Del Mar Blvd interchanges and Rio Del Mar and Bay/Porter 
interchanges with bus on shoulder improvements and a new bicycle and 
pedestrian overcrossing at Mar Vista Drive. The project also includes the 
replacement of the Capitola Avenue overcrossing, soundwalls, and retaining 
walls. The RTC continued final design and right-of-way activities in FY2021/22. 
The project is on schedule to complete all pre-construction work by the end of 
2022, with Caltrans advertising the project for construction bids in 2023.  
 
Highway 1 – Freedom to State Park Auxiliary Lanes & BOS Project 
This project includes auxiliary lanes and bus-on-shoulder improvements on 
Highway 1 between Freedom Blvd and State Park Drive interchanges and the 
construction of a 1.25-mile-long multiuse trail along the Santa Cruz Branch 
Rail Corridor (segment 12 of the Coastal Rail Trail).  Consultants and staff 
worked on preliminary engineering and environmental analysis of the project 
in FY2021/22. The draft Environmental Impact Report/Environmental 
Assessment (EIR/EA) is expected to be completed in the Spring of 2023. RTC 
is working with Caltrans to seek grant funding for construction. 
 
Rail Corridor Maintenance and Preservation  
 
RTC continued constructing the storm damage repair projects along the 
branch line which were a result of the declared disaster from early 2017.  They 
include 7 storm damage repair projects and one debris removal project. In 
FY2021/22, RTC started construction work on the seven sites and the debris 
removal project, completing work on four sites.   
 
The RTC continued the final design of the phase 1 bridge repairs along the 
branch line. RTC secured a Shortline Railroad Improvement Program grant to 
repair the Pajaro River bridge located in Watsonville, with matching funds from 
Measure D Rail category funds and private sources. The project is scheduled 
to begin construction in 2023. 
 
In FY2021/22, the RTC consulted with the Coastal Commission regarding rail 
line right-of-way erosion repairs needed near Manresa State Beach. The RTC 
also continued vegetation control efforts through various contracts which 
included tree trimming and removal, ground vegetation mowing and removal 
and spraying of herbicides not considered hazardous per federal standards. 
Work was also done to clear drainage ditches and culverts, and to repair 
drainage ditch areas to improve water runoff and prevent damage to the rail 
line ROW and neighboring properties. In early 2022, the RTC initiated a pilot 
project employing goats for vegetation control and clearing. In addition, work 
was done in cooperation with law enforcement to address trash and 
encampments. 

16-15



 

7 
 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network (and Coastal Rail Trail)  
Implementation of segments of the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail 
(MBSST) Network (and Coastal Rail Trail) continued during FY2021/22. The 
Coastal Rail Trail 32- mile multi-use bicycle and pedestrian trail along the 
Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line is the spine of Santa Cruz County’s larger 
Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network, a system of trails 
providing connections to the coast from the San Mateo County line to the 
Monterey County Line. The RTC works with local jurisdictions to implement 
various segments of the trail. The RTC oversees all trail development 
activities. 
 
MBSST Network Implementation 
RTC staff provided oversight and technical assistance for implementation of 
the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network (MBSST). This included 
coordination with Caltrans, local jurisdictions and Central Federal Lands of the 
Federal Highways Administration who are implementing specific sections of 
the trail network. 
 
Segment 7 - Phase 2 
The City of Santa Cruz continued working on the final design and in FY2021/22 
initiated construction of Phase 2, from Bay Street/California Avenue to the 
Santa Cruz Wharf.  
 
North Coast Segment 5, Wilder Ranch-Davenport 
In coordination with the SCCRTC, Federal Highway Administration Central 
Federal Lands Highway Division (FHWA-CFLHD) continued development of the 
7.5-mile trail from Davenport to Wilder Ranch State Park. Work on 
preconstruction activities, including environmental, design, right-of-way and 
permitting, continued in FY2021/22. The 5.4-mile section from Wilder Ranch 
to Panther/Yellowbank Beach is fully funded for construction and expected to 
be ready to break ground once approved federal grant funds are available in 
FY2024/25. The RTC received notice that the 2.1-mile section of the trail from 
Panther/Yellowbank Beach was shortlisted for federal funding in October 2021. 
Final awards will be announced in FY2022/23. 
 
Segments 8 & 9, Santa Cruz-Live Oak 
The City of Santa Cruz, in partnership with the County of Santa Cruz and 
SCCRTC continued preliminary design and environmental review of Segments 
8 & 9 of the Coastal Rail Trail between the Santa Cruz Wharf and 17th Avenue 
(2.5 miles). The preliminary design and environmental review phase is funded 
by state and private funds. The City prepared and submitted a grant 
application using Measure D funds as a match. 
 
Segments 10 & 11, Live Oak to Seacliff/Aptos   

16-16



 

8 
 

In FY2021/22, the County of Santa Cruz, in partnership with the City of 
Capitola and SCCRTC, continued preliminary design of Segments 10 & 11 of 
the trail from 17th Ave to State Park Drive (4.7 miles) using Measure D funds. 
The County also prepared and submitted a grant application using Measure D 
funds as match. 
 
Segment 12, Aptos/Rio del Mar 
Environmental review and preliminary design continued for Segment 12 of the 
Coastal Rail Trail between State Park Drive and Rio Del Mar Blvd., as part of 
the Highway 1 Freedom-State Park Auxiliary Lanes and Bus-on-Shoulder 
project by Caltrans in partnership with the SCCRTC. This section of trail 
includes pedestrian and bicycle overcrossing bridges over Highway 1 and 
Soquel Drive connecting coastal neighborhoods and Aptos Village.  RTC is 
pursuing grants for construction. 
 
Segment 18, Watsonville 
Construction of the trail between Ohlone Parkway and Watsonville Slough Trail 
(Phase 1) was completed in FY2020/21, with the official ribbon cutting in July 
2021. Measure D expenditures for Segment 18 Phase 1 are reflected in the 
FY2021/22 audit. The City of Watsonville continued design for Phase 2 of the 
trail, between Lee Road and Ohlone and between the Slough Trail and Walker 
Street.     
 
SAFE and FSP   
 
The Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies (SAFE) annual budget 
provides funds for several motorist aid services.  
 
The RTC administers the Freeway Service Patrol (FSP) which consists of roving 
tow trucks during commute and other high traffic periods looking for disabled 
vehicles or debris on designated highway segments. The FSP provides on-the-
spot help to stranded motorists. The purpose of the FSP is to decrease traveler 
delay associated with non-recurrent congestion, improve safety, air quality, 
and reduce fuel consumption by rapidly clearing incidents. In FY2021/22, FSP 
tow providers roved Highways 1 and 17 for 3,787 hours and provided 1,497 
assists to motorists and the California Highway Patrol (CHP). The program 
benefit/cost ratio is 5.0 and the most frequent services provided by FSP 
include assistance with collisions, mechanical quick fixes, and flat tire repairs.  
 
The emergency call box program connects stranded motorists with roadside 
assistance through a network of cellular phone service call boxes located along 
Highways 1, 9, 17, 152, and 129. In FY 2021/22, 760 calls were placed from 
38 call boxes. Call box usage has continued to decline annually as personal 
cellular phones become available to nearly the entire population. However, 

16-17



 

9 
 

call boxes in more remote areas continue to be used because they have more 
reliable phone service than personal cellular phones. 
 
The RTC also administers the Safe on 17 Program which aims to maintain a 
reduced collision rate on Highway 17 by providing additional resources for CHP 
enforcement. Program funding is provided annually by the RTC SAFE 
($50,000) and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) SAFE 
($50,000) programs. In FY2021/22, RTC SAFE allocated an additional $50,000 
annually for extra enforcement using Measure D- Highway funds. In 
FY2021/22, CHP Santa Cruz provided 460 hours of extra enforcement on 
Highway 17 and rolled over remaining funds for extra enforcement to 
FY2022/23. Through the Safe on 17 Program, the RTC, Caltrans and the CHP 
work in partnership to develop highway improvements that will help to reduce 
collisions and provide information to the public to encourage safer driving. 
 
Cruz511, a 511-traveler information project (described in more detail in the 
next section), is also funded in part through the SAFE budget. 
 
Cruz511 and Alternatives to Driving Alone  
 
Since 1979, the RTC has provided the community with a centralized resource 
for traveler information. Cruz511 is the umbrella brand under which all RTC 
traveler information services take place. While the programs’ offerings have 
evolved over the years in response to changing needs and opportunities, the 
mainstay has been to provide tools, information, and encouragement to 
commuters about options for travel other than driving alone. These 
alternatives include carpooling, vanpooling, bicycling, walking, taking public 
transit and telecommuting. The program also assists employers, schools, and 
other organizations in developing travel programs for their employees and 
constituents.  
 
In FY2020/21, the RTC, in partnership with the City of Santa Cruz, UCSC, 
Ecology Action, and other entities, launched “Go Santa Cruz County,” a robust 
demand management program, including an online commute manager and 
rewards platform with dynamic ride matching and trip planning. In FY2021/22 
more than 2,500 participants registered during the months following the 
announcement for countywide expansion, joining the 1,000+ participants 
already enrolled in the downtown GO Santa Cruz pilot. Consultants assisted 
with designing a new program website (gosantacruzcounty.org), promotional 
items, brochures, and event-related informational flyers. The consultants also 
created content for social media channels and developed a social media 
strategy to promote the program. 
 
Additionally, consultants assisted with employer outreach by engaging with 

16-18



 

10 
 

major employers, onboarding new employers to the platform, and providing 
virtual and in-person commuter workshops to participants. RTC staff attended 
in-person community events to promote the GO Santa Cruz County Program 
and signup new participants. 
 
In FY2021/22 the RTC also continued to provide rideshare, transit, bicycle, 
traffic information, and county road and lane closure information to the public, 
via Go Santa Cruz County and Cruz511 websites. Staff continued to provide 
traffic safety messaging and active transportation mapping resources to 
community members throughout the county.  
 
SR9 San Lorenzo Valley (SLV) Complete Streets Corridor 
Transportation Plan 
 
The RTC completed work on the Highway 9/San Lorenzo Valley (SLV) 
Complete Streets Corridor Plan in June 2019. Priorities identified in the plan 
improve safety for pedestrians, bicyclists and motorists; improve access to 
schools, businesses, residences, and transit; and improve traffic operations 
throughout this travel corridor.  
 
The RTC worked with Caltrans to prepare a Project Initiation Document (PID) 
for the complete streets elements identified in the plan, completed in 2022. 
Work included coordination with Caltrans to develop the Complete Streets PID 
and coordinating the addition of complete streets elements into other Caltrans 
projects, community outreach, and stakeholder engagement.  
 
RTC negotiated a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with San Lorenzo 
Valley Unified School District, Caltrans, Santa Cruz Metro, and Santa Cruz 
County Department of Public Works to collaborate on solutions for multimodal 
access and circulation at the SLV Schools Complex in Felton. Using grant 
funding leveraged using Measure D, as well as funding from SLVUSD, RTC 
began the SLV Schools Access Study, which seeks to develop preliminary 
engineering concepts for improving circulation to and past the SLV 
elementary, middle, and high schools on Highway 9 north of Felton, for all 
modes of transportation. These concepts build upon community input in the 
SLV Plan and position the project for future implementation agreements and 
to compete for final design, environmental, and construction funding. 
 
RTC also applied for two different grant opportunities that, if secured, would 
fund through construction complete streets improvements identified in the 
SLV Plan for Highways 9 and 236 in Boulder Creek. The proposal included an 
updated and extended sidewalk network, bike lanes, and various additional 
traffic calming improvements. 
 

16-19



 

11 
 

3. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

The Basic Financial Statements consist of RTC Wide Financial Statements 
(Governmental funds only), Funds Financial Statements (Governmental and 
Fiduciary funds) and Notes to Financial Statements.  
 
A.  RTC Wide Financial Statements  
 
The RTC-wide statements (Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) are on full accrual basis of accounting; and consistent with the 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34, the fixed 
assets are capitalized, depreciated, and reported net of accumulated 
depreciation on the Statement of Net Position (balance sheet). In addition, the 
expenses are recognized for accrued vacation and sick leaves (compensated 
absences), and the related outstanding balance is reflected in the liability 
section. In accordance with GASB 45, the RTC Wide Financial Statements 
include the expenses and liabilities associated with Other Post-Employment 
Benefits (OPEB) as discussed in Note 11 of the report. The RTC adheres to 
GASB 68 which requires the measurement and reporting of the pension 
liability; and pension is discussed in detail in Note 9 starting on page 47. The 
impact of GASB 75 and GASB 68 is the ever increasing Noncurrent (long-term) 
liability and decreasing Net Position.  
   
B.  Funds Financial Statements  
 
The RTC had sixteen funds in FY2021/22. There are eight governmental funds 
(pages 22 – 31) and eight fiduciary funds (pages 32 – 35).   
 
The RTC uses the following fund balance classifications, which are in line with 
GASB 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions: 
1. Nonspendable Fund Balance 
2. Restricted Fund Balance 
3. Committed Fund Balance 
4. Assigned Fund Balance 
5. Unassigned Fund Balance (for the General Fund only) 
 
Not all fund categories may be present in any one reporting year, and the 
current financial statements have just three: 1) Nonspendable, 2) Restricted, 
and 3) Unassigned. 
 
 
 
 

16-20



 

12 
 

4.  FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
FY2021/22 is another year of major accomplishment, which included 
programming over $43 million in local transportation funding thanks to 
Measure D, the final design of the 41st Avenue-Soquel Drive Auxiliary Lane 
and Bus on Shoulder project, preparing an Environmental Impact 
Report/Environmental Assessment (EIR/EA) for the auxiliary lanes and bus on 
shoulder improvements between State Park Drive and Freedom Boulevard 
interchanges, preparing for the implementation of MyCruz511 a web-based 
commuter management and rewards platform, working on the Highway 9/San 
Lorenzo Valley (SLV) Complete Streets Corridor Plan priorities including 
community outreach, and stakeholder engagement, and implementing 
segments of the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network. 
 
The implementation of Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 
75 (GASB 75), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions and GASB 68 Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Pensions continue to have significant negative impacts on the Net Position 
of Government wide financial statements. The fund statements, however, 
show governmental funds in a strong financial position. 

 

Governmental Funds 
 
Net Position 
 
The Net Position is up $2,572,341 to $22,630,950 from $20,058,609 in 
FY2021. While the combined cash balance is healthy at $5,014,502 (page 20) 
the Net Position has a modest Unrestricted balance of $52,803 (page 20) due 
to the continuing rise of OPEB liabilities. There are adequate current assets to 
finance current liabilities, Noncurrent Liability Balance of $3,350,969 can be 
fully covered. The ability to meet these long-term obligations depends mostly 
on the benefit plans offered and/or the funding strategies. The RTC has been 
making additional payments above normal costs and the minimum required 
payment for the Unfunded Actuarial Liability. The table below shows how the 
Noncurrent liabilities – OPEB ($2,639,104), Compensated Absence 
($303,088), Lease Payable ($408,777) and Net Pension Asset of $111,641, 
are depressing the Net Position when fixed assets are excluded: 
 

16-21



 

13 
 

FY2022 FY2021
Current Assets (Cash & Receivables)* 13,850,718   14,758,379   
Less:
Restricted Fund Balance** (2,586,559)   (1,811,327)   
Current Liabilities (Net of D/T Other Funds)* (8,709,830)   (10,853,191) 

Unassigned Fund Balance** 2,554,329     2,093,861     

Less Noncurrent Liabilities *** (2,942,192)   (5,259,162)   
Add:
Prepaids* 45,013          190,910        
Net Deferred Outflows & Inflows*** 395,653        1,355,660     

Unrestricted Net Position 52,803          (1,618,731)   

* Statement of Net Position page 20 - Governmental Fund Balance - pages 22-23
** Governmental Fund Balance - pages 22-23

*** Statement of Net Position  – page 20 or Note 8, Long-term Liabilities  on page 47

     less amount from Lease Payable (Amount not calculated in Unrestricted Net Position)

UNRESTRICTED NET POSITION DEFICIT ANALYSIS

 
                 
Cash, Receivables, and Payables 
 
Cash and Investment balance shows an increase of $557,060 to $5,014,502 
from $4,457,442 (pages 22 – 23) on 6/30/2021. The RTC has adequate 
resources to meet its current obligations with a 1.5x current ratio. The current 
liabilities have decreased by $2,143,361 mostly due to decreases in Accounts 
Payable ($1,071,764) and Due to Other Agencies ($825,203).    
 
Capital Assets 
 
Net fixed assets totaled $20,008,726 in FY2022. The non-depreciable assets 
value remained unchanged from FY2021 at $19,848,411. The depreciable 
fixed assets increased by $142,713 to $160,315, the increase is due to 
leasehold improvements and equipment acquisition (Page 47). 

 
Other Balance Sheet Highlights 
 
 Due From and Due To Other funds ($8,985 each) consist of $8,817 due 

to Administration and Planning from Rail; and $168 due to Administration 
and Planning from Monterey Bay Scenic Sanctuary Trail (MBSST).     
 

 Unearned Revenue decreased by $290,337 to $135,715. The Unearned 
Revenue balance in FY2022 is distributed as follows: $4,678 in 
Administration & Planning, $54,417 RSTPX funds in Active 
Transportation/MBSST and $76,620 RSTPX funds in Rail/Trail.  

16-22



 

14 
 

 

6/30/2022 6/30/2021 Change

Cash 5,014,502$       4,457,442$       557,060$          
Accounts Receivable and Due 
From 8,733,560         10,595,684       (1,862,124)       
Prepaid Items 45,013              190,910            (145,897)          

Total Assets 13,793,075$ 15,244,036$ (1,450,961)$ 

Accounts Payable and Due To 8,482,071         10,721,886       (2,239,815)       
Unearned Revenue 135,715            426,052            (290,337)          

Total Liabilities 8,617,786      11,147,938    (2,530,152)    

Total Fund Balances 5,175,289      4,096,098      1,079,191         

Total Liabilities and Fund 
Balances 13,793,075$ 15,244,036$ (1,450,961)$ 

Condensed Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

 
  
 
Revenues  

The combined governmental funds revenues are down $5,393,269 to 
$17,906,595. The table below is a year to year revenue comparison:  

6/30/2022 6/30/2021 Change
RSTPX 675,416$      3,640,802$   (2,965,386)$ 
Local Transportation Fund (TDA) 1,539,364     1,281,891     257,473        
Measure D 9,035,928     9,669,516     (633,588)      
CA Dept of Transp Grant - SB1 71,165          80,397          (9,232)          
RPA (Admin & Planning) 401,071        290,120        110,951        
Sust Transp Grant WCB 243,222        162,479        80,743          
Sust Transp Grant CDFW 54,721          158,318        (103,597)      
Calrans SHA Grant -                58,568          (58,568)        
FEMA 825,022        3,879,384     (3,054,362)   
Motor Vehicle Fees 253,077        261,721        (8,644)          
Active Transportation Program -                9,525            (9,525)          
Aid From Other Governments 46,330          46,395          (65)               
STIP 1,163,996     2,576,296     (1,412,300)   
Local Partnership Program Grant 628,642        720,807        (92,165)        
Caltrans Grant (FSP) 248,925        167,519        81,406          
Land Trust 2,455,929     94,217          2,361,712     
Interest, Lease, & Other 263,787        201,909        61,878          

17,906,595$ 23,299,864$ (5,393,269)$ 

Revenues Comparison

 
 

There are two major funding sources with the State at 19% and Local 75%. 
The local revenues ($13,417,642) comprise 75% of revenues and consist of 

16-23



 

15 
 

TDA funds ($1,539,364); Motor Vehicle fees ($253,077); Land Trust 
($2,455,929); Lease by Rail/Trail ($87,014); MTC Safe for Safe on 17 
($46,330); and Measure D ($9,035,928).   

 
The funding sources comparative table and the graph (Figure 1) are 
presented below: 

 

FY2022 FY2021
Local 13,417,642$ 75% 11,353,740$ 49%
State 3,487,158    19% 7,864,831    34%
Federal 825,022       5% 3,879,384    17%
Interest & Others 176,773       1% 201,909       1%

17,906,595$ 23,299,864$ 

Table
FY2022 Funding by Source

 
  

Figure 1 
 

FY2022 Funding by Source 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Expenditures 
 

 The expenditures are down $6,277,846 to $17,375,571; and major 
expenditures were for payroll ($3,836,696); Towing in FSP ($355,833); 

State, 
$3,487,158 , 

19%

Local, 
$13,417,642 , 

75%

Federal, 
$825,022 , 5%

Interest & 
Others, 

$176,773 , 1%

FY2022 Revenues by Funding Source

State

Local

Federal

Interest & Others

16-24



 

16 
 

Regional Conservation Investment Study ($227,668) Highway 17 
Wildlife Crossing ($2,350,658): 2017 Storm Damage Repairs 
($930,832) and consultants in various funds. 
 

 Payroll costs ($3,836,696) are up 20% due to; full fiscal year of salaries 
and benefits for filled positions in FY2021; work status change for staff; 
higher insurance costs; and they are $95,331 (2%) below budget 
($3,932,027).  

 
 Overall, costs are in line and in accordance with the budget. 

 

Fiduciary Funds 
 

 With the passage of ½-cent sales tax Measure D in November 2016, 
there are now 7 fiduciary funds.  
 

 The combined cash balance remains high and is down $126,991 (0.3 
%) to $41,423,947 from a year ago due to unclaimed allocations; 
revenue growth; the unspent FY2022 Measure D proceeds 
($34,573,151); and the undistributed (unallocated) RSTPX ($983,468) 
and TDA ($938,183) funds. The undistributed RSTPX funds balance of 
$2,584,367 does not include $3,545,948 to be received for FY2022. 
 
The unclaimed allocations by funding sources and claimants are 
presented below: 
 

UNCLAIMED TDA AND STP EXCHANGE ALLOCATIONS 
FY 2022 ENDING 6/30/2022 

 
Total TDA RSTPX

County of Santa Cruz 4,942,796     635,631         4,307,164     
City of Capitola 1,338,485     71,221           1,267,264     
City of Santa Cruz 1,094,597     494,597         600,000        
City Scotts Valley 1,013,523     83,754           929,769        
City of Watsonville 2,073,174     521,334         1,551,840     
SCCRTC 849,723        -                849,723        
Unallocated 1,921,651     938,183         983,468        
Total Allocated 13,233,948 2,744,719    10,489,229  

 
 

 The Net Position increased by $6,489,089 (14%) to $53,778,291 due 
to Measure D revenues ($27,625,973) which are offset by expenses 
and disbursements to claimants of $21,732,487 (pages 33-34).  

 
 The STA ($4,537,224) revenues increased 29%. 

16-25



 

17 
 

 
 The audit report shows an increase in TDA of $ 362,923 (3%) to 

$11,096,338 from $10,733,415in FY2021. The TDA performance in the 
last ten years is shown on the following table and graph: 
 

Fiscal Year Actual Receipts (Change)
FY2013 7,796,002   388,575  5.2%
FY2014 8,287,590   491,588  6.3%
FY2015 8,549,340   261,750  3.2%
FY2016 8,970,056   420,716  4.9%
FY2017 9,101,315   131,259  1.5%
FY2018 9,599,732   498,417  5.5%
FY2019 10,147,019 547,287  5.7%
FY2020 9,738,939   (408,080) -4.0%
FY2021 10,733,415 994,476  10.2%
FY2022 11,096,338 362,923  3.4%

The TDA cash receipts performance over the last ten years

 
 

Figure 2 
TDA Annual Revenues and Changes – Last Ten (10) Years 

FY2012 – FY2022 ($ in 000) 

 
 

The graph is based on actual monthly receipts during the fiscal year, which goes 
from July to June, therefore these receipts may not agree to the audited TDA 
revenues, which include July and August receipts of the following fiscal year.  
 
 

451 
389 

492 

262 

421 

131 

498 547 

(408)

994 

363 

(600)

(400)

(200)

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

11,000

12,000

FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Annual Revenues

Annual $ Growth

16-26



 

18 
 

The SCMTD receives 85.5% of all TDA allocated funds after the RTC share; 
and all of the STA funds with the exception of $100,000 apportioned to 
Community Bridges Lift Line.  The expenditure levels in the fiduciary funds are 
dependent on revenue fluctuations, the allocations, and the claims for 
disbursement.  

 
 

5. CURRENT FINANCIAL ISSUES AND CONCERNS  
 

Management has been able to control the discretionary expenses; however, 
continuing to secure new revenue sources to meet existing and increasing 
transportation needs continued to be a priority in FY2021/22 and into the 
future. In November 2016, Santa Cruz County voters approved Measure D, a 
comprehensive transportation sales tax measure which will help address some 
of the backlog of local road, highway, and transit shortfalls, as well as leverage 
grants and fund priority transportation projects. The California legislature’s 
approval of Senate Bill 1 in April 2017 provided an increase and a degree of 
stability to transportation funding. Nonetheless these new fund sources have 
still not provided sufficient funds for all of the identified transportation needs. 
The 2018 Regional Transportation Plan identified a funding gap of over $3.4 
billion for transportation needs countywide through the year 2040, even with 
the Measure D ½ cent sales tax and SB1 revenues. The draft 2045 Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) identifies a funding gap of nearly $5 billion. Part of 
what exacerbates the funding gap is the fact that construction costs have 
increased significantly and continue to increase. Therefore, the RTC continues 
to work with agencies throughout the county and state to leverage local funds 
to increase transportation funding and use existing funds efficiently. 
 
Major RTC projects currently under development for which existing funding is 
insufficient to fully fund include the Highway 1 Corridor Investment program, 
the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBBST) Network project, and rail 
projects. Scoping project grant applications to be multi-modal has proved to 
be a successful strategy in securing competitive grants.  Partnering with the 
County of Santa Cruz and Santa Cruz METRO to not only build auxiliary lanes 
on Highway 1 between Soquel Drive and State Park Drive but also implement 
Bus on Shoulders on the highway and make bicycle, pedestrian and transit 
improvements along Soquel Drive. In December 2021, the RTC and its 
partners secured $107.2 million from the State for these projects which will 
be implemented in FYs 2022/23 and 2023/24. Measure D funds were used to 
leverage this state grant. 
 
Throughout FY 2020/21, the RTC continued to implement the voter-approved 
investment plan for the Measure D sales tax measure. Measure D is estimated 
to raise approximately $22 million per year (2022$) over 30 years. The 

16-27



 

19 
 

expenditure plan included in Measure D includes Neighborhood Projects such 
as local streets and roads, safety, bicycle and pedestrian, and school safety 
projects; Community Projects such as transit and paratransit projects; and 
Regional Projects such as Highways, Rail Trail and other transportation 
improvements on the rail corridor.  
 
With the RTC purchase of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line and an agreement 
with a shortline railroad operator, freight service continues, and recreational 
passenger rail service was implemented. Unfortunately, the 2017 winter 
storms caused significant damage to portions of the rail line right-of-way. A 
significant portion of the storm damage repair work was completed in FY 
2020/21 and the remainder completed in FY 2021/22. The 2017 storm 
damage was caused by a federally declared disaster and considered eligible 
for Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) reimbursement. The RTC 
continues to work with the FEMA to obtain maximum reimbursement for the 
storm damage repair work.  If full reimbursement from FEMA is not received, 
RTC will need to use other funding to pay for the repairs.  Measure D-Rail 
funding and revenue generated from the SCBRL property are eligible fund 
sources to backfill any repair work not reimbursed by FEMA. 
 
 

Future liabilities associated with retirement and other post-employment 
benefits (OPEB) continue to impact the RTC’s net position. For a number of 
years the RTC has been making additional payments to CalPERS to address 
the future liability associated with retirement benefits and has been 
investigating options for addressing the OPEB future liability. In FY 2022/23, 
the RTC initiates contributions to a Section 115 trust to address the OPEB 
future liability. 

16-28



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2022

ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 5,014,502
Receivables 8,713,709
Deposits held by others 10,866
Prepaid items 45,013
Net pension asset 111,641
Right to use asset, net 473,076
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable 19,848,411
Depreciable, net 160,315

Total assets 34,377,533

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related 775,732
OPEB related 457,979

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,233,711

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 6,974,385
Accrued expenses 74,048
Due to other agencies 1,424,653
Unearned revenue 135,715
Current portion of compensated absences 101,029
Current portion of lease payable 81,437
Noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 303,088
Lease payable 408,777
OPEB liability 2,639,104

Total liabilities 12,142,236

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related 139,324
OPEB related 698,734

Total deferred inflows of resources 838,058

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 19,991,588
Restricted for programs 2,586,559
Unrestricted 52,803

Total net position $ 22,630,950

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
20

Governmental
Activities

16-29



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Governmental activities:

Transportation $ 15,334,254 $ - $ 17,642,808 $ - $ 2,308,554

Total governmental activities $ 15,334,254 $ - $ 17,642,808 $ - 2,308,554

General Revenues
Investment income 106,360
Other 157,427

Total general revenues 263,787

Change in net position 2,572,341

Net position - beginning of fiscal year 20,058,609

Net position - end of fiscal year $ 22,630,950

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Net Position

Revenue and
Contributions Contributions

21

Expenses Services and Grants and Grants

Program Revenues Net (Expense)
Operating Capital

Charges for Changes in

16-30



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2022

Freeway
Emergencies

 

ASSETS 
 

Cash and investments $ 2,565,468 $ 828,050 $ 582,175 $ 42,900      
Accounts receivable 621,050 500 351
Due from other agencies 331,126 4,667,584 47,005 273,928
Due from fiduciary funds 27,905 96,616 5,430 680
Due from other funds 8,985
Deposits held by others 10,866
Prepaid items 13,388

Total assets $ 3,578,788 $ 5,592,750 $ 634,961 $ 317,508

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 494,255 $ 85,841 $ 3,312 $ 44,175
Accrued payroll 74,048
Unearned revenue 4,678 76,620
Due to other agencies 448,702 24,090 25,004
Due to fiduciary funds 4,773,394 180 70,213
Due to other funds  8,817

Total liabilities 1,021,683 4,944,672 27,582 139,392

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 13,388
Deposits held by others 10,866

Restricted:
Transportation planning 648,078 607,379 178,116

Unassigned  2,532,851

Total fund balances 2,557,105 648,078 607,379 178,116

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 3,578,788 $ 5,592,750 $ 634,961 $ 317,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Service 
Authority for Freeway

Service

Fund Fund

Administration
Rail/Trail

Planning Authority
Fund Fund

22

Patrol
and

16-31



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
June 30, 2022

ASSETS 

Cash and investments $ 154,904 $ 140,198 $ 485,358 $ 215,449 $ 5,014,502
Accounts receivable 621,901
Due from other agencies 1,435,092 6,754,735
Due from fiduciary funds 270,815 21,522 914,105 1,337,073
Due from other funds 8,985
Deposits held by others 10,866
Prepaid items 31,625 45,013

Total assets $ 154,904 $ 1,846,105 $ 538,505 $ 1,129,554 $ 13,793,075

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ -                  $ 312,082 $ 23,353        $ 195,992 $ 1,159,010
Accrued payroll 74,048
Unearned revenue 54,417 135,715
Due to other agencies 105,121 821,736 1,424,653
Due to fiduciary funds 963,219 8,369 5,815,375
Due to other funds 168 8,985

Total liabilities 1,380,422 31,722 1,072,313 8,617,786

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 31,625 45,013
Deposits held by others 10,866

Restricted:
Transportation planning 154,904 465,683 475,158 57,241 2,586,559

Unassigned 2,532,851

Total fund balances 154,904 465,683 506,783 57,241 5,175,289

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 154,904 $ 1,846,105 $ 538,505 $ 1,129,554 $ 13,793,075

Active

Fund

Transportation
MBSSTCruz 511

Highway 1
Auxiliary

FundFund

Highway 1
Program

TotalsFund

23

16-32



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-33



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL 
FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2022

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 5,175,289

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
net position are different because:

In governmental funds, only current assets are reported.  In the 
statement of net position, all assets are reported, including capital and
right to use assets and accumulated depreciation and amortization

Capital assets at historical cost $ 20,176,830
Accumulated depreciation (168,104)
Right to use assets 548,167
Accumulated amortization (75,091)

Net 20,481,802

In governmental funds, only current liabilities are reported.  In the
statement of net position, all liabilities, including long-term liabilities,
are reported.  Long-term liabilities relating to governmental activities
consist of:

Compensated absences $ 404,117
Lease payable 490,214
OPEB liability 2,639,104
Net pension liability (asset) (111,641)

Total (3,421,794)

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources: In governmental funds,
deferred outflows and inflows of resources are not reported because
they are applicable to future periods. In the statement of net position,
deferred outflows and inflows of resources are reported.

Deferred inflows of resources relating to pensions $ (139,324)
Deferred inflows of resources relating to OPEB (698,734)
Deferred outflows of resources relating to OPEB 457,979
Deferred outflows of resources relating to pensions 775,732

395,653

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ 22,630,950

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
25

16-34



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Freeway
Freeway Service

Emergencies Patrol
 Fund

Revenues
Local Transportation Funds $ 1,539,364 $ - $ - $ -
Motor vehicle fees 253,077
California Department of 

Transportation Grant - SB1 71,165
RSTP Exchange Funds 62,781 449,711
RSTP
STP Exchange Funds
State Planning, Programming and 

Monitoring Funds 230,111
Local Partnership Program Grant
Caltrans Grant (FSP) 248,925
State Rural Planning Assistance 401,071
Sustainable Transportation Grant CDFW 54,721
Sustainable Transportation Grant WCB 243,222
FEMA 825,022
Aid from other governments 46,330
Land Trust 2,350,658
Measure D 1,218,911 801,180 5,430 154,609
Use of money and property 8,199 90,252 2,814 127
Other 96,499 50,912

Total revenues 6,205,537 2,217,077 307,651 474,826

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 1,854,424 352,655 87,304 84,175
Services and supplies 565,993 535,183 138,205 9,395
Bike Challenge 55,360
Bike to Work 74,814
Bike/Walk Smart 4,217
Community Traffic Safety Coalition 174,730
Towing service 355,833
Regional Conservation Investment Study 227,668
Measure D Administration 26,846
Bike SC Project Paseo 4,838
Scotts Creek Marsh 47,419
SR9 San Lorenzo Valley Complete Streets 149,493
RTP CEQA EIR 30,000
Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing 2,350,658
Other 1,180 930,832
Capital outlay 704,175
Debt Service:

Principal on lease 57,953
Interest on lease 11,757

Total expenditures 6,341,525 1,818,670 225,509 449,403

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures (135,988) 398,407 82,142 25,423

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Fund Fund Fund

26

Planning

Service 

and Rail/Trail
Authority

Administration Authority for

16-35



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
Local Transportation Funds $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,539,364
Motor vehicle fees 253,077
California Department of 

Transportation Grant - SB1 71,165
RSTP Exchange Funds 125,000 15,583 653,075
RSTP 1,780 1,780
STP Exchange Funds 20,561 20,561
State Planning, Programming and 

Monitoring Funds 933,885 1,163,996
Local Partnership Program Grant 628,642 628,642
Caltrans Grant (FSP) 248,925
State Rural Planning Assistance 401,071
Sustainable Transportation Grant CDFW 54,721
Sustainable Transportation Grant WCB 243,222
FEMA 825,022
Aid from other governments 46,330
Land Trust 105,271 2,455,929
Measure D 3,531,203 200,000 3,124,595 9,035,928
Use of money and property 735 1,582 2,066 585 106,360
Other 10,016 157,427

Total revenues 21,296 5,230,328 203,846 3,246,034 17,906,595

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 20,561 353,381 152,603 931,593 3,836,696
Services and supplies 4,576,083 101,404 2,404,839 8,331,102
Bike Challenge 55,360
Bike to Work 74,814
Bike/Walk Smart 4,217
Community Traffic Safety Coalition 174,730
Towing service 355,833
Regional Conservation Investment Study 227,668
Measure D Administration 26,846
Bike SC Project Paseo 4,838
Scotts Creek Marsh 47,419
SR9 San Lorenzo Valley Complete Streets 149,493
RTP CEQA EIR 30,000
Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing 2,350,658
Other 932,012
Capital outlay 704,175
Debt Service:

Principal on lease 57,953
Interest on lease 11,757

Total expenditures 20,561 4,929,464 254,007 3,336,432 17,375,571

Excess of revenues over (under)
    expenditures 735 300,864 (50,161) (90,398) 531,024

Cruz 511

Active

Lanes Fund

Highway 1
Auxiliary

Highway 1
Program 

Totals

Transportation
MBSST

FundFundFund

27

16-36



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Freeway
Emergencies

 

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in $ - $ 110,000 $ - $ -
Operating transfers out (110,000) (50,000)
Proceeds from lease 548,167

Total other financing sources (uses) 438,167 110,000 (50,000)

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses 302,179 508,407 32,142 25,423

Fund balances - July 1 2,254,926 139,671 575,237 152,693

Fund balances - June 30 $ 2,557,105 $ 648,078 $ 607,379 $ 178,116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Patrol
Fund

Authority for Freeway
and

Administration

Planning Authority
Rail/Trail Service

28

Service 

Fund Fund Fund

16-37



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in $ - $ - $ 50,000 $ 6,333 $ 166,333
Operating transfers out (6,333) (166,333)
Proceeds from lease 548,167

Total other financing sources (uses) (6,333) 50,000 6,333 548,167

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (5,598) 300,864 (161) (84,065) 1,079,191

Fund balances - July 1 160,502 164,819 506,944 141,306 4,096,098

Fund balances - June 30 $ 154,904 $ 465,683 $ 506,783 $ 57,241 $ 5,175,289

Cruz 511

Active

Auxiliary
Totals

Transportation

Fund Fund

Highway 1
Program 

Highway 1

29

MBSST
FundFund

16-38



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-39



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 1,079,191

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
activities are different because:

Capital assets are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets
is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense.  This is the amount by which additions to capital
assets of $156,008 was more than depreciation expense of
$13,295 in the period. 142,713

Right to use assets are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is
allocated over the length of the lease. This is the amount by which 
additions to right to use assets of $548,167 is greater than
amortization expense of $75,091. 473,076

In the statement of activities, compensated absences are measured
 by the amounts earned during the fiscal year.  In governmental

funds, however, expenditures for these items are measured by
the amount of financial resources used.  This fiscal year, vacation 
earned exceeded the amounts used by $25,006. (25,006)                      

The issuance of lease payable provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of lease
payable consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Neither transaction has any effect on net position. The amount 
is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of lease payable
and related items.

New lease payable issued (548,167)$  
Principal payments 57,953       

(490,214)                    

In governmental funds, pension costs are recognized when employer
contributions are made. In the statement of activities, pension costs
are recognized on the accrual basis. This fiscal year, the difference
between accrual-basis pension costs and actual employer contributions
was: 1,569,810                  

In governmental funds, OPEB costs are recognized when employer
contributions are made.  In the statement of activities, OPEB costs
are recognized on the accrual basis.  This fiscal year, the difference
between accrual basis OPEB costs and actual employer contributions 
was: (177,229)                    

Change in Net Position - Governmental Activities $ 2,572,341

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF

31

16-40



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2022

 

ASSETS
  

Cash and investments $ 4,112,802 $ 376           $ 2,584,367 $ 34,573,151
Accounts receivable 2,114,093 3,545,948 4,880,609
Due from SCCRTC 3,587,805 2,227,570
Due from other agencies 1,413,813
Deposits held by others 256,200

Prepaids 31,625

Total assets 6,226,895 1,414,189 9,718,120 41,969,155

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to SCCRTC 4,440 1,332,633
Due to other agencies 146,397 1,414,189 77,129 2,878,178

Total liabilities 146,397  1,414,189 81,569 4,210,811

NET POSITION
Held in trust for other governments $ 6,080,498 $ -                $ 9,636,551 $ 37,758,344

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Surface
Transportation

Measure DTransportation
Program

Fund

State Transit
Assistance

Local

Fund
Exchange

Fund

Private Purpose Trust Funds

Fund

32

16-41



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
June 30, 2022

Pension (and Other Employee Benefits) Trust Funds

ASSETS
   

Cash and investments $ 145,469 $ 945 $ -                  $ 6,837 $ 41,423,947
Accounts receivable 150,000 10,690,650
Due from SCCRTC 5,815,375
Due from other agencies 1,413,813
Deposits held by others 256,200

Prepaids 31,625

Total assets 295,469 945 6,837 59,631,610

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 353 353
Due to SCCRTC 1,337,073
Due to other agencies 4,515,893

Total liabilities 353 5,853,319

NET POSITION
Held in trust for other governments $ 295,469 $ 945 $ -                  $ 6,484 $ 53,778,291

Social Security
Fund

Deductions
TotalsFund

In Lieu of Miscellaneous

33

PERS Health
Fund

Low Carbon
Transit Operators

Program
Fund

16-42



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

 
Additions:

Sales tax $ 12,074,828 $ 4,537,224 $ - $ 27,625,973
State highway exchange funds 3,545,948
Contributions from SCCRTC
Transfer from SCCRTC
SB1 Additional Gas Tax 742,919
LCTOP
Other income 490,496 70,677
Interest 20,244 376 19,091 148,385
   
 Total additions 12,095,072 5,280,519 4,055,535 27,845,035

  
Deductions:

Claimants:
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 8,592,943 5,180,519 4,382,809
Santa Cruz County Regional

Transportation Commission 1,539,364 554,911 6,978,104
City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 22,774 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 75,495 372,501
County of Santa Cruz 591,433 3,416,412 4,003,018
City of Watsonville 337,920 1,336,421
Community Bridges 844,219 100,000 1,095,702
Volunteer Center 94,281

Salaries and benefits 944,863
Services and supplies 428,950
Consultant services 73,304
Plan payments

 Total deductions 12,022,934 5,280,519 4,046,818 21,732,487
 
 Change in net position  72,138 8,717  6,112,548

Net position - beginning of fiscal year 6,008,360 9,627,834 31,645,796

Net position - end of fiscal year $ 6,080,498 $ -                $ 9,636,551 $ 37,758,344

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Measure DAssistance ExchangeTransportation
FundFund

State Transit

Fund

Surface

34

Local

Fund

Transportation
Program

Private Purpose Trust Funds

16-43



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Pension (and Other Employee Benefits) Trust Funds

Additions:
Sales tax $ $ - $ - $ - $ 44,238,025
State highway exchange funds 3,545,948
Contributions from SCCRTC 3,550 3,550
Transfer from SCCRTC 147,485 147,485
SB1 Additional Gas Tax 742,919
LCTOP 190,460 190,460
Other income 561,173
Interest 559 188,655
  
 Total additions 338,504 3,550  49,618,215

  
Deductions:

Claimants:
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 18,156,271
Santa Cruz County Regional

Transportation Commission 9,072,379
City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,751,517
City of Scotts Valley 447,996
County of Santa Cruz 8,010,863
City of Watsonville 1,674,341
Community Bridges 43,035 2,082,956
Volunteer Center 94,281

Salaries and benefits 944,863
Services and supplies 428,950
Consultant services 73,304
Plan payments 3,333 3,333

 Total deductions 43,035 3,333 43,129,126
 
 Change in net position 295,469    217 6,489,089

Net position - beginning of fiscal year 945 6,267 47,289,202

Net position - end of fiscal year $ 295,469 $ 945 $ -                  $ 6,484 $ 53,778,291

In Lieu of Miscellaneous

Totals
DeductionsSocial Security

Fund Fund
PERS HealthProgram

FundFund

35

Transit Operators
Low Carbon

16-44



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

36 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
         
The financial statements of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission are prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles.  The more significant of the Commission’s accounting policies are described below: 
 
A.    The Reporting Entity 
 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, the regional transportation planning agency for the County of 
Santa Cruz, was created pursuant to Title 3 of Government Code Section 29535.  The Commission is responsible for 
transportation planning activities as well as for the administration of the Transportation Development Act Funds (Local 
Transportation and State Transit Assistance), Sales Tax Measure D, the Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies Fund 
(SAFE), the Freeway Service Patrol Fund (FSP), the Surface Transportation Program Exchange Fund (STP), Highway 1 
Program Fund, and the Rail/Trail Authority Fund.  The Commission does not exercise control over any other governmental 
agency or authority. Criteria used in determining the reportable entity were based on control or dependence determined on 
the basis of budget adoption, funding, and appointment of the respective governing board. 

 
The reporting entity is the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission.  There are no component units included 
in this report which meet the criteria of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The 
Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB Statements No. 39, No. 61, No. 80, and No. 90.  
 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Commission.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has 
been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by 
program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program 
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded 
from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements.  

 
C. Basis of Presentation 
 
 Government-wide Financial Statements: 
 

The government-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus.  This approach differs from 
the manner in which governmental fund financial statements are prepared.  Governmental fund financial statements, 
therefore, include reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide 
statements and the statements for the governmental funds. 
 
The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each 
function or program of the Commission’s governmental activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated 
with a service, program, or department and are therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Program revenues 
include charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by a program, as well as grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program.  Revenues which are not classified as 
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Commission, with certain exceptions.  The comparison of direct 
expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or draws from 
the general revenues of the Commission. 
 

16-45



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

37 
 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
C. Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 
Fund Financial Statements: 
 
Fund financial statements report detailed information about the Commission.  The focus of governmental fund financial 
statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Each major governmental fund is presented in a separate 
column, and all nonmajor funds are aggregated into one column.  Fiduciary funds are reported by fund type. 
 
The accounting and financial treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus.  All governmental funds 
are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, only current 
assets and current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and  
Changes in Fund Balances for these funds presents increases, (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., 
expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. 
 
Fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. 

 
D. Basis of Accounting 
 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial 
statements.  Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  Governmental funds 
use the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Fiduciary funds use the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Revenues – exchange and non-exchange transactions: 
 
Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded 
under the accrual basis when the exchange takes place.  On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in 
which the resources are measurable and become available.  “Available” means the resources will be collected within the 
current fiscal year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal 
year. For the Commission, “available” means collectible within the current period or within 60 days after fiscal year-end. 
 
Non-exchange transactions, in which the Commission receives value without directly giving equal value in return, include 
property taxes, and grants.  Under the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which 
the taxes are levied.  Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been 
satisfied.  Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the fiscal year when the resources are to be 
used or the fiscal year when use is first permitted; matching requirements, in which the Commission must provide local 
resources to be used for a specific purpose; and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the 
Commission on a reimbursement basis.  Under the modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions must 
also be available before it can be recognized. 

 
 Unearned revenue: 
 

Unearned revenues arise when assets are received before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied.  Grants received 
before eligibility requirements are met, are recorded as unearned revenue.   
 
Expenses/expenditures: 
 
On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time a liability is incurred.  On the modified accrual basis 
of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, 
as under the accrual basis of accounting.  However, under the modified accrual basis of accounting, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when 
payment is due.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in the governmental funds. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Commission’s policy to use restricted 
resources first then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
 

16-46



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

38 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
E.  Fund Accounting 
 

The accounts of the Commission are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered to be a separate accounting 
entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, 
liabilities, fund equity or retained earnings, revenues, and expenditures/expenses.  The Commission’s resources are allocated 
to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purpose for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled.  The Commission’s accounts are organized into major and fiduciary funds, as follows: 

 
 Major Governmental Funds: 
 

Administration and Planning – Transportation planning and administration of the Transportation Development Act. 
 
Rail/Trail Authority – To account for financial activities of the Coastal Rail/Trail Project. 
 
Service Authority For Freeway Emergencies – State funds for administration and operation of freeway call boxes and 
motorist aid. 
 
Freeway Service Patrol – State funds for roadside assistance. 
 
Highway1 Program – Transportation planning and administration of the Highway 1 Projects. 
 
Highway1 Auxiliary – Transportation planning and administration for an additional lane on Highway 1. 
 
Cruz 511 – To account for financial activities of the Cruz 511 program.  
 
Active Transportation MBSST – To account for financial activities of Active Transportation planning.  

 
Fiduciary Funds: 
 
These funds account for assets held by the Commission as a trustee or agent for other units of government.  The fiduciary 
funds used by the Commission are as follows: 
 
Private Purpose Trust: These funds are utilized by the Commission, as trustee, to receive and allocate Local Transportation 
funds, State Transit Assistance funds, Surface Transportation Program Exchange funds, Low Carbon Transit Operators 
Program funds, and Measure D funds to eligible claimants. 

 
Pension (and other Employee Benefits) Trusts:  These funds are utilized by the Commission, as trustee, to receive employee 
contributions for employee benefit arrangements.  The Commission has a fiduciary responsibility to administer the plans. 

 
F.  Budgets 
 

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the major funds.  All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. 
 

G. Cash and Investments 
 
The Commission holds its cash in the County of Santa Cruz Treasury.  The County maintains a cash and investment pool, 
and allocates interest to the various funds based upon the average monthly cash balances.  Information regarding 
categorization of investments can be found in the County of Santa Cruz’s Basic Financial Statements.  Investments are stated 
at fair value. 
 
A payroll account is kept at the Santa Cruz County Bank for payment of state and federal taxes, health insurance, and other 
contributions and deductions. 

        
 

16-47



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

39 
 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
H. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets (including infrastructure) are recorded at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated 
original cost where no historical records exist.  Contributed capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value at the date 
of  the contribution.  Capital assets are defined by the Commission as assets with an initial, individual cost of at least $1,500 
and estimated useful life in excess of two years. 
 
Capital assets used in operations are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method in the 
governmental column in the government-wide financial statements. Depreciation is charged as an expense against operations 
and accumulated depreciation is reported on the statement of net position.  The estimated useful life is as follows: 
 
 Equipment 3 to 7 years 
 

I. Unearned Revenue 
 
Cash is received for federal and state special projects and programs and recognized as revenue to the extent that qualified 
expenditures have been incurred.  Unearned revenue is recorded to the extent cash received on specific projects and 
programs exceed qualified expenditures. 
 

J. Long-term Obligations 
 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
statement of net position.  In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types report the face amount of debt issued as 
other financing sources. 
   

 
K. Compensated Absences 
 

All vacation pay, as well as sick leave for management, plus related payroll taxes is accrued when incurred in the 
government-wide financial statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental funds only if they have 
matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 
 

L. Fund Balances 
 

Fund balances of the governmental funds are classified as follows: 
 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – represents amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form (such 
as inventory or prepaid insurance) or legally required to remain intact (such as notes receivable or principal of a permanent 
fund). 
 
Restricted Fund Balance – represents amounts that are constrained by external parties, constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 
 
Committed Fund Balance – represents amounts that can only be used for a specific purpose because of a formal action by the 
Commission’s governing board.  Committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the governing board 
removes those constraints by taking the same type of formal action.  Committed fund balance amounts may be used for other 
purposes with appropriate due process by the governing board.  Commitments are typically done through adoption and 
amendment of the budget.  Committed fund balance amounts differ from restricted balances in that the constraints on their 
use do not come from outside parties, constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation. 
 
Assigned Fund Balance – represents amounts which the Commission intends to use for a specific purpose, but that do not 
meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.  Intent may be stipulated by the governing board or by an official 
or body to which the governing board delegates the authority.  Specific amounts that are not restricted or committed in a 
special revenue, capital projects, debt service, or permanent fund are assigned for purposes in accordance with the nature of 
their fund type or the fund’s primary purpose.  Assignments within the general fund convey that the intended use of those 
amounts is for a specific purpose that is narrower than the general purpose of the Commission. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance – represents amounts which are unconstrained in that they may be spent for any purpose.  Only 
the general fund reports a positive unassigned fund balance.  Other governmental funds might report a negative balance in 
this classification because of overspending for specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted, committed or 
assigned. 

16-48



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

40 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
L. Fund Balances (Continued) 

 
When an expenditure is incurred for a purpose for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, the 
Commission considers restricted funds to have been spent first.  When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, 
assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the Commission considers amounts to have been spent first out of 
committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds. 

 
 
M. Prepaid Items 
 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 

 
N. Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, as prescribed by the GASB and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during 
the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

O. Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions, and 
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission’s Public Employee’s Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan 
fiduciary net position have  been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS.  For this purpose, benefit  
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in  accordance with the 
benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

P. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 
 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to OPEB, and 
OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Commission’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions 
to/deductions from the Plans' fiduciary net position have  been determined on the same basis.  For this purpose, benefit  
payments are recognized when due and payable in  accordance with the benefit terms.   Investments are reported at fair 
value. 
 

Q. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
 

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 63, “Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources, and Net Position,” and GASB Statement No. 65, “Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities,” the 
Commission recognizes deferred outflows and inflows of resources. 
 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources.  A deferred outflow of resources is defined as a consumption of net position by the government that is applicable 
to a future reporting period.  The Commission has two items which qualify for reporting in this category; refer to Note 9 and 
Note 11 for a detailed listing of the deferred outflows of resources the Commission has reported. 

 
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources.  A deferred inflow of resources is defined as an acquisition of net position by the Commission that is applicable to 
a future reporting period.  The Commission has two items which qualify for reporting in this category; refer to Note 9 and 11 
for a detailed listing of the deferred inflows of resources the Commission has reported. 

 
 
 

16-49



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

41 
 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
R. Right to use assets 
 

The Commission has recorded right to use lease assets as a result of implementing GASB Statement No. 87. The right to use 
assets are initially measured at an amount equal to the initial measurement of the related lease liability plus any lease 
payments made prior to the lease term, less lease incentives, and plus ancillary charges necessary to place the lease into 
service. The right to use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related lease.  

 
S. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Commission implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 87, “Leases.” This statement is effective for period beginning after June 15, 2021. The objective of this 
Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial 
reporting for leases by governments. Implementation of the GASB Statement No. 87 did have an impact on the 
Commission’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, see Note 5 – Right to use asset and Note 6 – 
Lease Payable. 

 
T. Future Accounting Pronouncements 

  

 

GASB Statements listed below will be implemented in future financial statements:

Statement No. 91 "Conduit Debt Obligations" The provisions of this statement are effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021.

Statement No. 93 "Replacement of Interbank Offered The provisions of this statement except for paragraphs
Rates" 11b, 13, and 14 are effective for fiscal years beginning

after June 15, 2020. Paragraph 11b is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 31, 2021. Paragraphs
13 and 14 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2021. 

Statement No. 94 "Public-Private and Public-Public The provisions of this statement are effective
Partnerships and Availability for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022. 
Payment Arrangements"

Statement No. 96 "Subscription-Based Information The provisions of this statement are effective 
Technology Arrangements" for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022. 

Statement No. 99 "Omnibus 2022" The provisions of this statement are effective
in April 2022 except for the provisions related to
leases, PPPs, SBITAs, financial guarantees
and derivative instruments. The provisions related
to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2022. The provisions
related to financial guarantees and derivative 
instruments are effective for fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2023.  

 

16-50



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

42 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
T. Future Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 
 
 
Statement No. 100 "Accounting Changes and Error The provisions of this statement are effective

Corrections - an amendment of GASB for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023. 
Statement No. 62"

Statement No. 101 "Compensated Absences" The provisions of this statement are effective 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023.  

 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
           
The Commission maintains all of its cash in the Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s Investment Fund.  The County Treasurer pools and 
invests the funds it oversees.  All participants share investment gains or losses proportionately.  Earned interest is apportioned 
monthly based on each participant’s average daily deposit. 
 
Investments are carried at fair value.  On June 30, 2022, the Commission had the following cash and investments on hand:

Cash in bank and on hand $ 94,782

Cash and investments with the Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s Investment Fund 46,343,667
        
Total cash and investments $ 46,438,449

 
 

Cash and investments are presented on the accompanying basic financial statements, as follows:

Cash and investments, statement of net position $ 5,014,502

Cash and investments, statement of fiduciary net position 41,423,947

Total cash and investments              $ 46,438,449

 
The Commission categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. These principles 
recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The Commission had investments in the Santa 
Cruz County Investment Pool, this external pool is measured under Level 2. 
 
Investments Authorized by the Commission’s Investment Policy 
 

The Commission’s investment policy only authorizes investment in the local government investment pool administered by the County 
of Santa Cruz.  The Commission’s investment policy does not contain any specific provisions intended to limit the Commission’s 
exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. 
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  Generally, the 
longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates.  One of the ways 
that the Commission manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term 
investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly 
over time as necessary to provide the cash flows and liquidity needed for operations. 
 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Commission’s investments to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by 
the table on the following page that shows the distribution of the Commission’s investments by maturity: 
 
 
 

16-51



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

43 
 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 
 

Carrying 12 Months 13 - 24 25 - 60 More than

Investment Type Amount Or Less Months Months 60 months

Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s

    Investment Fund $ 46,343,667 $ 46,343,667 $ - $ - $ -

Total $ 46,343,667 $ 46,343,667 $ - $ - $ -

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

 
Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment.  This is 
measured by the assignment of rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.  Presented below, is the minimum 
rating required by the California Government Code and the Commission’s investment policy, and the actual rating as of fiscal year 
end for each investment type. 
 

Minimum

Legal

Investment Type Rating

Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s

    Investment Fund $ 46,343,667 N/A $ - $ - $ - $ 46,343,667      

Total $ 46,343,667 $ - $ - $ - $ 46,343,667      

Ratings as of fiscal year end

Exempt

From

Disclosure

Carrying

Amount AAA Aa Not Rated

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The investment policy of the Commission contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer beyond that 
stipulated by the California Government Code.  There are no investments in any one issuer that represent 5% or more of the total 
Commission’s investments. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, a government will not 
be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The 
California Government Code and the Commission’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the 
exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the following provision for deposits:  The California Government Code 
requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided 
collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).  The fair value of the 
pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies.  California law 
also allows financial institutions to secure the Commission’s deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 
150% of the secured public deposits. 
 
None of the Commission’s deposits with financial institutions in excess of federal depository insurance limits were held in 
uncollateralized accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-52



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

44 

 

 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Custodial Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a 
transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
another party.  The California Government Code and the Commission’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements 
that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for investments.  With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally 
applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.  Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect 
investment in securities through the use of mutual funds or government investment pools (such as Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s 
Investment Fund). 
 
Investment in Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s Investment Fund 
 
The Commission is a participant in the Santa Cruz Treasurer’s Investment Fund (County Pool) that is regulated by the California 
Government Code.  The fair value of the Commission’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying basic financial 
statements at the amounts based upon the Commission’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the County Pool for the entire 
Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s Investment Fund portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio).  The balance available 
for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by the County Pool, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 
 
NOTE 3 – DUE FROM OTHER AGENCIES 
 
Due from other agencies consists of the following at June 30, 2022: 
 

Administration Service Freeway
and Planning Rail/Authority Authority for Service Patrol Highway 1 Highway 1

Agency    Fund Fund Emergencies Fund Fund Program Fund Auxiliary Fund

State grants (DOT) $ 331,126             $ -                     $ -                     $ 273,928             $ -                     $ 1,435,092          
Federal grants (DOT) 4,667,584          
Other 47,005               

Totals $ 331,126             $ 4,667,584          $ 47,005               $ 273,928             $ -                     $ 1,435,092          

Special Revenue Funds

 
 

Active Surface
Transportation Local State Transit Transportation Low Carbon

Cruz 511 MBSST Transportation Assistance Program Transit Operators
Agency    Fund Fund Fund Fund Exchange Fund Program Fund

State grants (DOT) $ -                     $ -                         $ -                         $ 1,413,813 $ -                     $ -                       
Federal grants (DOT)

Totals $ -                     $ -                         $ -                         $ 1,413,813 $ -                     $ -                       

Special Revenue Funds (cont) Fiduciary Funds

 
 

Measure D
Agency    Fund

State grants (DOT) $ -                     
Federal grants (DOT)

Totals $ -                     

Fiduciary Funds (cont)

 
 
 
 
 

16-53



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

45 
 

 
NOTE 4 – INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 

 
Interfund transactions are reported as either loans, services provided, reimbursements, or transfers.  Loans are reported as interfund 
receivables and payables, as appropriate, and are subject to elimination upon consolidation.  Services provided, deemed to be at 
market or near market rates, are treated as revenues and expenditures/expenses.  Reimbursements occur when one fund incurs a cost, 
charges the appropriate benefiting fund, and reduces its related cost as a reimbursement.  All other interfund transactions are treated as 
transfers.  Transfers between governmental funds are netted as part of the reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Due From/Due To Other Funds 
 
Interfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2022, are as follows: 
 

Major Funds:

Administration and Planning $ 8,985 $ -                

Rail/Trail Authority 8,817

Active Transportation MBSST 168

$ 8,985 $ 8,985

Interfund Interfund

Receivables Payables

 
 
Interfund Transfers 
 
Interfund transfers consist of operating transfers from funds receiving revenue to funds through which the resources are to be 
expended. Interfund transfers for the 2021-2022 fiscal year, are as follows: 
 

Major Funds:

Administration and Planning $ -                $ 110,000

Rail/Trail Authority 110,000

Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies 50,000

Highway 1 Program 6,333

Cruz 511 50,000

Active Transportation MBSST 6,333

$ 166,333 $ 166,333

Transfers In Transfers Out

 
NOTE 5 – RIGHT TO USE ASSET 
 
Right to use asset activity for the Commission for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows: 
 

Right to use assets
Leased office $ -                $ 548,167 $ -                $ 548,167

Total right to use assets 548,167 548,167
Less accumulated amortization for:

Leased office 75,091 75,091
Total accumulated amortization 75,091 75,091

Right to use assets, net $ -                $ 473,076 $ -                $ 473,076

Balance Balance
July 1 Addit ions Reductions June 30

 
 
 

16-54



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

46 

 

 
NOTE 6 – LEASE PAYABLE 
 
On August 23, 2021, the Commission agreed to new terms on an amendment to the office space lease agreement to extend the term to 
September 30, 2027. Rent is $7,745 per month and increases by 3% on October 1st of each subsequent year. The lease liability is 
measured at a discount rate of 3%, which is the U.S Treasury Bill rate. As a result of the lease, the Commission has recorded a right to 
use asset of $548,167.  
 
The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2022, were as 
follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year Ending Principal Interest

June 30 Payments Payments Total

2023 81,437$      13,601$        95,038$     
2024 86,804        11,084          97,888       
2025 92,422        8,404            100,826     
2026 98,299        5,551            103,850     
2027 104,448      2,518            106,966     
2028 26,804        134               26,938       

490,214$    41,292$        531,506$   

 
 

NOTE 7 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows: 
 

Governmental activities

Nondepreciable capital assets

Right of way $ 14,200,000 $ -                $ -                $ 14,200,000

Construction in progress 5,648,411 5,648,411

Total nondepreciable capital assets $ 19,848,411    $ -                $ -                $ 19,848,411

Depreciable capital assets

Equipment $ 172,411 $ 39,221          $ -                $ 211,632

Leasehold improvements 116,787        116,787

Total depreciable capital assets 172,411 156,008 328,419

Less accumulated depreciation (154,809) (13,295) (168,104)

Net depreciable capital assets $ 17,602 $ 142,713 $ -                $ 160,315

Net capital assets $ 19,866,013 $ 142,713 $ -                $ 20,008,726

Increases Decreases June 30, 2022

BalanceBalance

July 1, 2021

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-55



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

47 
 

 
NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Changes in long-term liabilities 
 
Long-term liability activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, is shown below: 
 

Governmental activities
Compensated Absences $ 379,111 $ 222,443 $ 197,437 $ 404,117 $ 101,029
Lease payable 548,167 57,953 490,214 81,437
OPEB Liability 3,187,432 548,328 2,639,104
Net Pension Liability (Asset) 1,692,619 1,804,260 (111,641)

Governmental activities
Long-term liabilities $ 5,259,162 $ 770,610 $ 2,607,978 $ 3,421,794 $ 182,466

Balance Balance Due within
July 1, 2021 Additions Deletions June 30, 2022 One Year

 
 
NOTE 9 – PENSION PLAN  
 
A.   General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Descriptions  

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Commission’s Miscellaneous Employee Pension 
Plans, cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit plans administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS). Benefit provisions under the Plans are established by State statute and Commission resolution. CalPERS issues publicly 
available reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership 
information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 
 
Benefits Provided 

CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death benefits to plan members, 
who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time 
employment. Members with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members 
are eligible for  nonduty disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for each plan are 
applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.   
 
The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2022, are summarized as follows:  

Hire Date Prior to  January 1, 2013 On or after January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.0% @ 55 2.0 % @ 62
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50-63 52-67
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 1.4% to 2.4% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employee contribution rates 6.91% 6.75%
Required employer contribution rates 10.88% + $130,608 7.59% + $1,637

Miscellaneous

 

 
 
 

16-56



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

48 

 

 
NOTE 9 – PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
A.   General Information about the Pension Plan (Continued) 

Contributions 

 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer contribution rates for all public 
employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the 
rate. Funding contributions for the Plan is determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an 
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The Commission is required to contribute the difference between the 
actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. Contributions to the pension plan from the Commission were 
$454,857 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  
 
B.   Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2022, the Commission reported an asset of $111,641 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net 
pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020 rolled forward to June 30, 2021 using standard update procedures. The 
Commission’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Commission’s long-term share of contributions 
to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all Pension Plan participants, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2021, 
the Commission’s proportion was -0.00588%, which decreased by .04601% from June 30, 2020.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Commission recognized pension expense of $(1,114,953). Pension expense represents the 
change in the net pension liability during the measurement period, adjusted for actual contributions and the deferred recognition of 
changes in investment gain/loss, actuarial gain/loss, actuarial assumptions or method, and plan benefits. At June 30, 2022, the 
Commission reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension from the sources shown 
below:  
 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 454,857$                -$                            

Differences between expected and actual experience 12,519                    

Changes in assumptions

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

retirement plan investments 97,457                    

Adjustment due to differences in proportions 126,805                  

Difference in actual contributions and proportionate

share of contributions 223,418                  

775,732$                139,324$                
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-57



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

49 
 

 
NOTE 9 – PENSION PLAN (Continued)  
 
B.   Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued)  
 
$454,857 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Commission contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in the pension 
expenses as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30 Amount

2023 52,058$                  
2024 51,326
2025 51,234
2026 26,933

181,551$                

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions:  
 

Miscellaneous
Valuation Date June 30, 2020
Measurement Date June 30, 2021
Acturial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service
Investment Rate of Return 7.0% Net of Pension Plan Investment

and Administrative Expenses;
includes Inflation

Mortality Rate Table (1) Derived using CalPERS' Membership
Data for all Funds

Post Retirement Benefit Contract COLA up to 2.50% until
Increase Purchasing Power Protection Allowance

Floor on Purchasing Power applies,
2.75% thereafter

(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERs' specific data. The table includes 15 years of

mortality improvements using 90% Scale MP 2016 published by the Society of Actuaries. For more details 

on this table please refer to the 2017 experience study report.
 

 
Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used 
in the calculation of a discount rate for public agency plans (including PERF C), CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely 
result in a discount rate that would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested 
plans run out of assets. Therefore, the current 7.15 percent discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate calculation 
is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15 percent will be applied to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement 
Fund including PERF C. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called “GASB Crossover Testing Report” that can be 
obtained at CalPERS’ website under the GASB No. 68 section.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-58



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

50 

 

 
 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLAN (Continued)  
 
B.   Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued)  
 

Discount Rate (Continued) 
 
 

CalPERS is scheduled to review all actuarial assumptions as part of its regular Asset Liability Management (ALM) review cycle that 
is scheduled to be completed in February 2022. Any changes to the discount rate will require Board action and proper stakeholder 
outreach. For these reasons, CalPERS expects to continue using a discount rate net of administrative expenses for GASB No. 67 and 
No. 68 calculations through at least the 2021-22 fiscal year. CalPERS will continue to check the materiality of the difference in 
calculation.  
 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 
developed for each major asset class. 
 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-term market return 
expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected 
compound returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block 
approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits were calculated for 
each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present 
value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was 
then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent. 
 
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was calculated using the capital 
market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative 
expenses. 

Asset Class

New 
Strategic 

Allocation
Real Return 

Years 1-10(a)
Real Return 
Years 11+(b)

Global Equity 50.0% 4.80% 5.98%
Global Fixed Income 28.0% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation Sensitive 0.0% 0.77% 1.81%
Private Equity 8.0% 6.30% 7.23%
Real Estate 13.0% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1.0% 0.00% -0.92%
      Total 100.0%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.00% used for this period.
(b) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.  

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following represents the Commission’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.15 
percent, as well as what the Commission’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.15 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (8.15 percent) than the current rate:  

1% Decrease 
6.15%

Discount Rate 
7.15%

1% Increase 
8.15%

District's proportionate share of the net
pension plan liability 1,391,110$    (111,641)$         (1,353,945)$        

16-59



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

51 
 

 
NOTE 9 – PENSION PLAN (Continued)  
 
B.   Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued)  
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 

C.   Payable to the Pension Plan 

At June 30, 2022, the Commission had no amount outstanding for contributions to the pension plan required for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022.  

NOTE 10 – NET POSITION 
 
GASB Statement No. 63, requires that the difference between assets added to the deferred outflows of resources and liabilities be 
added to the deferred inflows of resources be reported as net position. Net position is classified as either net investment in capital 
assets, restricted, or unrestricted. 
 
The government-wide and fiduciary funds financial statements utilize a net position presentation.  Net position is categorized as net 
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. 
 
Net investment in capital assets – This category groups all capital assets, including infrastructure, into one component of net position. 
Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balances of debt that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement 
of these assets reduce the balance in this category. 
 
Restricted Net Position – This category presents external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Unrestricted Net Position – This category represents net position of the Commission, not restricted for any project or other purpose. 
 
 
NOTE 11 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
Plan Description 
 
Plan administration – Integrated medical/prescription drug coverage is provided through CalPERS under the Public Employees’ 
Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). Employees may choose from a variety of HMO and PPO options. The Commission 
offers the same health plans to its retirees as its active employees, with the exception that once a retiree becomes eligible for 
Medicare, he or she must join a Medicare HMO or a Medicare Supplement plan under PEMHCA. No assets are accumulated in a trust 
that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75.  
 
Benefits provided – Employees (SEIU and RAMM members) and executive directors become eligible to retire and receive monthly 
contributions from the Commission upon attainment of age 50 and five years of covered PERS service, or by qualifying disability 
retirement status. Benefits are paid for the lifetime of the retiree and, if applicable, the surviving spouse of the retiree if coverage is in 
effect at the time of the retiree's death. The Commission's retiree contribution is based on the CalPERS PEMHCA unequal method. 
The active caps are 95% of the Blue Shield Bay Area premium for single and 90% for dual and family. Currently, the retiree single 
cap is equal to the active single cap. The retiree dual and family caps are not equal to the corresponding active caps and are projected 
to remain unequal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-60



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

52 

 

 
NOTE 11 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
Employees Covered 
 
As of the July 1, 2021, actuarial valuation, the following current and former employees were covered by the benefit terms under the 
Commission’s Plan:  
 
Active plan members 17
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 10

Total 27

 
The Commission currently finances benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis.  
 
Total OPEB Liability 
 
The Commission’s total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the total 
OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2021. Standard actuarial update procedures were used to 
project/discount from valuation to measurement dates.  
 
Actuarial assumptions. The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 
 
Discount Rate 3.69%

Inflation 2.75%

Salary Increases 3.00%

Mortality Rate Mortality rates from CalPERS Experience Study (2000-2019)

Healthcare Trend Rate 5.40% decreasing to 4.00% for 2070 and later years  
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2019 valuation were based on a review of plan experience during the period July 1, 2017 to 
June 30, 2019.  

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment expense and inflation) are developed 
for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. To achieve the 
goal set by the investment policy, plan assets will be managed to earn, on a long-term basis, a rate of return equal to or in 
excess of the target rate of return of 1.92 percent. 

Change in assumptions. For the June 30, 2022 measurement date, the discount rate was increased from 1.92 percent to 3.69 
percent. The medical cost trend rate decreased from 5.70 percent to 5.40 percent. Inflation decreased from 3.00 percent to 2.75 
percent.  

Discount rate. GASB Statement No. 75 requires a discount rate that reflects the following: 

a) The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments — to the extent that the OPEB plan's fiduciary net 
position (if any) is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments and assets are expected to be 
invested using a strategy to achieve that return; 

b) A yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or 
higher — to the extent that the conditions in (a) are not met. 

To determine a resulting single (blended) rate, the amount of the plan's projected fiduciary net position (if any) and the amount 
of projected benefit payments is compared in each period of projected benefit payments. The discount rate used to measure the 
District’s total OPEB liability is based on these requirements and the following information: 

 

16-61



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

53 
 

 
NOTE 11 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
Total OPEB Liability (Continued) 

 

Municipal 
20 Year High Grade

Reporting Date Measurement Date Rate Index Discount Rate
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021 1.92% 1.92%
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 3.69% 3.69%  

 
 
Changes in the OPEB Liability 
 

Total

OPEB

Liability

Balance at June 30, 2021

(Valuation Date June 30, 2021) 3,187,432$               

Changes recognized for the measurement period:

Service cost 224,198                    

Interest 64,948                      

Difference between expected and actual experience 32,946                      

Changes of assumptions (777,945)                  

Benefit payments (92,475)                    

Net Changes (548,328)                  

Balance at June 30, 2022

(Measurement Date June 30, 2022) 2,639,104$               

 
Sensitivity of the OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the OPEB liability, as well as what the OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.69 percent) or 1 percentage-point 
higher (4.69 percent) than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
2.69% 3.69% 4.69%

OPEB Liability 3,033,244$           2,639,104$        2,319,090$         
 
 
Sensitivity of the OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare trend rates. The following presents the OPEB liability, as well as what 
the OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 percentage-point lower (4.40 percent) or 
1 percentage-point higher (6.40 percent) than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 
 

1% Decrease 
(4.40% Decreasing 

to 4.00%)

Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rate 

(5.40% 
Decreasing to 

4.00%)

1% Increase 
(6.40% 

Decreasing to 
4.00%)

OPEB Liability 2,259,152$           2,639,104$        3,119,971$         

16-62



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                      

 
 

54 

 

 
NOTE 11 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Commission recognized OPEB expense of $269,704.  As of the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2021, the Commission reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 28,370$                     6,505$                       
Change in assumptions 429,609                     692,229                     

457,979$                   698,734$                   

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

(45,664)
(120,696)

2027

(240,755)$                          

Amount

(19,444)$                            

(22,558)
(22,558)

(9,835)

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2023

2025
2026

2024

2028-2029

 
 
NOTE 12 – SENATE BILL 1 – STATE OF GOOD REPAIR 
 
The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, Senate Bill (SB) 1 (Chapter 5, Statues of 2017), signed by the Governor on April 
28, 2017, includes a program that will provide additional revenues for transit infrastructure repair and service improvements. This 
investment in public transit will be referred to as the State of Good Repair program. This program provides funding of approximately 
$105 million annually to the State Transit Assistance (STA) Account. These funds are to be made available for eligible transit 
maintenance, rehabilitation and capital projects. 
 
This program demonstrates California's commitment to clean, sustainable transportation, and the role that public transit plays in that 
vision. While SB 1 addresses a variety of transportation needs, this program has a specific goal of keeping transit systems in a state of 
good repair, including the purchase of new transit vehicles, and maintenance and rehabilitation of transit facilities and vehicles. These 
new investments will lead to cleaner transit vehicle fleets, increased reliability and safety, and reduced greenhouse gas emissions and 
other pollutants. 
 
In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission received $742,919.  The funding 
was distributed to the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District. 
 
 
NOTE 13 – EXCESS EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS 
 
Excess of expenditures over appropriations in individual funds, are as follows: 
 

Excess
Expenditures

Major Fund:
Highway 1 Program Fund

Salaries and benefits 20,561$                

Fund

 
 

16-63



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16-64



16-65



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
ADMINISTRATION AND PLANNING FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues

Local Transportation Funds $ 1,362,799 $ 1,539,364 $ 1,539,364 $ -                                

RSTP Exchange 175,000 280,000 62,781 (217,219)

State Planning, Programming and

Monitoring Funds 144,579 144,579 230,111 85,532

State Rural Planning Assistance 337,000 421,250 401,071 (20,179)

Sustainable Transportation Grant CDFW 75,000 75,000 54,721 (20,279)

Sustainable Transportation Grant WCB 75,448 75,448 243,222 167,774

Measure D 3,194,330 2,347,843 1,218,911 (1,128,932)

Land Trust 2,000,000 2,350,658 350,658

Use of money and property 8,199 8,199

Other 96,499 96,499

Total revenues 5,364,156 6,883,484 6,205,537 (677,947)

Expenditures

Salaries and benefits 1,924,770 1,994,058 1,854,424 139,634

Services and supplies 1,040,411 683,069 565,993 117,076

Bike Challenge 100,000 100,000 55,360 44,640

Bike to Work 60,000 60,000 74,814 (14,814)

Bike/Walk Smart 25,000 25,000 4,217 20,783

Community Traffic Safety Coalition 130,000 130,000 174,730 (44,730)

Regional Conservation Investment Study 60,476 60,476 227,668 (167,192)

Measure D Administration 26,846 (26,846)

Bike SC Project Paseo 50,000 50,000 4,838 45,162

Scotts Creek Marsh 75,000 75,000 47,419 27,581

SR9 San Lorenzo Valley Complete Streets 1,092,600 257,325 149,493 107,832

RTP CEQA EIR 30,000 30,000 30,000

Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing 1,350,333 3,350,333 2,350,658 999,675

Other 1,180 (1,180)

Capital outlay 135,000 135,000 704,175 (569,175)

Debt Service:

Principal on lease 57,953 (57,953)

Interest on lease 11,757 (11,757)

Total expenditures 6,073,590 6,950,261 6,341,525 608,736

Excess of revenues over (under)
  expenditures (709,434) (66,777) (135,988) (69,211)

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Operating transfers out (110,000) (110,000) (110,000)

Proceeds from lease 548,167 548,167

Total other financing sources (uses) (110,000) (110,000) 438,167 548,167

Change in fund balance (819,434) (176,777) 302,179 478,956

Fund balance - July 1 2,254,926 2,254,926 2,254,926

Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,435,492 $ 2,078,149 $ 2,557,105 $ 478,956

Final Budget

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual Amounts 

Variance with

Positive (Negative)

55

16-66



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
RAIL/TRAIL AUTHORITY FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
Measure D $ 774,574          $ 1,200,000 $ 801,180           $ (398,820)
Use of money and property 70,000 83,772 90,252             6,480
RSTP Exchange 449,711 449,711
FEMA 880,000 600,000 825,022 225,022
Other revenue 285,000 50,912 50,912

Total revenues 2,009,574 1,883,772 2,217,077 333,305

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 350,000 506,000 352,655 153,345
Services and supplies 1,954,346 1,478,352 535,183 943,169
Other 930,832 (930,832)

Total expenditures 2,304,346 1,984,352 1,818,670 165,682

Excess of revenues over 
   (under) expenditures (294,772) (100,580) 398,407 498,987

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in 110,000 110,000 110,000

Total other financing sources (uses) 110,000 110,000 110,000

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (184,772) 9,420 508,407 498,987

Fund balance - July 1 139,671 139,671 139,671

Fund balance - June 30 $ (45,101)           $ 149,091         $ 648,078 $ 498,987

Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

56

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final

16-67



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
SERVICE AUTHORITY FOR FREEWAY EMERGENCIES FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
Motor vehicle fees $ 257,750 $ 257,750 $ 253,077 $ (4,673)
Aid from other governments 50,000 50,000 46,330 (3,670)
Measure D 50,000 50,000 5,430 (44,570)
Use of money and property 3,000 3,000 2,814 (186)

Total revenues 360,750 360,750 307,651 (53,099)

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 134,000 134,000 87,304 46,696
Services and supplies 239,550 297,050 138,205 158,845

Total expenditures 373,550 431,050 225,509 205,541

Excess of revenues over
   (under) expenditures (12,800) (70,300) 82,142 152,442

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers out (50,000) (50,000) (50,000)

Total other financing sources (uses) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000)

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (62,800) (120,300) 32,142 152,442

Fund balance - July 1 575,237 575,237 575,237

Fund balance - June 30 $ 512,437 $ 454,937 $ 607,379 $ 152,442

Final Budget
Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

Budgeted Amounts Variance with

57

16-68



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FREEWAY SERVICE PATROL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
California Department of 

Transportation Grant - SB1 $ 80,397 $ 80,397 $ 71,165 $ (9,232)                
Caltrans Grant (FSP) 167,519 167,519 248,925 81,406
Measure D 239,825 203,091 154,609 (48,482)
Use of money and property 127 127

Total revenues 487,741 451,007 474,826 23,819

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 86,500 91,500 84,175 7,325
Services and supplies 17,200 12,200 9,395 2,805
Towing service 347,307 347,307 355,833 (8,526)

Total expenditures 451,007 451,007 449,403 1,604

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures 36,734 25,423 25,423

Fund balance - July 1 152,693 152,693 152,693

Fund balance - June 30 $ 189,427 $ 152,693 $ 178,116 $ 25,423

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

58

16-69



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
HIGHWAY 1 PROGRAM FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
Use of money and property $ - $ - $ 735 $ 735
Other state revenue 22,000
STP Exchange Funds 20,561 20,561

Total revenues 22,000 21,296 21,296

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 5,000 20,561 (20,561)
Services and supplies 17,000

Total expenditures 22,000 20,561 (20,561)

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures 735 735

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers out (6,333) (6,333)

Total other financing sources (uses) (6,333) (6,333)

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (5,598) (5,598)

Fund balance - July 1 160,502 160,502 160,502

Fund balance - June 30 $ 160,502 $ 160,502 $ 154,904 $ (5,598)

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

59

16-70



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
HIGHWAY 1 AUXILIARY LANES FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
Use of money and property $ - $ - $ 1,582 $ 1,582
SB1 200,000
RSTP Exchange Funds 125,000 125,000
State Planning, Programming and 

Monitoring Funds 2,550,000 1,031,958 933,885 (98,073)
Local Partnership Program Grant 595,000 513,000 628,642 115,642
Measure D 13,146,410 5,026,000 3,531,203 (1,494,797)
Other 10,000 10,016 16

Total revenues 16,491,410 6,580,958 5,230,328 (1,350,630)

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 550,000 450,000 353,381 96,619
Services and supplies 15,941,410 6,130,958 4,576,083 1,554,875

Total expenditures 16,491,410 6,580,958 4,929,464 1,651,494

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures 300,864 300,864

Fund balance - July 1 164,819 164,819 164,819

Fund balance - June 30 $ 164,819 $ 164,819 $ 465,683           $ 300,864              

60

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

16-71



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
CRUZ 511 FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
RSTP $ 68,663            $ 68,663 $ 1,780               $ (66,883)
Measure D 200,000 200,000 200,000
Use of money and property 4,000 4,000 2,066 (1,934)

Total revenues 272,663 272,663 203,846 (68,817)

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 213,663 193,663 152,603 41,060
Services and supplies 150,100 170,100 101,404 68,696

Total expenditures 363,763 363,763 254,007 109,756

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures (91,100) (91,100) (50,161) 40,939

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in 50,000 50,000 50,000

Total other financing sources (uses) 50,000 50,000 50,000

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (41,100) (41,100) (161) 40,939

Fund balance - July 1 506,944 506,944 506,944

Fund balance - June 30 $ 465,844 $ 465,844 $ 506,783           $ 40,939

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

61

16-72



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION MBSST FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues
RSTP Exchange Funds $ 300,000 $ 425,000 $ 15,583             $ (409,417)
Land Trust 338,720 338,720 105,271 (233,449)
Measure D 9,345,976 4,346,185 3,124,595 (1,221,590)
Use of money and property 585 585

Total revenues 9,984,696 5,109,905 3,246,034 (1,863,871)

Expenditures
Salaries and benefits 329,130 958,685 931,593 27,092
Services and supplies 9,655,566 4,151,220 2,404,839 1,746,381

Total expenditures 9,984,696 5,109,905 3,336,432 1,773,473

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures (90,398) (90,398)

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in 6,333 6,333

Total other financing sources (uses) 6,333 6,333

Excess of revenues and other sources 
over (under) expenditures and other
uses (84,065) (84,065)

Fund balance - July 1 141,306 141,306 141,306

Fund balance - June 30 $ 141,306          $ 141,306         $ 57,241             $ (84,065)

62

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negative)

16-73



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Last 10 Years*
As of June 30, 2022

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 224,198$       211,434$       177,210$       113,898$       121,414$       
Interest on the total OPEB liability 64,948           71,228           76,179           69,300           60,196           
Actual and expected experience difference 32,946           (10,840)         
Changes in assumptions (777,945)       246,455         357,350         139,953         (133,982)       
Change in benefit items
Benefit payments (92,475)         (74,599)         (72,998)         (62,470)         (50,598)         

Net change in total OPEB liability (548,328)       454,518         526,901         260,681         (2,970)           

Total OPEB liability - beginning 3,187,432      2,732,914      2,206,013      1,945,332      1,948,302      
Total OPEB liability -  ending 2,639,104$   3,187,432$   2,732,914$   2,206,013$   1,945,332$   

Covered payroll 2,127,147$   1,961,919$   1,880,332$   1,888,097$   1,374,598$   

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 124.07% 162.47% 145.34% 116.84% 141.52%

*- Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only five years are shown.

63

16-74



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS
Last 10 Years*
As of June 30, 2022

The Commission's contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 was $92,475. The Commission did not have
an actuary calculate the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, therefore the
Commission does not need to comply with GASB 75's Required Supplementary Information requirements. 

The Commission's contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was $74,599. The Commission did not have
an actuary calculate the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, therefore the
Commission does not need to comply with GASB 75's Required Supplementary Information requirements. 

The Commission's contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 was $72,998. The Commission did not have
an actuary calculate the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, therefore the
Commission does not need to comply with GASB 75's Required Supplementary Information requirements. 

The Commission's contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was $62,470. The Commission did not have
an actuary calculate the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, therefore the
Commission does not need to comply with GASB 75's Required Supplementary Information requirements. 

The Commission's contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was $50,598. The Commission did not have
an actuary calculate the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, therefore the
Commission does not need to comply with GASB 75's Required Supplementary Information requirements. 

*- Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only five years are shown.

64
16-75



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
Last 10 Years*
As of June 30, 2022

The following table provides required supplementary information regarding the Commission's Pension Plan.

2022 2021 2020 2019

Proportion of the net pension liability -0.00206% 0.01556% 0.01626% 0.01717%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (111,641)$              1,692,619$             1,665,720$             1,654,850$             

Covered payroll 1,967,823$             1,880,332$             2,081,870$             1,590,897$             

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as
percentage of covered payroll -5.67% 90.02% 80.01% 104.02%

Plan's total pension liability 46,174,942,264$    43,702,930,887$    41,426,453,489$    38,944,855,364$    

Plan's fiduciary net position 40,766,653,876$    32,822,501,335$    31,179,414,067$    29,308,589,559$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 88.29% 75.10% 75.26% 75.26%
total pension liability

2018 2017 2016 2015

Proportion of the net pension liability 0.01902% 0.01925% 0.01875% 0.02073%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability 1,886,393$             1,665,777$             1,286,988$             1,289,646$             

Covered payroll 1,541,379$             1,523,462$             1,351,432$             1,333,752$             

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as
percentage of covered payroll 122.38% 109.34% 95.23% 96.69%

Plan's total pension liability 37,161,348,332$    33,358,627,624$    31,771,217,402$    30,829,966,631$    

Plan's fiduciary net position 27,244,095,376$    24,705,532,291$    24,907,305,871$    24,607,502,515$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 73.31% 74.06% 78.40% 79.82%
total pension liability

Note to Schedule:

Change in assumptions
In 2018, inflation was changed from 2.75 percent to 2.50 percent and individual salary increases and overall payroll growth was
reduced from 3.00 percent to 2.75 percent.

In 2017, as part of the Asset Liability Management review cycle, the discount rate was changed from 7.65 percent to 7.15 percent. 

In 2016, the discount rate was changed from 7.5 percent (net of administrative expense) to 7.65 percent to correct for an
adjustment to exclude administrative expense. 

In 2015, amounts reported as change in assumptions resulted primarily from adjustments to expected ages of general employees. 

*- Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only eight years are shown.

65

16-76



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
Last 10 Years*
As of June 30, 2022

The following table provides required supplementary information regarding the Commission's Pension Plan.

2022 2021 2020 2019

Contractually required contribution (actuarially determined) 454,857$      725,030$      440,212$      443,077$      

Contribution in relation to the actuarially determined
contributions (454,857) (725,030) (440,212) (443,077)
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Covered payroll 2,240,016$   1,967,823$   1,880,332$   2,081,870$   
    

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 20.31% 36.84% 23.41% 21.28%

2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution (actuarially determined) 552,504$      267,135$      214,636$      170,439$      

Contribution in relation to the actuarially determined
contributions (552,504) (267,135) (214,636) (170,439)
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Covered payroll 1,590,897$   1,541,379$   1,523,462$   1,351,432$   
    

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 34.73% 17.33% 14.09% 12.61%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date:

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal

Amorization method/period For details, see the June 30, 2017 funding valuation report.

Discount rate
Payroll growth
Price inflation

Salary increases Varies by entry age and years of service.

Mortality The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2010 CalPERS 
Experience Study for the period from 1997 to 2007. Pre-retirement and
post-retirement mortality rates include 5 years of projected mortality
improvement using Scale AA published by the Society of Actuaries.

Retirement age The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2010 CalPERS
Experience Study for the period from 1997 to 2007.

*- Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only eight years are shown. 
66

6/30/2017

7.15%
3.00%
2.63%

16-77



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION 
 
 
 
 
 

16-78



16-79



 

 

Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP
Certified Public Accountants  

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON   
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT COMPLIANCE 

 
 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Santa Cruz, California 

Report on Compliance 

Opinion on Compliance with the Transportation Development Act 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the major funds, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s (the Commission) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the Transportation Development Act Guidebook, published by the State of California 
Department of Transportation applicable for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  

In our opinion, the funds allocated to and received by Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission pursuant to the TDA, 
complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that are applicable to the statutory requirements 
of the Transportation Development Act and the allocation instructions and resolutions of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted out audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United State of America 
(GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits-contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States; and the Transportation Development Act Guidebook; published by the State of California Department of 
Transportation. Our responsibilities under those standards and the Transportation Development Act Guidebook are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements related to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Santa 
Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of 
contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Transportation Development Act.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s 
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and Transportation Development Act 
Guidebook will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report 
on compliance about Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the requirements of the government 
program as a whole.  

 

 
67 

 

2400 Professional Parkway, Suite 205  Santa Maria, CA 93455   Tel 805.925.2579 Fax 805.925.2147   mlhcpas.com 
 

BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 
 16-80



 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Transportation Development Act 
Guidebook, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit; 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 
Commission’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
consider necessary in the circumstances; 

 Obtain an understanding of the Commission’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance 
with the Transportation Development Act Guidebook, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the 
audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material noncompliance with a 
compliance requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance that is less severe than a 
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention from those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.  

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
compliance and the results of that testing based on the Transportation Development Act Guidebook. Accordingly, this report is not 
suitable for any other purpose.  

 

 

Santa Maria, California 
April 10, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68 
 

 
16-81



 

 

Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP
Certified Public Accountants  

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON   
MEASURE D COMPLIANCE 

 
 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Santa Cruz, California 

Report on Compliance 

Opinion on Compliance with the Measure D 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the major funds, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s (the Commission) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in Ordinance No. 2016-01 (Measure D), applicable for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  

In our opinion, the funds allocated to and received by Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission pursuant to the 
Measure D, complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that are applicable to the statutory 
requirements of Measure D and the allocation instructions and resolutions of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted out audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United State of America 
(GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits-contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States; and Ordinance No. 2016-01. Our responsibilities under those standards and the Ordinance No. 2016-01 are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements related to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Santa 
Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of 
contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Measure D.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s 
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and Ordinance No. 2016-01 will 
always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher 
than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the requirements of the government 
program as a whole.  

 

 

 
69 

 

2400 Professional Parkway, Suite 205  Santa Maria, CA 93455   Tel 805.925.2579 Fax 805.925.2147   mlhcpas.com 
 

BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 
 

16-82



 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Ordinance No. 2016-01, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit; 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 
Commission’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
consider necessary in the circumstances; 

 Obtain an understanding of the Commission’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance 
with the Ordinance No. 2016-01, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit an any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the 
audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material noncompliance with a 
compliance requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance that is less severe than a 
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention from those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.  

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
compliance and the results of that testing based on the Ordinance No. 2016-01. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  

 

 

Santa Maria, California 
April 10, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70 
 

16-83



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF ALLOCATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
LOCAL TRANSPORTATION FUND
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Claimant/Purpose/Authority*

Santa Cruz Metropolitan
Transit District

Transit operator assistance
    PUC § 99260(a) $ -                 $ 8,592,943    $ 8,592,943     $ -                   

Totals 8,592,943    8,592,943     

Santa Cruz County Regional
Transportation Commission
Administration

    PUC § 99233.1 725,452       725,452        

Planning
    PUC § 99402 623,912       623,912        

Pedestrian and bicycle
    PUC § 99400 (a) 190,000       190,000        

Totals 1,539,364    1,539,364     

City of Santa Cruz
Volunteer Center and Community Bridges

    PUC § 99400 (c) (6,221)        944,721       938,500        

Pedestrian and bicycle
    PUC § 99400 (a) 407,139     110,233       22,774          494,598       

Totals 400,918     1,054,954    961,274        494,598       

County of Santa Cruz
Pedestrian and bicycle

    PUC § 99400 (a) 968,448     258,616       591,433        635,631       

Totals 968,448     258,616       591,433        635,631       

City of Scotts Valley
Pedestrian and bicycle

    PUC § 99400 (a) 60,679       23,075         83,754         

Totals 60,679       23,075         83,754         

City of Capitola
Pedestrian and bicycle

    PUC § 99400 (a) 51,413       19,808         71,221         

Totals 51,413       19,808         71,221         

City of Watsonville
Pedestrian and bicycle

    PUC § 99400 (a) 758,424     100,830       337,920        521,334       

Totals 758,424     100,830       337,920        521,334       

     Grand totals $ 2,239,882  $ 11,589,590  $ 12,022,934   $ 1,806,538    

* Public Utilities Code

Allocated
Balance

Allocated
Balance

71

ExpendedJuly 1, 2021 Allocation June 30, 2022

16-84



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF ALLOCATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE FUND
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Claimant/Purpose/Authority*

Santa Cruz Metropolitan
Transit District

Transit operator assistance
    CAC § 6730 a $ -                 $ 4,437,224    $ 4,437,224     $ -                   

Total $ -                 $ 4,437,224    $ 4,437,224     $ -                   

City of Santa Cruz
Community Bridges

    CAC § 6730 a $ -                 $ 100,000       $ 100,000        $ -                   

$ -                 $ 100,000       $ 100,000        $ -                   

72

Expended

Allocated Allocated

June 30, 2022
Balance

July 1, 2021 Allocation
Balance

16-85



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission 

FROM: Tracy New, Director of Budget and Finance 

RE: FY2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC Measure D Fund 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) accept 
the attached SCCRTC Measure D Fund FY2021-22 audited financial 
statements.  

BACKGROUND 

The Commission is required by Ordinance 2016-1 to undergo an independent 
annual financial audit of the Measure D Fund.  Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, 
performed the FY2021-22 fiscal audit of the Measure D Fund for the 
Commission.  

DISCUSSION 

The Commission received a clean opinion from the Auditor and no major 
concerns were raised which would require changes to the SCCRTC internal 
controls and accounting practices. The reports are public documents and are 
available at the Commission’s office and on the website. (www.sccrtc.org).  

The significant highlights for FY2021-22 include: 

1. Measure D revenues received during FY2021-22 total $27,372,939; this
is net of California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA)
administration fees; and $964,870 over budget.

2. Interest rates, prices on taxable goods, and housing prices did not have
a negative impact on sales tax in FY2021-22. Sales tax revenues
increased 4% in FY2021-22 when compared to FY2020-21. The Measure
D Fund Net position as of June 30, 2022, is $34,573,151 (Pages 26 and
27). These funds can only be used for intended purposes and cannot be
spent for other RTC needs.

17-1

http://www.sccrtc.org/


FY 2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC Measure D Fund     Page 2 
 

3. Some of the projects, funded by Measure D, which commenced or 
continued in FY2021-22 (discussed in detail starting on Page 3 of the 
audit report) included: 
 

a) Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network 
b) Rail Corridor maintenance and repairs 
c) Highway Corridor 

• 41st Avenue – Soquel Drive hybrid auxiliary lanes and bus on 
shoulders funds added to fully fund construction  

• Highway 1 State Park Drive - Bay Porter design and right of 
way for the hybrid auxiliary lanes and bus on shoulders 
project including a new bicycle and pedestrian overcrossing at 
Mar Vista Avenue 

• Highway 1 State Park Drive to Freedom Boulevard, including 
Segment 12 of the Coastal Rail Trail environmental and 
preliminary design. 

• Cruz 511 traveler demand program provided traffic safety 
messaging and mapping resources to the community. 

• Safe on 17 and Freeway Service Patrol (FSP) programs 
provided additional funding for California Highway Patrol 
(CHP) enforcement and tow truck patrols on Highways 1 and 
17 during peak travel times.  

d) County Resurfacing Projects  
e) City of Capitola Road Rehabilitation Project 
f) City of Santa Cruz youth bike safety education programs, 

downtown bike lockers, and Coastal Trail Segment 7 
construction. 

g) City of Scotts Valley pavement projects and road repairs.  
h) City of Watsonville bike, pedestrian, traffic, and pavement 

improvements. 
i) Santa Cruz METRO and Lift Line services for seniors and people 

with disabilities. 
j) Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing construction 
k) Highway 9 Corridor project initiation document (PID) for the 

Complete Streets Corridor Plan 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The FY2021-22 SCCRTC Measure D Fund audit has been completed and is 
ready for review. Staff recommends that the Commission accept the audit 
report.  
 
 

17-2



FY 2021-22 Fiscal Audit for the SCCRTC Measure D Fund     Page 3 
 

Attachments: 
FY2021-22 SCCRTC Fiscal Audit Report –Full document available at:  
https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FY2022-Measure-D-Audit.pdf 
 
 
 
FY2022AuditMeasureDStaffReport.docx 

17-3

https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FY2022-Measure-D-Audit.pdf


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION  
COMMISSION 

MEASURE D FUND 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17-4



 

 

 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
MEASURE D FUND 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
June 30, 2022         
 
 
Independent Auditors' Report ............................................................................................................................................................ 1 
 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis .............................................................................................................................................. 3 
 
Statement of Net Position  ............................................................................................................................................................... 18 
 
Statement of Changes in Net Position ............................................................................................................................................. 19 
 
Notes to Financial Statements ......................................................................................................................................................... 20 
 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Measure D Compliance ............................................................................................................. 23 
 
Statement of Net Position by Allocation ......................................................................................................................................... 26 
 
Statement of Changes in Net Position by Allocation ...................................................................................................................... 28 
 
Summary of Outgo by Project ......................................................................................................................................................... 30 
 
Summary of Revenue Allocation by Month - Cash Basis ............................................................................................................... 32 
 
Prior Year Summary of Revenue Allocation by Month - Cash Basis ............................................................................................. 34 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17-5



 

 

 

           
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

Citizen Oversight Committee 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Santa Cruz, California 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the 
table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Measure 
D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, as of June 30, 2022, and the changes in financial position 
thereof for the fiscal year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions.  

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Measure D Fund and do not purport to, and do not present fairly 
the financial position of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, as of June 30, 2022, the changes in its 
financial position for the fiscal year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

1 
 

2400 Professional Parkway, Suite 205  Santa Maria, CA 93455   Tel 805.925.2579 Fax 805.925.2147   mlhcpas.com 
 

BEVERLY HILLS · CULVER CITY · SANTA MARIA 
17-6



 

 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Measure D Fund of 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 
doubt about the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis 
on pages 3 through 17 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, of the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Measure 
D Fund of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s financial statements. The supplementary information listed 
in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements.  

The supplementary information, listed in the table of contents, are the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects 
in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
Santa Maria, California 
March 14, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 
17-7



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 3 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

Measure D is a comprehensive and 
inclusive package of transportation 
investments passed in November 2016 
by over two-thirds (2/3) of Santa Cruz 
County voters. This ½-cent (0.5%) 
transactions and use tax guarantees a 
steady, direct source of local funding to 
every city and the County of Santa 
Cruz for local street and road 
maintenance, bicycle, pedestrian, and safety projects; to Santa Cruz METRO 
and Community Bridges-Lift Line for transit and paratransit services for 
seniors and people with disabilities; as well as funds to implement priority 
highway, trail, and other essential transportation projects and programs 
throughout the county. Measure D went into effect on April 1, 2017. After 
costs for administration and implementation of the Measure are accounted for, 
funds are distributed by the formula set forth in the voter-approved 
Expenditure Plan for Measure D to the following Investment categories: 
 

 30% - Neighborhood Projects (Cities & County) 
 25% - Highway Corridor 
 20% - Transit/Paratransit (SCMTD and Community Bridges) 
 17% - Active Transportation 
 8% - Rail Corridor 

 
The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) is the 
administrator of Measure D responsible for receiving tax revenues collected 
by the California Department of Tax and Fee Administration, distributing 
revenues to local agencies and project sponsors, and ensuring compliance 
with the voter-approved ordinance. A five-year program of projects showing 
how recipient agencies plan to use Measure D funds is updated and adopted 
annually by each agency receiving Measure D revenues. An annual audit of 
receipts and expenditures of each recipient is also required; and the audited 
reports are to be reviewed by an oversight committee of five residents. 
Consistent with the Measure D Ordinance, the Measure D Taxpayer Oversight 
Committee reviews recipient agency fiscal audits and expenditure reports and 
prepares an annual report of findings.   
 
II. Measure D Funded Projects in FY2021/22 
 
Since Measure D went into effect, the cities of Capitola, Santa Cruz, Scotts 
Valley, and Watsonville, the County of Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz METRO, 
Community Bridges, and the RTC have put Measure D funds to work - filling 

17-8



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 4 
 

potholes, building new bicycle and walking paths, replacing aging buses, 
increasing transportation service for seniors and people with disabilities, 
designing major infrastructure projects, maintaining existing infrastructure, 
and providing traveler information and assistance programs. The following 
highlights a few of the projects that were funded by Measure D in FY2021/22. 
 
Active Transportation: Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network 
(MBSST)/Coastal Rail Trail 

 
 

1. MBSST Network Implementation: RTC staff provided oversight and 
technical assistance for implementation of the Monterey Bay Sanctuary 
Scenic Trail Network (MBSST). This included coordination with local 
jurisdictions and Central Federal Lands of the Federal Highways 
Administration who are implementing specific sections of the trail 
network. In FY21/22, Measure D funds were also used to analyze and 
solicit public input on potential interim trail and ultimate trail (adjacent 
to the railroad tracks) alignments. 

2. North Coast Segment 5, Wilder Ranch-Davenport: In coordination 
with the RTC, Federal Highway Administration Central Federal Lands 
Highway Division (FHWA-CFLHD) continued development of the 7.5-
mile coastal rail trail from Davenport to Wilder Ranch State Park. 
Preconstruction activities, including environmental, design, right-of-way 
and permitting, continued in FY2021/22. The 5.4-mile section from 
Wilder Ranch to Panther/Yellowbank Beach is fully funded for 
construction and expected to be ready to break ground in FY2023/24, 
pending the release of federal funds. In FY2021/22, the remaining 2.1-

17-9



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 5 
 

mile section of the trail from Panther/Yellowbank Beach was shortlisted 
for Federal Lands Access Program funding, leveraged with Measure D 
matching funds. Final awards will be announced in FY22/23.  

3. Segment 7, Phase 2, Santa 
Cruz Construction: The City 
of Santa Cruz completed the 
final design and started 
construction of Phase 2, from 
Bay Street/California Avenue 
to the Santa Cruz Wharf in 
spring 2022. 

4. Segments 8 & 9, Santa 
Cruz-Live Oak: The City of 
Santa Cruz, in partnership 
with the County of Santa 
Cruz, continued preliminary 
design and environmental 
review of Segments 8 & 9 of 
the Coastal Rail Trail between the Santa Cruz Wharf and 17th Avenue 
(2.2 miles), funded by state and private funds.  The city has used local 
and regional Measure D funds as match to secure over $40 million in 
grants to fully fund the project. 

5. Segments 10 & 11, Live Oak to Seacliff/Aptos: The County of Santa 
Cruz, in partnership with the City of Capitola, initiated environmental 
review and preliminary design of Segments 10 & 11 of the trail from 17th 
Ave to State Park Drive (4.5 miles) using Measure D funds and 
submitted grant applications using Measure D as match in FY2021/22 to 
secure $68 million from California’s Active Transportation Program in 
December 2022.  

6. Segment 12, Aptos/Rio del Mar:  The RTC continued environmental 
review and preliminary design of Segment 12 of the Coastal Rail Trail 
between State Park Drive and Rio Del Mar Blvd. as part of the Highway 
1 Freedom-State Park Auxiliary Lanes and Bus-on-Shoulder project, 
which is being implemented in partnership with Caltrans. This section of 
trail includes bicycle/pedestrian bridges over Highway 1 and Soquel 
Drive, connecting coastal neighborhoods and Aptos Village. 

7. Segment 18, Watsonville: Construction of the trail between Ohlone 
Parkway and Watsonville Slough Trail (Phase 1) was mostly completed 
in FY2020/21, with the official ribbon cutting in July 2021. Measure D 
expenditures for Segment 18 Phase 1 are reflected in the FY2021/22 
audit. The City of Watsonville and RTC will be analyzing design options 
for future sections of trail, including Segment 18 between Lee Road and 
Ohlone and between the Slough Trail and Walker Street and remaining 

  
Segment 7‐Phase 2 Rail Trail Construction in Santa Cruz  

17-10



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 6 
 

sections of the trail between Davenport and Pajaro Station, as part of 
the Passenger Rail Transit and Trail project.   

8. Ongoing Corridor Maintenance:  RTC continued to use Measure D 
funds to maintain the future trail corridor, including vegetation control; 
tree maintenance; trash and dumping abatement; encampments; 
drainage maintenance and repairs; and managing, renegotiating, or 
clearing of unpermitted encroachments. RTC also initiated work to 
secure environmental permits to support maintenance activities.   

9. Technical Support and Oversight: RTC staff provided technical 
support and stakeholder coordination for development of the 
MBSST/Coastal Rail Trail projects. Consultants were hired for technical 
assistance when needed. 

10. Boundary survey work for segments 9-12: Through a contract with 
a surveying consultant, the RTC has been conducting boundary survey 
work for segments 9-12 of the MBSST. The survey work supports both 
MBSST and maintenance activities. As surveys are completed records of 
survey will be filed with the County. 

 
Rail Corridor 
 
Infrastructure Preservation:  

1. Storm Damage Repairs: In Spring 2022 the RTC completed repairs 
from winter 2017 storm damage on several locations along the Santa 
Cruz Branch Rail Line right-of-way. Between FY2019/20-FY2021/22, 
RTC received $493,278 in reimbursements from FEMA for storm 
damage repairs which had been initially funded by Measure D in prior 
years. Additional repairs were initially funded by Measure D and a 
short-term loan of other RTC funds. The RTC has submitted an 
additional $4.7 million in invoices to FEMA, which if not paid by FEMA, 
would need to be funded by Measure D. 

2. Bridge Repairs: Measure D funds were expended on final design for 
Pajaro River Bridge repairs, expected to begin construction in 2023.  
Measure D funds served as a match to secure a state Shortline Railroad 
Improvement Program grant from the California Transportation 
Commission for construction. 

3. Coastal Erosion Repair: Design work, including consultations with the 
Coastal Commission continued in FY 2021-22 for the Manresa Coastal 
Erosion Repair project.  

4. Ongoing Track infrastructure, signage, maintenance, inspection, 
and repairs: The RTC continues to perform basic maintenance of 

17-11



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 7 
 

railroad infrastructure in areas not currently served by the shortline 
operator. This includes responding to crossing signal malfunctions.  

5. Ongoing utility coordination: Engineering and administrative review 
and coordination for utility and other entities to perform maintenance or 
construction on facilities affecting the rail line. 

Highway Corridors  
 
Highway 1 - Auxiliary Lanes and Bus on Shoulder (BOS) Projects: RTC 
staff, consultants and Caltrans continued environmental review, design, and 
construction documents for five (5) new sets of auxiliary lanes and a hybrid 
bus-on-shoulder (BOS) program along 7.5-miles of Highway 1.   

 
1. Phase 1: Soquel Drive to 41st Avenue – FY2021/22 Measure D revenues 

were added to the project to fully fund construction of the auxiliary lanes 
and bus-on-shoulder facilities between 41st Avenue and Soquel Drive 
(Phase 1), which started construction in early 2023. The project includes 
a new bicycle/pedestrian bridge over Highway 1 at Chanticleer Avenue. 
Measure D was used to leverage state grants for the project. 

2. Phase 2: Bay/Porter to State Park Drive – During FY2021/22 the RTC 
continued final design and right-of-way activities for the Highway 1 
auxiliary lanes and bus-on-shoulder project between the State Park 
Drive and Bay-Porter interchanges (Phase 2), including a new 
bicycle/pedestrian bridge over Highway 1 at Mar Vista Drive and 
replacement of the Capitola Avenue overcrossing. Construction is 
scheduled to start in 2023. Measure D was used to leverage state grants 
for the project. 

3. Phase 3: State Park Drive to Freedom Boulevard, including Segment 12 
of the Coastal Rail Trail – Environmental and preliminary design for 

17-12



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 8 
 

Highway 1 hybrid auxiliary lanes and bus-on-shoulder facilities between 
Freedom Boulevard-Rio Del Mar-State Park Drive (Phase 3) continued 
in FY2021/22. The Phase 3 project also includes the 1.25 mile Segment 
12 of the Rail Trail from State Park Drive to Rio Del Mar Boulevard. The 
environmental review is funded by a combination of Measure D and state 
SB1 Local Partnership Program formula funds, which are available to the 
region because of Measure D. The RTC has submitted applications for 
state and federal grants for the project, using Measure D as match. The 
Phase 3 project is expected to be construction-ready in 2025. 

 
Cruz511 Program: The Cruz511 program is 
a traveler resource and transportation 
demand management program. In 
FY2021/22, the RTC, in partnership with the 
City of Santa Cruz, UCSC, Ecology Action, and 
other entities, used Measure D funds to 
continue to promote “Go Santa Cruz County,” 
a robust demand management program, 
including an online commute manager and 
rewards platform with dynamic carpool ride 
matching and transit, carpool, and bike trip planning. In FY2021/22 more than 
2,000 participants registered during the months following the countywide 
expansion, joining the 1,000+ participants already enrolled in the downtown 
GO Santa Cruz pilot. Consultants assisted with creating marketing materials, 
employer toolkits, the program website (www.gosantacruzcounty.org), and 
social media content. Additionally, consultants assisted with employer 
outreach by engaging with major employers, onboarding new employers to 
the platform, and providing virtual and in-person commuter workshops to 
participants. RTC staff also attended in-person community events to promote 
the GO Santa Cruz County Program and signup new participants.  
  
In FY2021/22 the RTC also continued to provide rideshare, transit, bicycle, 
traffic information, and county road and lane closure information to the public, 
primarily through the www.Cruz511.org website. Staff continued to provide 
traffic safety messaging and active transportation mapping resources to 
community members throughout the county.  
 
Safe on 17 and Freeway Service Patrol (FSP): Measure D continued to 
provide funding for extra California Highway Patrol (CHP) enforcement on 
Highway 17, through the Safe on 17 program. In FY2021/22, due to staffing 
shortages, CHP Santa Cruz provided fewer hours of extra enforcement on 
Highway 17 than years past, invoicing only $5,430 of $50,000 that had been 
set aside. Measure D funds are also being used to provide tow truck patrols 

17-13



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 9 
 

(FSP) on Highway 1 and Highway 17 during peak travel times, which work in 
tandem with CHP to reduce incident related congestion, and improve traffic 
flow and safety by removing debris, assisting motorists with broken down 
vehicles, clearing collisions and other incidents. The FSP tow providers worked 
a total of 3,787 hours and provided approximately 1,497 assists in FY2021/22, 
with an average of 0.40 assists per hour. In FY2021/22, the most frequent 
types of motorist aid provided by FSP include assistance with collisions, 
mechanical quick fixes, and flat tire repairs. 

Neighborhood Projects  
 
Approximately 30% of Measure D revenues are distributed by formula to the 
cities of Capitola, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, Watsonville and County public 
works departments for transportation projects in local jurisdictions. In 
FY2021/22, the cities and County repaired several local roads, built new 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities, and provided transportation safety programs 
throughout the county. 
 

1. County of Santa Cruz: 
Roadway Resurfacing: The County used Measure D funds to design 
and resurface roads around the county. Lists and maps of Measure D-
funded projects is on the  County Public Works Measure D website.  
 

 
2. City of Capitola:   

Pavement Management Program: Capitola partnered with the County 
of Santa Cruz to complete design and award a contract for its 
FY2021/22 Road Rehabilitation Project, which was started construction 
in summer 2022. 

Measure D‐funded road resurfacing  – Santa Cruz Ave, Aptos ‐ Before & after  

17-14



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 10 
 

 
3. City of Santa Cruz: 

FY2021/22projects included:  
 Street Smarts traffic safety, safe routes to schools, and youth bike 

safety public education programs. 
 Downtown bike lockers. 
 Coastal Rail Trail Segment 7 construction and maintenance. 

 
4. City of Scotts Valley 

 Bean Creek Road pavement project from Blue Bonnet Lane to 
Redwood Way design and started construction. 

 Asphalt repairs on various roads throughout the city. 
 

5. City of Watsonville: 
 Sidewalk repairs, traffic safety outreach, traffic calming, and bicycle 

safety trainings at schools. 
 Lincoln Street bicycle and pedestrian safety facility construction near 

Watsonville High School. 
 Ongoing design for the Lee Road Trail (Harkins Slough Rd from PVHS 

Driveway to Lee Rd and Lee Rd from Harkins Slough Rd to railroad 
crossing). 

 Designs for roadway reconstruction projects on Pennsylvania Drive 
and Bridge Street.  

 Designs and grant applications for the Highway 1/Harkins Slough 
Road pedestrian bridge and bicycle and pedestrian facilities to 
schools project, which is being developed in partnership with 
Caltrans. 

 Roadway maintenance citywide. 
 

6. Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing  
Caltrans started construction of the Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing in 
February 2022. In FY2021/22, the initial construction was funded by  the 
Land Trust of Santa Cruz County. In total the project is funded by a 
combination of $5 million from Measure D anticipated to be spent in 
FY2022/23 (including an inter-program loan from Highway Corridors 
Measure D funds) and $3 million from the Land Trust, with the Caltrans 
State Highway Operation and Protection Program (SHOPP) paying for 
construction support costs. This project is under the Neighborhood 
investment category, but since it is regional in nature,  the funds flow 
through the RTC who has a cooperative agreement with Caltrans for 
implementation of the project. 

 
 
 

17-15



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 11 
 

7. Highway 9 Corridor Investments 
Building off the community-based Highway 9/San Lorenzo Valley (SLV) 
Complete Streets Corridor Plan, Caltrans and RTC used Measure D funds 
in FY2021/22 to scope and identify priority projects for implementation 
along the corridor through preparation of a Project Initiation Document 
(PID). The PID was completed in 2022 and Measure D revenues will be 
used to leverage other funds and initiate future phases of priority 
projects to get them construction-ready.  

 

17-16



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 12 
 

 
One high-priority project is improving access to and circulation past the 
SLV elementary, middle and high schools north of Felton, for all modes 
of transportation. In Spring 2022, RTC worked with SLV Unified School 
District (SLVUSD) and Caltrans to initiate the SLV Schools Access Study. 
Measure D was used to leverage grants and other funds for this work. 
With robust input from the public, as well as collaboration within the 5-
agency project management team (RTC, SLVUSD, Santa Cruz County 
public works, Caltrans, and METRO), draft circulation concepts are under 
development that, when finalized, will enable RTC and partners to seek 
funding for environmental review, final design, and construction phases. 

 
Transit/Paratransit 
 

1. Santa Cruz Metro:  
 Using Measure D to leverage state and 

federal grants, METRO used Measure D 
funding to pay for electric and CNG 
buses. The new vehicles are more 
efficient, improve fleet reliability and 
reflect METRO’s continued commitment 
to the transition to clean air buses.  

 Measure D was used to continue 
providing additional bus and paratransit service.  

 Pacific Station/METRO Transit Center redevelopment design. 
 

2. Lift Line Community Bridges:  
 Lift Line continued to use Measure D funds to expand its service hours 

and provide additional rides.   
 Measure D has also been used to finance the Lift Line operations 

facility in Watsonville.  
 

III. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements of Measure D are on an accrual basis, as the revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenditures are recognized when incurred. 
Measure D, the Fund, is divided into six subfunds – Administration and 
Implementation; Neighborhood; Highway Corridor; Transit/Paratransit; Active 
Transportation; and Rail Corridor subfunds. The Neighborhood Subfund has 
two additional subfunds to account for the San Lorenzo Valley Highway 9 
Corridor Improvements and Highway 17 Wildlife Crossing Expenditure Plan 
projects.  
 

17-17



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 13 
 

The Measure D Fund is a placeholder where all Measure D proceeds are initially 
deposited prior to the distribution to the subfunds. This is shows total proceeds 
from the California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (formerly the 
Board of Equalization) and the amounts distributed to the Administration and 
Implementation, as well as to each of the five Investment Categories. Each 
subfund earns and keeps any interest earned due to the time lag between the 
deposit to the subfunds and the payment to recipients.  
 
The revenues shown in the Statement of Changes in Net Position (page 19) 
represent actual Measure D proceeds received, any interest earned, and other 
revenues (including reimbursements from FEMA for 2017 storm damage 
project costs and funds previously paid to Administration and Implementation 
that were distributed to subfunds in FY2021/22. The expenditures are actual 
payments sent to recipients or vendors; these are not inter-fund payments. 
Funds not yet paid into the six subfunds in FY2021/22 (which had not left 
Measure D Fund) comprise the Fund Balances.     
 
 
IV. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
The consolidated Balance Sheet shows a cash balance of $34,573,151 and 
total net position of $37,758,344 on 6/30/2022. These balances are being 
reserved for construction and other major expenses anticipated in FY2022/23 
and beyond, including significant highway and trail construction projects. The 
total liability of $4,210,811 is the sum of the accounts payable from all 
subfunds; it represents the amount the subfunds not paid in FY2021/22 that 
are still owed to regional investment categories and direct  recipients of 
Measure D and outside vendors.  
 
In FY2021/22, Measure D revenues totaled $27,625,973 (page 29) and they 
earned $148,385 in interest for a total of $27,774,358. Other revenues include 
$70,677 in reimbursements from FEMA for 2017 storm damage project costs. 
There was also a transfer to the general fund of $517,696 in revenues that 
had been allocated to Administration and Implementation in the prior year and 
$10,208 unallocated funds; these funds were distributed to the investment 
categories (six subfunds) by formula in FY2021/22. Total expenditures by the 
RTC, including payments made to direct recipients, amounted to $21,732,487 
over the same 12 months through 6/30/2022. The RTC’s Measure D fund 
balance, except for $249, is restricted to related subfunds and is not available 
for distribution to direct recipients. The $249 balance is the cumulative 
interest earned by Measure D and will be credited to the cash balance of the 
respective program.  
 

17-18



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 14 
 

Subfunds Financial Statements 
The monthly receipts from California Department of Tax and Fee 
Administration are accounted for in Measure D – the fund. These receipts were 
all (100%) distributed to the Administration & Implementation subfund and 
the Five Investment Category subfunds according to the pre-determined 
allocation formula prescribed in the Measure D Ordinance. The revenues equal 
expenditures in Measure D – the fund; and any fund balance is the cumulative 
interest earned by the cash receipts prior to distribution. This fund balance is 
unrestricted and is available for distribution to other subfunds. Below is the 
FY2021/22 receipts distribution schedule and presentation of the distribution 
with and without the Administration & Implementation subfund as part of the 
percent split: 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Measure D Distribution  
FY2021/22 Ending 6/30/2022 

      

 
With Administration 
& Implementation  

Without 
Administration & 
Implementation 

Administration Salaries 
&    Benefits 276,260  1%      
Implementation & 
Overhead 488,753 2%      

  Neighborhood 8,058,288 29%  8,058,288 30% 
  Highway Corridor 6,715,240 24%  6,715,240 25% 
  Transit/Para-Transit 5,372,192 19%  5,372,192 20% 
  Active 
Transportation 4,566,363 17%  4,566,363 17% 
  Rail Corridor 2,148,877 8%  2,148,877 8% 
TOTAL 27,625,973 100%  26,860,962 100% 

17-19



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 15 
 

Graph 1 – Measure D Distribution Without Administration & 
Implementation 

 

 
 
The total receipts of $27,625,973 were 4.6% above projection in each 
investment subfund, except Administration & Implementation received 5.2% 
more than budgeted as shown in the table below: 

 
Measure D Receipts Compared to Budget 

FY2021/22 Ending 6/30/2022 

  Receipts Budget 
Over 

Budget* (%) 
  Administration & 

Implementation 765,013 727,064 37,949 5.2% 

  Neighborhood 8,058,288  7,704,226 354,062  4.6% 

  Highway Corridor 6,715,240 6,420,189       295,051         4.6% 

  Transit/Para-Transit 5,372,192 5,136,151 236,041  4.6% 

  Active Transportation 4,566,363 4,365,728 200,635 4.6% 

  Rail Corridor 2,148,877 2,054,460 94,417 4.6% 

TOTAL  27,625,973  26,407,818 1,218,155  4.6% 
* Difference of Receipts (actual revenues received from state) over what was budgeted 

(forecasted prior to end of fiscal year).  
 

Payments to Neighborhood and Transit/Para-transit recipients are made 
monthly, based on actual, rather than budgeted, revenues. Disbursements to 
regional projects (Highway Corridor; Rail/Trail; and Rail Corridor) were based 
on presentation of invoices or other evidentiary cost documentation. Highway 
9/SLV investments and Highway 17 Wildlife Overcrossing are in the 
Neighborhood subfund, but they are regional projects and funds are managed 

Neigborhood
30%

Highway 
Corridor
25%

Transit/Para‐
Transit
20%

Active 
Transportation

17%

Rail Corridor
8%

17-20



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 16 
 

by the RTC. For Highway 9, $214,295 was expended in FY2021/22; $438 was 
expended in FY2021/22 for the Highway 17 project. 
 
Absent, Highway 9 and Highway 17, Measured D receipts would equal 
expenditures in the Neighborhood subfund. The equality of receipts and 
expenditures also exists in Transit/Para-transit subfund because these are 
pass-through funds and monthly payments are automatic, provided that the 
recipients are in compliance with Measure D requirements. The 
Supplementary Information Section presents the detailed monthly distribution 
of Measure D (page 29). 
 
Highway 9; Highway Corridor; Active Transportation (Coastal Rail Tail - 
MBSST); and Rail all show high fund balances because funds are needed for 
construction work scheduled to begin in  future years. Highway 17 balances, 
plus inter-program loan from Highway Corridor is expected to be spent in 
FY2022/23. The following is a condensed revenues, expenditures, and change 
in fund balance table:     
 

 
 
 
V. FINANCIAL ISSUES AND CONCERNS 

 
Delivering large projects: While pay-as-you-go financing is the preferred 
method for delivery of projects, the RTC is working to accelerate delivery of 
most projects identified in the Measure D Expenditure Plan and 5-Year 
Programs of Projects. Measure D revenues are intended to be used to leverage 
other grants. The RTC, Caltrans and local agencies have been using Measure 

Unallocated Admin Neighborhood SR9 SLV Hwy 17 Wild Highway Transit Active Rail TOTAL
Transportation

REVENUES
Tax Revenues -$                 765,013$   7,516,621$        361,111$        180,556$         6,715,240$      5,372,192$    4,566,363$          2,148,877$   27,625,973$    
  Interest 390 3,721 572 6,159 2,063 81,242 268 46,252 7,718 148,385 
  Transfer of allocation 500 158,221 131,851 105,481 89,659 42,192 527,904 
  Other Revenues 70,677 70,677 
TOTAL REVENUES 390 769,234 7,675,414 367,270 182,619 6,928,333 5,477,941 4,702,274 2,269,464 28,372,939 

EXPENDITURES
  Admin/Impl 10,208 1,151,988 1,162,196 
  Neighborhood 7,678,754 7,678,754 
  SLV/SR9 214,296 214,296 
  Highway 17 Wildlife Overcrossing 438 438 
  Highway Corr 4,077,583 4,077,583 
  Transit/Para Transit 5,478,511 5,478,511 
  Active Transp 3,136,433 3,136,433 
  Rail Corridor 512,180 512,180 
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 10,208 1,151,988 7,678,754 214,296 438 4,077,583 5,478,511 3,136,433 512,180 22,260,391 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES  (9,818)  (382,754)  (3,340) 152,974 182,181 2,850,750  (570) 1,565,841 1,757,284 6,112,548 

  Beginning Net Position 10,067 893,204 3,989 1,299,285 722,486 17,611,518 570 9,067,513 2,037,164 31,645,796 
ENDING NET POSITION 249$             510,450$   649$                 1,452,259$      904,667$         20,462,268$    -$                 10,633,354$        3,794,448$   37,758,344$    

MEASURE D
COMBINED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

FY 2020-2021
PERIOD ENDING 6-30-2020

Condensed Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance Statements

17-21



 
RTC‐ FY2021/22 Measure D Management Discussion & Analysis  Page 17 
 

D funds to accelerate pre-construction work and make projects more 
competitive to leverage new state and federal transportation funding grants, 
including those available in part because of state Senate Bill (SB1) (2017), a 
State budget surplus, and the Federal Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act 
(IIJA). In order to accelerate delivery of some larger projects, RTC will 
continue to evaluate a range of financing options, including inter-program 
loans such as the one between the Highway Subcategory and Highway 17 
Wildlife Crossing project. In May 2022, in order to leverage grants and 
accelerate delivery, the RTC adopted Active Transportation: Trail and Highway 
Corridors five-year plans that exceed projected revenues on a cash-flow-basis 
and confirmed its commitment to secure future financing if needed. Financing 
is allowed by the Ordinance and consistent with the Measure D Strategic 
Implementation Plan policies. 

VI. COMPLIANCE WITH MEASURE D ORDINANCE  
 
In FY2021/22, the RTC and recipient agencies demonstrated that they 
implemented Measure D in accordance with the Measure D Ordinance and 
Expenditure Plan, as well as agreements and guidelines established by the 
RTC for recipient agencies. Recipients provided expenditure reports and 
audited financials showing how Measure D funds were spent, and provided 
information to demonstrate compliance with the Ordinance, including 
requirements related to Maintenance of Effort and public outreach.  

 
 
 
 

17-22



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2022

ASSETS

Cash in county treasury $ 34,573,151      
Deposits held by others 256,200           
Accounts receivable 7,108,179        
Prepaids 31,625             

Total assets 41,969,155

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 4,210,811        

Total liabilities 4,210,811        

NET POSITION

Restricted for distribution 37,758,095
Unrestricted 249

Total net position $ 37,758,344

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
18

17-23



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues:
State Board of Equalization - sales tax apportionment $ 27,625,973
Interest 148,385
Other 70,677

Total revenues 27,845,035

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 944,863
Services and supplies 428,950
Consultant services 73,304
Claimants:

City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 372,501
City of Watsonville 1,336,421
County of Santa Cruz 4,003,018
Santa Cruz County Regional

Transportation Commission 6,978,104
Community Bridges 1,095,702
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 4,382,809

Total expenses 21,732,487

Change in net position 6,112,548

Net position, beginning of fiscal year 31,645,796

Net position, end of fiscal year $ 37,758,344

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
19

17-24



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
MEASURE D FUND  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                                                                                              

 
 
 

20 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
 The Measure D Fund (the Fund) was established as an expendable trust fund of Santa Cruz County Regional 

Transportation Commission (the Commission).  The purpose of the trust fund is to accumulate revenues transmitted to 
the Commission by the State of California derived from a ½ cent of the general sales tax collected within Santa Cruz 
County.   

 
 The Commission is the Regional Transportation Planning Agency which is responsible for apportionments from the 

Measure D Fund.    
 
 The financial statements present only the activity of the Measure D Fund, and are not intended to present the financial 

position and changes in financial position of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.   Revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred.  Interest income is allocated monthly to the fund by the Treasurer of 
Santa Cruz County.   
 

C. Cash and County Treasury 
 

The Measure D Fund holds its cash in the County of Santa Cruz Treasury.  The County maintains a cash and investment 
pool, and allocates interest to the various funds based upon the average daily cash balances.  Information regarding 
categorization of investments can be found in the County of Santa Cruz's basic financial statements.   
 

D. Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. 
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

 
 
NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be returned to it.  The Fund does not 
have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk in addition to the California Government Code collateral requirements.  Cash 
balances held in banks are insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation.  All deposits held by financial 
institutions are fully insured or collateralized with securities, held by the pledging financial institutions' trust departments in the 
Fund’s name.  
 
Investments at June 30, 2022, consist of the following: 
 
 Pooled Investment Funds: 
  Cash in county treasury $ 34,573,151  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17-25



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
MEASURE D FUND  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2022                                                                                                                                              

 
 
 

21 

 
NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
The Fund categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 
3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  The Fund’s investments are in the Santa Cruz County Investment Pool which is an 
external investment pool and is valued under Level 2.  
 
Cash in County Treasury 
 
The fund maintains a portion of its cash in the Santa Cruz County Treasury, an external investment pool.  The County pools these 
funds with those of other governmental entities in the county and invests the cash.  These pooled funds are carried at fair value.  
Interest is earned based on average daily balance and is deposited quarterly into participating funds.  Any investment gains and 
losses are proportionately shared by all funds in the pool.  The County is restricted by the California Government Code to invest 
in obligations issued by the United States Treasury; obligations, participations, or other instruments of or issued by a federal agency 
or a United States government sponsored enterprise; obligations of state and local agencies of this State; bankers’ acceptances; 
commercial paper; negotiable certificates of deposit; repurchase agreements; medium-term corporate notes; as well as other 
investments established by the California Government Code.  The County’s report discloses the required information in accordance 
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Nos. 3 and 40.  Pooled investments are not required to be categorized 
by risk category. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Fund does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair 
value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
State law limits investments in commercial paper, corporate bonds, and mutual bond funds to the top two ratings issued by 
nationally recognized statistical rating organizations.  The Fund has no investment policy that would further limit its investment 
choices.  Santa Cruz County Treasury pooled investment funds are unrated.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

17-26



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

17-27



 

 

 
           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17-28



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 
MEASURE D COMPLIANCE 

 
 
Citizen Oversight Committee 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
Santa Cruz, California 

Report on Compliance for Measure D 

Opinion on Compliance for Measure D 

We have audited the Measure D Fund of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s (the Commission) 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in Ordinance No. 2016-01 (Measure D), applicable for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2022.  

In our opinion, the funds allocated to and received by Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission pursuant to Measure 
D, complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that are applicable to the statutory 
requirements of Measure D of Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion on Measure D 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States; and Ordinance No. 2016-01. Our responsibilities under those standards and Ordinance No. 2016-01 are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.  

We are required to be independent of the Measure D Fund of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for Measure D. 
Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Measure D Fund of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions 
of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Measure D.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, Government Auditing Standards, and Ordinance No. 2016-01 will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Measure D Fund of 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the requirements of Measure D as a whole.  

 
23 

 
2400 Professional Parkway, Suite 205  Santa Maria, CA 93455   Tel 805.925.2579 Fax 805.925.2147   mlhcpas.com 

 
BEVERLY HILLS · CULVER CITY · SANTA MARIA 

17-29



 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and 
Ordinance No. 2016-01, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the Measure D Fund of Santa Cruz Regional Transportation Commission’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with 
Ordinance No 2016-01, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Measure D Fund of 
Santa Cruz Regional Transportation Commission’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed.  

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regard, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified 
during the audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of Measure D on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that 
is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of Compliance section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might 
be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit 
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses as defined 
above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Purpose of this Report 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Citizen Oversight Committee, management of the Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission and for filing with the appropriate regulatory agencies and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.  

 

 
Santa Maria, California 
March 14, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24 17-30



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

17-31



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION BY ALLOCATION
June 30, 2022

ASSETS
  

Cash and investments $ 249 $ 365,435 $ 2,704,177 $ 18,503,389
Deposits held by others
Accounts receivable 4,880,608 1,041,981
Prepaids 31,625
Due from other sub funds 145,727 1,420,464 1,183,720

Total assets 4,880,857 511,162 4,124,641 20,760,715

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 712 1,767,066 298,447
Due to other sub funds 4,880,608

Total liabilities 4,880,608  712 1,767,066 298,447

NET POSITION

Restricted for distribution 510,450 2,357,575 20,462,268
Unrestricted 249

Total net position $ 249 $ 510,450 $ 2,357,575 $ 20,462,268

26

Unallocated Admin Neighborhood Corridor
Highway

17-32



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION BY ALLOCATION (Continued)
June 30, 2022

ASSETS
   

Cash and investments $ 190,638 $ 10,486,329 $ 2,322,934 $ 34,573,151
Deposits held by others 256,200 256,200
Accounts receivable 1,185,590 7,108,179
Prepaids 31,625
Due from other sub funds 946,977 804,930 378,790 4,880,608

Total assets 1,137,615 11,547,459 3,887,314 46,849,763

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,137,615 914,105 92,866 4,210,811
Due to other sub funds 4,880,608

Total liabilities 1,137,615 914,105 92,866 9,091,419

NET POSITION

Restricted for distribution 10,633,354 3,794,448 37,758,095
Unrestricted 249

Total net position $ -                  $ 10,633,354 $ 3,794,448 $ 37,758,344

Total
Measure D

27

Transit Transportation Rail Corridor
Active 

17-33



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION BY ALLOCATION
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues:
State Board of Equalization - sales tax $ -                   $ 765,013 $ 8,058,288 $ 6,715,240
Interest 390 3,721 8,794 81,242
Other
Transfer of allocation 500 158,221 131,851
   
 Total revenues 390 769,234 8,225,303 6,928,333

  
Expenses:

Salaries and benefits 227,726 65,089 487,795
Services and supplies 4,539 98,786
Consultant services 22,446 50,858
Transfer of allocation 10,208 517,696
Claimants:

City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 372,501
City of Watsonville 1,186,421
County of Santa Cruz 4,003,018
Santa Cruz County Regional

Transportation Commission 379,581 3,589,788
Community Bridges
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District

 Total expenses 10,208 1,151,988 7,893,488 4,077,583
 
 Change in net position  (9,818) (382,754) 331,815  2,850,750

Net position - beginning of fiscal year 10,067 893,204 2,025,760 17,611,518

Net position - end of fiscal year $ 249 $ 510,450 $ 2,357,575 $ 20,462,268

28

Unallocated Admin Neighborhood Corridor
Highway

17-34



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION BY ALLOCATION (Continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Revenues:
State Board of Equalization - sales tax $ 5,372,192 $ 4,566,363 $ 2,148,877 $ 27,625,973
Interest 268 46,252 7,718 148,385
Other 70,677 70,677
Transfer of allocation 105,481 89,659 42,192 527,904
   
 Total revenues 5,477,941 4,702,274 2,269,464  28,372,939

  
Expenses:

Salaries and benefits 164,253 944,863
Services and supplies 192,417 133,208 428,950
Consultant services 73,304
Transfer of allocation 527,904
Claimants:

City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 372,501
City of Watsonville 150,000 1,336,421
County of Santa Cruz 4,003,018
Santa Cruz County Regional

Transportation Commission 2,794,016 214,719 6,978,104
Community Bridges 1,095,702 1,095,702
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 4,382,809 4,382,809

 Total expenses 5,478,511 3,136,433 512,180 22,260,391
 
 Change in net position  (570)  1,565,841  1,757,284 6,112,548

Net position - beginning of fiscal year 570 9,067,513 2,037,164 31,645,796

Net position - end of fiscal year $ -                  $ 10,633,354 $ 3,794,448 $ 37,758,344

29

Measure D
TotalActive 

Transit Transportation Rail Corridor

17-35



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
SUMMARY OF OUTGO BY PROJECT
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits $ -                   $ 227,726     $ -                      $ 487,795       
Services and supplies 4,539         
Consultant services 22,446       
Transfer of allocation 10,208 517,696     
City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 372,501
City of Watsonville 1,186,421
County of Santa Cruz 4,003,018
Commission oversight and coordination 379,581
SR9 SLV 214,295
Highway 17 wildlife overcrossing 438
Corridor encroachment & maintenance
North Coast- Segment 5
Highway 1 3,355,379
Cruz 511 84,299
FSP 144,680
Community Bridges
MBSST- Segment 18
MBSST- City of Watsonville
Coastal Rail Trail - Segment 7,8,9
Coastal Rail Trail - Segment 10,11
Capitola Trestle
Bridge repairs and maintenance
Rail preservation
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District
SAFE 5,430

 Total expenses $ 10,208         $ 1,151,988  $ 7,893,488       $ 4,077,583    

 

Admin Neighborhood

30

Unallocated Corridor
Highway

17-36



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
SUMMARY OF OUTGO BY PROJECT (Continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits $ -                   $ -                    $ 164,253        $ 879,774         
Services and supplies 192,417 133,208 330,164
Consultant services 22,446
Transfer of allocation 527,904
City of Capitola 388,072
City of Santa Cruz 1,728,743
City of Scotts Valley 372,501
City of Watsonville 1,186,421
County of Santa Cruz 4,003,018
Commission oversight and coordination 934,987 1,314,568
SR9 SLV 214,295
Highway 17 wildlife overcrossing 438
Corridor encroachment & maintenance 467,872 467,872
North Coast- Segment 5 226,758 226,758
Highway 1 3,355,379
Cruz 511 84,299
FSP 144,680
Community Bridges 1,095,702 1,095,702
MBSST- Segment 18 1,500 1,500
MBSST- City of Watsonville 150,000 150,000
Coastal Rail Trail - Segment 7,8,9 23,378 23,378
Coastal Rail Trail - Segment 10,11 1,110,265 1,110,265
Capitola Trestle 29,256 29,256
Bridge repairs and maintenance 70,404 70,404
Rail preservation 144,315 144,315
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 4,382,809 4,382,809
SAFE 5,430

 Total expenses $ 5,478,511    $ 3,136,433     $ 512,180        $ 22,260,391    

 

Transportation Rail Corridor

31

Measure DTransit
TotalActive 

17-37



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
SUMMARY OF REVENUE ALLOCATION BY MONTH - CASH BASIS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

July August September October November December January

Revenues
Gross 2,649,497$  2,239,835$  2,210,354$  2,644,850$  2,146,061$  2,139,182$  2,060,128$  
Board of Equalization Fees (53,710) (53,710)

Net Sales Tax 2,649,497 2,186,125 2,210,354 2,644,850 2,092,351 2,139,182 2,060,128

Administration & Implementation
Admin Salaries & Benefits 26,495 21,861 22,104          26,449 20,924 21,392 20,601
Overhead Admin 24,110 19,894 20,114          24,068 26,154 26,740 25,752
Implementation & Oversight 13,056 6,836 6,836            6,836 13,056 6,836 6,836
Services & Supplies 6,667 4,944 4,944 4,944 4,945 4,944 4,944

Subtotal 70,328 53,535 53,998 62,297 65,079 59,912 58,133

Amount to Distribute to Investment
Categories 2,579,169$  2,132,590$  2,156,356$  2,582,553$  2,027,272$  2,079,270$  2,001,995$  

Investment Categories

Neighborhood
SLV SR9 27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       27,777$       27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       
HWY 17 Wildlife 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889
City of Capitola 37,247 30,430 30,793 37,298 28,823 29,617 28,437
City of Santa Cruz 165,033 134,832 136,439 165,262 127,709 131,226 126,000
City of Scotts Valley 35,598 29,084 29,430 35,648 27,547 28,306 27,179
City of Watsonville 112,798 92,156 93,255 112,955 87,288 89,691 86,119
County of Santa Cruz 381,408 311,609 315,323 381,937 295,148 303,274 291,196

Total Neighborhood 773,751 639,778 646,907 774,766 608,182 623,781 600,598

Highway Corridors
Highway Corridors 644,792 533,147 539,089 645,638 506,818 519,818 500,499

Transit/Paratransit
Santa Cruz Metro 412,667 341,214 345,017 413,209 324,364 332,683 320,319
Community Bridges 103,167 85,304 86,254 103,302 81,090 83,170 80,080

Total Transit/Paratransit 515,834 426,518 431,271 516,511 405,454 415,853 400,399

Active Transportation
Active Transportation 438,459 362,540 366,581 439,034 344,636 353,476 340,339

Rail Corridor
Rail Corridor 206,333 170,607 172,508 206,604 162,182 166,342 160,160

Amount Distributed to Investment
Categories 2,579,169$  2,132,590$  2,156,356$  2,582,553$  2,027,272$  2,079,270$  2,001,995$  

32

17-38



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
SUMMARY OF REVENUE ALLOCATION BY MONTH - CASH BASIS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

February March April May June Total

Revenues
Gross 3,002,944$  1,951,040$  2,016,389$  2,567,051$  2,168,568$  27,795,899$            
Board of Equalization Fees (53,710) (53,780) (214,910)

Net Sales Tax 2,949,234 1,951,040 2,016,389 2,513,271 2,168,568 27,580,989

Administration & Implementation
Admin Salaries & Benefits 29,492 19,510          20,164 25,133 21,686 275,811
Overhead Admin 36,866 24,389          25,205 31,416 27,107 311,815
Implementation & Oversight 6,836 6,836 6,836 6,836 6,836 94,472
Services & Supplies 4,944 4,944 4,944 4,944 4,944 61,052

Subtotal 78,138 55,679 57,149 68,329 60,573 743,150

Amount to Distribute to Investment
Categories 2,871,096$  1,895,361$  1,959,240$  2,444,942$  2,107,995$  26,837,839$            

Investment Categories

Neighborhood
SLV SR9 27,777$       27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       27,777$       333,333$                 
HWY 17 Wildlife 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,888 166,667
City of Capitola 41,702 26,810 27,785 35,198 30,055 384,195
City of Santa Cruz 184,776 118,788 123,108 155,956 133,168 1,702,297
City of Scotts Valley 39,857 25,623 26,555 33,640 28,725 367,192
City of Watsonville 126,292 81,190 84,143 106,594 91,020 1,163,501
County of Santa Cruz 427,036 274,531 284,514 360,428 307,765 3,934,169

Total Neighborhood 861,329 568,609 587,772 733,483 632,398 8,051,354

Highway Corridors
Highway Corridors 717,774 473,840 489,810 611,236 526,999 6,709,460

Transit/Paratransit
Santa Cruz Metro 459,375 303,258 313,478 391,191 337,279 4,294,054
Community Bridges 114,844 75,814 78,370 97,797 84,320 1,073,512

Total Transit/Paratransit 574,219 379,072 391,848 488,988 421,599 5,367,566

Active Transportation
Active Transportation 488,086 322,211 333,071 415,640 358,359 4,562,432

Rail Corridor
Rail Corridor 229,688 151,629 156,739 195,595 168,640 2,147,027

Amount Distributed to Investment
Categories 2,871,096$  1,895,361$  1,959,240$  2,444,942$  2,107,995$  26,837,839$            

33

17-39



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
PRIOR YEAR SUMMARY OF REVENUE ALLOCATION BY MONTH - CASH BASIS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

July August September October November December January

Revenues
Gross 2,164,570$  1,790,461$  2,015,015$  2,493,858$  1,578,595$  1,923,598$  1,992,435$  
Board of Equalization Fees (46,270) (46,270)

Net Sales Tax 2,164,570 1,744,191 2,015,015 2,493,858 1,532,325 1,923,598 1,992,435

Administration & Implementation
Admin Salaries & Benefits 21,645 17,441 20,151          24,940 15,323 19,235 19,924
Overhead Admin 19,914 16,047 18,538          22,943 14,097 17,697 18,330
Implementation & Oversight 9,856 9,856 9,856            9,856 9,856 9,856 9,856
Services & Supplies 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

Subtotal 66,415 58,344 63,545 72,739 54,276 61,788 63,110

Amount to Distribute to Investment
Categories 2,098,155$  1,685,847$  1,951,470$  2,421,119$  1,478,049$  1,861,810$  1,929,325$  

Investment Categories

Neighborhood
SLV SR9 27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       27,777$       27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       
HWY 17 Wildlife 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889
City of Capitola 31,123 24,573 28,792 36,253 21,272 27,368 28,441
City of Santa Cruz 133,657 105,530 123,650 155,689 91,355 117,534 122,140
City of Scotts Valley 29,411 23,222 27,209 34,259 20,103 25,863 26,877
City of Watsonville 90,404 71,380 83,636 105,306 61,791 79,499 82,614
County of Santa Cruz 303,185 239,382 280,486 353,162 207,227 266,612 277,059

Total Neighborhood 629,447 505,754 585,440 726,335 443,415 558,543 578,798

Highway Corridors
Highway Corridors 524,539 421,462 487,868 605,280 369,512 465,452 482,331

Transit/Paratransit
Santa Cruz Metro 335,705 269,735 312,235 387,379 236,488 297,890 308,692
Community Bridges 83,926 67,434 78,059 96,845 59,122 74,472 77,173

Total Transit/Paratransit 419,631 337,169 390,294 484,224 295,610 372,362 385,865

Active Transportation
Active Transportation 356,686 286,594 331,750 411,590 251,268 316,508 327,985

Rail Corridor
Rail Corridor 167,852 134,868 156,118 193,690 118,244 148,945 154,346

Amount Distributed to Investment
Categories 2,098,155$  1,685,847$  1,951,470$  2,421,119$  1,478,049$  1,861,810$  1,929,325$  

34

17-40



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
MEASURE D FUND
PRIOR YEAR SUMMARY OF REVENUE ALLOCATION BY MONTH - CASH BASIS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

February March April May June Total

Revenues
Gross 2,198,477$  1,703,782$  1,955,621$  2,076,751$  2,031,267$  23,924,430$            
Board of Equalization Fees (46,270) (37,220) (176,030)

Net Sales Tax 2,152,207 1,703,782 1,955,621 2,039,531 2,031,267 23,748,400

Administration & Implementation
Admin Salaries & Benefits 21,523 17,037          19,556 20,394 20,314 237,483
Overhead Admin 19,800 15,675          17,992 18,764 18,688 218,485
Implementation & Oversight 9,856 9,856 9,856 9,856 9,855 118,271
Services & Supplies 105,000

Subtotal 51,179 42,568 47,404 49,014 48,857 679,239

Amount to Distribute to Investment
Categories 2,101,028$  1,661,214$  1,908,217$  1,990,517$  1,982,410$  23,069,161$            

Investment Categories

Neighborhood
SLV SR9 27,777$       27,778$       27,778$       27,778$       27,777$       333,333$                 
HWY 17 Wildlife 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,889 13,888 166,667
City of Capitola 31,168 24,182 28,105 29,413 29,284 339,974
City of Santa Cruz 133,853 103,850 120,700 126,314 125,761 1,460,033
City of Scotts Valley 29,454 22,852 26,560 27,795 27,674 321,279
City of Watsonville 90,537 70,243 81,640 85,438 85,064 987,552
County of Santa Cruz 303,630 235,571 273,793 286,528 285,274 3,311,909

Total Neighborhood 630,308 498,365 572,465 597,155 594,722 6,920,747

Highway Corridors
Highway Corridors 525,257 415,303 477,054 497,629 495,603 5,767,290

Transit/Paratransit
Santa Cruz Metro 336,165 265,794 305,315 318,483 317,186 3,691,067
Community Bridges 84,041 66,449 76,329 79,621 79,296 922,767

Total Transit/Paratransit 420,206 332,243 381,644 398,104 396,482 4,613,834

Active Transportation
Active Transportation 357,175 282,406 324,397 338,388 337,010 3,921,757

Rail Corridor
Rail Corridor 168,082 132,897 152,657 159,241 158,593 1,845,533

Amount Distributed to Investment
Categories 2,101,028$  1,661,214$  1,908,217$  1,990,517$  1,982,410$  23,069,161$            

35

17-41



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO:  Regional Transportation Commission 

FROM: Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner 

RE: Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) Member 
Appointment 

____________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) and staff 
recommend that the Regional Transportation Commission approve the appointment of 
Christina Witt to the E&D TAC to fill the member position representing Social Services 
Provider - Seniors.  
____________________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND 

The Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) advises the 
Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) and other transportation agencies on the 
network of specialized transportation services for seniors and people with disabilities in 
Santa Cruz County. The E&D TAC serves as the local Social Services Transportation 
Advisory Council (SSTAC), a state-required entity that seeks input — from transit-
dependent and transit disadvantaged persons, including seniors, people with 
disabilities, low-income persons, and youth — regarding transit needs in Santa Cruz 
County.  

Seats on the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) 
correspond to City and Supervisorial District seats on the Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC), service providers, transit users, and agency representatives. 

DISCUSSION 

Based on the public outreach, interest was expressed by one individual resulting in an 
application received for the Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee. In an 
effort to accommodate all interested applicants, staff recommends the appointment as 
included in the attached roster (Attachment 1). The applicant Christina Witt’s 
application is included in Attachment 2. 

Staff is working to recruit applicants to fill vacancies and welcomes recommendations from 
Commissioners. The application and more information about the Committee are available 
on the RTC webpage.  

The Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) and staff 
recommend that the Regional Transportation Commission approve the 
appointment to fill positions on the E&D TAC as shown in Attachment 1.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

18-1



   

 
None. 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The Elderly & Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) functions best when 
all committee membership and alternate positions are filled. One individual expressed 
interest in joining the E&D TAC. Staff recommends that the member position be filled as 
shown (see Attachment 1 for current roster).  
 
Attachment 1: April 2023 E&D TAC Roster 
Attachment 2: Member Applications Form  
 

18-2



Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
ELDERLY & DISABLED TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE (E&D TAC) 

SOCIAL SERVICES TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COUNCIL (SSTAC) 

Membership Roster 
April 2023 

(Membership Expiration Date) 

Members Representing Alternate 

Clay Kempf (2025) Social Services Provider - Seniors Patty Talbot (2025) 

Alicia Morales (2025) Social Services Provider - Seniors 
(County) vacant 

Alex Weske (2025) Social Service Provider - Disabled vacant 

Christina Witt (Pending) Social Service Provider - Disabled 
(County) vacant 

Tara Ireland (2024) Social Service Provider - Persons of 
Limited Means vacant 

Lisa Berkowitz (2025) CTSA (Community Bridges) vacant 

Jesus Bojorquez (2025) CTSA (Lift Line) Nadia Noriega (2025) 

Daniel Zaragoza (2025) SCMTD (Metro) vacant 

Michael Pisano (2026) Potential Transit User (60+) vacant 

Caroline Lamb (2026) Potential Transit User (Disabled) Vacant 

Supervisorial District Representatives 
Members Representing Alternate 

Janet Edwards, Vice Chair 1st District (Koenig) Phil Kipnis 

Paul Elerick 2nd District (Friend) vacant 

Veronica Elsea, Chair 3rd District (Cummings) vacant 

Martha Rubbo 4th District (Hernandez) Patricia Fohrman 

Ed Hutton 5th District (McPherson) Vacant 

Staff: Amanda Marino, Regional Transportation Commission 

Attachment 1

18-3



Attachment 2

18-4



18-5



18-6



Three Month Meeting Schedule   RTC 05/04/2023 
www.sccrtc.org/meetings/  May 2023- July 2023 
 
Note: Please check website for most up-to-date information. All meetings are 
subject to cancellation when there are no action items to be considered.  

 
 

 
 Capitola – 420 Capitola Ave., Capitola, CA 
 RTC Office – 1101 Pacific Ave, Suite 250, Santa Cruz, CA 
 County BOS – 701 Ocean St., 5th Floor, Room 525, Santa Cruz, CA 

 

Date Day Meeting Body Time Place 

05/04/23 Thu Regional Transportation Commission 9:00am Capitola 

05/08/23 Mon Bicycle Advisory Committee 6:00pm RTC Office 

05/18/23 Thu Interagency Technical Advisory Cmte 1:30pm RTC Office 

06/01/23 Thu Regional Transportation Commission 9:00am County BOS 

06/08/23 Thu Budget & Admin/Personnel Cmte 1:30pm RTC Office 

06/12/23 Mon Bicycle Advisory Committee 6:00pm RTC Office 

06/13/23 Tue Elderly & Disabled TAC 1:30pm RTC Office 

06/15/23 Thu Interagency Technical Advisory Cmte 1:30pm RTC Office 

  No Meetings in July   

18-1

file://RTCSERV2/Shared/RTC/TC2023/04/Consent/www.sccrtc.org/meetings/


Date Letter 
Rec'd/Sent Type Incoming/ 

Outgoing Response First Last Organization First Last Organization Subject

03/23/23 Letter Incoming n/a Guy Preston SCCRTC David Gillings
Cal Office of 
Emergency 
Services

Cal OES has approved SCCRTC's project 
application for the California Disaster Assistance 

Act program.

03/29/23 Letter Incoming n/a Guy Preston SCCRTC Richard Rosales Caltrans Update of the State Highway Operation and 
Protection Program (SHOPP) for District 5

04/03/23 Email Incoming pending Shannon Munz SCCRTC Ruth Meza
City of Oakland, 
Major Projects 

Division

Mega Application for Watsonville-Santa Cruz 
Multimodal Corridor

04/01/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 RTC SCCRTC Greg Rauch Resident Build the Capitola Trestle Trail Now!

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Ellen Martinez Resident Stand up against Roaring Camp and Progressive 

Rail

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Joni & Dan Steele Resident Yes on Interim Trail!!

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Tom Halderman Resident Capitola trestle

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Tom Livingston Resident Build the trestle

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Steven Henderson Resident In support of building the Capitola Trestle Trail 

NOW

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Mitch Bramlett Resident Please move forward with the interim trail

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Tutti Hacking Resident Re: Please build the Capitola Trestle Trail Now

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Jaakko Mella Resident Capitola trestle

FromTO

Correspondence Log (03/28/2023-04/24/2023) RTC 05/04/2023

Link to Full Comments 

20-1

https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Full-Comments-3.28.2023-4.24.2023.pdf


Date Letter 
Rec'd/Sent Type Incoming/ 

Outgoing Response First Last Organization First Last Organization Subject

FromTO

03/31/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.3.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now Capitola trestle trail support needed

03/30/23 Email Incoming S.Christensen
3.30.2023 Sarah Christensen SCCRTC Carey Pico Resident Comment on item 11 - Item is missing a needed 

railroad railing repair

3/9/2023 
(carry-over) Email Incoming S.Munz

3.30.2023 Shannon Munz SCCRTC Roger Nolan Resident Questions regarding the current Santa Cruz Rail 
plans

3/16/2023 
(carry-over) Email Incoming B.Zamora

3.28.2023 Brian Zamora SCCRTC Juan Barboza
Nor Cal 

Carpenters 
Union

Request for Granite Rock Company bid for the 
bridge handrail, walkway, and post repair project

2/23/2023 
(carry-over) Email Incoming RTC Staff 

4.4.2023 Grace Blakeslee SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now Question re: schedule of elements of North Coast 
Trail Project

04/04/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.4.2023 RTC SCCRTC Jack Brown Resident Please implement the interim trail

04/04/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.5.2023 RTC SCCRTC Holly Payne County  Visitor 

Center Bulk bike map request

04/06/23 Phone/Voi
cemail Incomng n/a Shannon Munz SCCRTC Ed Dickie Resident Comments re: service trucks contributing to 

Highway 1 traffic & collecting traffic data

04/06/23 Contact us 
form Incoming S.Munz

4.13.2023 Shannon Munz SCCRTC Jared Wiegand Resident
I was curious if there were any issues preventing 
the return of freight service on the entirety of the 

Santa Cruz Branch Line.

04/05/23 Email Incoming n/a Amanda 
Marino Amy Naranjo SCCRTC Michael Pisano Resident

(received late) comments on item 23 of 4/6/2023 
RTC agenda - support e-bike rebates for all County 

residents I

04/05/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.11.2023 RTC SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now Video of RTC guildance to opening Capitola Trestle 

Trail

04/06/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.11.2023 RTC SCCRTC Frank Wessels Resident Comments re: Capitola trestle  & walking/biking 

trail

04/09/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.11.2023 RTC SCCRTC Michael Vickers Resident Comments re: Capitola trestle  & walking/biking 

trail

04/11/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.11.2023 RTC SCCRTC Chris Amsden Resident Comments re: Capitola trestle  & walking/biking 

trail

04/06/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.7.2023 RTC SCCRTC Rita Law Broker Comments on bus routes & occupancy

Correspondence Log (03/28/2023-04/24/2023) RTC 05/04/2023

20-2



Date Letter 
Rec'd/Sent Type Incoming/ 

Outgoing Response First Last Organization First Last Organization Subject

FromTO

04/07/23 Email Incoming
A.Naranjo
4.7.2023
(phone)

Amy Naranjo SCCRTC Chris Mah Caltrans Request for copies of Safe On 17 Annual Reports 
older than 2009

04/11/23 Email Incoming L.Mendez
(phone) Luis Mendez SCCRTC Ray Pereyra Resident Goat Damage to Garden

04/11/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.12.2023 Yesenia Parra SCCRTC Tegan Seward Resident Internship Opportunities

04/12/23 Letter Incoming n/a Rachel Moriconi SCCRTC Maria Lefevre US Dept of 
Transportation

SCCRTC has been selected as a recipient of 
technical assistance through the Thriving 

Communities Program

04/14/23 Email Incoming S.Munz
4.20.2023 Shannon Munz SCCRTC Jared Weigand Resident Follow up to previous question, re: rail traffic from 

Watsonville Junction to Santa Cruz

04/15/23 Letter Incoming n/a Guy Preston SCCRTC Patricia Cramer

International 
Conference on 
Ecology and 

Transportation 
(ICOET)

SCCRTC, Caltrans District 5, and the Land Trust of 
Santa Cruz County have been awarded the 2023 

ICOET Stewardship Award for 
Local/State/Provincial Organizations

04/15/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.17.2023 Amanda Marino SCCRTC Debbie Bulger Mission: 

Pedestrian
Concerns about proposed changes to Kennedy 

Drive & Park Ave

04/17/23 Contact us 
form Incoming S.Munz

4.20.2023 Guy Preston SCCRTC Frank Rimicci Resident Temporary Murray St. Crossing

04/14/23 Letter Incoming n/a Guy Preston SCCRTC Paul John Old Republic 
Title Company Close of escrow - 7992 Soquel Drive, Aptos, CA

04/18/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.18.2023 Amanda Marino SCCRTC Ben Vernazza Resident

Please forward comment to EDTAC: "establish the 
importance of an extra wide trail to allow for 

walkers/E-chairs in one lane and bikes in another 
lane and in both directions."

04/18/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.18.2023 Sarah Christensen SCCRTC Barbara Mutti Resident

Fwd: Not a Surprise: 101 Freeway Widening 
Shows Negative Results - Streetsblog San 

Francisco

04/18/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.19.2023 RTC SCCRTC Tom Haid Resident The RTC should be ashamed of themselves cutting 

down all those trees

04/13/23 Email Incoming R.Moriconi
4.18.2023 Rachel Moriconi SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now Illustrations for oral communications to the ITAC

Correspondence Log (03/28/2023-04/24/2023) RTC 05/04/2023

20-3



Date Letter 
Rec'd/Sent Type Incoming/ 

Outgoing Response First Last Organization First Last Organization Subject

FromTO

04/19/23 Email Incoming n/a Sarah Christensen SCCRTC Shain & 
Kristen Holden Holden Living 

Trust

Permission to enter our lands for the purpose of 
subsurface investigations and engineering and 

environmental field surveys in conjuction with the 
SCCRTC's project to improve the SR1 interchange 
corridor between Freedom Boulevard and State 

Park Drive

04/21/23 Email Incoming Y.Parra
4.20.2023 Yesenia Parra SCCRTC Megan Sarrail, Esq.

Farmers 
Insurance 

Subrogation & 
Recovery Law 

Firm

Follow up to "RE: Claim for Damages - DOL 
12/30/2023 (Fire Insurance Claim #5015133611)

04/21/23 Email Incoming n/a RTC SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now CC'd on correspondence to Santa Cruz County 
DPW re: Trail cost more than highway widening

04/21/23 Email Incoming S.Munz
4.24.2023 Shannon Munz SCCRTC Leslie Chow Resident Question re: schedule of Mar Vista Overcrossing 

project

04/23/23 Email Incoming pending Grace Blakeslee SCCRTC Brian Peoples Trail Now
California Coastal Commission permit CD-0001-21 
Condition 4 "triggering event" - removal of railroad 

tracks in Davenport

04/23/23 Email Incoming RTC Staff 
4.24.2023 RTC SCCRTC Frank Anderson Resident Comments on Rail Trail

Correspondence Log (03/28/2023-04/24/2023) RTC 05/04/2023

20-4



                   

                               
                           

        

                               
                  

                  
                            

                     
                          

 

                             
                         
                           

                           
                                  
                           
         

                           
                                

                               
                               

                             
                                 
                           

                               
                     

                                   
   

                                
                           

                           
                               
                              
        

PUBLIC MEETING REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE BROWN ACT AND AB 2449 

With the end of the Governor’s Emergency Order related to COVID‐19 on February 28, 2023, 
meetings of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission and its Committees will 
return to in person in accordance with the Brown Act. 

Prior to the Governor’s Emergency Order related to COVID‐19, the Brown Act allowed the use of 
teleconferencing with strict requirements. These requirements included the following: 

 All votes must be taken by roll call vote.
 Each teleconference location must be listed on the agenda, have an agenda posted, be

accessible to the public and offer an opportunity for public comment.

 A quorum of the members must participate from locations within the public entities
boundaries.

The adoption of AB 361 on September 16, 2021 allowed teleconferencing without the Brown Act 
restrictions, but only during a declared emergency. However, with the termination of the 
Governor’s Emergency Order at the end of February 2023, AB 361 will become inoperative. 

On September 13, 2022, California Governor Gavin Newsom signed into law Assembly Bill (AB) 
2449 (Rubio). The new amendments to the Brown Act go into effect on January 1, 2023. The 
statute incorporates traditional teleconferencing under the Brown Act as well as some new and 
limited provisions for teleconferencing. 

AB 2449 will allow the SCCRTC to use teleconferencing without complying with the traditional 
Brown Act teleconferencing rules under very limited circumstances. In order to use AB 2449, at 
least a quorum of the members of the legislative body must participate in person from a singular 
physical location identified on the agenda, the location must be open to the public and within the 
boundaries of the local agency. The legislative body must also provide either a two‐way audiovisual 
platform or two‐way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting to allow the public to 
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body. The 
agenda must identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call‐in option, 
internet‐based service option, and at the in‐person location of the meeting. 

AB 2449 only allows a member of the legislative body to participate remotely if one of the following 
are met: 

1. A Board member notifies the legislative body as soon as possible, including at the start of
a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for "just cause", including a
general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the
given meeting. The Board does not need to vote on a “just cause” exception. “Just
cause” may only be used twice per calendar year by an individual member. AB 2449
defines “just cause” as:

22-1



                      
  

                       
                             
                            

 

                             
                     

                           
                               

                    
                           
                         
                         

                          
                       
                  

                     

                              
                   

                            
                             

                               
            

                
                          

                               
                            

   
                  
                        

                   
        

                                
  

                                  
                                 

                           
                               

                   

 Care of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner;

 a contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person;
 a need related to a physical or mental disability as defined by statute; or
 travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local

agency

2. A Board member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the
meeting remotely due to "emergency circumstances" and the legislative body takes
action to approve the request at the start of their regularly scheduled meeting. A
standing item will be placed on the agenda to allow the Board to vote on “emergency”
circumstances exception. The legislative body must request a general description
(generally not exceeding 20 words) of the circumstances relating to their need to appear
remotely at the given meeting. AB 2449 defines “emergency circumstances” as: a
physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from attending in person.

 Provide a general description of the reason (not exceeding 20 words) that includes
physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from attending in
person. Medical condition does not need to be disclosed.

AB 2449 also adds the following new requirements for legislative bodies: 

1. Both “just cause” and “emergency circumstances” require a quorum of members to be in a
physical location and within the jurisdiction accessible to the public.

2. Teleconference procedures may not be used by a member of the legislative body to
teleconference for a period of more than three consecutive months or 20% of the regular
meetings within a calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body meets fewer
than 10 times per calendar year.

3. Votes must be taken by Roll Call vote.
4. Members participating remotely must do so through both audio and visual technology and

must publicly disclose whether any individual over the age of 18 is present at the remote
location with the member and disclose general nature of the member's relationship with any
such individuals.

5. Public must be provided the ability to participate remotely.
6. Legislative bodies must implement procedures for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for

reasonable accommodations for individuals with disabilities, consistent with applicable civil
rights and nondiscrimination laws.

7. No action can be taken if a disruption event prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the
meeting.

8. A legislative body may take action on items of business not appearing on the posted agenda if
the request to consider action was for a member to participate in a meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed
action on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made. The legislative
body may approve such a request by a majority vote.

22-2



Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

May 4, 2023 

Page 1 of 16 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

The projects below are listed in order of State Route, then by beginning post mile, with all projects covering multiple State Routes listed 

first. There are two tables of projects displayed: 1. “Projects in Construction” (Milestone range: Contract Approval to Contract 

Acceptance) and 2. “Projects in Development”. Please see a list of Caltrans resources available to the public at the end of this 

document.  

Projects in CONSTRUCTION 

Project Name 

/ EA ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile 

(PM) 

Description 
Construction 

Timeline 

Project Cost & 

Fund Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 
Contractor 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

C1 

Santa Cruz & San 

Benito Rumble 

Strip & Striping 

Safety Project 

1M330 

State Route: 

Various: 1, 9, 17, 

129 

PM: Various 

Install centerline and 

edge line rumble strips; 

Restripe some locations 

with enhanced wet 

night thermoplastic 

striping material 

- July 2024

$4.7 million 

010 Safety Funds 

Terry 

Thompson 

Central 

Striping 

Service, Inc. 

Project in 

suspension and 

should start end 

April. 

C2 

Soquel Creek 

Scour Protection 

1H480 

State Route: 1 

PM: 13.31 

At Soquel Creek 

Bridge No 36 

0013 btwn Bay 

Ave & 41st Ave 

Bridge Preventative 

Maintenance - Place 

Scour Protection 

- October 2023

$6.6 million 

SHOPP- Bridge 

Terry 

Thompson 

Granite 

Construction 

Company 

Contractor is not 

mobilizing until 

6/1/2023. Schedule 

has been adjusted 

to reflect the delay. 

C3 

Aux Lanes & BOS  

41st to Soquel 

Ave 

0C732 

State Route: 1 

PM: 13.4 to 14.9 

Construct auxiliary 

Lanes, Bus-on-shoulder 

elements, &  

bicycle/pedestrian 

overcrossing near 

Chanticleer Avenue. 

- August 2024

$34.6 million 

SCCRTC 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 

Granite 

Construction 

Company 

Construction 

groundbreaking 

held April 19, 2023.  

25-1



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 2 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in CONSTRUCTION 

 
Project Name 

/ EA ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile 

(PM) 

Description 
Construction 

Timeline 

Project Cost & 

Fund Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 
Contractor 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

C4 

Davenport 

Culvert 

Replacement 

 

0J200 

 

 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: 31.9 to 35.7 

 

At various spot 

locations btwn 

the listed 

postmiles 

 

Culvert replacement 

near Davenport and 

south Waddell Creek 

- March 2024 

$13 million 

 

SHOPP- Drainage 

Heidi Borders 
Serafix 

Engineering 

Construction is 

ongoing. 

C5 

Viaducts 

 

1K120 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 1 & 4 

 

At 0.5 miles 

north of Vernon 

St & at 0.75 

miles south of 

Glengarry Rd 

 

Construct side-hill 

viaduct, restore 

roadway and facilities, 

place Water Pollution 

Control BMPs, erosion 

control 

- September 

2025 

$20 million 

 

SHOPP- Major 

Damage 

Doug Hessing 
Gordon N. 

Ball, Inc. 

Expect one-way 

traffic control and 

intermittent full 

closures with 

advance notice via 

Caltrans’ News 

Releases. 

C6 

Hairpin Tieback 

 

1K130 

 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 19.97 

 

Near Boulder 

Creek, about 

1.1 miles south 

of SR 236/9 

Junction 

 

Construct a Soldier Pile 

Tieback Retaining Wall 
- July 2024 

$7.6 million 

 

SHOPP- Major 

Damage 

Doug Hessing 
Gordon N. 

Ball, Inc. 

Occasional one-

way traffic control 

for completion of 

miscellaneous 

construction 

activities with 

anticipated 

completion in June 

2023, followed by 

one year Plant 

Establishment that 

began 3/9/2023. 

25-2



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 3 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in CONSTRUCTION 

 
Project Name 

/ EA ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile 

(PM) 

Description 
Construction 

Timeline 

Project Cost & 

Fund Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 
Contractor 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

C7 

Jarvis Slide Rock 

Fence 

 

1K070 

 

State Route: 17 

 

PM: 8.2 

 

Near Scotts 

Valley, 0.5 miles 

south of 

Sugarloaf Rd 

 

Construct rock 

fence/barrier at Jarvis 

Slide to stabilize the 

slope 

- September 

2023 

$7.4million 

 

SHOPP- Major 

Damage 

Nic Heisdorf 
Gordon N. 

Ball, INC 

Construction began 

in March 2023. 

C8 

Wildlife Habitat 

Crossing 

 

1G260 

 

 

State Route: 17 

 

PM: 9.4 to 9.6 

 

From 0.6 miles 

south of Laurel 

Rd to 0.25 miles 

north of Laurel 

Rd 

 

Construct wildlife 

undercrossing 
- January 2024 

$5.1 million 

 

SHOPP- Advance 

Mitigation / 

Mitigation 

 

Local 

Contributions / 

Coordination 

Mike Lew 
Granite Rock 

Construction 

Construction 

continues to be on 

hold for 

temperatures to rise 

in order to pave the 

friction surface 

treatment and 

complete final 

striping. 

C9 

 

Corralitos Creek 

ADA 

 

1F620 

 

 

State Route: 152 

 

PM: 1.9 to R2 

 

Near 

Watsonville, 

east of Beverly 

Dr to Holohan /  

College Rd 

 

Construct Accessible 

Pathway 
- January 2024 

$7.5 million 

 

SHOPP- Mobility 

Nic Heisdorf 

Bridgeway 

Civil 

Constructors, 

INC 

Construction began 

in April 2023. 

25-3



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 4 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in CONSTRUCTION 

 
Project Name 

/ EA ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile 

(PM) 

Description 
Construction 

Timeline 

Project Cost & 

Fund Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 
Contractor 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

C10 

 

Heartwood Hill 

Embankment 

Restoration 

 

1M450 

 

 

State Route: 236 

 

PM: 5.4 

 

Restore Embankment 

with a Retaining Wall 

January 2023 – 

December 

2024 

$4.9 million 

 

SHOPP- Major 

Damage 

Doug Hessing 
GORDON N. 

BALL, INC 

Expect one-way 

traffic control 

during construction.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please continue to the next page for Projects in Development 

  

25-4



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 5 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D1 

Broadband 

Middle-Mile 

Network 

 

1Q020 

 

State Route: 1 & 17 

 

PM: At various 

locations between 

SR-1 at Mission St 

to SR-17 at the 

Santa Clara 

County Line 

 

Install broadband 

middle-mile fiber 

lines into the 

shoulder and/or 

outside lane when 

the shoulder is 

unable to fully 

accommodate the 

work. 

December 

2023 – May 

2025 

California 

Department of 

Technology 

funds 

 

Caltrans 

implementation 

assistance 

Genaro Diaz PA&ED 

Much of this project is 

still fluid as it is based 

on directive and funds 

from the Office of the 

Governor. This project 

will mostly install fiber 

conduit in the roadway 

shoulder or outer lane.  

D2 

Drainage 

Improvements 

 

1K640 

 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: MON SR-1 PM 

101.53 to SCR 

County Line / SCR 

PM 0 to R7.7 

 

From 0.5 miles 

south of the Santa 

Cruz / Monterey 

County Line to 0.2 

miles north of 

Larkin Valley Rd 

 

Culvert repairs, 

improved lighting, 

new traffic 

monitoring systems, 

and constructing 

maintenance 

vehicle pullouts. 

November 

2024 – March 

2027 

$13 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Drainage 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PS&E/RW 

The project completed 

the environmental 

phase (PA&ED) at the 

end of January 2023, 

and has begun its 

Plans, Specifications, & 

Estimates (PS&E) phase 

in February 2023. 

Project team working 

towards 60% design 

anticipated in June 

2023. 

25-5



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 6 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D3 

Inside Shoulder 

Widening 

 

1P180 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: R5 to 8.2 

Widen existing 

paved inside 

shoulder to improve 

vehicle drift recovery 

January 2025 – 

July 2025 

$8 million 

 

010 Safety 

Funds 

Terry 

Thompson 
RS&E & RW 

The project has moved 

to the design and right 

of way phases (PS&E & 

RW). 60% Design 

anticipated to be 

reached by Summer 

2023. 

D4 

Roadside 

Safety 

 

1J960 

 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: 8.20 to 26 

 

From 0.5 miles 

north of Larkin 

Valley Rd to 

Laguna Rd (North) 

 

Drainage System 

Restoration; Paving 

at 40 ramps; Install 

lighting at 

interchanges and 

Install count stations 

January 2025 – 

January 2026 

$22 million  

 

SHOPP- 

Drainage 

Terry 

Thompson 
PS&E 

This project completed 

the PA&ED phase in 

February 2023 and now 

moves into the PS&E 

phase. The milestone, 

“60% Design” is 

anticipated to be 

reached in June 2023.  

D5 

 

SR 1/9 Junction 

Lighting Project 

 

1Q250 

 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: 17.46 to 17.66 

 

 

Construct 

continuous lighting 

approaching the 

junction of SR 1 with 

SR 9 to improve 

intersection 

illuminance and 

uniformity and to 

enhance motorist 

and pedestrian 

safety. 

 

September 

2025 – 

February 2026 

$3.2 million 

 

010 Safety 

Funds 

Terry 

Thompson 
PID 

The Project Initiation 

Report is under 

development and 

anticipated to be 

completed in Spring 

2023. 

25-6



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 7 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D6 

 

Santa Cruz 

CAPM 

 

1M110 

 

State Route: 1 

 

PM: 17.5 to 20.2 

 

In & near the City 

of Santa Cruz from 

0.06 miles south of 

SR-1/9 Junction to 

0.09 miles north of 

the Mission St 

intersection 

 

Grinding/ paving 2.7 

miles of pavement, 

upgrading up to 89 

curb ramps, guard 

rail upgrade, sign 

panel upgrade, loop 

detector 

replacement. 

March 2026 – 

April 2027 

$15.8 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Pavement 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PA&ED 

Environmental 

Clearance is 

anticipated in Spring 

2024. The Community 

Engagement Plan is in 

development. 

D7 

SR-9 South 

CAPM 

 

1K890 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 0.046 to 7.5 

 

From 0.5 miles 

south of Irwin Way 

to 150 feet south 

of El Solyd Heights 

Dr 

 

Pavement 

Preservation, 

Drainage, TMS, ADA, 

Sign Panel 

replacement and 

Stormwater 

Mitigation elements 

in Santa Cruz County 

on Route 9. 

May 2027 – 

July 2029 

$25 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Pavement 

 

Local 

Contributions / 

Coordination 

Doug 

Hessing 
PA&ED 

Long lead project on 

schedule. 

25-7



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 8 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D8 

 

Felton Safety 

Improvements 

 

1M400 

 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 6.3 to 7.2 

 

From Kirby St 

To the San Lorenzo 

Valley High School 

signaled 

intersection 

 

Construct Accessible 

Pedestrian Path 

May 2025 – 

August 2027 

$17.6 million 

 

010 Safety 

Funds 

Doug 

Hessing 
PS&E & RW 

PA&ED phase 

completed in 

December 2022. The 

project has moved to 

the design and right of 

way phase (PS&E). 

D9 

 

Upper 

Drainage & 

Erosion Control 

Improvements 

 

1G950 

 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 8.5 to 25.5 

 

In Boulder Creek 

from Holiday Ln, 

just south of Ben 

Lomond, to 4.7 

miles north of the 

SR 236/9 Junction 

 

Upgrade drainage 

and erosion control 

November 

2023 – June 

2026 

$14.5 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Sustainability / 

Climate 

Change 

Nic Heisdorf PS&E 

The project continues 

in the Design and Right 

of Way phase. Project 

delayed due to re-

design and Right of 

Way issues. 

25-8



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 9 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D10 

 

San Lorenzo 

River Bridge & 

Kings Creek 

Bridge 

Replacement 

 

1H470 

 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 13.6 &15.5 

 

Near Boulder 

Creek, at the San 

Lorenzo River 

Bridge and at 

Kings Creek Bridge 

 

Replace bridges 
May 2024 – 

May 2027 

$25.9 million 

 

SHOPP- Bridge 

Doug 

Hessing 
PS&E and RW 

The project is in the 

Right of Way phase. 

Work includes utility 

relocation 

coordination and 

associated easement 

requirements. 

D11 

SR-9 North 

CAPM 

 

1K900 

 

State Route: 9 

 

PM: 18.89 to 27.09 

 

From 

0.4 miles south of 

Saratoga Toll Rd to 

the 

Santa Cruz/San 

Mateo 

County Line 

 

Pavement 

preservation 

strategies including 

but 

not limited to dig-

outs, profile grinding, 

overlay, 

placing shoulder 

backing and dike. 

Reconstruct 

guardrail, 

rehabilitate or 

replace 6 culvert 

and replace 67 sign 

panels 

June 2026 – 

July 2028 

$13.1 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Pavement 

Doug 

Hessing 
PA&ED 

Project programmed in 

the 2022 SHOPP. 

PA&ED phase is 

ongoing. 

25-9



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 10 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D12 

 

SR-17 Drainage 

Improvements 

 

1K670 

 

 

State Route: 17 

 

PM: 0 to 12.5 

 

At various 

locations within 

the project limits 

 

Stormwater 

mitigation by 

replacing and 

restoring culverts 

and drainage 

systems 

July 2027 – July 

2029 

$9.5 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Sustainability / 

Climate 

Change 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PA&ED 

 

Environmental 

technical studies are 

on-going.  The Draft 

Environmental 

Document is being 

prepared for public 

review in Summer 2023. 

The environmental 

phase is anticipated to 

be completed in 

December 2023.  

 

D13 

 

SR-17 High 

Friction Surface 

Treatment 

(HFST) 

 

1M730 

 

 

State Route: 17 

 

PM: 3.2 to 11.27 

 

At various 

locations from 0.2 

miles south of 

Scotts Valley 

overcrossing to 1.6 

miles south of the 

Summit Rd 

separation 

 

Safety Construction 

includes HFST 

between the 

left/right edges of 

the travel way and 

cold plane removal 

of Open Grade 

Asphalt Concrete 

(OGAC) and 

replacement with 

Hot Mix Asphalt 

June 2023 – 

January 2024 

$8.6 million 

 

010 Safety Fund 

Terry 

Thompson 
PS&E 

PS&E Package 

submitted to Office 

Engineer (OE). 

25-10



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 11 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D14 

 

Replace 

Damaged 

Bridge Girder 

 

1P280 

 

 

State Route: 17 

 

PM: 17.02 

 

SR-17 northbound 

at the interchange 

bridge of SR-1 over 

SR-17. 

 

Replace damaged 

bridge girder 

December 

2023 – May 

2024 

Minor A 

Program 

 

Bridge Health 

Terry 

Thompson 
PS&E/RW 

Construction work may 

affect one or more 

lanes of traffic on both 

SR-17 and on SR-1.  

D15 

SR-129 CAPM 

 

1J830 

 

State Route: 129 

 

PM: 0.0 to 0.56 

 

In and neat 

Watsonville from 

the SR 1/129 

junction to 

Salsipuedes Creek 

Bridge 

 

Pavement 

Preservation, 

Lighting, Sign Panel 

Replacement and 

TMS Elements 

improvements 

December 

2024 – 

November 

2025 

$16.9 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Pavement 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PS&E 

 

This project reached 

60% Design in 

November 2022 and is 

working towards the 

95% Design milestone, 

anticipated Fall 2023. 

 

25-11



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 12 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 Projects in DEVELOPMENT 

 

Project 

Name / EA 

ID 

State Route / 

Post Mile (PM) 
Description 

Construction 

Target 
(Contract 

Approval to 

Contract 

Acceptance) 

Estimated 

Project Cost 

& Fund 

Source - 

Category 

Project 

Manager 

Phase (PID, 

PA&ED, PS&E, 

RW, 

Construction) 

Comments & 

Updates to 

Commissioners 

D16 

 

SR-152 

Rehabilitation 

Project 

 

1P110 

 

 

State Route: 152 

 

PM: T0.31 to 4.14 

 

In and near 

Watsonville, from 

the SR-1/152 

junction to 0.5 

miles east of 

Carlton Rd 

 

Preserve pavement, 

rehabilitate or 

replace Salsipuedes 

Creek Bridge, 

replace culverts, 

rehabilitate traffic 

signals, 

upgrade curb 

ramps, reconstruct 

guardrail, replace 

sign panels, and 

complete streets 

elements including 

road diet, bike lanes, 

and curb extensions 

in various locations 

Long-lead: 

2031 – 2032  

$61.7 million 

 

SHOPP- 

Complete 

Streets 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PID 

This project is 

anticipated to include 

complete streets 

elements and be 

transformative, so a 

long lead-time is being 

utilized. The Project 

Initiation Documents 

are anticipated to be 

completed in Summer 

2023.  

D17 

Downtown 

Watsonville 

Pedestrian 

Safety Project 

 

1Q150 

 

State Route: 152 

 

PM: T2.45 to T2.929 

 

In Watsonville, 

between Freedom 

Blvd & Beck St 

 

Construct curb 

extensions & high 

visibility crosswalks to 

enhance pedestrian 

safety 

November 

2026 – May 

2027 

$6.4 million 

 

010 Safety Fund 

Madilyn 

Jacobsen 
PID 

The Project Initiation 

Report (PIR) was signed 

in March 2023. The PID 

is expected to be 

amended into the 2022 

SHOPP cycle. 

 

ACRONYMS USED IN THIS REPORT: 

  

ADA  Americans with Disabilities Act 

CCA  Construction Contract Acceptance 

CEQA  California Environmental Quality Act 

CMAQ  Congestion Mitigation Air Quality 

CMIA  Corridor Mobility Improvement Account 

CTC  California Transportation Commission 

ED  Environmental Document 

EIR  Environmental Impact Report 

25-12



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 13 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

HFST  High Friction Surface Treatment 

PM  Post Mile 

RTL  Ready to List 

SB1 Senate Bill 1, the Road Repair and Accountability 

Act of 2017 

SCL  Santa Clara (County) 

SCR  Santa Cruz (City or County) 

SHOPP  State Highway Operation and Protection Program 

SR  State Route 

STIP  State Transportation Improvement Program 

TMS  Traffic Management System 

 

Project Phases 

PID  Project Initiation Document 

PA&ED  Project Approval and Environmental Document 

PS&E  Plans, Specifications, and Estimates 

RW  Right of Way 

Construction Construction… as a phase title

25-13



 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 14 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

-Resources- 
 

For General Caltrans’ Questions: 

 

Kevin Drabinski, Public Information Officer 

Kevin.Drabinski@dot.ca.gov  

 

For Region Specific Questions: 

 

Paul Guirguis, Regional Planning Liaison – Santa Cruz County 

Paul.Guirguis@dot.ca.gov  

 

For Project Specific Questions: 

 

Please reach out to the Project Manager listed or, to the Regional Planner above.  

 

 

 

Requests: 

 

To notify Caltrans of specific concerns regarding current roadway or facility conditions, please submit a customer service request 

through the following online portal: https://csr.dot.ca.gov/  

 

Examples of Customer Service Requests:  

Any of the following on the State’s highway system:  

- Streetlight issues 

- Plant over-growth 

- Damaged roadway 

- Fallen trees on the roadway  

- Other maintenance issues 

 

For less specific concerns, please reach out to the Public Information Officer to be directed to the appropriate respondent  

25-14

mailto:Kevin.Drabinski@dot.ca.gov
mailto:Paul.Guirguis@dot.ca.gov
https://csr.dot.ca.gov/


 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 15 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

Online Resources: 

 

Caltrans CCTV Camera Map: https://cwwp2.dot.ca.gov/vm/iframemap.htm  

- Allows the public to see current conditions along the State Highway System 

 

Caltrans Active Transportation Plans & Webmaps: https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-

planning/active-transportation-and-complete-streets/caltrans-active-transportation-plans/  

- We are District 5 

- Shows existing conditions of bicycle and pedestrian facilities along the State Highway System 

- Includes prioritized segments and locations of bicycle and pedestrian needs 

 

Mobile App: “Caltrans QuickMap” 

- Available for free in the Apple App Store and Google Play Store 

- Provides realtime conditions for the State Highway System 

- Desktop Format: https://quickmap.dot.ca.gov/  

 

The Caltrans District 5 Office of Local Assistance: https://dot.ca.gov/programs/local-assistance/  

- Includes links to many Federal and State funding opportunities  

- Can help guide interested folks through the above-mentioned program requirements 

 

The Official Caltrans District 5 Webpage: https://dot.ca.gov/caltrans-near-me/district-5  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25-15

https://cwwp2.dot.ca.gov/vm/iframemap.htm
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-planning/active-transportation-and-complete-streets/caltrans-active-transportation-plans/
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-planning/active-transportation-and-complete-streets/caltrans-active-transportation-plans/
https://quickmap.dot.ca.gov/
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/local-assistance/
https://dot.ca.gov/caltrans-near-me/district-5


 Prepared for the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission’s Board Meeting on: 

 May 4, 2023 

 

 

Page 16 of 16 

 

 

PROJECT UPDATE REPORT – SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 

25-16



“Provide a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation system to
enhance California’s economy and livability”

STATE OF CALIFORNIA-------CALIFORNIA STATE TRANSPORTATION AGENCY Gavin Newsom, Governor

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
CALTRANS DISTRICT 5 
50 HIGUERA STREET
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401-5415 

  PHONE (805) 549-3101  
FAX (805) 549-3329
TTY 711
www.dot.ca.gov/dist05/  

, 2023 

Guy Preston
Executive Director 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
1101 Pacific Avenue, Suit 250, Santa Cruz, CA 95060

Dear Mr. Preston:

UPDATE OF THE STATE HIGHWAY OPERATION AND PROTECTION PROGRAM (SHOPP) 
FOR DISTRICT 5 

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) District 5 has included with this letter 
the status of SHOPP programming and project initiation documents 
(PID) under development in Santa Cruz County.

Caltrans is responsible for maintaining and operating approximately 50,000 lane- miles of the 
state highway system, the backbone of California’s transportation infrastructure. This includes 
monitoring the condition and operational performance of the highways through periodic 
inspections, traffic studies, and system analysis. The SHOPP is primarily funded through the 
State Highway Account supporting the State’s priority for preserving the existing 
infrastructure.

The projects listed include programmed projects in and near construction, projects 
programmed for construction in future years, projects funded by the Minor program (less than 
$1.25M), Long-Lead projects with committed but not yet programmed funding, the 2024 SHOPP 
PID candidate projects proposed for programming on July 1, 2024, and future PID projects identified 
in the 10-Year Plan. The final page in the attachment includes a list of Non-SHOPP projects that are 
captured in the 3-year workplan.

Please provide any updates as well as identify any new regionally or locally funded projects that 
Caltrans should be aware. Discussion of proposed scope, funding scenarios, delivery timeframes, 
potential impacts to the State Highway System, and coordination responsibilities can 
help determine partnering opportunities and well as determine if the project will require 
traditional Non- SHOPP PID oversight or can be processed through our Permits Office.

25-17

http://www.dot.ca.gov/dist05/


“Provide a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation system to 
enhance California’s economy and livability”

Guy Preston, Executive Director 
, 2023 

Page 2 

As a reminder, for Caltrans to add projects into the Non-SHOPP PID workplan it 
needs to be in your Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), be in Caltrans’s 3-yr 
workplan, and have an executed cooperative agreement. For all Non-SHOPP 
questions please contact Garin Schneider at (805) 503-5025 or email 
Garin.Schneider@dot.ca.gov. 

Please share this information with your member agencies and encourage them 
to contact the appropriate project manager for specific project information. For 
more information on the attachments and to schedule a presentation of this 
material for an upcoming Technical Advisory Committee meeting, please 
contact Darron Hill, Office Chief of Programming and Asset Management at 
(805) 503-9374 or email Darron.Hill@dot.ca.gov.

Sincerely,

Richard Rosales
Deputy District Director Program/Project Management and Asset Management

Attachments
1. County project listing

Enclosure

cc. Paul Guirguis, Luis Mendez, Scott Eades, Kelly McClendon, Brandy Rider, Orchid Monroy-Ochoa, Melissa Streder, John Olejnik, Garin
Schneider, Richard Rosales, David Silberberger, Madilyn Jacobsen, Meg Henry, Doug Hessing, Terry Thompson, Mike Lew, Nic Heisdorf,
Heidi Borders, Genaro Diaz, Berkeley Lindt, Darron Hill, Lindsay Leichtfuss.

District 5 SHOPP Webviewer Tool

The District 5 SHOPP Webviewer tool is available to view current and future 
SHOPP projects from the approved SHOPP 10 Year Book that is within your region. 

Visit

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8

25-18

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?
mailto:Garin.Schneider@dot.ca.gov
mailto:Darron.Hill@dot.ca.gov
https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8


Caltrans District 5 

Bi-Annual Project List 

Communication Booklet 

Santa Cruz County 

March 2023 

March 2023
25-19



March 2023
25-20



March 2023
25-21



Caltrans District 5 Bi-Annual Project List for Santa Cruz County

Project IDs Project Location
County_Route _Postmile

Project Description Project Name Project Details Construction Cost ($1,000) Project Manager 

PI: 0521000018
AMT: 23486
EA: 05-1N440
PPNO: 3044

SCR_1_10.2/18.06
In various counties on various routes. Unsheltered encampments. 
EFA Contract in Santa Cruz and Monterey Counties (201.130)

Unsheltered  Encampments 
North

Implementing Agency: 100
Project Phase: 

44607 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 6/20/2023

$8,000
Berkeley Lindt 805-549-3315
berkeley.lindt@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0516000079
AMT: 16590
EA: 05-1H480
PPNO: 2736

SCR_1_13.3/13.3
In Capitola, at Soquel Creek Bridge No. 36-0013.  Place Rock Slope 
Protection (RSP) to protect bridge foundation. (201.119)

Soquel Creek Scour Protection

Implementing Agency: 346
Project Phase: 

44510 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 10/4/2023

$1,291 Award
Terry Thompson 805-503-5013
terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0522000017
AMT: 23333
EA: 05-1H482
PPNO: 2736X

SCR_1_13.3/13.3
In Capitola, at Soquel Creek Bridge No. 36-0013. Biological 
monitoring for parent project EA 1H480. (201.119)

Soquel Creek Biological 
Monitoring

Implementing Agency: 25
Project Phase: 

45000 RTL Date: Construction only
Contract Acceptance Date: 5/2/2033

$40 Con Sup
Terry Thompson 805-503-5013
terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0519000115
AMT: 21589
EA: 05-1M330
PPNO: 3008

SCR_1_28.9/29.5
SCR_9_1/27.09

SCR_17_0.03/11.57
SCR_129_L0.03/5.1

In Santa Cruz and San Benito Counties, on Routes 9, 1, 17, 25, 129 
and 156 at various locations.  Install both centerline and edge line 
rumble strips and re-stripe with thermoplastic stripe. (201.010)  
(Project in SCr and SBt Counties on various routes)

Santa Cruz & San Benito Rumble 
Strip & Striping Safety 

Implementing Agency: 0
Project Phase: 

44547 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 7/22/2024

$2,311 Award
Terry Thompson 805-503-5013
terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0512000069
AMT: 9294
EA: 05-0J200
PPNO: 1967

SCR_1_31.9/35.7

Near Davenport, from 1.4 miles north of Swanton Road to 0.6 mile 
south of Waddell Creek.  Replace and upgrade existing 
Corrugated Metal Pipe (CMP) culverts with Reinforced Concrete 
Pipe (RCP) culverts. (201.151) 

Davenport Culvert 
Replacement

Implementing Agency: 262
Project Phase: 

44403 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 3/25/2024

$6,695 Award
Heidi Borders 916-995-4933
heidi.borders@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0522000010
AMT: 22942
EA: 05-0J201
PPNO: 1967X

SCR_1_31.9/35.7
Near Davenport, from 1.4 miles north of Swanton Road to 0.6 mile 
south of Waddell Creek. Environmental mitigation biological 
monitoring for project EA 0J200. (201.151)

Davenport Culvert 
Replacement Biological 

Monitoring

Implementing Agency: 10
Project Phase: 

44946 RTL Date: Construction only
Contract Acceptance Date: 8/29/2029

$100 Con Sup
Terry Thompson 805-503-5013
terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0514000039
AMT: 15672
EA: 05-1F620
PPNO: 2530

SCR_152_1.9/R2.0

Near Watsonville, from 0.1 mile east of Beverly Drive to Holohan 
Road/College Road.  Construct accessible pathway, concrete 
barrier, retaining wall, curb, gutter and sidewalk to meet Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards. (G13 Contingency)  (201.361) 

Corralitos Creek ADA

Implementing Agency: 397
Project Phase: 

44739 RTL Date: CON
Contract Acceptance Date: 1/2/2024

$1,522 Award
Nic Heisdorf 805-835-6558
nicholas.heisdorf@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0514000145
AMT: 20896
EA: 05-0Q601
PPNO: 1989Y

SCR_17_0.7/1.4
In Santa Cruz, from 0.7 mile north of Route 1/17 Separation to 
Beulah Park Undercrossing. Landscape mitigation for 0Q600. 
(201.335)

Hwy 17 Storm Water Mitigation 
Landscape Split

Implementing Agency: 0
Project Phase: 

3/29/2019  RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 4/13/2023

$427 Award
Doug Hessing  805-835-6568
doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0518000117
AMT: 20869
EA: 05-1K070
PPNO: 2852

SCR_17_8.2
Near Scotts Valley, at 0.5 mile south of Sugarleaf Road. Stabilize 
eroded slope by grading, dewatering, and install ingwire mesh 
drapery system to reduce falling debris. (201.131)

Jarvis Slide Rock Fence

Implementing Agency: 50
Project Phase: 

44678 RTL Date: PS&E/RW
Contract Acceptance Date: 10/24/2023

$2,752 Award terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0514000131
AMT: 14033
EA: 05-1G260
PPNO: 2593

SCR_17_9.1/9.9
Near Scotts Valley, from 0.4 mile south of Laurel Road to 0.5 mile 
north of Laurel Road.  Construct wildlife undercrossing. (201.240)  
Local contributions to fund construction capital.

Wildlife Habitat Connectivity

Implementing Agency: 138
Project Phase: 

44235 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 1/17/2024

$2,000 Con Sup Vote
Mike Lew 805-835-6341
mike.lew@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0518000125
AMT: 19493
EA: 05-1K120
PPNO: 2874

SCR_9_1
In and near the city of Santa Cruz, at north of Vernon Street; also at 
south of Glengarry road (PM 4.0). Construct sidehill viaducts, restore 
roadway and facilities, provide erosion control. (201.131)

PM 1.0 and 4.0 Viaduct

Implementing Agency: 59
Project Phase: 

44736 RTL Date: CON
Contract Acceptance Date: 9/17/2025

$7,856 Award
Doug Hessing  805-835-6568
doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0518000115
AMT: 19495
EA: 05-1K060
PPNO: 2847

SCR_9_10.8
Near Brookdale, at 0.3 mile south of Western Avenue. Construct 
side hill viaduct extension with cutoff retaining wall, restore roadway 
and facilities, and install permanent erosion control. (201.131)

Extend Viaduct Wall

Implementing Agency: 60
Project Phase: 

44375 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 2/8/2023

$1,978 Award
Doug Hessing  805-835-6568
doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov

PI: 0518000126
AMT: 19496
EA: 05-1K130
PPNO: 2876

SCR_9_20.0
Near Boulder Creek, 1.1 miles south of Route 236.  Construct tieback 
wall, restore roadway and drainage facilities, and install permanent 
erosion control measures. (201.131)

PM 19.97 Hairpin Tieback Route 
9

Implementing Agency: 11
Project Phase: 

44201 RTL Date: Construction
Contract Acceptance Date: 7/15/2024

$3,250 Award
Doug Hessing  805-835-6568
doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov

Projects In/Near Construction Phase

4 Santa Cruz County: Projects In/Near ConstructionMarch 2023
25-22

mailto:berkeley.lindt@dot.ca.gov
mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:heidi.borders@dot.ca.gov
mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:nicholas.heisdorf@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov
mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:mike.lew@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov


March 2023
25-23

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8


March 2023
25-24

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8


Project IDs 

Pl: 0518000093 
AMT: 19159 

EA: 05-l J960 
PPNO: 2843 

Pl: 0518000078 
AMT: 19155 

EA: 05-lJ830 
PPNO: 2775 

Pl: 0519000136 
AMT:21693 

EA: 05-l M400 
PPNO: 3012 

Project IDs 

Pl: 0519000067 
AMT: 19952 
EA: 05-lMl 10 
PPNO: 2725 

Pl: 0521000173 
AMT: 23331 
EA:05-lH47l 
PPNO: 2655Y 

Pl: 0519000037 
AMT: 19935 
EA: 05-l K900 

PPNO: 2880 

Caltrans District 5 Bi-Annual Project List for Santa Cruz County 

Projects Programmed in the Year: ,2023-2024 

Project Location 

County_Route _Postmlle 

SCR_l_8.2/26 

SCR_ 129 _L0.0/0.56 

SCR_9 _6.3/7 .2 

Project Description 

In and near the cities of Capitola and Santa Cruz. from north of 
Larkin Valley Road Undercrossing lo Laguna Road; also in 

Monterey County (PM Rl0l .53). Rehabilitate drainage systems. 

enhance highway worker safety. replace lighting and install 
Transportation Management System (TMS) elements. (201.151) 

In and near Watsonville, from Roule l lo east of Blackburn Street. 
Rehabilitate pavement and lighting. replace sign panels. and 
install Transportation Management System (TMS) elements. 
Construct new sidewalk. curb ramps. high visibility crosswalks. 
flashing beacons. and Class 2 and Class 3 bike lanes as complete 
streets elements. (201.121) 

Project Name 

SCr l Roadside Safety 

129 Paving. Sign Panels. 
Lighting. TMS Improvement 

Near Fellon. from Kirby Street lo north of Fall Creek Drive. Construct SR9 Fellon Pedestrian Safely 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities lo improve safely. (201.010) Improvements 

Projects Programmed in the Year: 202s-2026 

Project Location 

County_Route _Postmlle 

SCR_l_l7.5/20.2 

SCR_9 _0.046/0.046 

SCR_9 _ 18.897 /27 .094 

Project Description 

In and near the city of Santa Cruz. from south of River Street (Roule 
9) lo north of Western Drive. Rehabilitate pavement. reconstruct 
guardrail. replace sign panels. upgrade facilities lo Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) standards. and update crosswalks and repair 
Class 2 bike lanes. (201.121) 

Near Boulder Creek. at San Lorenzo River Bridge No. 36-0052 and 
Kings Creek Bridge No. 36-0054 (PM 15.49). Landscape mitigation 
and biological monitoring for parent project EA l H470. (201.110) 

Near Boulder Creek and Saratoga. from south of Saratoga Toll 
Road lo Roule 35. Rehabilitate pavement and drainage systems. 

and reconstruct guardrail. (201.121) 

Project Name 

Santa Cruz Roule l CAPM 

San Lorenzo River Bridge & 
Kings Creek Bridge 

Replacement Landscape 
Mitigation and Biological 

Monitoring 

Upper SCr 9 CAPM 

7 

Project Details 

Implementing Agency: 174 
Project Phase: 

45455 RTL Dale: PA&ED 
Contract Acceptance Dale: l /26/2026 

Implementing Agency: 726 
Project Phase: 

45413 RTL Dale: PS&E/RW 
Contract Acceptance Dale: l l /7 /2025 

Implementing Agency: 3903 
Project Phase: 

45425 RTL Dale: PA&ED 
Contract Acceptance Dale: 2/3/2027 

Project Details 

Implementing Agency: 190 
Project Phase: 

45919 RTL Date: PA&ED 
Contract Acceptance Date: 4/7/2027 

Implementing Agency: 300 
Project Phase: 

45854 RTL Dale: PS&E/RW 
Contract Acceptance Dale: 6/l 7 /2026 

Implementing Agency: 72 
Project Phase: 

46037 RTL Date: PA&ED 
Contract Acceptance Dale: 7/3/2028 

Construction Cost ($1,000) 

$12.389 

$8.440 

$4.591 

Construction Cost ($1,000) 

$8,892 

$1.400 

$7,529 

Project Manager 

Terry Thompson 805-503-5013 
lerry.lhompson@dol.ca.gov 

Madilyn Jacobsen 805-835-6328
Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov 

Doug Hessing 805-835-6568 
doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov 

Project Manager 

Madilyn Jacobsen 805-835-6328
Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov 

Doug Hessing 805-835-6568 
doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov 

Doug Hessing 805-835-6568 
doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov 

Santa Cruz County: Programmed Projects March 2023
25-25

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8
mailto:lerry.lhompson@dol.ca.gov
mailto:Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov
mailto:Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dol.ca.gov


Project IDs 

Pl: 0518000233 
AMT: 19156 

EA: 05-l K670 

PPNO: 2921 

PI: 0519000036 
AMT: 19939 
EA: 05-1 K890 

PPNO: 2879 

Caltrans District 5 Bi-Annual Project List for Santa Cruz County 

Programmed Long Lead Projects 

Project Location 

County_Route _Postmlle 

SCR_l7_0/l2.5 

SCR_9 _0.046/7 .5 

Project Description 

In and near the cities of Santa Cruz and Scoffs Valley. from Route l 

to Santa Clara County line at various locations. Construct and 

install stormwater quality Best Management Practices {BMPs) and 

rehabilitate drainage systems. {201.335) {Long Lead Project) 

In and near the city of Santa Cruz. Felton and Brackney, from 

Route l to south of El Solyo Heights Drive. Rehabilitate pavement 

and drainage systems. upgrade Transportation Management 
System {TMS) elements. reconstruct guardrail. replace sign panels. 

upgrade facilities to Americans with Disabilities Act {ADA) 
standards. and construct sidewalks and Class 2 bike lanes. {Long 

Lead project){20l.l2l) 

Project Name 

Hwy 17 Drainage 

Improvements 

South SCr 9 CAPM 

8 

Project Details 

Implementing Agency: 397 
Project Phase: 

46342 RTL Date: PA&ED 

Contract Acceptance Date: 7 /l 2/2029 

Implementing Agency: $887 
Partnering with SCCRTC on Complete 

Streets Elements 
Project Phase: 

46342 RTL Date: PA&ED 
Contract Acceptance Date: 7 /l 3/2029 

Construction Cost ($1,000) 

$4,632 

$14,724 

Project Manager 

Madilyn Jacobsen 805-835-6328
Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov 

Doug Hessing 805-835-6568 
doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov 

Santa Cruz County: Programmed Projects March 2023
25-26

https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8
mailto:Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov
mailto:doug.hessing@dot.ca.gov


Project IDs 

Pl: 0522000188 
AMT: 20003 
EA: 05-l Q250 

PPNO: 3106 

Pl: 0519000170 
AMT: 19943 
EA: 05-l M530 
PPNO: 3019 

Pl: 0521000139 
AMT: 22780 
EA: 05-l N900 

PPNO: 3066 

Pl: 0521000181 
AMT: 22890 
EA: 05-l Pl80 

PPNO: 3074 

Pl: 0522000105 
AMT: 23573 

EA: 05-l P770 

Pl:0521000170 
AMT: 22734 
EA: 05-l Pl lO 

PPNO: 3070 

Pl: 0522000174 
AMT: 20027 
EA:05-1Ql50 

PPNO: 3105 

Project IDs 

Pl: 
AMT: 20029 
EA: 
PPNO: 

Caltrans District 5 Bi-Annual Project List for Santa Cruz County 

Project lnititation Docucment Development: SHOPP Cycle 2024 

Project Location 

County_Route _Postmlle 
Project Description 

SCR_00l_l7.46117_66 
Construct continuous lightings to enhance motorist and pedestrian 

safety. 

Improve inlet/outlet of Drainage System at PM 5.11 and restore 

SCR_001_2.683/7.947 wildlife connectivity for sensitive species affected by adjacent 
projects. 

SCR_OOl_9.8/lO 

SCR_00l_R5/8.2 

SCR_l29_0.56/9.99 

SCR_l52_T0.3l/4. l4 

Abandon/Remove Culvert. Construct Retaining Wall/Bridge 

Widen existing paved inside shoulder to improve vehicle drift 

recovery 

This project will satisty mitigation needs of multiple transportation 

projects that are anticipated to impact wetland and non-wetland 

waters as well as CRLF. CTS. and Tidewater Goby. 

Preserve 8.252 lane miles of flexible Class 2 pavement and 9.218 
miles of flexible Class 3 pavement using 3R strategy from T0.310 to 
R2.0 and CAPM strategy from R2.0 to 4.14. rehabilitate/replace 
drainage structure. replace culverts. rehabilitate traffic signals. 
upgrade curb ramps. reconstruct guardrail. replace sign panels. 
and complete streets. 

Construct curb extension (an extension of a road diet strategy). 

SCR_l 52_T2.45/T2.929 and high visibility ladder style crosswalk. to enhance pedestrian 
safety. 

Project Name 

SRl /SR9 Junction Lighting 
Project 

Santa Cruz Long-toed 
Salamander Connectivity & 

Drainage Project 

Valencia Creek 
Improvement Project 

Inside Shoulder Widening 

Advanced Mitigation 

TBD 

Downtown Watsonville Safety 
Project 

Proposed Future Projects: 2021-T en Year Plan 

Project Location 

County_Route _Postmlle 
Project Description 

Proposed future project will address Pavement in Santa Cruz 
SCR_l29_0.56/9.998 County on Route 129 From Salsipuedes Creek Bridge to Santa 

Cruz/San Benito County Line. 

Project Name 

Future Santa Cruz County 
Pavement Project 

Project Details 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

45839 RTL Date: K-Phase 

Contract Acceptance Date: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

45838 RTL Dale: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Dale: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

47 665 RTL Dale: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Dale: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

4547 4 RTL Dale: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Dale: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

45352 RTL Date: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Date: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

47 665 RTL Date: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Date: TBD 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

45839 RTL Dale: K-Phase 
Contract Acceptance Dale: TBD 

Project Details 

Implementing Agency: 
Project Phase: 

46935 RTL Date: Pre-PID 
Contract Acceptance Date: TBD 

Construction Cost ($1,000) 

$1.300 

$1.100 

$5.448 

$3.500 

$3,558 

$25. 134 

$4.100 

Construction Cost ($1,000) 

$11.859 

Project Manager 

Terry Thompson 805-503-5013 
terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov 

Meg Henry 805-441-3792 
meg.henry@dol .ca.gov 

Nicholas Heisdort 805-835-6558 
nicholas.heisdort@dol .ca.gov 

Terry Thompson 805-503-5013 
terry .thompson@dol .ca.gov 

Meg Henry 805-441-3792 

meg.henry@dot.ca.gov 

Madilyn Jacobsen 805-835-6328
Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov

Madilyn Jacobsen 805-835-6328
Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov

Project Manager 

TBD 

9 Santa Cruz County: Current and Future PID Developement March 2023
25-27

mailto:terry.thompson@dot.ca.gov
mailto:meg.henry@dot.ca.gov
mailto:Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov
mailto:Madilyn.Jacobsen@dot.ca.gov
https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8


For the very latest updates, check out the District 5 SHOPP Webviewer Tool: https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=97ceb019d16a4445acb3ae92cfaf8ca8 

March 2023
25-28



  

--- Public Hearing Scheduled for 10:00 a.m.--- 

 
AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

 
TO: Regional Transportation Commission 
 
FROM: Amanda Marino, Transportation Planner 
 
RE: 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee and staff recommend 
that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC): 
 
1. Adopt the 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List (Attachment 1), 

with revisions as appropriate, following the public hearing; and, 
 

2. Consider unmet transit and paratransit needs as funding becomes available. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The State allocates ¼ cent share of the state's 7.25 cent sales tax to the Regional 
Transportation Commission according to state law. TDA statutes require 
transportation planning agencies using TDA funds for local streets and roads 
projects, to implement a public process, including a public hearing, to identify 
unmet transit needs of transit dependent or disadvantaged persons, and determine 
if unmet transit needs can be reasonably met. Although the RTC does not allocate 
TDA funds to local streets and roads projects, and therefore is not required to 
perform this analysis, the RTC endeavors to solicit regular input on unmet transit 
and paratransit needs to provide a useful tool to identify and prioritize transit 
funding needs in the region. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Serving as the social services transportation advisory council per TDA statutes, the 
Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee (E&D TAC) regularly hears 
and considers unmet transit and paratransit needs in Santa Cruz County. Unmet 
transit and paratransit needs are those transportation needs which are not being 
met by the current public transit system, have community support, and do not 
duplicate transit services provided publicly or privately. 
 
Attached for the Regional Transportation Commission's consideration is the 2023 
Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs list (Attachment 1). The 2023 Unmet Transit 
Needs List is shown in Attachment 1 with updates since the 2022 Unmet Transit 
Needs list using underline and strikeout. The unmet needs are prioritized using 
high, medium and low rankings, and within each category there are three levels 

27-1



  

indicating to what extent the needs, if addressed, would advance regional 
transportation plan goals. 
 
The Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List and process of soliciting public input 
is a tool to identify transit and paratransit needs, services, and project funding 
priorities for future State Transit Assistance (STA), Low Carbon Transit Operations 
Program (LCTOP), Transportation Development Act (TDA), State of Good Repair 
(SGR), FTA5310, TNC Access for All, greenhouse gas reduction, and other funds. 
Development of the 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs considers needs 
identified through various means including: 
 

• Input from the Elderly and Disabled Transportation Advisory Committee 
(E&D TAC); 

• Input from staff of Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District, Community 
Bridges Lift Line serving as the Coordinated Transportation Services 
Agency, and the Volunteer Center; and 

• Comments submitted by members of the public, partner agencies, RTC 
staff and RTC commissioners. 

 
The Draft 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs list was posted on the RTC 
website and a notice of availability was sent to interest groups, senior living 
facilities, senior centers, local jurisdictions, and transportation service providers. 
Public input was received using the online form included as Attachment 2 available 
in both English and Spanish. Public comments include increasing frequency, 
reliability, and transit stops county-wide. The Draft 2023 Unmet Paratransit Needs 
List was considered by the E&D TAC at its April 11, 2023 meeting and recommends 
approval with revisions as appropriate following the public hearing. The E&D TAC 
recommended removing the item to monitor the TNC Access For All Program to 
expand on-demand wheelchair accessible transportation service due to the RTC 
currently implementing the program.  
 
The E&D TAC and staff recommend that the RTC adopt the 2023 Unmet 
Transit and Paratransit Needs list, with revisions as appropriate, 
following the public hearing, and consider unmet paratransit and transit 
needs as funding is available. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
TDA statutes require transportation planning agencies to consult with their 
designated social services transportation advisory councils to annually identify transit 
needs. Although the RTC does not allocate TDA funds to local streets and roads 
projects, and therefore is not required to perform an analysis of unmet transit needs, 
the RTC endeavors to solicit regular input on unmet paratransit and transit needs to 
provide a useful tool to prioritize needs in the region. The E&D TAC and staff 
recommend adoption of the 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs with revisions 
as appropriate, following the public hearing on the item. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Final Draft 2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs 
2. Public Comment on Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs list 

27-2



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List  Page 1 of 11 

2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List 

Prioritization of Need:  
H - High priority items are those items that fill a gap or absence of ongoing of 

service. 
M - Medium priority items that supplement existing service. 
L - Low priority items should become more specific and then be planned for, as 
funds are available.  
1-3 Graduated scale indicates to what extent the need, if addressed, would:
increase the number of individuals who are within a 30-minute transit trip to
key destinations; increase transit mode share and reduce greenhouse gas
emissions; improve safety; support economic vitality by way of decreasing
transportation costs; or, improve cost-effectiveness of transportation services.

Strategies: 
 Proposals and suggestions to address need, including programs and projects.
 Updates since the 2022 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs list

areshown using underline and strikeout.

General 

1. H1 - Safe travel paths between senior and/or disabled living areas,
medical facilities, educational facilities, employment locations, retail
centers, entertainment venues, bus stops, and/or potential future transit
stations on the rail line.

 Improve accessibility at and to bus stops - such as, but not limited
to, sidewalk and crosswalk improvements connecting destinations
frequented by senior and disabled individuals and transit stops such
as, but not limited to, those identified in the RTC Safe Paths of
Travel Final Report.

 Secure funding assistance to make Safe Paths of Travel
improvements.

 Expand publicity regarding sidewalk maintenance.

2. H1 - Transportation services to areas with high concentrations of seniors,
disabled and low income individuals.

 Support alternative transportation programs, such as vanpool
programs, serving low income and senior housing areas outside of
the transit service area in south county.

 Explore pilot projects, such as regularly scheduled paratransit trips
two-three times per week, to serve residents.

 Secure funding for taxi voucher programs for senior and low income
individuals.

Attachment 1

27-3



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 2 of 11 
 
   

 Provide affordable and desirable housing for seniors and low income 
individuals within the existing transit service area. 

 Provide incentives for senior and social services and medical and 
social services providers to be located in existing transit service 
areas. 

 Support programs that encourage ridesharing to destinations 
popular with seniors or high concentrations of seniors. 

 Seek volunteer drivers to provide transportation services. 
 Evaluate on-demand transit services. 
 Increase bus service near senior living facilities.  

 
3. H3 - Transportation services for low-income families with children, 

including transportation for people transitioning from welfare to work. 
 Support welfare to work programs and training programs.  
 Support transportation programs dedicated to serving low-income 

families with children. 
 Seek volunteer drivers for transportation family members to visits at 

detention facilities. 
 Provide taxi vouchers to low income families. 
 Reinstate ride to work programs. 
 Provide youth bus passes to low income households 

 
4. H1 - Transportation services for caregivers of senior and disabled clients.  

 Support programs providing transportation for caregivers to clients. 
 Provide taxi voucher to caregivers. 
 Reinstate ride to work programs.  

 
Paratransit/Specialized Transportation Services 

 

5. H1 - Coordinated and seamless-to-the-public system of specialized 
transportation with a Mobility Management Center (central information 
point, one stop shop). 

 Assess feasibility and seek funds for development/start-up of the 
center, and assess entities already providing information and 
referral services.  

 Utilize information technology solutions to provide transit 
information that is accessible to all users. 

6. H1 - Wheel chair accessible vehicles for taxis and transportation network 
company services 

 Monitor the Transportation Network Company (TNC) Access for All 
program. 

 Evaluate other comparable options to provide services (i.e new 
companies, subcontract with services equipped with wheelchair 
vehicles). 

 Provide on demand paratransit service. 

27-4



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 3 of 11 
 
   

 Ensure accessible public taxi service for those using mobility 
devices. 

 Ensure accessible on demand ride share service for those using 
mobility devices. 

 Add multi-person ride access to on-demand TNC ride share services 
to lower cost and carbon footprint.  
 

 
7. M1 - Paratransit service for the people who lost paratransit service due to 

changes in Santa Cruz Metro ParaCruz program in 2015. 
 Support policies that expand ADA mandated paratransit service 

area. 
 Support programs providing specialized transportation to areas 

outside the ADA-mandated paratransit service area for a fee or at 
no cost.  

 Expand taxi voucher program. 
 

8. H2 – Access to paratransit services on all holidays. 
 Extend existing paratransit services to holidays. 
 Support taxi voucher programs. 

 
9. H1 - Specialized transportation for areas outside the ADA-mandated 

paratransit service area for medical, non-medical trips. 
 Secure funding for taxi voucher programs. 
 Provide affordable and desirable housing for seniors and disabled 

individuals within ADA paratransit service area. 
 Provide incentives for senior and social services to be located in 

transit service areas. 
 Support programs providing specialized transportation to areas 

outside the ADA-mandated paratransit service area for a fee or at 
no cost.  

 Support continuous funding for transportation to medical services. 
 Seek volunteer drivers to provide transportation services from areas 

not served by transit or ADA paratransit service.  
 Identify priority origins and destinations outside the ADA service 

area.     
 

10. H1- Free or low-cost paratransit options. 
 Provide funding for programs that provide discounted and free 

paratransit rides. 
 Support programs that provide on-demand ADA accessible rides. 
 Support increased specialized transportation services to low-income 

and disabled individuals for educational and work opportunities at 
higher education institutions (UCSC and Cabrillo). 

27-5



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 4 of 11 
 
   

 
11. H2 - Direct paratransit and accessible transit connections with 

neighboring counties- including Monterey (Pajaro), San Benito, Santa 
Clara and other points north.  

 Establish direct inter-regional fixed route accessible transit service. 
 Develop plan to coordinate between agencies providing specialized 

transportation services in neighboring counties.  
 Support programs providing inter-regional specialized transportation 

for a fee or at no cost.  
 Establish feeder services to inter-regional accessible transit services. 

 
12. M1 - Affordable transportation for dialysis and other medical 

appointments, including ‘same day’ specialized transportation services for 
medical trips, on a continuous basis.  

 Support continuous funding for ‘same day’ transportation to medical 
and emergency and essential services. 

 Support continuous funding for no or low-cost specialized 
transportation to medical appointments. 

 Increase capacity of existing programs providing transportation to 
dialysis and other medical appointments.  

 Secure funding for taxi voucher programs. 
 

13. M2 - Transportation for programs that promote senior and disabled 
individuals health, safety and independence including, but not limited to, 
all senior meal sites in the county, the stroke centers, medical facilities, 
and senior activity centers.  
 Support continuous funding for transportation services to meal sites. 
 Provide transit and paratransit services to medical service centers. 
 Support volunteer drivers to provide transportation services. 

 
14. M2 – Conduct targeted outreach to seniors, people living with 

disabilities, and transportation service providers to provide information 
about transportation options and safety. 
 Provide safe driving and transit information at locations with 

concentrations of seniors. 
 Support field trips to events by bus (“Mobility Trainer” and “Bus by 

Choice” models) 
 Annual updates to transportation service providers including, but not 

limited to, providers included in the Guide for Specialized 
Transportation about paratransit service options. 
  

15. L2 - Publicity about existing specialized transportation services including 
ADA paratransit, non-ADA paratransit, taxi services, Medi-Cal rides and 
mobility training for people to use regular fixed route buses. 

27-6



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 5 of 11 
 
   

 Streamline communication activities by establishing a central point 
of contact within health providers to disseminate information about 
specialized transportation services.  

 Support continuous funding for communication and outreach 
activities. 

 
16. H2 - Volunteer drivers in Santa Cruz County particularly in south-county 

and San Lorenzo Valley.  
 Expand outreach efforts to recruit drivers and promote services. 
 Support for the Volunteer Center Transportation Program. 

 
17. M2 - Affordable special care trips and gurney vehicle for medically fragile 

individuals and those needing "bed to bed" transportation. 
 Provide vouchers for specialized care trips. 
 Identify a service provider for gurney trips and assist in 

procurement of a vehicle for services. 
 Partner with assisted living and hospice care to provide services. 
 Publicize availability of services, if available. 

 
18. M3 - Ongoing provision of ADA Paratransit certification, provided by 

Santa Cruz Metro, at group facilities.  
 Provide on-site services to reach a greater number of individuals. 

 
19. M3 - Specialized transportation services for people living with a cognitive 

impairments, dementia or mental health diagnosis. 
 Provide on demand transportation services for people living with a 

mental health diagnosis. 
 Provide services designated to assisting people with mental illness 

navigate transit and paratransit eligiblity requirements.  
 

20. L1 - Specialized transportation for ‘same day’ low cost non-medical trips. 
 Expand taxi voucher program. 
 Support “on-call” volunteer drive programs. 

 
21. L3 - Anticipate growing demand for services by projecting funding needs 

for specialized transportation (including fixed route, ADA and non-ADA 
Paratransit) to provide transportation services to the senior population 
expected to increase over the next 15 to 30 years.  
 Identify funding needs for paratransit over a 15-30 year horizon.   
 Designated funding source for paratransit service.  

 
22. M1 - Provide increased UCSC on-campus paratransit service between 

campus to campus destinations. 

27-7



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 6 of 11 
 
   

 Increase existing UCSC specialized transportation services to 
supplement increased demand. 

 
 
Paratransit/Specialized Transportation Capital  
 

23. H1 - ParaCruz operating facilities. 
 Acquire and develop permanent operations and maintenance facility 

for ParaCruz to reduce operating cost. 
 Increase funding opportunities for paratransit capital projects.  

 
24. M2 - Consolidated Transportation Services Agency operating facilities. 

 Increase funding opportunities for paratransit capital projects.  
 

25. H2 - Paratransit vehicle replacements. 
 Increase funding opportunities for paratransit capital projects 

including funding for electric vehicles and/or zero emission vehicles. 
 Take measures to include electric vehicles as option for purchase in 

the Section 5310 grant program. 
 

26. H2 – Electric Vehicle Charging Stations 
 Support funding for electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 

Provide an electric vehicle emergency preparedness plan that includes 
battery storage, vehicles, and facilities. 

 
Transit Services 
 

27. H1 – Greater frequency and span of transit service in densely populated 
areas with a mix of land uses.  
 Increase service level between downtown Santa Cruz and Capitola 

Mall Transit Center through the Live Oak corridor. 
 Enhance service on Mission Street.  
 Extend transit service hours later in the evening and early in the 

morning serving Cabrillo College and commercial centers of Santa 
Cruz/Live Oak/ Watsonville. 

 Enhance service to employment entities.  
 Enhance service on Scotts Valley Drive. 
 Enhance service in Soquel and Old San Jose Road. 
 Enhance service in Aptos.  
 Enhance service in Corralitos. 
 Enhance service on Santas Village Rd.  
 Enhance service on Pacific Ave connecting the boardwalk to the 

Town Clock. 
 

27-8



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 7 of 11 
 
   

 
 

28. H1 – Greater evening frequency and span of transit service in coverage-
oriented areas, in keeping with METRO service standards. 
 San Lorenzo Valley Route 35 variants (Mt. Store and Country Club) 
 Local Watsonville services 
 La Selva Beach 
 Consider cCreateing an “All Nighter” (24-hour) circular bus network 

providing late-night and early-morning bus service in countywide 
connecting downtown areas. 
 

 
29. M1 – More transit service to UCSC. 

 Increase weekend and weekday UCSC service. 
 Increase service to UCSC campus. 
 Increase service to the University of Santa Cruz employment center in 

Scotts Valley.  
 

30. H1 - More interregional and cross county transit services. 
 Increase Hwy 17 weekend service frequency.  
 Provide transit service from Santa Cruz County to Los Gatos. 
 Provide direct transit service to San Jose Airport. 
 Enhance Monterey County to Santa Cruz County service including 

connections to the Salinas Intermodal Transportation Center 
 Support for an integrated transit network, which includes transit 

services on a dedicated transit facility on the rail right-of-way 
consistent with the Unified Corridor Investment Study and the 
Transit Corridor Alternatives Analysis. 

 Provide direct bus transit service from San Lorenzo Valley to Los 
Gatos.  

 Provide direct transit connection between Live Oak and San Jose 
Diridon Station. 

 Implementation of express bus service using bus‐on‐shoulder 
operations on Hwy 1. 

 
 

31. H1 – Free and low-cost transportation options, including fixed-route 
transit services. 
 Support programs that provide transportation services, including, 

but not limited to bus services, for a reduced or no fee. 
 Seek volunteer drivers to provide transportation services. 

Support programs that allow seniors, disabled, and low-income 
individuals to ride free during designated time periods. 

 Provide free transit rides to jurors and veterans. 

27-9



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 8 of 11 
 
   

 Provide free transit rides on election days. 
 

32. H3M1 – More transit service between primary destinations in Santa Cruz 
County. 
 Provide service between Capitola Mall and Cabrillo.  
 Expand transit service to new residential and commercial areas in 

Watsonville. 
 Improve north - south transit connections (ex. Soquel Ave/Drive \ to 

coastal communities). 
 Support for an integrated transit network, which includes transit 

services on a dedicated transit facility on the rail right-of-way 
consistent with Unified Corridor Investment Study and the Transit 
Corridor Alternatives Analysis.  

 Provide single trip service.  
 Provide express bus service from Watsonville to Scotts Valley. 
 Increase bus service to libraries, and other public venues, public 

agencies, and sheriff offices.  
 Increased transit service using bus‐on‐shoulder facilities on Hwy 1 

and transit prioritization on Soquel Drive.  
 
 

33. M2 - More transit service to facilities providing medical, health and other 
social services. 
 Provide transit service to medical facilities. 
 Provide medical, health, and social services within the existing 

transit service area. 
 

34. M2 - Access to transportation services on all holidays. 
 Provide regular Santa Cruz Metro service on holidays. 
 Support taxi voucher programs. 
 Support volunteer transportation services. 

 
35. H2 - Easier and faster transit trips system wide.  

 Enhance connections through increasing the span and frequency of 
service.  

 
36. H2 - Faster run times on transit routes.  

 Investigate opportunities for transit priority lanes and signal priority. 
 Pursue right turn pockets for bypass lanes for buses service and 

transit priority on Soquel Ave/Drive and Freedom consistent with the 
Unified Corridor Investment Study. 

 Consider direct services between more locations, reducing need for 
transfers. 
 

27-10



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 9 of 11 
 
   

37. M2 - Intra-community service in Santa Cruz County communities. 
 Develop San Lorenzo Valley circulator. 
 Develop Scotts Valley circulator. 
 Investigate need for intra-community and neighborhood transit 

services 
 Consider partnerships with ride-hail and/or taxi services for first/last 

mile connections. 
 Develop Micro Transit programs in San Lorenzo Valley, Scotts 

Valley, Soquel, Aptos, and Watsonville.  
 
 

38. L2 - Transit service to major tourist destinations. 
 Provide transit service to Waddell Creek and North Coast and 

Highway 17 direct service to Boardwalk on weekends. 
 

39. H2 - Commuter transit service.   
 Extend Highway 17 service to Watsonville, or improve connections 

between Watsonville-Santa Cruz service and Highway 17 service. 
 Provide faster commute option for transit riders between SLV and 

Santa Cruz.  
 

40. L3 - Special event services. 
 Establish program to coordinate with Santa Cruz Visitor Center and 

partner agencies to provide special event services.  
 

Transit Capital  
 

41. H3 – Bus stops.  
 Provide ADA compliant bus stops. 
 Prioritize bus stop improvements and shelter replacement based on 

high usage by seniors and people with disabilities.  
 Install braille and raised numbers on bus signage at bus stops 

indicating which bus routes are being offered at each stop (or a 
technology-based way finding alternative). 

 Provide the ability to lower the height of braille for wheelchair 
access. 

 Work with local jurisdictions to provide bus shelters, benches and 
increased lighting at all bus stops and connecting crosswalks 
including in-pavement lighting fixtures, solar LED overhead lights, 
and in-road warning lights. 

 Increase sidewalk connectivity at bus stops and overhead LED 
lighting at connecting crosswalks.  

 Reinstate and fund bus stop committee to study and monitor bus 
stop accessibility.  

27-11



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 10 of 11 
 
   

 Add bus stop at intersection of Granite Creek Rd and Santa’s Village 
Rd on the southwest corner after Hwy17 exit 5. 

 Install bus stop amenities such as digital bus tracking and 
information displays, USB charging, and Wi-Fi for transit users.  

 Construct bus shelters at all park and ride lots in Santa Cruz County. 
 

42. M1 – Maintenance of existing transit facilities. 
 Support funding for maintenance of bus stops, parking lots, transit 

centers, buildings. 
 
43. H1 – Bus replacement: Replace buses beyond useful life as needed 

including buses, including buses providing rural service.  
 Support funding for transit capital improvements. 
 Support funding for electric vehicle bus replacements and electric 

vehicle charging stations. 
 

44. H1 - Transit station improvements.  
 Investigate options for renovation or redevelopment of Santa Cruz 

Metro Center. 
 Coordinate improvements to Capitola Transit Center with Capitola 

Mall ownership. 
 Coordinate improvements of the Watsonville Transit Center’s transit 

facilities and provide increased parking. 
 Install bike lockers at transit stations. 

 
45. H1 - Faster transit travel times. 

 Installation of transponders on all buses for signal priority on major 
corridors improving traffic flow, reducing travel time, and improving 
on-time performance.  

 Support and seek funding for bus on shoulder on Highway 1. 
 

46. H1 – Dedicated transit facilities. 
 Right-of-way improvements and stations along Santa Cruz Branch 

Rail Line if a bus rapid transit (BRT) or rail service is developed 
consistent with the Unified Corridor Investment Study and the 
Transit Corridor Alternatives Analysis. 

 Multimodal transfer facilities at stations along the Santa Cruz Branch 
Rail Line if BRT or rail service is developed. 

 Implementation of bus‐on‐shoulder operations on portions of Hwy 1.  
 

47. H3 - New equipment to assist with real-time operations, security, 
scheduling and planning. 

27-12



2023 Draft Unmet Transit and Paratransit and Needs List      Page 11 of 11 
 
   

 Automated Vehicle Location (AVL) System to provide better 
monitoring of on-time performance and more accurate data 
reporting. 

 Automatic Passenger Counting (APC) system to make mandatory 
reporting more efficient and improve data for service planning. 

 Install audio and video surveillance system for all buses. 
 Install audio and video surveillance system for all buses 
 Electronic fare payment for more convenient payment options and 

to speed up boarding. 
 Modernize planning and scheduling software for more efficient 

service planning and better community outreach. 
 

48. M1– More multimodal connections to transit. 
 Construct park and ride lots in strategic locations along inter-city 

routes that lack adequate feeder service.  
 Bike lockers and/or bike share stations at key locations to facilitate 

first/last mile of travel.   
 Dedicated a park and ride lot near Hwy 1, connecting to transit 

service in Watsonville. 
 Expand transit service at the Pasatiempo park and ride lot.    

 
 

49. M3 - Wifi expansion on buses. 
 Install wifi equipment at all facilities and on all buses.  
 Partner with private companies to provide wifi. 

 

27-13



Name 
(First/Last)

Do you use public 
transit or 

paratransit van 
services in Santa 

Cruz County?

If no, why do you 
choose not to use 

public 
transportation?

If yes, please 
select the 

services you've 
used. Check all 

that apply.

Do you drive 
a car for 

some of your 
trips?

Where do you 
usually take the 

bus or 
paratransit? Chec
k all that apply.

Are there places 
you would like to 

access by transit in 
Santa Cruz County, 

but can't?

What trips would you like 
to take by bus, shuttle, or 
other transit but cannot 

make now?

What would 
make it easier to 

ride the bus?

Describe a need which is not being met by the 
current public transit system and how it could 

be addressed to improve transit and/or 
paratransit service.

The need 
described is 
located in:

What do you think should be the 
highest priority for transit funding in 

Santa Cruz County? 
Examples include: reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions; making it 
easier for people with limited incomes 

t...

How do you commonly 
access information about 

transit schedules, routes, bus 
stop locations, and fare 

prices? Check all that apply.

James Barrett No-Never
prefer to bike or 

drive by 
ourselves

Yes-often No none no build more bike paths

Connie 
gabriel Wilson Yes-Sometimes

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-
sometimes Yes

Would like to see transit 
options for the new Keyser 
facility along the frontage 
road. Also more frequent 

transit along the main 
routes and corridors.  With 
so much new building the 

bus is going to be critical in 
our transportation modes

More frequency 
Frequency is critical in more folks utilizing the 

bus system.   Adequate space for cyclists to ride 
along city streets with traffic and bus services 

City of Santa 
Cruz;Unincorpor

ated 
County;County 

wide;

All of the above. Thanks 

Paper Schedules/ Ride Guide 
Books, Ex: Guide to 

Specialized Transportation 
https://sccrtc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/11/202
2GuideSpecTransport-

PRINT.pdf;Cruz511: https://cr
uz511.org/;

Not now, but did in 
the past

No service in our 
area

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD); Yes-often 

Shopping
; Yes Anywhere! Provide service 

Although LSB residents pay taxes, the Metro 
provides services to residents who don’t pay 
taxes, such as UCSC students or people who 

commute from San Jose 

Unincorporated 
County;

Add highway 1 lanes from Watsonville 
to State Park and provide a county 

wide bus service!

david van 
brink Yes-often

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-
sometimes

Shopping
;Recreation;Medi

cal 
Appointments;

No

I can do most trips I need 
by bus, but better 

connections or more often 
would help.

Tap phone or 
tap credit card, 
without fussing 
around with an 

app. Just pay 
and board, as 

easy as 
Starbucks.

here's a need I see not being met: "Getting 
people out of cars." Most neighbors and 

people I know don't even consider using our 
bus system. Part of that is education: they 

haven't looked into it, or ever used it, and also 
our routes are a little tricky to explain because 

thats how our town is.  Part of that is 
marketing, need to make it acceptable to ride 

even if you're a grownup with a fancy car. ANd 
part of it is quality of experience -- nicer "first 

world" bus stops, easy credit-card tap-pay, and 
nice buses (I've seen our buses getting better, 

so that's nice!).

County wide;

"reducing greenhouse gas emissions" 
which is the same as "getting regular 

people to consider public transit" 
which is the same as "increase quality 

of life by not having to drive".

We all support good transit for those 
with no other choice... but to help save 
the planet (pardon my drama) need to 
encourage "regular people" to ride too.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;At the Stop/Station, 

Ex: Schedule by Stop: 
https://www.scmtd.com/en/ri

ders-guide;google maps 
shows stops and arrival times 

(but sometimes out of date 
oops) and the new realtime 
metro maps are totally cool 

too;

Eva Sherman No-Never
It's faster to bike 
or drive to do my 

errands.
Yes-often 

Most of my family's transit needs could be met 
via bicycle. Santa Cruz is flat and it's easy to get 
around by bike. What prevents us from riding 
bikes more often is the danger and proximity 

and speed of the cars.  If SC had more fully 
dedicated/ separated from cars/ lanes we 

would ride out bikes everywhere. We just do 
not feel safe on the bike. Or part of the trip is 

safe ( for example along the river levies).but as 
soon as I have to get on the street I don't 

feel.safe.  This includes Broadway and Murray. 

City of Santa 
Cruz;

See above. More and safer bicycle lanes Third Party Websites (i.e. 
Google Maps etc.);

2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List Public Comment Form Attachment 2

27-14



Name 
(First/Last)

Do you use public 
transit or 

paratransit van 
services in Santa 

Cruz County?

If no, why do you 
choose not to use 

public 
transportation?

If yes, please 
select the 

services you've 
used. Check all 

that apply.

Do you drive 
a car for 

some of your 
trips?

Where do you 
usually take the 

bus or 
paratransit? Chec
k all that apply.

Are there places 
you would like to 

access by transit in 
Santa Cruz County, 

but can't?

What trips would you like 
to take by bus, shuttle, or 
other transit but cannot 

make now?

What would 
make it easier to 

ride the bus?

Describe a need which is not being met by the 
current public transit system and how it could 

be addressed to improve transit and/or 
paratransit service.

The need 
described is 
located in:

What do you think should be the 
highest priority for transit funding in 

Santa Cruz County? 
Examples include: reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions; making it 
easier for people with limited incomes 

t...

How do you commonly 
access information about 

transit schedules, routes, bus 
stop locations, and fare 

prices? Check all that apply.

Anna Kammer Not now, but did in 
the past

It would be great 
to have more 
frequent bus 

service within the 
Watsonville area.

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-
sometimes

Shopping
;Social Activities;

Yes

It would be nice to have 
summer bus service to 
Palm Beach and Sunset 

Beach.

Having 
comfortable bus 

stops with shelters 
and benches in 

Watsonville would 
make the travel 
experience more 

comfortable. More 
frequent service 
would be great 
(every 15 min. 

instead of every 
hour or half hour.)

Please install sheltered bus stops with benches 
on the #71 route especially along Clifford Dr. 

and along Main St.

City of 
Watsonville;

Continue the program to provide low-
cost or free transit to Cabrillo College 

(Aptos) from Watsonville. It's great that 
the free bus fares for students in 
grades K-12 were implemented. 

Advocate for dedicated bus-only lanes 
to make bus travel faster, more 
efficient and more attractive to 

possible new users.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;Cruz511: https://cruz

511.org/;

Casey KirkHart
Not now, but did in 

the past

There is no coastal 
trail to ride my 

bike safely around 
the county. The 

bus line that 
serves my home 
was cut. Public 

transit to the San 
Jose Airport is too 
complicated and 

takes too long.

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD); Yes-often 

Work;airport;Soci
al Activities; Yes

I would ride my bike all 
over the county if the 

coastal trail was in place. 
Downtown Santa Cruz, to 
work, my kids would take 

transit to school if it existed. 

More safe bike 
routes. More bus 
routes. Accurate 

app to track 
buses. Cashless, 
app-based fare. 

No coastal trail - folks can't ride their bikes 
safely to/from work, school, shopping. More 

buses from south county to specific work 
places not downtown Santa Cruz (e.g. medical 

centers on Soquel). More bus options for 
elementary, middle and high school students.

County wide;City 
of 

Watsonville;City 
of Santa Cruz;

Fund the interim coastal trail so we can 
start riding bikes on the coastal trail 

now!

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;Third Party Websites 

(i.e. Google Maps etc.);Mobile 
Apps (please specify in the 

box below);

Jack Brown Yes-Sometimes
METRO Bus 

(SCMTD); Yes-often 
Work;Recreation;
Social Activities; Yes

Trips to mid-south county. 
Too much time to catch 
Highway 17 or work bus 

from south county

More express 
service from mid 
county to Transit 

Center. or 
Highway 17 

Express starting 
in Mid County.

All around. Too much pressure to add rail 
service that is redundant to most bus lines but 

would cost the same as half the operating 
budget for everywhere else. Let's add more 

routes, more frequency, Bus only lanes, better 
status info and on demand service for 

paratransit and Lift Line

Unincorporated 
County;County 

wide;City of 
Capitola;City of 

Scotts Valley;City 
of 

Watsonville;City 
of Santa Cruz;

Active Transit and better Metro service
Transit Agency's 

Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;email notifications;

Barry Scott No-Never

While I live on a 
route, the 55, 
service is too 

infrequent and it 
doesn't go where I 

most need to go 
without a transfer 

and long delay.

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD); Yes-often 

Shopping
; Yes

Easy connections to greater 
Bay Area transit 

connections from Rio Del 
Mar

A smartphone 
app coupled 

with an 
expanded 
system.  

Integration with 
a regular rail 

corridor 
backbone 

service.

A facility exists in the form of the Branch Rail 
Line which bypasses congestion and connects 

many of my most common destinations.  This is 
the single greatest advancement Metro can 

make.

City of Santa 
Cruz;City of 

Watsonville;City 
of 

Capitola;Unincor
porated 

County;County 
wide;

Increasing capacity through Capital 
investments and expanding service for 

all, with additional attention and 
service provided to young people, the 

working poor, and disabled.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;Cruz511: https://cruz

511.org/;

2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List Public Comment Form Attachment 2

27-15



Name 
(First/Last)

Do you use public 
transit or 

paratransit van 
services in Santa 

Cruz County?

If no, why do you 
choose not to use 

public 
transportation?

If yes, please 
select the 

services you've 
used. Check all 

that apply.

Do you drive 
a car for 

some of your 
trips?

Where do you 
usually take the 

bus or 
paratransit? Chec
k all that apply.

Are there places 
you would like to 

access by transit in 
Santa Cruz County, 

but can't?

What trips would you like 
to take by bus, shuttle, or 
other transit but cannot 

make now?

What would 
make it easier to 

ride the bus?

Describe a need which is not being met by the 
current public transit system and how it could 

be addressed to improve transit and/or 
paratransit service.

The need 
described is 
located in:

What do you think should be the 
highest priority for transit funding in 

Santa Cruz County? 
Examples include: reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions; making it 
easier for people with limited incomes 

t...

How do you commonly 
access information about 

transit schedules, routes, bus 
stop locations, and fare 

prices? Check all that apply.

Dean Coffman Yes-often
METRO Bus 

(SCMTD); Yes-often 
Recreation;Shopp

ing
;Social Activities;

Yes

Doctors office on Capitola 
Ave. 

La Selva Beach
New Brighton Middle 

School. 
Santa Cruz Gardens 

Elementary. 
Santa Cruz Animal Shelter

Portola Drive
Twin Lakes

better and wider 
sidewalks. 

Not having to 
take so many 

transfers, 
especially when 
going between 
west side and 
the rest of the 

county. 

Most routes are east/west and it is very 
difficult to go north/south

County 
wide;Unincorpor

ated County;

Increasing frequency so it's not 
necessary to schedule 3 hours each 

way. 

Integration with Apple Maps

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;Third Party Websites 

(i.e. Google Maps etc.);

Mike Pisano Yes-often METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-often 

Recreation;Social 
Activities;Medical 

Appointments;Sh
opping

Yes

To work at the Enterprise 
Technology Center with no 
close bus stop. It is a 3 hour 

commute for a 15 minute 
drive by a solo driver from 

Soquel.

More frequent 
headways, and 
add an express 

route from 
Watsonville to 
Scotts Valley 

drive. Have 91x 
have a time stop 
in Soquel Village.

Getting to work timely, and not wake up an 
hour early to catch a bus for a 10 minute drive.

City of Scotts 
Valley;Unincorpo

rated 
County;County 

wide;

Lower carbon footprint, and trying to 
convince my work to continue working 

remotely.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c

om/en/;Realtime;

Micky Rotell Yes-Sometimes

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);Lift Line 

(Community 
Bridges);

Yes-
sometimes

Shopping
;Medical 

Appointments;So
cial Activities;

Yes
More often, 

more 
destinations

Not often enough, too long wait

City of Santa 
Cruz;City of 

Capitola;Unincor
porated 

County;County 
wide;

More routes for Metro bus

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c

om/en/;Paper Schedules/ 
Ride Guide Books, Ex: Guide 

to Specialized Transportation 
https://sccrtc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/11/202
2GuideSpecTransport-

PRINT.pdf;Calling the ticket 
office;

Barry 
Pearlman

Yes-Sometimes
Lift Line 

(Community 
Bridges);

Yes-often Medical 
Appointments;

Yes Davenport, where I want to 
cavort! 

Express lanes More frequent, smaller vehicles that can 
maneuver & get places faster.

County wide; Making our county more accessible to 
obscure places in a clean manner.

Third Party Websites (i.e. 
Google Maps etc.);

2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List Public Comment Form Attachment 2

27-16



Name 
(First/Last)

Do you use public 
transit or 

paratransit van 
services in Santa 

Cruz County?

If no, why do you 
choose not to use 

public 
transportation?

If yes, please 
select the 

services you've 
used. Check all 

that apply.

Do you drive 
a car for 

some of your 
trips?

Where do you 
usually take the 

bus or 
paratransit? Chec
k all that apply.

Are there places 
you would like to 

access by transit in 
Santa Cruz County, 

but can't?

What trips would you like 
to take by bus, shuttle, or 
other transit but cannot 

make now?

What would 
make it easier to 

ride the bus?

Describe a need which is not being met by the 
current public transit system and how it could 

be addressed to improve transit and/or 
paratransit service.

The need 
described is 
located in:

What do you think should be the 
highest priority for transit funding in 

Santa Cruz County? 
Examples include: reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions; making it 
easier for people with limited incomes 

t...

How do you commonly 
access information about 

transit schedules, routes, bus 
stop locations, and fare 

prices? Check all that apply.

Mitchell 
Bramlett Yes-Sometimes

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD); Yes-often 

Shopping
;Recreation;Socia

l Activities;
No

More busses, 
decrease the 
wait between 

busses

Increase the number of express commuter 
buses from South County to UC

City of Santa 
Cruz;City of 

Watsonville;Cou
nty wide;

Put a commuter train down the middle 
of HWY 1 from  Watsonville to the fish 

hook and then sufficient buses to 
support the train commuters.

DO NOT WASTE MORE TAX DOLLARS 
on studies for a light rail on the existing 

tracks!
START RAIL BANKING NOW and 

complete the interim trail. A train 
makes ZERO sense on the existing rail 
line and is no more than a fantasy toy.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c

om/en/;

Yes-Sometimes
METRO Bus 

(SCMTD);
Yes-

sometimes
Work;Shopping

;Recreation; Yes

I get off work later in the 
day (7pm). There are no 
busses at that time  that 
can take me to work and 

from work to home. There 
are no busses running at 
that time or goin to my 

destination.  

It would make it 
easier if there 
were busses 

running later in 
the day (5pm-

12am)

There is a need of more busses running late 
especially in the city of Watsonville and outside 

in rural areas.  

City of Santa 
Cruz;City of 

Watsonville;Unin
corporated 

County;

making it more accessibly, financially 
accessibly  for people with disabilities 

and limited income to access more 
busses 

Paper Schedules/ Ride Guide 
Books, Ex: Guide to 

Specialized Transportation 
https://sccrtc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/11/202
2GuideSpecTransport-

PRINT.pdf;At the 
Stop/Station, Ex: Schedule by 

Stop: 
https://www.scmtd.com/en/ri

ders-guide;

Ray Rauch Yes-Sometimes
METRO Bus 

(SCMTD); Yes-often 

Shopping
;Recreation;Medi

cal 
Appointments;

Yes
La Selva Beach and Capitola 

Beach Area . More often stops
More service to La Selva Beach and Capitola 

Beach area.

City of 
Capitola;City of 

Watsonville;

Easier for limited income people, 
limited mobility.

Paper Schedules/ Ride Guide 
Books, Ex: Guide to Specialized 

Transportation 
https://sccrtc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/11/2022G
uideSpecTransport-

PRINT.pdf;Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.com/

en/;At the Stop/Station, Ex: 
Schedule by Stop: 

https://www.scmtd.com/en/rider
s-guide;

Rachel Morris Yes-Sometimes
METRO Bus 

(SCMTD); Yes-often 
Social 

Activities;Recreati
on;Work;

Yes
Watsonville, SJC Airport, 

Wilder Ranch

More rapid bus 
service between 

Watsonville, 
Aptos and 

downtown Santa 
Cruz.

More bike racks, 
rental 

bikes/scooters at 
destinations, 

safe bike parking 
at bus stops

More rapid bus service between Watsonville, 
Aptos and downtown Santa Cruz.

More bike racks, rental bikes/scooters at 
destinations, safe bike parking at bus stops

City of 
Watsonville;City 

of Santa 
Cruz;Unincorpor

ated 
County;County 

wide;

Get more people to shift from driving a 
car to riding buses.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;Google maps;Mobile 

Apps (please specify in the 
box below);

2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List Public Comment Form Attachment 2

27-17



Name 
(First/Last)

Do you use public 
transit or 

paratransit van 
services in Santa 

Cruz County?

If no, why do you 
choose not to use 

public 
transportation?

If yes, please 
select the 

services you've 
used. Check all 

that apply.

Do you drive 
a car for 

some of your 
trips?

Where do you 
usually take the 

bus or 
paratransit? Chec
k all that apply.

Are there places 
you would like to 

access by transit in 
Santa Cruz County, 

but can't?

What trips would you like 
to take by bus, shuttle, or 
other transit but cannot 

make now?

What would 
make it easier to 

ride the bus?

Describe a need which is not being met by the 
current public transit system and how it could 

be addressed to improve transit and/or 
paratransit service.

The need 
described is 
located in:

What do you think should be the 
highest priority for transit funding in 

Santa Cruz County? 
Examples include: reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions; making it 
easier for people with limited incomes 

t...

How do you commonly 
access information about 

transit schedules, routes, bus 
stop locations, and fare 

prices? Check all that apply.

Not now, but did in 
the past

I live two miles 
from the closest 
bus stop and my 

road is not safe to 
walk or ride. In 
addition, the 

timing of buses 
and transfers 

needed make the 
travel time too 

long.

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-often Work; No Reliability

I assist people who use para-transit and the 
changing scheduling and routing diminishes 

confidence. Clients regularly wait beyond the 
scheduling window. Trips can take them in 
opposite directions and take a long time to 

complete. Provision of Para-Transit is a 
fantastic service yet users are consistently 

frustrated and do not promote it well. They 
appreciate the drivers who, for the most part, 
serve the clients professionally and with great 
kindness, but they are deeply frustrated with 

the scheduling.

County wide;

Public perception of public transport. If 
perception is that public transport is dirty, 

unreliable and takes too long, no-one is 
incentivised to use it. Public perception has 

to match the actual improvements. The 
professionalism of what is offered, no 

matter how limited, is critical. Ensure what 
exists is excellent so that there is a reason 

for further uptake of services when 
improvements are made. Making it easier is 
a priority - shelters, regular service, lots of 
access points, - but even if it's easier it has 

to be desirable.

At the Stop/Station, Ex: 
Schedule by Stop: 

https://www.scmtd.com/en/ri
ders-guide;Transit Agency's 

Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;

David Scott Not now, but did in 
the past

Prefer bike Yes-often Yes I would ride my bike on the 
trail if it ever got built.

If there was a 
bike trail.

Trying to save the useless rusted old train 
tracks is making it impossible to build a bike 

trail.
County wide; Accept that there will never be a train 

and build a simple bike path. 
Google maps;

Juan 
Hernandez Yes-Sometimes

METRO Bus 
(SCMTD);

Yes-
sometimes

Recreation;Shopp
ing

;Social Activities;
No

More frequent 
service

Smaller buses with more frequent dependable 
service, geo-location app to let me know when 

the bus will arrive to minimize my wait time, 
WiFi, and more room for bike racks.

City of Santa 
Cruz;County 

wide;

Expanding the scope of what public 
transit means, including the explosion 

of e-bikes, separated and safe 
bike/ped routes for seniors and 

disabled, opening up the coastal rail 
corridor for a wide parklike trail that 
accommodates and separates faster 
bike from ped/wheelchair uses and 

even small buses.

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c
om/en/;At the Stop/Station, 

Ex: Schedule by Stop: 
https://www.scmtd.com/en/ri

ders-guide;

Brian Peoples No-Never

it is not 
convenient 

enough - requires 
a lot of extra time 

to use

Yes-
sometimes Yes La Selva Beach more buses 

Unincorporated 
County; more buses

Transit Agency's 
Website: http://www.scmtd.c

om/en/;

2023 Unmet Transit and Paratransit Needs List Public Comment Form Attachment 2

27-18



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Regional Transportation Commission  

FROM: Grace Blakeslee, Senior Transportation Planner 

RE: Federal Lands Access Program Grant Award and Funding 
Agreements to Construct the North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) 
from Wilder Ranch to Davenport and Coastal Rail Trail-Cotoni 
Coast Dairies Highway 1 Overpass Connection   

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
approve a resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the Executive Director to: 

1. Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and enter into
agreements for Federal Lands Access Program funding and delivery of
North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Phases 1 and 2 (trail and parking
lots) and Phase 3 (Cotoni Coast Dairies Highway 1 Overpass); and,

2. Amend the Measure D 5-year plan to add $1.2 million in Measure D- 
Active Transportation funds to the North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5)
project.

_____________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND  

RTC staff, in coordination with Federal Highway Administration Central 
Federal Lands (CFL), is implementing Segment 5 of the Monterey Bay 
Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST), otherwise referred to as the North Coast 
Rail Trail Project. The North Coast Rail Trail Project is a 7.5-mile multimodal 
bicycle and pedestrian trail that will extend along the rail corridor from 
Wilder Ranch State Park in the south to Davenport in the north in 
unincorporated Santa Cruz County (Attachment 1: Project Fact Sheet). RTC 
received a $6,295,000 Federal Lands Access Program (FLAP) grant in 2015 
to develop and construct a 5.4 mile portion from Wilder Ranch to 
Yellowbank/Panther Beach, what is now referred to as Segment 5, Phase 1. 
The federal funding was secured, in-part, due to matching funds provided by 
the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County and the California Coastal Conservancy. 

In 2016, funding was provided by the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County and 
Regional Surface Transportation Program Exchange funds were programmed 
to preconstruction activities for the 2.1- mile section of the North Coast Rail 
Trail, known as Phase 2, and RTC entered into a separate agreement with 

28-1

https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Fact-Sheet_MBSST_Segment-5_updated-1.pdf


North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Federal Lands Access Program Agreements   
 

FLAP to complete the design and environmental clearance and permitting for 
Phase 2 at the same time as Phase 1 to achieve project efficiencies. That 
agreement was fully funded by local funds and did not include a federal 
contribution.   
 
Development of the North Coast Rail Trail project design effort was put on 
hold in 2017 after RTC directed staff to complete a standalone 
environmental document for the project that evaluated the potential 
environmental impacts of the North Coast Rail Trail Project Phase 1 and 2. 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) environmental review for the 
project was completed in 2019. In 2019, RTC entered into a settlement 
agreement with interested parties to address concerns about potential 
impacts the project may have on adjacent agricultural operations. In 2020, 
the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) environmental review was 
completed.   
  
In 2021, RTC staff, in coordination with the Federal Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM), applied for additional FLAP funding to construct the 
remaining 2.1 miles of North Coast Rail Trail from Yellowbank/Panther Beach 
to Davenport and for preconstruction and construction funds to connect the 
Coastal Rail Trail to the Cotoni Coast Dairies National Monument by way of a 
bicycle and pedestrian bridge over Highway 1 at Yellowbank Creek, referred 
to as the Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument Highway 1 Overpass 
(Phase 3). These projects qualify for this grant program since they provide 
access to the BLM’s Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument, BLM’s 
California Coastal National Monument, and NOAA’s Monterey Bay National 
Marine Sanctuary.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
In December 2022, RTC received notice that the North Coast Rail Trail Phase 
2 & 3 projects were awarded $15.5 million in FLAP grant funding. The grant 
award provides FLAP funding to construct the 2.1 mile of North Coast Rail 
Trail Project from Yellowbank/Panther Beach to Davenport, including 
construction of formal parking lots at Yellowbank/Panther Beach and 
Davenport (Phase 2). The grant award also includes FLAP funding for 
construction of a connection from the Coastal Rail Trail on the coastal side of 
Highway 1 to Cotoni Coast Dairies National Monument on the inland side of 
Highway 1 (Phase 3). In addition, due to updated cost estimates for Phase 
1, CFL increased FLAP funding for Phase 1 from $6.3 million to $22.3 million, 
an increase of $15.9 million, for a total of $31.4 million in new federal FLAP 
funding for construction of North Coast Rail Trail (Phases 1-3). This brings 
the total FLAP funding approved to date to nearly $38 million. The total cost 
estimate for the combined North Coast Rail Trail Phase 1-3 is $50.7 million. 

28-2



North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Federal Lands Access Program Agreements   
 

 

 
 
 
CFL Agreements 
 
RTC must enter into Memorandum of Agreements (MOAs) with CFL to 
establish roles and responsibilities of each party and funding commitments 
for each of the projects. Fund Transfer Agreements (FTA), also referred to as 
Reimbursement Agreements (RAs), are also required for both parties to 
allow the distribution of match funds from RTC to CFL in accordance with the 
commitments made in the MOAs. 
 
North Coast Rail Trail Phase 1 and Phase 2 MOU Amendment and 
Reimbursable Agreements 
CFL proposes to combine the 2022 FLAP MOU for Phase 1 project delivery 
with right-of-way and construction of Phase 2 of the North Coast Rail Trail, 
since both phases have been environmentally cleared and designed as a 
potential single project and are now both fully funded for construction. The 
revised Memorandum of Agreement updates the Phase 1 cost estimates and 
adds roles, responsibilities, cost estimates, and funding obligations for Phase 

28-3



North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Federal Lands Access Program Agreements   
 

2 in one MOA (Attachment 1: Exhibit A). The proposed amended agreement 
includes $3.655 million in local funding commitment for Phase 1 and $3.367 
million local funding commitment for Phase 2 construction. CFL also 
proposes to amend the MOA for Phase 2 design to add $150k in local funds 
for a total of $1.150 million in local funding for the design of Phase 2 
(Attachment 1: Exhibit B). The RTC previously programmed $3.5 million in 
Measure D funds to support North Coast Rail Trail Project development 
including, but not limited to, environmental review, soil investigation and 
environmental health services, right-of-way, legal review, partner agency 
coordination, design, and RTC staff oversight. The RTC also previously 
programmed $3.8 million in Measure D to leverage grants, $125,000 RSTPX 
for the Davenport crossing, and secured funding from the Land Trust and 
Coastal Conservancy for the North Coast Trail.   
 
Although RTC has advanced the pre-construction work and the trail is 
expected to be ready for construction this fall (2023), FLAP funding for 
construction of the North Coast Rail Trail Phases 1 and 2 is currently 
programmed in Federal Fiscal Year (FFY) 24/25 based on FLAP program 
capacity and the start of construction may need to wait until then. 
 
Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument Overpass (Phase 3) 
CFL proposes to enter into a new MOU for Phase 3 of the North Coast Rail 
Trail, since the Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument Overpass is a new 
phase and on a different delivery schedule than Phases 1 and 2. Phase 3 
provides for the construction of a new pedestrian and bicycle bridge crossing 
over Highway 1 at the north end of the North Coast Rail Trail 
Yellowbank/Panther Beach Parking lot approximately 1.75 miles south of the 
town of Davenport and 5 miles north of Wilder Ranch State Park. The project 
cost is estimated at $5.815 million in FY26/27 dollars, the year it is 
programmed and scheduled for construction. Costs include preliminary 
engineering and environmental compliance, utility relocation and 
construction. The project scoping effort identifies PGE facilities within 
Caltrans right of way and potentially in conflict with the proposed overpass 
abutments. RTC will seek cost sharing with the PGE depending on the 
requirements of the Caltrans-PGE agreement.  
 
The proposed Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument Overpass (North 
Coast Rail Trail-Phase 3) Memorandum of Agreement (Attachment 1: Exhibit 
C) commits $4.454 million in FLAP funding and $1.361 in local funds for a 
total budget of $5.815 million. 
 
 
 
 

28-4



North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Federal Lands Access Program Agreements   
 

Measure D 5-Year Plan Amendment 
 
Combined, the federal 2015 and 2022 FLAP grant awards and proposed 
MOAs for the North Coast Rail Trail provide $37.7 million North Coast Rail 
Trail Project (Phases 1, 2 and 3).  
 
RTC previously secured and programmed a total of $12.6 million in non-
federal funds for the project, including $3.405 million from the Land Trust of 
Santa Cruz County, $1.42 million from the Coastal Conservancy, $300,000 
from previously programmed RSTPX funding for environmental review of 
Phase 2 and $125,000 RSTPX for the Davenport Crosswalk, and $7.4 million 
in previously programmed Measure D-Active Transportation category funds.  
 
In addition to the funds needed to meet the required $8.3 million local 
match contribution for FLAP in the proposed MOAs and funds previously 
committed for project development, staff estimates that an additional $1.2 
million in local funding is needed to cover RTC expenses for the North Coast 
Rail Trail Project (Phases 1-3), bring the total non-FLAP funds to $13.8 
million. Additional funds are requested to design electrical vehicle charging 
stations, California Environmental Quality Act Review for the Cotoni Coast 
Dairies Overpass, completion of the Segment 5 record of survey, state 
permit implementation and Phase 2 & 3 project oversight during 
construction. 
 
Staff recommends that the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
approve a resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the Executive Director to 
negotiate and enter into agreements for Federal Lands Access Program 
funding and delivery of North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Phases 1 and 2 
(trail and parking lots) and Phase 3 (Cotoni Coast Dairies Highway 1 
Overpass) at an amount not to exceed $8,383,000 in non-federal funds; 
and, amend the Measure D 5-year plan to add $1.2 million in Measure D- 
Active Transportation funds to the North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) 
project. 

 
Project Update 
 
The North Coast Rail Trail Project 100% design is complete. Project permits 
and approvals, including approvals from the California Coastal Commission 
are complete. RTC, working in coordination with CFL, is finalizing permit 
requirements for the California Department of Fish and Wildlife. RTC is 
procuring an electrical engineering design consult for development of electric 
vehicle charging stations at Davenport and to evaluate the feasibility of 
charging stations in the Wilder Ranch Parking lot as mitigation for the 

28-5



North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Federal Lands Access Program Agreements   
 

project. With the exception of the electric vehicle charging station design 
component of the project, all project activities for Phases 1 and 2 are 
scheduled to be completed in June 2023. RTC plans to request that FLAP 
advance project construction funds to FY23/24 to begin construction one 
year earlier than currently programmed.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Action in support of the recommendation would program an additional $1.2 
million of Measure D- Active Transportation category for the North Coast Rail 
Trail project, increasing Measure D programmed from $7.3 million to $8.5 
million. Depending on actual Measure D revenues, interest rates, and the 
timing of other projects, the Measure D-Active Transportation/MBSST 
category the RTC may need to secure financing as early as FY24/25 to meet 
all current funding commitments. There is sufficient capacity in the 30-year 
program to issue debt in support of this proposed programming and all prior 
commitments. RTC staff continues to monitor the Cash Flow Model and other 
Measure D program categories to determine the best strategy, including 
timing, for securing financing on a program wide basis.   
 
SUMMARY  
 
In 2022, RTC received notice that the FLAP program awarded North Coast 
Rail Trail Phase 2 project construction funding. The grant award provides 
funding to construct the 2.1 mile of North Coast Rail Trail Project from 
Yellowbank/Panther Beach to Davenport, including construction of formal 
parking lots at Yellowbank/Panther Beach and Davenport. The project award 
also includes funding for construction of a connection from the Coastal Rail 
Trail on the coastal side of Highway 1 to Cotoni-Coast Dairies on the inland 
side of Highway 1. RTC is required to enter into agreements with Federal 
Lands Access Program to define project roles and responsibilities and commit 
to a match to the federal funding awarded to the program. 
 
Attachments:  
1. Resolution: 

a. North Coast Rail Trail Memorandum of Agreement (Phases 1 & 2) 

b. North Coast Rail Trail Phase 2 Design- Memorandum of Agreement 
and Fund Transfer Agreement  

c. North Coast Rail Trail Memorandum of Agreement for Cotoni Coast 
Dairies Overpass (Phase 3) 

  
S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Regular\Segment5FundingAgreements\0-SR-Seg5_FundingAgreements.docx 

28-6



ATTACHMENT 1

RESOLUTION NO. 

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner  
duly seconded by Commissioner  

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO NEGOTIATE 
AND EXECUTE AGREEMENTS FOR FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
(FLAP) FUNDS AND WITH PARTNER AGENCIES AND NON-PROFITS FOR 
MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE NORTH COAST RAIL TRAIL PROJECT AND 
AMENDING THE MEASURE D-ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION 5-YEAR PLAN  

WHEREAS, the RTC is eligible to receive federal and state funding for 
construction of transportation facilities;  

WHEREAS, the goal of the Federal Lands Access Program is to improve 
transportation facilities that provide access to, are adjacent to, or are 
located within federal lands; 

WHEREAS, the planned Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network 
(MBSST) is a bicycle and pedestrian trail that will promote sustainable 
transportation and provide an alternative to motor vehicle travel; 

WHEREAS, a MBSST segment along the north coast of Santa Cruz 
County would provide access to three federal lands: California Coastal 
National Monument, Cotoni-Coast Dairies National Monument and the 
Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary; 

WHEREAS, in 2015, FLAP awarded RTC funding for development and 
construction of North Coast Rail Trail Phase 1 from Wilder Ranch to 
Yellowbank/Panther Beach; 

WHEREAS, in 2016, RTC entered into an agreement with FLAP to 
complete preconstruction activities for North Coast Rail Trail Phase 2 from 
Yellowbank/Panther Beach to Davenport including construction of parking 
lots at Yellowbank/Panther Beach and Davenport;  

WHEREAS, in 2022, FLAP awarded RTC funding for construction of 
North Coast Rail Trail Phase 2 from Yellowbank/Panther Beach to Davenport 
including construction of parking lots at Yellowbank/Panther Beach and 
Davenport;  

WHEREAS, in 2022, FLAP awarded RTC funding for development and 
construction of the North Coast Rail Trail Cotoni-Coast Dairies Overpass 
(Phase 3) to connect the Phase 1 and 2 trails to Cotoni Coast Dairies 
National Monument; 28-7



  
  
  

 
 WHEREAS, RTC must enter into agreements defining roles and 

responsibilities and funding commitments; 
 
WHEREAS, a funding match in the amount of $3.655 million or a 

minimum of 11.47% of the project is required to secure FLAP funds for North 
Coast Rail Trail Phase 1; 

 
WHEREAS, a funding match in the amount of $3.367 million or 23.4% 

of the project cost is required to secure FLAP funds for the North Coast Rail 
Trail Phase 2; 

 
WHEREAS, the California Coastal Conservancy committed $1.42 million 

in funds to development of North Coast Rail Trail Phase 1 & 2; 
 
WHEREAS, the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County committed $3.4 mllion 

to North Coast Rail Trail Phase 1 & 2; 
 
WHEREAS, a funding match in the amount of $1.36 or 23.4% of the 

project cost is required to secure FLAP funds for the North Coast Rail Trail 
Phase 3; 

 
WHEREAS, local funds in the amount of $1,150,000 are required for 

the design of the Phase 2 Trail Project, independent of other funding 
agreements; 

 
WHEREAS, an additional $1.2 million of additional funding is needed 

for RTC expenses outside of the FLAP agreements; 
 
WHEREAS, the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County and California Coastal 

Conservancy provided a total of $3.3 million in matching funds for North 
Coast Rail Trail Project Phase 1 and 2; 

 
WHEREAS, Measure D-Active Transportation category provides funding 

for the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail, including the North Coast Rail 
Trail (Segment 5); 

 
WHEREAS, $7,317,142 in Measure D funds is currently programmed in 

the Measure D-Active Transportation category Five Year Program of Projects; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, $1.2 million of additional local funds are needed to fully 

fund project cost estimates and meet FLAP grant match requirements for the 
North Coast Rail Trail Phases 1, 2 and 3. 

 
 

28-8



BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION (RTC): 

1. The Executive Director, or his or her designee, is authorized to 
negotiate and enter into agreements for Federal Lands Access Program 
funding and delivery of North Coast Rail Trail (Segment 5) Phases 1 
and 2 (trail and parking lots) and Phase 3 (Cotoni Coast Dairies 
Highway 1 Overpass) at an amount not to exceed $8,383,000 in non-
federal funds.

2. The Measure D-Active Transportation Program funds programmed to 
North Coast (Segment 5) as a grant match and to complete project 
activities are increased by $1.2 million from $7.3 million to $8.5 
million.

AYES: COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS 

_____________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

S:\RTC\TC2023\05\Regular\Segment5FundingAgreements\Att-2_RES_NCRTFLAP2023.docx 

28-9



1 of 12 

CA FLAP SCR T5(1) & CA FLAP SCR T5(2) 
FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 

PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Project / Facility Name:  Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail 
Project Route:  CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 
State: California County: Santa Cruz 
Owner of Federal Lands to which the Project Provides Access: U.S. Bureau of Land 
Management 
Entity with Title or Maintenance Responsibility for Facility: Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission 

Type of Work: The project is to begin at the Wilder Ranch State Park and continue 
north approximately 5 miles along the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission rail corridor. The project will construct a 12 feet wide asphalt trail and a 
6-feet wide to 12 feet wide unpaved trail.

This Agreement does not obligate (commit to) the expenditure of Federal funds, nor does 
it commit the parties to complete the project. Rather, this Agreement sets forth the 
respective responsibilities as the project proceeds through the project development 
process. 
Parties to this Agreement: The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission, California State Parks, County of Santa Cruz, and FHWA-Central Federal 
Lands Highway Division (CFLHD).  

The Program Decision Committee approved this project on August 31, 2015. The 
addition of the (2) project was approved on November 9, 2022. This Agreement includes 
Sections A to O.  

Exhibit A

28-10



2 of 12 

AGREED: 

Guy Preston 
Executive Director 
Santa Cruz Regional Transportation Commission 

Date 

Chris Spohrer 
District Superintendent 
California State Parks 

Date 

Matt Machado Director of Public Works 
Santa Cruz County Public Works 

Date 

Judy Salomonson 
Chief of Business Operations 
FHWA-Central Federal Lands Highway Division 

Date 

28-11



3 of 12 

A. PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT
This Agreement documents the intent of the parties and sets forth the anticipated 
responsibilities of each party in the development, construction, and future maintenance of 
the subject project. The purpose of the Agreement is to identify and assign 
responsibilities for the environmental analysis, design, right-of-way, utilities, acquisition 
and construction as appropriate for this programmed project, and to ensure maintenance 
of the facility for public use if improvements are made. The parties understand that any 
final decision as to design or construction will not be made until after the environmental 
analysis required under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) is completed 
(this does not prevent the parties from assigning proposed design criteria to be studied in 
the NEPA process). Any decision to proceed with the design and construction of the 
project will depend on the availability of appropriations at the time of obligation and 
other factors such as issues raised during the NEPA process, a natural disaster that 
changes the need for the project, a change in Congressional direction, or other relevant 
factors. 

This Agreement does not obligate the expenditure of Federal funds, nor does it commit 
the parties to complete the project.  Rather, this Agreement sets forth the respective 
responsibilities as the project proceeds.   

If Federal Lands Access Program funds are used for the development or construction of 
this project, Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission agrees to provide a 
matching share as outlined in the Reimbursable Agreement.  

The modification to this agreement covers the following items: 
• Addition of scope items from the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) project (Yellowbank and

Davenport Parking Lots, and the approximately 2.1-mile segment of trail between
the parking lots). Work from the (2) will be added to the (1) project for all
remaining activities.

• Close out of CA FLAP SCR T5(2) Memorandum of Agreement.
• Updated budget and summery of funding including additional funds from FLAP

and SCCRTC.

B. AUTHORITY
This Agreement is entered into between the signatory parties pursuant to the provisions 
of 23 U.S.C. 204. 

C. JURISDICTION AND MAINTENANCE COMMITMENT
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission has jurisdictional authority to 
operate and maintain the existing facility and will operate and maintain the completed 
project. The Santa Cruz Regional Transportation Commission may designate operation 
and maintenance responsibility to another non-Federal entity through a formal agreement.  

D. FEDERAL LAND MANAGEMENT AGENCY COORDINATION
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission has coordinated project 
development with the U.S. Bureau of Land Management. The U.S. BLM has endorsed 

28-12



 

4 of 12 

the project in writing. 
 

E. PROJECT BACKGROUND/SCOPE 
 
5miles of Multi‐Use Trail along existing railroad tracks north of Santa Cruz, CA. This 
project is part of a much larger planned trail network. The limits of this project are 
Wilder Ranch Parking Lot on the South (rail MP 23.6) and approximately 5 miles 
north (MP 28.6) on the north side as shown in the Project Location Map below.  
 
Scope added by this modification includes trail beginning at the Yellowbank parking 
lot (approximately Rail Milepost 29.0) and continuing north approximately 2.1 miles 
along or near the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission rail 
corridor to the City of Davenport (approximately Rail Milepost 31.1) as shown in the 
Project Location Map below. The project will design a 12 feet wide asphalt trail, 
parking lots at Yellowbank Beach and Davenport Beach, turn lanes and a crosswalk at 
Davenport Beach, and non-ADA access to existing the Bonny Doon parking lot. 
 

 
 
 
Project applicant Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
(SCCRTC) in partnership with many stakeholders has been planning and developing 
the 50+ mile Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network for many 

28-13



5 of 12 

years. They have successfully completed the award winning MBSST Master Plan and 
associated programmatic MBSST Final Environmental Impact Report. In 2012 
SCCRTC took ownership of the 32‐mile Santa Cruz Branch Railroad Line, which 
much of the proposed MBSST will run parallel and in railroad right of way. The 
railroad is operated by a third party, Santa Cruz, and Monterey Bay Railway (Iowa 
Pacific), and currently only has occasional event trains running in the project limits. 

F. PROJECT BUDGET

Item Estimated Cost Comments 
Original (1) 

Project 
Original (2) 

Project 
Total Cost 

Preliminary Engineering 
(PE) and Environmental 
Compliance $2,950,000 $1,150,000 $4,100,000 

(2) PE Funding
Not Eligible for
Match (100%
funded by
SCCRTC)

Trail Portion $18,975,000 $6,325,000 $25,300,000 Based on 75/25 
Split 

Davenport Parking Lot -- $1,850,000 $1,850,000 
Yellowbank Parking Lot -- $3,500,000 $3,500,000 

Construction Contract 
(CN) Total $18,975,000 $11,675,000 $30,650,000 

ROW Acquisition -- $137,000 $137,000 
Construction 
Engineering (CE) $1,410,000 $940,000 $2,350,000 Based on 60/40 

Split 
Contingency $1,100,000 $750,000 $1,850,000 5% Contingency 
Total (Spring 2023) $24,435,000 $14,652,000 $39,087,000 
Total (Fall 2024) $25,900,000 $15,530,000 $41,430,000 

28-14



 

6 of 12 

 
G. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
Responsible Party Product/Service/Role 
FHWA-CFLHD Project Planning 

• Develop and sign the Project MOA 
• Manage project development schedule and preliminary 

engineering costs 
Project Development 

• Be the lead agency for NEPA 
• Prepare and approve environmental documents and make project 

decisions based on the NEPA documents (Combined 
NEPA/CEQA document anticipated) 

• Perform topographic surveys (if needed), environmental surveys, 
and pavement and geotechnical investigations 

• Assist in the public outreach effort by providing technical 
expertise, project information, and some exhibits and possible 
staffing. 

• Perform utility coordination 
• Obtain permits required for Federally constructed projects 
• Development of the PS&E.  Provide project partners with draft 

PS&E at project milestone phases for review. 
• Advertise and award the contract 
• Provide estimated timeline and identification of major milestones 
• Provide assistance in coordination with the California Coastal 

Conservancy and other funders, as needed.  
• Provide documentation required by other funders, as reasonable.  

Construction 
• Administer the contract during construction 
• Provide Project Engineer on site for construction administration 
• Determine the need for any proposed changes to contract 

documents, evaluate change impacts, coordinate technical reviews 
as needed, and ensure construction is consistent with the PS&E 

• If required, enter into a formal partnering work session and 
agreement with all parties involved in the construction contract 

 

28-15



 

7 of 12 

Santa Cruz County 
Regional 
Transportation 
Commission 

Project Planning 
• Review and sign the Project MOA 
• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 

contact and act as a liaison to your agency for FHWA-CFLHD’s 
staff during project development 

Project Development 
• Provide available data on railroad operations, construction costs, 

and any other relevant information 
• Be the CEQA Lead Agency 
• Complete all compliance documentation and reviews and approve 

CEQA document (Combined NEPA/CEQA document 
anticipated) 

• Provide ROW and utility information and coordination (including 
ROW certification) 

• Review the environmental documents, plans and specifications at 
each phase of design and provide project development support. 

• Attend project milestone reviews and meetings 
• Lead the public outreach effort 
• Be responsible for ROW acquisition or access (if ROW is needed) 
• In coordination with the FHWA-CFLHD project manager, ensure 

that completed plans, specifications, and estimates (PS&E) are 
consistent with the intended outcome 

• Provide overall direction regarding policy and administration for 
the project and concur with the final plans and specifications 

• Obtain all rights necessary to construct, operate, and maintain the 
facility 

• Sign FHWA-CFLHD Right of Way certifications 
Construction 

• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 
contact for FHWA-CFLHD’s construction staff during 
construction 

• If required, enter into a formal partnering work session and 
agreement with all parties involved in the construction contract 

• Provide areas within the Rail Corridor for a fenced staging area. 
• Attend a final inspection upon completion of construction 
• Provide Final Acceptance of the project 
• Upon final acceptance, assume responsibility of the NPDES 

permit until the Notice of Termination is filed and accepted 
• Provide long term maintenance and operation of the project upon 

completion or enter into agreements with the County of Santa 
Cruz County or another party for this function  

• Perform reviews and provide information needed to support 
FHWA-CFLHD in resolution of contract disputes. 

 
 

28-16



 

8 of 12 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role 
County of Santa 
Cruz 

Project Planning 
• Review and sign the Project MOA 
• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 

contact and act as a liaison to your agency for FHWA-CFLHD’s 
staff during project development 

Project Development 
• Attend project milestone reviews and meetings 
• In coordination with the FHWA-CFLHD project manager, ensure 

that completed plans, specifications, and estimates (PS&E) are 
consistent with the intended outcome 

Construction 
• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 

contact for FHWA-CFLHD’s construction staff during 
construction 

 
Responsible Party Product/Service/Role 
California State 
Parks 

Project Planning 
• Review and sign the Project MOA 
• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 

contact and act as a liaison to your agency for FHWA-CFLHD’s 
staff during project development 

Project Development 
• Provide available data on known environmental resources and 

State property boundaries in the area. 
• Attend project milestone reviews and meetings.  
• Coordinate with State Land Leaseholders. 
• Provide an operation agreement, permanent easement, or transfer 

of property rights on State lands to the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission for trail maintenance, if 
current rights are insufficient. 

• In coordination with the FHWA-CFLHD project manager, ensure 
that completed plans, specifications, and estimates (PS&E) are 
consistent with the intended outcome 

Construction 
• Designate a single point of contact who will be the primary 

contact for FHWA-CFLHD’s construction staff during 
construction 

• If required, enter into a formal partnering work session and 
agreement with all parties involved in the construction contract 

• Provide a temporary construction easement for work on State 
lands, if needed. 

 
 
 

28-17



9 of 12 

H. SCHEDULE

Activity Anticipated Timeframe 
Topographic Surveys, Environmental Scoping, and 
Conceptual Layouts 

Fall 2015 to Spring 2016 

Environmental Compliance Fall 2015 to Summer 2016 
Preliminary Engineering Spring 2016 to Summer 

2016 
Final Engineering Summer 2016 to Spring 

2023 
Advertisement Fall 2024 
Construction Winter 2024 to Spring 2026 

I. PROPOSED DESIGN STANDARDS  Final design standards will be
determined through the NEPA process.  

Criteria Proposed Comments 
Standard AASHTO 

Functional Classification Multi-use path 
Surface Type Asphalt Other hardscape materials may 

be used if deemed necessary 
for certain sections 

Design Volume N/A 
Design Speed N/A 
Travel Way Width 12 feet paved 
Shoulder Width 2 ft. each side 

J. FUNDING
The SCCRTC is committing $3,655,000 of funding, or a minimum of 11.47%, whichever 
is greater, towards the original (1) project. Portions of SCCRTC funding have been 
provided by the California Coastal Conservancy and are subject to State of California 
Agreement No. 14-085 (“Grant Agreement”), incorporated by this reference as if fully set 
forth herein.  FHWA-CFLHD agrees to comply with the provisions of the Grant 
Agreement to the extent applicable to its work hereunder, consistent with Federal law; 
particular attention is called to Grant Agreement Standard Provisions entitled, “Work 
Program”, “Work Products and Acknowledgement of Conservancy Support”, “Early 
Termination, Suspension and Failure to Perform”, “Insurance”, “Audits/ Accounting/ 
Records”, “Non-Discrimination”, and “Prevailing Wage”. The remaining balance will be 
Federal Lands Access Program funding. 

28-18



 

10 of 12 

 

The notification letter dated December 16, 2022, included a total match requirement of $2,803,320 
or 23.4% of the Construction and Construction Engineering costs for the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) 
project. This was based on costs from Fall 2021, which have since escalated. The updated match 
requirement based on the current costs are presented in the table below. RTC fully funded the 
design of the (2) scope in the amount of $1,150,000 under Reimbursable Agreement DTFH68-15-
E-00042. The funds spent for design of the original (2) scope cannot be used towards match. 

 

 
RTC is responsible for support costs incurred in completing the roles and responsibilities detailed 
in Section G.  These costs will not be included in the total project cost and are the financial 
responsibility of the applicant in addition to the funding as described in the table above. 

PROJECT FUNDING – Original (1) Scope 

Funding Source 
Estimated 
Funding 

% of Total 
Project 

Comments 

Federal Lands Access Program $22,245,000 85.4%  

Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission 

$3,655,000.00 14.1% 

Cash Match for Original (1) 
Project 
Reimbursable Agreement 
DTFH68-15-E-00035 

Total $25,900,000   Fall 2024 Costs 

PROJECT FUNDING – Original (2) Scope (Only CE/CN Costs FLAP Eligible) 

Funding Source 
Estimated 
Funding 

% of Project 
CE/CN Costs 

Comments 

Federal Lands Access Program $11,013,000 76.6%  

Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission 

$3,230,000 
23.4% 

Cash Match for CN/CE for 
Original (2) Contract 
Funds Transfer Agreement 
6982AF-23-K-500015 

$137,000 
ROW Acquisition (in-kind 
match) 

Total $14,380,000   
Escalated CE and CN for 
Original (2) Project 

28-19



11 of 12 

If during implementation of the project it is determined that the total project cost exceeds 
$41,430,000, the Central Federal Lands Highway Division and SCCRTC will either mutually 
agree to reduce the scope of the project or execute a modification to this agreement to 
change funding amounts. 

K. MATCHING SHARE  REQUIREMENTS
Refer to the Reimbursable Agreement Statement of Work. 

Since the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) project will no longer be used now that the projects are combined, 
match will be handled according to the following: 

• Match requirements for (1) – $3,655,000 or 11.47% of total project costs, whichever is
greater (Refer to Agreement # DTFH68-15-E-00035)

• Match Requirements for (2) - $3,230,000 or 23.4% of Construction and Construction
Engineering costs, whichever is greater (Refer to Agreement # 6982AF-23-K-500015)

• Calculation of Construction costs for the (1) and (2) components of the total project will
be based on the actual costs for the Davenport Parking Lot, Yellowbank Parking Lot, and
a 75%/25% split for the Trail between (1)/(2).

• Calculation of Construction Engineering costs for the (1) and (2) components of the total
project will be based on a 60%/40% split between (1)/(2).

L. PROJECT TEAM MEMBERS - POINTS OF CONTACT
The following table provides the points of contact for this project.  They are to be the first 
persons to deal with any issues or questions that arise over the implementation of each 
party’s role and responsibility for this agreement. 

Name/Title Organization Address/Phone Number/Email 
Grace Blakeslee, 
Senior 
Transportation 
Planner 

Santa Cruz 
County Regional 
Transportation 
Commission 

1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
(831) 460-3219
gblakeslee@sccrtc.org

Steve Wiesner, 
Assistant Director of 
Public Works 

County of Santa 
Cruz Public 
Works 

701 Ocean Street 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
(831) 454-2160
Steve.wiesner@santacruzcounty.us

Chris Spohrer 
District Services 
Manager 

California State 
Parks 

303 Big Trees Park Road 
Felton, CA 95018 
(831) 335-6382
Chris.spohrer@parks.ca.gov

Dustin Robbins 
Project Manager 

FHWA-CFLHD 12300 W. Dakota Avenue 
Lakewood, CO 80228 
720-963-3586
dustin.robbins@dot.gov

28-20

mailto:ccaletti@sccrtc.org
mailto:Steve.wiesner@santacruzcounty.us
mailto:Chris.spohrer@parks.ca.gov
mailto:james.herlyck@dot.gov


 

12 of 12 

M. CHANGES/AMENDMENTS/ADDENDUMS  
The agreement may be modified, amended, or have addendums added by mutual 
agreement of all parties. The change, amendment, or addendum must be in writing and 
executed by all the parties. 
 
The types of changes envisioned include, but are not limited to, changes that significantly 
impact scope, schedule, or budget; changes to the local match, either in type or 
responsibility; changes that alter the level of effort or responsibilities of a party. The 
parties commit to consider suggested changes in good faith. Failure to reach agreement 
on changes may be cause for termination of this agreement. 
 
A change in the composition of the project team members does not require the agreement 
to be amended. 

 
It is the responsibility of the project team members to recognize when changes are needed 
and to make timely notification to their management to avoid project delivery delays. 
 

N. ISSUE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES MATRIX 
Issues should be resolved at the lowest level possible. The issue should be clearly defined 
in writing and understood by all parties. Escalating to the next level can be requested by 
any party. When an issue is resolved, the decision will be communicated to all levels 
below. 

FHWA 

Santa Cruz 
Regional 

Transportation 
Commission 

Santa Cruz 
County 

California State 
Parks 

Time 

Dustin Robbins 
Project Manager 

Grace Blakeslee 
Program 
Manager 

Russell Chen 
Senior Engineer 

Augie Ceballos 
Sector 

Maintenance 
Chief 

14 days 

Wendy Longley 
Project 

Management 
Branch Chief 

Luis Mendez 
Deputy Director 

Steve Wiesner 
Assistant 

Director of 
Public Works 

Chris Spohrer 
District Services 

Manager 

14 days 
 

Curtis Scott 
Director of 

Project Delivery 

Guy Preston 
Executive 
Director 

John J. Presleigh 
Director of 

Public Works 

Chet Bardo 
District 

Superintendent 
30 days 

 
O. TERMINATION 

This agreement may be terminated by mutual written consent of all parties. This 
agreement may also be terminated if either the NEPA process or funding availability 
requires a change, and the parties are not able to agree to the change. Any termination of 
this agreement shall not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued to the parties prior to 
termination. If Federal Access funds have been expended prior to termination, the party 
responsible for the match agrees to provide a match in the applicable percentage of the 
total amount expended on the project prior to the termination. 

28-21



Federal Highway Administration 
Federal Lands Highway 

DTFH68-16-E-00042 
Modification #004 

PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT 
Reimbursing Organization 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commision 
1011 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

Organization to be Reimbursed 
Federal Highway Administration 
Central Federal Lands Highway Division 
12300 West Dakota Ave 
Lakewood, CO 80228 

DUNS Number:  020166257 
Unique Entity Identifier (UEI #): DDKGNJ4CE8J8 
TIN: 20-5544172 

DUNS Number:  126129936 
Unique Entity Identifier (UEI #): TNG9SCVNCUW5 

POINTS OF CONTACT FOR THE AGREEMENT 
Reimbursing Organization 

Finance Point of Contact 
Name:      Tracy New 
Address:  1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250 

 Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
Phone:  (831) 460-3217
E-mail:      tnew@sccrtc.org

Organization to be Reimbursed 
Finance Point of Contact 

Name:       Suzanne Schmidt 
Address:   12300 West Dakota Ave 

  Lakewood, CO 802 
Phone:  720-963-3356
E-mail:       suzanne.schmidt@dot.gov 

Reimbursing Organization 
Program Point of Contact 

Name:      Grace Blakeslee 
Address:  1101 Pacific Avenue, Suite 250 

 Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
Phone:  (831) 460-3219
E-mail:      gblakeslee@sccrtc.org

Organization to be Reimbursed 
Program Point of Contact 

Name:      Dustin Robbins 
Address:  12300 West Dakota Ave 

 Lakewood, CO 80228 
Phone:  720-963-3586
E-mail:     dustin.robbins@dot.gov

PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE LEGAL AUTHORITY 
From: June 13, 2016 
To: December 31, 2028 

23 U.S.C. 308 

TOTAL AGREEMENT AMOUNT 
Original Agreement Amount: $1,000,000.00 

Administrative Modification #001:  $0.00 
Modification #002:   $0.00 
Modification #003:  $0.00 

Modification #004:  $150,000.00 
Total Agreement Amount:  $1,150,000.00 

PAYMENT TERMS AND SCHEDULE 

EFT 

DESCRIPTION OF SUPPLIES, SERVICES, AND DELIVERABLES 
This modification (#004) adds funds to be provided by Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission for the 
completion of the design of this project. This modification also adds the CA FLAP SCR T5(1) project to the Agreement since 
remaining work from the (2) project will be combined with the (1) project moving forward per the SOW. 

AUTHORIZED APPROVALS 
For Reimbursing Organization For Organization to be Reimbursed 

Signature            Date Signature            Date 

Title: Executive Director Title:  Contracting Officer 

Exhibit B

28-22

mailto:tnew@sccrtc.org
mailto:suzanne.schmidt@dot.gov


Revised 3/2010 

28-23



Statement of Work 
Project:  CA FLAP SCR T5(2) & CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Project 
Agreement No.:  DTFH68-16-E-00042 

June 6, 2016 
Mod #004 April 6, 2023 

1 

I. Introduction:  The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (“SCCRTC”)
will provide funding for environmental compliance and preliminary engineering to
the Federal Highway Administration, Central Federal Lands Highway Division
(“CFLHD”) for the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail
project.  The SCCRTC shall be referred to as the Requesting Agency and the CFLHD
shall be referred to as the Servicing Agency.

This modification #004 adds $150,000 of funds to be provided by SCCRTC for the
completion of design of the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) project, which will be combined with
the CA FLAP SCR T5(1) project moving forward.

II. Location:  Santa Cruz County, California

III. Work Required:  For the CA FLAP SCR T5(2) Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail
project: 

• Perform the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) compliance. Provide
supporting information for the SCCRTC to make a California Environmental
Quality Act determination.

• Develop construction documents (plans, specifications, and estimate) in
CFLHD format.

The project is to begin at the terminus of the CA FLAP SCR T5(1) project 
(approximately Rail Milepost 29.0) and continue north approximately 2.1 miles 
along or near the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission rail 
corridor to the City of Davenport (approximately Rail Milepost 31.1). The project 
will design an 8 feet wide to 12 feet wide asphalt trail, a parallel 6 feet wide to 12 
feet wide unpaved trail, parking lots at Panther Beach and Davenport Beach, and 
non-ADA access to existing the Bonny Doon parking lot. 

This Agreement does not obligate (commit to the expenditure of) Federal funds nor 
does it commit the parties to complete the project. This Agreement documents the 
intent of the parties and commits the Requesting Agency to provide its share of costs.  
Refer to Project Memorandum of Agreement for more information.  The parties 
understand that any final decision as to final design will be made after any 
environmental analysis required under the National Environmental Policy Act.  Any 
decision to proceed with the final design of the project will depend on the availability 
of funds at the time of obligation and other factors, such as issues raised during the 
NEPA process, a natural disaster that changes the need for the project and a change in 
Congressional authorization. 

28-24



Statement of Work 
Project:  CA FLAP SCR T5(2) & CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Project 
Agreement No.:  DTFH68-16-E-00042 

June 6, 2016 
Mod #004 April 6, 2023 

2 

IV. Non-Federal Share of Costs:  Funding for this project is to be provided by the
SCCRTC. 

Item 

Santa Cruz 
County Regional 
Transportation 

Commission 

Total Comments 

Preliminary Engineering and 
NEPA (PE) $910,000 $910,000 

Work 
anticipated to 
begin in 2016 
and finish in 

2021 
Subtotal $910,000 $910,000 
Contingency $90,000 $90,000 
Additional Funds Needed to 
Complete Design $150,000 $150,000 

Total $1,150,000 $1,150,000 

The Requesting Agency will provide funds in the amount of $1,150,000 to complete 
environmental compliance and preliminary engineering work.   

The total not to exceed matching amount for this agreement is $1,150,000. 

The CFLHD shall not be obligated to pay for, nor will the CFLHD be obligated to 
perform any effort that will require the expenditure of funds above the Agreement 
amount.  The CFLHD will notify SCCRTC in writing as soon as practicable if it 
appears that additional funding may be needed to perform the work, or due to claims, 
disputes, modifications, or any other cause arising from contracts, under this 
Agreement.  In no event, however, may the CFLHD agree to or take action that results 
in any expenditure of funds above the funding amount agreed to in this Agreement.   If 
additional funding is needed, SCCRTC may agree in its sole discretion either to (1) 
provide additional funding, or (2) modify the work done under the Agreement between 
SCCRTC and CFLHD as necessary to permit completion within the funding.  The 
CFLHD will not provide funding to perform the work, or satisfy claims, disputes, 
modifications, or any other cause arising from contracts, under this Agreement. 

The Requesting Agency is not required to reimburse the Servicing Agency for any 
costs incurred by the Servicing Agency prior to the date of the original Agreement. 

V. Period of Performance:  All work associated with this agreement will be completed
no later than December 31, 2028.

28-25



Statement of Work 
Project:  CA FLAP SCR T5(2) & CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Project 
Agreement No.:  DTFH68-16-E-00042 

June 6, 2016 
Mod #004 April 6, 2023 

3 

VI. Technical Representative:  CFLHD Program Point of Contact for this Agreement is
Dustin Robbins, Project Manager. Mr. Robbins can be contacted at 720-963-3586 or
dustin.robbins@dot.gov.

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission Point of Contact for this
Agreement is Grace Blakeslee.  Ms. Blakeslee can be contacted at (831) 460-3219
or gblakeslee@sccrtc.org.

VII. Roles and Responsibilities

Refer to the Project Memorandum of Agreement for additional Roles and
Responsibilities.

A. FHWA, Central Federal Lands Highway Division will:

1) Manage the overall effort on this agreement regarding scope,
schedule, and budget in coordination with the Requesting Agency;

B. The Requesting Agency will:

1) Provide funding as referenced in this document, as well as oversight
and local coordination.

VIII. Financial Administration:

A. Total Agreement Amount:  Not to exceed $1,150,000.

B. Funding Citations: 23 U.S.C. 308

C. Reimbursable Payment:

The Servicing Agency will invoice the Requesting Agency on a monthly basis in the 
amount of 100% of the funding expended for the project up to $1,150,000.  

The Servicing Agency shall not incur costs which result in exceeding the maximum 
cost stated in this Agreement without authorization by the Requesting Agency in the 
form of written modification to this agreement.   

Upon receipt of the invoice of costs incurred and authorized, the Requesting 
Agency will issue payment via one of the methods listed below. 

D. Method of Billing:

28-26



Statement of Work 
Project:  CA FLAP SCR T5(2) & CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Project 
Agreement No.:  DTFH68-16-E-00042 

June 6, 2016 
Mod #004 April 6, 2023 

4 

The Servicing Agency shall bill the Requesting Agency, in accordance with the 
payment terms and schedule as agreed upon in the Agreement.  

The Servicing Agency will furnish a final Project Status Report detailing the 
funding usage on the project and calculations used to determine funding 
requirements. 

The Project Status Report will be provided on a monthly basis during preliminary 
engineering. 

The Servicing Agency requests that these payments be made through the US Treasury's 
website https://pay.gov. Pay.gov can be used to make secure electronic payments to any 
Federal Government Agencies via credit card or direct debit. Payment shall be 
submitted referencing the FHWA/CFLHD-ID Agreement Number DTFH68-16-E-
00042. 

Option 1 (Preferred Method) 
• Plastic card or Automatic Clearing House Payment (ACH Direct Debit)
• Go to Treasury’s website – https://pay.gov
• Search for Agency Name (Transportation Department)
• Select the appropriate Transportation Agency (Federal Highway

Administration)
• Follow the form instructions to make your payment.  Note, if making an

ACH payment from your bank account, please select ACH Direct Debit
as the payment type.

Option 2 
• Mail check payable to DOT FHWA. Send to the following address for

Paper Check Conversion (PCC) processing:

Enterprise Service Center 
Federal Aviation Administration 

ATTN: AMZ-340, Mark Richardson 
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd., HDQ Rm 285 

Oklahoma City, OK 73169 

Notice to customers making payment by check: 
o Please notify Regina Monroe at 720-963-3460 or

regina.monroe@dot.gov if mailing a check.
o When you provide a check as payment you authorize us either to

use information from your check to make a one-time electronic
fund transfer from your account or to process the payment as a
check transaction.

28-27

https://pay.gov/
https://pay.gov/
mailto:regina.monroe@dot.gov


Statement of Work 
Project:  CA FLAP SCR T5(2) & CA FLAP SCR T5(1) 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Project 
Agreement No.:  DTFH68-16-E-00042 

June 6, 2016 
Mod #004 April 6, 2023 

5 

o When we use information from your check to make an
electronic fund transfer, funds may be withdrawn from your
account as soon as the same day we receive your payment and
you will not receive your check back from your financial
institution.

Privacy Act- A Privacy Act Statement required by 5 U.S.C. § 552a(e)(3) stating our 
authority for soliciting and collecting the information from your check, and explaining 
the purposes and routine uses which will be made of your check information, is 
available 1Torn our internet site at (PCCOTC.GOV), or call toll free;: at (1-800-624-
137  to obtain a copy by mail. Furnishing the check information is voluntary, but a 
decision not to do so may require you to make payment by some other method, 

IX. Modifications: Any modifications to the Agreement must be made in writing and
agreed to by both parties. Such modifications are not binding unless they are in
writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the agencies.

X. Agreement Completion: When the Requesting Agency has received all deliverables,
the Servicing Agency will provide a written project evaluation and final accounting
of project costs to the Requesting Agency contact.

XI. Termination: This agreement will terminate upon the date specified in Section V or
upon 30 calendar day prior written notification to the other party.   If this agreement
is terminated by the Requesting Agency its liability shall extend only to pay for it
share of the actual and reasonable costs of the items/services rendered and the costs
of any non-cancelable obligations incurred in accordance with the terms of this
agreement prior to the effective date of termination.  If this agreement is terminated
by the Servicing Agency its liability shall extend only to the release of its work
products and related materials to the Requesting Agency by the effective date of
termination.

28-28



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 1 of 13 

Project / Facility Name:  Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH 1 Overpass  

Project Route:  CA FLAP SCR T5(3) 

State:  California 

County:  Santa Cruz 

Owner of Federal Lands to which the Project Provides Access:  Bureau of Land Management (BLM) 

Entity with Title or Maintenance Responsibility for Facility:  Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission 

Type of Work: 

Preliminary Engineering:  Environmental compliance, preliminary and final design, all necessary 
permits 
Right of Way: Acquisition of all right of way and easements needed for the project 
Construction/Construction Contracting: Acquisition by contract of construction work in 
accordance with the (plans, specifications, and estimate 
Construction Engineering:  Administration of the construction contract 

This Agreement does not obligate (commit to) the expenditure of Federal funds nor does it commit the 
parties to complete the project. Rather, this Agreement sets forth the respective responsibilities as the 
project proceeds through the project development process. 

Parties to this Agreement: Federal Highway Administration-Central Federal Lands Highway Division 
(FHWA-CFLHD); Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission; Bureau of Land Management 
(BLM) 

The Program Decision Committee approved this project on December 16, 2022 
Date 

AGREED: 

Guy Preston, Executive Director  Date 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 

Zachary Ormsby, Central Coast Field Manager Date 
Bureau of Land Management 

Judy Salomonson  Date 
Chief of Business Operations 

Exhibit C

28-29



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 2 of 13 

FHWA-CFLHD 

A. PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT

This Agreement documents the intent of the parties and sets forth the anticipated responsibilities of each 
party in the development, construction, and future maintenance of the subject project. The purpose of the 
Agreement is to identify and assign responsibilities for the environmental review, design, right-of-way, 
utilities, acquisition and construction as appropriate for this programmed project, and to ensure maintenance 
of the facility for public use if improvements are made. The parties understand that any final decision as to 
design or construction will not be made until after the environmental analysis required under the National 
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) is completed (this does not prevent the parties from assigning proposed 
design criteria to be studied in the environmental review process.) Any decision to proceed with the design 
and construction of the project will depend on the availability of appropriations at the time of obligation 
and other factors, such as issues raised during the environmental review process, a natural disaster that 
changes the need for the project, a change in Congressional direction, or other relevant factors. 

If Federal Lands Access Program funds are used for the development or construction of this project, Santa 
Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission agrees to provide a matching share equal 23.4% of the 
total cost of the project, as detailed more fully in Sections J and K below.  

B. AUTHORITY

This Agreement is entered into between the signatory parties pursuant to the provisions of 23 U.S.C. 204. 

C. JURISDICTION AND MAINTENANCE COMMITMENT

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission has jurisdictional authority to operate and 
maintain the existing facility and will operate and maintain the completed project at its expense. 

D. FEDERAL LAND MANAGEMENT AGENCY COORDINATION

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission has coordinated project development with 
the Bureau of Land Management. The Bureau of Land Management support of the project is documented 
in the CA Federal Lands Access Program Project Application for this project submitted by Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission to FHWA-CFLHD.  Each party to this agreement has a 
primary role in the environmental review process, design, or construction shall coordinate their activities 
with the Bureau of Land Management.  

E. PROJECT BACKGROUND/SCOPE

Project Location:  The project will cross Pacific Coast Highway (Highway 1) at the north end of a parking 
area and beach known as Yellowbank, approximately 1.75 miles south of the Town of Davenport and 
approximately 5 miles north of Wilder Ranch State Park. 

28-30



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 3 of 13 

 

General Project Description:  The project scope includes the construction of a new pedestrian and cyclist 
bridge crossing over California State Route 1 to connect the North Coast Rail Trail to the soon-to-be 
constructed trails at the BLM’s Cotoni-Coast Dairies unit of the California Coastal National Monument. A 
connecting trail, and likely a retaining wall, will be required to connect the North Coast Rail Trail to the 
coastal abutment of the overpass. 

Environmental Compliance and Permitting: CFLHD would be the lead agency for compliance with the 
National Environmental Policy Act and would complete a Categorical Exclusion memorandum (23 CFR 
771.117[c][3]). The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) would lead California 
Environmental Quality Act compliance and will be responsible for preparation of an Initial Study.  

With the exception of the California red-legged frog (CRLF), the project area should not have suitable 
habitat for federally-listed species. The project is located in designated CRLF habitat and may contain 
upland dispersal habitat. A general habitat assessment and aquatic resources delineation is recommended. 
A Biological Assessment would be prepared to satisfy Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act. 

CFLHD would lead consultation in compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act. 
The RTC would lead AB 52 coordination. The Pacific Coast Highway (Highway 1) is the only known 
potential historic resource in the APE that has been previously recorded. A new records search and a 
pedestrian survey would be conducted. In addition, the Cotoni-Coast Dairies Unit of the California Coastal 
National Monument (public recreational property) and Highway 1 (potential historic property) may be 
Section 4(f) resources. Based on the scope of improvements, a de minimis finding may be adequate.  

Because there is a low likelihood of wetlands or other waters of the U.S. being impacted by the project, no 
Section 404 permit or Section 401 water quality certification is anticipated. The project may require a 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit (Construction General Permit) because of 

28-31



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 4 of 13 

disturbance over one acre. The project is located in the coastal zone and would require a Consistency 
Determination from the California Coastal Commission. 

Survey: Supplemental survey on the inland side of Highway 1 is needed to complete the site survey.  
Traditional ground survey is needed due to the heavy vegetation cover on the ground.  The survey should 
cover the access path to the bridge from the potential staging area. 

Highway Design and Safety: Hwy 1 is a straight tangent section of two-lane State Route maintained by 
Caltrans, with 12-ft lanes and 6-ft shoulders and very shallow, narrow ditches. During scoping, the Study 
Team was not able to meet directly with Caltrans to discuss future improvements to the corridor, but 
dramatic development changes in this coastal region of CA is presumed unlikely. It is likely that full 8-ft 
shoulders and formal ditches will be required as a minimum, similar to other improvements required in the 
area. Discussions of potential bike lanes and even eventual widening of the roadway have been discussed 
as constraints for the span requirements of the overpass structure. Our initial crossing section allows for 
existing slopes to be maintained, with the opportunity to span an ultimate 64-ft 4-lane roadway section. 

The pedestrian trail crossing over the highway is proposed to be (2) 10-ft lanes with 2-ft shoulders on each 
side. The bridge would be wider to accommodate necessary fence/railing. The path section on a typical 
Caltrans bridge section is shown to the right. 

The roadway improvements must meet Caltrans Design Standards. The pedestrian crossing must meet ABA 
standards for grades and accessibility.  No design exceptions or unusual safety precautions are anticipated. 

Pavement Design: As-builts and previous cores of the Hwy 1 suggest 8-inches AC over 12-inches ABC.  
The mainline appears in good shape, and no improvements to Hwy 1 are currently part of this SOW.  The 
pedestrian path is proposed 2-inch AC over 6-inches AB, similar to the balance of the MBSST trails. The 
overpass pedestrian bridge will not be paved. 

Structure/Bridge Design: The two structures are the focus of this project: the pedestrian bridge over Hwy 
1, and the approach trails that are supported by retaining walls/structures.  Specific guidance and 
preferences from Caltrans will be developed during the plan review process. The typical cast in place post 
tensioned box girder is anticipated to be the favorite (sections and profiles shown above). The bridge team 
had proposed a prefabricated galvanized steel frame as a alternative solution commonly used for pedestrian 
crossings. Even with the close proximity to the coast, galvanized structures should protect against the 
anticipated moisture and salt corrosion issues with this site. Both will be considered, but the concrete 
standard is likely to be the suggested solution. 

The trails coming off the bridge are still high above the adjacent topography and require walls. MSE and 
concrete walls were both considered. With the walls only 14-ft apart, either a frame solution or traditional 
retaining walls will be likely on the coastal side.  On the inland side, with one side of the trail possibly 
having a earthen slope solution, all walls including MSE should be considered. 

Geotechnical: The site is located within a relatively active seismic area, however, the site is not located in 
a designated Earthquake Fault Zone. The geotechnical scope will be focused on the location and support of 
the bridge abutments with respect to the existing cuts and the depth to bedrock.  In addition to the bridge 
foundations, footings for the retaining walls and/or MSE walls on both approaches require field 
investigation/borings along these new structures. The design team will determine the 
depth/type/tooling/sampling and testing of these holes.  CFL is recommending dowhole camera footage of 
the bridge foundation holes.  Seismic for Vs100 ft needed over the Caltrans Hwy.   

During the development of the trail EIS documentation, structure setback from coastal bluffs per the code 
or ordinance generated in the EIS for the trail may come into play with respect to abutments/wing walls.  
For other structures in the area, CFL drilled for a possible bridge site and followed an erosion rate applied 

28-32



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 5 of 13 

to 75 years and ended up 20-ft from the existing bluff.  While this bridge is not likely on a coastal bluff, we 
may need to address coastal erosion and then dismiss it to avoid any possible comments. 

Hydrology/Hydraulics:  The site is a essentially a ridge for the pedestrian path over a depressed/cut 
roadway.  The major drainage crossing for the roadway is north of the project limits.  Provisions for roadway 
runoff on both sides of the HWY 1 roadway prism require sizing, and provisions to bring the structure 
drainage down to the ground through drains is about the extent of the drainage efforts. 

Right of Way: ROW is currently owned by four property owners:  RTC, Caltrans, BLM, and Trust for 
Public Land (TPL) as shown in the adjacent figure.  No changes in the ROW are anticipated, but permits 
from the underlying property owners of Caltrans and TPL are anticipated. Exact limits/dimensions of these 
lands is still being determined.  While the coastal side of the bridge clears the Caltrans ROW, the inland 
side does not, nor does it span the TPL land. As the TPL ROW is a narrow corridor between the Caltrans 
and BLM rights of way, it was not clear during scoping if access to the TPL is required through/across the 
bridge/trail site. More information on the details of this strip of land, and its restrictions/obligations are 
needed. 

Utilities: There are two main utilities in the project area:  PGE’s gas line inland of the bridge, and the 
overhead powerline in the Yellowbank Parking lot.  Both of these utilities appear to be in their own 
easements and therefore have prior rights.  Relocation of the powerline is anticipated to go underground at 
a cost of nearly $540,000.  The gas line should cross the path, but be sufficiently buried to not require 
relocation. As the exact location of this line is not known, and it would be a critical conflict if found to be 
within or near the abutment, we recommend performing an in-depth investigation and potentially identify 
utilities to a Level B or Level A SUE Quality Level. 

Construction: The preliminary construction schedule indicates a duration of approximately 8 months. The 
project is at sea-level elevation and the mild climate allows for construction all year without a winter 
shutdown. Potential staging areas have been identified within adjacent BLM lands, with a water supply 
provided (by fee) from the City or County public water hydrants.  
 
With the sensitive nature and approvals required and the number involved agencies for review, this does 
not align well with alternative delivery.  The input from Caltrans could not be addressed and cleared up 
front.  Also, schedule is not critical, so other alternative delivery methods are not ideal.  The design team 
need to reach consensus on the solution with the stakeholders, promoting a sealed bid contracting method. 
 
 
 
F.  PROJECT BUDGET 

 
Item Estimated Cost Comments 
Preliminary Engineering (PE) and 
Environmental Compliance 

$675,000 Includes Scoping Costs 

ROW Acquisition & Utility 
Relocation 

$536,000 Paid by Applicant 

Construction Contract (CN) $1,735,000  

Construction Engineering (CE) $730,000  

28-33



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 6 of 13 

Contingency $920,000 25% Contingency 

Total (FY23) $4,596,000  

Total (Escalated to FY27) $5,815,000  

 
G.  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role Comments 
FHWA-CFLHD • Develop and sign this Memorandum of 

Agreement 
• Manage project schedule and all project costs 
• Lead the development of the plans, specifications, 

and estimate (PS&E) in accordance with FHWA-
CFLHD standards, policy and guidance (note that 
engineering deliverables prepared by federal 
employees will not be signed or stamped) 

• Document any design exceptions to the AASHTO 
standards, agreed upon by the project team, on 
FHWA-CFLHD’s highway design standards 
form 

• Lead all federal environmental compliance 
(including, but not limited to, NEPA, the National 
Historic Preservation Act, and the Endangered 
Species Act)  

• Prepare and approve environmental documents 
and make project decisions based on the 
documents 

• Conduct ROW research and obtain title reports 
for private parcels as required 

• Prepare right-of-way plans, legal descriptions, 
and other documents required for a Highway 
Easement Deed and any private parcels to be 
acquired 

• Identify utility conflicts and prepare utility 
conflict maps 

• Conduct preliminary engineering towards the 
development of the PS&E construction contract 
package 

• Ensure all permits required for Federally 
constructed projects are obtained 

• Advertise and award the contract (bids will not be 
solicited by FHWA-CFLHD until maintaining 
agency has concurred with the plans and 

 

28-34



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 7 of 13 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role Comments 
specifications and provided signed ROW and 
utility certifications) 

• Perform construction engineering/administration 
of the construction contract 

• Potentially enter into a formal partnering work 
session and agreement with all parties involved in 
the construction contract 

• Provide a Project Engineer on site for 
construction administration 

• Determine the need for any proposed changes to 
contract documents, evaluate change impacts, 
coordinate technical reviews as needed, and 
ensure that the construction is consistent with the 
PS&E 

• Ensure that the contractor will bear all expenses 
of maintaining traffic, other than snow removal 
and normal state, county, and city maintenance 
work 

• Verify adherence to environmental documents 
and permits 

• Set up and lead final inspection upon completion 
of construction 

Santa Cruz County 
Regional 
Transportation 
Commission 

• Review and sign this Memorandum of Agreement 
and other required financial agreements to satisfy 
match requirements or overmatch, if necessary, 
within sixty days of receiving the notification 
letter 

• Attend reviews and meetings 
• Provide available data, including on traffic, 

crashes, material sources, construction costs, 
agreements, and other technical subjects, within 
two weeks of request 

• Review the environmental documents, plans, 
estimate, and specifications at each phase of 
design, and provide comments within two weeks 
of receipt  

• Coordinate with FHWA-CFLHD on 
environmental related issues 

• Be the lead agency for CEQA and complete all 
compliance documentation and reviews and 
approve the CEQA document  

• Coordinate any mitigation measures resulting 
from CEQA with FHWA-CFLHD prior to 
finalizing or accepting the measures 

 

28-35



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 8 of 13 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role Comments 
• Coordinate with the other parties to create an 

appropriate revegetation plan and provide a seed 
mix and any recommendations for soil 
amendments for inclusion in the Special Contract 
Requirements 

• In coordination with the FHWA-CFLHD project 
manager, ensure that completed PS&E 
documents are consistent with the intended 
outcome 

• Acquire and fund appropriate local and state 
permits prior to advertisement of the project  

• Provide survey grade ROW mapping and a list of 
property owners (names and addresses) along the 
project corridor prior to project scoping 

• Review ROW plans and legal descriptions 
provided by FHWA-CFLHD 

• Acquire ROW and Temporary Construction 
Easements (TCEs) if necessary (Costs borne by 
applicant in addition to match) 

• Conduct value findings or appraisals for Fair 
Market Values (if needed) 

• Approve value findings or appraisals for Fair 
Market Values 

• Prepare offers to landowners 
• Conduct ROW negotiations as necessary to 

acquire adequate rights from private landowners 
• Sign statement of legal sufficiency upon review 

of the draft Highway Easement Deed 
• Accept and record the Highway Easement Deed 

upon receipt 
• Complete all ROW activities prior to 

advertisement of the project 
• Sign FHWA-CFLHD Right of Way Certification 

certifying that all rights on private property 
necessary to construct, operate, and maintain the 
road have been obtained 

• Obtain all rights necessary to construct, operate, 
and maintain the facility 

• Provide all available utility information and 
identify key points of contact for coordination 
with utility companies 

• Request utility surface locates prior to 
topographic survey by FHWA-CFLHD 

28-36



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 9 of 13 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role Comments 
• Coordinate utility relocations if necessary per 

scope described above (relocation fees may be 
included as match) 

• Sign FHWA-CFLHD Utility Certification 
• Provide overall direction regarding agency policy 

and administration for the project  
• Concur with the final plans and specifications 
• Issue required encroachment permits at no cost to 

FHWA-CFLHD 
• Develop a public information plan in 

coordination with FHWA-CFLHD and the 
FLMA  

• If required, enter into a formal partnering work 
session and agreement with all parties involved in 
the construction contract 

• Designate a representative who will be the 
primary contact for FHWA-CFLHD’s 
construction staff during construction 

• Consider proposed design changes, evaluate 
change impacts, and concur with changes as 
needed, ensuring that changes meet the 
requirements intended in the PS&E 

• Attend a final inspection and approve and provide 
final acceptance upon completion of construction 

• Upon final acceptance of the project, assume 
responsibility of the NPDES permit until the 
Notice of Termination is filed and accepted 

• Provide long term maintenance and operation of 
the project upon completion  

• Perform reviews and provide information needed 
to support FHWA-CFLHD in resolution of 
contract disputes. 

Bureau of Land 
Management 

• Review and sign this Memorandum of Agreement 
within 60 days of receiving the notification letter 

• Attend reviews and meetings 
• Provide in a timely manner available data 

including but not limited to existing agreements 
or technical data 

• Review the environmental documents, plans and 
specifications at each phase of design, and 
provide comments within two weeks  

• In coordination with the FHWA-CFLHD project 
manager, ensure that completed PS&E 

 

28-37



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 10 of 13 

Responsible Party Product/Service/Role Comments 
documents are consistent with the intended 
outcome 

• Provide overall direction regarding FLMA policy 
and administration for the project  

• Concur with the final plans and specifications 
• If required, issue a right of entry and Letter of 

Consent to transfer a Highway Easement Deed 
within 4 months of receipt of request 

• Provide a fire plan for incorporation into the 
Special Contract Requirements or approve the use 
of standard specification language 

• Coordinate with FHWA-CFLHD to identify an 
appropriate revegetation plan and provide a seed 
mix and any recommendations for soil 
amendments for inclusion in the Special Contract 
Requirements 

• Provide support to FHWA-CFLHD (respond to 
questions regarding environmental issues), as 
requested, for the development of environmental 
documents 

• Develop a public information program in 
coordination with FHWA-CFLHD and the 
maintaining agency 

• If required, enter into a formal partnering work 
session and agreement with all parties involved in 
the construction contract 

• Designate a representative who will be the 
primary contact for the FHWA-CFLHD’s 
Construction staff 

• Continue to update and implement the public 
information program 

• Consider proposed design changes, evaluate 
change impacts, and concur with changes as 
needed, ensuring that changes meet the 
requirements intended in the PS&E 

• Attend final inspection upon completion of 
construction 

 
 

28-38



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 11 of 13 

H.  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES—SCHEDULE 

Responsible 
Lead 

Product/Service/Role Schedule 
Finish 

Comments 

Maintaining 
Agency 

Signed MOA and other 
financial documents May 31, 2023  

FHWA-CFLHD Preliminary Design  Fall 2023 30 Percent Milestone 

FHWA-CFLHD Environmental 
Compliance Summer 2024 

Development and completion 
of environmental studies and 
documentation 

Maintaining 
Agency 

Signed ROW and Utility 
Certifications Spring 2025  

FHWA-CFLHD Final Design Spring 2025 Development of PS&E 

FHWA-CFLHD Obtain appropriate 
Permits Spring 2025  

Maintaining agency Obtain appropriate local 
and state permits Spring 2025  

FHWA-CFLHD Advertise, Award and 
NTP Fall 2027  

FHWA-CFLHD Administer Construction 
Contract Winter 2027 Construction Engineering 

 
 
I.  PROPOSED DESIGN STANDARDS  

Final design standards will be determined through the NEPA process.  
 

Criteria  Comments 
Standard AASHTO  
Functional Classification Rural Principal Arterial Cabrillo Highway (CA 1) 
Surface Type Asphalt Paved Cabrillo Highway (CA 1) 
Design Volume 14,000 ADT Cabrillo Highway (CA 1) 

 
J.  FUNDING  

PROJECT FUNDING 

Funding Source 
Estimated 
Funding 

% of Total 
Project 

Comments 

Federal Lands Access Program $4,454,290 76.6%  

Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission 

$824,710 

23.4% 

Cash Match 
 

$536,000 
In-Kind Contribution 
(Estimated Utility Relocation 
Costs) 

Total $5,815,000   

28-39



FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 12 of 13 

 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission is responsible for support costs incurred in 
completing the roles and responsibilities detailed in Section G.  These costs will not be included in the total 
project cost and are the financial responsibility of the applicant in addition to the funding as described in 
the table above. 
 
If during implementation of the project it is determined that the total project cost exceeds $5,815,000, 
the Central Federal Lands Highway Division, the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, 
and Bureau of Land Management will either mutually agree to reduce the scope of the project, or execute 
a modification to this agreement to change funding amounts. 

K.  MATCHING SHARE REQUIREMENTS 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission will provide non-Federal matching funds of 
23.4% of the total Federal Lands Access Program eligible project costs required for the project through 
construction contract completion, closeout, and resolution of any disputes, in an amount not to exceed that 
provided in separate funding agreements. 
 
For allowed in-kind contributions, submit paid invoices to the CFLHD Project Manager following the CA 
Department of Transportation Local Public Agency Manual or other mutually agreed upon format. Only 
in-kind contributions up to the amount shown in Section J are allowed, unless a modification is executed to 
the agreement changing funding amounts. If the in-kind contributions total less than what is shown in 
Section J, then the cash contribution is to be increased proportionally. 
 
The anticipated in-kind contributions are: 

• Compensation for relocation of the following utility facilities.  
o PG&E overhead power lines. The estimated cost is $536,000. 

 

Matching or cost sharing requirements will be satisfied following the obligation of funds to the project as 
detailed above in Section J. 

L.  PROJECT TEAM MEMBERS—POINTS OF CONTACT 

The following table provides the points of contact for this project. They are to be the first persons to deal 
with any issues or questions that arise over the implementation of each party’s role and responsibility for 
this agreement. 
 

Name/Title Organization Phone Number/Email 

Grace Blakeslee 
Sr. Transportation Planner 

Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation 
Commission 

 (831) 460-3219 
gblakeslee@sccrtc.org 

Zachary Ormsby 
Central Coast Field Manager 

Bureau of Land 
Management 

 (831) 582-2200 
blm_ca_web_cc@blm.gov 

Dustin Robbins 
Project Manager FHWA-CFLHD (720) 963-3586 

dustin.robbins@dot.gov  
 
 

28-40

mailto:gblakeslee@sccrtc.org
mailto:blm_ca_web_cc@blm.gov
mailto:dustin.robbins@dot.gov


FEDERAL LANDS ACCESS PROGRAM 
PROJECT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

April 6, 2023 

CA FLAP SCR T5(3) Cotoni-Coast Dairies NM SH1 Overpass 
P a g e  | 13 of 13 

M.  CHANGES/AMENDMENTS/ADDENDUMS  

The agreement may be modified, amended, or have addendums added by mutual agreement of all parties. 
The change, amendment, or addendum must be in writing and executed by all of the parties. 

The types of changes requiring agreement of all parties include, but are not limited to, changes that 
significantly impact scope, schedule, or budget; changes to the local match, either in type or responsibility; 
and changes that alter the level of effort or responsibilities of a party. The parties commit to consider 
suggested changes in good faith. Failure to reach agreement on changes may be cause for termination of 
this agreement. 

A change in the composition of the project team members does not require the agreement to be amended. 

It is the responsibility of the project team members to recognize when changes are needed and to make 
timely notification to their management in order to avoid project delivery delays.  

 
N.  ISSUE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES MATRIX 

Issues should be resolved at the lowest level possible. The issue should be clearly defined in writing and 
understood by all parties. Escalating to the next level can be requested by any party. When an issue is 
resolved, the decision will be communicated to all levels below. 
 

FHWA-CFLHD Local/State Agency FLMA Time 
Dustin Robbins, 
Project Manager 

Grace Blakeslee, Senior 
Transportation Planner 

Zachary Ormsby, Central 
Coast Field Manager 30 days 

Wendy Longley, 
Project Management Branch 
Chief 

Luis Mendez,  
Deputy Director 

Chris Heppe, Central 
California District 
Manager 

60 days 

Curtis Scott, 
Chief of Engineering 

Guy Preston,  
Executive Director 

Joe Stout, California 
Associate State Director 90 days 

 
 
O.  TERMINATION 

This agreement may be terminated by a funding party upon 30 calendar days after written notice to the 
other parties. This agreement may also be terminated if either the environmental review (or other state 
environmental compliance) process or funding availability requires a change and the parties are not able to 
agree to the change. Any termination of this agreement shall not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued 
to the parties prior to termination. If Federal Access funds have been expended prior to termination, the 
funding parties’ financial liabilities shall be in the amount of the applicable share percentages of the total 
reasonable costs expended on the project prior to the effective date of termination. Reasonable costs shall 
include all items/services rendered and the costs of any non-cancelable obligations incurred prior to the 
effective date of termination. 
 

28-41



AGENDA: May 4, 2023 

TO: Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 

FROM: Grace Blakeslee, Senior Transportation Planner  

RE: Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 (Pacific Avenue to 17th 
Avenue) Environmental Review  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Staff recommends that the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC): 

1. Accept the Segments 8 & 9 Final Environmental Impact Report as
adequate for decision making; and,

2. Adopt Findings, Overriding Considerations, and Mitigation Monitoring
and Reporting Program for the Ultimate Trail Configuration and the
Optional First Phase: Interim Trail.

BACKGROUND 

The Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network (MBSST) is the Regional 
Transportation Commission’s (RTC) proposed 50-mile bicycle and pedestrian 
trail network. The spine of the trail network is the 32-mile Coastal Rail Trail 
from Davenport to Watsonville/Pajaro, to be built along the RTC-owned rail 
right-of-way. The MBSST Master Plan organized the trail alignment into 20 
segments with logical beginning and end points. RTC is working closely with 
partner agencies to develop the MBSST between Davenport and Watsonville. 

Segments 8 & 9 of the Coastal Rail Trail include 2.5 miles of the MBSST’s 
Coastal Rail Trail spine along the RTC owned rail right-of-way between 
Pacific Avenue in the City of Santa Cruz and 17th Avenue in the 
unincorporated area of Santa Cruz County (Attachment 1: Project Fact 
Sheet).  

As the lead agency under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), 
the City of Santa Cruz certified the Segments 8 and 9 Final Environmental 
Impact Report following a public hearing at the March 2, 2023 City of Santa 
Cruz Planning Commission meeting and March 20, 2023 City of Santa Cruz 
Council meeting. The public review period for the Draft EIR for the Segments 
8 and 9 project began on September 22, 2022 and ended on November 11, 

29-1



Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review      Page 2 
 

2022. A virtual public hearing on the Draft EIR was held on October 19, 
2022. 
 
RTC is a “responsible agency” under CEQA for the Segments 8 and 9 
environmental review. Responsible agencies under CEQA are all public 
agencies which propose to carry out or approve for which another public 
agency, acting as lead agency, has previously prepared the EIR.  (CEQA 
Guidelines  Section 15381).  
 
The RTC’s Coastal Rail Trail Cooperative Agreement template defines partner 
agency roles and responsibilities for project funding and implementation 
including project approval and environmental document (PA&ED); plans 
specification and estimates (PS&E); right-of-way (ROW); and, construction. 
The details of the project alignment are documented in the Project 
Description attached to the Cooperative Agreement. RTC has not entered 
into a Cooperative Agreement with partner agencies for Segment 8 & 9 to 
date. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review 
 
The City of Santa Cruz Segments 8 and 9 Final Environmental Impact Report 
(FEIR) evaluates potential impacts of constructing the Coastal Rail Trail 
between Pacific Avenue in the City of Santa Cruz and 17th Avenue in the 
County of Santa Cruz. The FEIR evaluates a single build alternative 
(Proposed Project) which includes development of the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration where the trail would be located next to the railroad track 
alignment and an Optional First Phase: Interim Trail where the trail would be 
constructed in place of the existing railroad tracks until freight rail service 
was reactivated. The FEIR consists of Volume 1: Comments and responses, 
Volume 2: Draft EIR, and Volume 3: Appendices. The full document is 
available at 
https://www.cityofsantacruz.com/home/showpublisheddocument/91942.   
 
The Segment 8 trail alignment is the same under both the Ultimate Trail 
configuration and the Optional First Phase: Interim Trail configuration which 
is composed of a Class IV on-street bicycle system and pedestrian sidewalk 
for 0.6 miles from Pacific Avenue to the San Lorenzo River along Beach 
Street in the City of Santa Cruz. The majority of Segment 9, which extends 
1.6 miles from the east side of the San Lorenzo River to 17th Avenue is 
within the RTC owned rail line right-of-way and, under the Ultimate Trail 
configuration, is located primarily on the inland side of the railroad tracks. 
Under the Optional First Phase: Interim Trail configuration, the Segment 9 

29-2



Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review      Page 3 
 

trail is located in place of the railroad tracks. The Coastal Rail Trail Segments 
8 and 9 FEIR also evaluates alternative alignments and mitigation measures. 
The FEIR Executive Summary is included as Attachment 2.  
 
As owner of the rail line right-of-way, RTC has discretionary approval of the 
proposed Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 project. Discretionary approval 
could include, but is not limited to, entering into a Cooperative Agreement 
with the City of Santa Cruz for development of Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 
& 9, approving a right of entry agreement with the City of Santa Cruz and/or 
County of Santa Cruz for construction of the trail, and funding allocations to 
the project. As a responsible agency, RTC complies with CEQA by 
considering the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 & 9 FEIR prepared by the City 
of Santa Cruz and by reaching its own conclusions on whether and how to 
approve the project (State CEQA Guidelines Section 15096(a)). 
 
Details regarding the potential environmental impacts of the Coastal Rail 
Trail Segments 8 and 9 identified in the FEIR are available in the Findings 
and Statement of Overriding Considerations (Attachment 3: Exhibit A). The 
Statement of Overriding Considerations provides specific reasons why the 
benefit of a proposed project outweighs the adverse effects including 
discussion of the social, economic and environmental benefits of the project 
and why alternatives, although feasible from a technical standpoint, are 
rejected. In order to mitigate or avoid potential significant impacts, a 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (Attachment 3: Exhibit B) has 
been developed, which identifies the action required. 
 
The Findings of Fact and Statement and Overriding Considerations provided 
for consideration by the RTC and included as Attachment 3: Exhibit A are for 
the proposed project in its entirety, Ultimate Trail Alignment and the 
Optional First Phase: Interim Trail. Adoption of these findings would allow 
the RTC to maintain flexibility to take discretionary action(s) on either the 
Ultimate Configuration or the Optional First Phase: Interim Trail. This differs 
from the action taken by the City of Santa Cruz on the FIER at their March 
2023 Planning Commission and City Council meetings whereby the City of 
Santa Cruz identified only the Ultimate Trail Configuration as the preferred 
approach to constructing Segments 8 and 9 and approved Findings of Facts 
and Overriding Considerations for only the Ultimate Trail Alignment. The City 
of Santa Cruz would need to adopt revised findings should they desire to 
move forward with the Interim Trail. 
 
The Segment 8 & 9 environmental review cultural resource analysis 
identified the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line as a historical resource due to the 
California Department of Transportation Cultural Studies Office assumption 
that the entire resource was eligible for the National Register of Historical 

29-3



Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review      Page 4 
 

Places. As part of the Segment 12 project, Caltrans completed a Historic 
American Engineering Survey documentation of the Santa Cruz Branch 
Railroad on April 18, 2023. The report determined that the rail alignment is 
most important contributing historic element.  A portion of the alignment 
was chosen to pass near properties owned by the founder of the Santa Cruz 
Railroad and the unusual layout of Aptos was determined by the shape of 
the railroad alignment. Elements including ballast, steel rails, earthen 
embankments, and wood railroad ties can also be considered contributing 
elements since they allow it to continue conveying its historic identity as a 
railroad, however they are considered a much less significant feature than 
the alignment itself. Such a survey was included in mitigation measure CR-
1b in the Segment 8 & 9 EIR for the optional interim trail.   
The Survey is posted on the RTC website. 
 
As a responsible agency under CEQA, the RTC should consider all 
information pertaining to the Segments 8 and 9 FEIR, receive the Certified 
Final Environmental Impact Report, and consider adoption of the CEQA 
Findings, Statement of Overriding Considerations and Mitigation Monitoring 
and Reporting Program prior to taking discretionary action on Coastal Rail 
Trail Segments 8 and 9.   
 
RTC staff recommends that RTC adopt a resolution (Attachment 3) 
accepting the Coastal Rail Trail FEIR as adequate for decision 
making and adopt Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding 
Considerations, and Mitigation and Monitoring and Reporting 
Program for the proposed project in its entirety, Ultimate Trail 
Alignment and the Optional First Phase: Interim Trail.  
 
Coastal Rail Trail Cooperative Agreement 
 
The City of Santa Cruz completed the Segment 8 & 9 project approval & 
environmental document (PA&ED) phase in March 2023 certified the Coastal 
Rail Trail Segment 8 & 9 FEIR and adopted Findings of Fact, Statement of 
Overriding Consideration and Mitigation Monitoring and Report for the 
Ultimate Trail Configuration as the preferred approach to constructing 
Segments 8 and 9. The City of Santa Cruz is now advancing final design for 
the Ultimate Trail configuration and not for the Optional First Phase: Interim 
Trail. The City of Santa Cruz obtained $35.7 million in State Active 
Transportation Program funds to construct Segment 9, which fully funds the 
Ultimate Trail Configuration project cost when combined with the Measure D- 
Active Transportation Funds and City & County Measure D- Neighborhood 
funds, based on 2022 cost estimates.  
 

29-4

https://sccrtc.org/wp-content/uploads/Highway1AuxLanes_TechStudies/Hwy1_AuxLanes_HPSR-redacted.pdf


Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review      Page 5 
 

Although the City of Santa Cruz is the lead agency under CEQA and obtained 
the majority of funding for the Segment 9 project, a portion of the Segment 
9 project is located in the County of Santa Cruz unincorporated area. The 
City and County are currently defining roles and responsibilities for project 
delivery. RTC staff expects the City of Santa Cruz and County of Santa Cruz 
to request approval of a Cooperative Agreement that identifies the Ultimate 
Trail Configuration as the project alignment. RTC staff will return to the RTC 
for consideration of the Segment 8 & 9 Cooperative Agreement once the City 
and County come to agreement on which agency is responsible for funding 
(i.e. Project Sponsor) and which agency is responsible for carrying out the 
project design and construction (i.e. implementing agency).   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There are no new fiscal impacts associated with accepting the Segments 8 & 
9 Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR). The Segments 8 & 9 project for 
construction of the Ultimate Trail is fully funded with existing funding 
sources including, but not limited to: Measure D-Active Transportation 
category funding in the amount of $370,000 for environmental review; $2 
million in Measure D-Active Transportation for construction; and, $35.7 
million in State Active Transportation Program funding for construction, 
based on current cost estimates.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
As the lead agency under CEQA, in March 2022 the City of Santa Cruz 
certified the Coastal Rail Trail Segment 8 & 9 FEIR and adopted Findings of 
Fact, Statement of Overriding Consideration and Mitigation Monitoring and 
Report Program for the Ultimate Trail Configuration. As a responsible agency 
under CEQA, the RTC should consider all information pertaining to the 
Segments 8 and 9 EIR, receive the Certified Final Environmental Impact 
Report, and consider adoption of Findings of Fact, Overriding Considerations 
and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program prior to taking 
discretionary action on Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9. RTC 
recommends that the RTC adopt Findings of Fact, Overriding Consideration 
and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program for the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration and the Optional First Phase: Interim Trail to allow the RTC to 
take discretionary action on either alignment in the future should that be 
desirable.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Project Fact Sheet 
2. Coastal Rail Trail Segment 8 and 9 FEIR Executive Summary 
3. Resolution Accepting the FEIR 

29-5



Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Environmental Review      Page 6 
 

a. CEQA Findings, Statement of Overriding Considerations 
b. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

29-6



PROJECT FACT SHEET

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission  |  (831) 460-3200  |  www.sccrtc.org

Active Transportation:
Coastal Rail Trail 
Segments 8 & 9

Updated April 2023

 

Project Description
The Coastal Rail Trail Segments 
8 and 9 project (as defined in 
the Monterey Bay Sanctuary 
Scenic Trail {MBSST} Network 
Master Plan) includes 2.2 miles 
of the MBSST’s rail trail spine 
between Pacific Street in the 
City of Santa Cruz and 17th 
Avenue in the unincorporated 
area of Santa Cruz County along 
the publicly-owned railroad 
right-of-way. 

The goals of this project are to 
increase the numbers of people 
biking and walking, improve 
safety and mobility of non-
motorized users, and provide 
high-quality connections to 
schools, parks, and community 
facilities. When constructed, this 
project will be part of a planned 
32-mile rail trail network that 
traverses the entire coastline 
of Santa Cruz County. A part of 
the Segment 8 project, the San 
Lorenzo River Railroad Trestle 
trail widening, was accelerated 
ahead of the rest of the segment 
and was completed in 2019.

Segments 8 and 9 are 
particularly challenging due to 
three new bridges and four at-
grade crossings. 

Project Highlights
 X Provides a dedicated bike/ped trail, improving safety and connectivity to schools 

and employment centers

 X Connects to the Beach Street bikeway and Segment 7, connecting the west and 
east sides of Santa Cruz

 X Includes a new bike/ped bridge at Rodeo Gulch

 X Includes either a separate multi-use bike/ped structure or a 10’ multi-use path 
across the Santa Cruz Harbor, cantilevered off the Harbor rail bridge

 X Connects to downtown Santa Cruz via the San Lorenzo River levee trails

 X Provides a 10’ multi-use path across the San Lorenzo River (completed in 2019)

 X Extends through the Seabright neighborhood to Live Oak

 X 48,000 residents live within 1 mile of the corridor, where 15 schools and 37 parks 
are located

Project Delivery Strategy
The City of Santa Cruz advanced construction of the multi-use path across 
the San Lorenzo River with an innovative approach, cantilevering off 
the existing rail trestle with a system that used lightweight decking. The 
project is fully funded through a combination of Measure D-Regional Active 
Transportation Funds, State Active Transportation Program funds, and 
funding from the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County. The City completed the 
preliminary design and environmental phase in March 2023.

Attachment 1

29-7



PROJECT FACT SHEET

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission  |  (831) 460-3200  |  www.sccrtc.org

Active Transportation:
Coastal Rail Trail 
Segments 8 & 9

Updated April 2023

Project 
Schedule
The multi-use path 
cantilevered off the San 
Lorenzo River Railroad 
Trestle was completed in 
2019. Preliminary design 
and engineering were 
completed in 2023. Final 
design is scheduled for 
completion in 2024 and 
the project is scheduled to 
go to construction in 2025.

*Includes TDA, ATP, and Land Trust funds.  

Preliminary project rendering

Total Programming

Funding Sources

Measure D (Active Transportation) $2.9M

Measure D (Local Neighborhood) $4.2M

State Active Transportation Program $35.7M

Other Secured* $5.4M

Need $0
Total Funding $48.2M

29-8



Executive Summary 

 

Draft Environmental Impact Report  ES-1 

Executive Summary 

The City of Santa Cruz (City), in coordination with the County of Santa Cruz (County) and the Santa 
Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC), is proposing the Coastal Rail Trail 
Segments 8 and 9 Project (Project) to be developed along the RTC-owned rail corridor that 
generally parallels the coastline in central Santa Cruz County. The City is serving as the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) lead agency. 

This document is an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) analyzing the environmental effects of the 
proposed Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 (Project) in compliance with the CEQA Guidelines. This 
section summarizes the characteristics of the Project, alternatives to the Project, and the 
environmental impacts and mitigation measures associated with the Project. 

Project Synopsis 

The Project is a 2.2-mile bicycle and pedestrian system proposed to extend along the RTC-owned 
railroad corridor from the Beach Street/Pacific Avenue roundabout on the west to the eastern side 
of 17th Avenue on the east, excluding the recently constructed San Lorenzo River (SLR) Trestle 
Bridge Improvements. Segment 8 (0.6 mile) is composed of improving an existing Class IV on-street 
bicycle system and pedestrian sidewalk. Segment 9 (1.6 miles) is composed of a new multi-use 
bicycle and pedestrian trail. 

The project purpose is to provide an accessible bicycle/pedestrian path for active transportation, 
recreation, and environmental and cultural education along the rail corridor, consistent with the 
Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network Master Plan. 

This EIR includes an evaluation of the City’s Proposed Project: Trail next to Rail line (Ultimate Trail 
Configuration), as well as an Optional First Phase: Trail on the Rail line (Interim Trail) for Segment 9, 
which is part of the Proposed Project and therefore analyzed at an equal level of detail. Segment 8 
of the Project would be the same, with or without the optional Interim Trail. The trail alignments are 
presented in Appendices A.1 and A.2, respectively. 

PROPOSED PROJECT: TRAIL NEXT TO RAIL LINE (ULTIMATE TRAIL CONFIGURATION) 

In Segment 8, the existing bike way (cycle track) in the roadway would be improved by: installing 
raised “curb separators” (~3–6 inches high) between the bike lane and vehicle travel lane; retaining 
or replacing the existing vulcanized rubber divider adjacent to the on-street parking; improving and 
widening sidewalks; and adding high visibility striping and surface improvements for bike facility, 
crosswalk, and mixing zone visibility. 

In Segment 9, the trail would be constructed on the inland side of the railroad tracks, except for the 
short portion on the eastern end of the Project where the trail would switch to the coastal side. The 
typical trail width of the paved trail would be 12 feet with striping in the middle to separate 
eastbound and westbound. Fencing would be installed between the trail and tracks as necessary in 
accordance with the MBSST Network Master Plan. This is considered the preferred alignment and 
approach by the City, County, and RTC. 

Attachment 2

29-9



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

 

ES-2 

OPTIONAL FIRST PHASE: TRAIL ON THE RAIL LINE (INTERIM TRAIL) 

In Segment 8, the improvements would be the same as described above for the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration. 

In Segment 9, all or a portion of the trail would be constructed in approximately the same location 
of the railroad tracks by removal of the rails and ties. The typical trail width would be 16 feet with 
striping in the middle to separate eastbound and westbound. Upon completion of this first phase 
(estimated to be 25 years in duration for purposes of analysis), the trail would be removed, and the 
Ultimate Trail Configuration would be constructed. Thus, the optional Interim Trail includes three 
parts: (1) implementation of the Interim Trail, which includes removal of the rail and construction of 
the trail on the rail line; (2) demolition of the Interim Trail and rebuilding the rail line; and (3) 
construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail. 

TRAIL AMENITIES AND FEATURES 

For both the Ultimate Trail Configuration and the optional Interim Trail, fencing and/or guardrails 
would be installed along the trail alignment for safety and security in accordance with the MBSST 
Master Plan. Lighting that is “dark sky compliant” would be installed along portions of the trail that 
do not benefit from existing light sources along adjacent roadways and crossings. Trash receptacles, 
including recycling receptacles and dog waste stations, would be added near four roadway crossings 
(Mott, Seabright, 7th, and 17th Avenues). Informational, educational, and directional signage would 
be placed at strategic locations along the trail. 

CONSTRUCTION TIMING 

Construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration, without the optional Interim Trail, is estimated to 
begin in 2023 or 2024, and would continue for approximately 24 months. 

Construction of the optional Interim Trail is estimated to occur as follows. It is estimated that the 
Interim Trail could be in operation for approximately 25 years, recognizing this is an interim or 
temporary condition driven by freight activity, and it could be longer or shorter than estimated 
below for purposes of analysis. 

1. Implementation of Interim Trail: 2023–2027 (4 years) 

▪ 2023–2025 – Complete environmental review, design, and ROW process 

▪ 2025–2027 – Trail construction 

2. Demolition of Interim Trail and Rebuilding the Rail Line: 2056–2060 (4 years) 

3. Construction of Ultimate Trail Configuration: 2053–2055 (2 years) 

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES 

Construction activities for Segment 8 would include improvements to the existing bike way (cycle 
track), sidewalks, curb ramps, stairs, and driveways. 

Construction activities for the new trail in Segment 9 would include excavation of material sources, 
clearing and grubbing, and tree removal; grading, retaining wall construction, drainage 
improvements, and placement of crushed aggregate base and paved surface; and revegetation, 
installation of fencing, signs, lighting, and other trail and safety-related features. There would be 
drilling associated with construction of the retaining walls and viaducts but no pile driving. 
Additionally, the optional Interim Trail includes demolition of the existing rail (part 1) and 
demolition of the Interim Trail (part 2). 

29-10



Executive Summary 

 

Draft Environmental Impact Report  ES-3 

Several best management practices (BMPs) are included in the project description and will be 
identified in the construction bid documents and implemented during project construction to 
minimize dust, emissions, and erosion and to protect air quality, biological resources, and water 
quality. 

Project Purpose and Objectives 

The project purpose is to provide an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)-accessible 
bicycle/pedestrian path for active transportation, recreation, and environmental and cultural 
education along the existing rail corridor. 

The project objectives are based on and consistent with objectives and policies in the adopted 
MBSST Network Master Plan. 

The project objectives include the following: 

1. Provide a continuous public trail with continuity in design along the Santa Cruz Branch Line 
railroad corridor and connecting spur trails in Santa Cruz County (Master Plan objective 1.1) 

2. Develop the trail so future rail transportation service along the corridor is not precluded (Master 
Plan policy 1.2.4) 

3. Maximize ocean views and scenic coastal vistas along a coastal alignment for experiencing and 
interpreting the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (sanctuary), coastal environment, 
local history, and affected communities (Master Plan policies 1.1.2 and 1.1.4, objective 2.1) 

4. Maximize safety and serenity for experiencing and interpreting the sanctuary and landscapes by 
providing a trail separate from roadway vehicle traffic (Master Plan goal 1) 

5. Minimize trail impacts to private lands, including agricultural, residential, and other land uses 
(Master Plan objective 1.5) 

6. Minimize trail impacts to sensitive habitat areas and special-status plant and animal species 
(Master Plan objective 1.4, policy 1.4.1) 

7. Comply with requirements of local, state, and federal agencies with jurisdiction 

Project Alternatives 

Pursuant to Section 15126.6 of the CEQA Guidelines, the City considered several Project 
alternatives, including design options and features, suggested during the scoping process. The 
following alternatives are evaluated in this EIR: 

▪ Alternative 1: Trail Only (Chapter 5, Project Alternatives) 

▪ Alternative 2: Interim Trail with Rail Preservation (Chapter 5) 

▪ Alternative 3: No Project (Chapter 5) 

▪ Optional First Phase: Interim Trail (Chapter 3, Environmental Impact Analysis) 

Alternative 1. The Trail Only Alternative would involve permanent removal of the existing railroad 
tracks and ties, and construction of a multi-use trail on the rail bed. The trail would be 26 feet wide 
and would separate bicyclists from pedestrians with pavement markings. 

Alternative 2. The Interim Trail with Rail Preservation would (1) construct a 16-foot-wide trail 
composed of fiberglass reinforced polymer (FRP) decking over the existing tracks and ties, (2) later 
remove the Interim Trail, and (3) construct the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail. This 

29-11



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

 

ES-4 

provides an alternative that preserves the rail and ties along a rail line which is eligible for listing as a 
historic resource, compared to the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) which temporarily removes 
the rail. 

Alternative 3. The No Project Alternative assumes that the Project corridor would remain “as is” 
with no planned development of a trail for alternative transportation, recreation, or other uses. 

Areas of Known Controversy and Key Issues 

Some members of the public have expressed preference for a “trail only” project on the SCBRL, 
whereby rail service would be abandoned, tracks would be removed, and pedestrian and bicycle 
paths would be located on the rail bed. 

Issues to be Resolved 

Issues to be resolved include the City’s (as well as County and RTC) choice among the Proposed 
Project, with or without the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail), and Project alternatives, and 
implementing mitigation measures to reduce the significant impacts to the extent feasible. 

Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Proposed Project 

The potential impacts of the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration), with and without the 
Optional First Phase (Interim Trail), were analyzed at an equal level of detail in Chapter 3. The 
potential cumulative impacts are addressed in Chapter 4, Other CEQA Required Discussions. 

Table ES-1, located at the end of this Executive Summary, includes a summary of the impacts of the 
Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) and the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail); 
proposed mitigation measures, if required; and the residual impact after application of mitigation. 
Impacts are categorized as follows: 

▪ No Impact. No adverse effect at all on environmental conditions, and/or a beneficial effect by 
reducing the severity existing environmental problems or hazards. 

▪ Less than Significant. An impact that may be adverse, but does not exceed the identified 
significance threshold and does not require mitigation measures. 

▪ Less than Significant with Mitigation. An impact that may be adverse and exceed the identified 
significance threshold, but can be reduced to below the significance threshold level with the 
adoption of identified mitigation measures. 

▪ Significant and Unavoidable. An impact that may be adverse and exceed the identified 
significance threshold, and cannot be reduced to below the threshold level even with the 
adoption of any identified mitigation measures. 

The Proposed Project includes one design option called the East Harbor Connection, where there 
could be a switchback trail connection down to the East Harbor service road. For most resource 
topics, the potential environmental impacts would be the same or very similar. 

Table ES-2, located at the end of this Executive Summary, provides a summary list of the mitigation 
measures identified for the Proposed Project and Project Alternatives. 

29-12



Executive Summary 

 

Draft Environmental Impact Report  ES-5 

Project Alternatives 

The potential impacts of Alternatives 1, 2 and 3 were analyzed at a lesser level of detail, as allowed 
by CEQA, in Chapter 5. 

 Table ES-3, located at the end of this Executive Summary, provides a comparative summary of the 
Project impacts for the Proposed Project and Project Alternatives. Refer to Section 5.2, Alternatives 
Evaluated in Draft EIR, in Chapter 5 for the complete alternatives analysis. 

As described above, the Proposed Project has an Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) that is 
evaluated in Chapter 3 of the Draft EIR, but is also included in the comparison of Project 
alternatives. 

Significant and Unavoidable Impacts 

As presented in Table ES-1 and Table ES-2, the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration), 
Optional First Phase (Interim Trail), Alternative 1 (Trail Only), and Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with 
Rail Preservation) would all result in the following significant and unavoidable Project impacts, as 
well as cumulative impacts identified in Chapter 4. 

▪ Aesthetics 

□ Adverse effect on scenic vistas through the removal of mature trees (Impact AES-1) 
□ Inconsistency with policies that pertain to tree and vegetation removal (Impact AES-2) 
□ Cumulative aesthetics impacts from increased development in open spaces disrupting 

scenic vistas from tree removal (AES-C) 

▪ Biological Resources 

□ Adverse effect on monarch butterfly and autumnal and/or wintering roost sites from tree 
removal (BIO-2) 

□ Interference with wildlife movement from tree removal and habitat fragmentation (BIO-11) 
□ Conflict with policies and ordinances protecting trees (BIO-12) 
□ Cumulative biological resources impacts from tree removal and fragmentation of habitat 

and wildlife corridors (BIO-C) 

Additionally, the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) and Alternative 1 (Trail Only) would result in the 
following significant and unavoidable impact. 

▪ Cultural Resources 

□ Adverse effect on historic resources from removal of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line (CR-1) 
□ Cumulative impact to historic resources from removal of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line 

(Impact CR-C) 

Environmentally Superior Alternative 

As described in Section 5.3, Environmentally Superior Alternative, and Table 5-5 in Chapter 5, the 
impacts of the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) are compared to the Optional First 
Phase (Interim Trail), Alternative 1 (Trail Only), Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail Preservation), 
and Alternative 3 (No Project). Based on this comparison, Alternative 3 (No Project) would result in 
less or substantially less environmental impacts for all the resource topics. Therefore, CEQA requires 
an environmentally superior build alternative be identified. 

29-13



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

 

ES-6 

As described in Section 5.3, the overall impacts of the build alternatives are similar, and there is no 
clear environmentally superior alternative. Therefore, the City considered two measures to 
determine the environmentally superior alternative: 1) minimizing significant and unavoidable 
impacts and 2) environmentally superior for most resource topics. 

Using both measures, the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) is considered 
environmentally superior for the following general reasons. Compared to the Proposed Project 
(Ultimate Trail Configuration): 

▪ Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) 1 and Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail Preservation) 2 
when considered as a whole, as required by CEQA3, would result in more construction-related 
impacts because of the two additional construction periods, wider trail (16 feet instead of 12 
feet), and more tree removal (404 trees total instead of 381 trees). Optional First Phase (Interim 
Trail) would result in greater impact than Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail Preservation) 
because the rail would be removed resulting in a greater impact to a historic resource and 
resulting in more ground disturbance and demolition. 

▪ Alternative 1 (Trail Only) would result in more impacts associated with ground disturbance from 
constructing a substantially wider trail (26 feet instead of 12 feet). Further, the wider trail 
extends south of the rail line, resulting in more impacts to biological resources including trees, 
sensitive habitats, and protected resources along Twin Lakes State Park; potential monarch 
roost habitat between the San Lorenzo River and Mountain View Avenue; and where eucalyptus 
support rookeries for great blue heron, egret, cormorants, and other nesting birds east of the 
Santa Cruz Harbor. 

▪ Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) and Alternative 1 (Trail Only) would result in greater impacts 
to cultural resources from temporary removal and permanent removal, respectively, of the rail 
and ties. The rail line is considered a historic resource eligible for listing on the California 
Register of Historical Resources CRHR and National Register of Historic Places4. 

The following comparisons are provided for additional information. 

▪ When comparing the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) with only Part 1 of the 
Interim Trail, without implementation of Part 2 (no removal of the Interim Trail) and Part 3 (no 
construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration), Part 1 alone would be environmentally 
superior because there would be one construction period and less overall tree removal (124 
trees instead of 380 trees). However, Part 1 would still result in a significant and unavoidable 
impact to aesthetics and biological resources because it is removing 25% of the existing trees 
along the rail corridor. 

▪ When comparing the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) and Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation), Alternative 2 is considered environmentally superior because it would not likely result 
in significant and unavoidable impacts to cultural resources from removal of the rail line.

 
1 The Optional First Phase (Interim Trail) is composed of three parts: (1) removal of the rail and construction of the Interim Trail on the rail line, 
(2) demolition of the Interim Trail and rebuilding the rail line, and (3) construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail.  
2 Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail Preservation) is composed of three parts: (1) construction of the FRP decking over the existing tracks 
and ties, (2) removal of the Interim Trail, and (3) construct the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail.  
3 CEQA Guidelines (Sec 15126) requires all phases or the whole of a project be considered when evaluating environmental impacts. 
4 The Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line was recorded on California Department of Parks and Recreation 523 Series forms and evaluated for 
inclusion in the California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) and National Register of Historic Places (NRHP). The California 
Department of Transportation Cultural Studies Office has assumed that the entire resource is eligible for the NRHP for its associations 
with the history of transportation and economic development in the City and County of Santa Cruz. It is therefore a historical resource for 
the purposes of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

29-14



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-7 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

Aesthetics 

AES-1. The Project would have an adverse effect on scenic resources and 
vistas through the removal of mature trees.  

Significant and Unavoidable None Available Significant and Unavoidable 

AES-2. The Project would be inconsistent with policies that pertain to tree and 
vegetation removal.  

Significant and Unavoidable None Available Significant and Unavoidable 

AES-3. The Project would not adversely affect daytime or nighttime views. Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

AES-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative aesthetic 
impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable, 
except for cumulative impacts to scenic quality due to the removal of mature 
trees.  

Cumulatively Considerable BIO-C Cumulatively Considerable 

Beneficial Effects: The Project would facilitate public access to viewing points of scenic vistas in both segments of the Project corridor. 

Air Quality 

AIR-1. The Project would not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the 
adopted MBARD AQMP. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

AIR-2. The Project would not result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for which the region is designated non-
attainment. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

AIR-3. The Project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

AIR-4. The Project would not result in other emissions (such as those leading 
to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number of people. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

AIR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant air quality impacts. 
The Project’s contribution would not be cumulative considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Beneficial Effect: The Project would provide an alternative transportation corridor for bicyclists, pedestrians, and other users, which is expected to reduce vehicular travel 
and associated emissions. 

Biological Resources 

BIO-1. The Project could adversely affect State Endangered and Federally 
Threatened Santa Cruz tarplant. 

Potentially Significant BIO-1a,b 

BIO-9a,b,c 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

29-15



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-8 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

BIO-2. The Project could adversely affect monarch butterfly and 
autumnal and/or wintering roost sites. 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

Significant and Unavoidable 

BIO-3. The Project could adversely affect sensitive fish species (tidewater 
goby, central California coast coho salmon, and central California coast 
steelhead), critical habitat, and coho Essential Fish Habitat (EFH). 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-4. The Project could adversely affect western pond turtle and Santa 
Cruz black salamander, if present.  

Potentially Significant BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-5. The Project would adversely affect sensitive and native nesting 
bird species during construction and operation. 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 

BIO-5 

BIO-9a,b,c 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-6. Project construction could adversely affect sensitive and common 
roosting bat species that may use coast live oak woodland and other 
trees along the alignment. 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 

BIO-6 
BIO-9a,c 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-7. The Project would adversely affect San Francisco Dusky-footed 
woodrat. 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 

BIO-7 
BIO-9a,c 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-8. The Project could adversely affect marine mammals, including 
southern sea otter. 

Potentially Significant BIO-2 
BIO-9a,c 

BIO-10b 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-9. The Project would result in adverse effects to riparian habitat, 
other sensitive natural communities, and Coastal Act ESHA. 

Potentially Significant BIO-9a,b,c Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-10. The Project would result in adverse effects to palustrine 
emergent wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats. 

Potentially Significant BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

Less than Significant with 
Mitigation 

BIO-11. The Project would interfere with wildlife movement. Potentially Significant BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

Significant and Unavoidable 

BIO-12. The Project would conflict with policies and ordinances 
protecting trees, including the City of Santa Cruz Heritage Tree 
Ordinance and County of Santa Cruz Significant Tree Ordinance. 

Potentially Significant BIO-9a,b,c Significant and Unavoidable 

29-16



Executive Summary 

 Environmental Impact Report ES-9 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

BIO-C. Cumulative development would result in significant cumulative 
biological resources impacts. The Project’s contribution would be 
cumulatively considerable. 

Cumulatively Considerable BIO-C Cumulatively Considerable 

Cultural Resources 

CR-1. The Project may adversely affect historical resources, including the 
Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. 

Ultimate Trail Configuration Potentially Significant CR-1a Less than Significant 

Optional Interim Trail Potentially Significant CR-1a, CR-1b Significant and Unavoidable 

CR-2. Ground-disturbing activities during project construction may 
unearth or adversely impact subsurface archaeological resources.  

Potentially Significant CR-2 Less than Significant 

CR-3. Ground-disturbing activities during project construction may 
disturb human remains.  

Less than significant None Required Less than Significant 

CR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative 
cultural resource impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable, except for cumulative impacts to the historic 
Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line that result from Rail Removal (Optional 
Interim Trail Only). 

Cumulatively Considerable CR-1a 

CR-1b (Optional Interim Trail 
only) 

Cumulatively Considerable 

Geology and Soils 

GEO-1. The Project would not exacerbate the existing exposure of 
people or structures to risks from strong seismic ground shaking. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GEO-2. The Project may exacerbate exposure of the public to liquefaction or 
landslide hazards and may be located on a geological unit or soil that would 
become unstable as a result of lateral spreading, landslides, and liquefaction.  

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GEO-3. The Project may result in substantial soil erosion or loss of 
topsoil. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GEO-4. The Project would not exacerbate the existing risk to life or 
property resulting from expansive soils. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GEO-5. Ground-disturbing activities during Project construction may 
directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or 
unique geologic feature. 

Potentially Significant GEO-5 Less than Significant 

29-17



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-10 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

GEO-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant 
cumulative geology and soils impacts. The Project’s contribution would 
not be cumulatively considerable.  

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions/Climate Change 

GHG-1. The Project would not result in GHG emissions that would have a 
significant impact on the environment. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GHG-2. The Project would be consistent with applicable GHG reduction 
plans. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GHG-3. The Project would not expose people or structures to substantial 
risk of loss, injury, or death from projected sea level rise or flooding. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

GHG-C. Cumulative statewide development would result in a significant 
cumulative GHG impact. The Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Beneficial Effect: The Project would provide an alternative transportation corridor for bicyclists, pedestrians, and other users, which is expected to reduce vehicular travel 
and associated emissions. 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

HAZ-1. Construction of the Project would involve use, disposal, or 
transportation of hazardous materials, which could be accidentally released. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

HAZ-2. Ground disturbance during construction could release soil 
contaminants.  

Ultimate Trail Configuration Potentially Significant HAZ-2a, HAZ-2b Less than Significant 

Optional Interim Trail Potentially Significant HAZ-2a, HAZ-2b, HAZ-2c Less than Significant 

HAZ-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative 
hazards and hazardous materials impacts. The Project’s contribution would 
not be cumulatively considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required HAZ-2a, HAZ-
2b 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

HYD-1. The Project would not violate any water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or 
groundwater quality nor conflict with water quality control plan. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

29-18



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-11 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

HYD-2. The Project would not substantially decrease groundwater supplies 
or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

HYD-3. The Project would not substantially alter drainage patterns in the 
Project corridor or vicinity. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

HYD-4. The Project would not risk release of pollutants due to project 
inundation in flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

HYD-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative 
hydrology and water quality impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Land Use and Planning 

LUP-1. The Project would not physically divide an established community. Less than Significant None required Less than Significant 

LUP-2. The Project would not conflict with applicable land use plans, policies, 
or regulations adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 
environmental effect.  

Less than Significant None required Less than Significant 

LUP-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative 
land use impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively 
considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Beneficial Effect. The Project would increase connectivity across established communities by providing a pedestrian and bicycle trail using an existing corridor without 
disturbing existing residential, commercial, and industrial uses along the Project corridor.  

Noise 

N-1. Construction may result in a substantial temporary increase in
noise levels.

Potentially Significant N-1 Less than Significant 

N-2. Operation of the Project would not expose persons to or
generate excessive noise levels.

Less than Significant None required Less than Significant 

N-3. Construction would potentially expose persons to or generate
excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels.

Potentially Significant N-3 Less than Significant 

N-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative
noise impacts to ambient vehicle noise. The Project’s contribution
would not be cumulatively considerable.

Not Cumulatively Considerable None Required Not Cumulatively Considerable 

29-19



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-12 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

Public Safety and Services 

PUB-1. The Project would not result in the need for additional fire 
protection facilities or emergency medical services response to 
maintain acceptable service ratios or response times.  

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

PUB-2. The Project would not result in the need for additional police 
protection or law enforcement facilities to maintain acceptable service 
ratios or response times. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

PUB-3. The Project would not result in the need for the construction of 
new or additional park facilities, nor the degradation of existing facilities. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

PUB-4. The Project would not result in the need for the construction 
of new or additional health service facilities. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

PUB-C. Cumulative development could result in significant cumulative 
impacts to public safety and services. The Project’s contribution would 
not be cumulatively considerable. 

Not Cumulatively Considerable None Required Not Cumulatively Considerable 

Beneficial Effect: The Project itself would provide a new transportation and recreational facility and would improve access to Twin Lakes State Beach park facilities and 
other parks and recreation facilities, such as the Santa Cruz Harbor, Simpkins Swim Center, and Santa Cruz Boardwalk. Additionally, the Project would improve access to the 
rail line for police, fire, and emergency response medical services. 

Transportation 

T-1. The Project would meet the screening criteria set by OPR, Caltrans, City
of Santa Cruz, and Santa Cruz County and thus would not conflict or be
inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines, Section 15064.3(b). 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

T-2. Neither construction nor operation of the Project would substantially
increase hazards due to a geometric design feature or incompatible use.

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

T-C. Cumulatively development would result in significant cumulative traffic
impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable.

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Beneficial Effect: The Project would provide the option for alternative transportation modes along the Project corridor, resulting in an overall reduction in VMT that would 
ultimately improve the existing circulation system. Furthermore, the Project would implement high visibility striping and surface improvements along Segment 8, reducing 
user conflicts along Beach Street where existing pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic is heavily congested.

29-20



Executive Summary 

 Environmental Impact Report ES-13 

Table ES-1 Summary of Project Impactsa 

Impact 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation 

Significance 
After Mitigation 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

TCR-1. The Project may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance 
of a tribal cultural resource. 

Potentially Significant TCR-1a, TCR-1b Less than Significant 

TCR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative tribal 
cultural resource impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable.  

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

Utilities and Service Systems 

UTIL-1. Sufficient water supplies are available to serve the Project, and the 
Project would not result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded 
water facilities. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

UTIL-2. The Project would not generate wastewater in excess of existing 
treatment capacity and would not require or result in the relocation or 
construction of new or expanded wastewater treatment facilities. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

UTIL-3. The Project would not require or result in the relocation or 
construction of new or expanded stormwater drainage, electric power, 
natural gas, or telecommunications facilities. 

Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

UTIL-4. The Project would not generate solid waste in excess of local landfill capacity. Less than Significant None Required Less than Significant 

UTIL-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative impacts 
to utilities and service systems. The Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable. 

Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

None Required Not Cumulatively 
Considerable 

a The impacts and mitigation apply to both the Proposed Project: Trail next to Rail line (Ultimate Trail Configuration) and the Optional First Phase: Trail on the Rail line (Interim Trail) unless otherwise noted. 

29-21



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-14 

Table ES-2 Summary of Mitigation Measures Identified for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Mitigation Measure 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail 
Line (Ultimate 
Trail 
Configuration) 

Optional First 
Phase: Trail on the 
Rail Line (Interim 
Trail) 

Alternative 1  
(Trail Only)  

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with 
Rail Preservation) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Note: Most of the mitigation measures are required for the Proposed Project, with or without the optional Interim Trail, and Alternatives 1 and 2. The shaded rows indicate for 
which impacts the mitigation requirements are different. 

BIO-1a. Implement Protections for the Santa Cruz tarplant 
population in Twin Lakes State Park. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-1b. Install Permanent Fencing between Interim Trail and Twin Lakes 
State Beach near Santa Cruz Tarplant Habitat (Interim Trail only). 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-2. Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-5. Conduct Breeding Bird Surveys and Identify Protective Buffers prior 
to Construction, if Construction occurs between February 1 and August 
31. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-6. Conduct Bat Surveys and Implement Measures to Protect 
Roosting Bats during Construction. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-9a. Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install 
Temporary Protective Fencing. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-9b. Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and 
Management Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting 
from Trail Construction and Operation. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-9c. Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological 
Resources during Construction. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-10a. Minimize Construction-related Activities in Palustrine 
Emergent Wetlands and Aquatic/Riverine Habitats. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-10b. Develop and Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation and 
Monitoring Plan. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

BIO-C. Include cumulative conservation goals and objectives in the 
Project-Specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan (Mitigation Measure BIO-9b) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

CR-1a. Install historical interpretive exhibits along trail prior to trail use. Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

CR-1b. Prepare historic documentation package prior to rail removal 
(Interim Trail only). 

No Yes Yes No No 

29-22



Executive Summary 

 Environmental Impact Report ES-15 

Table ES-2 Summary of Mitigation Measures Identified for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Mitigation Measure 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail 
Line (Ultimate 
Trail 
Configuration) 

Optional First 
Phase: Trail on the 
Rail Line (Interim 
Trail) 

Alternative 1  
(Trail Only)  

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with 
Rail Preservation) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

CR-2. Implement protocol for unanticipated discovery of cultural 
resources. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

GEO-5. Implement paleontological resources protection measures 
during construction in high sensitivity areas. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

HAZ-2a. Conduct soil sampling and implement necessary remediations. Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

HAZ-2b. Prepare and implement Soils Management Plan. Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

HAZ-2c. Evaluate subgrade soil and cap contaminated soils and ballast 
prior to rail and trail demolition (Interim Trail only Parts 1 and 2 only). 

No Yes Yes No No 

N-1. Implement noise-reducing measures for construction
equipment used within 550 feet of residences or hotels.

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

N-3. Provide notification of construction vibration to residential
units within 50 feet.

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

TCR-1a. Conduct Native American monitoring during construction. Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

TCR-1b. Implement protocol for unanticipated discovery of tribal 
cultural resources, if Native American monitor is not present. 

Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

29-23



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-16 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

Aesthetics 

AES-1. The Project would have an adverse 
effect on scenic vistas through the 
removal of mature trees.  

SU SU 

Substantially similar 

SU 

Similar 

NI 

Substantially less 

SU 

Substantially similar 

AES-2. The Project would be inconsistent 
with policies that pertain to tree and 
vegetation removal.  

SU SU 

Substantially similar 

SU 

Substantially Similar 

NI 

Substantially less 

SU 

Substantially similar 

AES-3. The Project would not adversely 
affect daytime or nighttime views. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

Overall Impact Determinationb SU SU SU NI SU 

Air Quality 

AIR-1. The Project would not conflict with 
or obstruct implementation of the 
adopted MBARD AQMP. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Slightly mored

LTS 

Substantially similar 

AIR-2. The Project would not result in a 
cumulatively considerable net increase of 
any criteria pollutant for which the region 
is designated non-attainment. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more from 
construction 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 
from construction 

LTS 

Less from 
construction 

Slightly more for 
operationd

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 
from construction 

AIR-3. The Project would not expose 
sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more from 
construction 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 
from construction 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 
from construction 

AIR-4. The Project would not result in 
other emissions (such as those leading to 
odors) adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, slightly more 
from construction 

LTS 

Similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 
from construction 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS LTS LTS 

29-24



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-17 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

Biological Resources 

BIO-1. The Project could adversely affect 
State Endangered and Federally 
Threatened Santa Cruz tarplant. 

LTSM 

BIO-1a, 1b 

BIO-9a,b,c 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

BIO-1a,b 

BIO-9a,b,c 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-1a,b 

BIO-9a,b,c 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-1a,b 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-2. The Project could adversely affect 
monarch butterfly and autumnal and/or 
wintering roost sites. 

SU 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

SU 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

SU 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

NI 

Less 

SU 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-3. The Project could adversely affect 
sensitive fish species (tidewater goby, central 
California coast coho salmon, and central 
California coast steelhead), critical habitat, 
and coho Essential Fish Habitat (EFH). 

LTSM 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly less 

BIO-2 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

BIO-4. The Project could adversely affect 
western pond turtle and Santa Cruz black 
salamander, if present.  

LTSM 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly less 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

BIO-5. The Project would adversely affect 
sensitive and native nesting bird species 
during construction and operation. 

LTSM 

BIO-2 

BIO-5 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-5 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-5 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-5 

BIO-9a,b,c 

BIO-10a,b 

29-25



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-18 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

BIO-6. Project construction could 
adversely affect sensitive and common 
roosting bat species that may use coast 
live oak woodland and other trees along 
the alignment. 

LTSM 

BIO-2 

BIO-6 
BIO-9c 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-6 
BIO-9c 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-6 
BIO-9c 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-6 
BIO-9c 

BIO-7. The Project would adversely affect 
San Francisco Dusky-footed woodrat. 

LTSM 

BIO-2 

BIO-7 
BIO-9a,c 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-7 
BIO-9a,c 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 

BIO-7 
BIO-9a,c 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2 

BIO-7  
BIO-9a,c 

BIO-8. The Project could adversely affect 
marine mammals, including southern sea 
otter. 

LTSM 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,c 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,c 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,c 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,c 

BIO-9. The Project would result in adverse 
effects to riparian habitat, other sensitive 
natural communities, and Coastal Act ESHA. 

LTSM 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Substantially similar 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

BIO-10. The Project would result in 
adverse effects to palustrine emergent 
wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats. 

LTSM 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly less 

BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

BIO-11. The Project would interfere with 
wildlife movement. 

SU 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

SU 

Similar, moreBIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

SU 

Similar, more 

BIO-2 
BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

NI 

Less 

SU 

Substantially similar 

BIO-2  
BIO-9a,b,c 
BIO-10a,b 

29-26



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-19 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

BIO-12. The Project would result in the 
removal of trees comprising the Santa Cruz 
urban forest and subject to the City of Santa 
Cruz Heritage Tree Ordinance and County of 
Santa Cruz Significant Tree Ordinance. 

SU 

BIO-9a,b,c 

SU 

Similar, more 

BIO-9a,b,c 

SU 

Similar, more 

BIO-9a,b,c 

NI 

Less 

SU 

Substantially similar 

BIO-9a,b,c 

Overall Impact Determinationb SU SU SU NI SU 

Cultural Resources 

CR-1. The Project may adversely affect 
historical resources, including the Santa 
Cruz Branch Rail Line. 

LTSM 

MM CR-1a 

SU 

Substantially more 

MM CR-1a 

MM CR-1b 

SU 

Substantially more 

MM CR-1a 

MM CR-1b 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Substantially less 

MM CR-1a 

MM CR-1b 

CR-2. Ground-disturbing activities during 
project construction may unearth or 
adversely impact subsurface 
archaeological resources.  

LTSM 

MM CR-2 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

MM CR-2 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

MM CR-2 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly less 

MM CR-2 

CR-3. Ground-disturbing activities during 
project construction may disturb human 
remains.  

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTSM SU SU NI LTSM 

Geology and Soils 

GEO-1. The Project would not exacerbate 
the existing exposure of people or 
structures to risks from strong seismic 
ground shaking. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 
Substantially similar 

GEO-2. The Project may exacerbate 
exposure of the public to liquefaction or 
landslide hazards and may be located on a 
geological unit or soil that would become 
unstable as a result of lateral spreading, 
landslides, and liquefaction.  

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

29-27



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-20 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

GEO-3. The Project may result in 
substantial soil erosion or loss of topsoil. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, less 

GEO-4. The Project would not exacerbate 
the existing risk to life or property 
resulting from expansive soils. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, more 

GEO-5. Ground-disturbing activities during 
Project construction may directly or 
indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique 
geologic feature. 

LTSM 

MM GEO-5 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

MM GEO-5 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

MM GEO-5 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, less 

MM GEO-5 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTSM LTSM LTSM NI LTSM 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions/Climate Change 

GHG-1. The Project would not result in 
GHG emissions that would have a 
significant impact on the environment. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 

GHG-2. The Project would be consistent 
with applicable GHG reduction plans. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Slightly mored

LTS 

Substantially similar 

GHG-3. The Project would not expose 
people or structures to substantial risk of 
loss, injury, or death from projected sea 
level rise or flooding. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS LTS LTS 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

HAZ-1. Construction of the Project would 
involve use, disposal, or transportation of 
hazardous materials, which could be 
accidentally released. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, less 

29-28



Executive Summary 

 Environmental Impact Report ES-21 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

HAZ-2. Ground disturbance during 
construction could release soil 
contaminants.  

LTSM 

MM HAZ-2a 

MM HAZ-2b 

LTSM 

Substantially more 

MM HAZ-2a 

MM HAZ-2b 

MM HAZ-2c 

LTSM 

Substantially more 

MM HAZ-2a 

MM HAZ-2b 

MM HAZ-2c 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Substantially less 

MM HAZ-2a 

MM HAZ-2b  

Overall Impact Determinationb LTSM LTSM LTSM NI LTSM 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

HYD-1. The Project would not violate any 
water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements or otherwise 
substantially degrade surface or 
groundwater quality. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 

HYD-2. The Project would not 
substantially decrease groundwater 
supplies or interfere substantially with 
groundwater recharge. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

HYD-3. The Project would not 
substantially alter drainage patterns in the 
Project corridor or vicinity. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

HYD-4. The Project would not in flood 
hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release 
of pollutants due to project inundation. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS NI LTS 

Land Use and Planning 

LUP-1. The Project would not physically 
divide an established community.  

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

29-29



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-22 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

LUP-2. The Project would not conflict with 
applicable land use plans, policies, or 
regulations adopted for the purpose of 
avoiding or mitigating an environmental 
effect.  

LTS LTS 

Similar 

LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS LTS LTS 

Noise 

N-1. Construction may result in a substantial 
temporary increase in noise levels. 

LTSM 

MM N-1 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

MM N-1 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

MM N-1 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Similar, less 

MM N-1 

N-2. Operation of the Project would not
expose persons to or generate excessive
noise levels.

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Similar, less 

N-3. Construction would potentially
expose persons to or generate excessive
groundborne vibration or groundborne
noise levels.

LTSM 

MM N-3 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

MM N-3 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

MM N-3 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Similar, less 

MM N-3 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTSM LTSM LTSM NI LTSM 

Public Safety and Services 

PUB-1. The Project would not result in the 
need for additional fire protection 
facilities or emergency medical services 
response to maintain acceptable service 
ratios or response times.  

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar, 
slightly less 

LTS 

Less for increased 
service calls 

More since no 
improved access to 
rail corridor 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

PUB-2. The Project would not result in the 
need for additional police protection or law 
enforcement facilities to maintain 
acceptable service ratios or response times. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar, 
slightly less 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

29-30



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-23 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

PUB-3. The Project would not result in the 
need for the construction of new or 
additional park facilities, nor the 
degradation of existing facilities. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

PUB-4. The Project would not result in the 
need for the construction of new or 
additional health service facilities. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS LTS LTS 

Transportation 

T-1. The Project would meet the screening 
criteria set by OPR, Caltrans, City of Santa 
Cruz, and Santa Cruz County and thus 
would not conflict or be inconsistent with 
CEQA Guidelines, Section 15064.3(b). 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

LTS 

Less for construction 
traffic 

More because no 
reduced VMT 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

T-2. Neither construction nor operation of
the Project would substantially increase
hazards due to a geometric design feature
or incompatible use.

LTS LTS 

Similar, more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS LTS LTS 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

TCR-1. The Project may cause a 
substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a tribal cultural resource. 

LTSM 

MM TCR-1a 

MM TCR-1b 

LTSM 

Similar, more 

MM TCR-1a 

MM TCR-1b 

LTSM 

Similar, slightly more 

MM TCR-1a 

MM TCR-1b 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTSM 

Similar, less 

MM TCR-1a 

MM TCR-1b 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTSM LTSM LTSM NI LTSM 

29-31



City of Santa Cruz  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 

ES-24 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

Utilities and Service Systems 

UTIL-1. Sufficient water supplies are 
available to serve the Project, and the 
Project would not result in the relocation 
or construction of new or expanded water 
facilities. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

UTIL-2. The Project would not generate 
wastewater in excess of existing 
treatment capacity, and would not require 
or result in the relocation or construction 
of new or expanded wastewater 
treatment facilities. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially similar 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

UTIL-3. The Project would not require or 
result in the relocation or construction of 
new or expanded stormwater drainage, 
electric power, natural gas, or 
telecommunications facilities. 

LTS LTS 

Similar, more power 

LTS 

Similar, slightly more 
power 

NI 

Less 

LTS 

Substantially similar 

UTIL-4. The Project would not generate solid 
waste in excess of local landfill capacity. 

LTS LTS 

Substantially more 

LTS 

More 

NI 

Substantially less 

LTS 

Similar, slightly less 

Overall Impact Determinationb LTS LTS LTS NI LTS 

29-32



Executive Summary 

Environmental Impact Report ES-25 

Table ES-3 Comparison of Impactsa for Proposed Project and Project Alternatives 

Resource Topics and Impactsb 

Proposed Project: 
Trail Next to Rail Line 
(Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) 

Compared to Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
Compared to Optional 
First Phase: Interim Trail 

Optional First Phase: 
Trail on the Rail Line 
(Interim Trail)c 

Alternative 1 
(Trail Only) 

Alternative 3 
(No Project) 

Alternative 2 
(Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) 

a The impacts of the Proposed Project are presented in the first column with the impact determination for the Proposed Project: Trail Next to Rail Line (Ultimate Trail Configuration) presented in the 
second column, using the abbreviations identified below. The impacts and required mitigation for the Optional First Phrase: Trail on the Rail Line (Interim Trail)3 and the anticipated impacts and 
mitigation of Alternative 1 (Trail Only) and Alternative 3 (No Project) are presented and described in comparison to the Proposed Project: Trail Next to Rail Line (Ultimate Trail Configuration) (e.g., similar, 
more, less), with the reasoning presented primarily in the text discussion. However, the impacts and required mitigation for Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail Preservation) are presented and 
compared to the Proposed Project’s Optional First Phrase: Trail on the Rail Line (Interim Trail), because Alternative 2 was developed to reduce significant impacts of the optional Interim Trail (removal of 
a historic resource) that would not occur with Proposed Project: Trail Next to Rail Line (Ultimate Trail Configuration). A summary of the required mitigation is presented in Table 5-4. 
b The “Overall Impact Determination” for the resource topic is based on the highest or “worst” level of impact for the resource topic. 
c The impact determinations are for the whole of the optional Interim Trail, including implementation of all three parts: (1) removal of the rail and construction of the Interim Trail on the rail line; 
(2) demolition of the Interim Trail and rebuilding the rail line; and (3) construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail. This results in three separate construction periods
d The No Project alternative was determined to have more operational impact than the Proposed Project, because the Proposed Project would provide alternative transportation for bicycles and
pedestrians, which is anticipated to reduce vehicular use and associated emissions, which is the goal in several planning documents including: California Air Resources Board Scoping Plan, 
Monterey Bay Air Resources District Air Quality Management Plan, Association of Monterey Bay Area Government Metropolitan Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy, City 
Climate Action Plan, County Climate Action Strategy.

NI = No Impact

LTS = Less than Significant without Mitigation

LTSM = Less than Significant with Mitigation

SU = Significant & Unavoidable

MM = Mitigation Measure

29-33



RESOLUTION NO.    

Adopted by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
on the date of May 4, 2023 

on the motion of Commissioner 
duly seconded by Commissioner 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE COASTAL RAIL TRAIL FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACT REPORT AND ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT, STATEMENT OF 

OVERRIDING CONSIDERATION AND MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING 
PROGRAM FOR THE ULTIMATE TRAIL CONFIGURATION AND THE OPTIONAL FIRST 

PHASE: INTERIM TRAIL 

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) purchased the Santa 
Cruz Branch Rail Line (Branch Line) in 2012 for preservation, continuation of freight 
and recreational rail service, implementation of additional recreational rail service, 
potential future passenger rail service and construction of a bicycle and pedestrian 
trail; 

WHEREAS, the RTC is charged with implementing the Santa Cruz County 
portion of the 2-county Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network 
and the RTC adopted an award-winning MBSST Master Plan that defines the 
alignment and development of the Santa Cruz County’s 50-mile bicycle and 
pedestrian trail system, and certified a programmatic Environmental Impact 
Report in November 2013;  

WHEREAS, the spine of the trail will be built within or adjacent to the 32-
mile RTC-owned railroad right-of-way from Davenport to Pajaro;  

WHEREAS, the MBSST is separated into 20 segments for planning and 
project delivery purposes with 16 of these segments along the rail right-of-way; 

WHEREAS, Segments 8 & 9 of the MBSST are located with the City of Santa 
Cruz and the County of Santa Cruz; 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 & 
9 Plan are analyzed in the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 & 9 FEIR, prepared by City 
of Santa Cruz as the lead agency and reviewed by RTC as responsible agency 
(Public Resources Code Section 15381), with RTC making appropriate findings; 

WHEREAS, the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 FEIR evaluate potential 
impacts of constructing a single build alternative which include development of the 
Ultimate Trail Configuration where the trail would be located next to the railroad 
track alignment and an Optional First Phase: Interim Trail where the trail would be 
constructed in place of the existing railroad track alignment; 

Attachment 3

29-34



WHEREAS, the City of Santa Cruz proposes to construct Coastal Rail Trail 
Segment 9 within the RTC owned Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line right-of-way (rail 
line right-of-way) from the east side of the San Lorenzo River to 17th Avenue and, 
as owner of the rail line right-of-way, RTC has discretionary approval of the 
proposed Coastal Rail Trail Segment 9 project; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION THAT: 

1. The Coastal Rail Trail FEIR is accepted by the Santa Cruz County Regional
Transportation Plan as adequate for decision making following certification of
the Final EIR by the City of Santa Cruz as the lead agency.

2. The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission adopts Final EIR
Findings, Statement of Overriding Consideration, and Mitigation Monitoring
Reporting Program for the Ultimate Trail Configuration and the Optional First
Phase: Interim Trail.

AYES: COMMISSIONERS 

NOES: COMMISSIONERS 

ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS 

ATTEST: ____________________________ 
Manu Koenig, Chair 

____________________________ 
Guy Preston, Secretary 

Exhibit A: Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding Consideration

Mitigation Monitoring Reporting Program 

Distribution: RTC Fiscal 
RTC Project Manager 
City of Santa Cruz 

s:\rtc\tc2023\05\regular\coastalrailtrailseg8&9\att-3-segment8 &9feir-res.docx 

Exhibit B:

29-35



Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
1 

CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT, STATEMENT OF OVERRIDNG CONSIDERATIONS, AND 
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

This document includes the following sections: 

I. Introduction to CEQA Findings
II. Location and Custodian of the Record

III. Findings for Impacts Identified as Less than Significant
IV. Findings for Impacts Identified as Significant but Mitigated to a Less than Significant Level
V. Findings for Impacts that are Significant and Unavoidable

VI. Findings Regarding Alternatives
VII. Findings Regarding Mitigation Measures and Alternatives Proposed in NOP and Draft EIR Comments

VIII. Findings on Responses to Comments on the Draft EIR and Revisions to the Draft EIR
IX. Statement of Overriding Considerations
X. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

I. INTRODUCTION TO CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT

These Findings of Fact are made pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (Pub. Res. Code §21000 
et seq., “CEQA”) and the CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code Regs. title 14, §15000 et seq.) by the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission (RTC), as a responsible agency for the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 
9 Project (Project). These Findings of Fact pertain to the Final Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”), State 
Clearinghouse #2021090262, prepared by the City of Santa Cruz. 

A. PROJECT DESCRIPTION SUMMARY

The Project is a 2.2-mile bicycle and pedestrian system proposed to extend along the railroad corridor, 
owned by the RTC, from the Beach Street/Pacific Avenue roundabout on the west in the City of Santa Cruz 
(City) to the eastern side of 17th Avenue on the east in Santa Cruz County (County), excluding the recently 
constructed San Lorenzo River (SLR) Trestle Bridge Improvements. Segment 8 (0.6 mile) is composed of 
improving an existing Class IV on-street bicycle system and pedestrian sidewalk. Segment 9 (1.6 miles) is 
composed of a new multi-use bicycle and pedestrian trail. Appendix A.1 of the EIR includes the schematic 
design plans for the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration).  Appendix A.2. of the EIR includes the 
schematic design plans for the Optional First Phase (Interim Trail). 

The EIR evaluates the Proposed Project (Trail Next to Rail Line or Ultimate Trail Configuration) and the 
Optional First Phase: Trail on the Rail line (Interim Trail) in Chapter 3.0, Environmental Impact Analysis. 
Additionally, the EIR evaluates Alternative 1 (Trail Only) and Alternative 2 (Interim Trail with Rail 
Preservation) in Chapter 5.0, Project Alternatives. Under Alternative 1, the railroad tracks and ties would be 
permanently removed, and a 26-foot-wide multiuse trail would be located on the rail bed. Under Alternative 
2, a 16-foot-wide Interim Trail composed of Fiber Reinforced Polymer (FRP) decking would be built over the 
existing tracks and ties and later removed, and the Ultimate Trail Configuration would be constructed 
alongside the rail. The other alternative evaluated in Chapter 5.0 is Alternative 3 (No Project), as required by 
CEQA.  

These Findings of Fact pertain to the Proposed Project (Trail Next to Rail Line or Ultimate Trail Configuration) 
and an Optional First Phase (Interim Trail). These Findings are part of the package of documents that RTC 

Attachment 3: Exhibit A

29-36



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 2 
 

would rely on and incorporate in any approval issued by the RTC and which would be coordinated with  
additional necessary approvals by other public agencies such as the City (approved March 20, 2023), County, 
California Coastal Commission, and California State Department of Parks and Recreation. 

B. PROCEDURAL COMPLIANCE WITH CEQA 

The City, as the CEQA lead agency, published the Draft EIR on September 23, 2022, and the Final EIR on 
January 23, 2023, in compliance with CEQA requirements. As allowed for in CEQA Guidelines §15084(d)(2), 
the City retained consultants to assist with the preparation of the environmental documents. Acting as lead 
agency, the City directed, reviewed and edited as necessary all material prepared by the consultants, and 
such material reflects the City’s independent judgment. In general, the preparation of the EIR included the 
following key steps and public notification efforts. 

 A 30-day scoping process began with the City’s issuance of the Notice of Preparation (NOP) of an EIR 
on September 14, 2021. The NOP was filed with the State Clearinghouse on September 14, 2021, 
which started a 30-day comment period that ended October 15, 2021. The City noticed and held a 
virtual scoping meeting during the 30-day comment period to receive perspective and input from 
agencies, organizations and individuals on the scope and content of the environmental information 
to be addressed in the EIR. The virtual scoping meeting was held on October 6, 2021. The NOP and 
scoping meeting date were published in the Santa Cruz Sentinel on September 13, 2021. 

 A Public Open House was held on March 31, 2022, to share the draft schematic design plans for the Project. 

 Other design progress meetings that were open to the public included meetings with the Santa Cruz 
Port District in November 2021; the RTC Bicycle Advisory Committee, RTC Elderly and Disabled 
Advisory Committee, and City Transportation and Public Works Commission in April 2022; and City 
Council in May 2022. 

 The City issued the Draft EIR by distributing a Notice of Availability (NOA) and filing a Notice of 
Completion (NOC) with the State Clearinghouse on September 14, 2022. The Draft EIR NOA was 
published in the Santa Cruz Sentinel and distributed to a variety of government agencies, 
organizations and interested parties, including: local jurisdictions, tribal governments, state and 
federal agencies, resource agencies, water districts and boards, transportation agencies, community 
groups and organizations, business organizations, chambers of commerce, universities and school 
districts, senior/aging organizations, interested parties and members of the public. The NOA and 
Draft EIR were also posted on City, County, and RTC websites; promoted on the City’s social media 
platforms; and made available for review at the Downtown Library (224 Church Street) and at the 
City’s Public Works Department (809 Center Street, Room 201). Additionally, notices were posted at 
several locations along the rail corridor, including the Beach Street/Pacific Avenue roundabout; San 
Lorenzo River Trestle Bridge; and Seabright Avenue, 7th Avenue, and 17th Avenue intersections. 

 The Draft EIR was available for a 53-day public review period starting September 23, 2022, and ending 
November 14, 2022. The City hosted a virtual public hearing on the Draft EIR on October 19, 2022.  

 Following close of the public review period, the City revised the Draft EIR in response to comments 
received during the public review period and provided written responses addressing all significant 
environmental issues raised. Revisions made to the Draft EIR are shown throughout the Final EIR in 
strikethrough (deleted) and underlined (added) text.  

29-37



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 3 
 

 The City published the Final EIR on January 23, 2023. The City provided written responses to all public 
agencies that commented on the Draft EIR on that date, consistent with the legal requirement that 
such agencies receive such responses at least 10 days prior to lead agency action certifying the EIR. 
The City held public hearings on March 2, 2023, and March 20, 2023, to consider certification of the 
Final EIR and approval of the Project.  

 During the March 20, 2023, City Council meeting, the City Council certified the Final EIR, approved 
the Project, and adopted Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding Considerations, and Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program. 

The RTC, as a responsible agency, finds the Final EIR prepared by the City as lead agency, is adequate for use 
by the RTC. 

C. INCORPORATION OF FINAL EIR BY REFERENCE 

The Final EIR is hereby incorporated by reference into these Findings of Fact. The Final EIR consists of three 
volumes:  

1. Comments and Responses on the Draft Environmental Impact Report,  

2. Draft Environmental Impact Report, September 2022 (Revised January 2023), and  

3. Draft EIR Appendices, September 2022 (Revised January 2023). 

D. REQUIREMENTS FOR CEQA FINDINGS 

Pursuant to Public Resources Code §21081 and CEQA Guidelines §15091, no public agency shall approve or 
carry out a project for which an EIR has been certified which identifies one or more significant environmental 
effects of the project, unless the public agency makes one or more of the following findings with respect to 
each significant impact. 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project which avoid or substantially 
lessen the significant environmental effect as identified in the Final EIR. 

Such changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another public agency and not the 
agency making the finding. Such changes have been adopted by such other agency or can and should be 
adopted by such other agency. 

Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including provision of employment 
opportunities for highly trained workers, make infeasible the mitigation measures or project alternatives 
identified in the EIR.  

For purposes of the third of these possible findings, the CEQA Guidelines define “feasible” as “capable of 
being accomplished in a successful manner within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, 
environmental, legal, social, and technological factors.” (CEQA Guidelines § 15364.) Thus, a decision-making 
body may reject a mitigation measure or project alternative as infeasible if the measure or alternative fails to 
meet this definition. Importantly, the courts understand the legal concept of infeasibility to encompass both 
(i) the ineffectiveness of a particular alternative or mitigation measure in promoting the agency’s underlying 
project purpose and objectives and (ii) the desirability of the measure or alternative from a policy standpoint, 
as reasonably determined by the decisionmakers. (See City of Del Mar v. City of San Diego (1982) 133 

29-38



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 4 
 

Cal.App.3d 410, 417; California Native Plant Society v. City of Santa Cruz (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 957, 1000-
1001; San Diego Citizenry Group v. County of San Diego (2013) 2129 Cal.App.4th 1, 17-18.) 

The RTC has made one or more of these specific written findings regarding each significant impact associated 
with the Project. Those findings are presented below, along with a presentation of facts in support of the 
findings. The RTC certifies that these findings are based on full appraisal of all viewpoints, including all 
comments received up to the date of adoption of these findings, concerning the environmental issues identified 
and discussed. These findings are based on substantial evidence contained in the totality of the administrative 
record before the RTC, including, but not limited to, the Final EIR supporting evidence cited herein. 

A full explanation of the environmental findings, conclusions, and mitigation measures referenced herein can 
be found in the Draft EIR and Final EIR; and these Findings hereby incorporate by reference the discussions 
and analyses in those documents. In making these Findings, the RTC hereby ratifies, adopts, and incorporates 
those discussions and analyses, adopting them as the RTC’s own.  

II.  LOCATION AND CUSTODIAN OF THE RECORD 

The documents and other materials that constitute the record of proceedings on which the RTC’s Findings of 
Fact are based are located with the City at 809 Center Street, Room 201, Santa Cruz, California. The custodian 
of these documents is Nathan Nguyen, P.E., Director of Public Works. This information is provided in 
compliance with Public Resources Code § 21081.6(a)(2) and CEQA Guidelines § 15091(e). 

For purposes of CEQA and these Findings of Fact, the Record of Proceedings for the Project consists of the 
following documents, at a minimum: 

 The Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Master Plan EIR (2013). 

 The Notice of Preparation and all other public notices issued by the City in conjunction with the Project. 

 The Draft and Final EIRs, including appendices and technical studies included or referenced in the 
Draft and Final EIRs. 

 All comments submitted by agencies or members of the public during the public comment period on 
the Draft EIR. 

 All comments and correspondence submitted to the City with respect to the Project. 

 The Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) for the Project. 

 All Findings and resolutions adopted by RTC decision makers in connection with the Project and all 
documents cited or referred to therein. 

 All reports, studies, memoranda, maps, staff reports, or other planning documents relating to the 
Project prepared by the RTC, City and consultants to the City, including RRM Design, Harris & 
Associates, Rincon, and EcoSystems West. 

 All documents and information submitted to the City and RTC by responsible, trustee, or other public 
agencies, or by individuals or organizations, in connection with the Project, up through the date that 
the City approved the Project. 

29-39



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 5 
 

 Minutes and/or verbatim transcripts of all information sessions, public meetings, and public hearings 
held by the City and RTC, in connection with the Project. 

 Any documentary or other evidence submitted to the City and RTC at such information sessions, 
public meetings, and public hearings. 

 Matters of common knowledge to the City and the RTC, including but not limited to applicable 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations. 

 Any documents expressly cited in these Findings of Fact, in addition to those cited above. 

 Any other materials required to be in the Record of Proceedings by Public Resources Code 
§ 21167.6(e). 

The RTC, as decisionmaker, has relied on all of the documents listed above in reaching its decisions on the 
Project, even if not every document was formally presented to the decisionmaker as part of the files 
generated in connection with the Project. Without exception, any documents set forth above not found in 
the Project files fall into one of two categories.  

First, many of them reflect prior planning or legislative decisions of which the City was aware in approving 
the Project. (See City of Santa Cruz v. Local Agency Formation Commission (1978) 76 Cal.App.3d 381, 391-
392; Dominey v. Department of Personnel Administration (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 729, 738, fn. 6.)  

The second category are other documents that influenced the expert advice provided to the City staff, RTC 
staff, or the environmental consultants who prepared the EIR, who then provided advice to the final 
decisionmakers. For that reason, such documents form part of the underlying factual basis for the City’s 
decisions relating to the approval of the Project. (See Pub. Resources Code, § 21167.6, subd. (e)(10); 
Browning-Ferris Industries v. City Council of City of San Jose (1986) 181 Cal.App.3d 852, 866; Stanislaus 
Audubon Society, Inc. v. County of Stanislaus (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 144, 153, 155.) 

III.  FINDINGS FOR IMPACTS IDENTIFIED AS LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT 

Public Resources Code § 21081 and CEQA Guidelines § 15091 do not require findings of fact for impacts that 
are less than significant. Nevertheless, for the sake of completeness, the RTC hereby finds that the following 
environmental impacts of the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 either have no impact or are less than 
significant. Under CEQA, no mitigation measures are required for impacts that are less than significant (CEQA 
Guidelines § 15126.4(a)(3)). 

Section 3.15 of the EIR explains why certain impacts were not found to be significant and therefore were not 
discussed in detail in the EIR, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15128. The findings below are for impacts 
that were considered in detail in the EIR, but determined to be less than significant. These findings are 
based on the detailed discussions of impacts in Chapter 3, Sections 3.1 through 3.14, and Chapter 4, Section 
4.1, of the EIR. The references to portions of the EIR as supportive evidence for the findings are intended to 
be helpful guidance to the decisionmakers and the public but they are not necessarily the only such 
evidence in the record supporting the findings. 

A. AESTHETICS 

1. Impact AES-3. The Project would not adversely affect daytime or nighttime views. 

29-40



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 6 
 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would involve installation of minor light sources 
along the 0.6-mile (Segment 8) and 1.6-mile (Segment 9) segments of the Coastal Rail Trail where 
needed for safety. However, any new lighting would be “dark sky compliant” in that it would 
minimize light pollution and offensive glare by directing light downward so it would not spill 
beyond the trail, and thus would have a minimal effect on the existing lighting conditions. 
Additional public use of adjacent streets by trail visitors could incrementally increase glare from 
car windows and headlights during operating hours; however, this would be minimal and limited 
to operating hours. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.1-26 through 3.1-27 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

B. AIR QUALITY  

1. Impact AIR-1. The Project would not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the adopted 
Monterey Bay Air Resources District Air Quality Management Plan. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project does not contain a residential or commercial 
component and would therefore not increase the residential population or employment in the 
area. Construction of the Proposed Project would generate temporary employment 
opportunities, which would likely be filled by the existing workforce in Santa Cruz County. 
Therefore, no direct growth inducement is expected to result from implementation of the 
Proposed Project, and the Proposed Project would be consistent with the Air Quality 
Management Plan growth assumptions and emissions reduction goals. This impact would be less 
than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.2-12 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact AIR-2. The Project would not result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria 
pollutant for which the region is designated non-attainment. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would not generate emissions above applicable 
health-based significance thresholds. This impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.2-14 through 3.2-16 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact AIR-3. The Project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would not result in any stationary sources of 
emissions, significantly contribute to a potential CO hotspot, or result in emissions of other 
pollutants at levels that could reasonably be determined to result in health effects. Therefore, 
the Proposed Project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 
concentrations. This impact would be less than significant.  

29-41



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 7 
 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.2-18 through 3.2-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

4. Impact AIR-4. The Project would not result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) 
adversely affecting a substantial number of people. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Due to the linear nature of the Project, very few existing receptors 
would be located within a few hundred feet of the active construction area on any given day. 
Following construction, the Proposed Project would accommodate pedestrians and bicyclists, 
who typically do not generate odors. The Proposed Project would involve frequent emptying of 
trash receptacles along the trail, which would reduce potential emissions and odors. Therefore, 
this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.2-20 through 3.2-21 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

5. Impact AIR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative air quality impacts. The 
Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable.  

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would be consistent with the AQMP and help implement 
the plan. The Project would not result in new vehicle trips and would not result in impacts 
related to CO hotspots. Further, the Project would provide an alternative transportation corridor 
for bicyclists, pedestrians, and other users, which is expected to reduce vehicular travel and 
associated emissions. Therefore, the Project’s contribution to cumulative air quality impacts 
would not be cumulatively considerable. This impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 4-9 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

C. CULTURAL RESOURCES  

1. Impact CR-3. Ground-disturbing activities during project construction may disturb human remains. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Northwest Information Center records search did not identify any 
known cemeteries or burial sites on or within a 0.5-mile radius of the Project corridor. There is 
always potential for previously unrecorded or unidentified human remains to exist below ground 
surface. However, compliance with existing regulations protects human burial remains from 
disturbance, vandalism, or destruction and provides, including: Chapter 24.12 of the City’s 
Municipal Code, Chapter 16.40 of the County’s Municipal Code, PRC Section 5097, and California 
Health and Safety Code Sections 7050.5, 7051, and 7054. PRC Section 5097.98 also addresses the 
disposition of Native American burials, protects such remains, and establishes the NAHC as the 
entity to resolve any related disputes. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.4-16 through 3.4-17 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-42



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 8 
 

D. GEOLOGY AND SOILS  

1. Impact GEO-1. The Project would not exacerbate the existing exposure of people or structures to 
risks from strong ground shaking. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of the Proposed Project would not include housing or 
other structures that would result in long-term exposure of people or structures to the risk of loss, 
injury or death involving strong seismic ground shaking. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.5-14 through 3.5-15 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact GEO-2. The Project may exacerbate exposure of the public to liquefaction or landslide 
hazards and may be located on a geological unit or soil that would become unstable as a result of 
lateral spreading, landslides, and liquefaction. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would not include habitable structures and therefore would 
not expose residents to a risk of injury or death from landslides or seismic-related ground failure, 
including liquefaction. Portions of the trail alignment are mapped as an area with very high 
susceptibility for liquefaction, and the Project area is susceptible to moderate lateral spreading. 
Some portions of the Project could potentially be subject to a landslide hazard that could 
undermine the trail. Construction of the Project would introduce uninhabited built features that 
could be damaged from liquefaction, landslides, and/or lateral spreading. Implementation of the 
Project would incrementally increase the number of recreational users in the Project corridor, and 
those users could be exposed to an increased risk of injury or death from liquefaction or lateral 
spreading. However, the risks including those associated with liquefaction would be reduced with 
implementation of recommendations from the project Geotechnical Investigation Reports. 
Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.5-17 through 3.5-18 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact GEO-3. The Project may result in substantial soil erosion or loss of topsoil. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The subsurface soils identified along the Project corridor have a 
moderate potential for erosion. Construction of the Project could result in soil erosion or the loss 
of topsoil due to earthmoving activities such as excavation, grading, soil compaction and moving, 
soil stockpiling, slope modification, and culvert installation. However, the Project includes BMPs 
to be implemented during construction, which would reduce impacts related to runoff and 
erosion. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.5-19 through 3.5-20 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

29-43



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 9 
 

4. Impact GEO-4. The Project would not exacerbate the existing risk to life or property resulting from 
expansive soils. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project corridor is underlain by varying areas of moderately 
expansive clay. Although the Project would not include habitable structures and therefore would 
not expose residents to a risk of injury or death from expansive soils, seasonal shrinking and 
swelling of expansive clay soils could result in heave or settlement damage to proposed 
improvements. However, the risk associated with expansive soils would be reduced with 
implementation of the recommendations in the project Geotechnical Investigation Reports. 
Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.5-22 through 3.5-23 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

5. Impact GEO-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative geology and soils 
impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Any future development along the Project corridor would be required 
to address potential seismic and soil issues on a case-by-case basis. Cumulative buildout of the 
Santa Cruz County and City General Plans could expose new residents and structures to seismic 
and other geologic hazards in the county. However, these seismic and soil issues are specific to 
each project and would be addressed through adherence to existing local and state laws and 
regulations, including the applicable California Building Standards Code (CBSC) standards and 
requirements. Therefore, the Project’s contribution to cumulative air quality impacts would not 
be cumulatively considerable. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 4-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

E. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS/CLIMATE CHANGE 

1. Impact GHG-1. The Project would not result in greenhouse gas emissions that would have a 
significant impact on the environment. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Temporary impacts related to construction activities would result in a 
nominal one-time contribution to regional GHG emissions. Operation of the Project would 
increase the feasibility of non-motorized transportation and would contribute to a regional net 
decrease in vehicle miles traveled (VMT). Further, the Project would provide an alternative 
transportation corridor for bicyclists, pedestrians, and other users, which is expected to reduce 
vehicular travel and associated emissions. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.6-14 through 3.6-15 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-44



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 10 
 

2. Impact GHG-2. The Project would be consistent with applicable greenhouse gas reduction plans. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The project would result in a net decrease in GHG emissions by 
implementing alternative transportation infrastructure to decrease regional VMT. The Project would 
contribute to an ongoing net decrease in GHG emissions and would be an investment in bicycle and 
pedestrian infrastructure in the City and County by implementing two segments (Segments 8 and 9) 
necessary for the completion of the MBSST Network. Therefore, the Project would be consistent with 
applicable GHG reduction plans. This impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.6-17 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact GHG-3. The Project would not expose people or structures to substantial risk of loss, injury, 
or death from projected sea level rise or erosion. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The trail, including Segment 8 and the portion of Segment 9 that 
crosses Santa Cruz Harbor, is in potential future tidal inundation and flood hazard areas, and the 
portion of Segment 9 that crosses Leona Creek and Stream 1545 (which flow to Schwan Lagoon in 
Twin Lakes Beach State Park) is in the potential storm flooding area. However, the trail would not 
introduce any new structures for human occupancy that would potentially require protection from 
sea level rise as part of climate adaptation efforts or that would result in displacement of residents 
in the event of storm flooding. Additionally, the Project would be subject to routine maintenance. 
Through routine maintenance and inspections, it is anticipated any areas of the trail that are 
experiencing excessive erosion or inundation would be identified. If necessary, appropriate 
actions would be taken to minimize the risk to trail users. Such actions could include trail 
segment closure and detour, structural improvements, or trail relocation, for which appropriate 
environmental review would be conducted. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.6-18 through 3.6-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

4. Impact GHG-C. The Project would not result in greenhouse gas emissions that would have a 
significant impact on the environment. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would provide a new alternative transportation facility and 
would not contribute to an increase in GHG emissions from cumulative projects. The Project’s 
contribution to cumulative GHG emissions impacts would not be cumulatively considerable. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 4-15 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-45



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 11 
 

F. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

1. Impact HAZ-1. Construction of the project would involve use, disposal, or transportation of 
hazardous materials, which could be accidentally released. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Construction activities associated with the Project would involve the 
use of heavy equipment, which would contain fuels and oils, and various other products. Small 
quantities of potentially toxic substances would be used along the Project corridor and 
transported to and from the site during construction. However, the Project contractor would be 
required to comply with policies in the California Health and Safety Code and the City and 
County’s Municipal Codes pertaining to hazardous materials. With adherence to federal, state, and 
local regulations, potential impacts from construction activities and hazardous material transfer 
during Project construction would be reduced. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.7-18 through 3.7-20 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

G. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 

1. Impact HYD-1. The Project would not violate any water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality nor conflict with 
water quality control plan. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Adherence to the General Permit for Stormwater Discharges Associated 
with Construction and Land Disturbance Activities, the City and County’s Grading Ordinances, 
and Project BMPs would reduce impacts to water quality standards and waste discharge 
requirements. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.8-17 through 3.8-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact HYD-2. The Project would not deplete groundwater supplies nor substantially interfere with 
groundwater recharge. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Construction and operation of the Proposed Project would not use 
groundwater. The small amount of new impervious surface area that the Project would introduce 
relative to the total surface area of each groundwater basin impacted by the Project would be 
minimal. Due to the limited and dispersed impervious surfaces, there would be no adverse 
effects to groundwater recharge. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to page 3.8-22 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-46



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 12 
 

3. Impact HYD-3. The Project would not substantially alter drainage patterns in the Project corridor or vicinity. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Project BMPs during Project construction and use of 
existing or planned storm drain infrastructure during Project operation would minimize potential 
alteration to drainage patterns in the Project corridor or vicinity. Therefore, this impact would be 
less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.8-25 through 3.8-26 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

4. Impact HYD-4. The Project would not risk release of pollutants due to project inundation in flood 
hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Once constructed and in use, the trail would not involve the use of hazardous 
materials or other pollutants that could be inadvertently released due to Project inundation in a flood 
hazard, tsunami, or seiche zone. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.8-28 through 3.8-29 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

5. Impact HYD-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative hydrology and 
water quality impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable.  

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Planned development would not result in significant cumulative 
impacts concerning violation of water quality standards or waste discharge requirements, 
decreased groundwater supplies or interference with groundwater recharge, alterations to 
existing drainage patterns, or conflicts with water quality or groundwater plans. The Project’s 
contribution to hydrology and water quality impacts would not be cumulatively considerable. 
Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-16 through 4-17 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

H. LAND USE AND PLANNING 

1. Impact LUP-1. The Project would not physically divide an established community. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would utilize an existing railroad right-of-way 
surrounded by developed communities. Construction would occur within the right-of-way and 
would not physically divide the community. Further, the Project would increase connectivity 
across established communities by providing a pedestrian and bicycle trail using an existing 
corridor without disturbing existing residential, commercial, and industrial uses along the Project 
corridor. Impacts would be less than significant. 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.9-8 through 3.9-10 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-47



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 13 
 

2. Impact LUP-2. The Project would not conflict with applicable land use plans, policies, or regulations 
adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project corridor extends through developed communities zoned for 
trails and recreational facilities with applicable use permits. Although the Proposed Project is 
exempt from local land use planning policies and regulations, Project implementation would 
generally support the goals, objectives, and policies identified in the Santa Cruz City and County 
General Plans, Local Coastal Plan, Santa Cruz City and County Bicycle Plans, and Monterey Bay 
Sanctuary Scenic Trail Master Plan. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.9-11 through 3.9-13 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact LUP-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative land use impacts. 
The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable.  

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Because the majority of land near the project corridor is already 
developed, future development would be limited to redevelopment or infill projects. Although 
overall use of the lands surrounding the Project corridor would increase, the land use impact of 
the Project would be less than significant, would not result in a substantial contribution to an 
existing cumulative land use impact, and thus would not be cumulatively considerable. 
Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-17 through 4-18 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

I. NOISE 

1. Impact N-2. Operation of the Project would not expose persons to or generate excessive noise levels. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Operational noise along the proposed trail alignment may include the sound 
of trail users talking and maintenance workers collecting garbage or maintaining project features, but 
would be minimal and intermittent. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.10-7 through 3.10-10 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact N-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative noise impacts to ambient 
vehicle noise. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project, in combination with cumulative development, would not 
result in a significant cumulative impact related to construction noise and vibration, or stationary 
noise sources. Cumulative development would have the potential to result in cumulatively 
considerable increases in ambient vehicle noise; however, the Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant. 

29-48



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 14 
 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-18 through 4-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

J. PUBLIC SAFETY AND SERVICES 

1. Impact PUB-1. The Project would not result in the need for additional emergency response or fire 
protection facilities to maintain acceptable service ratios or response times. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would introduce a paved multi-purpose trail 
which would increase human activity in the Project corridor and could result in increased calls for 
emergency response and fire protection services to the Santa Cruz area. The Proposed Project 
would not construct buildings or other facilities that present unique challenges for fire protection 
and emergency response services. The trail would generally improve emergency access along the 
railroad tracks by providing paved access along the corridor. Therefore, this impact would be less 
than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.11-10 through 3.11-11 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact PUB-2. The Project would not result in the need for additional police protection or law 
enforcement facilities to maintain acceptable service ratios or response times. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – Increased human activity along the Project corridor, including the 
potential for increased persons who are unhoused, loitering, or trespassing onto adjacent lands, 
could result in additional calls from the public for police protection or law enforcement service. 
However, the Project would not require the construction of additional SCPD or County Sheriff’s 
stations or the expansion of services currently provided by the SCPD or the County Sheriff’s 
Office to respond to additional calls, and because the Project would not result in an increase in 
population. Existing police services; project features such as lighting, fencing, and signage; and 
improved access to the Project corridor are expected to minimize potential illegal activities such 
as vandalism, trespassing, and the establishment of illegal encampments. The Project is not 
anticipated to adversely affect service ratios or response times, nor result in the need for 
additional police protection or law enforcement facilities. Therefore, this impact would be less 
than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.11-13 through 3.11-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact PUB-3. The Project would not result in the need for the construction of new or additional 
park facilities, nor the degradation of existing facilities. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would not increase the permanent population, 
creating a demand for new parks or expanded park facilities in the City. Introducing an estimated 
3,500 trail users on a peak summer day could result in increased use of adjacent park facilities, 
but is not anticipated to result in substantial degradation of existing park resources above 
existing conditions; and many riders will pass through park facilities without stopping to use the 
facilities. Further, with respect to the new trail, the Project includes development of an 
Operations & Maintenance Plan including inspections and maintenance of trail facilities. 

29-49



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 15 
 

Furthermore, improving access to park facilities is considered a beneficial effect; and the Project 
would provide a new transportation and recreational facility that would improve access to Twin 
Lakes State Beach, Santa Cruz Harbor, Simpkins Swim Center, Santa Cruz Boardwalk, and other 
park and recreation facilities. Therefore, this impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.11-16 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

4. Impact PUB-4. The Project would not result in the need for the construction of new or additional 
health service facilities.  

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – The potential increase in the use of health service facilities from trail 
users (as a result of the Proposed Project) would not be substantial enough to require construction 
of new health care facilities, nor would existing facilities need to be expanded, resulting in potential 
physical effects on the environment. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.11-18 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

5. Impact PUB-C. Cumulative development could result in significant cumulative impacts to public 
safety and services. The project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project could have the cumulative effect of attracting more visitors 
to the Santa Cruz region. However, buildout of the Coastal Rail Trail would not introduce a 
permanent population to the Santa Cruz region. Increased use of the rail corridor by trail users is 
not expected to adversely affect response times or generate a need for additional public services 
personnel that warrants expansion of existing facilities or construction of new facilities. 
Therefore, the Project’s contribution to emergency service response times would not be 
cumulatively considerable. This impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-19 through 4-20 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

K. TRANSPORTATION AND CIRCULATION 

1. Impact T-1. The project would meet the screening criteria set by California Office of Planning and 
Research (OPR), which developed the CEQA Guidelines; Caltrans; City of Santa Cruz; and Santa Cruz 
County and thus would not conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines, Section 15064.3(b). 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The project would meet screening criteria related to VMT analysis, would 
be consistent with the 2040 Metropolitan Transportation Plan and Sustainable Community Strategy 
(SCS) adopted by the Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments, and would satisfy the 
conditions of several OPR example projects that would not require induced demand analysis for 
potential operational impacts related to VMT. Further, the Project would provide the option for 
alternative transportation modes along the Project corridor, resulting in an overall reduction in 
VMT that would ultimately improve the existing circulation system. Therefore, this impact would 
be less than significant. 

29-50



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 16 
 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.12-12 through 3.12-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact T-2. Neither construction nor operation of the Project would substantially increase hazards 
due to a geometric design feature or incompatible use. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Potential construction-related hazards would be temporary. 
Construction signage and, as a necessary, a flagger, would minimize hazards. Operationally, the 
project would include improved safety features such as interconnected traffic signals, chicanes, 
and rapid-flashing beacons. Further, the Project would implement high visibility striping and 
surface improvements along Segment 8, reducing user conflicts along Beach Street where 
existing pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic is heavily congested. Therefore, the Project 
would minimize potential conflicts. This impact would be less than significant. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.12-16 through 3.12-18 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact T-C. Cumulative development would result in significant cumulative traffic impacts. The 
Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required.  

b. Findings and Rationale – Planned development would result in significant cumulative impacts 
associated with increased VMT, traffic, and potential hazards during construction, and 
emergency access. However, the Project would not result in increased VMT, traffic and potential 
hazards; thus, the Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-20 through 4-21 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

L. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS  

1. Impact UTIL-1. Sufficient water supplies are available to serve the Project, and the Project would not 
result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water facilities. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would generate minor demand for water during 
construction and no demand for water during operation. Construction activities would use water to 
prepare concrete, control dust, wash equipment, tires and parts as needed, and re-seed disturbed 
areas. However, water demand would be incremental. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.14-11 through 3.14-12 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact UTIL-2. The Project would not generate wastewater in excess of existing treatment capacity 
and would not require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded wastewater 
treatment facilities. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

29-51



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 17 
 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would not result in the addition of bathrooms or 
otherwise generate wastewater, and thus would not require or otherwise affect wastewater 
treatment facilities. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.14-14 through 3.14-15 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact UTIL-3. The Project would not require or result in the relocation of new or expanded 
stormwater drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of the Proposed Project could alter stormwater 
drainage as it relates to surface water runoff from the paved trail. However, the Implementation 
of Project BMPs during Project construction and use of existing or planned storm drain 
infrastructure during Project operation would minimize potential alteration to drainage patterns 
in the Project corridor or vicinity. The Project could require limited use of electricity for power 
tools during construction and would require a minor amount of electricity for the new lighting for 
trail operation if solar is not used, but would not result in substantial demand on the existing 
supply. The Project would not require use of natural gas or telecommunication facilities. This 
impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.14-17 through 3.14-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

4. Impact UTIL-4. The Project would not generate solid waste in excess of local landfill capacity. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Proposed Project would generate approximately 17,945 CY of 
construction-related solid waste, which would be sufficiently accommodated by the available 
permitted capacity of existing City and County landfills or the regional Monterey Peninsula 
Landfill in Marina if necessary. This impact would be less than significant.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.14-21 through 3.14-22 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

5. Impact UTIL-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative impacts to utilities and 
service systems. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is required. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Planned development or buildout of cumulative projects would 
increase demands on utilities infrastructure. However, there are no cumulative significant 
impacts anticipated from cumulative projects, and the Project’s contribution to cumulative 
impacts would not be cumulatively considerable.  

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-22 through 4-24 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

29-52



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 18 
 

IV. FINDINGS FOR IMPACTS IDENTIFIED AS SIGNIFICANT BUT MITIGATED TO A LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT LEVEL 

The RTC hereby finds that the following mitigation measures, which are identified in the EIR and will reduce 
the following otherwise significant environmental impacts to a less than significant level, have been required 
in or incorporated into the Project. Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft 
EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. Additional minor revisions 
made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor 
and were made to strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the 
measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. The findings below are for impacts where 
implementation of the Project would result in significant environmental impacts that would be reduced to less 
than significant following mitigation. These findings are based on the discussion of impacts in the detailed 
impact analyses in Section 3.1 through Section 3.14 and Section 4.1 of the EIR, as well as relevant responses 
to comments in the Final EIR.  

The following statutory finding applies to all of the impacts described in this section (IV): 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project which avoid or 
substantially lessen the significant effects on the environment (to less than significant levels). (See Pub. 
Resources Code § 21081(a)(1).)  

A. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

1. Impact BIO-1. The Project could adversely affect State Endangered and Federally Threatened Santa 
Cruz tarplant. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.1  

BIO-1a Implement Protections for the Santa Cruz tarplant population in Twin Lakes 
State Park. During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or County 
(depending on implementing agency/jurisdiction) shall coordinate to ensure the 
following measures are implemented to protect the federally Threatened and 
California State Endangered Santa Cruz tarplant at Twin Lakes State Beach: 

 Prior to construction activities adjacent to Twin Lakes State Beach open 
space, identify the Santa Cruz tarplant occurrence in Twin Lakes State 
Beach on project plans and mark the edge of the population in the field 
with flagging to avoid construction-related impacts, 

 Prior to trail use, enclose the coastal terrace prairie grassland occupied by 
Santa Cruz tarplant with protective wildlife-friendly (e.g., spit-rail) fencing, 

 Add interpretative signage with Santa Cruz tarplant life history and rarity 
information, and 

 Coordinate with State Parks biologists to monitor and enhance tarplant 
population using techniques identified by the Arana Gulch Adaptive 

 
1 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion.  

29-53



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 19 
 

Management Working Group2. These may include seeding, out-planting, 
cardboard mulch, mowing, and/or hand weeding. 

BIO-1b Install Permanent Fencing between Interim Trail and Twin Lakes State 
Beach near Santa Cruz Tarplant Habitat. During construction of Segment 9, 
the City and/or County (depending on implementing agency/jurisdiction) 
shall coordinate to ensure final project design includes installation of fencing 
(wildlife friendly3) between the Trail and Twin Lakes State Beach near the 
tarplant population. The fencing shall extend for approximately 1,100 linear 
feet, from Leona Creek to the Simpkins Swim Center parking lot, to 
discourage trail users from entering Twin Lakes State Beach and creating 
new trails that could result in disturbance to the protected species. 
Additionally, signage shall be placed on the fencing, indicating the adjacent 
habitat protection area and directing users to the existing trail access near 
Simpkins Swim Center with arrow pointing eastward. 

BIO-9a Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or RTC) 
constructing portions of Segment 9 and the construction contractor shall 
implement the following measures: 

 To the extent feasible, all trail construction activities, including access 
routes, staging areas, stockpile areas, and equipment maintenance 
are to be located outside the limits of mapped sensitive habitats. 
Sensitive habitat areas shall be mapped by a qualified biologist and 
clearly shown on construction plans. Sensitive habitat areas include, but 
may not be limited to: Santa Cruz tarplant habitat in coastal prairie 
grassland at Twin Lakes State Beach, monarch butterfly roosting habitat 
near Woods Creek and the Santa Cruz Harbor riparian habitat along 
Pilkington Creek and Leona Creek, and coast live oak woodland and 
forest along to the rail corridor. 

 During construction, temporary fencing (e.g., silt fencing) shall be 
installed at the outermost edge of sensitive habitats and shall not be 
disturbed except as required for trail construction. Vegetation removal 
shall be limited to the minimum extent necessary to achieve project 
objectives. Mature trees will be retained wherever feasible and limbing 
of trees and shrubs in arroyo willow and mixed riparian forest, coast live 
oak woodland and forest, and potential and/or known monarch roost 
habitat should be favored in lieu of removal. When possible, in 
temporary impact areas, stumps and burls of native coast live oaks, coast 
redwoods, Pacific wax myrtle, and arroyo willows shall be retained to 
allow for re-sprouting following project completion. 

 
2 The Arana Gulch Adaptive Management Working Group (AMWG) is a collection of scientists, regulators, City of Santa Cruz representatives, and the public 
working to improve habitat conditions for the Santa Cruz tarplant at Arana Gulch Open Space as required by the Arana Gulch Habitat Master Plan (2013).  

3 Wildlife-friendly fencing provides a 17-inch clearance between the bottom wire and ground, which provides adequate room for most small to 
medium wildlife to pass and has a maximum height of 4.5 feet to allow larger wildlife (e.g., deer) pass over the top wire. Options include split-rail 
fencing or post and smooth wire fencing. Fencing shall be marked to be visible to wildlife. 

29-54



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 20 
 

 Limbing and removal of coast live oak trees located in coast live oak 
woodland and forest habitat shall be minimized to maintain canopy cover, 
nesting and roosting habitat for bird and bat species, and understory 
habitat for wildlife, including woodrats and other small mammals. 

BIO-9b  Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or RTC) 
constructing portions of Segment 9 and the construction contractor shall 
implement the following measures. 

A qualified (USFWS- and CDFW-approved) biologist shall prepare a Project-
specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management Plan (MMP) to 
compensate for direct and indirect impacts to sensitive habitats, including 
ESHA, and other sensitive biological resources resulting from trail 
construction and operation. The MMP shall compensate for permanent loss 
of sensitive habitats, through the creation, restoration, and enhancement of 
in-kind sensitive habitat, as close to impacted areas as possible within the 
study area. 

To protect against the loss of ecological functions and values, compensatory 
mitigation shall re-create the following features of existing sensitive habitat 
that would be impacted by the Proposed Project: habitat mosaic, edge 
habitats, and proximity to wetlands and other waters. A portion of 
compensatory mitigation shall re-create the linear aspect and provision for 
wildlife dispersal of existing habitats, where these features are potentially 
lost as a result of the Proposed Project. This feature shall be designed to 
protect against fragmentation of remaining habitat patches adjacent to the 
rail corridor. Due to limited available space remaining within the corridor 
after trail construction and minor railbed realignment, these wildlife corridor 
improvements will likely occur north and south of the study area to connect 
the existing disjunct open spaces utilized by wildlife within the urbanized 
portion of Santa Cruz including Woods Creek, Arana Gulch, Twin Lakes Beach 
State Park, and Rodeo Gulch. 

In addition, the Biological Resources MMP shall include the following: 

 Description of the trail alignment including as-built acreage of temporary 
and permanent impacts to arroyo willow and mixed riparian forest, coast 
live oak woodland and forest, and monarch butterfly roost sites, including 
the number and type of trees slated for removal City and County status as 
Heritage or Significant trees, respectively. 

 Ecological functions and values assessment of sensitive habitats, 
including monarch butterfly habitat to determine suitable mitigation 
ratios (at a minimum, no net loss) in consultation with USFWS, CDFW, 
and California Coastal Commission (CCC). 

 Goals of compensatory mitigation, including types and areas of sensitive 
habitat to be created, restored, enhanced and/or preserved; number 
and type of trees to be replaced, specific functions and values of 

29-55



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 21 
 

mitigation habitat types, mitigation ratios 
(created/restored/enhanced/preserved: impacted), and performance 
criteria, including: 

 Conservation of functions and values of monarch autumnal and 
overwintering roost habitat and nectaring sites (including maintaining 
suitable grove structure, wind protection, and water sources); 

 Conservation of edge habitats; and 

 Conservation of functions and values for wildlife movement 
including habitat mosaics, links between creeks, open spaces and 
safe passage across the proposed alignment, with perennial water 
sources, diverse food sources, cover, and shelter. 

 Such compensatory mitigation must occur as close to impacted areas as 
feasible and result in no net loss (minimum 1:1 replacement ratio) of 
sensitive habitat types, or their functions and values. In the Coastal Zone, 
mitigation ratios for ESHA typically start at 3:1 (creation/substantial 
restoration: impact) for ESHA. This ratio is doubled for enhancement 
(6:1) and tripled for preservation (9:1); however, a minimum of 1:1 must 
include creation of in-kind ESHA habitat. 

 Location and acreage of sensitive habitat, including monarch roost 
habitat, mitigation areas including ownership status, and existing 
functions and values of restored and/or enhanced sensitive habitats. 

 All trees will be replaced at a minimum 1:1 ratio. All City Heritage trees, 
County Significant trees, and native trees will be replaced “in kind” at a 
location and ratio to be determined by the City Forester, County 
Environmental Coordinator, and/or other responsible regulatory agencies. 

 One on-site mitigation area has been identified immediately north of the 
rail corridor at Woods Creek, currently a buffer habitat for the known 
roost site immediately north. This area would be enhanced for the 
roosting western monarch butterfly by planting native trees and 
understory plants (with fall/winter blooming for nectaring) and 
configuring the plantings to create a permeable tiered canopy that 
slopes down to the north. 

 Project stakeholders including the City, County, and RTC would identify 
undeveloped public and private properties as potential off-site 
mitigation areas. Acquisition could include direct purchase or placement 
of conservation easements on portions of parcels that are otherwise 
constrained from development due to existing protected resources (e.g., 
County and City aquatic and riparian setbacks, ESHA, steep slopes, etc.). 
Where potentially restricted from development, suitable areas for 
mitigation would not be precluded from habitat creation, restoration, 
enhancement, or preservation as needed to fulfill mitigation acreage and 
proximity requirements. Mitigation sites may include local parks, such as 

29-56



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 22 
 

Moran Lake, where existing monarch roost habitat could be enhanced 
through plantings of trees and nectar plants if a qualified biologist 
determines plantings would be beneficial to the park’s resources. 
Mitigation at local parks shall be authorized by the City, the County, 
and/or other relevant stakeholders. Plantings of roost trees or nectar 
plants at Moran Lake would supplement those plantings already 
identified in the Moran Lake Monarch Butterfly Habitat Management 
Plan. Mitigation sites may also include private properties adjacent to the 
rail corridor with the agreement of the City, County, and/or private 
property owner and if determined to be feasible. 

 Detailed sensitive habitat creation and/or restoration construction and 
planting techniques. 

 Description and design of habitat requirements for sensitive wildlife 
known to occur in the study area and immediate surroundings (including 
monarch roost sites, federally listed fish species, potential Santa Cruz 
black salamander, western pond turtle, bald eagle, American peregrine 
falcon, native nesting bird species, potential roosting bat species, San 
Francisco dusky-footed woodrat, and marine mammals). 

 In sensitive habitats, including in or near aquatic features, mMaintenance 
activities during operation shall include replanting native vegetation found 
within similar habitats within the same watershed and weed eradication 
that avoids take of sensitive wildlife species (e.g., woodrat, breeding 
birds). Trail maintenance activities in sensitive habitats shallwould employ 
hand-tools only. The use of pesticides or herbicides shallwould be 
prohibited in sensitive habitats, including in or near aquatic features. 
Management activities in monarch overwintering habitat shall be 
conducted between March 16 and September 14 (outside the monarch 
roost season) in coordination with a monarch biologist. 

 Strategies to protect remaining sensitive habitats along the trail corridor 
and surroundings from direct and indirect impacts from trail users and 
illegal camping, such as: 

 Split-rail and wire fencing 

 Interpretive signage including specific information about sensitive 
habitats and species and “leave no trace” content 

 “Green fencing” (dense vegetative buffers consisting of woody and 
plant species that deter human passage such as poison oak, Pacific 
blackberry, and stinging nettle) 

 Strategies to protect wildlife movement, both across and along the trail 
corridor, as well as north and/or south of the corridor to connect open 
spaces, supported by complex and mature sensitive habitat mosaics, 
including perennial water sources. 

29-57



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 23 
 

 Long-term quantitative and qualitative monitoring and reporting, 
including consideration of carrying capacity analysis and alternative 
approaches, and documenting the ability to meet or surpass 
performance criteria. Monitoring will include fall and wintering 
monitoring, including arrival and departure dates, of monarch roost sites 
by a qualified biologist. 

 Adaptive management strategies to: 

 Identify shortcomings in meeting performance standards; 

 Ensure long-term viability of existing, enhanced, restored, and/or 
newly created sensitive biological resources; 

 Enhance ecological functions and values of sensitive habitat 
mitigation areas, including monarch butterfly habitat and habitat for 
wildlife movement; 

 Ascertain the sufficiency of trail access, facilities development and 
management, and interpretive design features associated with the 
project to protect biological resources. 

Mitigation area locations and final replacement ratios (e.g., potentially above 
the minimum “no net loss” ratio set here) shall be determined in 
consultation with the relevant agencies, as follows. 

 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). Monarch butterfly (presently 
FESA Candidate species, likely Threatened or Endangered by 2024) 

 California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). Sensitive habitats, 
work below the break in bank of stream corridors, riparian habitat, CESA 
Endangered and Fully Protected species, Species of Special Concern 

 California Coastal Commission (CCC). Environmentally sensitive habitat 
areas (ESHA) 

 California State Parks. Sensitive resources and habitats on Twin Lakes 
State Beach property 

 Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB). Non-wetland riparian habitat 

The draft MMP shall be submitted to USFWS, NOAA Fisheries, CDFW, CCC, 
and California State Parks for review prior to formal adoption. Monitoring 
reports will be provided to these agencies. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or 
County (depending on the implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the 
construction contractor shall ensure the following best management 
practices (BMPs), to protect water quality and biological resources during 

29-58



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 24 
 

project construction activities, are included in the construction specifications 
and implemented during Project construction: 

 Minimize removal or disturbance of existing vegetation outside the 
footprint of project construction activities. 

 Limit site access and parking, equipment storage and stationary 
construction activities to the designated staging areas to the maximum 
extent feasible. 

 Prior to staging any equipment or vehicles within or adjacent to the rail 
corridor, clean all equipment caked with mud, soils, or debris from off-
site sources or previous project sites to avoid introducing or spreading 
invasive exotic plant species. When feasible, remove invasive exotic 
plants from the Project area. All equipment used on the site should be 
cleaned prior to leaving the site for other projects. 

 Position all stationary equipment such as motors, pumps, generators, 
and/or compressors over drip pans. At the end of each day, move 
vehicles and equipment as far away as possible from any water body 
adjacent to the Project site in a level staging area. Position parked 
equipment also over drip pans or absorbent material. 

 Check under all equipment for wildlife before use. If any listed or special-
status wildlife is observed under equipment or in the work area, do not 
disturb or handle it. Cease Project activities and contact the biological 
monitor or resource agencies for further guidance, if the animal 
continues to be encountered in the Project area. 

 If security fencing is installed around the construction site, allow for 
passage of wildlife to maintain a link between inland and coastal habitats 
including stream corridors during construction activities. Prohibit the use 
of plastic mesh safety fencing to prevent wildlife entrapment. 

 Avoid working at night or during rain events when special-status 
amphibians and mammals are generally more active. Consult weather 
forecasts from the National Weather Service at least 72 hours prior to 
performing work. 

 Properly contain and remove all food trash that may attract predators 
into the work area and construction debris and trash from the work site 
on a regular basis. 

 Refuel and perform all vehicle and/or equipment maintenance off site at 
a facility approved for such activities. 

 To the greatest extent feasible, stabilize all exposed or disturbed areas in 
the Project area. Install erosion control measures as necessary such as 
silt fences, jute matting, weed-free straw bales, plywood, straw wattles, 
and water check bars, and broadcasting weed-free straw wherever silt-

29-59



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 25 
 

laden water has the potential to leave the work site and enter the 
nearby streams. Prohibit the use of monofilament erosion control 
matting to prevent wildlife entanglement. Modify, repair, and/or replace 
erosion control measures as needed. 

 Revegetate with native vegetation found within similar habitats within 
the same watershed to minimize erosion, prevent the establishment of 
invasive weeds, and accelerate the recovery of native vegetation 
communities. 

 Whenever feasible, certain construction activities will be timed to avoid 
impacts to sensitive habitats and wildlife species, as presented in Table 
3.3-7. Ideally, most if not all vegetation clearing will be done in the fall. 

Table 3.3-7 Preferred Timing for Construction Activities Listed by Biological Resource 

Biological Resource 
Preferred Period of 
Avoidance 

Preferred 
Construction 
Window 

Life 
Events/Functions/ 
Values to be 
Protected 

Construction Activity 
to Be Avoided 

Arroyo Willow and Mixed 
Riparian/ 
Habitats below the break 
in bank 

Rainy season, 
approximately October 15–
May 31 

June 1–October 15 Stable banks, slopes, and 
soil 

All construction 

Sensitive Fish 
Species/Western Pond 
Turtle/ 
Potential SC Black 
Salamander/Marine 
Mammalsa 

Rainy season, 
approximately October 15–
May 31 

June 1–October 15 Fish migration/critical 
habitat functions and 
values 

Work in or near aquatic 
features and riparian 
vegetation 

Monarch Butterfly Autumnal and 
Overwintering roost 
season, approximately 
September 15–March 31 

 April 1–September 15 Autumnal roosting, 
overwintering and 
nectaring activities 

All construction within 
designated buffers; cutting, 
limbing, and tree removal, 
noise and vibration within 
300 feet of roost sites prior 
to temperature reaching 
55o F 

Bird Species February 1–August 31 September 1–January 31 Nesting activities All construction within 
designated buffers from 
active nest sites 

Bat Species November 1–February 15 
and May 1–August 31 

February 15–April 30 and 
September 1–October 31 

Roosting, especially 
maternity roosts and 
winter hibernacula 

Pruning, limbing, and tree 
removal 

San Francisco Dusky-
Footed Woodrat 

 October 15–July 31 August 1–October 15 Houses, especially during 
breeding and rearing 

Vegetation/tree removal 
and woodrat relocation 

Tree removal October 15– 
August 31 

Sept 1–Oct 15 (this is 
during the beginning of the 
monarch autumnal roost 
period) 

Breeding birds, bats, 
roosting monarchs, slope 
stability 

Cutting, limbing, tree 
removal, monarch roost 
encroachment  

a Central California coast coho salmon, central California coast steelhead, tidewater goby, and Pacific lamprey. 

Note: Each “preferred” time frame or construction window indicates the type of construction activity to be avoided, if possible, and not all 
windows apply to all resources. Ideally, most if not all vegetation clearing and tree removal will be done during the fall, whereas there is more 
flexibility with the other timeframes. 

 

29-60



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 26 
 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1a, BIO-1b, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, 
BIO-9c would reduce the potential impacts on Santa Cruz tarplant (and other sensitive biological 
resources) by implementing protection measures during construction (worker training, fencing, 
signage, BMPs, coordination with State Parks, monitoring); minimizing construction in sensitive 
habitats; installing a permanent fence between the trail and Twin Lakes State Beach near the 
tarplant population; and developing a Project-specific mitigation and management plan (MMP). 
These measures would reduce potential impacts to the State Endangered and Federally 
Threatened Santa Cruz tarplant to a less than significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-56 through 3.3-58 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

2. Impact BIO-3. The Project could adversely affect sensitive fish species (tidewater goby, central 
California coast coho salmon, and central California coast steelhead), critical habitat, and coho 
Essential Fish Habitat (EFH). 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required4.  

BIO-2  Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. During 
construction of Segment 9, the City and/or County (depending on the 
implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the construction contractor shall conduct 
construction monitoring for sensitive wildlife species, as specified below: 

 Prior to initiation of construction activities, a USFWS- and CDFW-
approved biologist shall prepare a construction monitoring plan that 
identifies all areas to be protected with exclusion fencing on a 1:1500 
scale map (or similar scale determined to be practicable), and all areas 
requiring monitoring by a USFWS-, NOAA Fisheries, and/or CDFW-
approved biologist or trained construction monitor. 

 Prior to initiation of construction activities, a USFWS-, NOAA Fisheries, 
and/or CDFW-approved biologist shall conduct an environmental training 
for all construction personnel. The training shall include a description of 
the sensitive wildlife species known or with potential to occur in the 
Project alignment and surroundings [monarch butterfly, sensitive fish 
species, western pond turtle, potential Santa Cruz black salamander, 
sensitive and native nesting bird species (including bald eagle and 
peregrine falcon), roosting bats species (including western red bat), San 
Francisco dusky-footed woodrat, and marine mammal species (including 
southern sea otter)]. 

 Prior to initiation of construction activities, the construction contractor 
shall install temporary exclusion fencing (solid silt fencing) in specified 
areas along the project boundaries, approximately 6 inches below grade 
and 3.0 feet above grade, with wooden stakes at intervals of not more 
than 8.0 feet. The fence shall be maintained in working order for the 
duration of construction activities. The agency-USFWS-approved biologist 
or trained construction monitor shall inspect the fence daily and notify the 

 
4 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. 

29-61



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 27 
 

construction foreman when fence maintenance is required. The fence 
shall allow for wildlife passage across the alignment at regular intervals to 
be determined in conjunction with USFWS and CDFW. 

 Construction activities shall be timed to minimize impacts to sensitive 
biological resources, as shown in Table 3.3-7. 

 The agency-approved biologist shall be present on-site, to direct and 
inspect all ground disturbing activities (including but not limited to tree 
removal, vegetation removal, grading, grubbing, and exclusion fence 
installation and removal, and for construction activities located in or 
near sensitive wildlife resources). Any vegetation removed shall be 
placed directly into a disposal vehicle. Vegetation shall not be piled on 
the ground unless later transferred, piece by piece, under the direct 
supervision of an approved biologist. 

 The approved biologist shall train a designated construction monitor 
who shall oversee implementation of all protective mitigation measures 
when the biologist is not present. This representative shall be trained in 
the identification of special-status wildlife. This representative shall not 
have the authority to handle special-status species. 

 Once ground disturbance activities have been completed, the approved 
biologist or trained construction monitor shall conduct regular 
inspections of the work area. Prior to the start of work each day, the 
biologist or monitor shall check for wildlife underneath any vehicle or 
heavy equipment within the construction site. 

 The biologist will remain on call. In the event that the construction 
monitor identifies a sensitive wildlife species in or near the Project area, 
the approved biologist will be available to confirm the identification and, 
depending on the species, and with agency authorization, relocate the 
animal out of harm’s way. Suitable relocation sites shall be identified in 
advance with the approval of the relevant agencies. 

 The approved biologist and construction monitor shall have the authority 
to stop work that may result in the “take” of a special-status species. 

 At the end of each workday, excavations (i.e., trenches, holes) shall be 
secured with a cover (preferably) or a ramp to prevent wildlife entrapment. 

 All trenches, pipes, culverts or similar structures shall be inspected for 
animals prior to burying, capping, moving, or filling. 

 With agency approval, the approved biologist shall remove invasive 
aquatic species such as bullfrogs and crayfish from suitable aquatic 
habitat in and near the construction impact area, if present. 

29-62



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 28 
 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9b Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-10a Minimize Construction-related Activities in Palustrine Emergent Wetlands 
and Aquatic/Riverine Habitats. During construction of Segment 9, the City 
and/or County (depending on the implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the 
construction contractor shall minimize construction-related activities 
including, but not limited to, access routes, staging areas, stockpile areas, 
and equipment maintenance, within or adjacent to the limits of palustrine 
emergent wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats, to the extent feasible. 
Wetlands and aquatic/riverine areas shall be clearly shown on construction 
plans. In coordination with a qualified biologist, temporary fencing (e.g., silt 
fencing) shall be installed at the outermost edge of all features not directly 
affected by trail construction. 

BIO-10b Develop and Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation and Monitoring Plan. 
Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or RTC) constructing portions of Segment 
9 and the construction contractor shall implement the following measures. 

A qualified biologist shall be retained to prepare an Aquatic Resources 
Mitigation and Monitoring Plan (MMP) for all direct and indirect impacts to 
wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats resulting from trail construction, 
resulting in no net loss (minimum 1:1 replacement) of these sensitive habitat 
types. The mitigation area locations and replacement ratios shall be 
determined in consultation with the USACE, RWQCB, CCC, and/or CDFW, as 
required USFWS, NOAA Fisheries, USACE, Central Coast RWQCB, California 
Coastal Commission, and California Department of Fish and Wildlife. It is 
expected that mitigation requirements shall be based on the determination 
by the CCC California Coastal Commission that the trail is a resource-
dependent use by providing safe pedestrian and bicycle access to the 
recreation (e.g., beaches, open spaces, scenic viewpoints) along the central 
Santa Cruz coast and based on its capacity for “nature study” pursuant to 
Section 30233(a)(7) of the Coastal Act. 

The Wetland MMP shall include the following: 

 Description of the Project including acreage of temporary and 
permanent impacts to palustrine emergent wetlands, Coastal Act 
wetlands including arroyo willow riparian forest, and aquatic/riverine 

29-63



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 29 
 

features as identified in a forthcoming formal delineation of 
jurisdictional wetlands and other Waters of the U.S. 

 Ecological functions and values assessment of wetlands, including a 
determination of regulatory status and permitting requirements to 
determine suitable mitigation ratios. 

 Goals of compensatory mitigation project including types and areas of 
wetland and aquatic/riverine habitat to be created, restored, and/or 
enhanced; specific functions and values of mitigation habitat types; and 
mitigation ratios (created/restored/enhanced/preserved: impacted). 
Based on a recent memo by the Coastal Commission for a project at 
Gleason Beach in Sonoma County, mitigation ratios for permanent 
wetland impacts will likely begin at 4:1 for creation or substantial 
restoration. For wetland enhancement, this ratio is doubled (8:1) and 
tripled for habitat preservation (12:1). For all mitigation strategies, at 
least 1:1 must include creation of new sensitive habitat. 

 Location and acreage of wetland and riparian mitigation areas including 
size, ownership status, and existing functions and values of restored 
and/or enhanced sensitive habitats. At least a portion of wetland 
mitigation will occur in newly constructed drainage swales north (inland) 
of the proposed trail. These features will be lined with clay soils and 
planted with a palette of agency-approved native hydrophytic vegetation 
and will connect directly to storm drains or watercourses along the 
Segment 9 alignment. 

 Detailed wetland and aquatic/riverine construction and planting techniques. 

 Description and design of habitat requirements for special-status plants 
and wildlife potentially occupying wetland and aquatic/riverine habitats. 

 Maintenance activities during the monitoring period, including 
replanting native wetland and riparian vegetation and weed removal, 
that will not result in take of aquatic wildlife species. 

 Long-term quantitative and qualitative monitoring and reporting, 
documenting ability to meet or surpass performance criteria. 

 Adaptive management strategies to ensure long-term viability and enhance 
ecological functions and values of sensitive habitat mitigation areas. 

 Strategies to protect remaining wetland and aquatic/riverine habitats 
along the trail alignment from direct and indirect impacts from trail 
users. Strategies may include split-rail fencing, interpretive signage, and 
green fencing (dense vegetative buffers). 

29-64



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 30 
 

The draft MMP shall be submitted to regulatory agencies USFWS, CDFW, CCC, 
and California State Parks for review, as required, prior to formal adoption:. 

 USACE. Work below the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) of stream 
corridors or in jurisdictional (3 parameter) wetlands. 

 CDFW. Work below the break in bank of stream corridors, riparian habitat. 

 CCC. Aquatic features, Coastal Act wetlands. 

 RWQCB. Work below the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) of 
stream corridors, jurisdictional (3 parameter) wetlands, other waters, 
or riparian habitat. 

Monitoring reports will be provided to relevant agencies. The Aquatic 
Resources MMP may be consolidated with the Biological Resources MMP in 
consultation with the regulatory agencies. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-9c, 
BIO-10a, BIO-10b would reduce the potential impacts on sensitive fish species, critical habitat, 
and Coho Essential Fish Habitat by implementing protection measures during construction 
(worker training, BMPs, monitoring, inspections); minimizing construction in sensitive areas and 
aquatic/riverine habitats; developing a Project-specific MMP for biological resources and MMP 
specifically for aquatic resources; and requiring compensation for loss of habitat. Further, no 
work would occur within the waters of the San Lorenzo River or on the embankments; and the 
construction BMPs would include erosion and sediment control measures to be installed and 
maintained during construction to reduce sediment, other materials, and chemical-laden runoff 
introductions to the river. These measures would reduce potential impacts to sensitive fish 
species and their critical habitat to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-68 through 3.3-70 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact BIO-4. The Project could adversely affect western pond turtle and Santa Cruz black 
salamander, if present. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-2 Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Please refer to 
Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9b Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

29-65



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 31 
 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-10a Minimize Construction-related Activities in Palustrine Emergent Wetlands 
and Aquatic/Riverine Habitats. Please refer to Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, 
Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-10b Develop and Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation and Monitoring Plan. 
Please refer to Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-9c, 
BIO-10a, and BIO-10b would reduce potential impacts to black salamander, western pond turtles, 
and their habitat by implementing protection measures during construction (worker training, 
BMPs, monitoring); minimizing construction in sensitive areas and aquatic/riverine habitats; 
developing a Project-specific MMP for biological resources and MMP specifically for aquatic 
resources; and requiring compensation for lost habitat. These measures would reduce potential 
impacts to sensitive and reptile and amphibian species to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-72 through 3.3-74 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

4. Impact BIO-5. The Project would adversely affect sensitive and native nesting bird species during 
construction and operation. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-2 Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Please refer to 
Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-5 Conduct Breeding Bird Surveys and Identify Protective Buffers prior to 
Construction, if Construction occurs between February 1 and August 31. 
During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or County (depending on the 
implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the construction contractor shall 
implement the following measures: 

 The avian breeding season occurs from February 1 through August 31 
with a peak in breeding/nesting activity between April and June for most 
raptors and/or other birds. 

 If feasible, Project activities will be initiated outside the breeding season 
in order to avoid impacts to breeding birds. Should Project activities be 
initiated between September and February, no avian breeding surveys 
would be required. 

 If Project activities are to be initiated during breeding season, or if 
Project activities lapse for 1 week or more during breeding bird season, 
prior to construction/resumption of construction activities, an approved 
biologist will conduct avian breeding surveys for all birds (and their 
nests) protected under the MBTA. According to current CDFW permit 
conditions, the survey area will encompass tree stands and structures 
within the Project corridor and the following buffers (where accessible): 

29-66



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 32 
 

 250 feet for passerines/non-raptors; 

 500 feet for small raptors such as accipiters; and 

 1,000 feet for larger raptors such as buteos. 

Surveys will be conducted within 1 week (per current CDFW permit 
conditions), prior to beginning/resuming Project activities including, but not 
limited to, staging equipment, tree removal, vegetation clearing, and/or 
ground disturbing activities. 

 In the event nesting bird species are observed, postpone Project 
activities until a qualified biologist has determined young birds have 
fledged or implement buffers appropriate to the construction activity 
and the species, such as those recommended in PG&E’s Nesting Bird 
Management Plan (PG&E et al. 2015)5: 

 Raptors (platform nesting): 300 feet (90 meters) 

 Cavity-nesters (depending on species): 50 feet (15 meters) 

 Bridge/building, tree, and ground/understory nesters: 75 feet (23 meters) 

 Sensitive bird species, if nesting in or near the Project corridor, will be 
given special consideration and may require additional protective 
measures as determined through consultation with the relevant agency 
(USFWS or CDFW). The standard protective buffers recommended in 
PG&E et al. (2015) for sensitive birds that are known to nest in or near 
the corridor are as follows: 

 Bald eagle – consultation required [standard buffer: 1320 feet (402 
meters)] 

 Peregrine falcon – consultation required [standard buffer: 500 feet 
(152 meters)] 

 Olive-sided flycatcher – standard buffer: 75 feet (23 meters) 

 Oak titmouse – standard buffer: 50 feet (15 meters) 

Other sensitive bird species have the potential to nest in or near the 
Project corridor.  

 Protective buffers will be clearly marked for avoidance by construction 
activities. 

 
5 PG&E’s Nesting Bird Management Plan (2015) was based on a literature review of the effects of nest disturbance on reproductive success and 
consultation with subject experts and takes into account the nesting habits of the bird and the bird’s sensitivity to disturbance, as well as the type of 
activity, duration, and noise level of disturbance (including direct and indirect effects), to develop disturbance categories (low, medium, or high) and 
associated buffers. 

29-67



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 33 
 

 The approved biologist will document pre-construction baseline 
monitoring of the nest to characterize “normal” behavior. If approved by 
the agencies, the biologist may have the discretion to reduce the buffer 
and monitor the nest for disturbance. If the birds show signs of abnormal 
behaviors (e.g., defensive flights/vocalizations, standing up from 
brooding, and flying away from the nest) that are associated with 
construction activity, the biologist will reinstate the larger buffer. Work 
within the setback will be delayed until after the young have fledged. 

 The biologist will have the authority to stop work if breeding birds 
exhibit behaviors that may cause nest failure. 

 If postponing Project activities and/or installing buffers are not feasible, 
further discussions with the appropriate resource agencies (USFWS 
and/or CDFW) will be necessary to develop alternative requirements. 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9b Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-5, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, 
and BIO-9c would reduce potential impacts on sensitive and native nesting avian species by 
implementing protective measures during construction (worker training, BMPs, monitoring); 
conducting preconstruction surveys and identifying protective buffers; minimizing construction in 
and adjacent to breeding habitats; and incorporating breeding bird habitat into the Project-
specific Biological Resources MMMP. These measures would reduce potential impacts to 
sensitive and native nesting bird species to a less than significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-76 through 3.3-79 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

5. Impact BIO-6. Project construction could adversely affect sensitive and common roosting bat species 
that may use coast live oak woodland and other trees along the alignment. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-2 Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Please refer to 
Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-6 Conduct Bat Surveys and Implement Measures to Protect Roosting Bats 
during Construction. In Segment 9, the City and/or County (depending on 
the implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the construction contractor shall 

29-68



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 34 
 

implement the following measures. To avoid impacts to individual roosts, 
winter hibernacula, and maternity roosts, during all months, throughout the 
Segment 9 corridor and especially in mature coast live oak woodland and 
riparian habitats, prior to limbing/tree removal, an approved biologist shall 
conduct a pre-construction survey for bats to determine if cavity, crevice or 
foliage-roosting bats are present, as follows: 

 Bat maternity roosting occurs typically between May 1 and August 31, 
and winter hibernacula (shelter occupied during the winter by a dormant 
animal) for many bat species are found between November 1 and 
February 15. 

 All trees and limbs proposed for removal, topping or pruning should be 
marked in the field by the Project proponent in advance of the Project 
start date. 

 A qualified biologist shall determine if bats are utilizing the Project 
corridor for roosting. For any trees/snags/structures (bridges) that could 
provide roosting habitat for cavity, crevice, or foliage-roosting bats, 
potential bat roost features shall be thoroughly evaluated to determine 
if bats are present. Visual inspection, emergence, and/or acoustic 
surveys shall be utilized as initial techniques. 

 If established maternity colonies are found, in coordination with CDFW, 
a buffer shall be established around the colony to protect pre-volant 
young from construction disturbances until the young can fly; or 
implement other measures acceptable to CDFW. 

 If individual roosting bats or winter hibernacula are found, in consultation 
with CDFW or based on CDFW recommendations, the qualified biologist 
shall develop and implement acceptable passive exclusion methods. If 
feasible, exclusion shall take place during the appropriate windows 
(between September 1 and November 1) (Authorization from CDFW is 
required to evict winter hibernacula for bats). 

 If a tree is determined not to be an active roost site for cavity-roosting 
bats, it may be immediately limbed or removed as follows: 

 If foliage-roosting bats are determined to be present, limbs shall be 
lowered, inspected for bats by a bat biologist, and chipped immediately 
or moved to a dump site. Alternately, limbs may be lowered and left on 
the ground until the following day, when they can be chipped or moved 
to a dump site. No logs or tree sections shall be dropped on downed 
limbs or limb piles that have not been in place since the previous day. 

 If the tree is not limbed or removed within 4 days of the survey, the 
survey efforts shall be repeated. 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

29-69



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 35 
 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-6, BIO-9a, and BIO-
9c would reduce potential impacts to roosting bat species from construction-related impacts by 
implementing protection measures during construction (worker training, BMPs, monitoring); 
conducting preconstruction surveys and implementing protective measures for bat maternity 
roosts and roosting bats; and minimizing construction activities in and adjacent to sensitive 
habitats providing bat roosting habitat. These measures would reduce potential impacts to 
roosting bats to a less than significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-82 through 3.4-84 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

6. Impact BIO-7. The Project would adversely affect San Francisco Dusky-footed woodrat. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-2 Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Please refer to 
Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-7 Implement Dusky-Footed Woodrat Protection Measures During 
Construction. During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or County 
(depending on the implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall implement the following measures. Prior to construction, a 
qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey for woodrat 
houses, and clearly flag all houses within the construction impact area and 
immediate surroundings. 

The construction contractor shall avoid woodrat houses to the extent 
feasible by installing a minimum 10-foot (preferably 25-foot) buffer with silt 
fencing or other material that shall prohibit encroachment. If this buffer and 
avoidance is not feasible, the qualified biologist shall allow encroachment 
into the buffer, but preserve microhabitat conditions such as shade, cover 
and adjacent food sources. 

Additionally, if avoidance is not possible, a qualified biologist shall develop 
and implement a Woodrat Relocation Plan, in consultation with CDFW, that 
allows for the relocation of woodrats and their houses. The plan shall include 
the following (or similar and CDFW-approved) criteria: 

 Relocation will occur when vulnerable young are least likely to be present in 
the woodrat houses (ideally between August 1 and October 30). 

 During dismantling of woodrat houses, woody debris, food caches, and 
nesting materials will be retained and relocated to reconstructed or 
artificial shelters. 

 Relocation sites will be in the nearest suitable habitat outside the Project 
footprint. 

29-70



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 36 
 

  Sites for artificial shelters shall be located in proximity to the original 
house location and no closer than 20 feet from existing woodrat houses 
and other artificial shelters. Choose the best available microhabitat, 
ideally in a location with sun and shade and, if possible, under the same 
species of tree or shrub as was present at the original house location. 
Relocation sites shall contain biologically suitable habitat features (e.g., 
stands of poison oak, coast live oaks, and dense native brush). 

 Monitoring shall be conducted for 30 days after relocation is completed and 
include infrared and motion activated cameras and an occupancy assessment. 

 A report on San Francisco dusky-footed woodrat house monitoring shall be 
provided to CDFW, within 30 days following the end of the monitoring 
period and shall include the methods and results of relocation, occupancy 
determinations, and discussion of any remedies that may be needed. 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-7, BIO-9a, and BIO-9c 
would reduce potential impacts to the San Francisco dusky-footed woodrat from construction-
related impacts by implementing protection measures during construction (worker training, BMPs, 
monitoring); conducting preconstruction surveys for woodrat houses and implementing protective 
measures (clearly flag all houses, prepare a Woodrat Relocation Plan if they cannot be avoided, 
additional monitoring); and minimizing construction activities in habitats that support woodrats. 
These measures would reduce potential impacts to dusky-footed wood rat to a less than 
significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-86 through 3.3-87 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

7. Impact BIO-8. The Project could adversely affect marine mammals, including southern sea otter. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-2 Conduct Biological Monitoring for Sensitive Wildlife Species. Please refer to 
Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

29-71



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 37 
 

BIO-10b Develop and Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation and Monitoring Plan. 
Please refer to Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9c, and BIO-
10b would reduce potential impacts to marine mammals, including southern sea otter, by 
implementing protection measures during construction (worker training, BMPs); minimizing 
construction in sensitive areas and aquatic/riverine habitats; and developing a Project-specific 
MMP specifically for aquatic resources to protect water quality, prevent erosion and 
sedimentation, and protect marine mammal habitat. This measure also identifies the preferred 
construction window (the dry season) for work in or near aquatic features which would minimize 
sediment-laden runoff into aquatic features. Further, no work would occur within the waters of 
the San Lorenzo River or within the Santa Cruz Harbor; and a debris containment device would 
span several feet beyond the edge of the proposed cantilever to ensure construction debris and 
materials do not enter the Santa Cruz Harbor. These measures would reduce potential impacts to 
marine mammals, including southern sea otter, to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-89 through 3.3-91 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

8. Impact BIO-9. The Project would result in adverse effects to riparian habitat, other sensitive natural 
communities, and Coastal Act ESHA. 

b. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9b Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

c. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-9a, BIO-9b, andBIO-9c 
would reduce potential impacts to sensitive habitat during construction to the greatest extent 
feasible, and mitigate permanent and temporary losses where possible through avoidance, 
minimization, and construction-related BMPs. Mitigation Measure BIO-9b would reduce 
permanent impacts on sensitive habitats by developing a Project-specific resource management 
plan to further deter encroachment into sensitive habitats with fencing, dense vegetative 
barriers, and interpretative panels, and through the creation and restoration of in-kind habitats 
with similar or greater ecological functions and values to those displaced by the Project. These 
measures would reduce potential impacts to riparian habitat, other sensitive natural 
communities, and Coastal Act ESHA, to a less than significant level. 

d. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-93 through 3.3-944 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

29-72



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 38 
 

9. Impact BIO-10. The Project would result in adverse effects to palustrine emergent wetlands and 
aquatic/riverine habitats. 

b. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

BIO-9a  Minimize Construction in Sensitive Habitats and Install Temporary 
Protective Fencing. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9b Develop Project-specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management 
Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction 
and Operation. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-9c  Implement Best Management Practices to Protect Biological Resources 
during Construction. Please refer to Impact BIO-1 in Section IV.A, Biological 
Resources, above. 

BIO-10a Minimize Construction-related Activities in Palustrine Emergent Wetlands 
and Aquatic/Riverine Habitats. Please refer to Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, 
Biological Resources, above. 

BIO-10b Develop and Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation and Monitoring Plan. 
Please refer to Impact BIO-3 in Section IV.A, Biological Resources, above. 

c. Findings and Rationale – Mitigation Measures BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-9c, BIO-10a, and BIO-10b 
would reduce potential impacts to palustrine emergent wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats by 
implementing protection measures during construction (BMPs to protect water quality, 
protective fencing); minimizing construction in sensitive areas including wetlands and 
aquatic/riverine habitats; developing a Project-specific MMP for biological resources and MMP 
specifically for aquatic resources; and requiring compensation for loss of wetlands and other 
sensitive habitats thus protecting the edge habitats and ecological functions and values of 
adjacent wetlands and aquatic features. These measures would reduce potential impacts to 
palustrine emergent wetlands and aquatic/ riverine habitats to a less than significant level.  

d. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-105 through 3.3-108 of the Final EIR (Volume 2).  

B. CULTRAL RESOURCES 

1. Impact CR-1. The Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration approach only) may adversely affect historical 
resources, including the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required6.  

CR-1a  Install Historical Interpretive Exhibits prior to Trail Use. Consistent with 
Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network Master Plan Design Guidelines, 
the City and/or County, depending on the jurisdiction, shall develop an on-

 
6 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. 

29-73



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 39 
 

site interpretive exhibit with materials concerning the history and 
engineering features of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line and its character-
defining features. Prior to or within the first year of trail use, the exhibits 
shall be installed where there is adequate room at key locations along the 
trail or trail entrances to specifically highlight the importance of the Santa 
Cruz Branch Rail Line. Interpretation of the site’s history shall be supervised 
by an architectural historian or historian who meets the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards, and may engage additional 
consultants to develop the display. There shall be at least two major exhibits 
and three minor exhibits, including signage and salvaged materials (e.g., 
small segments of original ballast, ties, and rail) to be placed intermittently 
along the trail route as space allows and as approved by the lead agency and 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission. The historical 
interpretive exhibits shall be designed in conjunction and compatible with 
interpretive exhibits for nature education and exhibits along other rail trail 
segments for continuity. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR1a would reduce the impact 
to the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line (SCBRL) through installation of interpretive exhibits, which 
would preserve and convey the significance of this historic resource during project operations. 
Although the project already includes installing educational signage regarding the history of the 
SCBRL, Mitigation Measure CR-1a would require the signage include historic and educational 
interpretive exhibits and be placed along the trail at strategic locations to offer a variety of 
information to trail users about the cultural history of the area, including insight into the history 
of the rail line and its construction and design.  These measures would reduce potential impacts 
to historic resources to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.4-9 through 3.4-11 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact CR-2. Ground-disturbing activities during Project construction may unearth or adversely 
impact subsurface historical resources or unique archaeological resources. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required6.  

CR-2  Implement Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources. In 
the event that archaeological resources are unexpectedly encountered 
during ground-disturbing construction activities, the construction contractor 
shall halt work within 100 50 feet of the find, and an archaeologist meeting 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards for 
archaeology (National Park Service 1983) shall be contacted immediately to 
evaluate the find. If the find is determined by the qualified archaeologist to 
be prehistoric, then a Native American representative shall also be contacted 
to participate in the evaluation of the find. If necessary, archaeological 
testing for California Register of Historical Resources eligibility shall be 
completed. If the discovery proves to be eligible for the California Register of 
Historical Resources and impacts to the resource cannot be avoided via 
project redesign, a qualified archaeologist shall prepare a data recovery plan 
tailored to the physical nature and characteristics of the deposit, per the 
requirements of California Public Resources Code, Section 15126.4(b)(3)(C). 
The data recovery plan shall identify data recovery excavation methods, 

29-74



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 40 
 

measurable objectives, and data thresholds to reduce any significant impacts 
to cultural resources. Pursuant to the data recovery plan, the qualified 
archaeologist and Native American representative, as appropriate, shall 
recover and document the scientifically consequential information that 
justifies the resource’s significance. The City and/or County depending on 
the jurisdiction shall review and approve the treatment plan and 
archaeological testing as appropriate, and the resulting documentation shall 
be submitted to the regional repository of the CHRIS, per California Public 
Resources Code, Section 15126.4(b)(3)(C). 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR‑1a would reduce the impact 
to the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line (SCBRL) through installation of interpretive exhibits, which 
would preserve and convey the significance of this historic resource during project operations. 
Although the project already includes installing educational signage regarding the history of the 
SCBRL, Mitigation Measure CR-1a would require the signage include historic and educational 
interpretive exhibits and be placed along the trail at strategic locations to offer a variety of 
information to trail users about the cultural history of the area, including insight into the history 
of the rail line and its construction and design. This measure would reduce potential impacts to 
historic resources to a less than significant level. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.4-13 through 3.4-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

3. Impact CR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative cultural resource impacts. 
The Project’s (Ultimate Trail Configuration approach only) contribution would not be cumulatively 
considerable. 

a.  Mitigation – the following mitigation is required.  

CR-1a  Install Historical Interpretive Exhibits prior to Trail Use. Please refer to 
Impact CR-1a in Section IV.B, Cultural Resources, above. 

CR-2  Implement Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources. 
Please refer to Impact CR-2 in Section IV.B, Cultural Resources, above.  

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR-1a would provide signage 
along the rail line that would compensate for the partial material impairment of the SCBRL by 
providing users with insight into the history of the rail line and significance of the resource in a 
manner that may not be readily available otherwise. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR-
1b would provide current and future generations with insight into the history of the rail line and 
significance of the resource in a manner that may not be readily available otherwise. Mitigation 
Measure CR-2 provides a protocol for unanticpated discovery of cultural resources and require 
evaluation of any discovered resources. Therefore, although the cumulative development of the 
Coastal Rail Trail could result in a significant cumulative impacts to existing and unidentified 
resources, including historical rail resources, the Project’s contribution would not be 
cumulatively considerable with implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-1a and CR-2.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-12 through 4-13 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-75



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 41 
 

C. GEOLOGY AND SOILS  

1. Impact GEO-5. Ground-disturbing activities during Project construction may directly or indirectly 
destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required7.  

GEO-5 Implement Paleontological Resources Protection Measures during 
Construction in High Sensitivity Areas. The following measures shall be 
implemented during project excavation activities in Segment 9 on geologic 
units that have high sensitivity to paleontological resources (Purisima 
Formation and Quaternary marine terrace deposits). Areas along Segment 9 
that do not have high sensitivity for paleontological resources and would not 
require the following mitigation include construction of the cantilever/bridge 
over Santa Cruz Harbor and excavation in drainages and creek channels 
north of the Twin Lakes State Beach. 

1.  Retain Qualified Professional Paleontologist. Prior to excavation, the 
implementing agency (City or County of Santa Cruz) shall retain a 
qualified professional paleontologist who is defined by the Society of 
Vertebrate Paleontology (2010) as an individual, preferably with an MS 
or PhD in paleontology or geology, who is experienced with 
paleontological procedures and techniques, who is knowledgeable in the 
geology of California, and who has worked as a paleontological 
mitigation project supervisor for at least 2 years. The qualified 
professional paleontologist shall direct all mitigation measures related to 
paleontological resources. 

2.  Prepare Paleontological Worker Environmental Awareness Program. 
Prior to the start of construction, the qualified professional 
paleontologist or their designee shall conduct a paleontological Worker 
Environmental Awareness Program training for construction personnel 
regarding the appearance of fossils and the procedures for notifying 
paleontological staff should fossils be discovered by construction staff. 

3.  Monitor for Paleontological Resources during Construction. As 
determined appropriate by the qualified professional paleontologist, 
paleontological monitoring shall be conducted during initial excavations 
within sediments assigned high paleontological sensitivity (i.e., Quaternary 
marine terrace deposits and Purisima Formation). Paleontological 
monitoring shall be conducted by a paleontological monitor with 
experience with collection and salvage of paleontological resources and 
who meets the minimum standards of the Society of Vertebrate 
Paleontology (2010) for a paleontological resources monitor. The duration 
and timing of the monitoring will be determined by the qualified 
professional paleontologist based on the observation of the geologic 
setting from initial ground disturbance and subject to the review and 

 
7 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. 

29-76



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 42 
 

approval by the City or County of Santa Cruz, depending on the jurisdiction 
of the work. The qualified professional paleontologist may determine that 
full-time monitoring is not warranted based on the specific geologic 
conditions once the full depth of excavations has been reached, and may 
recommend that monitoring be reduced to periodic spot-checking or 
ceased entirely. The qualified professional paleontologist may determine 
that monitoring shall be reinstated if any new ground disturbances are 
required, and reduction or suspension shall be reconsidered by the 
qualified professional paleontologist at that time. 

In the event of a fossil discovery by the paleontological monitor or 
construction personnel, all work in the immediate vicinity of the find 
shall cease, and a qualified professional paleontologist shall evaluate the 
find before construction activity in the area resumes. If it is determined 
that the fossil is scientifically significant, the qualified professional 
paleontologist shall complete the following conditions to mitigate 
impacts to significant fossil resources: 

A. Fossil Salvage. If fossils are discovered, the paleontological monitor 
shall have the authority to halt or temporarily divert construction 
equipment within 50 feet of the find until the paleontological monitor 
and/or qualified professional paleontologist evaluate the discovery 
and determine if the fossil may be considered significant. Typically, 
fossils can be safely salvaged quickly by a single paleontological 
monitor and not disrupt construction activity. In some cases, larger 
fossils (such as complete skeletons or large mammal fossils) require 
more extensive excavation and longer salvage periods. Bulk matrix 
sampling may be necessary to recover small invertebrates or 
microvertebrates from within paleontologically sensitive deposits. 

B. Fossil Preparation and Curation. Once salvaged, significant fossils shall 
be identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level, prepared to a 
curation-ready condition, and curated in a scientific institution with a 
permanent paleontological collection along with all pertinent field 
notes, photographs, data, and maps. Fossils of undetermined 
significance at the time of collection may also warrant curation at the 
discretion of the qualified professional paleontologist. 

4.  Final Paleontological Mitigation Report. Upon completion of ground-
disturbing activity (and curation of fossils if necessary), the qualified 
professional paleontologist shall prepare a final report describing the 
results of the paleontological monitoring efforts associated with the 
Project. The report shall include a summary of the field and laboratory 
methods, an overview of the project geology and paleontology, a list of 
taxa recovered (if any), an analysis of fossils recovered (if any) and their 
scientific significance, and recommendations. The report shall be 
submitted to the City or County of Santa Cruz. If the monitoring efforts 
produced fossils, then a copy of the report shall also be submitted to the 
designated museum repository. 

29-77



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 43 
 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure GEO-5 would reduce the 
potential impact to paleontological resources or sites or unique geologic features by establishing 
training, monitoring, and salvaging protocols for resources that may be encountered during 
project work. This measure would reduce potential impacts to paleontological resources or sites 
or unique geologic features to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.5-24 through 3.5-26 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact GEO-C -- Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative geology and soils 
impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a.  Mitigation – The following mitigation is required. 

GEO-5 Implement Paleontological Resources Protection Measures during 
Construction in High Sensitivity Areas. Please refer to Impact GEO-5 in 
Section IV.C, Geology and Soils, above.  

b.  Findings and Rationale: With implementation of Mitigation Measure GEO-5 to protect 
paleontological resources, the Project’s contribution to any cumulative geology and soils impacts 
would not be cumulatively considerable. 

d. Suppportive Evidence – Please refer to page 4-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

D. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  

1. Impact HAZ-2. Ground disturbance during construction could release soil contaminants. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required8.  

HAZ-2a Conduct Soil Sampling and Implement Necessary Remediations9. Prior to 
Project construction, the City, and County, and RTC shall coordinate to 
prepare and submit Work Plan(s) for a Supplemental Soils Investigation to 
Santa Cruz County Environmental Health. Following notification that Santa 
Cruz County Environmental Health has received, reviewed, and accepted 
these Work Plan(s), the City, County, and RTC shall conduct a Supplemental 
Soils Investigation, which shall include soil sampling at selected locations 
within the limits of the Project corridor under the supervision of a 
professional geologist or professional civil engineer to identify the 
concentrations of anticipated contaminants, which may include: pesticides, 
herbicides, TPHs, heavy metals, PAHs, and other reasonably anticipated 
contaminants of concern, such as arsenic. 

  The City, and County, and RTC shall coordinate with Santa Cruz County 
Environmental Health to develop and implement a program to remediate or 

 
8 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. 
9 This is Mitigation Measure HAZ-1(a) (Soil Sampling and Remediation) from the Master Plan EIR (RTC 2013), refined to account for project-specific 
conditions. The Phase I ISA prepared for the Project corridor recommended conducting a limited shallow soil screening across the length of the 
Segments 8 and 9, to identify the naturally occurring background concentration for arsenic and potentially other contaminants, to assist with special 
handling required during construction activities (WHA 2022). 

29-78



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 44 
 

manage known contaminated soil during construction. If necessary, any 
additional information gathered from the Supplemental Soil Investigation 
shall be used to identify locations along the Project corridor that may require 
remedial action in order to prevent exposure of construction workers, 
Shoreline Middle School attendees, and the public to these contaminants. 
The environmental data collected shall also be used to identify the 
appropriate disposal options for those soils or demolished materials that 
require off-site disposal. 

  Disposal shall occur at an appropriate facility licensed to handle such 
contaminants, and remedial excavation shall proceed under the supervision 
of an environmental consultant licensed to oversee such remediation. Where 
possible, potentially contaminated soils and rail ballast shall be stockpiled 
and characterized to determine the appropriate means and location for 
proper storage and disposal. The remediation/disposal program shall be 
approved by Santa Cruz County Environmental Health. The City and County 
shall submit any required correspondence to Santa Cruz County 
Environmental Health prior to issuance of grading permits. All proper waste 
handling and disposal procedures shall be followed in accordance with 
applicable DTSC and CalOSHA regulations. Upon completion of the 
Supplemental Site Investigation, the environmental consultant shall prepare 
a report presenting the findings of the additional assessment. The report 
shall be submitted to Santa Cruz County Environmental Health and include 
figures depicting the boring locations, summary tables of analytical data, 
conclusions, and recommendations. 

HAZ-2b Prepare and Implement Soils Management Plan10. The City, and County, 
and RTC shall ensure a Soils Management Plan (SMP) is developed by a 
qualified engineer. The SMP shall be implemented to protect workers and 
persons at Shoreline Middle School during ground-disturbing activities and to 
remove and/or mitigate exposure to hazardous-material-containing soil and 
ballast, where present in the Project corridor. Laboratory data for the 
impacted soil, identified as part of the soils and ballast assessment report 
prepared under Mitigation Measure HAZ-2a, shall be used to profile 
excavated soil prior to transport, treatment, and recycling at a licensed 
treatment facility. Additional profiling of the export soils shall be performed 
as needed to satisfy requirements of the receiving facility. Removal, 
transportation, and disposal of impacted soil shall be performed in 
accordance with applicable DTSC and CalOSHA laws, regulations, and 
ordinances. The SMP shall include health and safety information for workers 
and the general public with an emphasis on potential adverse health effects 
and how to seek proper help if an accident is suspected and inform the 
various contractors and workers of the presence of shallow soil impacted 
with contaminants and the appropriate measures to avoid exposure to 

 
10 This is a modified version of Mitigation Measure HAZ-1(b) (Arsenic Management Plan) from the Master Plan EIR (RTC 2013) that includes arsenic-
containing soils management as well as other potential contaminants. The Phase I ISA prepared for the Project corridor further recommended 
completing a soil management plan to identify soil excavation, stockpiling, and disposal procedures, and construction monitoring guidelines. 

29-79



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 45 
 

contaminants. These measures may include but would not be limited to the 
following: 

1. Installing temporary security fencing around the construction site and 
flag/cone off the areas of contaminated soils (hotspots) until the 
contaminants are removed 

2. Providing all personnel entering a hotspot with site-specific awareness 
training 

3. Requiring that all personnel whose work will involve the excavation or 
disturbance of soils in and around the hotspot must have successfully 
completed 40-hour Hazardous Worker (HAZWOPER) training 

4. Requiring a HAZWOPER supervisor to be on-site at all times during the 
excavation or disturbance of soils in a hotspot 

5. Prohibiting personnel who cannot prove that they are authorized to 
enter a hotspot or do not have the appropriate personal protective 
equipment from entering a hotspot 

6. Prohibiting eating, drinking, smoking, chewing gum or tobacco in 
hotspots, and requiring consumable items and activities be confined to 
designated worker break areas 

In the event that contaminated soil and/or groundwater are identified where 
not previously anticipated during construction, the SMP shall also require 
that construction cease and that appropriate handling and disposal 
procedures be implemented. Contaminated soils and/or groundwater can be 
identified by discoloration or stains, distinctive odors, absence of plants and 
animals, subsequent erosion from the absence of plant life, or the presence 
of paint chips or other materials known to contaminate soils. Procedures for 
properly handling, storing, and disposing contaminated soils may include but 
are not limited to the following: 

1. Placing contaminated soils in properly labeled drums or lined hazardous 
waste storage/transportation conveyance units (i.e., roll-off waste 
boxes) in preparation of transportation and disposal 

2. Avoiding temporary stockpiling of contaminated soils or hazardous materials 

3. If temporary stockpiling is necessary: 

a. Covering the stockpile with plastic sheeting or tarps 

b. Installing a berm around the stockpile to prevent runoff from leaving 
the area 

c. Avoiding stockpiling in or near storm drains or watercourses 

29-80



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 46 
 

4. Monitoring the air quality during excavation operations at locations 
potentially exhibiting elevated concentrations of hazardous material 

5. Collecting water from decontamination procedures and treating and/or 
disposing of it at an appropriate disposal site 

6. Collecting non-reusable protective equipment and disposing of the 
equipment at an appropriate disposal site 

HAZ-2c  Evaluate Subgrade Soil and Cap Contaminated Soils and Ballast (Optional First 
Phase: Interim Trail configuration Parts 1 and 2 only). Prior to the finalization of 
pavement design for the Optional Interim Trail and prior to removal of the rail and 
construction of the Interim Trail (Part 1), and prior to demolition of the Interim Trail 
and rebuilding of the rail line (Part 2), the structural quality of the subgrade soil shall 
be evaluated to ensure that it has adequate strength to carry the predicted loads 
during the design life of the pavement, and to avoid exposure of trail users to 
hazardous soil or ballast. The Interim Trail pavement shall also be engineered to limit 
the expansion and loss of density of the subgrade soil. The existing ballast material 
shall serve as the base rock layer to support the base material and asphalt layer of 
the cover. The ballast material shall be leveled to establish a base rock layer at a 
depth to be determined following evaluation of hazardous soil and ballast. 

Residual soil disturbed by construction (on which the trail would be placed) would be 
capped (e.g., covered with asphalt) to avoid exposure of trail users to hazardous soil 
or ballast. In order to ensure that the asphalt cap is maintained as designed, a 
regulatory oversight agreement between the owner or their designee and Santa Cruz 
County Environmental Health shall be required. This Post Construction Site 
Management Plan shall include procedures and requirements for ongoing 
maintenance of the asphalt cap to ensure the cap is maintained in good condition so 
that it remains protective of public health and the environment. The ACO Agreement 
shall include the following elements: 

Inspections. The cap shall be regularly inspected to ensure that it is functioning as 
intended. These inspections shall be conducted on a routine basis as well as after 
unplanned events (e.g., earthquake, on-site construction activity) that may have 
affected the integrity of the asphalt cap. 

Repairs and Maintenance. The cap shall be maintained in a manner that ensures it is 
functioning as intended. Examples of cap maintenance include vegetation control, 
and repairs due to cover erosion, asphalt cracking, settlement, and subsidence. For 
asphalt and concrete caps, periodic sealing of the cap surface will be necessary. 
Repairs and maintenance of the cap shall be performed according to the procedures 
and timeframes specified in the ACO Agreement. 

Reporting, Recordkeeping, and Notification. The ACO Agreement shall outline the 
recordkeeping requirements, provide for submittal of periodic inspection summary 
reports, identify the site activities or conditions that require notification of the 
regulatory agencies, and identify the time frame and mechanism (e.g., verbal, 
written) for the required notifications. 

29-81



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 47 
 

 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2a and HAZ-2b would 
reduce the impact of exposing construction workers and the public to health hazards associated 
with contaminated soils released during ground-disturbing activities, by conducting soil sampling 
for hazardous materials and, if necessary, soil management plan and remediation. These 
measures would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.7-22 through 3.7-25 of the Final EIR. 

2. Impact HAZ-C. Cumulative development would not result in significant cumulative hazards and 
hazardous materials impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required. 

HAZ-2a Conduct Soil Sampling and Implement Necessary Remediations. Please refer to 
Impact HAZ-2 in Section IV.D, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, above. 

HAZ-2b Prepare and Implement Soils Management Plan. Please refer to Impact 
HAZ-2 in Section IV.D, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, above. 

HAZ-2c Evaluate Subgrade Soil and Cap Contaminated Soils and Ballast (Optional 
Interim Trail Parts 1 and 2 Only. Please refer to Impact HAZ-2 in Section 
IV.D, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Planned development could result in significant cumulative impacts 
concerning transport of hazardous materials, release of hazardous materials, and exposure to 
soil contaminants. The Project would not generate and thus would not contribute to significant 
cumulative impacts concerning the transport or release of hazardous materials. With 
implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-1a and HAZ-1b to protect construction workers and 
the public from exposure to soil contaminates through soil sampling and remediation, the 
Project’s contribution to a cumulative impact from exposure to soil contaminants would not be 
cumulatively considerable. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-15 through 4-16 of the Final EIR. 

E. NOISE  

1. Impact N-1. Construction may result in a substantial temporary increase in noise levels.  

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

N-1 Implement Noise-Reducing Measures for Construction Equipment Used within 
275 Feet of Residences or Hotels11. During construction, the construction 
contractor shall employ the following noise-reducing measures where use of 
construction equipment occurs within 275 feet of residences or hotels: 

 
11 This mitigation measure is a refinement of Mitigation Measure N-1(b) (Acoustical Shelters) and Mitigation Measure N-1(c) (Construction Equipment) 
from the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network Master Plan Environmental Impact Report (RTC 2013). The original measures have 
been revised to consider Project-specific details, the specific locations of nearby sensitive receptors, and specific local noise concerns and regulation 
(County of Santa Cruz Noise Ordinance).  

29-82



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 48 
 

(1) Use acoustical shelters around any air compressors, generators, and any 
other stationary construction equipment not fitted with baffled 
enclosures; 

(2) Use baffling around stationary construction equipment to reduce noise and 
vibration levels; 

(3) Properly muffle and maintain all construction equipment powered by 
internal combustion engines; 

(4) Prohibit unnecessary idling of internal combustion engines; and 

(5) Whenever feasible, use electrical power to run air compressors and 
similar power tools. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure N-1 would reduce impacts 
related to construction noise by requiring noise-reducing measures for construction equipment 
(e.g., acoustical shelters, baffled enclosures, proper muffler and maintenance), such that noise 
levels at nearby sensitive receptors would not exceed applicable thresholds. This mitigation 
measure would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.10-7 through 3.10-10 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact N-3. Construction would potentially expose persons to or generate excessive groundborne 
vibration or groundborne noise levels.  

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required.  

N-3 Provide Notification of Construction Vibration to Residential Units within 
50 Feet. The construction contractor shall provide written notification at 
least 1 week prior to the start of any construction activities involving the use 
of vibratory equipment to all residential units located within 50 feet of the 
construction area that will produce the vibration. The notice shall inform 
residents of the estimated start date and duration of daytime vibration-
generating construction activities and provide a point of contact for vibration 
exposure complaints. 

c. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measure N-3 would reduce impacts 
regarding excessive groundborne vibration and groundborne noise levels by notifying residents 
at least a week prior to the use of vibratory equipment (thus allowing surrounding uses time to 
prepare) and providing a point of contact for vibration exposure complaints. This mitigation 
measure would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.10-12 through 3.10-14 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

29-83



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 49 
 

F. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 

1. Impact TCR-1. The Project may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal 
cultural resource. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required12.  

TCR-1a Conduct Native American Monitoring during Construction in Previously 
Undisturbed Native Soils. A Native American monitor shall be retained and 
remain present during excavation activities within previously undisturbed 
native soils. 

 In the event that cultural resources of Native American origin are identified 
during construction, the Native American monitor shall have the authority to 
halt and redirect ground disturbance away from the find. The implementing 
agency (City or County) and/or Tribal Liaison, as appropriate, shall consult 
with a qualified archaeologist and begin or continue Native American 
consultation procedures. If the City/County and/or Tribal Liaison, in 
consultation with local Native Americans, determines that the resource is a 
tribal cultural resource and thus significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan 
shall be prepared and implemented in accordance with state guidelines and 
in consultation with Native American groups. The mitigation plan may 
include but would not be limited to avoidance, capping in place, excavation 
and removal of the resource, interpretive displays, sensitive area signage, or 
other mutually agreed upon measure. 

TCR-1b Implement Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural 
Resources, if Native American Monitor is Not Present. If cultural resources 
of Native American origin are identified during Project construction while the 
Native American monitor is not present, all earth-disturbing work within 100 
50 feet of the find shall cease and desist until an archaeologist has evaluated 
the nature and significance of the find as a cultural resource and an 
appropriate local Native American representative is consulted. Staking of the 
area of discovery shall be implemented with stakes no more than 10 feet 
apart, forming a circle having a radius of no less than 100 feet from the point 
of discovery. If the City/County, in consultation with local Native American 
tribes, determines that the resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus 
significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be prepared and implemented 
in accordance with state guidelines and in consultation with local Native 
American group(s). The plan shall include avoidance of the resource or, if 
avoidance of the resource is infeasible, the plan shall outline the appropriate 
treatment of the resource in coordination with the appropriate local Native 
American tribal representative and, if applicable, a qualified archaeologist. 
Examples of appropriate mitigation for tribal cultural resources include but 
are not limited to protecting the cultural character and integrity of the 

 
12 Revisions made to mitigation measures between publication of the Draft EIR and Final EIR are show in underline for additions and strikeout for deletions. 
Additional minor revisions made after publication of the Final EIR are shown in double underline and strikeout. All revisions are minor and were made to 
strengthen the mitigation measure or provide further clarification or detail about the measure, but do not change the resulting impact conclusion. 

29-84



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 50 
 

resource, protecting traditional use of the resource, protecting the 
confidentiality of the resource, or heritage recovery. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1a and TCR-1b would 
reduce the impact on tribal cultural resources by requiring Native American monitoring of 
previously undisturbed native soils and implementing protocol for unanticipated discovery of 
tribal cultural resources if a Native American monitor is not present. Together, these measures 
would reduce potential impacts to a less than significant level.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.13-5 through 3.13-6 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

2. Impact TCR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative tribal cultural resource 
impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation –The following mitigation is required. 

TCR-1a Conduct Native American Monitoring during Construction in Previously 
Undisturbed Native Soils. Please refer to Impact CR-1 in Section IV.F, Tribal 
Cultural Resources, above.  

TCR-1b Implement Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural 
Resources, if Native American Monitor is Not Present. Please refer to 
Impact CR-1 in Section IV.F, Tribal Cultural Resources, above. 

b. Findings and Rationale – No tribal cultural resources have been identified within the Project 
corridor. Potential impacts to previously unidentified tribal cultural resources would be reduced to 
a less than significant level with implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1a and TCR-1b, which 
requires Native American construction monitoring, avoidance if feasible, and preservation of any 
resources discovered during construction. As implementation of this measure would minimize 
adverse effects on any potential tribal cultural resources, the Project’s contribution to this impact 
would not be cumulatively considerable. 

c. Supporting Evidence – Please refer to page 4-22 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

 

29-85



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 51 
 

V. FINDINGS FOR IMPACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT AND UNAVOIDABLE 

The RTC hereby finds that the following mitigation measures, which are identified in the EIR and will lessen 
the following significant environmental impacts but not to a less than significant level, have been required in 
or incorporated into the Project. The findings below are for impacts where implementation of the Project may 
result in the following significant, unavoidable environmental impacts. These findings are based on the 
discussion of impacts in the detailed impact analyses in Section 3.1 through Section 3.14 and Section 4.1 of 
the EIR, as well as relevant responses to comments in the Final EIR.  

A. AESTHETICS 

1. Impact AES-1. The Project would have an adverse effect on scenic resources and vistas through the 
removal of mature trees. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is available. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would remove approximately 381-404 trees that add to the 
scenic quality of enjoyed vistas near the Project corridor. Although the trail would facilitate public 
access to viewing points of scenic vistas in both segments of the project corridor, and although 
regulations require tree replacement/compensation, the exact location of replacement trees is 
uncertain at this time, and timing of growth to maturity equivalent to the trees that would be 
removed cannot be predicted with certainty. Therefore, despite improved access provided by the 
trail and required tree replacement, the required tree removal would affect public views of the 
Project corridor, degrade existing local scenic resources that include mature trees, and disrupt 
existing scenic vistas of mature vegetation. The tree removals are determined by the physical 
space needed to construct the trail infrastructure and maintain required offsets, grading extents 
for excavation and/or fill, drainage ditches, retaining walls, and similar features. The trail design 
team revisited the alignment several times to minimize the tree removal to the extent feasible, 
while still meeting Caltrans ADA Class 1 requirements for trail width and CPUC requirements for 
distance from the rail, which is why the proposed trail includes several sections designed as 
viaducts instead of retaining walls. The Project has been designed to avoid trees where feasible, 
but due to the need to meet state standards and to locate it primarily adjacent to the existing 
railroad tracks, it is not possible to avoid enough trees to reduce this impact to a less than 
significant level. Therefore, impacts to scenic resources and vistas due to tree removal would be 
significant and unavoidable. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.1-9 through 3.1-19 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and 
Master Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact:  

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

29-86



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 52 
 

2. Impact AES-2. The Project would be inconsistent with policies that pertain to tree and vegetation removal. 

a. Mitigation – No mitigation is available. 

b. Findings and Rationale – While the Project would be consistent with most applicable regulations 
governing scenic quality, the Project would be inconsistent with County General Plan Policies 5.10.3 
and 5.18.8, which pertain to removal of trees and vegetation. Inconsistency with these policies would 
lead to the Project having a significant and unavoidable impact regarding consistency with applicable 
regulations that govern scenic quality, as explained further for Impact AES-1 above. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.1-21 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and Master 
Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact:  

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

3. Impact AES-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative aesthetic impacts. The 
Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable except for cumulative impacts to 
scenic quality due to the removal of mature trees. 

a. Mitigation – BIO-C. Please refer to Impact BIO-C below. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would remove approximately 381-404 trees that add to the 
scenic quality of enjoyed vistas near the Project corridor. Although the trail would improve 
access to scenic resources and vistas and removed trees would be replaced at ratios determined 
in coordination with the regulatory permitting agencies and jurisdictional authorities, the exact 
location of replacement trees is uncertain at this time, and timing of growth to maturity 
equivalent to the trees that would be removed cannot be predicted with certainty. Therefore, 
although the Project impacts would be partially offset by implementing Mitigation Measure BIO-
C (Include Cumulative Conservation Goals and Objectives in the Project-specific Biological 
Resources Mitigation and Management Plan), the Project would result in a cumulatively 
considerable contribution to the identified significant cumulative impact to scenic quality. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 4-8 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and Master Response B 
(Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: : 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

29-87



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 53 
 

B. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

1. Impact BIO-2. The Project could adversely affect monarch butterfly and autumnal and/or wintering 
roost sites. 

a. Mitigation – BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, and BIO-9c. 

b. Findings and Rationale – To accommodate Segment 9 of the Ultimate Trail Configuration and meet 
CPUC safety requirements and Caltrans Class 1 trail width requirements, tree removal would occur in 
known and potential monarch roost sites. Therefore, the Project would have a significant and 
unavoidable impact on monarch butterfly autumnal and/or wintering roost sites. Known and 
potential monarch roost habitat would be protected to the greatest extent feasible through trail 
design. Where sensitive resources exist, the trail has been designed to the minimum width 
requirements. In addition, the implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, 
and BIO-9c will protect monarch butterflies to the extent possible during construction activities. 
While the Project MMP would include provisions for the enhancement of monarch habitat, the 
permanent loss of mature monarch roost trees, including buffer trees, cannot be adequately 
mitigated. Therefore, this construction-related impact is significant and unavoidable.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-60 through 3.3-65 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and 
Master Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

2. Impact BIO-11. The Project would interfere with wildlife movement. 

a. Mitigation – BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-9c, BIO-10a, and BIO-10b. 

b. Findings and Rationale – Segment 9 of the Project corridor serves as a corridor for local wildlife 
movement, and the Project would interfere with wildlife movement in the corridor through tree 
removal and trail installation, resulting in the permanent loss of 1.94 acres of wildlife movement 
habitat, including coast live oak woodland, riparian habitat, non-native forest, and understory 
vegetation. Pedestrian and bicycle traffic along the trail would be more limited at night when wildlife 
species are most likely to use the corridor for movement; therefore, some nighttime functions of the 
corridor would be retained. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2, BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-10(a), 
and BIO-10(b) will protect biological resources during construction and compensate for the loss of 
trees and habitat to the extent feasible. However, these mitigation measures would not reduce this 
impact to a less than significant level, and the impact would be significant and unavoidable. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-111 through 3.3-113 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) 
and Master Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

29-88



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 54 
 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

2. Impact BIO-12. The Project would conflict with policies and ordinances protecting trees, including 
the City of Santa Cruz Heritage Tree Ordinance and County of Santa Cruz Significant Tree Ordinance. 

a. Mitigation – BIO-9a, BIO-9b, BIO-9c. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would result in the removal of 381-404 trees, which 
conflicts with City and County plans, policies and ordinances, which call for tree protection and 
replacement, including but not limited to: Santa Cruz County General Plan and LCP, Section 
5.10.8 Significant Tree Removal Ordinance (LCP); Santa Cruz Urban Forest Master Plan; County of 
Santa Cruz Significant Tree Ordinance; City of Santa Cruz General Plan, and City of Santa Cruz 
Heritage Tree Ordinance. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-9a, BIO-9b, and BIO-9c will 
reduce construction-related impacts and develop a Project-specific biological resources 
mitigation and management plan that includes tree replacement. However, due to the 
substantial number of trees planned for removal, including a large percentage of trees regulated 
by City and County ordinances, the inability to mitigate the majority of tree removal on-site, and 
the number of years required for trees to mature, this construction impact would conflict with 
City and County policies and ordinances that regulate tree removal and thus would be significant 
and unavoidable.  

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 3.3-115 through 3.3-118 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) 
and Master Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: : 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

3. Impact BIO-C. Cumulative development would result in significant cumulative biological resources 
impacts. The Project’s contribution would be cumulatively considerable. 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required. 

BIO-C Include Cumulative Conservation Goals and Objectives in the Project-
Specific Biological Resources Mitigation and Management Plan (Mitigation 
Measure BIO-9b). When developing the Project-specific Biological Resources 
Mitigation and Management Plan (MMP) required for Mitigation Measure 
BIO-9(b), the City and/or County shall include specific goals, objectives, and 
qualitative performance criteria to maintain functional connectivity between 

29-89



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 55 
 

habitat patches and open spaces, including the functions and values of the 
existing linear feature composed of non-native forest, sensitive habitats, and 
aquatic features, for movement, dispersal, migration, and genetic exchange 
of native plants and animals through conservation of the following. 

 Sensitive habitats and edge habitats 

 Ecosystems services and water quality associated with wetlands, creeks, 
drainages, riparian habitat 

 Wildlife movement habitat, including resources for foraging; hydration; 
cover, shelter, aestivation/hybernacula; nesting and breeding; and 
movement, dispersal, migration. 

The MMP shall include adaptive management strategies and shall include an 
evaluation of (and adaptive management as needed for) the effects of illegal 
camping, litter (including human foods), urine and fecal matter, and illegal 
off-leash dogs on biological resources. 

b. Findings and Rationale – The Project would contribute to cumulative impacts by removing trees 
(381-404 trees) and disrupting/displacing sensitive habitats and wildlife movement corridors. 
Mitigation for biological impacts identified in this EIR include the preparation of a Project-specific 
Biological Resources Mitigation and Management Plan (MMP) that includes tree replacement 
and the development of alternate corridors for wildlife movement. However, there is a lack of 
available undeveloped land in locations that would allow for a reduction in habitat fragmentation 
or replacement of wildlife movement corridors. Additionally, it would take several decades for 
replacement trees to establish, mature, and create habitat with multi-tiered canopy, understory 
vegetation, established duff/soil/micro-organism environment and nutrient cycling, and the 
associated ecological attributes. To help mitigate for the Project’s contribution to significant 
cumulative impacts, Mitigation Measure BIO-C has been identified to require the Project-specific 
MMP (Mitigation Measure BIO-9b) to also include cumulative conservation goals. However, even 
with mitigation incorporated, the Project’s contribution to the loss of trees and fragmentation of 
habitat and wildlife corridors would be cumulatively considerable. 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-9 through 4-12 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and 
Master Response B (Tree Removal) at pages 9 through 15 of the Final EIR (Volume 1). 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 

CULTURAL RESOURCES 

1. Impact CR-1. The Project (Optional First Phase: Interim Trail Configuration approach only) may 
adversely affect historical resources, including the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. 

29-90



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 56 
 

a. Mitigation – The following mitigation is required[1].  
 
CR-1a  Install Historical Interpretive Exhibits prior to Trail Use. Consistent with 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network Master Plan Design Guidelines, 
the City and/or County, depending on the jurisdiction, shall develop an on-
site interpretive exhibit with materials concerning the history and 
engineering features of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line and its character-
defining features. Prior to or within the first year of trail use, the exhibits 
shall be installed where there is adequate room at key locations along the 
trail or trail entrances to specifically highlight the importance of the Santa 
Cruz Branch Rail Line. Interpretation of the site’s history shall be supervised 
by an architectural historian or historian who meets the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards, and may engage additional 
consultants to develop the display. There shall be at least two major exhibits 
and three minor exhibits, including signage and salvaged materials (e.g., 
small segments of original ballast, ties, and rail) to be placed intermittently 
along the trail route as space allows and as approved by the lead agency and 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission. The historical 
interpretive exhibits shall be designed in conjunction and compatible with 
interpretive exhibits for nature education and exhibits along other rail trail 
segments for continuity. 

 
CR-1b  Prepare Historic Documentation Package prior to Rail Removal. Prior to 

removal of the rail line, the rail line owner shall work with the City and/or 
County, depending on the jurisdiction, to undertake Historic American 
Engineering Survey documentation of the Santa Cruz Branch Railroad. The 
documentation shall generally follow the Historic American Engineering 
Survey Level III requirements and include digital photographic recordation of 
the line including all character-defining-features, a detailed historic narrative 
report, and a compilation of historic research. The documentation shall be 
undertaken by a qualified professional who meets the standards for history 
or architectural history as set forth by the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualification Standards (36 CFR Part 61). The original archival-
quality documentation shall be offered as donated material to the University 
of California Santa Cruz library, Santa Cruz Public Library, Santa Cruz Museum 
of Art and History, and Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission where it would be available for current and future generations. 

 
b. Findings and Rationale – Implementation of the Interim Trail (part 1) would remove the railroad 

tracks and ties and construct the multi-use trail on the rail bed, which would result in the 
removal of the 1.6 miles of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. This is considered a significant impact 
because these are considered character-defining features of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line, 
which is eligible for inclusion in the California Register of Historial Resources and National 
Register of Historic Places for it s associations with the history of transportation and economic 
development in Santa Cruz County. Mitigation Measure CR-1a requiring educational signage and 
Mitigation Measure CR-1b documenting the historical rail line prior to removal would be 
required. However, these mitigation measures would not reduce this impact to a less than 
significant level, the impact would be significant and unavoidable. 

 

29-91

https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Frtcsc-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fgblakeslee_sccrtc_org1%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F33f7561152944e088e7b10695442ab8b&wdlor=cEAA07B71-447D-41A6-A15D-ECBFCA3DE4CB&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=A4B5D2DA-F52A-4603-BF6A-7516F3219318&wdorigin=Outlook-Body.Sharing.ServerTransfer&wdhostclicktime=1682445900528&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=3516427c-75f2-4ee7-9edd-9908becd6bfc&usid=3516427c-75f2-4ee7-9edd-9908becd6bfc&sftc=1&cac=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Normal&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftn1


  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 57 
 

c. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to page 3.4-11 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 
 

The following statutory findings apply to this impact: 
 

Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project that mitigate the 
significant effect on the environment, but not to a less than significant (i.e., less than cumulatively 
considerable) level. No feasible mitigation is available to reduce this impact to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 
 

(See Pub. Resources Code § 21081(a)(1), (3); CEQA Guidelines, § 15091(a)(1), (3).) 
 

2. Impact CR-C. Cumulative development may result in significant cumulative cultural resource impacts. 
The Project’s (Optional First Phase: Interim Trail Configuration approach only) contribution be 
cumulatively considerable. 

a.  Mitigation – the following mitigation is required.  

CR-1a  Install Historical Interpretive Exhibits prior to Trail Use. Please refer to 
Impact CR-1a in Section IV.B, Cultural Resources, above. 

CR-1b  Prepare Historic Documentation Package prior to Rail Removal. Please refer 
to Impact CR-1b in Section IV.B, Cultural Resources, above. 

CR-2  Implement Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources. 
Please refer to Impact CR-2 in Section IV.B, Cultural Resources, above.  

a. Findings and Rationale – Although the optional Interim Trail would implement Mitigation 
Measure CR-1a, as well as Mitigation Measures CR-1b, to record the historic rail line, it would 
nonetheless result in removal of the historic rail line. Therefore, impacts to historical 
resources from the optional Interim Trail cannot be mitigated, and the Project’s contribution 
to cumulative impacts would be cumulatively considerable.  

 
b. Supportive Evidence – Please refer to pages 4-12 through 4-13 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). 

 

VI. FINDINGS REGARDING ALTERNATIVES  

A. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALTERNATIVES 

Public Resources Code § 21002 provides that “public agencies should not approve projects as proposed if 
there are feasible alternatives…which would substantially lessen the significant environmental effects of such 
projects.” “Feasible” means “capable of being accomplished in a reasonable period of time taking into 
account economic, environmental, legal, social and technological factors” (CEQA Guidelines § 15364). The 
concept of feasibility also encompasses whether a particular alternative promotes the Project’s underlying 
goals and objectives, and whether an alternative is impractical or undesirable from a policy standpoint. (See 
City of Del Mar v. City of San Diego (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 410, 417; California Native Plant Society v. City of 
Santa Cruz (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 957, 1001 (CNPS).) 

The consideration of alternatives feasibility arises twice in the CEQA process, once when the EIR is prepared 
and again when CEQA findings are adopted. When initially assessing feasibility in an EIR, the EIR preparer 

29-92



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 58 
 

evaluates whether an alternative is “potentially” feasible. Potentially feasible alternatives are suggestions by 
the EIR preparers that may or may not be adopted by lead agency decision makers. When CEQA findings are 
made after EIR certification, the lead agency decision making body independently evaluates whether the 
alternatives are actually feasible, including whether an alternative is impractical or undesirable from a policy 
standpoint. (See CNPS, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at p. 999.) 

If a significant impact can be substantially lessened (i.e., mitigated to a less than significant level) by adoption 
of mitigation measures, lead agency findings need not consider the feasibility of alternatives to reduce that 
impact. (See Laurel Hills Homeowners Association v. City Council (1978) 83 Cal.App.3d 515, 521.) 
Nevertheless, Section 5.0 of the Final EIR (Volume 2) and these Findings of Fact do consider the effectiveness 
of the potentially feasible alternatives set forth in the EIR to substantially reduce all of the Project’s 
significant impacts.  

The proposed alternatives were selected for review in the EIR because of their potential to avoid or 
substantially lessen certain Project impacts, because they were required under CEQA Guidelines (e.g., the No 
Project alternative), or because they were suggested during scoping and/or consistent with a citizen initiative 
pending during the scoping period that, if it had passed, could have provided further guidance or 
requirements for the Project (Alternative 1 Trail Only). The Project and alternatives are described in more 
detail in the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Final EIR (Volume 1, Master Response A: Alternatives 
Analysis, and Volume 2, Chapter 5.0, Project Alternatives). 

The three alternatives considered for the proposed Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project are:  

 Alternative 1: Trail Only, which includes permanently removing railroad tracks and ties and locating a 
26-foot-wide multiuse trail (separating bicycles and pedestrians) on the rail bed;  

 Alternative 2: Interim Trail with Rail Preservation, which includes locating a 16-foot-wide trail 
composed of fiber reinforced polymer (FRP) decking over the existing tracks and ties, later removing 
the Interim Trail, and constructing the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail;  

 Alternative 3: No Project Alternative, which includes no changes to existing conditions along the 
Project corridor and thus no trail.  

Alternative 3 was determined to be environmentally superior to the Proposed Project and Alternatives 1 and 
2. However, If the environmentally superior alternative is the No Project alternative, CEQA requires the EIR 
shall also identify an environmentally superior alternative among the other alternatives (CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15126.6). The Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration), without the Optional First Phase 
(Interim Trail), is determined to be the Environmentally Superior project for most Resource Topics.  

B. PROJECT OBJECTIVES 

An EIR must only evaluate reasonable alternatives to a project that could feasibly attain most of the project 
objectives and evaluate the comparative merits of the alternatives (CEQA Guidelines § 15126.6(a)). The 
primary objective of the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project is to provide an accessible 
bicycle/pedestrian path for active transportation, recreation, and environmental and cultural education 
alongside the existing rail corridor, consistent with the MBSST Network Master Plan. Additional project 
objectives include: 

1. Provide a continuous public trail with continuity along the Santa Cruz Branch Line railroad corridor 
and connecting spur trails in Santa Cruz County (Master Plan objective 1.1) 

29-93



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 59 
 

2. Develop the trail so future rail transportation service along the corridor is not precluded (Master Plan 
policy 1.2.4) 

3. Maximize ocean views and scenic coastal vistas along a coastal alignment for experiencing and 
interpreting the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (sanctuary), coastal environment, local 
history, and affected communities (Master Plan policy 1.1.2 and 1.1.4, objective 2.1) 

4. Maximize safety and serenity for experiencing and interpreting the sanctuary and landscapes by 
providing a trail separate from roadway vehicle traffic (Master Plan goal 1) 

5. Minimize trail impacts to private lands, including agricultural, residential, and other land uses 
(Master Plan objective 1.5) 

6. Minimize trail impacts to sensitive habitat areas and special-status plant and animal species (Master 
Plan objective 1.4, policy 1.4.1) 

7. Comply with requirements of local, state, and federal agencies with jurisdiction  

C. FINDINGS ON ALTERNATIVES 

1. Alternative 1: Trail Only 

a. Description – Under Alternative 1, the railroad tracks and ties would be permanently removed in 
Segment 9, and a multi-use trail would be constructed on the rail bed. The typical trail width 
would generally be 26 feet in urban areas (which includes the Project corridor by definition), 16 
feet in areas with grade constraints (such as Leona Creek and Stream 1454 embankments), and 12 
feet over the Woods Lagoon Railroad Bridge. Bicyclists and pedestrians would be separated with 
pavement markings where the trail is 16 feet or wider. This trail description is consistent with an 
alternative identified in the RTC Unified Corridor Investment Study (Appendix B, Table B-13), as 
requested during the EIR scoping process, and a proposed ballot initiative that was on the local 
ballot in June 2022.  

b. Findings and Determination of Infeasibility – As noted in Section V above, significant and 
unavoidable effects of the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) are adverse effects to 
aesthetics and biological resources due to tree removal. Notably, Alternative 1 would not reduce 
the severity of those impacts, as indicated on pages 5-17 through 5-20 of the Final EIR (Volume 
2). Thus, the CEQA policy of reducing significant environmental effects to the extent feasible 
would not be satisfied through the adoption of Alternative 1. In fact, because Alternative 1 would 
require more tree removal and impacts to sensitive resources than the proposed project, 
approval of the proposed project better serves the environmentally protective policies of CEQA 
than would approval of Alternative 1. 

The Trail Only alternative would result in greater impacts to sensitive habitat, particularly on the 
south side of the rail corridor in the Twin Lakes State Beach area. For this reason, Alternative 1 would 
not meet the objective of “[m]inimiz[ing] trail impacts to sensitive habitat areas and special-status 
plant and animals species” (objective 6) as well as the proposed project would. As described in 
Section 3.3, Biological Resources (Final EIR Volume 2), there is sensitive habitat on both sides of the 
rail corridor with more on the south side. The trail alignment under Alternative 1 would be on both 
the north and south sides of the existing rail bed, whereas the trail alignment of the proposed project 
(Ultimate Trail Configuration) would be entirely on the north side.  

29-94



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 60 
 

The Trail Only alternative would result in permanent removal of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. 
For this reason, Alternative 1 would not meet the objective of “[d]evelop[ing] the trail so future 
rail transportation service along the corridor is not precluded” (objective 2). As described in 
Section 3.4, Cultural Resources (Final EIR Volume 2), the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line is considered 
a historical resource. The removal of the tracks and ties would result in the removal of the 
physical features which convey the significance of the resource and meet the definition of 
material impairment as defined in Section 15064.5(b)(2)(A) of the CEQA Guidelines Therefore, 
Alternative 1 would have a significant unavoidable impact to historical resources. Consequently, 
compared to the proposed project (Ultimate Trail Configuration), the Trail Only alternative would 
have greater overall impacts to cultural resources. This alternative would also result in more 
severe impacts with regard to hazards/hazardous materials, as well as elevated noise, dust and 
debris associated with removal of the rail tracks and ties. Please refer to Section 5.0, Project 
Alternatives, of the Final EIR (Volume 2) for additional detail. 

Additionally, the Trail Only alternative requires contractual and regulatory approvals. Although 
the RTC owns the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line right-of-way (ROW), the RTC does not own the 
freight rail operation rights. The RTC has an Administration, Coordination, and License 
Agreement with a rail operator that owns a freight easement over all the tracks and is designated 
as the common carrier by the federal Surface Transportation Board (STB), which is the federal 
agency with regulatory jurisdiction over the interstate freight railroad network. The freight 
easement extends 10 feet on either side of the centerline of the tracks and includes rights of 
access along the length of the easement. As stated in the deed for the Freight Easement, the 
easement is for purposes of conducting freight rail operations and fulfilling rights and obligations 
as a common carrier freight railroad under applicable federal laws and regulations. Provided that 
the RTC’s contractual agreement with its rail operator is terminated or expires, no termination 
would be effective until the STB approves transfer or abandonment of freight service. Obtaining 
approval from the STB to abandon freight may be challenged in court, which could cause delays 
to project implementation. 

This alternative would not meet the Project objectives to the same extent as the project. In 
particular, Alternative 1 would be less successful than the project in meeting the following two 
project objectives: “[d]evelop[ing] the trail so future rail transportation service along the corridor 
is not precluded” (objective 2) because Alternative 1 project requires permanent removal of the 
rails and therefore rail transportation service would be precluded, and “[p]rovid[ing] a 
continuous public trail with continuity in design along the Santa Cruz Branch Line railroad 
corridor and connecting spur trails in Santa Cruz County” (objective 1) as well as the proposed 
project because the Trail Only alternative would result in a 26-foot-wide trail in Segment 9, which 
would connect to the existing 10-foot-wide trail along the San Lorenzo River Trestle Bridge in 
Segment 8 and the planned 12-foot-wide trail in Segment 10. 

Therefore, in addition to the Trail Only alternative being environmentally inferior because it 
would be no better than the project with respect to substantial and unavoidable impacts to 
aesthetic and biological resources and would have greater impacts to sensitive habitats, as well 
as the additional substantial and unavoidable impact to the historic resources. After balancing 
competing policy considerations, the RTC also finds that implementation of Alternative 1 would 
represent an undesirable policy outcome of removing options for future rail service. One of many 
bases for this latter conclusion is the fact that Alternative 1 would not meet the project objective 
of :“[d]evelop[ing] the trail so future rail transportation service along the corridor is not 
precluded”,  “[p]rovid[ing] a continuous public trail along the Santa Cruz Branch Line railroad 
corridor and connecting spur trails in Santa Cruz County” and “[m]inimiz[ing] trail impacts to 

29-95



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 61 
 

sensitive habitat areas and special-status plant and animals species” as well as the proposed project 
would. For all the reasons set forth above, any one of which by itself would be sufficient, the RTC 
rejects Alternative 1 as infeasible.  

2. Alternative 2: Interim Trail with Rail Preservation 

a. Description – Under Alternative 2, all or a portion of the multiuse trail in Segment 9 would be 
constructed in approximately the same location of the railroad tracks by constructing the trail 
with Fiber Reinforced Polymer (FRP) decking that would be installed over the existing rail tracks 
and ties, rather than removing the tracks and ties, to preserve the rail. The typical width of the 
FRP trail would be 16 feet wide with striping in the middle to separate eastbound and 
westbound. The width could narrow to between 12 and 16 feet at roadway crossings, the Harbor 
crossing, and Leona Creek crossing. 

The FRP trail would be structurally supported under the panels and on the edges by low retaining 
Walls, offset a minimum of 6–8 feet from the track centerline and running parallel to the rails. 
The retaining walls would require excavation 2–3 feet deep and would extend 1–2 feet above the 
rail so the FRP decking clears the rail tracks. To construct the low retaining walls, a small amount 
of ballast would need to be removed on each side of the rail. When edge conditions or right-of-
way do not allow for an edge slope, safety railing would be installed to address any grade 
differential. At roadway crossings, the FRP decking would extend or curve off the railbed and 
descend for the at-grade roadway crossing, and then ascend and curve back above the railbed. At 
the Santa Cruz Harbor crossing, the FRP decking would continue over the rail on the Woods 
Lagoon Railroad Bridge. 

If and when freight rail service is re-activated, the Interim Trail would be removed; and the 
Ultimate Trail Configuration would be constructed alongside the tracks. When the Interim Trail is 
removed, the FRP decking would be removed, and the retaining walls would be reduced in height 
to at-grade level, so they continue to support the ballast and tracks which could be structurally 
compromised if the retaining walls are removed entirely. The Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside 
the tracks would be constructed as described in Sections 2.4.1 and 2.6.1 of the Draft EIR (Final EIR 
Volume 2). The typical width of the paved at-grade Ultimate Trail Configuration would be 12 feet 
and could narrow to between 9.5–12 feet at water crossings and constrained areas. 

Thus, the Interim Trail with Rail Preservation includes three parts: (1) implementation of the 
Interim Trail, which includes installation of the FRP decking and supporting retaining walls; (2) 
removal of the Interim Trail FRP decking and reducing the height of the retaining walls to grade 
level; and (3) construction of the Ultimate Trail Configuration alongside the rail. 

b. Findings and Determination of Infeasibility – As noted in Section V above, significant and 
unavoidable effects of the Proposed Project (Ultimate Trail Configuration) are adverse effects to 
aesthetics and biological resources due to tree removal. Notably, when considering the whole of 
Alternative 2 with all three parts (including part 3 construction of the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration), Alternative 2 would not reduce the severity of those impacts , as indicated on 
pages 5-28 through 5-30 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). When considering just parts 1 and 2 
(installing and removing the Interim Trail FRP decking), there would be less tree removal (124 
trees instead of 381-404 trees); but the impacts to aesthetics and biological resources would still 
be substantial and unavoidable, as indicated on pages 3.1-19 and 3.3-119 (which evaluates a 16-
foot-wide trail on the rail bed), because removing 124 trees includes removal of 51 Heritage and 
Significant trees which is approximately 25% of all trees in these categories along Segment 9.  

29-96



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 62 
 

Compared to the proposed project’s optional first phase (Interim Trail), Alternative 2 would 
reduce the severity of the significant and unavoidable impact on cultural resources by preserving 
instead of removing the railroad tracks and ties, which are considered a historical resource, as 
indicated on pages 5-30 through 5-31 of the Final EIR (Volume 2). Compared to the Proposed 
Project (UltimateTrail Configuration), Alternative 2 would have similar but greater potential 
impacts to cultural resources because it requires two additional construction periods, thus 
increasing the risk of inadvertent discovery. 

This alternative would not meet the Project objectives to the same extent as the project. The FRP 
deck panels would need to cantilever out approximately 5.5 feet from each rail to allow for a 16-
foot-wide trail (or 3.5 feet from each rail for a 12-foot-wide trail). To support the deck panel 
edges, continuous edge support, such as a continuous low wall (in some cases a retaining wall) or 
some other form of continuous support, would be required. The FRP deck system would rely on 
the rails and continuous edge support for its structural integrity; however, the wood ties are 
organic and subject to decay over time. The voids created by the decayed wood would allow the 
rails to sink, causing differential panel settlement along the trail. This differential settlement 
could affect the accessibility along the trail without corrective measures and associated 
maintenance cost to keep the trail ADA compliant. Since the deck panels would sit on top of the 
rails and are approximately 15-18 inches thick, the trail edge would be elevated, which in turn 
would require fencing on both sides of the trail to prevent trail users from accidentally rolling or 
walking off the edge of the trail. In addition to these engineering challenges that introduce 
additional costs, FRP decking panels are more costly per square foot than asphalt, and 
continuous fencing on both sides of the elevated trail is an added cost over an asphalt trail 
placed close to existing grade.  

In summary, the Interim Trail with Rail Preservation would not reduce the significant and 
unavoidable impacts to aesthetics and biological resources to a less than significant level when 
the whole of the project is considered and would not meet Project objectives to the same extent 
as the project while the Interim Trail is in place. After balancing competing policy considerations, 
the RTC rejects Alternative 2 as infeasible for all of the foregoing reasons, although any of them 
individually are also sufficient reasons for rejecting it.  

3. Alternative 3: No Project 

a. Description –Under the No Project alternative, the Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 project 
would not be constructed in the Project corridor, which is the portion of the rail corridor 
between the Beach Street/Pacific Avenue Roundabout and 17th Avenue. Along Segment 8, there 
would be no improvements to the existing bicycle lanes and sidewalk between the Beach 
Street/Pacific Avenue Roundabout and the SLR Trestle Bridge; and along Segment 9 there would 
be no new multi-use path between the SLR Trestle Bridge and 17th Avenue. The Project corridor 
would remain “as is” with no planned development of a trail for alternative transportation, 
recreation, or other uses. Additionally, there would also be no improvements at the Seabright 
Avenue/Murray Street intersection to add a dedicated right turn from westbound Murray Street 
to northbound Seabright Avenue to improve traffic flow, although the City could modify the 
intersection as a stand-alone project to improve safety and congestion. 

b. Findings and Determination of Infeasibility – The No Project alternative would result in the rail 
corridor remaining “as is” with no planned development of a trail for alternative transportation, 
recreation, or other uses. Because of the reduced development, there would generally be less 
than significant or no environmental impacts under Alternative 3. In particular, construction-

29-97



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 63 
 

related impacts associated with earth movement and tree removal would not occur. However, 
air quality (criteria pollutant) and GHG emissions associated with vehicular traffic would increase, 
because the trail as an alternative transportation project is expected to result in less vehicular 
transportation and thus reduced emissions. Additionally, with no project, there would not be 
benefits to public safety and access, such as improved emergency access to the rail corridor in 
Segment 9 and bikeway (cycle track) and sidewalk improvements along Beach Street where there 
are user conflicts in Segment 8.  

Further, this alternative would not meet the project objectives to provide a continuous public 
trail with continuity in design along the Santa Cruz Branch Line railroad corridor and connecting 
spur trails in Santa Cruz County (Objective 1); maximize ocean views and scenic coastal vistas 
along a coastal alignment for experiencing and interpreting the Monterey Bay National Marine 
Sanctuary, coastal environment, local history, and affected communities (Objective 3); or 
maximize safety and serenity for experiencing and interpreting the sanctuary and landscapes by 
providing a trail separate from roadway vehicle traffic (Objective 4), to the same extent as the 
Project. Further, this alternative would not fulfill RTC’s commitment to implement the approved 
Monterey Bay Scenic Sanctuary Trail Master Plan, nor the City’s goals and policies to enhance the 
community and provide open space with an alternative transportation and recreation trail that 
provides connectivity and reduces vehicular use.  

After balancing competing policy considerations, RTC finds that implementation of Alternative 3 
would represent an undesirable policy outcome. For all of these reasons and any of them 
individually, the RTC rejects the No Project Alternative as infeasible. 

VII. FINDINGS REGARDING MITIGATION MEASURES AND ALTERNATIVES PROPOSED IN NOP AND DRAFT 
EIR COMMENTS 

Some comments received in response to the Notice of Preparation (NOP) and on the Draft EIR suggested 
Project alternatives. The Findings regarding the suggested alternatives are provided under “A. Suggested 
Project Alternatives” below.  

In response to Draft EIR comments, Mitgation Measure BIO-9b, Develop Project-specific Biological Resources 
Mitigation and Management Plan for Impacts to Biological Resources Resulting from Trail Construction and 
Operation, was revised to provide additional detail and clarification regarding tree replacement, potential 
mitigation sites, and timing for monitoring (refer to pages 19-22 above). The Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Program (MMRP) associated with this EIR is referenced in Section XI.  

A. SUGGESTED PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 

The following discussion includes references to chapters and sections in the Draft EIR, which is included in 
the Final EIR, Volume 2. 

1. Interim Trail  

Comments on the NOP suggested analysis of an “Interim Trail” or “Railbank with Interim Trail” and renaming 
what was presented in the NOP as “Alternative 1: Railbank with Trail” to include the term “Interim.” 

Findings and Rationale –An Interim Trail was included as an Optional First Phase of the Proposed 
Project (as opposed to a separate stand-alone alternative) and called it Optional First Phase: Trail on 
the Rail line (Interim Trail). The optional Interim Trail includes three parts: (1) implementation of the 

29-98



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 64 
 

Interim Trail, which includes removal of the rail and construction of the trail on the rail line; (2) 
demolition of the Interim Trail and rebuilding the rail line; and (3) construction of the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration alongside the rail. Refer to Chapter 2, Project Description, of the Draft EIR for 
additional detail. Accordingly, it is evaluated as part of the Proposed Project analysis in Chapter 3. 

As described in Section 2.4.2, Optional First Phase: Trail on the Rail Line (Interim Trail), this option 
could occur if the common carrier files for abandonment of freight operations along the Santa Cruz 
Branch Rail Line with the Surface Transportation Board (STB), or if the RTC or another interested 
party files for adverse abandonment. If this occurs, all or a portion of the SCBRL would likely be 
railbanked to preserve the corridor for future freight re-activation, and then could be used for a 
multi-use trail as an interim condition. Refer to Chapter 1, Introduction; Section 1.2.4, Subsequent 
Actions and Considerations; Railbanking; for additional information regarding railbanking. 

2. Inclusion of the San Lorenzo River Trestle Bridge  

Comments on the NOP include suggestions that the San Lorenzo River Trestle Bridge be part of 
Segment 9 and be included in the railbanking or Interim Trail analysis.  

Findings and Rationale – According to the MBSST Network Master Plan, the San Lorenzo River 
Trestle Bridge is part of Segment 8, not Segment 9. The Proposed Project, including the Optional First 
Phase (Interim Trail), excludes the San Lorenzo River Trestle Bridge because this portion of Segment 
8 has already been constructed. As stated in Section 2.4.1, there would be no improvements to the 
portion crossing the SLR Trestle Bridge because this section was completed in 2019, when the City 
replaced the existing 4-foot-wide wooden walkway with a new light weight, 10-foot-wide 
bicycle/pedestrian bridge along the inland side of the railroad tracks. 

This alternative or design option has been dismissed from further consideration and evaluation in 
this EIR because: this portion of the Coastal Rail Trail is already constructed; this alternative would 
not likely reduce the severity of any of the significant effects of the Proposed Project; and this 
alternative could result in additional construction-related impacts to the San Lorenzo River 
(designated critical habitat), permanent impacts to the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line, and impacts to 
trail users by disrupting use of the existing bicycle/pedestrian path on the trestle bridge if it needs to 
be closed for safety during construction. Further, the bridge is used by Roaring Camp Railroad when 
there is an emergency on the Boardwalk to clear the area for emergency responders. 

3. Trail Next to another Transit Option  

Comments on the NOP include a suggestion that the alternatives analysis include a trail along with 
another type of transit option in place of existing freight rail line (e.g., a dedicated trolley or bus lanes). 

Findings and Rationale – As described in Chapter 1, the RTC has conducted extensive studies 
regarding transit options along the rail corridor, including the Rail Transit Feasibility Study (2015), 
Unified Corridor Investment Study (2019), and Transit Corridor Alternatives Analysis (2021). The 
preferred scenario adopted by the RTC includes protecting the rail line in public ownership for high-
capacity public transit use by maintaining the tracks and allowing freight and excursion service. 
Commuter rail remains in the RTC’s Regional Transportation Plan, but on the financially 
unconstrained list of projects, due to the lack of identified funding to the region for a rail project. 

This alternative to analyze a trail alignment along a transit alignment has been dismissed from 
further consideration and evaluation in this EIR for the following reasons: The alignment of future 

29-99



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 65 
 

transit services in the rail corridor has not been defined, and funding for transit services in the rail 
corridor has not been identified; therefore, it is too speculative. This alternative would not likely 
reduce the severity of any of the significant effects of the Proposed Project. Therefore, future transit 
use is not the focus of the environmental analysis. The focus is the difference in environmental 
impacts as they relate to constructing the trail. However, consistent with the project objectives, the 
Proposed Project does not preclude future rail transportation service along the corridor. 

4. Grade Separations at Railway Crossings (Multiple Commenters) 

Comments on the NOP include a suggestion to analyze alternatives to grade separate the trail at 
roadways crossings for improved safety. 

Findings and Rationale – As described in Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2, the Project includes several safety 
features at the four roadway crossings, such as bulb outs, chicanes on the trail (curves added to slow 
trail users before the intersection), raised median along the road centerline providing a midpoint 
refuge for trail users, signage and striping on the trail and roadway, and rectangular rapid-flashing 
beacons (RRFBs) on the roadways. Adding more substantial grading or structurally separating the 
trail from roadway (e.g., a bike/ped bridge or overpass over the roadway) would create additional 
construction-related and visual impacts. 

Grade separated crossing have been dismissed from further consideration and evaluation in this EIR 
for the following reasons. The Project includes several safety features at roadway crossings. This 
alternative would not likely reduce the severity of any of the significant effects of the Proposed 
Project. This alternative would result in additional construction-related impacts and visual impacts 
due to the required size. A grade separation structure would need to be large enough to meet ADA 
requirements and bicycle access, which would not fit within the rail corridor. Further, it is anticipated 
that, because it is a relatively short distance across the roadway, trail users would simply cross the 
street and avoid the use of the large structure which would take longer and require ascent/descent. 

5. Coastal Side (Maximize Coastal Access)  

Comments on the NOP include a suggestion to evaluate alternatives to maximize access from the 
trail to coastal destinations such as East Cliff Drive, the Harbor, Twin Lakes State Beach trails, and 
Simpkins Swim Center. 

Findings and Rationale – As described in Section 2.4.1, the Proposed Project includes several trail 
connections to adjacent roadways and trails, including a connection to the West Harbor, a 
connection to Twin Lakes State Beach near El Dorado Avenue, and two connections to Simpkins Swim 
Center. Additionally, an East Harbor Connection has been evaluated as a design option of the 
Proposed Project. These trail connections are included in the analysis of the Proposed Project in 
Chapter 3 of the Draft EIR. 

Another alternative that was considered is one that would maximize or facilitate coastal access by 
locating the trail on the coastal side of the tracks, because the majority of the Ultimate Trail 
Configuration is on the inland side of the tracks, and because there could be safety fencing between 
the tracks and the trail that could inhibit direct access to the coastal side of the tracks at some 
locations. There are substantial constraints to locating the trail on the coastal side of the tracks 
including, but not limited to, the need for new CPUC-approved rail crossings, reducing neighborhood 
access, removing connections to the Santa Cruz Harbor, and right-of-way constraints. Further, it 

29-100



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 66 
 

would not reduce any of the significant impacts. Therefore, locating the trail on the coastal side of 
the tracks has been dismissed from further consideration and evaluation in this EIR. 

6. Trail Only  

Comments on the NOP include a suggestion to analyze the “Trail Only” alternative as described in 
Appendix B, Table B-13, of the Unified Corridor Investment Study (RTC 2019) in terms of width. The 
trail would be 26 feet wide in urban areas (including the Project corridor) and 16 feet wide in areas 
with grade constraints. The Trail Only alternative described and analyzed in the Draft EIR includes 
removal of the rail, construction of the trail on the rail line, and separating bicyclists from pedestrian 
using pavement markings where the trail is 16 feet or wider. 

Findings and Rationale – This Trail Only alternative differs from the Interim Trail, which is described 
above and included as an Optional First Phase of the Proposed Project, because it is wider (26 feet 
instead of 16 feet); it separates bicyclists from pedestrians with striping; and would result in 
permanent removal of the rail (i.e., it does not include future rebuilding the rail and building the trail 
alongside the rail). 

This Trail Only alternative was evaluated in Section 5.2, Alternatives Evaluated in Draft EIR, of the 
Draft EIR (Final EIR Volume 2) because it was anticipated it could reduce at least one Project impact 
(e.g., less tree removal, earth movement and associated emissions). Additionally, it would provide for 
a broader range of reasonable alternatives to consider. 

VIII. FINDINGS ON RESPONSES TO COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT EIR AND REVISIONS TO THE DRAFT EIR 

Findings and Rationale – Volume 1 of the Final EIR includes the comments received on the Draft EIR and 
responses to those comments. The focus of the responses to comments is on the disposition of significant 
environmental issues as raised in the comments, as specified by CEQA Guidelines § 15088(b), as well as to 
provide clarification regarding environmental issues raised. Volume 2 (Draft EIR) and Volume 3 (Draft EIR 
Appendices) of the Final EIR also incorporate information obtained after publication of the Draft EIR with 
revisions made for clarification and to provide additional detail.The RTC has reviewed and considered the 
Final EIR and all of the information contained therein. The RTC finds that the responses to comments made 
on the Draft EIR and the revisions made to the Draft EIR merely clarify, amplify, or make insignificant 
modifications to the analysis presented in the document and do not trigger the need to recirculate per CEQA 
Guidelines §15088.5(b). The Draft EIR has been reproduced in its entirety with revisions shown in underline 
for additions and strikeout for deletions (Final EIR Volume 2).  

IX. STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS 

The RTC adopts and makes this statement of overriding considerations concerning the Project’s unavoidable 
significant impacts to explain why the Project’s benefits override and outweigh its unavoidable impacts. In the  
RTC’s judgment, the Project and its benefits outweigh its unavoidable significant effect to aesthetics and biological 
resources from tree removal. The following statement identifies the specific reasons why, in the RTC’s judgment, 
the benefits of the Project as approved outweigh its unavoidable significant effects. Any one of these reasons is 
sufficient to justify approval of the Project. Thus, even if a court were to conclude that not every reason is 
supported by substantial evidence, RTC would stand by its determination that each individual reason is sufficient. 
The substantial evidence supporting the various benefits can be found in the preceding Findings, which are 
incorporated by reference into this Section IX, and in the documents found in the Record of Proceedings, as 
defined in Section II. 

29-101



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 67 
 

The EIR has identified and discussed significant effects that may occur as a result of the Project. As set forth in 
these CEQA Findings, the RTC has made a reasonable and good faith effort to eliminate or substantially mitigate 
the impacts resulting from the Project that impact Santa Cruz Branch Line property within the control of the 
RTCand has made specific findings on each of the Project’s significant impacts and on mitigation measures and 
alternatives. With implementation of the mitigation measures discussed in the EIR, most of the Project-level 
effects can be mitigated to a level of less than significant. However, the Project will result in significant and 
unavoidable Project-level and cumulative impacts as follows: 

1. Impact to Scenic Resources and Vistas (Impact AES-1). The Project would have an adverse effect on 
scenic resources and vistas through the removal of mature trees. 

2. Impact to Policies Pertaining to Tree and Vegetation Removal (Impact AES-2). The Project would be 
inconsistent with policies that pertain to tree and vegetation removal. 

3. Cumulative Aesthetics Impact (Impact AES-C). Cumulative development may result in significant 
cumulative aesthetic impacts. The Project’s contribution would not be cumulatively considerable 
except for cumulative impacts to scenic quality due to the removal of mature trees. 

4. Impact to Monarch Butterflies (Impact BIO-2). The Project could adversely affect monarch butterfly 
and autumnal and/or wintering roost sites. 

5. Impact to Wildlife Movement (Impact BIO-11). The Project would interfere with wildlife movement. 

6. Impact to Policies and Ordinances Protecting Trees (Impact BIO-12). The Project would be 
inconsistent with policies and ordinances protecting trees. 

7. Cumulative Biological Resources Impact (Impact BIO-C). Cumulative development would result in 
significant cumulative biological resources impacts. The Project’s contribution would be cumulatively 
considerable. 

In accordance with Section 15093 of the CEQA Guidelines, and having reduced the adverse significant 
environmental effects of the Project to the extent feasible, having considered the entire administrative record on 
the Project, and having weighed the benefits of the Project against its unavoidable adverse impacts after 
mitigation, the RTC hereby finds that the following legal, economic, social and environmental benefits of the 
Project outweigh its unavoidable adverse impacts and render them acceptable based upon the following 
considerations. Each benefit set forth below constitutes an overriding consideration warranting approval of the 
Project, independent of the other benefits, despite each and every unavoidable impact. 

a. The implementation of the Proposed Project would provide a continuous public trail with continuity 
in design along the Santa Cruz Branch Line railroad corridor and provide a connection to various spur 
trails in Santa Cruz County, consistent with the approved Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail 
(MBSST) Master Plan to provide additional recreational opportunities including the rail trail. 
Implementation of the Project would also be consistent with RTC’s 2045 Regional Transportation 
Plan (2045 RTP) to improve access to recreation by improving multimodal network quality for 
walking and bicycle trips, and the 2045 RTP specifically includes the Project (Ultimate Trail 
Configuration) in its list of projects.   

b. The Proposed Project would increase active transportation facilities and recreation facilities and 
improve accessibility and connectivity within the greater Santa Cruz region which is consistent with 
the 2045 RTP Policy 1.4 to ensure network connectivity by closing gaps in the bicycle, pedestrian, and 

29-102



  

Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 – RTC CEQA Findings of Fact, and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 68 
 

transit networks and Policy 1.3 to improve multimodal access to and within key destinations for all 
ages and abilities.  

c. The Proposed Project would develop the trail so future rail transportation along the corridor is not 
precluded, consistent with the RTC MBSST Master Plan; City 2030 Climate Action Plan (Measure T1.2 
to work with partners to plan active and public transportation to rail line); City General Plan (CD4.1.4, 
LU4.2.3, M2.2, M2.2.1, M2.2.2, M4.3.2); and County General Plan (AM-1.1.6, AM-7.1.2).  

d. Implementation of the Proposed Project would maximize ocean views and scenic coastal vistas along 
a coastal alignment for experiencing and interpreting the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary, 
consistent with goals and policies of the California Coastal Commission and State Parks and 
Recreation Department. The Project would follow the coastal alignment of the rail corridor and 
provide educational and interpretive signage about the marine sanctuary and natural resources, 
including special-status plant and wildlife species such as the Santa Cruz tarplant, monarch butterfly, 
and San Francisco dusky footed woodrat. 

e. The Proposed Project would maximize safety and serenity for experiencing and interpreting the 
sanctuary and landscapes by providing a trail separate from roadway vehicle traffic. The Proposed 
Project (Segment 9) would be entirely separated from the roadway with only four roadway crossings 
(Mott, Seabright, 7th, and 17th Avenues) and supports relevant City and County goals and policies, 
including City General Plan (PR3.1, PR3.1.1, PR3.3, PR3.3.4);  City Local Coastal Plan (3.5 and 3.5.5) 
and County General Plan (AM-2.2.1, AM-2.2.2, AM-2.2.3). 

f. The Proposed Project would utilize lands owned by various government entities to develop the trail, in 
order to minimize taking private property, and Segment 9 is almost entirely within the RTC right-of-way.  

X. MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

The RTC finds that a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) for the Coastal Rail Trail 
Segments 8 and 9 Project inclusive of Mitigation Measures  CR1-b and 2C has been prepared for the project 
and hereby adopts the MMRP concurrently with these Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding 
Considerations (Public Resources Code, § 21081.6(a)(1)).  

CEQA requires that an agency adopt an MMRP that includes mitigation measures prior to approving a 
project. The MMRP for the Project has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of Section 
21081.6 of the California Public Resources Code and Sections 15091(d) and 15097 of the CEQA Guidelines. 

The purpose of the MMRP is to ensure the implementation, in accordance with CEQA requirements, of the 
mitigation measures adopted by the RTC and under its control. The mitigation measures adopted in the 
Coastal Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9, inclusive of Mitigation Measures CR1-D and 2C, and Project EIR Findings 
are listed in Sections IV and V of this document. The MMRP is bound separately as a stand-alone document 
and hereby incorporated by reference.  

 

29-103



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 1 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Notes: A list of acronyms is provided at the end of this matrix. 

Biological Resources 
Mitigation Measure BIO-1a: Implement 
Protections for the Santa Cruz tarplant 
population in Twin Lakes State Park 
During construction of Segment 9, the City 
and/or County (depending on implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) shall coordinate to ensure 
the following measures are implemented to 
protect the federally Threatened and California 
State Endangered Santa Cruz tarplant at Twin 
Lakes State Beach: 

• Prior to construction activities adjacent to 
Twin Lakes State Beach open space, 
identify the Santa Cruz tarplant occurrence 
in Twin Lakes State Beach on project plans 
and mark the edge of the population in the 
field with flagging to avoid construction-
related impacts, 

• Prior to trail use, enclose the coastal terrace 
prairie grassland occupied by Santa Cruz 
tarplant with protective wildlife-friendly (e.g., 
spit-rail) fencing, 

• Add interpretative signage with Santa Cruz 
tarplant life history and rarity information, and 

• Coordinate with State Parks biologists to 
monitor and enhance tarplant population using 
techniques identified by the Arana Gulch 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• The implementing 
jurisdiction shall 
coordinate with 
other agencies 
(USFWS, CDFW, 
CA State Parks, as 
applicable), to 
protect the 
federally 
Threatened and 
California State 
Endangered Santa 
Cruz tarplant at 
Twin Lakes State 
Beach by 
implementing the 
recommendations 
listed in the 
measure.  

• The implementing 
jurisdiction is 
required to 
coordinate with 
others (as 
applicable). 

• The implementing 
jurisdiction shall 
install required 
fencing, and 
signage. 

• Fencing shall be 
installed prior to 
construction. 

• Interpretive 
signage shall be 
posted prior to 
operation of the 
trail. 

• Document fence 
posting prior to 
construction. 

• Signage should be 
posted before 
opening of the trail 
segment. 

• Photo 
documentation of 
location of fencing. 

• Photo 
documentation of 
interpretive 
signage. 

• Identify Santa Cruz 
tarplant 
enhancement 
and/or restoration 
activities 
implemented by 
State Parks or 
other entities at 
Twin Lakes State 
Beach in the 
annual MMP 
monitoring report 
required for 
Mitigation Measure 
BIO-9b (below). 

Attachment 3-Exhibit B

29-104



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 2 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Adaptive Management Working Group1. 
These may include seeding, out-planting, 
cardboard mulch, mowing, and/or hand 
weeding. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-1b: Install 
Permanent Fencing between Trail and 
Twin Lakes State Beach near Santa Cruz 
Tarplant Habitat 
During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or 
County (depending on implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) shall coordinate to ensure final 
project design includes installation of fencing (wildlife 
friendly2) between the Trail and Twin Lakes State 
Beach near the tarplant population. The fencing 
shall extend for approximately 1,100 linear feet, from 
Leona Creek to the Simpkins Swim Center parking 
lot, to discourage trail users from entering Twin 
Lakes State Beach and creating new trails that could 
result in disturbance to the protected species. 
Additionally, signage shall be placed on the fencing, 
indicating the adjacent habitat protection area and 
directing users to the existing trail access near 
Simpkins Swim Center with arrow pointing 
eastward. 

• Include measure as 
Condition of 
Approval. 

• The implementing 
jurisdiction shall 
coordinate with 
other agencies (as 
applicable), to install 
wildlife friendly 
fencing between the 
trail and the tarplant 
population at Twin 
Lakes State Beach. 

• Signage shall also 
be installed to 
indicate a habitat 
protection area with 
directions to 
existing trail access 

• The applicable 
jurisdiction is 
required to 
coordinate with 
others (as 
applicable). 

• The applicable 
jurisdiction shall 
install required 
fencing, and 
signage. 

• Fencing shall be 
installed prior to 
construction. 

• Interpretive 
signage shall be 
posted prior to 
operation of the 
trail. 

• Document fence 
posting prior to 
construction. 

• Signage should be 
posted before 
opening of the trail 
segment. 

• Photo 
documentation of 
location of fencing. 

• Photo 
documentation of 
interpretive 
signage. 

 
1 The Arana Gulch Adaptive Management Working Group (AMWG) is a collection of scientists, regulators, City of Santa Cruz representatives, and the public working to improve habitat conditions for 
the Santa Cruz tarplant at Arana Gulch Open Space as required by the Arana Gulch Habitat Master Plan (2013).  

2 Wildlife-friendly fencing provides a 17-inch clearance between the bottom wire and ground, which provides adequate room for most small to medium wildlife to pass and has a maximum height of 
4.5 feet to allow larger wildlife (e.g., deer) pass over the top wire. Options include split-rail fencing or post and smooth wire fencing. Fencing shall be marked to be visible to wildlife. 

29-105



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 3 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

as described in the 
measure. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-2: Conduct 
Biological Monitoring for Sensitive 
Wildlife Species 
During construction of Segment 9, the City 
and/or County (depending on the implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall conduct construction monitoring 
for sensitive wildlife species, as specified below: 

• Prior to initiation of construction activities, a 
USFWS- and CDFW-approved biologist 
shall prepare a construction monitoring 
plan that identifies all areas to be protected 
with exclusion fencing on a 1:1500 scale 
map (or similar scale determined to be 
practicable), and all areas requiring 
monitoring by a USFWS-, NOAA Fisheries, 
and/or CDFW-approved biologist or trained 
construction monitor. 

• Prior to initiation of construction activities, a 
USFWS-, NOAA Fisheries, and/or CDFW-
approved biologist shall conduct an 
environmental training for all construction 
personnel. The training shall include a 
description of the sensitive wildlife species 
known or with potential to occur in the 
Project alignment and surroundings 
[monarch butterfly, sensitive fish species, 
western pond turtle, potential Santa Cruz 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Prepare a 
construction 
monitoring plan, 
conduct 
environmental 
training for 
construction 
personnel, and 
install exclusion 
fencing. 

• Prepare and 
implement a 
WEAP. 

• Conduct 
construction 
activities during 
the dry season, as 
specified in the 
measure. 

• Conduct biological 
monitoring of 
construction 
activities, as 

• City/County and 
qualified biologist 
shall conduct the 
WEAP. 

• City/County and 
construction 
contractor shall 
comply with the 
activities specified 
if the measure. 

• City/County and 
qualified biologist 
shall conduct the 
monitoring as 
described. 

• Prior to 
construction. 

• On-going 
throughout Project 
construction. 

• The WEAP shall 
be prepared prior 
to any construction 
activities. 

• Document 
monitoring 
activities during 
construction. 

• Provide the 
WEAP. 

• Monitoring logs 
shall be kept and 
sent on a weekly 
basis. 

29-106



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 4 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

black salamander, sensitive and native 
nesting bird species (including bald eagle 
and peregrine falcon), roosting bats species 
(including western red bat), San Francisco 
dusky-footed woodrat, and marine mammal 
species (including southern sea otter)]. 

• Prior to initiation of construction activities, 
the construction contractor shall install 
temporary exclusion fencing (solid silt 
fencing) in specified areas along the 
project boundaries, approximately 6 inches 
below grade and 3.0 feet above grade, with 
wooden stakes at intervals of not more 
than 8.0 feet. The fence shall be 
maintained in working order for the 
duration of construction activities. The 
agency-approved biologist or trained 
construction monitor shall inspect the fence 
daily and notify the construction foreman 
when fence maintenance is required. The 
fence shall allow for wildlife passage 
across the alignment at regular intervals. 

• Construction activities shall be timed to 
minimize impacts to sensitive biological 
resources, as shown in Table 3.3-7 (at the 
end of this matrix). 

• The agency-approved biologist shall be 
present on-site, to direct and inspect all 
ground disturbing activities (including but 
not limited to tree removal, vegetation 

described in the 
measure. 

29-107



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 5 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

removal, grading, grubbing, and exclusion 
fence installation and removal, and for 
construction activities located in or near 
sensitive wildlife resources). Any 
vegetation removed shall be placed directly 
into a disposal vehicle. Vegetation shall not 
be piled on the ground unless later 
transferred, piece by piece, under the 
direct supervision of an approved biologist. 

• The approved biologist shall train a 
designated construction monitor who shall 
oversee implementation of all protective 
mitigation measures when the biologist is not 
present. This representative shall be trained 
in the identification of special-status wildlife. 
This representative shall not have the 
authority to handle special-status species. 

• Once ground disturbance activities have 
been completed, the approved biologist or 
trained construction monitor shall conduct 
regular inspections of the work area. Prior 
to the start of work each day, the biologist 
or monitor shall check for wildlife 
underneath any vehicle or heavy 
equipment within the construction site. 

• The biologist will remain on call. In the event 
that the construction monitor identifies a 
sensitive wildlife species in or near the Project 
area, the approved biologist will be available to 
confirm the identification and, depending on 

29-108



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 6 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

the species, and with agency authorization, 
relocate the animal out of harm’s way. Suitable 
relocation sites shall be identified in advance 
with the approval of the relevant agencies. 

• The approved biologist and construction 
monitor shall have the authority to stop 
work that may result in the “take” of a 
special-status species. 

• At the end of each workday, excavations 
(i.e., trenches, holes) shall be secured with 
a cover (preferably) or a ramp to prevent 
wildlife entrapment. 

• All trenches, pipes, culverts or similar 
structures shall be inspected for animals prior 
to burying, capping, moving, or filling. 

• With agency approval, the approved 
biologist shall remove invasive aquatic 
species such as bullfrogs and crayfish from 
suitable aquatic habitat in and near the 
construction impact area, if present. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-5: Conduct 
Breeding Bird Surveys and Identify 
Protective Buffers prior to Construction, 
if Construction occurs between February 
1 and August 31 
During construction of Segment 9, the City 
and/or County (depending on the 
implementing agency/jurisdiction) and the 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Conduct breeding 
bird surveys as 
described in the 
measure.  

• City/County and 
qualified biologist 
shall conduct the 
survey as 
described in the 
measure. 

• City/County and 
qualified biologist 

• Prior to start of 
construction 
activities if such 
activities are 
initiated between 
February 1 and 
August 31 (during 
breeding bird 
season), or if 

• Document results 
from breeding 
survey. 

 

• Provide logs 
demonstrating the 
various survey 
conducted as part 
of the measure. 

29-109



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 7 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

construction contractor shall implement the 
following measures: 
• The avian breeding season occurs from 

February 1 through August 31 with a peak in 
breeding/nesting activity between April and 
June for most raptors and/or other birds. 

• If feasible, Project activities will be initiated 
outside the breeding season in order to 
avoid impacts to breeding birds. Should 
Project activities be initiated between 
September and February, no avian 
breeding surveys would be required. 

• If Project activities are to be initiated during 
breeding season, or if Project activities lapse 
for 1 week or more during breeding bird 
season, prior to construction/resumption of 
construction activities, an approved biologist 
will conduct avian breeding surveys for all birds 
(and their nests) protected under the MBTA. 
According to current CDFW permit conditions, 
the survey area will encompass tree stands 
and structures within the Project corridor and 
the following buffers (where accessible): 

o 250 feet for passerines/non-raptors; 

o 500 feet for small raptors such as 
accipiters; and 

o 1,000 feet for larger raptors such as 
buteos. 

• If breeding birds 
are identified, 
establish buffers 
appropriate to the 
observed nesting 
species, as 
described in the 
measure. 

shall establish 
buffers, in 
consultation with 
USFWS and/or 
CDFW. 

construction 
activities lapse for a 
period of two weeks 
or more during 
breeding bird 
season. 

• Throughout 
construction upon 
identification of 
nesting birds. 

29-110



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 8 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Surveys will be conducted within 1 week (per 
current CDFW permit conditions), prior to 
beginning/resuming Project activities including, 
but not limited to, staging equipment, tree 
removal, vegetation clearing, and/or ground 
disturbing activities. 
• In the event nesting bird species are 

observed, postpone Project activities until a 
qualified biologist has determined young 
birds have fledged or implement buffers 
appropriate to the construction activity and 
the species, such as those recommended in 
PG&E’s Nesting Bird Management Plan 
(PG&E et al. 2015)3: 

o Raptors (platform nesting): 300 feet 
(90 meters) 

o Cavity-nesters (depending on 
species): 50 feet (15 meters) 

o Bridge/building, tree, and 
ground/understory nesters: 75 feet (23 
meters) 

• Sensitive bird species, if nesting in or near 
the Project corridor, will be given special 
consideration and may require additional 
protective measures as determined through 
consultation with the relevant agency 

 
3 PG&E’s Nesting Bird Management Plan (2015) was based on a literature review of the effects of nest disturbance on reproductive success and consultation with subject experts and takes into 
account the nesting habits of the bird and the bird’s sensitivity to disturbance, as well as the type of activity, duration, and noise level of disturbance (including direct and indirect effects), to develop 
disturbance categories (low, medium, or high) and associated buffers. 

29-111



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 9 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

(USFWS or CDFW). The standard 
protective buffers recommended in PG&E et 
al. (2015) for sensitive birds that are known 
to nest in or near the corridor are as follows: 

o Bald eagle – consultation required 
[standard buffer: 1320 feet (402 meters)] 

o Peregrine falcon – consultation 
required [standard buffer: 500 feet 
(152 meters)] 

o Olive-sided flycatcher – standard 
buffer: 75 feet (23 meters) 

o Oak titmouse – standard buffer: 50 
feet (15 meters) 

Other sensitive bird species have the potential 
to nest in or near the Project corridor.  
• Protective buffers will be clearly marked for 

avoidance by construction activities. 

• The approved biologist will document pre-
construction baseline monitoring of the 
nest to characterize “normal” behavior. If 
approved by the agencies, the biologist 
may have the discretion to reduce the 
buffer and monitor the nest for disturbance. 
If the birds show signs of abnormal 
behaviors (e.g., defensive 
flights/vocalizations, standing up from 
brooding, and flying away from the nest) 
that are associated with construction 

29-112



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 10 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

activity, the biologist will reinstate the larger 
buffer. Work within the setback will be 
delayed until after the young have fledged. 

• The biologist will have the authority to stop 
work if breeding birds exhibit behaviors that 
may cause nest failure. 

• If postponing Project activities and/or installing 
buffers are not feasible, further discussions 
with the appropriate resource agencies 
(USFWS and/or CDFW) will be necessary to 
develop alternative requirements. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-6: Conduct Bat 
Surveys and Implement Measures to 
Protect Roosting Bats during 
Construction 
In Segment 9, the City and/or County 
(depending on the implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall implement the following 
measures. To avoid impacts to individual 
roosts, winter hibernacula, and maternity 
roosts, during all months, throughout the 
Segment 9 corridor and especially in mature 
coast live oak woodland and riparian 
habitats, prior to limbing/tree removal, an 
approved biologist shall conduct a pre‐
construction survey for bats to determine if 
cavity, crevice or foliage-roosting bats are 
present, as follows: 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Schedule 
limbing/tree 
removal activities to 
avoid impacts to 
bats, as described 
in the measure. 

• Conduct pre-
construction 
survey for bats as 
described in the 
measure. 

• City/County and 
construction 
contractor shall 
schedule the 
limbing/tree 
removal activities. 

• City/County and 
qualified biologist 
shall construct the 
pre-construction 
survey. 

• Project design 
phase. 

• Conduct surveys 
prior to Project 
construction. 

• Document 
preconstruction 
surveys for bats 
and results. 

• Provide logs from 
any bat surveys 
completed as part 
of the measure. 

29-113



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 11 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

• Bat maternity roosting occurs typically 
between May 1 and August 31, and winter 
hibernacula (shelter occupied during the 
winter by a dormant animal) for many bat 
species are found between November 1 
and February 15. 

• All trees and limbs proposed for removal, 
topping or pruning should be marked in the 
field by the Project proponent in advance of 
the Project start date. 

• A qualified biologist shall determine if bats 
are utilizing the Project corridor for 
roosting. For any trees/snags/structures 
(bridges) that could provide roosting habitat 
for cavity, crevice, or foliage‐roosting bats, 
potential bat roost features shall be 
thoroughly evaluated to determine if bats 
are present. Visual inspection, emergence, 
and/or acoustic surveys shall be utilized as 
initial techniques. 

o If established maternity colonies are 
found, in coordination with CDFW, a 
buffer shall be established around the 
colony to protect pre‐volant young 
from construction disturbances until 
the young can fly; or implement other 
measures acceptable to CDFW. 

o If individual roosting bats or winter 
hibernacula are found, in consultation 
with CDFW or based on CDFW 

29-114



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 12 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

recommendations, the qualified 
biologist shall develop and implement 
acceptable passive exclusion 
methods. If feasible, exclusion shall 
take place during the appropriate 
windows (between September 1 and 
November 1) (Authorization from 
CDFW is required to evict winter 
hibernacula for bats). 

• If a tree is determined not to be an active 
roost site for cavity-roosting bats, it may be 
immediately limbed or removed as follows: 

o If foliage-roosting bats are determined 
to be present, limbs shall be lowered, 
inspected for bats by a bat biologist, 
and chipped immediately or moved to 
a dump site. Alternately, limbs may be 
lowered and left on the ground until 
the following day, when they can be 
chipped or moved to a dump site. No 
logs or tree sections shall be dropped 
on downed limbs or limb piles that 
have not been in place since the 
previous day. 

o If the tree is not limbed or removed 
within 4 days of the survey, the survey 
efforts shall be repeated. 

29-115



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 13 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Mitigation Measure BIO-7: Implement 
Dusky-Footed Woodrat Protection 
Measures During Construction 
During construction of Segment 9, the City 
and/or County (depending on the implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall implement the following 
measures. Prior to construction, a qualified 
biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey 
for woodrat houses, and clearly flag all houses 
within the construction impact area and 
immediate surroundings. 
The construction contractor shall avoid woodrat 
houses to the extent feasible by installing a 
minimum 10-foot (preferably 25-foot) buffer with silt 
fencing or other material that shall prohibit 
encroachment. If this buffer and avoidance is not 
feasible, the qualified biologist shall allow 
encroachment into the buffer, but preserve 
microhabitat conditions such as shade, cover and 
adjacent food sources. 
Additionally, if avoidance is not possible, a qualified 
biologist shall develop and implement a Woodrat 
Relocation Plan, in consultation with CDFW, that 
allows for the relocation of woodrats and their 
houses. The plan shall include the following (or 
similar and CDFW-approved) criteria: 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Conduct 
preconstruction 
survey for woodrat 
houses. 

• Install protective 
fencing for 
woodrats. 

• If necessary, 
develop and 
implement a 
Woodrat 
Relocation Plan, 
as specified in the 
measure. 

• The City/County 
and qualified 
biologist shall 
conduct the 
preconstruction 
survey. 

• The City/County 
and qualified 
biologist shall 
monitor 
maintenance of 
fencing on an 
ongoing basis as 
part of construction 
inspections. 

• The City/County 
and qualified 
biologist shall 
develop within a 
span of thirty days 
after relocation, as 
described in the 
measure (if 
necessary). 

• Conduct survey 
prior to 
construction. 

• Install fencing prior 
to construction. 

• Prior to 
construction. 

• Document results 
from the 
preconstruction 
survey and 
relocation activities 
if relocation is 
required. 

• Document 
placement of 
fencing. 

• Provide results of 
the survey and 
relocation plan if 
relocation 
occurred. 

• Provide 
photographic 
evidence of 
placement of 
fencing. 

29-116



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 14 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

• Relocation will occur when vulnerable young 
are least likely to be present in the woodrat 
houses (ideally between August 1 and 
October 30). 

• During dismantling of woodrat houses, woody 
debris, food caches, and nesting materials will 
be retained and relocated to reconstructed or 
artificial shelters. 

• Relocation sites will be in the nearest suitable 
habitat outside the Project footprint. 

•  Sites for artificial shelters shall be located 
in proximity to the original house location 
and no closer than 20 feet from existing 
woodrat houses and other artificial 
shelters. Choose the best available 
microhabitat, ideally in a location with sun 
and shade and, if possible, under the same 
species of tree or shrub as was present at 
the original house location. Relocation sites 
shall contain biologically suitable habitat 
features (e.g., stands of poison oak, coast 
live oaks, and dense native brush). 

• Monitoring shall be conducted for 30 days 
after relocation is completed and include 
infrared and motion activated cameras and 
an occupancy assessment. 

• A report on San Francisco dusky-footed 
woodrat house monitoring shall be provided 
to CDFW, within 30 days following the end of 

29-117



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 15 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

the monitoring period and shall include the 
methods and results of relocation, occupancy 
determinations, and discussion of any 
remedies that may be needed. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-9a: Minimize 
Construction in Sensitive Habitats and 
Install Temporary Protective Fencing 
Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or 
RTC) constructing portions of Segment 9 and 
the construction contractor shall implement the 
following measures: 
• To the extent feasible, all trail construction 

activities, including access routes, staging 
areas, stockpile areas, and equipment 
maintenance are to be located outside the 
limits of mapped sensitive habitats. 
Sensitive habitat areas shall be mapped by 
a qualified biologist and clearly shown on 
construction plans. Sensitive habitat areas 
include, but may not be limited to: Santa 
Cruz tarplant habitat in coastal prairie 
grassland at Twin Lakes State Beach, 
monarch butterfly roosting habitat near 
Woods Creek and the Santa Cruz Harbor 
riparian habitat along Pilkington Creek and 
Leona Creek, and coast live oak woodland 
and forest along to the rail corridor. 

• During construction, temporary fencing (e.g., 
silt fencing) shall be installed at the outermost 
edge of sensitive habitats and shall not be 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Minimize impacts 
to sensitive 
habitats from 
construction 
activities, as 
specified in the 
measure. 

• The City/County 
and qualified 
biologist shall 
monitor fencing 
throughout project 
construction. 

• During 
construction. 

• Documentation of 
the sensitive areas 
and activities 
completed to 
minimize impacts. 

• Provide logs of the 
activities to 
minimize impacts. 

29-118



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 16 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

disturbed except as required for trail 
construction. Vegetation removal shall be 
limited to the minimum extent necessary to 
achieve project objectives. Mature trees will be 
retained wherever feasible and limbing of trees 
and shrubs in arroyo willow and mixed riparian 
forest, coast live oak woodland and forest, and 
potential and/or known monarch roost habitat 
should be favored in lieu of removal. When 
possible, in temporary impact areas, stumps 
and burls of native coast live oaks, coast 
redwoods, Pacific wax myrtle, and arroyo 
willows shall be retained to allow for re-
sprouting following project completion. 

• Limbing and removal of coast live oak trees 
located in coast live oak woodland and 
forest habitat shall be minimized to 
maintain canopy cover, nesting and 
roosting habitat for bird and bat species, 
and understory habitat for wildlife, including 
woodrats and other small mammals. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-9b: Develop 
Project-specific Biological Resources 
Mitigation and Management Plan for 
Impacts to Biological Resources 
Resulting from Trail Construction and 
Operation. 
Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or 
RTC) constructing portions of Segment 9 and 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Prepare draft and 
final MMP as 
described in the 
measure. 

• City/County and 
agency-approved 
biologist shall 
prepare and 
implement the 
MMP. 

• Draft MMP: During 
Project permitting 
and prior to Project 
construction. 

• Final MMP: Timing 
as determined by 
the resource 
agencies. 

• A draft MMP shall 
be prepared and 
provided to the 
resource and 
regulatory 
agencies (USFWS, 
CDFW, CCC, CA 
State Parks, 
RWQCB). 

• Consultation with 
regulatory and 
resource agencies 
on draft MMP and 
approval of final 
MMP by the 
regulatory 
agencies. 

29-119



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 17 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

the construction contractor shall implement the 
following measures. 
A qualified (USFWS- and CDFW-approved) 
biologist shall prepare a Project-specific 
Biological Resources Mitigation and 
Management Plan (MMP) to compensate for 
direct and indirect impacts to sensitive habitats, 
including ESHA, and other sensitive biological 
resources resulting from trail construction and 
operation. The MMP shall compensate for 
permanent loss of sensitive habitats, through 
the creation, restoration, and enhancement of 
in-kind sensitive habitat, as close to impacted 
areas as possible within the study area. 
To protect against the loss of ecological 
functions and values, compensatory mitigation 
shall re-create the following features of existing 
sensitive habitat that would be impacted by the 
Proposed Project: habitat mosaic, edge 
habitats, and proximity to wetlands and other 
waters. A portion of compensatory mitigation 
shall re-create the linear aspect and provision 
for wildlife dispersal of existing habitats, where 
these features are potentially lost as a result of 
the Proposed Project. This feature shall be 
designed to protect against fragmentation of 
remaining habitat patches adjacent to the rail 
corridor. Due to limited available space 
remaining within the corridor after trail 
construction and minor railbed realignment, 
these wildlife corridor improvements will likely 
occur north and south of the study area to 

• Implement final 
MMP, as 
described in the 
measure. 

• Prepare annual 
mitigation 
monitoring reports. 

• Annual Report: 
Following Project 
completion, each 
year during the 
determined 
mitigation 
monitoring time 
period, per 
resource agency 
consultation. 

• Final MMP. 

• Following Project 
completion, an 
annual monitoring 
report shall be 
prepared each 
year (for the 
number of years 
determined in 
consultation with 
the resource 
agencies) 
describing all 
mitigation activities 
and whether 
mitigation has met 
established 
performance 
criteria identified in 
the MMP. 

• Submission of 
annual monitoring 
report to the 
appropriate 
regulatory 
agencies. 

29-120



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 18 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

connect the existing disjunct open spaces 
utilized by wildlife within the urbanized portion of 
Santa Cruz including Woods Creek, Arana 
Gulch, Twin Lakes Beach State Park, and 
Rodeo Gulch. 
In addition, the Biological Resources MMP shall 
include the following: 
• Description of the trail alignment including as-

built acreage of temporary and permanent 
impacts to arroyo willow and mixed riparian 
forest, coast live oak woodland and forest, 
and monarch butterfly roost sites, including 
the number and type of trees slated for 
removal City and County status as Heritage 
or Significant trees, respectively. 

• Ecological functions and values assessment 
of sensitive habitats, including monarch 
butterfly habitat to determine suitable 
mitigation ratios (at a minimum, no net loss) 
in consultation with USFWS, CDFW, and 
California Coastal Commission (CCC). 

• Goals of compensatory mitigation, including 
types and areas of sensitive habitat to be 
created, restored, enhanced and/or preserved; 
number and type of trees to be replaced, 
specific functions and values of mitigation 
habitat types, mitigation ratios 
(created/restored/enhanced/preserved: 
impacted), and performance criteria, including: 

29-121



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 19 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

o Conservation of functions and values 
of monarch autumnal and 
overwintering roost habitat and 
nectaring sites (including maintaining 
suitable grove structure, wind 
protection, and water sources); 

o Conservation of edge habitats; and 

o Conservation of functions and values for 
wildlife movement including habitat 
mosaics, links between creeks, open 
spaces and safe passage across the 
proposed alignment, with perennial 
water sources, diverse food sources, 
cover, and shelter. 

• Such compensatory mitigation must occur as 
close to impacted areas as feasible and result 
in no net loss (minimum 1:1 replacement 
ratio) of sensitive habitat types, or their 
functions and values. In the Coastal Zone, 
mitigation ratios for ESHA typically start at 3:1 
(creation/substantial restoration: impact) for 
ESHA. This ratio is doubled for enhancement 
(6:1) and tripled for preservation (9:1); 
however, a minimum of 1:1 must include 
creation of in-kind ESHA habitat. 

• Location and acreage of sensitive habitat, 
including monarch roost habitat, mitigation 
areas including ownership status, and 

29-122



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 20 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

existing functions and values of restored 
and/or enhanced sensitive habitats. 

• All trees will be replaced at a minimum 1:1 
ratio. All City Heritage trees, County 
Significant trees, and native trees will be 
replaced “in kind” at a location and ratio to 
be determined by the City Forester, County 
Environmental Coordinator, and/or other 
responsible regulatory agencies. 

• One on-site mitigation area has been 
identified immediately north of the rail 
corridor at Woods Creek, currently a buffer 
habitat for the known roost site immediately 
north. This area would be enhanced for the 
roosting western monarch butterfly by 
planting native trees and understory plants 
(with fall/winter blooming for nectaring) and 
configuring the plantings to create a 
permeable tiered canopy that slopes down 
to the north. 

• Project stakeholders including the City, 
County, and RTC would identify undeveloped 
public and private properties as potential off-
site mitigation areas. Acquisition could include 
direct purchase or placement of conservation 
easements on portions of parcels that are 
otherwise constrained from development due 
to existing protected resources (e.g., County 
and City aquatic and riparian setbacks, 
ESHA, steep slopes, etc.). Where potentially 

29-123



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 21 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

restricted from development, suitable areas 
for mitigation would not be precluded from 
habitat creation, restoration, enhancement, or 
preservation as needed to fulfill mitigation 
acreage and proximity requirements. 
Mitigation sites may include local parks, such 
as Moran Lake, where existing monarch roost 
habitat could be enhanced through plantings 
of trees and nectar plants if a qualified 
biologist determines plantings would be 
beneficial to the park’s resources. Mitigation 
at local parks shall be authorized by the City, 
the County, and/or other relevant 
stakeholders. Plantings of roost trees or 
nectar plants at Moran Lake would 
supplement those plantings already identified 
in the Moran Lake Monarch Butterfly Habitat 
Management Plan. Mitigation sites may also 
include private properties adjacent to the rail 
corridor with the agreement of the City, 
County, and/or private property owner and if 
determined to be feasible. 

• Detailed sensitive habitat creation and/or 
restoration construction and planting 
techniques. 

• Description and design of habitat 
requirements for sensitive wildlife known to 
occur in the study area and immediate 
surroundings (including monarch roost 
sites, federally listed fish species, potential 
Santa Cruz black salamander, western 

29-124



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 22 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

pond turtle, bald eagle, American peregrine 
falcon, native nesting bird species, 
potential roosting bat species, San 
Francisco dusky-footed woodrat, and 
marine mammals). 

• In sensitive habitats, including in or near 
aquatic features, maintenance activities 
during trail operation shall include replanting 
native vegetation found within similar 
habitats within the same watershed and 
weed eradication that avoids take of 
sensitive wildlife species (e.g., woodrats, 
breeding birds). Trail maintenance activities 
in sensitive habitats shall employ hand-tools 
only. The use of pesticides or herbicides 
shall be prohibited in sensitive habitats, 
including in or near aquatic features. 
Management activities in monarch 
overwintering habitat shall be conducted 
between March 16 and September 14 
(outside the monarch roost season) in 
coordination with a monarch biologist. 

• Strategies to protect remaining sensitive 
habitats along the trail corridor and 
surroundings from direct and indirect 
impacts from trail users and illegal 
camping, such as: 

o Split-rail and wire fencing 

29-125



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 23 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

o Interpretive signage including specific 
information about sensitive habitats and 
species and “leave no trace” content 

o “Green fencing” (dense vegetative buffers 
consisting of woody and plant species 
that deter human passage such as 
poison oak, Pacific blackberry, and 
stinging nettle) 

• Strategies to protect wildlife movement, both 
across and along the trail corridor, as well as 
north and/or south of the corridor to connect 
open spaces, supported by complex and 
mature sensitive habitat mosaics, including 
perennial water sources. 

• Long-term quantitative and qualitative 
monitoring and reporting, including 
consideration of carrying capacity analysis 
and alternative approaches, and 
documenting the ability to meet or surpass 
performance criteria. Monitoring will include 
fall and wintering monitoring, including 
arrival and departure dates, of monarch 
roost sites by a qualified biologist. 

• Adaptive management strategies to: 

o Identify shortcomings City/County in 
meeting performance standards; 

29-126



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 24 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

o Ensure long-term viability of existing, 
enhanced, restored, and/or newly 
created sensitive biological resources; 

o Enhance ecological functions and values 
of sensitive habitat mitigation areas, 
including monarch butterfly habitat and 
habitat for wildlife movement; 

o Ascertain the sufficiency of trail 
access, facilities development and 
management, and interpretive design 
features associated with the project to 
protect biological resources. 

Mitigation area locations and final replacement ratios 
(e.g., potentially above the minimum “no net loss” 
ratio set here) shall be determined in consultation 
with the relevant agencies, as follows. 
• U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 

Monarch butterfly (presently FESA 
Candidate species, likely Threatened or 
Endangered by 2024) 

• California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife (CDFW). Sensitive habitats, work 
below the break in bank of stream 
corridors, riparian habitat, CESA 
Endangered and Fully Protected species, 
Species of Special Concern 

29-127



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 25 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

• California Coastal Commission (CCC). 
Environmentally sensitive habitat areas 
(ESHA) 

• California State Parks. Sensitive 
resources and habitats on Twin Lakes 
State Beach property 

• Regional Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB). Non-wetland riparian habitat 

The draft MMP shall be submitted to USFWS, 
CDFW, CCC, and California State Parks for 
review prior to formal adoption. Monitoring 
reports will be provided to these agencies. 
Mitigation Measure BIO-9c: Implement 
Best Management Practices to Protect 
Biological Resources during Construction 
During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or 
County (depending on the implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall ensure the following best 
management practices (BMPs), to protect water 
quality and biological resources during project 
construction activities, are included in the 
construction specifications and implemented 
during Project construction: 
• Minimize removal or disturbance of existing 

vegetation outside the footprint of project 
construction activities. 

• Limit site access and parking, equipment 
storage and stationary construction activities 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Include the BMPs 
listed in the 
measure in the 
construction plans. 

• Implement BMPs, 
as described in the 
measure. 

• City/County and 
construction 
contractor. 

• City/County and 
construction 
contractor. 

• Project design 
phase. 

• During 
construction. 

• Include the BMPs in 
construction plans. 

• Document all 
BMPs in plans and 
provide verification 
of BMP activities, 
potential violations, 
and activities to 
remediate 
violations. 

29-128



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 26 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

to the designated staging areas to the 
maximum extent feasible. 

• Prior to staging any equipment or vehicles 
within or adjacent to the rail corridor, clean all 
equipment caked with mud, soils, or debris 
from off-site sources or previous project sites to 
avoid introducing or spreading invasive exotic 
plant species. When feasible, remove invasive 
exotic plants from the Project area. All 
equipment used on the site should be cleaned 
prior to leaving the site for other projects. 

• Position all stationary equipment such as 
motors, pumps, generators, and/or 
compressors over drip pans. At the end of 
each day, move vehicles and equipment as 
far away as possible from any water body 
adjacent to the Project site in a level staging 
area. Position parked equipment also over 
drip pans or absorbent material. 

• Check under all equipment for wildlife before 
use. If any listed or special-status wildlife is 
observed under equipment or in the work 
area, do not disturb or handle it. Cease 
Project activities and contact the biological 
monitor or resource agencies for further 
guidance, if the animal continues to be 
encountered in the Project area. 

• If security fencing is installed around the 
construction site, allow for passage of 
wildlife to maintain a link between inland and 

29-129



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 27 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

coastal habitats including stream corridors 
during construction activities. Prohibit the 
use of plastic mesh safety fencing to prevent 
wildlife entrapment. 

• Avoid working at night or during rain events 
when special-status amphibians and 
mammals are generally more active. 
Consult weather forecasts from the National 
Weather Service at least 72 hours prior to 
performing work. 

• Properly contain and remove all food trash 
that may attract predators into the work area 
and construction debris and trash from the 
work site on a regular basis. 

• Refuel and perform all vehicle and/or 
equipment maintenance off site at a facility 
approved for such activities. 

• To the greatest extent feasible, stabilize all 
exposed or disturbed areas in the Project 
area. Install erosion control measures as 
necessary such as silt fences, jute matting, 
weed-free straw bales, plywood, straw 
wattles, and water check bars, and 
broadcasting weed-free straw wherever silt-
laden water has the potential to leave the 
work site and enter the nearby streams. 
Prohibit the use of monofilament erosion 
control matting to prevent wildlife 

29-130



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 28 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

entanglement. Modify, repair, and/or replace 
erosion control measures as needed. 

• Revegetate with native vegetation found within 
similar habitats within the same watershed to 
minimize erosion, prevent the establishment of 
invasive weeds, and accelerate the recovery of 
native vegetation communities. 

• Whenever feasible, certain construction 
activities will be timed to avoid impacts to 
sensitive habitats and wildlife species, as 
presented in Table 3.3-7. Ideally, most if not 
all vegetation clearing will be done in the fall. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-10a: Minimize 
Construction-related Activities in 
Palustrine Emergent Wetlands and 
Aquatic/Riverine Habitats 
During construction of Segment 9, the City and/or 
County (depending on the implementing 
agency/jurisdiction) and the construction 
contractor shall minimize construction-related 
activities including, but not limited to, access 
routes, staging areas, stockpile areas, and 
equipment maintenance, within or adjacent to the 
limits of palustrine emergent wetlands and 
aquatic/riverine habitats, to the extent feasible. 
Wetlands and aquatic/riverine areas shall 
be clearly shown on construction plans. In 
coordination with a qualified biologist, temporary 
fencing (e.g., silt fencing) shall be installed at the 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• In final design 
plans, include 
minimization of 
construction 
activities adjacent 
to palustrine 
emergent wetlands 
and aquatic/riverine 
habitats, and 
installation of 
temporary 
protective fencing. 

• Ensure that 
protections 

• City/County and 
construction 
contractor. 

• City/County and 
qualified biologist. 

• Prior to 
construction 
activities. 

• During 
construction. 

• Show final impacts 
to palustrine 
emergent wetlands 
and 
aquatic/riverine 
habitats. 

• Final design plans. 

• Documentation of 
activities described 
in the measure. 

29-131



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 29 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

outermost edge of all features not directly 
affected by trail construction. 

occurred as 
described in the 
measure. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-10b: Develop and 
Implement Aquatic Resources Mitigation 
and Monitoring Plan 
Coordinating agencies (City, County, and/or 
RTC) constructing portions of Segment 9 and the 
construction contractor shall implement the 
following measures. 
A qualified biologist shall be retained to prepare 
an Aquatic Resources Mitigation and Monitoring 
Plan (MMP) for all direct and indirect impacts to 
wetlands and aquatic/riverine habitats resulting 
from trail construction, resulting in no net loss 
(minimum 1:1 replacement) of these sensitive 
habitat types. The mitigation area locations and 
replacement ratios shall be determined in 
consultation with the USACE, RWQCB, CCC, 
and/or CDFW, as required. It is expected that 
mitigation requirements shall be based on the 
determination by the CCC that the trail is a 
resource-dependent use by providing safe 
pedestrian and bicycle access to the recreation 
(e.g., beaches, open spaces, scenic viewpoints) 
along the central Santa Cruz coast and based 
on its capacity for “nature study” pursuant to 
Section 30233(a)(7) of the Coastal Act. 
The MMP shall include the following: 
• Description of the Project including acreage 

of temporary and permanent impacts to 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Prepare draft and 
final MMP as 
described in the 
measure. 

• Implement final 
MMP, as 
described in the 
measure. 

• Prepare annual 
mitigation 
monitoring reports. 

• City/County and 
agency-approved 
biologist shall 
prepare and 
implement the 
MMP. 

• Draft MMP: During 
Project permitting 
and prior to Project 
construction. 

• Final MMP: Timing 
as determined by 
the resource 
agencies. 

• Annual Report: 
Following Project 
completion, each 
year during the 
determined 
mitigation 
monitoring time 
period, per 
resource agency 
consultation. 

• A draft MMP shall 
be prepared and 
provided to the 
resource and 
regulatory 
agencies (USACE, 
RWQCB, CCC, 
and/or CDFW). 

• Final MMP. 

• Following Project 
completion, an 
annual monitoring 
report shall be 
prepared each 
year (for the 
number of years 
determined in 
consultation with 
the resource 
agencies) 
describing all 
mitigation activities 
and whether 
mitigation has met 
established 
performance 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Prepare draft and 
final MMP as 
described in the 
measure. 

• Implement MMP, 
as described in the 
measure. 

• Prepare annual 
mitigation 
monitoring reports. 

29-132



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 30 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

palustrine emergent wetlands, Coastal Act 
wetlands including arroyo willow riparian 
forest, and aquatic/riverine features as 
identified in a forthcoming formal delineation 
of jurisdictional wetlands and other Waters 
of the U.S. 

• Ecological functions and values assessment 
of wetlands, including a determination of 
regulatory status and permitting 
requirements to determine suitable 
mitigation ratios. 

• Goals of compensatory mitigation project 
including types and areas of wetland and 
aquatic/riverine habitat to be created, 
restored, and/or enhanced; specific 
functions and values of mitigation habitat 
types; and mitigation ratios 
(created/restored/enhanced/preserved: 
impacted). Based on a recent memo by the 
Coastal Commission for a project at 
Gleason Beach in Sonoma County, 
mitigation ratios for permanent wetland 
impacts will likely begin at 4:1 for creation or 
substantial restoration. For wetland 
enhancement, this ratio is doubled (8:1) and 
tripled for habitat preservation (12:1). For all 
mitigation strategies, at least 1:1 must 
include creation of new sensitive habitat. 

criteria identified in 
the MMP. 

29-133



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 31 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

• Location and acreage of wetland and 
riparian mitigation areas including size, 
ownership status, and existing functions and 
values of restored and/or enhanced 
sensitive habitats. At least a portion of 
wetland mitigation will occur in newly 
constructed drainage swales north (inland) 
of the proposed trail. These features will be 
lined with clay soils and planted with a 
palette of agency-approved native 
hydrophytic vegetation and will connect 
directly to storm drains or watercourses 
along the Segment 9 alignment. 

• Detailed wetland and aquatic/riverine 
construction and planting techniques. 

• Description and design of habitat 
requirements for special-status plants and 
wildlife potentially occupying wetland and 
aquatic/riverine habitats. 

• Maintenance activities during the monitoring 
period, including replanting native wetland and 
riparian vegetation and weed removal, that will 
not result in take of aquatic wildlife species. 

• Long-term quantitative and qualitative 
monitoring and reporting, documenting ability 
to meet or surpass performance criteria. 

• Adaptive management strategies to ensure 
long-term viability and enhance ecological 

29-134



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 32 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

functions and values of sensitive habitat 
mitigation areas. 

• Strategies to protect remaining wetland 
and aquatic/riverine habitats along the trail 
alignment from direct and indirect impacts 
from trail users. Strategies may include 
split-rail fencing, interpretive signage, and 
green fencing (dense vegetative buffers). 

The draft MMP shall be submitted to regulatory 
agencies, for review, as required, prior to formal 
adoption: 
• USACE. Work below the Ordinary High 

Water Mark (OHWM) of stream corridors or 
in jurisdictional (3 parameter) wetlands. 

• CDFW. Work below the break in bank of 
stream corridors, riparian habitat. 

• CCC. Aquatic features, Coastal Act 
wetlands. 

• RWQCB. Work below the Ordinary High 
Water Mark (OHWM) of stream corridors, 
jurisdictional (3 parameter) wetlands, other 
waters, or riparian habitat. 

Monitoring reports will be provided to relevant 
agencies. The Aquatic Resources MMP may be 
consolidated with the Biological Resources MMP 
in consultation with the regulatory agencies.  

29-135



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 33 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Cultural Resources 
Mitigation Measure CR-1a: Install 
Historical Interpretive Exhibits along Trail 
prior to Trail Use 
Consistent with Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic 
Trail Network Master Plan Design Guidelines, the 
City and/or County, depending on the jurisdiction, 
shall develop an on-site interpretive exhibit with 
materials concerning the history and engineering 
features of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line and its 
character-defining features. Prior to or within the first 
year of trail use, the exhibits shall be installed where 
there is adequate room at key locations along the 
trail or trail entrances to specifically highlight the 
importance of the Santa Cruz Branch Rail Line. 
Interpretation of the site’s history shall be supervised 
by an architectural historian or historian who meets 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 
Qualification Standards, and may engage additional 
consultants to develop the display. There shall be at 
least two major exhibits and three minor exhibits, 
including signage and salvaged materials (e.g., 
small segments of original ballast, ties, and rail) to be 
placed intermittently along the trail route as space 
allows and as approved by the lead agency and 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission. The historical interpretive exhibits shall 
be designed in conjunction and compatible with 
interpretive exhibits for nature education and exhibits 
along other rail trail segments for continuity. 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Develop and install 
interpretive 
exhibits along the 
trail, as specified in 
the measure.  

• City/County to 
develop 
interpretive exhibit 
materials 

• Construction 
contractor to install 
interpretive exhibit 
materials.  

• Prior to and during 
construction. 

• Document topics 
to be used in 
interpretive 
exhibits. 

• Document 
installation of 
exhibits. 

• Maintain exhibits 
placed along the 
trail. 

• Interpretive exhibit 
materials. 

• Photo 
documentation of 
the placement of 
the interpretive 
exhibits. 

29-136



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 34 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Mitigation Measure CR-1b: Prepare 
Historic Documentation Package Prior to 
Rail Removal (Interim Trail approach 
only) 
Prior to removal of the rail line, the rail line 
owner shall work with the City and/or County, 
depending on the jurisdiction, to undertake 
Historic American Engineering Survey 
documentation of the Santa Cruz Branch 
Railroad. The documentation shall generally 
follow the Historic American Engineering Survey 
Level III requirements and include digital 
photographic recordation of the line 
including all character-defining-features, a 
detailed historic narrative report, and a 
compilation of historic research. The 
documentation shall be undertaken by a 
qualified professional who meets the 
standards for history or architectural history as 
set forth by the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualification Standards (36 CFR 
Part 61). The original archival-quality 
documentation shall be offered as donated 
material to the University of California Santa 
Cruz library, Santa Cruz Public Library, Santa 
Cruz Museum of Art and History, and Santa 
Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission where it would be available for 
current and future generations. 

•  •  •  •  •  

29-137



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 35 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Mitigation Measure CR-2: Implement 
Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of 
Cultural Resources 
In the event that archaeological resources are 
unexpectedly encountered during ground-disturbing 
construction activities, the construction contractor 
shall halt work within 100 feet of the find, and an 
archaeologist meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualifications Standards for 
archaeology (National Park Service 1983) shall be 
contacted immediately to evaluate the find. If the find 
is determined by the qualified archaeologist to be 
prehistoric, then a Native American representative 
shall also be contacted to participate in the 
evaluation of the find. If necessary, archaeological 
testing for California Register of Historical Resources 
eligibility shall be completed. If the discovery proves 
to be eligible for the California Register of Historical 
Resources and impacts to the resource cannot be 
avoided via project redesign, a qualified 
archaeologist shall prepare a data recovery plan 
tailored to the physical nature and characteristics of 
the deposit, per the requirements of California Public 
Resources Code, Section 15126.4(b)(3)(C). The 
data recovery plan shall identify data recovery 
excavation methods, measurable objectives, and 
data thresholds to reduce any significant impacts to 
cultural resources. Pursuant to the data recovery 
plan, the qualified archaeologist and Native 
American representative, as appropriate, shall 
recover and document the scientifically 
consequential information that justifies the 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Follow protocol for 
discovery of 
cultural resources, 
as described in the 
measure. 

• Include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications. 

• Prepare Data 
Recovery Plan, 
Treatment Plan, 
Archaeological 
Testing Plan, and 
documentation of 
archaeological 
resources 
significance, if 
applicable. 

• City/County to 
retain qualified 
archaeologist. 

• Construction 
contractor to halt 
work in the event 
an archaeological 
resource is 
discovered. 

• Qualified 
archaeologist to 
assess the 
archaeological 
resource and 
prepare Data 
Recovery Plan, 
Treatment Plan, 
and Archaeological 
Testing Plan. 

• Qualified 
archaeologist and 
Native American 
representative, as 
appropriate, to 
recover and 
document. the 
significance of the 
archaeological 
resource. 

• Ongoing 
throughout Project 
construction. 

• Include discovery 
protocol into 
design plans 
and/or construction 
specifications. 

• Prepare data 
recovery plan, 
treatment plan, 
archaeological 
testing plan, and 
documentation of 
archaeological 
resources 
significance, if 
applicable. 

• Final design plans 
or specifications. 

• Data Recovery Plan, 
if applicable. 

• Treatment Plan and 
Archaeological 
Testing Plan, if 
applicable. 

• Documentation of 
significance of 
archaeological 
resources, if 
applicable. 

• Proof of document 
submittal to the 
regional repository 
of the CHRIS, if 
applicable. 

29-138



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 36 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

resource’s significance. The City and/or County 
depending on the jurisdiction shall review and 
approve the treatment plan and archaeological 
testing as appropriate, and the resulting 
documentation shall be submitted to the regional 
repository of the CHRIS, per California Public 
Resources Code, Section 15126.4(b)(3)(C). 

• Project engineer to 
include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications.  

Geology and Soils 
Mitigation Measure GEO-5: Implement 
Paleontological Resources Protection 
Measures during Construction in High 
Sensitivity Areas 
The following measures shall be implemented 
during project excavation activities in Segment 9 
on geologic units that have high sensitivity to 
paleontological resources (Purisima Formation and 
Quaternary marine terrace deposits). Areas along 
Segment 9 that do not have high sensitivity for 
paleontological resources and would not require 
the following mitigation include construction of the 
cantilever/bridge over Santa Cruz Harbor and 
excavation in drainages and creek channels north 
of the Twin Lakes State Beach. 
1. Retain Qualified Professional 

Paleontologist. Prior to excavation, the 
implementing agency (City or County of Santa 
Cruz) shall retain a qualified professional 
paleontologist who is defined by the Society of 
Vertebrate Paleontology (2010) as an 
individual, preferably with an MS or PhD in 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Retain a qualified 
professional 
paleontologist. 

• Include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications. 

• Prepare and 
implement a 
Worker 
Environmental 
Awareness 
Program (WEAP).  

• Conduct 
paleontological 
monitoring as 

• The City/County to 
hire a qualified 
professional 
paleontologist. 

• The qualified 
professional 
paleontologist to 
conduct the WEAP 
and 
paleontological 
monitoring and 
prepare a 
Paleontological 
Mitigation Report.  

• Project engineer to 
include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications. 

 

• Ongoing 
throughout Project 
construction. 

• Include discovery 
protocol into 
design plans 
and/or construction 
specifications. 

• Document WEAP 
preparation.  

• Document worker 
training in training 
log. 

• Document 
monitoring 
activities and 
results in a 
monitoring log. 

• Develop a final 
Paleontological 
Mitigation Report. 

• Final design plans 
or specifications. 

• Final WEAP. 

• Training logs. 

• Monitoring logs. 

• Final 
Paleontological 
Mitigation Report. 

29-139



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 37 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

paleontology or geology, who is experienced 
with paleontological procedures and 
techniques, who is knowledgeable in the 
geology of California, and who has worked as 
a paleontological mitigation project supervisor 
for at least 2 years. The qualified professional 
paleontologist shall direct all mitigation 
measures related to paleontological resources. 

2. Prepare Paleontological Worker 
Environmental Awareness Program. Prior 
to the start of construction, the qualified 
professional paleontologist or their designee 
shall conduct a paleontological Worker 
Environmental Awareness Program training 
for construction personnel regarding the 
appearance of fossils and the procedures 
for notifying paleontological staff should 
fossils be discovered by construction staff. 

3. Monitor for Paleontological Resources 
during Construction. As determined 
appropriate by the qualified professional 
paleontologist, paleontological monitoring 
shall be conducted during initial excavations 
within sediments assigned high 
paleontological sensitivity (i.e., Quaternary 
marine terrace deposits and Purisima 
Formation). Paleontological monitoring shall 
be conducted by a paleontological monitor 
with experience with collection and salvage 
of paleontological resources and who meets 
the minimum standards of the Society of 

described in the 
measure.  

• Prepare a final 
Paleontological 
Mitigation Report.  

 

29-140



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 38 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Vertebrate Paleontology (2010) for a 
paleontological resources monitor. The 
duration and timing of the monitoring will be 
determined by the qualified professional 
paleontologist based on the observation of 
the geologic setting from initial ground 
disturbance and subject to the review and 
approval by the City or County of Santa 
Cruz, depending on the jurisdiction of the 
work. The qualified professional 
paleontologist may determine that full-time 
monitoring is not warranted based on the 
specific geologic conditions once the full 
depth of excavations has been reached, and 
may recommend that monitoring be reduced 
to periodic spot-checking or ceased entirely. 
The qualified professional paleontologist 
may determine that monitoring shall be 
reinstated if any new ground disturbances 
are required, and reduction or suspension 
shall be reconsidered by the qualified 
professional paleontologist at that time. 
In the event of a fossil discovery by the 
paleontological monitor or construction 
personnel, all work in the immediate vicinity 
of the find shall cease, and a qualified 
professional paleontologist shall evaluate 
the find before construction activity in the 
area resumes. If it is determined that the 
fossil is scientifically significant, the qualified 
professional paleontologist shall complete 

29-141



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 39 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

the following conditions to mitigate impacts 
to significant fossil resources: 

A. Fossil Salvage. If fossils are 
discovered, the paleontological monitor 
shall have the authority to halt or 
temporarily divert construction 
equipment within 50 feet of the find until 
the paleontological monitor and/or 
qualified professional paleontologist 
evaluate the discovery and determine if 
the fossil may be considered significant. 
Typically, fossils can be safely salvaged 
quickly by a single paleontological 
monitor and not disrupt construction 
activity. In some cases, larger fossils 
(such as complete skeletons or large 
mammal fossils) require more extensive 
excavation and longer salvage periods. 
Bulk matrix sampling may be necessary 
to recover small invertebrates or 
microvertebrates from within 
paleontologically sensitive deposits. 

B. Fossil Preparation and Curation. 
Once salvaged, significant fossils shall 
be identified to the lowest possible 
taxonomic level, prepared to a curation-
ready condition, and curated in a 
scientific institution with a permanent 
paleontological collection along with all 
pertinent field notes, photographs, data, 
and maps. Fossils of undetermined 

29-142



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 40 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

significance at the time of collection may 
also warrant curation at the discretion of 
the qualified professional paleontologist. 

4. Final Paleontological Mitigation Report. 
Upon completion of ground-disturbing 
activity (and curation of fossils if necessary), 
the qualified professional paleontologist 
shall prepare a final report describing the 
results of the paleontological monitoring 
efforts associated with the Project. The 
report shall include a summary of the field 
and laboratory methods, an overview of the 
project geology and paleontology, a list of 
taxa recovered (if any), an analysis of fossils 
recovered (if any) and their scientific 
significance, and recommendations. The 
report shall be submitted to the City or 
County of Santa Cruz. If the monitoring 
efforts produced fossils, then a copy of the 
report shall also be submitted to the 
designated museum repository. 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2a: Conduct Soil 
Sampling and Implement Necessary 
Remediation 
Prior to Project construction, the City, County 
and RTC shall coordinate to prepare and submit 
Work Plan(s) for a Supplemental Soils 
Investigation to Santa Cruz County 
Environmental Health. Following notification that 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Retain a 
professional 
geologist or civil 
engineer. 

• City/County, in 
coordination with 
RTC, to retain a 
professional 
geologist or civil 
engineer, submit 
Work Plan for 
Supplemental 

• Prior to start of 
construction 
activities. 

• Prepare Work Plan 
for Supplemental 
Soils Investigation. 

• Keep logs 
documenting soil 
sampling.  

• Work Plan for 
Supplemental 
Soils Investigation. 

• Soil sampling logs. 

29-143



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 41 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Santa Cruz County Environmental Health has 
received, reviewed, and accepted these Work 
Plan(s), the City, County and RTC shall conduct 
a Supplemental Soils Investigation, which shall 
include soil sampling at selected locations within 
the limits of the Project corridor under the 
supervision of a professional geologist or 
professional civil engineer to identify the 
concentrations of anticipated contaminants, 
which may include: pesticides, herbicides, 
TPHs, heavy metals, PAHs, and other 
reasonably anticipated contaminants of 
concern, such as arsenic. 
The City, County and RTC shall coordinate with 
Santa Cruz County Environmental Health to 
develop and implement a program to remediate 
or manage known contaminated soil during 
construction. If necessary, any additional 
information gathered from the Supplemental Soil 
Investigation shall be used to identify locations 
along the Project corridor that may require 
remedial action in order to prevent exposure of 
construction workers, Shoreline Middle School 
attendees, and the public to these contaminants. 
The environmental data collected shall also be 
used to identify the appropriate disposal options 
for those soils or demolished materials that 
require off-site disposal. 
Disposal shall occur at an appropriate facility 
licensed to handle such contaminants, and 
remedial excavation shall proceed under the 
supervision of an environmental consultant 

• Prepare a Work 
Plan for 
Supplemental 
Soils Investigation.  

• Submit Work Plan 
for Supplemental 
Soils Investigation 
to the County 
Environmental 
Health Department 
for approval. 

• Coordinate with 
Santa Cruz County 
Environmental 
Health to develop 
and implement a 
soil remediation 
and management 
program. 

 

Soils Investigation 
to the County 
Environmental 
Health Department 
for approval, and 
coordinate with 
Santa Cruz County 
Environmental 
Health to develop 
and implement a 
soil remediation 
and management 
program to 
remediate. 

• Professional 
geologist or civil 
engineer to 
prepare and 
oversee 
implementation of 
a Work Plan for 
Supplemental 
Soils Investigation, 
prepare soil 
remediation report, 
and ensure 
contaminated soils 
are disposed at a 
licensed facility. 

 

• Prepare 
Supplemental 
Soils Investigation 
report. 

• Develop soil 
remediation 
program specifying 
plan for 
remediation/ 
management 
activities of 
contaminated 
soils. 

• Prepare soil 
remediation report 
to document 
remediation 
activities and 
completion of 
remediation. 

• Document disposal 
of soil at facility 
licensed to handle 
contaminated soil. 

• Supplemental 
Soils Investigation 
report. 

• Soil remediation 
program. 

• Soil remediation 
report. 

• Documentation of 
soil disposal at a 
licensed facility 

29-144



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 42 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

licensed to oversee such remediation. Where 
possible, potentially contaminated soils and rail 
ballast shall be stockpiled and characterized to 
determine the appropriate means and location 
for proper storage and disposal. The 
remediation/disposal program shall be approved 
by Santa Cruz County Environmental Health. 
The City and County shall submit any required 
correspondence to Santa Cruz County 
Environmental Health prior to issuance of 
grading permits. All proper waste handling and 
disposal procedures shall be followed in 
accordance with applicable DTSC and 
CalOSHA regulations. Upon completion of the 
Supplemental Site Investigation, the 
environmental consultant shall prepare a report 
presenting the findings of the additional 
assessment. The report shall be submitted to 
Santa Cruz County Environmental Health and 
include figures depicting the boring locations, 
summary tables of analytical data, conclusions, 
and recommendations. 
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2b: Prepare and 
Implement Soils Management Plan 
The City, County and RTC shall ensure a Soils 
Management Plan (SMP) is developed by a 
qualified engineer. The SMP shall be implemented 
to protect workers and persons at Shoreline Middle 
School during ground-disturbing activities and to 
remove and/or mitigate exposure to hazardous-
material-containing soil and ballast, where present in 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Retain a qualified 
engineer.  

• Develop and 
implement an 
SMP. 

• The City/County, in 
coordination with 
RTC, to retain a 
qualified engineer. 

• Qualified engineer 
to prepare an 
SMP.  

• Prior to issuance 
of grading permits 
and during 
construction. 

• Provide an SMP 
that meets all 
requirements listed 
in the measure. 

• Soil Management 
Plan. 

29-145



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 43 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

the Project corridor. Laboratory data for the 
impacted soil, identified as part of the soils and 
ballast assessment report prepared under Mitigation 
Measure HAZ-2a, shall be used to profile excavated 
soil prior to transport, treatment, and recycling at a 
licensed treatment facility. Additional profiling of the 
export soils shall be performed as needed to satisfy 
requirements of the receiving facility. Removal, 
transportation, and disposal of impacted soil shall be 
performed in accordance with applicable DTSC and 
CalOSHA laws, regulations, and ordinances. The 
SMP shall include health and safety information for 
workers and the general public with an emphasis on 
potential adverse health effects and how to seek 
proper help if an accident is suspected and inform 
the various contractors and workers of the presence 
of shallow soil impacted with contaminants and the 
appropriate measures to avoid exposure to 
contaminants. These measures may include but 
would not be limited to the following: 
1. Installing temporary security fencing around 

the construction site and flag/cone off the 
areas of contaminated soils (hotspots) until 
the contaminants are removed 

2. Providing all personnel entering a hotspot 
with site-specific awareness training 

3. Requiring that all personnel whose work will 
involve the excavation or disturbance of soils 
in and around the hotspot must have 

• The construction 
contractor to 
implement all 
actions and 
recommendations 
provided in the 
SMP. 

 

29-146



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 44 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

successfully completed 40-hour Hazardous 
Worker (HAZWOPER) training 

4. Requiring a HAZWOPER supervisor to be 
on-site at all times during the excavation or 
disturbance of soils in a hotspot 

5. Prohibiting personnel who cannot prove that 
they are authorized to enter a hotspot or do 
not have the appropriate personal protective 
equipment from entering a hotspot 

6. Prohibiting eating, drinking, smoking, chewing 
gum or tobacco in hotspots, and requiring 
consumable items and activities be confined 
to designated worker break areas 

In the event that contaminated soil and/or 
groundwater are identified where not previously 
anticipated during construction, the SMP shall also 
require that construction cease and that appropriate 
handling and disposal procedures be implemented. 
Contaminated soils and/or groundwater can be 
identified by discoloration or stains, distinctive odors, 
absence of plants and animals, subsequent erosion 
from the absence of plant life, or the presence of 
paint chips or other materials known to contaminate 
soils. Procedures for properly handling, storing, and 
disposing contaminated soils may include but are 
not limited to the following: 
1. Placing contaminated soils in properly labeled 

drums or lined hazardous waste 
storage/transportation conveyance units (i.e., 

29-147



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 45 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

roll-off waste boxes) in preparation of 
transportation and disposal 

2. Avoiding temporary stockpiling of 
contaminated soils or hazardous materials 

3. If temporary stockpiling is necessary: 

a. Covering the stockpile with plastic 
sheeting or tarps 

b. Installing a berm around the stockpile to 
prevent runoff from leaving the area 

c. Avoiding stockpiling in or near storm 
drains or watercourses 

4. Monitoring the air quality during excavation 
operations at locations potentially exhibiting 
elevated concentrations of hazardous material 

5. Collecting water from decontamination 
procedures and treating and/or disposing of it 
at an appropriate disposal site 

6. Collecting non-reusable protective equipment 
and disposing of the equipment at an 
appropriate disposal site 

 •  •  •  •  •  

29-148



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 46 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Noise 
Mitigation Measure N-1: Implement Noise-
Reducing Measures for Construction 
Equipment Used within 275 Feet of 
Residences or Hotels 
During construction, the construction contractor 
shall employ the following noise-reducing 
measures where use of construction equipment 
occurs within 275 feet of residences or hotels: 
(1) Use acoustical shelters around any air 

compressors, generators, and any other 
stationary construction equipment not fitted 
with baffled enclosures; 

(2) Use baffling around stationary construction 
equipment to reduce noise and vibration levels; 

(3) Properly muffle and maintain all 
construction equipment powered by 
internal combustion engines; 

(4) Prohibit unnecessary idling of internal 
combustion engines; and 

(5) Whenever feasible, use electrical power 
to run air compressors and similar 
power tools. 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Include 
recommendations 
of the noise 
reducing measures 
(listed in Mitigation 
Measure N-1) in 
the construction 
specifications. 

• Identify 
construction areas 
within 275 feet of 
residences or 
hotels. 

 

• The construction 
contractor is 
responsible for 
incorporating the 
noise 
recommendations 
into construction 
activities occurring 
within 275 feet of 
residences or 
hotels. 

 

• Prior to 
construction 
include 
recommendations 
into the 
construction 
specifications.  

• Implement noise 
reduction 
measures for the 
duration of all 
construction 
requiring operation 
of heavy 
equipment within 
275 feet for 
residences or 
hotels. 

• List activities and 
recommendations 
provided in the 
construction 
specifications. 

• Provide the 
construction 
specifications. 

29-149



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 47 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Mitigation Measure N-3: Provide 
Notification of Construction Vibration to 
Residential Units within 50 Feet 
The construction contractor shall provide written 
notification at least 1 week prior to the start of 
any construction activities involving the use of 
vibratory equipment to all residential units 
located within 50 feet of the construction area 
that will produce the vibration. The notice shall 
inform residents of the estimated start date and 
duration of daytime vibration-generating 
construction activities and provide a point of 
contact for vibration exposure complaints. 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Develop a 
notification list of 
residences within 
50 feet of the 
construction area 
that will be 
affected by 
vibration. 

• Notices shall 
inform residents at 
least one week 
prior to the start of 
any construction 
activities, and 
include the start 
date and duration 
of vibration-
generating 
activities and 
provide a point of 
contact for 
complaints. 

• The implementing 
agency shall 
provide a copy of 
the mailing list and 
correspondence to 
the city/county for 
confirmation. 

• Notification shall 
occur at least one 
week prior to use 
of vibratory 
equipment. 

• Contractor to 
provide notices to 
affected 
residences. 

• Documentation of 
the notices 
prepared and 
provided to the 
residences. 

      
      
      

29-150



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 48 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Tribal Cultural Resources 
Mitigation Measure TCR-1a: Conduct 
Native American Monitoring during 
Construction in Previously Undisturbed 
Native Soils 
A Native American monitor shall be retained and 
remain present during excavation activities within 
previously undisturbed native soils.  
In the event that cultural resources of Native 
American origin are identified during construction, 
the Native American monitor shall have the 
authority to halt and redirect ground disturbance 
away from the find. The implementing agency 
(City or County) and/or Tribal Liaison, as 
appropriate, shall consult with a qualified 
archaeologist and begin or continue Native 
American consultation procedures. If the 
City/County and/or Tribal Liaison, in consultation 
with local Native Americans, determines that the 
resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus 
significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be 
prepared and implemented in accordance with 
state guidelines and in consultation with Native 
American groups. The mitigation plan may 
include but would not be limited to avoidance, 
capping in place, excavation and removal of the 
resource, interpretive displays, sensitive area 
signage, or other mutually agreed upon measure. 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Retain a qualified 
Native American 
monitor and a 
Native American 
monitor. 

• Include a Native 
American monitor 
in the orientation 
meeting required 
by MM-CR-2 and 
in monitoring of 
ground disturbing 
activities.  

• Prepare Tribal 
Cultural Resource 
Mitigation Plan, if 
applicable. 

• City/County to 
retain a qualified 
Native American 
monitor and hire a 
Native American 
monitor. 

• Qualified 
archaeologist 
Native American 
monitor to conduct 
Tribal cultural 
resources 
monitoring and 
develop and 
implement a Tribal 
Cultural Resources 
Mitigation Plan, if 
needed. 

 

• Ongoing 
throughout Project 
construction.  

• Document daily 
monitoring 
activities and any 
potential resources 
discovered. 

• Prepare Tribal 
Cultural Resources 
Mitigation Plan. 

• Monitoring logs. 

• Tribal Cultural 
Resources 
Mitigation Plan. 

29-151



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 49 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

Mitigation Measure TCR-1b: Implement 
Protocol for Unanticipated Discovery of 
Tribal Cultural Resources, if Native 
American Monitor is Not Present 
If cultural resources of Native American origin are 
identified during Project construction while the 
Native American monitor is not present, all earth-
disturbing work within 100 feet of the find shall 
cease and desist until an archaeologist has 
evaluated the nature and significance of the find as 
a cultural resource and an appropriate local Native 
American representative is consulted. Staking of 
the area of discovery shall be implemented with 
stakes no more than 10 feet apart, forming a circle 
having a radius of no less than 100 feet from the 
point of discovery. If the City/County, in 
consultation with local Native American tribes, 
determines that the resource is a tribal cultural 
resource and thus significant under CEQA, a 
mitigation plan shall be prepared and implemented 
in accordance with state guidelines and in 
consultation with local Native American group(s). 
The plan shall include avoidance of the resource 
or, if avoidance of the resource is infeasible, the 
plan shall outline the appropriate treatment of the 
resource in coordination with the appropriate local 
Native American tribal representative and, if 
applicable, a qualified archaeologist. Examples of 
appropriate mitigation for tribal cultural resources 
include but are not limited to protecting the cultural 
character and integrity of the resource, protecting 

• Include measure 
as Condition of 
Approval. 

• Include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications. 

• Follow protocol for 
discovery of Tribal 
cultural resources, 
as described in the 
measure. 

• Contact and 
consult with Native 
American 
representatives in 
the event a Tribal 
cultural resource is 
discovered 

 

• Construction 
contractor to halt 
earth disturbing 
work within 100 
feet in the event a 
Tribal cultural 
resource is 
discovered. 

• Project engineer to 
include discovery 
protocol in design 
plans and/or 
construction 
specifications. 

• City/County to 
contact and 
consult with Native 
American 
representatives in 
the event a Tribal 
cultural resource is 
discovered. 

 

• During 
construction. 

• Include discovery 
protocol into 
design plans 
and/or construction 
specifications. 

• Document any 
discoveries made 
on site. 

• Document 
consultation with 
Native American 
representatives. 

• Final design plans 
or specifications. 

• Documentation of 
any discoveries 
including 
notification of and 
consultation with 
Native American 
representatives. 

29-152



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 50 
  

Mitigation Measure Implementation 
Actions 

Monitoring/ 
Reporting 
Responsibility 

Timing 
Requirements 

Reporting 
Requirements 

Verification of 
Compliance 

traditional use of the resource, protecting the 
confidentiality of the resource, or heritage recovery. 
BMP – Best Management Practice; CA State Parks – California State Parks; CalOSHA – California Division of Occupational Safety and Health; CCC – California Coastal Commission; 
CDFW – California Department of Fish and Wildlife; CEQA – California Environmental Quality Act; CESA – California Endangered Species Act; CHRIS – California Historical Resources 
Information System; City – City of Santa Cruz; County – County of Santa Cruz; DTSC – California Department of Toxic Substances Control; ESHA – Environmentally Sensitive Habitat 
Areas; FESA – Federal Endangered Species Act; HAZWOPER – Hazardous Worker; MBTA – Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918; MMP – Mitigation and Management Plan; MS – Master 
of Science Degree; NOAA – National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; OHWM – Ordinary High Water Mark; PG&E – Pacific Gas & Electric; PhD – Doctor of Philosophy 
Degree; RTC – Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission; RWQCB – Regional Water Quality Control Board; SMP – Soils Management Plan; USACE – U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers; USFWS – U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; WEAP – Worker Environmental Awareness Program 

 

29-153



Coast Rail Trail Segments 8 and 9 Project  Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

January 2023 Page 51 
  

Table 3.3-7 Preferred Timing for Construction Activities Listed by Biological Resource 

Biological Resource Preferred Period of Avoidance Preferred Construction Window 
Life Events/Functions/ 
Values to be Protected 

Construction Activity to Be 
Avoided 

Arroyo Willow and Mixed Riparian/ 
Habitats below the break in bank 

Rainy season, approximately 
October 15–May 31 

June 1–October 15 Stable banks, slopes, and soil All construction 

Sensitive Fish Species/Western 
Pond Turtle/ 
Potential SC Black 
Salamander/Marine Mammalsa 

Rainy season, approximately 
October 15–May 31 

June 1–October 15 Fish migration/critical habitat 
functions and values 

Work in or near aquatic features and 
riparian vegetation 

Monarch Butterfly Autumnal and Overwintering roost 
season, approximately September 
15–March 31 

 April 1–September 15 Autumnal roosting, overwintering 
and nectaring activities 

All construction within designated 
buffers; cutting, limbing, and tree 
removal, noise and vibration within 
300 feet of roost sites prior to 
temperature reaching 55o F 

Bird Species February 1–August 31 September 1–January 31 Nesting activities All construction within designated 
buffers from active nest sites 

Bat Species November 1–February 15 and May 
1–August 31 

February 15–April 30 and September 
1–October 31 

Roosting, especially maternity roosts 
and winter hibernacula 

Pruning, limbing, and tree removal 

San Francisco Dusky-Footed 
Woodrat 

 October 15–July 31 August 1–October 15 Houses, especially during breeding 
and rearing 

Vegetation/tree removal and 
woodrat relocation 

Tree removal October 15– 
August 31 

Sept 1–Oct 15 (this is during the 
beginning of the monarch autumnal 
roost period) 

Breeding birds, bats, roosting 
monarchs, slope stability 

Cutting, limbing, tree removal, 
monarch roost encroachment  

a Central California coast coho salmon, central California coast steelhead, tidewater goby, and Pacific lamprey. 

Note: Each “preferred” time frame or construction window indicates the type of construction activity to be avoided, if possible, and not all windows apply to all resources. Ideally, most if not all 
vegetation clearing and tree removal will be done during the fall, whereas there is more flexibility with the other timeframes. 

 

29-154


	RTC Agenda 5/4/2023
	5. ITAC Minutes
	6. RTC Minutes
	7. BAC Minutes
	8. EDTAC Minutes
	9. LCTOP Funds for YouthCruz
	9.a. Resolution
	9.b. METRO Application

	10. 2050 RTP EIR
	10.1. Resolution
	10.a. Agreement with AMBAG

	11. TDA Revenues
	12. Measure D Revenues
	13. TDA Claims VC, CB, METRO
	13.1 Resolution - CB
	13.2 CB Claim
	13.3 Resolution - VC
	13.4 VC Claim
	13.5 Resolution - METRO
	13.6 METRO Claim

	14. TDA Claims CTSC, RNS, B2W
	14.1 Resolution RideNStride
	14.2 Resolution Bike2Work

	15. FY22-23 Budget Amendments
	15.1 Resolution
	15.1.a. Exhibit A


	16. RTC Fiscal Audit
	17. Measure D Fiscal Audit
	18. EDTAC Appointment
	18.1. Roster
	18.2 Application

	19. 3-month Meeting Schedule
	20. Correspondence Log
	22. AB 2449
	25. Caltrans Report
	25.a. Santa Cruz County Highway Project Updates
	25.b. SHOPP Packet

	27. PUBLIC HEARING: 2023 Unmet Needs
	27.1. Final Draft 2023 Unmet Needs
	27.2. Public Comment Form

	28. FLAP North Coast Rail Trail
	28.1 Resolution
	28.1.a. Phase 1 & 2
	28.1.b. Phase 2 Design & Fund Transfer
	28.1.c. Phase 3


	29. Coastal Rail Trail Seg 8 & 9
	29.1. Fact Sheet
	29.2 FEIR Executive Summary
	29.3 Resolution 
	29.3.a. CEQA Findings
	29.3.b. Mitigation Monitoring






Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		AB 2449 Overview FINAL.pdf




		Report created by: 

		Ana Flores, Executive Assistant, info@ambag.org

		Organization: 

		Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


